

TECHNICAL GUIDANCE MANUAL FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE WATERSHED MANAGEMENT ORDINANCE

BASED ON THE WMO AS AMENDED

FEBRUARY 15, 2018

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The development of this Technical Guidance Manual (TGM) would not have been possible without the efforts of MWRD staff and those authorized by the MWRD to perform work on its behalf. Special thanks to the WMO Advisory Committee, Advisory Technical Panel, and other stakeholders for their valuable guidance and suggestions throughout the development of this document.

Contact Information:

Director of Engineering

Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago

100 E. Erie Street

Chicago, IL 60611

(312) 751-5600

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

Purpose of the Technical Guidance Manual	1-1
TGM Article Overview	1-2
Article 3: Watershed Management Permit Requirements and Submittals	1-3
Article 4: Sediment and Erosion Control	1-3
Article 5: Requirements for Stormwater Management	1-3
Article 6: Flood Protection Areas	1-3
Article 7: Requirements for Sewer Construction	1-3
Article 8: Infiltration/Inflow Control Program	1-4
Article 9: Maintenance	1-4
Article 10: Inspections	1-4
Article 14: Administration	1-4
Appendices	1-4
Revision Table	1-6

ARTICLE 2: APPLICABILITY AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

Article Summary	2-1
Scope of Regulation	2-2
Applicability	2-4
§201.1 Flood Protection Areas and Development	2-4
§201.2 Qualified Sewer Construction and District Impacts	2-7
Special Cases of Development	2-11
Legacy Sewerage System Permits	2-11
Single-Family Home Developments	2-11
Direct Connections to District Facilities	2-11
Outfalls to Waterways and Lake Michigan	2-12
Demolition	2-12
Example 1: Warehouse Demolition with No Site Work	2-12
Example 2: Playground Demolitions on Existing Park Land	2-12
Example 3: Building Demolition with Foundation Pad Remaining	2-12
Example 4: Site Demolition with Grading and Landscape Berms	2-13
City of Chicago	2-13
Multi-County Municipalities	2-13
Example 1: Qualified Sewer Construction and Flood Protection Areas	2-13
Example 2: Modifications to a District Permitted Detention Facility	2-14

Example 3: Municipality Has Not Entered Into an IGA with the District	2-14
Article 2. General Applicability Examples	2-14
Example 1: Building Renovation with New Sanitary Sewer Connection	2-15
Example 2: New Parking Lot on Existing Developed Parcel	2-16
Example 3: New Parking Lot on Parcel with Existing Detention Facility	2-17
Example 4: Parking Lot Drainage System Installation	2-18
Example 5: Parking Lot Expansion with Storm Sewer in the Separate Sewer Area	2-19
Revision Table	2-20

ARTICLE 3: WATERSHED MANAGEMENT PERMIT REQUIREMENTS AND SUBMITTALS

Article Summary
Watershed Management Permit Types
WMO Permit
Earthwork Permit
SFHA Permit
NRI
FCA
Permit Revision
§300 General Requirements
Limitations
Qualified Person
Sole Permittee
Non-District Approvals
Permit Fees
Base Permit Review Fees
Detention Review Fees
Isolated Wetland/Riparian Environment Review Fees
Qualified Sewer Construction Fees
Other Fees
Fees for Authorized Municipalities
Single-Family Home Permit Fees
Publicly Funded Projects
Watershed Management Permit Application Submittals
General Submittal Requirements
Permit Signatures
Erosion and Sediment Control Submittal Requirements
Stormwater Management Submittal Requirements
Site Runoff

Volume Control	-24
Detention Facility	-24
Floodplain Submittal Requirements	-26
Wetlands and Buffers Submittal Requirements	-28
Wetland Submittal Requirements	-28
Wetland Mitigation Documentation	-30
Riparian Environment Submittal Requirements	-32
Riparian Environments	-32
Impacts to Jurisdictional Waters of the U.S	-33
Qualified Sewer Construction Submittal Requirements	-34
General Requirements	-34
Public Lift Stations and Force Mains	-35
Industrial Wastes	-35
Direct Connections to District Infrastructure	-36
Outfalls	-37
Maintenance and Monitoring Plan Submittal Requirements	-38
Recording Submittal	-38
Stormwater Management Facilities	-38
Compensatory Storage	-39
Wetlands	-39
Riparian Environments	-40
Qualified Sewer Construction	-40
Plan Set and Exhibits Submittal Requirements	-41
Mapping Requirements	-41
Plan Cover Sheet	-42
MWRD General Notes Plan Sheet	-42
Existing Conditions Plan Sheet	-42
Demolition Plan Sheet	-43
Dimensional or Site Geometry Plan Sheet	-43
Paving Plan Sheet	-43
Grading Plan Sheet	-43
Utility Plan Sheet	-44
Erosion and Sediment Control Plan Sheet	-47
Construction Details	-47
Development Area Exhibit	-48
Drainage Area Exhibit	-48
Stormwater Management Exhibit	-48
Floodplain Plan Sheet(s)	-49
Wetland Plan Sheet(s)	-50

Riparian Environment Plan Sheet(s)	
Plat of Survey – Exhibit A	
Recording Plan Sheet(s) – Exhibit R	
Post-Submittal Requirements	
Terms of Permit/Denial – Appeal	
Construction Timeline Requirements	
Permit Extensions	
Approval of Plan Revisions	
Record Drawings	
Recording Obligations	
Revision Table	
Record Drawings Recording Obligations Revision Table	

ARTICLE 4: EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL

ARTICLE 5: REQUIREMENTS FOR STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

General Site Development and Stormwater Management Requirements	5-2
Site Runoff Requirements	5-4
Transfer between Watersheds	5-5
Minor Stormwater Systems	5-5
Example – Sizing of a Minor Stormwater System	5-8
Major Stormwater Systems	. 5-11

Example – CN Calculation5-1
Example – Time of Concentration Calculation
Example – Sizing of a Major Stormwater System
Minor and Major Stormwater System Design Considerations
Site Volume Control Requirements
Example – Calculation of Required Volume Control
Example – Calculation of Volume Control Storage Credit (CN Reduction)
Site Detention Requirements
Example – Simple Detention (Nomograph Method)
Example – Detention with Unrestricted Releases and Upstream Tributary Area 5-7
Example – Detention Ponds in Series with Tailwater
Detention Allowances for Redevelopment5-10
Example – Detention Requirements for Redevelopment
Example – Redevelopment of a Parcel Permitted as Part of Larger Development 5-11
References

ARTICLE 6: FLOOD PROTECTION AREAS

Requirements for Floodplains and Floodways6-2
Identifying Regulatory Floodplain6-3
Examples for Determining the BFE, the Flood Protection Elevation (FPE), and
Limits of the Regulatory Floodplain6-10
Identifying Regulatory Floodway6-11
Requirements for Development within the Floodplain
FPE Determination
Building Protection
Methods for Providing Flood Protection6-19
Stormwater Facilities and Detention in the Regulatory Floodplain
Compensatory Storage in the Regulatory Floodplain
Development in the Regulatory Floodway6-29
Requirements for Wetland Boundary, Quality, and Buffer Width Determination
Wetland Boundary, Quality and Buffer Width Determination
Wetland Classification
Wetland Buffers
Development Affecting the Function and Values of Wetlands and Wetland Buffers 6-40
Wetland Avoidance and Minimization Documentation
Impacts to Standard Isolated Wetlands Greater than 0.1 Acre
Impacts to Standard Isolated Wetlands Less than 0.1 Acre
Indirect Wetland Impacts6-45

Detention in Wetlands6-46
Stormwater Outlets Discharging to Wetlands6-46
Wetland Mitigation for Impacts to Isolated Wetlands
Isolated Wetland Buffer Mitigation6-50
Wetland Banking
Riparian Environments Requirements
Development that Impacts Jurisdictional Waters of the US
Protection of Existing Functions of a Riparian Environment
Requirements for Development That Affect the Function and Values of Riparian
Environments
Riparian Environment Determination6-54
Riparian Environment Functions
Exempt Riparian Areas
Riparian Environment Mitigation
Definition of Adverse Impacts6-58
Riparian Environment Mitigation6-59
Riparian Environment Mitigation Plan Requirements
Riparian Environment Monitoring and Maintenance
Requirements for Outfalls6-62
References

ARTICLE 7: REQUIREMENTS FOR SEWER CONSTRUCTION

General Sewer Construction Requirements	-1
Qualified Sewer Construction7-	-2
Qualified Sewer Construction Requirements7-	-2
Facility Connection Authorization7-	-9
The Sewer Construction Process	-9
Starting the Project	-9
Design of the Sewer System7-1	1
Specific Requirements by Building Type7-1	L7
Coordination with Other District Ordinances7-1	18
Submittal of the Watershed Management Permit	18
MWRD General Notes	20
References	24

ARTICLE 8: INFILTRATION / INFLOW CONTROL PROGRAM

Introduction	8-1
Infiltration	8-1
Inflow	8-1
History of Infiltration and Inflow Control Programs at the MWRD	8-3
Scope and Goals	8-5
Applicability	8-6
General Requirements	8-6
Short Term Requirements	8-6
Sewer System Condition Assessment	8-6
Condition Assessment Prioritization	8-6
Background on Condition Assessment Methods8	-12
Sewer System Rehabilitation	-26
Development of the Private Sector Program8	-29
Reporting of SSOs and BBs8	-33
Auditing	-34
Long Term O&M Program	-34
Sewer System Management	-35
Mapping	-39
Equipment and Collection System Maintenance	-42
Material and Equipment	-47
Sewer System Capacity Evaluation	-48
Sewer System Inspection and Condition Assessment	-49
Sewer System Rehabilitation and Updating the CIP	-52
Funding Plan	-56
Private Sector Program	-57
Sewer Use Ordinance and Enforcement8	-58
Template Long Term O&M Program8	-59
Additional Supporting Information for Long Term O&M Program	-60
Flow Monitoring	-60
Determination of Wet Weather Peaking Factors	-62
Local Storage Requirements	-67
Individual Backflow Prevention8	-68
FOG Programs	-71
Annual Reporting	-73
Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report	-73
Long Term O&M Program Annual Summary Report	-74
References	-76

ARTICLE 9: MAINTENANCE

Introduction	-1
Plan Requirements and Guidance9-	-2
Erosion and Sediment Control Practices9-	-3
Stormwater Detention Facilities9-	-7
Stormwater Collection Facilities9-	-7
9-Volume Control Facilities	-8
Qualified Sewer Construction9-	-9
Wetland Mitigation and Native Planting Conservation Areas	10
Riparian Environment Mitigation9-1	11
Wetland, Buffer, Riparian, and Native Planted Areas Maintenance and Monitoring Plan	
Format	12
Adaptive Management Goals and Objectives9-1	13
Recommended Native Seeding Planting Performance Standards	13
Maintenance Plan Implementation	14
Example Maintenance Plan9-1	15
Example Wetland Mitigation Maintenance & Monitoring Plan	18
References	24

ARTICLE 10: INSPECTIONS

General	. 10-1
Inspection Requirements to be met by the Development	. 10-1
Inspection Requirements for Erosion and Sediment Control Practices	. 10-2
Post-Construction Inspection Requirements	. 10-3
Special Requirements for Qualified Sewer Construction	. 10-7
Request for Final Inspection	. 10-7

ARTICLE 14: ADMINISTRATION

Responsibility for Administration	
Role of the District	
Role of an Authorized Municipality	
Qualifications for Authorized Municipality	14-3
Procedure for Authorization	
District Oversight of Authorized Municipalities	14-10
Resources for Authorized Municipalities	

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Definitions	A-1
Appendix B – Inventory of Cook County FIRM Panels	B-1
Appendix C – Standard Details and Notes	C-1
Appendix D – Resources for Infiltration/Inflow Control Program	D-1
Appendix E – Sewer Permit Ordinance and Manual of Procedures	E-1

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Watershed Management Permit Flowchart	2-10
Figure 2.2 Permit Applicability Example 1	2-15
Figure 2.3 Permit Applicability Example 2 – Existing and Proposed Conditions	2-16
Figure 2.4 Permit Applicability Example 3 – Existing and Proposed Conditions	2-17
Figure 2.5 Permit Applicability Example 4 – Existing and Proposed Conditions	2-18
Figure 2.6 Permit Applicability Example 5 – Existing and Proposed Conditions	2-19
Figure 4.1 Erosion, Sediment, and Sedimentation	4-1
Figure 4.2 Example of a Double Row Silt Fence Protecting a Flood Protection Area	4-10
Figure 5.1 Bulletin 70 Northeast Sectional IDF Curves	5-7
Figure 5.2 Proposed Drainage Schematic for Storm Sewer Sizing	5-8
Figure 5.3 Storm Sewer Design Sheet – Rational Method, Example 5.1	5-10
Figure 5.4 Example of Calculation of Runoff Curve Numbers	5-16
Figure 5.5 CN Calculation Worksheet for Example 5.1	5-17
Figure 5.6 Time of Concentration Flow Path for Example 5.3	5-20
Figure 5.7 Time of Concentration Worksheet for Example 5.3	5-21
Figure 5.8 Allowable Flood Depths for Roadways	5-28
Figure 5.9 Reduction in Impervious Area to Meet Volume Control Requirements	5-30
Figure 5.10 Example of Volume Control Practice	5-31
Figure 5.11 Flow-Through Practice	5-32
Figure 5.12 Volume Control Practice – Surface storage, Media Storage and Aggregate	
Storage	5-37
Figure 5.13 Example of a Permeable Paver Parking Lot Cross-Section	5-42
Figure 5.14 Typical Cross-section for Dry Well	5-43
Figure 5.15 Typical Cross-section for Bio-Retention System	5-44
Figure 5.16 Root Systems of Grass and Prairie Plants	5-45
Figure 5.17 Typical Water Reuse System	5-46
Figure 5.18 Typical Green Roof Cross-Section	5-48
Figure 5.19 Illustration of a Filter Strip	5-49
Figure 5.20 Typical Cross-section for Vegetated Swale	5-51
Figure 5.21 Configuration of Volume Control Storage for Example 5.5	5-53
Figure 5.22 Unrestricted Flow Area on the Downstream Side of a Proposed Site Detention	า
Facility	5-63
Figure 5.23 Detention Nomograph	5-66
Figure 5.24 Critical Elevations for Detention Facilities	5-70
Figure 5.25 Orifice Discharge Coefficients	5-72
Figure 5.26 Redevelopments of Parcels Part of a Larger Development	5-102
Figure 6.1 Floodplain, Floodway, and Stream Channel Cross-section	6-11

Figure 6.2 BFE, FPE, and Compacted Fill Cross-section for Structure in the Floodplain	. 6-16
Figure 6.3 BFE and FPE for Structures with Attached Garages	. 6-17
Figure 6.4 BFE and Setback Distance for Buildings with Basements	. 6-18
Figure 6.5 Waterproofed Window Well Elevated to the FPE	. 6-21
Figure 6.6 Compensatory Storage Calculation Example	. 6-25
Figure 6.7 Cross-Section D-D from Compensatory Storage Plan Provided in Figure 6.6	. 6-26
Figure 6.8 Example of a Compensatory Storage Plan	. 6-28
Figure 6.9 Wetland Delineation Scenarios	. 6-35
Figure 6.10 Depiction of Minimum Wetland Buffer Widths as Determined by Type of	
Isolated Wetland	. 6-40
Figure 6.11 Examples of When Documentation is Required Depending on Wetland	
Acreage	. 6-45
Figure 6.12 Wetland Buffer Averaging	. 6-51
Figure 6.13 Examples of Riparian and Non-riparian Environments	. 6-55
Figure 6.14 Riparian Environment for a Jurisdictional Waters of the US that does not	
Qualify as Wetlands	. 6-56
Figure 6.15 Riparian Environment for Isolated Waters that does not Qualify as Wetlands	. 6-56
Figure 6.16 Riparian Environment Limits for Streams with a BSC Classification of "A" or "B"	
and BSS Streams	. 6-57
Figure 6.17 Riparian Environment Averaging	. 6-59
Figure 7.1 Qualified Sewer Construction Flowchart	7-4
Figure 7.2 District Impacts Flowchart	7-5
Figure 8.1 Typical Sources of Infiltration and Inflow	8-2
Figure 8.2 Typical Components of Rainfall-Derived Inflow and Infiltration	8-3
Figure 8.3 Subbasins Tributary to the Same Sanitary Main Line	8-7
Figure 8.4 Sample Section from Condition Assessment Prioritization Form	8-9
Figure 8.5 High-Priority Mainline Pipe Defects	. 8-13
Figure 8.6 Components of a Manhole with Correlate Defects	. 8-14
Figure 8.7 High-Priority Manhole Defects	. 8-15
Figure 8.8 Dual-Blower Smoke Testing Process	. 8-16
Figure 8.9 Separate Storm and Sanitary Sumps with Separate Discharge Piping	. 8-18
Figure 8.10 Storm Sump Connected to Sanitary Sewer	. 8-19
Figure 8.11 Combination Sump Pump	. 8-19
Figure 8.12 Storm Sump with Diverter Valve	. 8-20
Figure 8.13 Storm-to-Sanitary Sewer Cross-Connection	. 8-25
Figure 8.14 Typical Remediation of Connected Downspouts	. 8-26
Figure 8.15 Sample Entries into Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form	. 8-28
Figure 8.16 GIS-Based Sewer System Mapping	. 8-41
Figure 8.17 Vacuum/Sewer Cleaning Truck	. 8-44

igure 8.18 Manhole Rehabilitation by Cementitious Lining
igure 8.19 Cured-in-Place Pipe (CIPP) Lining
igure 8.20 Lateral Rehabilitation by Injection Grouting
igure 8.21 Manual Flow Meter Calibration
igure 8.22 Average Dry Weather Flow
igure 8.23 Determination of Peak Excess Flow
igure 8.24 Typical Basin Ranking – Wet Weather Peaking Factors
igure 8.25 External Backflow Prevention Valve System
igure 8.26 Internal Backflow Prevention Valve System
igure 8.27 Typical Overhead Sewer System
igure 8.28 External Pump-Over System
igure 8.29 Typical Grease Interceptor
igure 9.1 Example General Notes for Maintenance of Erosion and Sediment Control
Practices
igure 9.2 Example General Notes for Inspection of Erosion and Sediment Control Practices. 9-5
igure 9.3 Example Maintenance and Inspection Schedule for Erosion and Sediment
Control Practices
igure 10.1 Erosion and Sediment Control Inspection Report 10-4
igure 10.2 Post-Construction Inspection Report10-6
igure 14.1 Template Letter of Intent to Become an Authorized Municipality
igure 14.2 Contact Information Form 14-8

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4-1 Illinois Urban Manual Drawings for Temporary Erosion Control Strategies
Table 4-2 Illinois Urban Manual Drawings for Temporary Sediment Control Strategies
Table 4-3 Illinois Urban Manual Drawings for Construction Site Management Strategies 4-20
Table 4-4 Illinois Urban Manual Drawings for Permanent Erosion Control Strategies
Table 4-5 Typical Erosion and Sediment Control Practices by Development Type 4-21
Table 5-1 Summary of Site Stormwater Management Requirements 5-3
Table 5-2 Runoff Coefficients (C Values) for the Rational Method 5-6
Table 5-3 Bulletin 70 Northeast Sectional Rainfall Intensities
Table 5-4 Manning's n Values for Design of Overland Flow Routes
Table 5-5 Huff Quartile Distributions
Table 5-6 Illinois State Water Survey Bulletin 70 Rainfall Depths for Northeast Sectional 5-14
Table 5-7 Runoff Curve Numbers for Urban Areas 5-15
Table 5-8 Manning's n Values for Sheet Flow 5-18
Table 5-9 Summary of Curve Numbers and Volume Control Storage for Green Roofs
Table 5-10 Summary of Storage Calculations for Volume Control Practices
Table 5-11 Summary of Pretreatment Measures for Volume Control Practices
Table 6-1 FIRM Zone Descriptions 6-4
Table 6-2 Compensatory Storage by Development
Table 6-3 Example of Compensatory Storage Calculation, 0 – 10 Year Increment
Table 6-4 Wetland Buffer Determination for Isolated Wetlands 6-40
Table 6-5 Wetland Impact Matrix
Table 6-6 Isolated Wetland Mitigation Requirement Ratios 6-47
Table 6-7 Riparian Environment Determination
Table 7-1 Minimum and Maximum Pipe Slopes by Size 7-10
Table 7-2 Pipe and Joint Materials
Table 8-1 Structural High Priority Deficiency Grades 8-22
Table 8-2 O&M High Priority Deficiency Grades
Table 8-3 Level 1 Defect Codes (General Condition) 8-23
Table 8-4 Level 2 Defect Grades (Detailed Inspection – Structural)
Table 8-5 Level 2 Defect Grades (Detailed Inspection – O&M)
Table 8-6 Relative Effectiveness of Sewer Cleaning Techniques 8-46
Table 8-7 Schedule for Satellite Entity Annual Reporting 8-73
Table 9-1 Summary of Maintenance Plan Requirements 9-2

TABLE OF CONTENTS REVISION TABLE

No.	Revision Description	Date
0	Original TGM	5/1/2014
1	Article 8, Appendix D, examples, and general edits	8/1/2015
2.0	Revision table, WMO amendment date, re-number based on re-written Article 2	3/20/2018
2.1	TOC updated for re-written Article 3	10/16/2018

INTRODUCTION

Purpose of the Technical Guidance Manual

The Watershed Management Ordinance (WMO) was adopted by the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago (**District**) and sets forth minimum requirements for the management of **stormwater**, **floodplains**, **wetlands**, and sewer construction for **developments** in **Cook County**. The WMO provides the specific regulations for **development** within **Cook County** while the **Technical Guidance Manual (TGM)** presents guidance on how to apply and meet the regulations for both project design and project implementation. The **TGM** includes the applicable references to the WMO and should be used as a companion document to the WMO for the preparation of **Watershed Management Permit** applications. The **TGM** provides the following types of information:

- Identifies when a Watershed Management Permit is needed;
- Identifies information required in support of a Watershed Management Permit;
- Provides clarification of WMO requirements and their applicability;
- Provides guidance on how to best achieve the WMO's requirements; and
- Provides examples to aid in meeting the requirements of the WMO.

The goal of the **TGM** is to allow applicants to correctly apply the WMO to their **developments**. The **TGM** is a useful resource intended to promote efficient and consistent permit submittals and review procedures. The technical approaches presented in the **TGM** are not mandatory in all cases; the intent is to provide guidance and examples on how to meet the standards of the WMO. Alternative methodologies that are not presented in the **TGM** may still be accepted by the **District**.

The guidance contained in the **TGM** will be a valuable resource for the following:

- Community officials and leaders;
- Design engineers and municipal/county engineers;
- Developers, property owners, land planners, and architects;
- Enforcement officers, consulting engineers, and wetland specialists; and
- Other interested parties.

The WMO provides standards for **development** that meet, or in some instances exceed, the requirements of local, state, and federal agencies. Whenever there is conflicting requirements between another ordinance and the WMO, the more restrictive regulation should be followed.

In addition, the WMO does not repeal any county or municipal ordinance or resolution passed to establish eligibility for the **National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP)**. The WMO is not intended to supplement, replace, or remove any responsibility that either **Cook County** or a **municipality** may have to maintain eligibility and good standing in the **NFIP**. Proper administration and enforcement of the **NFIP** within participating counties and **municipalities** is a requirement of the **NFIP**. For unincorporated areas, enforcement of the NFIP is the responsibility of **Cook County**. The **floodplain** requirements that are presented in Article 6 of the WMO either meet or exceed the **NFIP** requirements. While the WMO meets, and in some instances exceeds, the minimum technical requirements of the **NFIP** for **development** in the **floodplain**, not all administrative requirements are specifically addressed.

To ensure successful enforcement of the regulations contained in the WMO, a joint effort is required from both the **District** and local **municipalities**. The **District** relies on the local **municipality** as a liaison to inform, report, and educate its constituents on the WMO. It is critical that cooperation between the **District** and the **municipality** occurs so that **Watershed Management Permits** are only issued for those **developments** that meet the standards contained in the WMO. Additionally, it is crucial that the local **municipality** coordinates each project with the developer at the field level. Without proper field coordination and follow-through during construction, the WMO regulations will have little impact.

TGM Article Overview

The **TGM** is structured to provide users with a comprehensive overview of the requirements for obtaining a **Watershed Management Permit** for a **development**. The information provided in the **TGM** ranges from basic information on when a **Watershed Management Permit** is required to detailed information on performance standards and submittal requirements. The **TGM** is organized into articles which correspond to each article of the WMO. An overview of each **TGM** article is included in the following:

Article 2: Applicability and General Provisions

Article 2 presents an overview of the scope of regulation and applicability of the WMO to **development** within **Cook County**. The goal of this article is to provide users with an understanding of when a **development** requires a **Watershed Management Permit**. Clarification on permitting is also provided for **special cases of development**, which includes **multi-county municipalities**.

Article 3: Watershed Management Permit Requirements and Submittals

The intent of Article 3 is to provide users with an understanding of the applicability of the WMO to all types of **development**. Flowcharts have been developed to assist applicants in navigating the permit process in order to determine when a **Watershed Management Permit** is required, and to determine which submittals are necessary. The necessary paperwork, including the **Watershed Management Permit** application and associated schedules, are detailed in this section. This article also provides guidance on the submittal requirements for each project, and

includes checklists that detail the required items for each submittal.

Article 4: Erosion and Sediment Control

Article 4 presents guidance on the **erosion** and **sediment** control requirements contained in the WMO, and more specifically how they relate to the requirements of the General **National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)** Permit for Stormwater Discharges from Construction Site Activities (General NPDES Permit ILR-10). The article also provides an inventory of acceptable **erosion and sediment control practices**, with references to the standard details from the *Illinois Urban Manual* or the **US Army Corps of Engineers (Corps)** website.

Article 5: Requirements for Stormwater Management

The goal of Article 5 is to provide users with a complete understanding of the **stormwater runoff**, **volume control**, and **detention** requirements of the WMO and their applicability to different types of **development** in **Cook County**. This article includes the technical design criteria for **stormwater management systems**, including examples of calculations and computer modeling input/output.

Article 6: Flood Protection Areas

Article 6 provides guidance on the regulations of the WMO for **development** that involves **flood protection areas**, including **floodplains**, **floodways**, **wetlands/buffers**, and **riparian environments**. The goal of this article is to provide technical users with an understanding of the design and permitting requirements of the WMO and how they relate to each **municipality's NFIP** requirements, the **floodway** requirements of the **Illinois Department of Natural Resources – Office of Water Resources (OWR)**, the **floodplain** requirements of the **Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)**, and the **wetland** requirements of the **Corps**.

Article 7: Requirements for Sewer Construction

This article provides design criteria for **qualified sewer construction** in **Cook County**, which also includes the construction of lift stations and/or forcemains. Example calculations, flow charts, and details are included which should provide technical users with a thorough understanding of the requirements for the construction of **sanitary sewers** in **Cook County**.

Article 8: Infiltration/Inflow Control Program

Article 8 provides guidance for **satellite entities** on meeting the requirements of the **District's** Infiltration/Inflow Control Program (IICP). This article contains background information and technical guidance pertaining to the IICP, and details the **satellite entities'** short-term and long-term responsibilities under the program. Sample completed forms, checklists, reporting requirements, and submittal schedules are included which should provide **satellite entities** and other technical users a clear understanding of the requirements of the IICP.

Article 9: Maintenance

Article 9 provides guidance on developing both short- and long-term maintenance plans for erosion and sediment control practices, detention facilities, volume control facilities, stormwater management system components, qualified sewer construction, native planting conservation areas, and wetland and riparian environment mitigation areas. Example performance standards for the planting of native vegetation are also included in this section.

Article 10: Inspections

The objective of this article is to provide users with a complete understanding of the various inspections that are required during each phase of **development**, and the responsible party for performing these inspections. The role of the developer, **authorized municipality**, and **District** is defined for each component of the **development**. Example inspection reports are also provided in this article.

Article 14: Administration

This article provides guidance for the **authorized municipality** program, WMO enforcement procedures, and the expected responsibilities of the **District**, **authorized municipalities**, **enforcement officers**, and **wetland specialists**. Article 14 lays out the necessary steps to become an **authorized municipality**, including a sample letter of intent and intergovernmental agreement. This article also discusses the applicability of the WMO in dual-county communities. Qualifications for becoming an **authorized municipality's enforcement officer**, as well as a **wetland specialist**, have also been addressed in this section.

Appendices

Additional useful information is provided in the appendices of the **TGM**. Appendix A contains definitions for all bold items found throughout the WMO and the **TGM**. Appendix B provides an inventory of all **Cook County Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM)** panels, organized by community. Appendix C contains many of the standard notes and details that will be required for **developments** permitted under the WMO. Appendix D provides a variety of useful resources for **satellite entities** to meet the requirements of the **District's** Infiltration/Inflow Control Program (IICP).

It is important to note that the **TGM** is based on the WMO as amended on July 10, 2014. Future revisions may contain requirements that supersede this version of the **TGM**. Users should always reference the most current version of the WMO.

ARTICLE 2. APPLICABILITY AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE SUMMARY

The goal of this article is to provide applicants with an understanding of the scope of regulation and the applicability of the WMO to proposed projects. Although the WMO applies to all **development** within **Cook County**, not every **development** will require a **Watershed Management Permit** from the **District**.

Guidance is provided for permitting applicability for the following special cases of **development**:

- Legacy Sewerage System Permits (SPO)
- Single-family Home Developments
- Direct Connections to **District** Facilities
- **Outfalls** to **Waterways** and Lake Michigan
- Demolition
- City of Chicago
- Multi-County Municipalities

Examples of permitting applicability can be found at the end of this Article.

The guidance provided in this Article includes references to some of the soil and **erosion** control requirements of Article 4, the **stormwater** provisions of Article 5, the **flood protection area** (FPA) requirements of Article 6, and **qualified sewer construction** in Article 7. This is not intended to be a comprehensive overview of these requirements, but just a reference to further understanding the overall requirements of the WMO. Please refer to the respective Articles of the WMO and **TGM** for in depth guidance regarding these requirements.

NOTE: All bold words are defined in Appendix A of the WMO and the TGM.

§200. SCOPE OF REGULATION

The WMO applies to all **development** within **Cook County**, as well as all **qualified sewer construction** within the **District's** corporate boundaries and service agreement areas, which includes **development** under the control of any governmental entity, agency, or authority. However, not every **development** within **Cook County** will require a **Watershed Management Permit** from the **District**.

EXEMPTIONS

As specified in §200.4 of the WMO, the provisions of the WMO <u>do not apply</u> to any of the following:

A. Agriculture and gardening activities that do not involve filling, grading, or construction of levees.

Agricultural and gardening activities are exempt from the WMO. Mass grading of agricultural land for the purposes of eventual sale or non-agricultural use is considered **development** and is subject to WMO requirements.

B. **Structures** and land uses existing as of May 1, 2014 (the effective date of the WMO), except when **redevelopment** occurs.

WMO requirements do not retroactively apply to **parcels** in **Cook County** that were developed prior to May 1, 2014. However, **development** or **redevelopment** of any **parcel** within the **District's** jurisdiction after May 1, 2014, is subject to the WMO requirements.

- C. **Development** within the corporate boundaries of the City of Chicago, Illinois, except for the below three scenarios. In these cases, a **Facility Connection Authorization** (FCA) is required in lieu of a full **Watershed Management Permit**, and additional easement and leasing requirements may also apply. An FCA is required for any of the following:
 - 1) New or reconstructed **outfalls** to **waterways** or Lake Michigan;

Requirements for **outfalls** apply throughout **Cook County**, including areas that may be exempt from some provisions of the WMO, such as the City of Chicago.

2) Stormwater discharges directly to District property;

Stormwater discharges include direct discharge from an adjacent **parcel**, as well as grading or **development** changes that impact **stormwater runoff** on the **District's** property.

3) Direct connections to **District** interceptors, **TARP structures**, facilities, or **District** property.

These **District** impacts require notification and permitting from several departments within the **District**, which is facilitated by obtaining an FCA.

D. Development activities listed in §201.1 of the WMO that are within the corporate boundaries of a multi-county municipality, which has adopted and currently enforces the stormwater ordinance of a contiguously adjacent Illinois county subject to the requirements of §207 of the WMO.

Multi-county municipalities are not automatically exempt from **Watershed Management Permits** for the **stormwater** and **flood protection area** (FPA) **development** activities found in §201.1. In order to obtain this exemption, the **municipality** must submit a letter of intent (LOI) and enter into an intergovernmental agreement (IGA) with the **District**, which indicates the **municipality** will follow all provisions of §207 and will enforce the adjacent county's **stormwater** ordinance. A template LOI and IGA can be found at <u>wmo.mwrd.org</u>. Additional information on **multi-county municipalities** can be found below under "Special Cases of **Development**".

E. **Development** activities listed solely in §201.1 of the WMO that are undertaken by state or federal agencies (e.g. **IDOT**, Illinois Tollway Authority, or the **Corps**).

Watershed Management Permits are still required for development activities listed in §201.2 of the WMO. These include qualified sewer construction, new or reconstructed outfalls to waterways or Lake Michigan, modifications to the storage volume, outlet structure, or tributary area of a District permitted detention facility, and impacts to District owned infrastructure or land.

F. **Development** activities listed solely in §201.1 of the WMO that are undertaken as a **flood control project**.

Refer to the guidance given in Part E, above.

G. **Development** undertaken by the **District**.

District projects are either **flood control projects** or infrastructure rehabilitation and improvements to **District** owned facilities. **Flood control projects** are exempt from the **stormwater** provisions of the WMO, and historically, the **District** has never issued permits for its own sewer or infrastructure work.

§201. APPLICABILITY

GENERAL APPLICABILITY REQUIREMENTS

Development activities have the potential individually, or in the aggregate, to cause an increase in **flood** damage on a regional basis and therefore are regulated through the permit process of the WMO. It should be noted that **developments** outlined in §201.1 may be permitted through either the **District** or an **authorized municipality**, but approval for **developments** outlined in §201.2 can only be issued by the **District**. Table 1 of the WMO provides a more detailed summary of the appropriate permitting authority for various **development** activities.

If a **Watershed Management Permit** is required, all Articles of the WMO apply (3 through 14). The **development** area is subject to the **stormwater** provisions listed in Table 2 of Article 5. Depending on the size of the **contiguous ownership interest**, **runoff** and detention is required for the entire **development** area, and volume control is required for the proposed **impervious area** of the **development**, regardless of existing conditions. More information on **stormwater** thresholds can be found in Article 5 of the WMO and this **TGM**.

If a permit is not required, then volume control is not required. Detention is required if the **contiguous ownership interest** meets the thresholds listed in Table 2, but may be deferred until the aggregate **development** area exceeds 0.50 acre.

Applicability requirements for **Watershed Management Permits** are generally categorized into two divisions: (1) **flood protection areas** and **development** (§201.1), and (2) **qualified sewer construction** and **District** impacts (§201.2).

§201.1 FLOOD PROTECTION AREAS AND DEVELOPMENT

With regards to §201.1, a **Watershed Management Permit** is required for any **development** that meets the following:

A. The **development** is within a **Flood Protection Area** (§201.1.A of the WMO). Any disturbance meeting the definition of **development** must obtain a permit, regardless of the size of the disturbance.

Flood protection areas include:

- **Regulatory floodplains** (§601 and §602)
- **Regulatory floodways** (§601 and §602)
- **Riparian Environments** (§606 and §607)
- Wetlands (§603 and §604)
- Wetland Buffers (§603 and §604)

Parcels that are shown to be within the **regulatory floodplain** or **regulatory floodway** according to **FEMA** maps, but have been removed by **FEMA** via a **LOMA**, **LOMC**, **LOMR**, or **LOMR-F**, may demonstrate this provision does not apply by providing the appropriate documentation to the **District**.

B. The **development** indirectly impacts a **wetland** (§201.1.B of the WMO).

Indirect wetland impacts are defined as **development** that causes the **wetland hydrology** to fall below eighty percent (80%) or exceed one-hundred fifty percent (150%) of the existing condition **storm event runoff** volume to the **wetland** for the 2-year, 24-hour **storm event**.

C. The **development** of a residential **building** within 100-feet of the **regulatory floodplain**, excluding non-**substantial improvements** to **single-family homes** (§201.1.C of the WMO).

Consistent with the purpose of the WMO, as indicated in §103.1, this provision protects public health, safety, and welfare, and reduces the potential for loss of property due to **flood** damage. Residential **buildings** located near the FPA are specifically targeted due to their nature as a habitable **structure**.

- D. The **development** disturbs more than 0.50 acres, unless the **development** solely involves one or more of the following (§ 201.1.D 1-4 of the WMO):
 - 1) Installation, renovation, or replacement of a septic system, potable water service line, or other utility to serve an existing **structure**, provided that the area is restored to existing grade, and vegetative cover is restored.

Septic systems are not considered qualified sewer and are not regulated by the **District**. Local requirements, including those of the Cook County Department of Public Health, govern these systems, and all local approvals shall be obtained prior to **start of construction**. Non-sewer utilities serving the **structure** may be constructed, relocated, or replaced without requiring a **Watershed Management Permit** as long as all areas are restored.

2) Excavation in public rights-of-way or utility easements outside of flood protection areas for the purpose of installing or maintaining utilities other than qualified sewer construction, provided that the area is restored to existing grade, and vegetative cover is restored.

Non-sewer public utilities may be constructed, relocated, or replaced without requiring a **Watershed Management Permit** as long as all areas are restored and there is no impact to a **flood protection areas**. The installation of drainage **structures** in a previously unsewered area is considered **development**, and is not exempt from permitting requirements under this provision.

3) **Maintenance**, repair, or at-grade, in-kind replacement of existing lawn areas not otherwise requiring a **Watershed Management Permit**, provided that the area is restored to existing grade, and vegetative cover is restored.

Pervious areas that are replaced in-kind, without drainage improvements or a change in use, are considered **maintenance** and are not subject to the **development** and **stormwater** requirements of the WMO. While **maintenance** is considered to be within the **disturbed area**, it is excluded from the **development** area.

Examples of pervious-to-pervious activities that are <u>NOT</u> considered **maintenance** may include, but are not limited to:

- Constructing a berm, pond, or mass grading a **site** change in drainage pattern.
- Installing pervious pavers in a former grass area pervious replacement is not inkind.
- Constructing a new playground with pervious rubber surface in an existing pervious area change in use.
- Replacing a grass field with synthetic turf change in drainage (different runoff coefficient).
- Installing structural grass to convert a landscaped area to parking change in use. **Note:** Installing structural grass to improve an existing grass parking area may be considered **maintenance**, since there is no change in use.
- Maintenance, repair, or in-kind replacement of existing impervious areas including, but not limited to, roadways or parking lots not otherwise requiring a Watershed Management Permit.

Impervious areas that are replaced in-kind, without drainage improvements or a change in use, are considered **maintenance** and are not subject to the **development** and **stormwater** requirements of the WMO.

Examples of impervious-to-impervious activities that are <u>NOT</u> considered **maintenance** may include, but are not limited to:

- Installing drainage structures or storm sewers in an existing parking lot change in drainage pattern.
- Constructing a curb around an existing **impervious area** that results in modifying **site stormwater runoff** change in drainage pattern.
- Installing pervious pavers in an existing impervious area permeable pavers are considered pervious; therefore, replacement is not in-kind and changes the drainage pattern.
- (1) Constructing a **building** on existing **impervious area**, (2) Demolishing a **building** and paving the demolished area, (3) Constructing a basketball court on an existing park/soccer field/parking lot, etc. change in use.
- Demolishing a **building** and installing a new **building** in the same footprint new **buildings** are not considered **maintenance activities**.

Note: While **demolition** is not considered **maintenance**, it is also not considered **development** under the WMO. Additional information on **demolition** can be found below under "Special Cases of **Development**".

Items 1 through 4 above represent disturbances that are not considered to negatively impact the **watersheds** of **Cook County** on a regional basis. However, it is important to note the following:

- A local permit from the **municipality** may still be required for these activities, and all local, regional, state, and federal permits must be obtained prior to **start of construction**;
- If the activity is located in a **Flood Protection Area**, a permit is required regardless of the size of the **development** area; and
- Adequate erosion and sediment measures are required for the development, as the erosion and sediment provisions of the WMO still apply regardless of whether a Watershed Management Permit is required.

If not already required for another reason, any **development** greater than 0.50 acres requires a **Watershed Management Permit** and is subject to the **stormwater** provisions of Article 5 as indicated in Table 2 of that Article.

§201.2 QUALIFIED SEWER CONSTRUCTION AND DISTRICT IMPACTS

With regards to §201.2, a **Watershed Management Permit** is required for any **development** that meets the following:

A. The **development** proposes sewers, drainage, or detention in **combined sewer areas** tributary to **combined sewers** or a **waterway** (§201.2.A of the WMO);

All **stormwater** within the **combined sewer area** has the potential to flow to **District** facilities. The **District** considers all **storm sewers** in these areas to be **qualified sewer construction**, even when tributary to a **waterway**.

B. The **development** proposes **qualified sewer construction** within the **District's** corporate boundaries or service agreement areas (§201.2.B of the WMO).

Qualified sewer includes all **sanitary sewers**, and **storm sewers** within the **combined sewer area**, even if tributary to a **waterway**, as well as **storm sewers** in a **separate sewer area** that are directly or indirectly tributary to a **District** facility. Repair and rehabilitation of sewers, manholes, and other appurtenances is also considered under this provision. A list of what is and is not considered **qualified sewer construction** is found in §701 of the WMO and Article 7 of this **TGM**. These sewers also require permits when remaining work falls under the exemption provisions of §200.4, such as **flood control projects** or projects undertaken by state or federal agencies. Qualified sewer construction is not always accompanied by development, and could potentially utilize a simpler method for obtaining a Watershed Management Permit. Depending on the scope of work, the Watershed Management Permit that is required may either be a full permit, a Notification and Request for Inspection (NRI), or a Facility Connection Authorization. Further information on the various permit types that are considered Watershed Management Permits can be found in Article 3 of this TGM.

C. The **development** proposes a direct connection to a **District** interceptor, reservoir, facility, or **TARP structure** (§201.2.C of the WMO).

Permits are always required when direct connections to **District** infrastructure are proposed, even if the work falls under the exemption provisions of §200.4, such as **flood control projects** or projects undertaken by state or federal agencies. A preliminary coordination meeting with the **District** is recommended for these types of projects. The WMO specifies a formal petition to the **Director of Engineering** shall be requested in writing, which may be accomplished via letter or email to the **District's** Local Sewer Systems Section. Requirements for direct connections to **District** infrastructure can be found in §702.2.F of the WMO and Article 7 of this **TGM**.

D. The **development** proposes new or reconstructed **outfalls** to **waterways** or Lake Michigan, within **Cook County** (§201.2.D of the WMO).

A **Watershed Management Permit** is required for all proposed **outfalls** and reconstruction of existing **outfalls** within the boundary of **Cook County**. Reconstruction of **outfalls** includes activities such as in-kind replacement, adding wing walls, extending the pipe, relocation, etc. **Maintenance** of **outfalls** that is limited to grouting, patching, sealing, or other activities that do not modify or replace any **structure** or piping does not require a permit.

Outfall is defined in Appendix A of the WMO and this **TGM**, and includes all public and private sewers, but excludes private **single-family home** drains.

E. The **development** proposes reconfiguration of existing **major stormwater systems** or **minor stormwater systems** which alters the service area of a **District** permitted **detention facility** (§201.2.E of the WMO).

Altering the **tributary area** of a **detention facility** has potential to change the volume, high water level, or release rate. In the case of **detention facilities** permitted by the **District**, the volume, high water level, and release rate are regulated under the permit and must be maintained until such time as a new permit or permit revision supersedes the original. This provision applies to all **detention facilities** permitted by the **District**, regardless if the permit was issued under the **Sewer Permit Ordinance** (SPO) or the WMO. See §104 of the WMO for provisions regulating the relationship between the WMO and the SPO.

F. The **development** proposes modifications to the outlet control **structure** or storage volume of a **District** permitted **detention facility** (§201.2.F of the WMO).

The volume, high water level, and release rates of **detention facilities** permitted by the **District** are regulated under the permit and must be maintained until such time as a new permit or permit revision supersedes the original. This provision applies to all **detention facilities** permitted by the **District**, regardless if the permit was issued under the **Sewer Permit Ordinance** (SPO) or the WMO. See §104 of the WMO for provisions regulating the relationship between the WMO and the SPO.

The prior two permitting requirements do not apply to **existing detention facilities** that were constructed under an SPO permit, but were not required by the **District** (i.e. locally required). However, locally required **detention facilities** that are being used toward WMO detention requirements must meet the **redevelopment** provisions of §505 of the WMO and submit Schedule D-Legacy with the WMO Permit application. Additional details can be found in Article 5 of this **TGM**.

G. The **development** discharges **stormwater** directly to **District** property (§201.2.G of the WMO).

Hydraulic improvements, point discharges, and sheet flow within or onto **District** property is covered by this provision. Any **development** proposed on **District** land will require a **Watershed Management Permit**, as well as potential lease or easement requirements from the **District's** Law Department. The Real Estate Division of the Law Department can be reached at (312) 751-6557 for additional information regarding requirements for leasing and developing **District** property.

H. **Non-residential developments** on septic systems or private treatment systems that propose a connection to a **sanitary sewer** (§201.2.H of the WMO).

Parcels with existing septic or private treatment systems that wish to connect to the public **sanitary sewer** must obtain a **Watershed Management Permit** prior to making the connection. This requirement does not apply to **single-family home service sewers**.

Figure 2.1 provides a flowchart to assist applicants with determining if a **Watershed Management Permit** will be required for a particular **development**. This flow chart and the supplemental flow charts regarding requirements for **stormwater**, **flood protection areas**, **qualified sewer construction**, and **District** impacts can all be found at the dedicated WMO website, <u>wmo.mwrd.org</u>.



Figure 2.1 Watershed Management Permit Applicability Flowchart

SPECIAL CASES OF DEVELOPMENT

It is important to note that for some **developments**, only certain portions of the project may be regulated under the WMO. These special cases, along with an explanation of why certain activities are regulated by the **District**, are provided in the following sections:

LEGACY SEWERAGE SYSTEM PERMITS (SPO)

The provisions of the WMO do not retroactively apply to **developments** that have obtained approval from the **District** under the **Sewer Permit Ordinance** (SPO), unless **redevelopment** is occurring on these **parcels**. In such cases, the WMO provides **stormwater** detention allowances for **parcels** that contain **existing detention facilities**. **Redevelopment** provisions are found in §505 of the WMO and Article 5 of this **TGM**.

SINGLE-FAMILY HOME DEVELOPMENTS

The WMO is not intended to regulate **single-family homes**, but since it regulates all **development** within **flood protection areas** (FPAs) and residential **buildings** within 100-feet of the **regulatory floodplain**, a **Watershed Management Permit** will be required under these circumstances. Since **development** in **FPAs** can have a significant effect on public quality of life, it is vital that a new home is properly elevated to the Flood Protection Elevation (**FPE**). It should be noted that **single-family home developments** are exempt from the **stormwater runoff**, **volume control**, and **detention** requirements of the WMO.

It should also be noted that the above only applies to new **single-family homes** or those proposing a **substantial improvement**, and the **District** does not determine what constitutes a **substantial improvement**. This determination is made by the local **municipality** in accordance with **NFIP** regulation.

For single-family homes that require a permit, the applicant is not required to make a full Watershed Management Permit submittal unless the construction includes a public sanitary sewer extension to serve the parcel or impacts a wetland or riparian environment. Instead, a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) short-form permit, along with supporting documentation, may be submitted to the District. Further information on the various Watershed Management Permits types can be found in Article 3 of this TGM.

DIRECT CONNECTIONS TO DISTRICT FACILITIES

Any **development** that proposes a direct connection to **District** interceptors, reservoirs, facilities, or **TARP structures** will require a **Facility Connection Authorization** (FCA) within the City of Chicago or a **Watershed Management Permit** within the remainder of the **District's** service boundary. Because these connections impact the **District's** infrastructure, it is crucial that

District approval is obtained for these projects. All projects, regardless of project size, location, or applicant, shall obtain **District** approval.

While adjustments to **District structures** due to roadway or other **right-of-way** improvement do not require a **Watershed Management Permit**, authorization may be obtained by contacting the **District's** Maintenance and Operations staff at (708) 588-4319 prior to performing this work.

OUTFALLS TO WATERWAYS AND LAKE MICHIGAN

All new and reconstructed **outfalls** to **waterways** and Lake Michigan within **Cook County** require a **Watershed Management Permit**. **Outfalls** located within the City of Chicago will require an FCA from the **District**. These types of projects do not require **stormwater detention**, although a water quality interceptor is required as part of the **outfall** plan if tributary to Lake Michigan. A standard detail can be found in Appendix C of this **TGM**.

DEMOLITION

In general, **demolition** is not considered **development** under the WMO. However, certain aspects related to **demolition** activities could be considered **development**, depending on the scope of work.

The following examples provide guidance on **demolition** activities and permitting requirements.

Example 1: Warehouse Demolition with No Site Work

An old warehouse is being demolished, slab removed, and area will return to a vacant and natural state. There is no site grading or landscaping proposed.

In this case, a Watershed Management Permit is not required because there is no development.

Example 2: Playground Demolition on Existing Park Land

A playground area within an existing park is being removed and relocated to a different area of the park. The demolished area will be reseeded with grass.

In this case, the demolished playground area will <u>not</u> be considered development, but the new playground area will.

Example 3: Building Demolition with Foundation Pad Remaining

The roof and walls of an old building are being demolished and the remaining foundation pad will be used as a parking lot.

In this case, the change in use of the impervious area from a foundation pad to a parking lot is considered development and is subject to WMO requirements.

Example 4: Site Demolition with Grading and Landscape Berms

The entire site is being demolished. The site will be graded in anticipation of future sale to a developer, and landscape berms will be installed as a beautification measure.

In this case, both the site grading and the landscape berms are considered development, and all work is subject to WMO requirements.

CITY OF CHICAGO

Although the **stormwater** provisions of the WMO do not apply to projects located within the City of Chicago, certain **developments** will require **District** approval. Any **development** located within the City of Chicago that proposes a direct connection to **District** interceptors, facilities, property, or **TARP structures**, or new or reconstructed **outfalls** to **waterways** or to Lake Michigan shall obtain a **Facility Connection Authorization** (FCA).

MULTI-COUNTY MUNICIPALITIES

The WMO provides the option for **multi-county municipalities** that have entered into an IGA with the **District** to adopt and enforce the adjacent county's **stormwater** ordinance, if the community meets the conditions provided in §207 of the WMO. A **Watershed Management Permit** from the **District** would not be required for **developments** in these **municipalities**, unless the **development** includes activities specified in §201.2 of the WMO, with the exception of detention related activities in §201.2.E and §201.2.F. However, in an effort to maintain accurate records, a letter documenting any changes to **District** permitted **detention facilities** should be sent to the **District** at:

Metropolitan Water Reclamation District Local Sewer Systems Section 111 East Erie Street Chicago, IL 60611

Examples of permit applicability for **developments** within a **multi-county municipality** may include, but are not limited to, the following:

Example 1: Qualified Sewer Construction and Flood Protection Areas

Municipality has adopted adjacent county's ordinance and entered into an IGA with the District. Proposed development is greater than 0.50 acre with qualified sewer construction. Floodplain and wetlands are being impacted.

A Watershed Management Permit is required for qualified sewer construction only. Work in the FPA is subject to the provisions of the adjacent county's ordinance.

Example 2: Modifications to a District Permitted Detention Facility

Municipality has adopted adjacent county's ordinance and entered into an IGA with the District. Proposed development includes modifying a District permitted detention facility to meet adjacent county's standards, and constructing single-family homes in a previously sewered subdivision. Additional qualified sewer construction is not proposed.

Single-family home service sewers are not considered qualified sewer construction. A Watershed Management permit is not required for any portion of the proposed development. All development must meet the provisions of the adjacent county's ordinance. A letter documenting the changes to the District permitted detention facility should be sent to the Local Sewer Systems Section of the District.

Example 3: MUNICIPALITY HAS NOT ENTERED INTO AN IGA WITH THE DISTRICT

Municipality has adopted adjacent county's ordinance, but has not entered into an IGA with the District.

A Watershed Management Permit is required per all provisions of the WMO. A multi-county municipality must enter into an IGA with the District to enforce the adjacent county's ordinance in lieu of the WMO within the Cook County portion of their municipal boundary.

ARTICLE 2. GENERAL APPLICABILITY EXAMPLES

The following examples illustrate permit applicability for some typical **development** situations. A high level overview of **stormwater** requirements, as outlined in Article 5, Table 2 of the WMO, is included. It should be noted, these examples do not represent all cases, and are provided for illustrative purposes only. Actual projects may differ or may include additional factors that alter the permitting requirements for the specific project.

Every project should be evaluated separately to determine if a **Watershed Management Permit** is required. Permit Determinations can always be requested by mailing a letter describing the project, and including exhibits or plans showing the scope of work, to:

Metropolitan Water Reclamation District Local Sewer Systems Section 111 East Erie Street Chicago, IL 60611

EXAMPLE 1: BUILDING RENOVATION WITH NEW SANITARY SEWER CONNECTION

Parcel area = 3.5 acres. Scope of work includes interior building renovation with a new sanitary sewer connection. No other development is proposed.



Figure 2.2 Permit Applicability Example 1

Interior building renovations are not considered development under the WMO. Any interior sewer work is considered plumbing and is regulated by the local authority. Exterior sewer work, occurring at the building envelope and beyond, is considered qualified sewer construction. Since qualified sewer construction is proposed, a Watershed Management Permit is required. The stormwater provisions of Article 5 do not apply, as there is no development area.

Note: Demolition and reconstruction of a building is a "new building", and would be considered development, which is subject to the stormwater provisions of Article 5.

EXAMPLE 2: NEW PARKING LOT ON EXISTING DEVELOPED PARCEL

Parcel area = 2.5 acres in a combined sewer area, of which 1.75 acres is existing impervious and 0.75 acre is unimproved pervious. Scope of work includes developing the 0.75 acre pervious to impervious parking lot with overland flow and no sewers.



Figure 2.3 Permit Applicability Example 2 – Existing and Proposed Conditions

Since total development area is greater than 0.50 acre, a Watershed Management Permit is required. Because the non-residential parcel is greater than 0.50 acre, the stormwater provisions of Article 5 apply. Runoff and volume control are required for the development area. If the contiguous ownership interest had exceeded 3.0 acres, detention would have also been required.
Example 3: New Parking Lot on Parcel with Existing Detention Facility

Parcel area = 3.2 acres in the separate sewer area, of which 2.45 acres is developed and 0.75 acre is undeveloped. Scope of work includes developing 0.65 acre of the undeveloped land into paved parking lot with new storm sewers.



Figure 2.4 Permit Applicability Example 3 – Existing and Proposed Conditions

Since the total development area is greater than 0.50 acre, a Watershed Management Permit is required. The stormwater provisions of Article 5 of the WMO apply, and runoff, volume control, and detention are required. Since detention already exists, the redevelopment provisions of §505 of the WMO and Schedule D-Legacy may be used toward meeting detention requirements.

EXAMPLE 4: PARKING LOT DRAINAGE SYSTEM INSTALLATION

Parcel area = 2.5 acres in a combined sewer area, of which 1.75 acres is existing impervious and 0.75 acre is unimproved pervious. The pervious area will remain undeveloped; however, storm sewers are installed in an existing 0.30 acre impervious parking lot.



Figure 2.5 Permit Applicability Example 4 – Existing and Proposed Conditions

Storm sewers added to an existing unsewered area is considered development. Total development area is less than 0.50 acre, which would not require a permit on its own. However, since storm sewer is being installed within the combined sewer area, it is considered qualified sewer construction. Since a Watershed Management Permit is required, the stormwater provisions of Article 5 of the WMO apply. As indicated in Article 5, Table 2, runoff and volume control are required due to the ownership interest of the non-residential parcel exceeding 0.50 acre. Detention is not required unless contiguous ownership interest is greater than 3.0 acres.

EXAMPLE 5: PARKING LOT EXPANSION WITH STORM SEWER IN THE SEPARATE SEWER AREA

Parcel area = 3.2 acres in the separate sewer area, of which 2.45 acres is developed and 0.75 acres is undeveloped. Scope of work includes developing the 0.25 acres into paved parking lot with new storm sewers.



Figure 2.6 Permit Applicability Example 5 – Existing and Proposed Conditions

Since the total development area is less than 0.50 acre, a Watershed Management Permit is not required. Detention is required, but may be deferred until the aggregate development area (1) exceeds 0.50 acre. Total aggregate on this parcel is 0.25 acre. At such time as a Watershed Management Permit is required, the detention design must include this 0.25 acre area along with the development area of the project proposed under that permit.

TGM ARTICLE 2 REVISION TABLE

No.	Revision Description	Date
0	Original TGM	5/1/2014
1	Remove EDPL, update flow charts, include SFH permits	8/1/2015
2	Revision table, Amendment edits, rewrite	3/20/2018

ARTICLE 3. WATERSHED MANAGEMENT PERMIT REQUIREMENTS AND SUBMITTALS

ARTICLE SUMMARY

This section provides guidance on obtaining a **Watershed Management Permit** from the **District** or an **authorized municipality**. The following are the various types of **Watershed Management Permits** that may be obtained:

- Regular Watershed Management Permit (WMO Permit)
- Earthwork/Foundation Limited Permit (Earthwork Permit)
- Single Family Home Special Flood Hazard Area Permit (SFHA Permit)
- Notification and Request for Inspection (NRI)
- Facility Connection Authorization (FCA)
- Permit Revision

These permit types and their applicability will be further discussed in the "Watershed Management Permit Types" section of this Article of the TGM.

The guidance provided in this Article includes general submittal requirements for **Watershed Management Permits**, as well as specific requirements relating to supplemental submittal packages. Requirements for the appropriate permit Schedules, signatures, plan sheets, exhibits, fees, revisions, construction timeline, and record drawings are also included. The specific submittal packages covered under this Article are as follows:

- Erosion and Sediment Control
- Stormwater Management
- Floodplain
- Wetland
- Riparian Environment
- Qualified Sewer Construction
- Maintenance and Monitoring Plan

NOTE: All bold words are defined in Appendix A of the WMO and the TGM.

WATERSHED MANAGEMENT PERMIT TYPES

The following sections outline the different **Watershed Management Permit** types and specific requirements for each. All **Watershed Management Permits** must be submitted with original signatures and applicable fees to:

Metropolitan Water Reclamation District Local Sewer Systems Section 111 East Erie Street, 6th floor Chicago, IL 60611

For developments located within an Authorized Municipality, the Watershed Management Permit must be submitted to the Authorized Municipality for review and coordination with the District. Watershed Management Permit applications and supplemental permit forms can be found on the District's WMO website, at wmo.mwrd.org.

WMO PERMIT

A regular **Watershed Management Permit** (WMO Permit) is the most common permit type and may be issued by either the **District** or an **Authorized Municipality** (**Authorized Municipalities** are discussed in <u>Article 14</u> of this **TGM**.) The WMO Permit must be signed and sealed by a registered **Professional Engineer** to indicate the technical submittal meets the design criteria contained in the WMO. The supplemental permit forms (Schedules) are listed on Page 1 of the WMO Permit application and provide an outline of the applicable permitting requirements for a **development**. Not all Schedules are required for every permit, and will vary depending on the individual project. The Schedules are described as follows:

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS:

- Schedule A Project Information
- Certifications and Signatures

Soil Erosion and Sediment Control (Article 4):

- Schedule P Soil Erosion and Sediment Control
 - Not required for projects that only include utility installation.

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT (ARTICLE 5):

- Schedule D Detention and Stormwater Management Facilities (WMO)
 - Required for runoff, volume control, and detention facilities meeting the design standards of, or modifying facilities designed to the standards of §504 of the WMO

- Schedule D_{Legacy} Detention and Stormwater Management Facilities (Legacy)
 - Required for runoff, volume control, and when existing detention facilities, constructed prior to the WMO (May 1, 2014), are being utilized to meet detention requirements, per §505
- Schedule K Affidavit of Disclosure of Property Interests
 - Includes Exhibit A Current Survey of Property Interests (Plat of Survey)
 - > Two notarized copies with original signature required
 - Schedule K is not required for projects in the public right-of way (ROW) and is only required for projects that are below the parcel ownership area thresholds which require detention, as provided in Table 2 of the WMO.
- Schedule L Notice of Requirements for Stormwater Detention
 - Includes Exhibit A Current Survey of Property Interests (Plat of Survey)
 - Applicable for sites in which detention has not previously been provided for at least 0.50 acre of undeveloped area

FLOOD PROTECTION AREAS (ARTICLE 6):

- Schedule H Hazard Areas (Floodplain/Floodway/Riparian Environments)
- Schedule W Wetlands and Wetland Buffer Areas

QUALIFIED SEWER CONSTRUCTION (ARTICLE 7):

- Schedule B Sewer Summary
- Schedule C Sewer Connections
- Schedule E Lift Station and/or Force Main
 - > Only required for lift stations serving multiple **owners**
- Schedule F Characteristics of Waste Discharge
 - > In conjunction with Schedule G, for facilities producing industrial wastes
- Schedule G Treatment or Pretreatment Facilities
 - > In conjunction with Schedule F, for facilities producing industrial wastes

- Schedule J Affidavit Relative to Compliance with Article 7
 - Overhead Plumbing and Footing Drain Discharge
 - Only required if **municipality** has not adopted an ordinance requiring overhead plumbing and prohibiting footing drain discharge into the sanitary sewer system (typically unincorporated areas, and rarely required)
- Schedule O Outfall, Direct Connection, District Owned or Leased Property
 - > Required for both new and reconstructed **outfalls**
 - Required for direct connections to District Interceptors, TARP structures, facilities, or reservoirs
 - Required for development on District land

MAINTENANCE AND MONITORING PLAN

- Schedule R Recording and Maintenance
 - Includes Exhibit R Recording Exhibit
 - To be submitted with permit application, and then final as-built must be recorded and submitted prior to permit close-out (Request for Final Inspection, or RFI)
 - > Two notarized copies with original signature required
 - Schedule R/Exhibit R is not required for projects that are not monetized and located in the public ROW or on publicly owned **parcels**.

EARTHWORK PERMIT

An Earthwork/Foundation Limited Permit (Earthwork Permit) may be issued by either the District or an Authorized Municipality. The Earthwork Permit must be signed and sealed by a registered **Professional Engineer** and approved by the **Permittee**, who will guarantee the site will be brought into compliance with the WMO should the project default during construction.

This optional permit type exists to provide construction scheduling flexibility while an applicant is working to obtain a full WMO Permit. Obtaining an Earthwork Permit allows for grading and foundation work in limited circumstances (see below), as long as a WMO Permit is submitted within ninety days. **Erosion and sediment control practices** are required, and onsite floodplain must be designated in the field, per the delineation shown on the approved **erosion** control plan. All work performed under this permit type is considered "at-risk", and may be modified under the WMO permit.

Mitigation for adverse impacts caused by **stormwater runoff** must be made via an unsewered temporary stormwater storage basin, sized for the proposed **development** area by using the simplified nomograph method for detention basins. The temporary mitigation basin must be dewatered mechanically without the use of sewer connections or permanent pump installations. These measures must be provided for all **sites** utilizing Earthwork Permits, regardless of **ownership interest**.

The Earthwork Permit is <u>prohibited</u> for **sites** with potential impacts to **wetlands** or **riparian environments**.

Only grading or foundation work outside the **flood protection area** is allows under the Earthwork Permit. The following activities are <u>not</u> allowed under this permit type:

- Qualified sewer construction
- Development in the regulatory floodplain or regulatory floodway
- Volume control practices
- Detention facilities
- Outfalls to waterways
- **District** impacts

SFHA PERMIT

A Single Family Home – Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA Permit) may be issued by either the **District** or an **Authorized Municipality**. The SFHA Permit ensures proper elevation protection for **single-family home parcels** located within the **regulatory floodplain**. The first section of the SFHA Permit seeks to determine whether the **single-family home** is within a flood zone by elevation. The following sections determine required building elevation and **compensatory storage**.

The SFHA Permit is also applicable to **single-family homes** within 100-feet of the mapped **FEMA FIRM**. The SFHA Permit will be used to make a determination of whether the **single-family home** is within the flood zone by elevation, or is reasonably protected by already being elevated above the **BFE**. If already above the **BFE**, the SFHA Permit will be issued without requiring **building** elevation or **compensatory storage**, as long as no **development** occurs within any of the **parcel** area with elevation below the **BFE**. A **single-family home** located within 100-feet of the mapped **FEMA FIRM** that can demonstrate protection from **flooding** by a berm or other elevated barrier may be considered to be out of the **floodplain** by elevation.

NRI

A Notification and Request for Inspection (NRI) is only applicable for certain types of **qualified sewer construction**, which are found in §701.1 of the WMO, and is solely issued by the **District**. The NRI is not required to be signed and sealed by a registered **Professional Engineer**, and can be submitted by the **owner**, the **municipality**, a contractor, or a design engineer. Engineering plans are not required, and a sketch or marked-up aerial map can serve to indicate where the **qualified sewer construction** is located.

The NRI is primarily used for sewer rehabilitation projects within **municipalities** or sanitary districts. However, minimal new sewer can be permitted under an NRI if <u>all</u> the following conditions are met:

- New sewer is less than 25 linear feet
- New sewer does not include a new building service connection
- New sewer does not make a new service connection to the existing public sewer main
- Replacement sewer is the same size and within 5-feet of the original alignment
- **Development** area is less than 0.50 acre

Demolition of an existing **building** and re-use of the sewer for a replacement or new **building** is considered a new **building** connection, even if the **building** is within the same footprint, and this **qualified sewer construction** requires a WMO Permit.

FCA

A Facility Connection Authorization (FCA) may only be used within the City of Chicago and is solely issued by the District. The FCA must be signed and sealed by a registered **Professional** Engineer to indicate the technical submittal meets the design criteria contained in the WMO.

Direct connections to **District** facilities and new or reconstructed **outfalls** to a **waterway** or Lake Michigan require an FCA when located within the City of Chicago. Refer to <u>Article 2</u> of this **TGM** for more information on FCA applicability.

PERMIT REVISION

A Permit Revision may be issued by either the **District** or the **Authorized Municipality** which originally issued the WMO Permit. Permit Revisions document any proposed changes to the approved permit. A Permit Revision may be obtained by submitting the following:

- A letter from the design engineer describing the changes and reason for the changes
- A letter from the municipal/system engineer granting approval of the changes
- Two (2) copies of revised design drawings (only the sheets that have changed), signed and sealed by the design engineer of record
- Two (2) copies of revised permit forms, signed and sealed by the design engineer of record
- Fee Payment Voucher and Permit Revision fee

Permit Revisions can be applied for prior to the approval of the Request for Final Inspection (RFI). In some cases, Permit Revisions related to minor modifications to **District** permitted **detention facilities** can be done after the RFI is approved.

§300 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

This section of the WMO covers some universal requirements and limitations of **Watershed Management Permits**.

Either the **District** or the relevant **authorized municipality** will make the final determination that all pertinent information has been submitted to either begin review or issue a **Watershed Management Permit**. Additional information, calculations, or documentation may be requested at any time prior to issuing the **Watershed Management Permit**. Specific submittal requirements are addressed later in this Article. Further information on **authorized municipalities** can be found in <u>Article 14</u> of this **TGM**.

LIMITATIONS

The issuance of a Watershed Management Permit does not:

- Convey any property rights or any exclusive privilege
- B. Authorize any injury to private property or invasion of private rights
- Release the **permittee** or **co-permittee** from liability for damage to **persons** or property resulting from the work covered by the permit.

QUALIFIED PERSON

The presence of **regulatory floodplain** or **regulatory floodway** must be acknowledged or denied by a **Professional Engineer**. While the presence of **regulatory floodplain** and **regulatory floodway** on a project site can be determined by reviewing the effective Flood Insurance Rate Maps (**FIRMs**), effective Flood Insurance Study (**FIS**) profiles, and the site-specific topography, the presence of **wetlands/buffers** and **riparian environments** requires training and experience in identifying these areas. Most **Professional Engineers** have not undergone this type of training, and most likely will not make the statement as it pertains to **wetlands** or **riparian environments**.

When sufficient evidence indicates the possible presence of **wetlands/buffers** and **riparian environments**, the project submittal must include a certification from a **Wetland Specialist** or **Professional Engineer** either denying or acknowledging the presence of these areas. If present, Schedule W must be submitted as part of the **Watershed Management Permit** and prepared by a **Wetland Specialist**. The **Wetland Specialist** is responsible for the review of all delineation reports, impacts, mitigation plans, and other documentation related to **wetlands**, buffers, and **riparian environments**. Sufficient evidence consists of answering "Yes" to any of the questions contained in the *Onsite and Offsite Cursory Wetland Determination Procedure* that is provided later in this Article, under the **Wetlands** and **Buffers** Submittal Requirements section.

To qualify as a **Wetland Specialist**, a person must meet the requirements of a), b), c), or d) below:

- Certified as an Environmental Scientist in DuPage County or a Certified **Wetland Specialist** (CWS) in Lake County;
- B. Professional Wetland Scientist certification by the Society of Wetland Scientists (SWS);
- Minimum of a bachelor's degree in a biologic science or earth science and at least one of the following:
 - 1) Three (3) years cumulative (full-time) **wetlands** experience in the Upper Midwest Region on **wetland**-related projects; or
 - 2) Completion of at least 100 wetland delineation projects in the Upper Midwest Region;
- Six (6) years cumulative (full-time) **wetlands** experience in the Upper Midwest Region on **wetland**-related projects without a degree type noted above.

Sole Permittee

Existing Sole Permittee

Some issued permits in unincorporated areas allowed **sewage** to discharge directly to a **District** interceptor sewer. These permits were not signed by a **municipality** and are known as **Sole** Permittee permits. If a proposed development including qualified sewer construction was previously permitted in an unincorporated area and is now within a municipality's corporate limits, the new permit will not be considered a **Sole Permittee** permit and must be signed by the municipality. Existing Sole Permittee permits still located in an unincorporated area are assumed to have a special condition requiring surety (maintenance bond or evidence of financial responsibility) for the sewer systems. When a permit application is submitted for proposed work, the existing surety amount may require update for cost inflation and shall be updated to include the new sewer work. If the existing permit does not include the requirement for surety, it will be required for the proposed work. The surety amount should be set as the nominal construction cost of building the **sanitary sewer** system as submitted by the applicant, plus a cost factor for surface improvements, i.e., sidewalks, driveways, buildings, landscaping, etc. that may have to be replaced in conjunction with repairs, and an annual increase in the amount due to inflation. The surety must be a source of funds from which the **District** can draw upon the default of the Sole Permittee. Some existing Sole Permittee permits do not require the above mentioned surety because the property owner provided an easement to the District and in exchange was granted a connection to a **District** interceptor for sole and exclusive use.

New Sole Permittee

The **District's Board of Commissioners** approval is required for all new **Sole Permittee** permits which include **qualified sewer construction**. They are only accepted in unincorporated areas, and if any potential **Permittee** provides written documentation refusing to sign the **Watershed Management Permit**, and the **Co-Permittee** complies with the following:

- 1) The facilities to be serviced are for the sole and exclusive use of the property **owner**, and no sewer extension is contemplated for other private users
- 2) The area to be served is outside the jurisdiction of any local sanitary district or public utility company certified for such services
- 3) Explore the feasibility to connect to sewer system in adjacent jurisdiction(s) and if not allowed, obtain written denial
- 4) Provide surety as mentioned above in Existing **Sole Permittee** section;
- 5) Record permit with the Cook County Recorder of Deeds against the title of the property
- 6) If the sewer systems extend off of the Sole Permittee's property, provide easement(s) and/or agreement(s) to demonstrate permission to access areas for construction and subsequent maintenance
- 7) Provide evidence of fee simple **ownership** of the property to be served, and a copy of the legal description of the property. If property **owner** is part of a corporation, submit a license to do business in Illinois. If property **owner** is other than an individual, submit names of officers or partners
- 8) Attend a pre-meeting with **District** staff to discuss proposed interceptor connection

For projects that include **stormwater** or **development** without a **Permittee**, the **Watershed Management Permit** may be issued without Cook County signing as the **Permittee**, if they refuse to do so in writing. The permit must be recorded with Cook County Recorder of Deeds according to §307. Townships that have sewer or **stormwater** authority would be considered the **Permittee**, and those projects would not be subject to **Sole Permittee** provisions.

NON-DISTRICT APPROVALS

FEDERAL AND STATE AGENCIES

Prior to **start of construction**, all appropriate approvals from federal and state agencies must be obtained. Many of these approvals will be part of the various **Watershed Management Permit** submittals, including, but not limited to, **OWR** approval for construction in the **floodway**, **Corps** approval for impacts to **jurisdictional wetlands**, **IEPA** approval for discharge to **waterways**, and **IDOT** approval for roadwork. Additional necessary federal and state approvals must be obtained, even if not required under the **Watershed Management Permit**.

LOCAL AND REGIONAL AGENCIES

Local approval must be obtained from the **municipality** (**permittee**) in order to apply for a **Watershed Management Permit**. Prior to **start of construction**, any required regional approvals must be obtained, even if not required under the **Watershed Management Permit**. Examples of regional authorities include, but are not limited to, townships, conservation districts, drainage districts, highway departments, and park districts.

FOREST PRESERVE DISTRICT OF COOK COUNTY

Applicants proposing **runoff** at a location on or adjacent to holdings or property of Forest Preserve District of Cook County (FPD) shall contact FPD for review of the proposed work to determine **stormwater** impacts to FPD property and methods to reduce or eliminate any adverse impacts.

This requirement applies only to projects proposing the following:

Any work directly on FPD holdings or property;

B. Projects located adjacent to FPD holdings or property consisting of any of the following:

- 1) New point discharges onto FPD holdings or property;
- 2) Direct storm sewer connections to FPD owned infrastructure; or
- 3) Proposed **runoff** that causes the **hydrology** on FPD holdings or property to fall below eighty percent (80%) or exceed one-hundred fifty percent (150%) of the existing condition **storm event runoff** volume for the 2-year, 24-hour **storm event**.

For projects in any of the above categories, written notification shall be submitted indicating the FPD has been made aware of the proposed project (for instance, a letter carbon copied to the **District** in which documents were transmitted to FPD for review, comments from the FPD on the proposed project, etc.) The FPD shall be contacted at:

Director of Planning and Development Forest Preserve District of Cook County 536 North Harlem Avenue River Forest, IL 60305

The WMO does not regulate how FPD makes determinations of adverse impacts, nor does it dictate methods for obtaining approval from FPD. All proposed **development** must meet, or exceed, the requirements of the WMO, regardless of the requirements of the FPD. The requirement to contact the FPD, as outlined in §300.5, does not apply to the following:

- **Development** not adjacent to FPD property;
- Non-adjacent **parcels** that are eventually, but not directly, tributary to FPD infrastructure;
- Direct connections to infrastructure not owned by the FPD; and
- Existing **outfalls** that are not being reconstructed.

PERMIT FEES

Per §301.1, the **District** shall establish a schedule of permit fees, which may be amended from time to time. The current permit fee schedule is found in <u>Appendix F</u> of the WMO, and is approved by the **District's Board of Commissioners**. **Authorized Municipalities** establish their own fee schedules. Certain **District** fees apply for permits issued by an **Authorized Municipality**, which are discussed below.

Fees are due at the time of application, and must be submitted with a Fee Payment Voucher, outlining which fees are being paid. The Fee Payment Voucher is located on the **District's** WMO website, at <u>wmo.mwrd.org</u>. A **Watershed Management Permit** application will not be accepted without at least the Base Permit Review Fee accompanying the submittal. If the permit application is cancelled, some fees may be refundable, as indicated in the following fee descriptions.

Watershed Management Permits will not be issued without obtaining all required fees.

BASE PERMIT REVIEW FEES

A **Watershed Management Permit** application will not be accepted without receiving at least the Base Permit Review Fee. These fees are listed in Section I of <u>Appendix F</u>, and are considered non-refundable once review of the **Watershed Management Permit** application has commenced. Each permit type has a different Base Permit Review Fee associated with it.

Resubmittals associated with a **Watershed Management Permit** currently under review are not charged fees for any additional review(s).

DETENTION REVIEW FEES

Detention Review Fees are listed in Section II of **Appendix F**. These fees are applicable to **developments** or **redevelopments** that meet the detention thresholds listed in Table 2 of <u>Article</u> <u>5</u> of the WMO. These projects are required to provide new detention (Schedule D) or demonstrate capacity via **existing detention facilities** (Schedule D-Legacy). Note that Schedule D includes runoff and volume control, and is usually required, regardless of detention requirements. The presence of Schedule D in the **Watershed Management Permit** application does not automatically trigger Detention Review Fees.

Schedule D or Schedule D-Legacy must accompany a WMO Permit and cannot be used under an NRI, FCA, or SFHA Permit. Schedule D is used to document **runoff** mitigation under an Earthwork Permit; however, this is not considered detention, nor the required Schedule D for the **site**.

The Detention Review Fees are dependent on the size of the development and whether the **site** is using the nomograph method or modeling for sizing the restrictor and volume of the **detention**

facility. The specific fee breakdown is found on the Fee Payment Voucher and <u>Appendix F</u> of the WMO. This fee is considered refundable only until review has occurred.

More information on detention design guidelines and whether a **development** qualifies for Schedule D-Legacy instead of Schedule D can be found in <u>Article 5</u> of this **TGM**.

ISOLATED WETLAND/RIPARIAN ENVIRONMENT REVIEW FEES

Isolated Wetland/Riparian Environment Review Fees are listed in Section III of <u>Appendix F</u>, and are accompanied by Schedule W. If only **riparian environments** are present, and there are no **wetlands**, Schedule H may be used instead. Fees for Schedule H are listed below under *Other Fees*.

Schedule W is required for verification of **isolated wetlands** and mitigation of impacts to **isolated wetlands** and **riparian environments**. Schedule W must accompany a WMO Permit and cannot be used under an Earthwork Permit, NRI, FCA, or SFHA Permit.

The **Isolated Wetland/Riparian Environment** Review Fees are dependent on whether mitigation is required, and also how much mitigation is being proposed. The specific fee breakdown is found on the Fee Payment Voucher and <u>Appendix F</u> of the WMO. This fee is considered refundable only until review has occurred.

More information on **wetland** and **riparian environment** design and mitigation requirements can be found in <u>Article 6</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**.

QUALIFIED SEWER CONSTRUCTION FEES

The following fees related to **qualified sewer construction** are listed in Section IV of <u>Appendix F</u>, and are applicable as described below.

Sewer Inspection Fee

Sewer Inspection Fees are required for all **qualified sewer construction** proposed within the **District's** service area, with the exception of **storm sewers** tributary to **waterways** within the **combined sewer area** and underdrains associated with **volume control practices**. Details on what is considered **qualified sewer construction** are found in <u>Article 7</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**.

The Sewer Inspection Fee is applicable under the WMO Permit, FCA, and NRI, and should be submitted with the initial permit application.

For underground **detention facilities** tributary to **combined sewers**, Sewer Inspection Fees are charged based on the longest length of the underground vault. The Sewer Inspection Fee applies for all lengths of underground detention storage in pipes. The Sewer Inspection Fee is refundable for any length of sewer not constructed. However, additional fees will be required after construction if field changes necessitate installing more **qualified sewer construction** than

originally approved under the **Watershed Management Permit**. In such cases, the **Co-Permittee** will be invoiced for the additional Sewer Inspection Fee.

Schedule E – Lift Stations

Schedule E is required for construction or reconstruction of public lift stations, and must accompany a WMO Permit or FCA. Schedule E cannot be used under an Earthwork Permit, NRI, or SFHA Permit.

The associated review fee is required for any permit with a Schedule E. The fee should be submitted with the initial application. This fee is considered refundable only until review has occurred.

Schedule O – Outfalls, District Impacts

Schedule O is required for new or reconstructed **outfalls**, direct connections to **District** infrastructure, or development on **District** owned land. Schedule O must accompany a WMO Permit or FCA, and cannot be used under an Earthwork Permit, NRI, or SFHA Permit.

The associated review fee is required for any permit with a Schedule O. The fee should be submitted with the initial application. This fee is considered refundable only until review has occurred.

CONNECTION IMPACT FEES

Connection Impact Fees are generally rare and will only apply to areas annexed into the **District's** service area after July 9, 1998. These fees serve to recover historic capital and infrastructure costs. Fees will be assessed at such time as **development** requiring a **Watershed Management Permit** is proposed in these annexed areas. **Connection Impact Fees** are applicable to the **disturbed area** for all permit types. *Note: Parcels that contain publicly owned facilities performing a government function or those considered property tax exempt are not subject to* **Connection Impact Fees**.

The schedule of Connection Impact Fees is as follows:

- First 10% due with the initial permit application submittal
- Next 50% due within one-year of **start of construction**, or substantial completion, whichever occurs first
- Final 40% due with the RFI submittal, or two years after **start of construction**, whichever occurs first

Any areas dedicated as **right-of-way** (ROW) can be considered exempt from **Connection Impact Fees**. If an area is dedicated as ROW after a scheduled payment has been made, that portion of the payment will not be refunded. However, future payments may exempt the newly dedicated ROW area. **Connection Impact Fees** are only refunded if the **Watershed Management Permit** is cancelled or expires.

OTHER **F**EES

The following fees are listed in Section V of <u>Appendix F</u> and are applicable in some cases, as described below.

Schedule R – Recordation Deposit

Schedule R is required for most **developments**, and must accompany a WMO Permit. Schedule R is not applicable under an Earthwork Permit, NRI, FCA, or SFHA Permit.

The Recordation Deposit is required for any WMO Permit with a Schedule R. The fee should be submitted with the initial application. **Applicants** should keep an original copy of the Schedule R for recording purposes. At such time as the **applicant** records the as-built Schedule R/Exhibit R with Cook County and submits a copy to the **District**, the Recordation Deposit will be refunded.

Schedule H – Hazard Areas

Schedule H is required for onsite floodplain, floodway, or riparian environments, and must accompany a WMO Permit or FCA. Schedule H cannot be used under an Earthwork Permit, NRI, FCA, or SFHA Permit.

The associated review fee is required for any permit with a Schedule H. The fee should be submitted with the initial application. This fee is considered refundable only until review has occurred.

Schedule L – Notice of Requirements of Stormwater Detention

Schedule L is required for **parcels** meeting the detention threshold with at least 0.50 acre of proposed undeveloped land in which detention is only provided for the proposed **development** area and not for the portion of the of the **parcel** that will remain undeveloped and in its natural/native condition. Schedule L, and the associated Exhibit A, must accompany a WMO Permit, and cannot be used under an Earthwork Permit, NRI, FCA, or SFHA Permit. Note that Exhibit A is also associated with Schedule K, which has no fee requirement. The presence of Exhibit A in the **Watershed Management Permit** does not automatically trigger fees.

The associated review fee is required for any WMO Permit with a Schedule L. The fee should be submitted with the initial application. The **District** will record the Schedule L/Exhibit A with Cook County and invoice the **Co-Permittee** for the recording fee.

VIOLATION INSPECTIONS

If an **applicant** is sent a Notice of Violation (**NOV**), inspections related to the violation will incur fees as listed in <u>Appendix F</u> of the WMO. These fees will be invoiced or made part of the violation settlement. Violation Inspection fees are non-refundable in all cases.

VARIANCE FILING AND REVIEW

The **Variance** process is detailed in <u>Article 11</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**. The fee is required at the time of filing to offset the processing and review costs. A Petition for **Variance** will not be accepted without submitting the full Filing and Review fee. This fee is considered fully or partially refundable only until the **Director of Engineering's** report is written.

Additional information on **Variances**, including fee refunds, can be found in <u>Article 11</u> of this **TGM**.

FEES FOR AUTHORIZED MUNICIPALITY PERMITS

Authorized Municipalities set their own review fees. However, certain approvals must be granted by the **District** prior to issuing **Authorized Municipality** Permits, and the associated fees must be collected by the **District**. These fees include <u>only</u> the following, when applicable:

- Sewer Inspection Fee
- Schedule E
- Schedule O
- Connection Impact Fees

All other fees in Appendix F are waived by the **District**. The above fees may be submitted with a Fee Payment Voucher to the **District** before or during permit review. Payment of any other permit review fees are subject to the local rules and regulations of the **Authorized Municipality** and shall be coordinated with the Engineer or **Enforcement Officer** of the **Authorized Municipality**. Further information on **Authorized Municipalities** is found in <u>Article 14</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**.

SINGLE-FAMILY HOME PERMIT FEES

In general, **development** of **single-family home parcels** do not require fees from the **District**. Fees are never required for SFHA Permits. However, there are two instances in which a WMO Permit is required instead of a SFHA Permit. **Single-family home** projects are not considered fee exempt when the **development** includes:

• Wetlands and/or riparian environments

• An extension of the public sewer

PUBLICLY FUNDED PROJECTS

Publicly funded projects, such as municipal road projects, public sewer rehabilitation, government buildings, parks, and public schools, may be exempt from fees. However, **developments** on public land or **development** of land that is monetized is not considered a fee exempt project, even when undertaken by a **municipality**.

The **District** administers this policy in the spirit of intergovernmental cooperation, and reserves the right to modify this exemption at any time.

WATERSHED MANAGEMENT PERMIT APPLICATION SUBMITTALS

There are certain submittal requirements that must be met prior to the **District** accepting a **Watershed Management Permit** application. Utilizing the Minimum Submittal Requirements Checklist, which can be found on the **District's** WMO website, at wmo.mwrd.org, is the best way to ensure the application will be received and reviewed without delay. If an incomplete submittal is sent to the **District**, one copy of the submittal is kept on file and all other copies will be returned to the applicant without review.

Specific submittal requirements are detailed in the following sections. Note, that plan sheet and exhibit specifications for each submittal are found in the *Exhibits and Plan Sheets Submittal Requirements* section following the specific submittal sections.

GENERAL SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

The following must be submitted for each **development** requiring a **Watershed Management Permit**:

- Two (2) copies of the applicable **Watershed Management Permit** application with all necessary original signatures
- Two (2) copies of all applicable Schedules, with original signatures, if necessary
- Two (2) copies of the plan set, with original seal and signature for all permit types except NRIs. Additional copies may be requested as part of the final permit approval.
- The common address, legal description, and property index number (PIN) of the **site** where the **development** will take place. This information can be included by submitting a topographic survey, Exhibit A, Exhibit R, or listing on the general plan set.
- A narrative description of the project, including:
 - > Type of development
 - > Total site or parcel (contiguous ownership interest) size
 - Size of the area under **development**
 - Denial of flood protection areas by either a Professional Engineer or Wetland Specialist if not present within the development area, site area, or 100-feet from the development if offsite.
- One (1) copy of Fee Payment Voucher Form with applicable fees

• One (1) copy of all applicable calculations, exhibits, and documentation, with original seal and signature by a **Professional Engineer**, as indicated in the specific submittal requirements sections of this Article of the **TGM**.

Submit the above items to:

MWRD Engineering Department Local Sewer Systems Section 111 East Erie Street, 6th floor Chicago, IL 60611

If the proposed **development** is within the corporate limits of an **authorized municipality**, then the submittals should be sent to the **municipality's enforcement officer**. If the proposed **development** involves any activities listed in §201.2 of the WMO, the applicable portions of the submittals will be forwarded to the **District** by the **authorized municipality**. Note, NRIs do not fall under the jurisdiction of an **authorized municipality**, and shall always be submitted to the **District**.

PERMIT SIGNATURES

All **Watershed Management Permit** applications must be submitted with original signatures. If the parcel is located within a **municipality's** corporate limits, both the **Co-Permittee(s)** and **Permittee** must sign the **Watershed Management Permit**. The **municipality** is the **Permittee** and the property **owner(s)** is the **Co-Permittee**.

For WMO Permits, the **municipality** or their system engineer must also sign as the *Municipal or System Engineer* on Page 8. Some permit applications require multiple sets of certifications (Pages 8 and 9) when the **sanitary** or **combined sewer** system is not owned by the **municipality**. One set provides certification for the sewer system and the other set provides certification for the **development**. When the receiving sanitary or combined sewer system routes flow through more than one **municipality**, an additional Page 8 and Page 9 are required to document approval by downstream sewer owners.

For **developments** located in unincorporated **Cook County**, the *Certificate by Municipal Engineer* and **Permittee** signatures should be obtained from the **Cook County** Building and Zoning Department. The contact information is:

Building and Zoning Bureau of Economic Development 69 West Washington, Suite 2830 Chicago, Illinois 60602 Telephone: (312) 603-0500 Fax: (312) 603-9940 TDD: (800) 526-0857 http://www.cookcountyil.gov/building-and-zoning Cook County does not have authority over **sanitary** or **combined sewer** systems. If the project is located in a Township that does have sewer authority, the Township must sign as the **Permittee**. Otherwise, the project may be subject to the **Sole Permittee** provisions of §300.3.B of the WMO.

The engineering certifications on Page 8 of the WMO Permit application must be signed by a **Professional Engineer**, as defined in the WMO. The design and inspection engineers do not necessarily need to be based in Illinois, but must have a current valid Illinois PE license. The **Professional Engineer's** dated original ink signature and valid Illinois seal must be affixed to the permit application, plans, calculations, and applicable Schedules.

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

The erosion and sediment control regulations are provided in <u>Article 4</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**. An itemized checklist of submittal requirements is available on the **District's** WMO website, at wmo.mwrd.org.

The **Erosion** and **Sediment** Control Submittal shall include Schedule P, with original signature by the property owner, the **NPDES** ILR-10 permit information, if applicable, and a narrative that can either be a separate report or included with the required general permit submittal narrative. For sites with **disturbed area** greater than 1.0 acre or part of a larger planned common development, or if required by the **IEPA**, the ILR-10 permit number issued by the **IEPA** must be provided on Schedule P. The issued ILR-10 permit must be submitted to the **District** prior to **start of construction**. Note that **sites** tributary to a **combined sewer** do not require the ILR-10 permit.

The **erosion** and **sediment** control plan shall include descriptions of the following:

- Existing land cover
- Geotechnical report, including a soils report and soil boring logs
- Hydrologic conditions of the proposed **development**
- Areas adjacent to the **development** including a description of **flood protection areas**, **site** discharge location(s), **outfalls**, and soil survey data
- Proposed temporary erosion and sediment control practices
- Description of how **flood protection areas** will be protected from **erosion** and **sedimentation** both temporarily and permanently
- Mechanism for ensuring that the **erosion** and **sediment** control installation and **maintenance** requirements for both temporary and permanent measures will be met, including the list of **maintenance** tasks and performance schedules that have been identified and/or required in the plan sheet(s) and specifications

For work directly in Lake Michigan, approval must be obtained from the **Corps**. The Schedule P should reflect that this is a "special area" and approvals from the regulating agencies must be made part of the **Erosion** and **Sediment** Control Submittal.

Data and calculations must be included in the plan, which are used to size, locate, design, and maintain all erosion and sediment control practices and temporary stream crossings. Details on erosion and sediment control plan sheet requirements are found in the *Plan Set and Exhibits Submittal Requirements* section following the specific submittal sections.

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

The **stormwater** management regulations are provided in <u>Article 5</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**. Because the **stormwater** management requirements of the WMO are complex and specific to the different types of **development**, a flowchart has been provided to help applicants navigate the **stormwater** permitting process. The **site runoff**, **volume control**, and detention requirements are a function of the the size of the **contiguous ownership interest** (**parcel**). Because the WMO provides detention allowances for certain **redevelopments**, the flowchart includes these detention requirements as well. The flowchart and an itemized checklist of submittal requirements is available on the **District's** WMO website, at wmo.mwrd.org.

The **Stormwater** Management Submittal shall include the required Schedule D or Schedule D-Legacy, with original signature by a **Professional Engineer**. Schedule D-Legacy is used for **redevelopment** of **sites** with **detention facilities** permitted under the SPO or **existing detention facilities** constructed prior to the effective day of the WMO (May 1, 2014). All other **sites** will utilize Schedule D for **stormwater** management. The following additional permit forms may also be required:

- <u>Schedule K</u>: If the **contiguous ownership interest** of the **parcel** is less than the detention thresholds listed in <u>Article 5</u> Table 2 of the WMO, the Affidavit of Disclosure of Property Interest (Schedule K) must be submitted. The Schedule K must have an original signature from the property **owner**, signature and seal of a Notary Public, and exemptions indicated on the form.
- <u>Schedule L</u>: If a **parcel** that meets the detention thresholds of <u>Article 5</u> Table 2 includes any undeveloped vacant land that is not part of the proposed **development** and is not being included in the detention calculations of the **Watershed Management Permit**, eight copies of the Notice of Requirements for Stormwater Detention (Schedule L) and the Exhibit A must be submitted. Two copies of the Schedule L must have original signatures from the **owner**, partnership, LLC, corporation, or land trust, signature and seal of a Notary Public, and the appropriate paragraphs crossed out, per the note at the bottom of Page 1 of the form.

The **Stormwater** Management Submittal shall also include a narrative, which can either be a separate report or included with the required general permit submittal narrative. The narrative requirements for the **site runoff**, volume control, and detention aspects of **stormwater** management are included in each sub-section below. Details on **stormwater** management plan sheet requirements are found in the *Plan Set and Exhibits Submittal Requirements* section following the specific submittal sections.

SITE RUNOFF

The **site runoff** narrative of the **Stormwater** Management Submittal shall describe all appropriate measures necessary to meet the requirements of §502 of the WMO, and shall include the following information:

- A description of the proposed **development** that includes the area of existing and proposed **impervious areas**
- A description of the existing drainage pattern, including the portion of the parcel that is located in separate watersheds defined in the District's DWPs, a separate sewer area, or a combined sewer area, and the discharge point(s) to a storm sewer, waterway or combined sewer.
- A description of the upstream **tributary area** and **stormwater** discharge downstream to allow for evaluation of offsite impacts resulting from the proposed **development**
- A description of soil types, vegetation, and land cover conditions affecting **runoff** of the **development site** for any area draining through or to the **site**

Calculations must also be included as part of the site runoff portion of the **Stormwater** Management Submittal. The calculations must be comprised of **site runoff** and upstream tributary **runoff** calculations, and any other calculations necessary to demonstrate compliance with the WMO. These may include the following, as applicable:

- Documentation identifying the procedures, assumptions, and data used to calculate hydrologic and hydraulic conditions for sizing both **major and minor stormwater systems**
- Time-of-concentration calculations
- Curve number and/or **runoff** coefficient calculations for the existing and proposed conditions
- Calculations for sizing for major and minor stormwater systems, overland flow routes, and other stormwater facilities
- Hydraulic grade line and water surface elevations under design flow, **base flood**, and other tailwater conditions
- Assumptions or calculations utilized to determine tailwater conditions for the site

NOTE: If the **development** does not require volume control or **stormwater** detention, and it can be demonstrated that the **development** does not modify drainage patterns upstream or downstream, then the runoff review can be determined by inspection and engineering judgement, and calculations are not necessarily required.

VOLUME CONTROL

The volume control narrative of the **Stormwater** Management Submittal shall describe all appropriate measures necessary to meet the requirements of §503 of the WMO, and shall include the following information:

- A geotechnical report that includes a description of soils, infiltration rates, clay percentage, and depth to the seasonably high **groundwater** level, bedrock, or other limiting subsurface layer
- A description of the utilization of the **volume control practices** hierarchy in §503.3.A-C of the WMO, including use of **retention-based practices**, offsite volume control practices, and flow-through practices in §503.3.A and §503.3.B, and for other compliance methods described in §503.3.C
- A description and documentation of any **site constraints** that may preclude the use of **volume control practices**
- Documentation that **flow-through practice(s)** required in §503.3 of the WMO meet the pretreatment requirement

Calculations must also be included as part of the volume control portion of the **Stormwater** Management Submittal. The calculations shall include the following, as applicable:

- The impervious area and associated volume control storage required for the development
- The quantifiable storage provided in each proposed **volume control practice** in §503.3 of the WMO to verify adequate storage;
- Calculation of volumes for other compliance methods described in §503.3 of the WMO, if applicable

DETENTION FACILITY

The **detention facility** portion of the **Stormwater** Management Submittal shall describe all appropriate measures necessary to meet the requirements of §504 or §505 of the WMO, and shall include the following information and calculations, when applicable:

- Documentation identifying the procedures, assumptions, and data used to calculate hydrologic and hydraulic conditions and to determine the post-**development allowable** release rate and required detention volume;
- Determination of **outlet control structure** sizing and storage volume

- Elevation-storage-discharge relationship and associated calculations for the **detention facility** and **outlet control structure**
- Demonstration that the overflow **structure** and overflow path are sized in accordance with §504.11.C of the WMO
- Assumptions or calculations utilized to determine the **BFE** and/or other tailwater conditions for the **site**
- Drawdown time for each **detention facility**

FLOODPLAIN SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

The **floodplain** requirements for **developments** are contained in <u>Article 6</u>, specifically §601 and §602, of the WMO and this **TGM**. Because **floodplain** and **floodway** permitting is complicated and may require approvals from local, state, and federal agencies, a flowchart has been provided to help applicants navigate the **floodplain** permitting process. The flowchart and an itemized checklist of submittal requirements is available at the **District's** WMO website, at wmo.mwrd.org.

The **Floodplain** Submittal shall include Schedule H with original signature by a **Professional Engineer**, correspondence from the **OWR**, and a narrative, as described below. Either a letter of no objection stating that no permit is necessary, or a copy of the completed joint application form (NCR Form 426 "Protecting Illinois Waters"), signed by the **applicant**, must be made part of the **Floodplain** Submittal. Any associated correspondence submitted to or received from **OWR** must also be made part of the **Floodplain** Submittal prior to issuing the **Watershed Management Permit**.

The **floodplain** narrative can either be a separate report or included with the required general permit submittal narrative. The narrative shall include a description of the proposed **development** within the limits of the regulatory floodplain and regulatory floodway, as well as details of **floodproofing** measures, including material specifications, construction methods, and calculations. A determination of the **BFE** and **FPE** and the source of the determination should be described in the narrative, and the **BFE** and **FPE** must be shown on the plan set.

The **Floodplain** Submittal must also include a copy of the effective **FIS Flood** Profile and **FIS Floodway** Data Table for **Cook County**, when available. If the project area is unmapped and there is no published **FIS Flood** Profile or **Floodway** Data Table available, the **District** should be consulted to determine if additional information is available or if a project-specific **floodplain** study is required. Additional information on study requirements is found in <u>Article 6</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**.

Revisions to the **FIRM(s)** must be submitted to show the most recent **floodplain** and **floodway** data for the **parcel**. Hydrologic and hydraulic calculations, modeling, and all **CLOMR/LOMR** applications must also be included, as applicable.

Calculations are required for **floodplain** fill, **compensatory storage**, and **development** within the **regulatory floodway**, and shall include:

- Cross section profiles of the **floodplain** fill and **compensatory storage**
- A plan view delineating the location of cross sections
- Tabular summary showing fill below and above the existing 10-year **flood** elevation and cuts below and above the proposed 10-year **flood** elevation, up to the **BFE**

For **development in the regulatory floodway**, the following calculations or analyses shall be submitted to demonstrate compliance with §602.25 of the WMO

- Existing and proposed hydrologic and hydraulic analysis (land use and stream systems)
- Tabular summary of existing and proposed flows, **flood** elevations, and **floodway** velocities for the 2-year, 10-year, and 100-year **storm event**
- Input and output for hydraulic and hydrologic computer models
- **Flood** damage analyses for new, modified, or replacement bridges, culverts or impoundments
- Hydraulic analyses of new, modified, or replacement bridges, culverts, or impoundments
- Transition sections as required in §602.28 of the WMO
- Analyses of hydrologically and hydraulically equivalent compensatory storage

Details on **floodplain** and **floodway** plan sheet requirements are found in the *Plan Set and Exhibits Submittal Requirements* section following the specific submittal sections.

WETLANDS AND BUFFERS SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

The **wetland** requirements for **developments** are contained in <u>Article 6</u>, specifically §603, §604, and §605, of the WMO and this **TGM**. Because there is some overlap when permitting **wetland/buffers** and **riparian environments**, the submittal requirements are combined into one comprehensive flowchart and submittal checklist, which are available on the **District's** WMO website, at wmo.mwrd.org.

To assist applicants in determining the likelihood of the presence of **wetlands**, the following procedure has been developed. The procedure provides sources and other information that indicate the probability of the presence of **wetlands**.

Wetlands must be delineated and classified by a **Wetland Specialist**. Determination should be made using the *Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual*, published in January 1987 (https://usace.contentdm.oclc.org/digital/collection/p266001coll1/id/4532/).

Supplemental manuals must accompany this guidance, and include the following:

• The most recent version of the *Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Midwest Edition*. As of the date of this Article of the **TGM**, Version 2.0, published in 2010, can be found at:

https://usace.contentdm.oclc.org/utils/getfile/collection/p266001coll1/id/7630

• The most recent version of the *Field Indicators of Hydric Soils in the United States* published by USDA and **NRCS**, in cooperation with the National Technical Committee for Hydric Soils. As of the date of this Article of the **TGM**, Version 8.1, published in 2017, can be found at:

https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_053171.pdf

A **site** visit should be conducted to determine if there is **wetland** potential.

WETLAND SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

The **Wetland** Submittal is required any time there is an onsite **wetland** or impacts to an offsite **wetland**, regardless of whether the **wetland** is considered isolated or under jurisdiction of the **Corps**. The **Wetland** Submittal shall include Schedule W with original signature by a **Wetland Specialist**. The first part of Schedule W uses a series of questions to identify if additional submittal items are required. Additional submittal items include correspondence from the **Corps**, a **wetland** narrative, a delineation report, and mitigation documentation. If the answer to all the questions in the first part of Schedule W is "no", then the **Wetland Specialist's** original signature serves as a statement of no impact to **wetlands**, and the remaining submittal requirements are not necessary.

The requirements vary slightly between **standard isolated wetlands** and **high-quality isolated wetlands**, which will be discussed below. Projects with **jurisdictional wetlands** do not need to submit the same level of detail required for **isolated wetlands**, but must still submit the correspondence from the **Corps**.

Details on **wetland** delineation and mitigation plan sheet requirements are found in the *Plan Set* and *Exhibits Submittal Requirements* section following the specific submittal sections.

CORRESPONDENCE FROM THE CORPS

The WMO protects **wetlands** in **Cook County**. However, the WMO only regulates **isolated wetlands**. **Jurisdictional wetlands** must follow the requirements of the **Corps**. Because of this, the jurisdiction must be determined for any **wetlands** located on the **parcel** or offsite **wetlands** with potential impacts. The WMO requires one of the two following items from the **Corps**:

- A jurisdictional determination (JD) from the **Corps** indicating that the impacted **wetland** is not under the jurisdiction of the **Corps**; or
- If required by the **Corps**, a Section 404 permit application, all associated correspondence, and a copy of the completed joint application form (NCR Form 426, "Protecting Illinois Waters") signed by the **co-permittee**.

The JD or the Section 404 and NCR Form 426 applications must be submitted with the WMO Permit to initiate review by the **District**. The approved Section 404 permit, if required, must be submitted prior to issuance of the WMO Permit. A **Corps** Letter of No Objection (LONO) is not an acceptable substitute for either of the above.

WETLAND NARRATIVE

The **wetland** narrative can either be part of a separate report or included with the required general permit submittal narrative. The narrative shall include:

- A description of the **wetland** location with respect to the **development** area
- The size of all wetlands and wetland buffers on the site
- Wetland functions, as indicated in §603.1 of the WMO
- Whether wetlands are considered jurisdictional wetlands or isolated wetlands
- Type of **isolated wetland** (high-quality or standard)

ISOLATED WETLAND DELINEATION REPORT

The WMO has different requirements for **standard isolated wetlands** less than 0.10 acre in aggregate, including any isolated waters contiguous to the wetland, as compared to **high-quality**

isolated wetlands and **standard isolated wetlands** greater than or equal to 0.10 acre. These requirements are found in <u>Article 6</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**.

The following items must always be included in the **Wetland** Submittal:

- A delineation of the **isolated wetlands** consistent with the requirements for **wetland** delineation provided in §603 of the WMO
- All **Corps** "Routine Wetland Determination Data Form(s)"
- Map submittals in accordance with §303 of the WMO

If **high-quality isolated wetlands** and/or **standard isolated wetlands** greater than 0.10 acre are present, the **Wetland** Submittal must also include the following additional information:

- A classification of each onsite **isolated wetland** as either a **high quality isolated wetland** or a **standard isolated wetland**, including a narrative detailing the results of the assessment of specific functions and values. Classification is determined by the following:
- An assessment to determine the Swink and Wilhelm Floristic Quality Index (FQI) and mean coefficient of conservatism (ĉ), carried out within the growing season for all wetlands on the site
 - An Illinois Department of Natural Resources (IDNR) threatened and endangered species consultation
 - A United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) threatened and endangered species consultation
- Photos of all wetlands and wetland buffers on the site

WETLAND MITIGATION DOCUMENTATION

Impacts to wetlands generally require mitigation measures, as outlined in <u>Article 6</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**. If mitigation is required, a **wetland mitigation** document must be developed in accordance with §604 of the WMO. Documentation shall be provided, as indicated below, based on the **wetland** classification.

STANDARD ISOLATED WETLANDS

Development that impacts **standard isolated wetlands** with a total acreage less than one-tenth of an acre (0.10 acre), including **contiguous isolated waters** less than one-tenth of an acre (0.10 acre), does not require documentation showing that no practicable alternatives to **wetland** modification exist.

For impacts to **standard isolated wetlands** with a total acreage greater than or equal to onetenth of an acre (0.10 acre), including **contiguous Isolated Waters**, the **Wetland** Submittal shall include documentation indicating that no practicable alternative to **wetland** modification exists.

The following documentation shall also be provided, if applicable:

- An evaluation of the indirect impacts to **isolated wetlands** on the **site** and **wetlands** 100feet beyond the area of the **development** if not included within the **site**. Evaluation must include proposed **wetland hydrology** and an inundation and duration analysis.
- For impacts to isolated wetland buffers, documentation must be provided that describes how the impacted buffer functions and how its values will be mitigated. Isolated wetland buffer impacts may be mitigated via replacement or enhancement of impacted functions and values, or through buffer averaging
- If mitigation is to be provided via a **wetland mitigation bank**, a statement of obligation from the **wetland mitigation bank** showing mitigation acreage reserved for the project

HIGH QUALITY ISOLATED WETLANDS

Impacts to **high quality isolated wetlands** should be avoided whenever possible, regardless of economic impacts. Mitigation measures, as detailed in <u>Article 6</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**, are more intensive than for **standard isolated wetlands**. For impacts to **high quality isolated wetlands**, documentation must be provided indicating that the proposed impact represents the least amount of impact required to allow for a feasible use of the **parcel**, including:

- The presence of **high quality isolated wetlands** precludes all economically feasible uses of the **site** and no practicable alternative to **wetland** modification exists, and/or
- Avoidance of **high quality isolated wetlands** would create a hazardous road condition and no practicable alternative to **wetland** modification exists

RIPARIAN ENVIRONMENT SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

The **riparian environment** requirements for **developments** are contained in <u>Article 6</u>, specifically §606 and §607, of the WMO and this **TGM**. Requirements found in these sections not only includes impacts to riparian environments, but also impacts to **Jurisdictional Waters of the U.S**.

Because there is some overlap when permitting **wetland/buffers** and **riparian environments**, the submittal requirements are combined into one comprehensive flowchart and submittal checklist, which are available on the **District's** WMO website, at wmo.mwrd.org.

Details on **riparian environment** plan sheet requirements are found in the *Plan Set and Exhibits Submittal Requirements* section following the specific submittal sections.

RIPARIAN ENVIRONMENTS

The **Riparian Environment** Submittal shall include Schedule H or Schedule W with original signature by a **Professional Engineer** (Schedule H) or **Wetland Specialist** (Schedule W). The District will accept either Schedule H or Schedule W, depending on the characteristics of the **site** with regards to other **flood protection areas**, and an inventory of the function of the **riparian environment** in accordance with §606.1 of the WMO. For example, if the **riparian environment** is associated with or located in a **floodplain** or **floodway** and there are no **wetlands**, Schedule H may be submitted. However, if **wetlands** are present, but there is no **floodplain**, the **riparian environment** information may be submitted via Schedule W instead.

A delineation of **riparian environments** shall be made in accordance with §606.2 of the WMO. This section of the WMO indicates how to determine the buffer limits, which dictates the area that is to be evaluated for the presence of **riparian environments**. The boundary of any **riparian environments** located within the buffer limits must be indicated and made part of this submittal and the associated plan sheets.

RIPARIAN ENVIRONMENT MITIGATION DOCUMENTATION

For impacts to **riparian environments**, documentation must be provided that describes the impacted riparian functions and how their values will be mitigated. A mitigation document must be developed in accordance with §607 and plan sheets in accordance with §303.3.K of the WMO. Documentation should include the following:

- The erosion and sediment control practices to be utilized to minimize and control sediment and degradation of downstream water quality
- The appropriate hydrologic and hydraulic methods analyzing the impacts on **flood** flows and **flood** elevations (to be provided in the **floodplain** and **floodway** submittal) meeting all other requirements in the WMO, including the **floodplain/floodway** requirements outlined in §601 and §602 of the WMO
• Proposed planting zones, species, quantities, sizes, locations, specifications, methodologies, and details

Impacts to **riparian environments** impacts may be mitigated via replacement or enhancement of impacted functions. Buffer averaging is another mitigation method that may be utilized for **riparian environment** impacts. Article 6 of this **TGM** includes information on mitigation methods and how to meet WMO requirements.

IMPACTS TO JURISDICTIONAL WATERS OF THE U.S.

Impacts to **Jurisdictional Waters of the U.S.** require approval from the **Corps**. If impacts are proposed, one of the following forms of correspondence from the **Corps** must be included in the **Riparian Environment** Submittal:

- A Letter of No Objection (LONO) stating that no permit is necessary
- A Section 404 permit application from the **Corps**, all associated correspondence, and a copy of the completed joint application form (NCR Form 426, "Protecting Illinois Waters") signed by the **applicant**

The signed Section 404 and NCR Form 426 applications submitted with the **Watershed Management Permit** is sufficient to initiate review by the District. However, the approved Section 404 permit must be submitted prior to issuance of the WMO Permit.

Channel relocation of an existing **waterway** shall be mitigated and documented to show that:

- The length of the mitigated channel is greater than or equal to the length of the disturbed channel.
- The proposed methods which will allow naturalizing to occur, such as meandering, pools, or riffles for relocated channels. Proposed methods are expected to be able to withstand all storm events up to the **base flood** without increased **erosion**
- The methods by which the normal flow within the channel will be diverted to construct the new or relocated channel

QUALIFIED SEWER CONSTRUCTION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

The **qualified sewer construction** requirements for **developments** are contained in <u>Article 7</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**. Standard details and general notes regarding **qualified sewer construction** are found in <u>Appendix C</u> of this **TGM**. An itemized checklist of submittal requirements is available at the **District's** WMO website, at wmo.mwrd.org. Schedules A, B, and C are always required and made a part of the WMO Permit, even when **qualified sewer construction** is not proposed. The NRI is only used for **qualified sewer construction**, and the FCA is only for **qualified sewer construction** and projects on **District** owned land within the City of Chicago. **Qualified sewer construction** is not allowed under SFH and Earthwork permits.

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

Most projects will not be subject to all the requirements for **qualified sewer construction**, but some requirements are necessary regardless of project scope. The following items shall be made part of the **Qualified Sewer Construction** Submittal:

- A narrative description of any live sewer connection or live sewer bypass protocol. The narrative can either be a separate report, included with the required general permit submittal narrative, or indicated on the utility plan sheet.
- A recorded **maintenance** agreement between all owners when a new connection to a privately-owned sewer is proposed
- All **District** required general notes, approved materials, applicable standard details (or equivalent), technical requirements, and design guidelines for **qualified sewer construction** available from this **TGM**

Calculations must also be included as part of the **Qualified Sewer Construction** Submittal. The calculations shall be accompanied by a service area and future service area exhibit, and shall include the following, as applicable:

- Population Equivalency (PE) calculations for expected sewer flows based on new, existing, and/or expanded **development**
- Other calculations necessary to demonstrate compliance with the WMO

Sewer lengths and proposed appurtenances shall be listed on the appropriate **Watershed Management Permit** form – NRI, FCA, or Schedule B. All proposed new, rehabilitated, or replaced qualified sewers must be listed on the form. **Non-qualified sewer construction**, such as **storm sewers** in the **separate sewer area** that are tributary to a **waterway** should not be listed on the form. Specifics on what constitutes **qualified sewer construction** is found in <u>Article 7</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**. Details on **qualified sewer construction** and utility plan sheet requirements are found in the *Plan Set and Exhibits Submittal Requirements* section following the specific submittal sections.

PUBLIC LIFT STATIONS AND FORCE MAINS

Projects that involve public lift stations and/or force mains must submit Schedule E with the **Watershed Management Permit** application. Public lift stations and force mains are considered to be those that provide service for multiple users, regardless of **ownership**. Private lift stations serving a single **parcel** service sewer are not considered public lift stations and do not require Schedule E.

New construction and replacement/rehabilitation of lift stations and force mains are covered under Schedule E. As stated earlier in this Article of the **TGM**, Schedule E cannot be used under an NRI, and projects proposing this type of work must obtain a WMO Permit.

Calculations for lift station design must be submitted, including:

- Design population including average and peak flow with service area map
- Narrative for basis of lift station design population (service area or actual flow monitoring data)
- Forcemain pipe friction and design head losses
- Wet well capacity, cycle time, detention time
- Narrative of alternative power source
- System curve and pump performance curve
- The logic of the Programmable Logic Controller, including pump operation elevations
- Buoyancy calculations when high **groundwater** is present

INDUSTRIAL WASTES

The **District** allows domestic **sewage** to be discharged into sewer systems tributary to **District** facilities. Any industrial wastes must be evaluated for potential contaminants and prohibited compounds prior to discharge. Pre-treatment of industrial wastes may be necessary to ensure the discharge meets the requirements of the **District's Sewage and Waste Control Ordinance** and User Charge Ordinance. Both ordinances are available on the **District's** website, at mwrd.org.

Any proposed industrial activity must be documented with the permit application by submitting Schedules F and G and a narrative characterizing the wastes being generated, treatment

processes, and flow loading. The narrative can either be a separate report or included with the required general permit submittal narrative.

DIRECT CONNECTIONS TO DISTRICT INFRASTRUCTURE

New direct connections to **District** owned infrastructure are discouraged. If there is no viable alternative to making a new direct connection, coordination must be made with the **District's** Local Sewer Systems Section and Collection Facilities/TARP Section. Pre-application meetings are available for **applicants**, with the request that the **municipality** be involved.

District owned infrastructure includes any of the following:

- Interceptors
- TARP Structures
- Reservoirs
- Pump Stations
- Treatment Plants
- District owned land

The **Qualified Sewer Construction** Submittal shall include Schedule O and a narrative of excavation protocol in proximity to **District structures**. **District** owned infrastructure and **structures** must be clearly labeled on the plans. The following items shall also be made part of the submittal:

- **District** direct connection detail available from this **TGM**
- Sewer construction notes associated with construction in proximity of **District** facilities available from this **TGM**
- Clearance distances for all proposed excavation within 15 feet of **District** sewers and **structures**
- Calculations detailing supporting/protection methods for any deep excavation in proximity to **District** infrastructure, certified by a structural engineer

The local **municipality** or applicable utility company is required to own and maintain the length of sewer from the proposed connection point to the drop manhole directly upstream of the connection. If there is no local sewer owner in an unincorporated area, the connection would be considered a **Sole Permittee** and would be subject to the requirements for **Sole Permittees** found in §300.3.B of the WMO and this Article of the **TGM**.

Schedule O is also required for any **development** proposed on **District** owned land. Coordination for easements may be required from the **District's** Law Department. **Applicants** should consult their lease agreement prior to submitting a **Watershed Management Permit** application.

OUTFALLS

The WMO requires a **Watershed Management Permit** for new and reconstructed **outfalls**. Reconstruction of an **outfall** may include, but not be limited to, any of the following:

- Constructing a new headwall
- Moving or extending the **outfall** pipe
- Changing the size of the **outfall**
- In-kind replacement

Maintenance of an **outfall** is limited to grouting, patching, or other cosmetic modifications that do not change the **outfall structure**. Usually, if an **outfall** is involved in a project, it is considered **qualified sewer construction** and requires a **Watershed Management Permit**.

The **Qualified Sewer Construction** Submittal for **outfalls** shall include Schedule O and the **outfall** location must be clearly labeled on the plans. The following items shall also be made part of the submittal:

- **District outfall** general notes available from this **TGM**
- Construction details for the proposed **outfall** and energy dissipation
- Construction details of the proposed water quality device, if required

Water quality devices are required for all **outfalls** to Lake Michigan. If an **NPDES** Permit is required by the **IEPA**, it must be submitted prior to obtaining the RFI for the **Watershed Management Permit**. Additional requirements for **outfalls** is found in Article 7 of the WMO and this **TGM**.

MAINTENANCE AND MONITORING PLAN SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

The **maintenance** and monitoring plan submittal requirements ensure that the **applicant** provides a schedule and plan of appropriate **maintenance** for the **development** both during construction and post-construction. The requirements for **maintenance** and monitoring apply to **erosion and sediment control practices**, **stormwater facilities**, **compensatory storage**, **wetlands** and/or **riparian environments**, and **qualified sewer construction**.

The various **maintenance** and monitoring regulations are provided in <u>Article 4</u>, <u>Article 5</u>, <u>Article 6</u>, <u>Article 7</u>, and <u>Article 9</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**. An itemized checklist of submittal requirements is available at the **District's** WMO website, at wmo.mwrd.org.

The following sub-sections provide guidance on requirements for the **maintenance** and monitoring plan. Details on content requirements for the required Exhibit R are found in the *Plan Set and Exhibits Submittal Requirements* section following this section.

RECORDING SUBMITTAL

The Recording Submittal consists of two copies the required Schedule R, both with original signature by the **Co-Permittee**, signature and seal of a Notary Public, and Exhibit R with **maintenance** plan printed on or attached to the Exhibit R. **Maintenance** agreements required for **offsite volume control practices**, **detention facilities**, and private sewer connections must also be made a part of this submittal. **Applicants** should keep an additional originally signed copy of Schedule R for recording purposes.

Publicly financed projects are not required to record the Schedule R/Exhibit R, but must still provide the **maintenance** exhibit as part of the **Watershed Management Permit** submittal.

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES

The **Maintenance** and Monitoring Plan Submittal includes a scheduled perpetual maintenance program for stormwater management facilities. The stormwater management facilities, as indicated in the WMO, include:

- Major Stormwater Systems
- Volume Control Practices
- Stormwater Detention Facilities
- Native Planting Conservation Areas
- Other Stormwater Facilities

The following documentation must be submitted:

- Planned **maintenance** tasks and frequency of each task such as removal of **sediment**, debris, mowing and pruning of vegetation, and restoration of eroded areas
- Identification of the responsible parties for performing the **maintenance** tasks
- A description of applicable permanent access and **maintenance** easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity

COMPENSATORY STORAGE

The **Maintenance** and Monitoring Plan Submittal includes a scheduled perpetual maintenance program for **compensatory storage**. The following documentation must be submitted:

- Planned **maintenance** tasks and frequency of each task such as removal of **sediment**, debris, mowing and pruning of vegetation, and restoration of eroded areas
- Identification of the responsible parties for performing the **maintenance** tasks
- A description of applicable permanent access and **maintenance** easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity

WETLANDS

The **Maintenance** and Monitoring Plan Submittal includes a scheduled perpetual maintenance program for **wetlands**. The following documentation must be included:

- Proposed soils and soil management activities
- Proposed planting zones, species, quantities, sizes, locations, specifications, methodologies, and details
- Proposed **maintenance** and monitoring plan with **maintenance activities** and performance criteria outlined
- Schedule of earthwork, planting, monitoring, and maintenance
- A plan for the continued management, operation, and **maintenance** of the **wetland mitigation** measures including the designation of funding sources and the **person** responsible for long-term operation and **maintenance**
- A description of applicable permanent access and **maintenance** and conservation easements granted or dedicated to and accepted by a governmental entity

RIPARIAN ENVIRONMENTS

The **Maintenance** and Monitoring Plan Submittal includes a scheduled perpetual maintenance program for **riparian environments**. The following documentation must be included:

- Proposed planting zones, species, quantities, sizes, locations, specifications, methodologies, and details
- Proposed **maintenance** and monitoring plan with **maintenance activities** and performance criteria outlined
- Scheduling of earthwork, planting, maintenance, and monitoring
- A plan for the continued management, operation, and **maintenance** of the **riparian environment mitigation** measures, including the designation of funding sources and the **person** responsible for long-term operation and **maintenance**
- A description of applicable permanent access and **maintenance** and conservation easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity

QUALIFIED SEWER CONSTRUCTION

The **Maintenance** and Monitoring Plan Submittal includes a scheduled perpetual maintenance program for **qualified sewer construction**. Projects involving solely **qualified sewer construction** do not need the Exhibit R portion of the **Maintenance** and Monitoring Plan Submittal. However, when required for one of the above reasons, the **qualified sewer construction** shall be made part of the Exhibit R. The following documentation must be included:

- Planned **maintenance** tasks and frequency of each task for the removal of objectionable wastes, fats, oils and grease, or any **other wastes** collected in private pre-treatment or separator **structures**
- Planned routine **maintenance** for all private lift station and pumping facilities
- Maintenance agreements for all private sewers providing service to multiple owners
- Identification of the responsible parties for performing the **maintenance** tasks
- A description of applicable permanent access and **maintenance** easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity

PLAN SET AND EXHIBITS SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

Plan set and exhibit requirements are provided in §303 of the WMO. It should be noted that not all exhibits and plan sheets will be applicable for a **development**. By using the permitting flowcharts, submittal checklists, and schedules, the applicant can determine which submittal requirements apply to a specific project. Flow charts and checklists can be found on the **District's** WMO website at wmo.mwrd.org.

Depending on the complexity of the proposed **development**, combining plan sheets is desirable if information provided on all plan sheets is clear, specific, and legible. All plan sheets and exhibits shall be no larger than 24" x 36" and contain the following items:

- North arrow
- Legend
- Scale of at least one inch to 10 feet and no more than one inch to 100 feet (e.g., one inch to 50 feet)
- Property and/or **parcel** lines
- Title block with project name and location, sheet name and number, original preparation date, revision date(s), and contact information and address of the design engineer

MAPPING REQUIREMENTS

Some submittal packages either require or are better served by showing a map (aerial, topographic, etc.) The following mapping resources may be used to meet individual submittal requirements:

- United States Geological Survey (USGS) topographic map
- Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) soils map noting hydric soils
- Cook County FIRM
- National Wetland Inventory (NWI)
- Aerial photo of the **site**
- Aerial photo showing onsite wetland and offsite wetland boundaries and locations of delineation data points
- Historical aerial photographs, USGS hydrological atlas, or other applicable historic information

• All required topographic information must be tied to the North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD88).

PLAN COVER SHEET

The plan cover sheet shall indicate all relevant information to navigate through the plan set. The location map, as described below, shall be included, as well as an index of sheets found in the plan set.

The location map must be included for every **Watershed Management Permit** submitted, and shall identify the project **site**, street names, highways, railroads, and **waterways**. The location map shall be to scale and include a delineation of one or both of the following, as applicable:

- 1) The conveyance route and indication of **ownership** of the storm drainage from the **development** to the receiving **waterway**
- 2) The conveyance route and indication of ownership of the sanitary, storm, and/or combined sewers from the development through the local sewer system(s) to the receiving District interceptor or facility

The above routing information must be provided on the cover or title sheet unless reference is provided on the cover or title sheet indicating routing is shown on a subsequent plan sheet. The plan cover sheet must contain the name and location of the project and original seal and signature of the **Professional Engineer** of record, who must be licensed in the State of Illinois.

MWRD GENERAL NOTES PLAN SHEET

The MWRD General Notes are provided on a standard plan sheet that can be found in Appendix C of this **TGM**, and also on the **District's** WMO website at wmo.mwrd.org. The MWRD General Notes are available in both PDF and .dwg formats.

EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN SHEET

The existing conditions plan must show an accurate depiction of the **site** as it exists prior to any proposed development. The plan sheet shall contain the following:

- Benchmark location and information
- A delineation of any permitted stormwater management facilities and structures
- A delineation of any pre-development flood protection areas on the site
- Existing contours on entire **site** and 50 feet beyond the **site**, at a minimum of one foot intervals

- All existing **structure** elevations and contours if the **structure** is within 100 feet of the **development** area, including top of foundation, **lowest floor**, **lowest entry elevation**, and **floodproofing** elevations
- Existing **structures**, parking lots, driveways, sidewalks, pathways, trails, and other **impervious areas** on the **site**
- All existing **stormwater facilities** including pipes, field tile, culverts, and inlets on entire **site** and 50 feet beyond the **site**. Information regarding the invert and rim elevations, pipe sizes, pipe lengths, and material type shall be provided
- Existing utilities including sanitary, storm, water main, or any other utilities that exist on the **site**. Information regarding the invert and rim elevations, pipe sizes, pipe lengths, and material type must be provided
- **District** infrastructures, when located on the site
- Existing trees and vegetation areas on the site

DEMOLITION PLAN SHEET

The **demolition** plan sheet shall show all **demolition** proposed for the **site**. This plan may be combined with the existing conditions plan, as long as the information on the plan sheet is legible.

DIMENSIONAL OR SITE GEOMETRY PLAN SHEET

The dimensional or site geometry plan sheet shall show all proposed development for the site. Proposed work must be clearly marked and differentiated from existing or undisturbed areas. If legible, this may be shown as an overlay to the existing conditions plan or combined with the development area exhibit discussed later in this section of the TGM.

PAVING PLAN SHEET

The paving plan sheet serves to indicate the materials used for paving, such as asphalt, concrete, permeable pavers, and gravel. This is used as a confirmation of development and maintenance areas. If legible, this plan may be combined with the grading plan, development area exhibit, or other related plan sheet.

GRADING PLAN SHEET

The grading plan sheet shall include a topographic layout of the site and shall contain the following:

• Benchmark location and information

- Delineated limits of any **flood protection areas** on the **site**
- Delineation of stormwater management facilities and HWL
- Proposed contours of the **development** area.
- Existing contours within 50 feet of proposed contours, including offsite
- Both existing and proposed contours shall be shown on the same plan when legible
- Proposed spot elevations demonstrating drainage patterns, including curb and gutter
- Location of storm, sanitary, and/or combined structures with rim elevations
- Proposed 100-year overland flow route

UTILITY PLAN SHEET

The utility plan sheets must delineate all existing and proposed utilities including sanitary, storm, water main, electric, gas or any others that exist on the **site**. Information regarding the invert and rim elevations, pipe sizes, pipe lengths, and material type must be provided.

Utility plan sheet(s) shall contain the following, as applicable:

- Benchmark location and information
- Existing **structures**, parking lots, driveways, sidewalks, pathways, trails, and other **impervious areas** on the **site**
- All top of foundation elevations for existing and proposed structures
- A unique line type to distinguish between proposed and existing sewer systems
- All proposed **qualified sewer construction** information including:
 - Qualified sewer manhole, cleanout or other structure information including diameter, and rim and invert elevation (each labeled by compass direction), with a unique and clearly labeled identifier
 - Qualified sewer labeled with length, size, material, and slope, delineated with a "proposed" linetype
 - Sewer invert elevation at the upstream **building** connection
 - Sewer invert elevation at any sewer or structure connection

- Utility crossing information and call outs, including pipe-to-pipe clearance distance, for all water main and water service intersections along the proposed alignment
- Qualified sewer manhole, structure lid cover type where appropriate (within HWL or BFE)
- All existing sanitary, storm, and **combined sewer** and associated **structure** information including pipe size, invert and rim elevation, flow direction, material type, and **ownership**
- All existing sanitary, storm, and **combined sewer** and **structures** to be demolished or abandoned, including septic systems, if not shown on **demolition** plan
- Reference to specific construction details, including:
 - > Direct connections to **District** infrastructure
 - > Drop manholes, doghouse manholes, or other specialty **structures**
 - Grease interceptors, triple basins, mud-basins, lint traps, acid neutralization basins, or other pre-treatment devices
 - Swimming pool drains and splash pads
- All existing and proposed sewer and water line vertical crossing elevations and horizontal separation dimensions
- All existing and proposed **stormwater facilities** including pipes, field tile, culverts, and inlets, including rim and invert elevations, pipe sizes, pipe lengths, and material type. When the proposed sewer does not impact or connect to the existing system, the location of the existing system must be shown at a minimum
- Location of all **major stormwater systems**, **volume control practices**, **detention facilities**, including **outlet control structures** and **HWL** delineation
- All proposed and existing downspout and sump pump discharge line locations and directions except for **residential subdivision development**
- Delineated limits of any **flood protection areas** on the **site**, including the **BFE** and **FPE** specified in accordance with §601 of the WMO
- Location and limits of all easements
- The plan and profile for public qualified sewer main construction shall also include the following, when applicable:

- Profile views or all proposed public qualified sewer main construction depicted on the same sheet as an accompanying plan view
- Profiles shall follow the alignment of public qualified sewer main construction if substantially different from the centerline of a **right-of-way** alignment
- Profile stationing to coincide with plan stationing
- Structure diameter, and rim and invert elevations (labeled by compass direction) for all proposed qualified sewer construction along with a unique identifier
- Horizontal and vertical scale
- Utility crossings with separation dimensions
- Existing ground profile (and bedrock when applicable)
- > Match line when profile covers more than one plan sheet
- For large or complex projects, an insert map indicating immediate plan limits within the overall project

LIFT STATIONS AND FORCE MAINS

The lift station plan, profile, and schematic shall include the following, when applicable:

- Lift station and wet well plan and profile, including:
 - Critical pump operation elevations (pump off, pump on, etc.)
 - Pump installation elevation
 - Structure diameter and other relevant dimensions and elevations
 - Initial check valve and air/vacuum relief valve
- Force main profile, including:
 - Location of check valve(s)
 - Location of air/vacuum relief valve(s) and blowoff valve(s) along the alignment
 - Location of thrust blocks
 - Stream or waterway crossing(s) and crossing provisions

- Pump performance curve (indicating horse power, impeller size, efficiency) and system curve indicated operating point
- Lift station construction details

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PLAN SHEET

The **erosion** and **sediment** control plan sheets contain information that is part of the **IEPA** Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), and includes the following:

- Locations of erosion and sediment control practices
- A statement that installation of **erosion and sediment control practices** will occur prior to any soil disturbance
- A schedule for construction activities, including **stabilized** construction entrance installation, **sediment** trapping facility installation, **site** clearing, stockpiling, grading, construction waste and concrete/mortar washout disposal, temporary and permanent **stabilization**, and removal of temporary **erosion and sediment control practices**
- A schedule for inspection, reporting, and maintenance of all erosion and sediment control practices
- Contact information for the party responsible for implementation and **maintenance** of the **site** soil **erosion** and **sediment** control plan

The plan sheets shall also contain design details for **proposed erosion and sediment control practices** the following information:

- Existing contours with drainage patterns and clearly delineated **watershed** boundaries tributary to the **site**
- Proposed contours, locations of waterways, and the location of erosion and sediment control practices
- Location of **flood protection areas** and vegetated areas for the **development** that are to be preserved or avoided
- Reference to specific erosion and sediment control practice details

CONSTRUCTION DETAILS

Construction details include sewer details, **erosion** and **sediment** control details, **stormwater facility** details, etc. These standard details are found in Appendix C of this **TGM** and also on the

District's WMO website, at wmo.mwrd.org. The standard details are available in both PDF and .dwg formats. Equivalent details may be submitted, and are subject to approval by the **District**.

DEVELOPMENT AREA EXHIBIT

The **development** area exhibit shall delineate all disturbed areas and indicate if areas are considered **development**, **maintenance**, and/or **demolition**. Areas that are considered **development** must be further delineated to indicate if any open space or **non-qualified development** is proposed.

DRAINAGE AREA EXHIBIT

The drainage area exhibit shall delineate the drainage areas tributary to the **major** and **minor stormwater systems**, including:

- Time-of-concentration path(s) and associated information
- All existing and proposed HGL elevations resulting from the **critical duration analysis** for the **major stormwater system** compared to the **lowest entry elevation** of any **structure**
- Delineation of pervious and impervious areas and their respective acreage and curve number and/or **runoff** coefficient
- Area tributary to all stormwater systems
- Delineation of any non-tributary and **unrestricted areas**
- Areas of the **parcel** tributary to offsite facilities
- Construction details and/or cross-sections of the major stormwater systems with the HGL and relevant dimensions and elevations
- A vicinity topographic map covering the entire upstream **watershed** that drains to or through the **site** and the entire **watershed** downstream to the point of known or assumed discharge and water surface elevation on the **site**

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT EXHIBIT

The **stormwater** management exhibit directly relates to the **development** area and **drainage area** exhibits, and may be shown on the same plan, if legible. This exhibit shall contain aspects relating to **runoff**, volume control and detention. The following general aspects shall also be included:

- All existing and proposed **volume control practices** and **detention facilities** in plan and cross-sectional view
- Delineated limits of the HWL for the 100-year, 24-hour storm event for new and/or adjacent detention facilities
- Location and limits of all easements
- Delineation of all pervious and impervious areas and their respective acreage and curve number and/or runoff coefficient
- Delineation of all **unrestricted areas**, including **native planting conservation areas**
- Delineation of all upstream tributary area with acreage and curve number and/or runoff coefficient
- Construction details for all proposed **stormwater facilities** including, but not limited to, **major and minor stormwater systems**, storage basins, **volume control practices**, **detention facilities**, and **outlet control structures**

FLOODPLAIN PLAN SHEET

The **floodplain** plan sheets must show the location of the existing and proposed **BFE** and **floodway**, as determined in §601 of the WMO and the previous *Floodplain Submittal Requirements* section. The **FPE**, top of foundation, and **lowest entry elevations** for existing and proposed **structures** shall also be specified, as appropriate. The plan sheets shall include the following:

- Topographic survey drawings of all existing and proposed **structures** located on or within 100 feet of the **site** including the **lowest floor**, **lowest entry elevation**, and **floodproofing** elevations
- Plan view of cross section locations utilized to compute **compensatory storage**, plotted at a scale such that quantities can be verified
- Cross section profiles of **floodplain** fill and **compensatory storage** with unique hatching and labeled identifiers
- Tabular summary of cut and fill volumes below the 10-year **flood** elevation
- Tabular summary of cut and fill volumes between the 10-year and 100-year flood elevations
- Any outfalls or sewers that cross a waterway

WETLAND PLAN SHEET

The **wetland** plan sheets must show the location of **wetlands** and **wetland buffers** on or within 100-feet of the **site**, based upon a survey of the **wetland** delineation in accordance with §603 of the WMO.

The area of any proposed impact to the **wetland** or **wetland buffer** shall be shown, and must include the mitigation plan, as detailed in the previous *Wetland Submittal Requirements* section. The following mitigation items shall be shown on the plan sheet(s):

- Soil type locations and soil management activities
- Delineation of any proposed buffer averaging
- Planting zones, species, quantities, sizes, locations, specifications, methodologies, and details
- Hydrology monitoring equipment locations
- Schedule of earthwork **stabilization**, planting, **maintenance**, and monitoring
- Temporary and permanent access locations
- Applicable **maintenance** and conservation easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity

RIPARIAN ENVIRONMENT PLAN SHEET

The **riparian environment** plan sheets must show the location of onsite **riparian environments**, based upon a survey of the **OHWM** of the channel or stream associated with it. Documentation must include a plan and profile of the existing and proposed channel showing the width, depth, sinuosity, and location of in-stream **structures**.

The area of any proposed impact to the **riparian environment** shall be shown, and must include the mitigation plan, as detailed in the previous *Riparian Environment Submittal Requirements* section. The following mitigation items shall be shown on the plan sheet(s):

- Delineation of any proposed buffer averaging
- Planting zones, species, quantities, sizes, locations, specifications, methodologies, and details
- Schedule of earthwork **stabilization**, planting, **maintenance**, and monitoring
- Temporary and permanent access locations

• Applicable **maintenance** and conservation easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity

PLAT OF SURVEY – EXHIBIT A

The Plat of Survey serves to show all **contiguous ownership**, including any **ownership** separated by **rights-of-way** or public easements, as these areas are considered **contiguous** under the WMO. When Schedule K or Schedule L is required, the Plat of Survey becomes the associated Exhibit A. When Exhibit A is submitted with Schedule L, it must also meet the recording requirements of Cook County.

The Plat of Survey must meet the boundary plat requirements of Section 1270.56 of Title 68 of the Illinois Administrative Code. It does not have to be dated immediately prior to permit submittal, but should be relatively recent enough to show existing **ownership** and current Property Index Numbers (PINs). Common items that should be shown on the Plat of Survey include:

- Total area in acres
- Boundary information, including length, bearing, and angle
- Location common name or address
- Legal description
- Parcel PIN
- Survey standard and benchmark information
- Easements, when applicable

RECORDING PLAN SHEET – EXHIBIT R

The recording plan sheet(s) make up Exhibit R, which is recorded with the Schedule R (see *Recording Submittal* under *Maintenance and Monitoring Plan Submittal Requirements* in the above section.) Exhibit R is intended to ensure the following systems, if applicable to the **development**, are permanently sustained and adequately maintained by future **parcel owners**. The recording plan sheet(s) must include the following:

- The common address, legal description, and Property Index Number (PIN) of the parcel
- Location of all existing and proposed major stormwater systems, volume control practices, and/or detention facilities

- Reference to required maintenance agreement(s) for any offsite major stormwater system, volume control practices, detention facilities, and/or private sewer connections not located on the parcel to ensure they are linked to the permitted parcel development
- Entire **parcel** area for phased **development** providing notice of **stormwater** detention storage requirements for undeveloped portions of a **parcel** now developed in part under the WMO
- Location of all **compensatory storage** areas provided to meet **District** mitigation requirements
- Location of all **wetland** and **riparian environment** mitigation areas provided to meet **District** mitigation requirements
- Location of all **native planting conservation areas**
- Location of all **qualified sewer construction**
- Type and schedule of **maintenance** activities to be performed on the existing and proposed systems, as indicated in the **Maintenance** and Monitoring Plan Submittal

Publicly financed projects are not required to record the Schedule R/Exhibit R, but must still provide the **maintenance** exhibit as part of the **Watershed Management Permit** submittal. Projects involving solely **qualified sewer construction** do not need to provide the Schedule R/ Exhibit R portion of the **Maintenance** and Monitoring Plan Submittal. However, when required for another reason, **qualified sewer construction** shall be made part of the Schedule R/Exhibit R.

POST-SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

TERMS OF PERMIT/DENIAL – APPEAL

Upon receipt of a complete **Watershed Management Permit** application, meeting the submittal requirements set forth in the previous sections, the **District** or relevant **Authorized Municipality** may do any of the following:

- Request clarifications or revisions from the **applicant**
- Issue the Watershed Management Permit
- Issue the Watershed Management Permit with special conditions
- Deny the Watershed Management Permit application

Written comments requesting clarification or revision are transmitted to the design engineer within the timeframes specified in §1401.2 of the WMO. Once the **Watershed Management Permit** is issued, notification is sent to the **Permittee**, the **Co-Permittee**, the design engineer, and the **District** Field Inspectors.

Special Conditions that are made part of the **Watershed Management Permit** are generally considered to remain in effect for perpetuity. However, some Special Conditions require document submittal or testing within a set time period. These Special Conditions must be met prior to obtaining the RFI for permit close-out. Should a **Co-Permittee** wish to appeal a special condition or permit denial, they should follow the provisions of <u>Article 13</u> of the WMO and this **TGM**.

CONSTRUCTION TIMELINE REQUIREMENTS

Construction activities under a **Watershed Management Permit** must be initiated within one (1) year of permit issuance. If construction has not started within one (1) year, the permit may be considered null and void. To avoid this, a request for extension may be submitted to keep the **Watershed Management Permit** active.

Construction activities must be complete within three (3) years of permit issuance for WMO Permits, FCA, SFHA Permits, and Permit Revisions, and two (2) years for NRIs. Earthwork Permits expired based on the required submittal of the related WMO Permit, as listed on the Earthwork permit application. If construction is not complete within the appropriate expiration date, a request may be made to the **District's** Field Office or **Authorized Municipality** who originally issued the **Watershed Management Permit** for a time extension.

For publicly financed projects that experience delay due to court proceedings, the one (1) year period to start construction will be considered from the date of final court action.

The **District** or **Authorized Municipality** will review all requests to determine if a time extension is warranted and if the **Watershed Management Permit** should remain active. Additional information on Permit Extensions is found in the following section.

PERMIT EXTENSIONS

Watershed Management Permits have expiration dates, as listed in the above section. To avoid rendering a permit null and void, the **Permittee**, **Co-Permittee**, or their design engineer may send a request for Permit Extension. An extension may be granted for an additional year to start construction. In some circumstances, an additional one (1) year extension may be granted. Regardless of when **start of construction** occurs, all construction must be complete within three (3) years of the permit issue date for WMO Permits, FCAs, SFHA Permits, and Permit Revisions. All construction must be complete within two (2) years for NRIs, and Earthwork Permits have an expiration tied to the receipt of a full WMO Permit.

Once construction has begun, an extension is not required unless construction will not be completed within three (3) years of the permit issue date. Requests for permit extensions in these scenarios should be directed to the **District's** Field Office.

Extensions to the above expiration dates may be granted by the **District** or **Authorized Municipality** that originally issued the **Watershed Management Permit**. The **applicant** shall submit written request for consideration. Each case will be evaluated to determine if an extension should be granted. Extensions are generally granted in one-year increments, unless specified otherwise in the written request.

APPROVAL OF PLAN REVISIONS

After issuance of a **Watershed Management Permit**, all **material revisions** to the plans, Schedules, or permit forms require approval of either the **District** or the **Authorized Municipality** that originally issued the permit. The **applicant** shall submit a written request for approval, along with the revised plans, Schedules, and permit forms. Submittal requirements for a Permit Revision are detailed under the *Permit Revision* permit type section in this Article of the **TGM**.

Should the **District** or the **Authorized Municipality** determine that the revised plans are in compliance with the current WMO requirements, the Permit Revision will be issued and the revised work may commence. Construction of revised work without an approved Permit Revision is deemed construction without a permit and is subject to violation, per <u>Article 12</u> of the WMO.

If the **material revisions** to the permit are minor in nature, they may be approved via a Field Change, and documented on the Record Drawings. The **District's** Field Office staff or the **Authorized Municipality Enforcement Officer** may issue Field Changes that do not require a formal Permit Revision. Fees associated with Field Changes shall be paid prior to issuance of the RFI.

Record Drawings

Upon completion of construction, **record drawings** must be prepared, signed, and sealed by a professional engineer or professional land surveyor, and shall represent the final "as-built" conditions of topography, elevations, structures, **major stormwater systems**, **volume control practices**, **detention facilities**, **compensatory storage**, **flood protection areas**, and **qualified sewer construction**. All **record drawings** must contain benchmark information and reference a vertical datum. Calculations for as-built storage volumes must also be included as part of the **record drawing** submittal, and must be signed and sealed by a **professional engineer**.

The submittal shall include four copies of the **record drawings** and must be submitted prior to or concurrently with the Request for Final Inspection (RFI). The **record drawings** shall be sent to the **District** or **Authorized Municipality** that originally issued the **Watershed Management Permit**. Submittals to the **District** should be directed to the Local Sewer Systems Section Field Office at the following address:

Metropolitan Water Reclamation District Local Sewer Systems Field Office Stickney Water Reclamation Plant 6001 West Pershing Road Cicero, IL 60804

When construction activities include a direct connection to or modifying/replacing/relocating **District** infrastructure, or similar activity, the following items must be submitted to the **District** with the RFI:

- Six (6) copies of **record drawings** and with rim, invert, and other relevant dimensions and elevations. All elevations shall reference North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88).
- A compact disk (CD) containing a shape file with the as-built GPS coordinates and all rim, invert, and other relevant dimensions and elevations. All GPS coordinates shall reference Illinois State Plane North American Datum 1983 (NAD 83) and all elevations shall reference North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD88).

If it is determined that the constructed grades, geometries, storage volumes, or inverts are not in conformance with the approved plans, the **applicant** shall be responsible for any modifications required to bring the **site** in compliance with the WMO.

RECORDING OBLIGATIONS

Per §307.1, the **applicant** is responsible for ensuring the Schedule R and Exhibit R are recorded with Cook County. The as-built Exhibit R is the version that must be recorded. If there are no changes during construction, the originally approved Exhibit R may be recorded. The recording submittal must meet the requirements of Cook County, as indicated above.

Recording occurs after construction is substantially complete. An as-built Exhibit R should be prepared, showing any changes from the originally approved Exhibit R. The Recordation Submittal must meet the recording requirements set forth by Cook County. The **District** has no influence on the policies and procedures of Cook County, and can only provide guidance based on past recording experience. At the time of this writing, the following must be submitted to Cook County in order to record the Schedule R/Exhibit R:

- One (1) originally signed Schedule R attached to the as-built Exhibit R
- Seven (7) photocopies of the Schedule R and as-built Exhibit R
- A full legal description attached to each Schedule R in at least 12-point font
- Contact information and address to send the recorded copy
- Any recording fees required by Cook County

Upon recordation, one (1) copy of the recorded documents must be sent to the **District's** Local Sewer Systems Section Field Office, located at the Stickney WRP. The RFI for the permit will not be issued until the recorded Schedule R/Exhibit R is received. At such time, the **District** will initiate refund procedures for the Recordation Deposit.

At the expense of the **applicant**, the **District** may record the Schedule R/Exhibit R as a last resort prior to pursuing a violation for not meeting the above requirement.

There are instances in which the entire **Watershed Management Permit** may be recorded against the parcel. Cases of this include **Sole Permittee** permits, permits with no stormwater **permittee**, or any other reason indicated by the **Director of Engineering**.

The obligations imposed under the recorded documents shall continue in perpetuity, or until the parcel is redeveloped under a new **Watershed Management Permit**.

TGM ARTICLE 3 REVISION TABLE

No.	Revision Description	Date
0	Original TGM	5/1/2014
1	Schedule applicability, sole permittee requirements, flowchart/checklist updates	8/1/2015
2	Revision table, remove flowcharts/checklists, Amendment updates, rewrite	10/16/2018

ARTICLE 4: EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL

Introduction

Controlling **erosion** and **sedimentation** during construction activities is critical in preventing negative impacts to water quality and local drainage systems. **Development** activities involving earth work, such as clearing, grubbing, grading, filling, and installing utilities, remove existing protective vegetative cover and expose soils to excessive **erosion**. The rate of **erosion** dramatically and unnaturally increases when soils are left unprotected during **development** or construction activities. Unprotected **sites** can erode at a rate in excess of one hundred times the natural rate of **erosion**. As shown in Figure 4.1, **sediment** can be carried from the project **site** in **stormwater runoff**, which results in the accumulation of **sediment** in **storm sewers**, **waterways**, **detention facilities** and other drainage features.



Figure 4.1 Erosion, Sediment, and Sedimentation

The accumulation of **sediment** reduces **stormwater** conveyance and the storage functions of streams, **wetlands**, **storm sewers**, **detention basins**, highway drainage ditches, **floodplains**, and navigable water channels. These impacts can result in more frequent and/or severe **flooding**. **Sedimentation** can also impact the storage capacity of municipal and industrial water supply reservoirs and increase costs due to the need to filter muddy water in preparation for domestic

<u>Note</u>: All bold terms contained in this document are defined terms in the WMO. Refer to Appendix A of the WMO or the TGM for the definition of each bold term.

or industrial use. It is also expensive to remove **sediment** from **storm sewers**, **detention facilities**, and other drainage systems. Excessive **sediment** in water bodies can be detrimental to aquatic life since it interferes with respiration, growth, reproduction, oxygen exchange and photosynthesis in plants.

Due to the many adverse environmental and economic impacts that result from **sedimentation**, the **Watershed Management Ordinance** (WMO) requires soil **erosion and sediment control practices** for all **development**. The purpose of these practices is to minimize and prevent pollution impacts during the construction phase of **development**. These practices are often referred to as Best Management Practices (BMPs). BMPs are measures that can be done on a small scale (individual **development sites**) that, in the aggregate, are designed to address the large scale objective of improving water quality throughout the **watershed**.

WMO Erosion and Sediment Control Requirements

The WMO requires all **developments**, regardless of size, to install and maintain soil **erosion** and **sediment** control measures during construction to prevent and/or reduce the **sediment** in **stormwater runoff** leaving the **site**. The **erosion** and **sediment** control requirements in the WMO are generally based on the general **National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System** (**NPDES**) Permit for **Stormwater** Discharges from Construction **Site** Activities (General **NPDES** Permit ILR-10). All **developments** that are equal to or greater than one acre in size must comply with the **Illinois Environmental Protection Agency** (**IEPA**) **NPDES** requirements for construction activities. For those **developments** located in a **combined sewer area**, if all **site stormwater** discharges, including construction dewatering, drain to a **combined sewer system**, ILR-10 permit coverage is <u>not</u> required.

The WMO requires erosion and sediment control practices on all development sites, regardless of the acreage of land disturbance or if it is located in a combined or separate sewer area. The WMO requires an Erosion and Sediment Control Plan to be prepared and submitted on all development projects requiring a Watershed Management Permit (§301.7). With every Watershed Management Permit application, a completed Schedule P form must be included with the submittal.

Although **erosion and sediment control practices** are required for every **development** regulated under the WMO, Schedule P is not required for certain types of **development**, including:

- Utility trenches not in flood protection areas;
- Projects undertaken solely by the **District**; and
- **Development** activities listed in WMO §201.1 that are undertaken solely by state or federal agencies (**IDOT**, Illinois Tollway Authority, **Corps**, etc.).

The WMO provides requirements for:

- 1. Temporary erosion control (§401);
- Temporary sediment control (§402);
- 3. Construction site management (§403); and
- Permanent stabilization (§404).

The erosion and sediment control practices, design criteria, and specifications in the WMO are generally based on the Illinois Urban Manual. The Illinois Urban Manual, which was originally developed by the US Department of Agriculture (USDA) - Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS), is considered to be the foremost resource for the selection and design of soil erosion and sediment control measures. When criteria and specifications are not provided in the Illinois Urban Manual, the design criteria and specifications provided in the TGM shall be used (§400.6). In circumstances where other erosion and sediment control practices that are equally effective as those in the Illinois Urban Manual or those included in the TGM are to be used, prior written approval must be obtained from the **District** (§400.7).

A copy of the Illinois Urban Manual is available on-line through the Association of Illinois Soil and Water Conservation **Districts** (AISWCD) website at: http://www.aiswcd.org/IUM/.

All standard drawings from the Illinois Urban Manual are available for download in pdf, dxf, dwf, and dwg file formats at: <u>http://aiswcd.org/IUM/listdraw.html</u>.

In addition, standard erosion and sediment control notes are available on-line through the US Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) website at:

http://www.lrc.usace.army.mil/Portals/36/docs/regulatory/pdf/SESCrec.pdf

The WMO requires that for all **developments** discharging directly to **Jurisdictional Waters of** the US, the hydraulic and hydrologic design of the erosion and sediment control plan shall be designed for a **storm event** equal to or greater than a 25-year, 24-hour **storm event** (§400.4).

It should be understood that **development sites** have unique **stormwater runoff** situations and that the application of **erosion and sediment control practices** vary from **site** to **site**. Each type of erosion and sediment control practice has certain limitations based on the drainage area served, available land space, cost, and pollutant removal efficiency in addition to a variety of site-specific factors such as soil types, slopes, and depth of groundwater table. Careful consideration of these factors is necessary in order to select the appropriate erosion and sediment control practice. As stated in §400.3, all developments must address erosion and **sediment** control and the following:

Incorporate erosion and sediment control practices into the initial site plan;

- 2. Place a primary emphasis on erosion control practices that minimize erosion; and
- 3. Place a secondary emphasis on **sediment control practices** that contain eroded soil after it is in transport.

DEVELOPMENT OF AN EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PLAN

As part of the WMO submittal requirements, applicants need to develop an **erosion** and **sediment** control plan (§302.2). The *Illinois Urban Manual*, Section 3, outlines a nine-step planning process recommended for the **development** of an **erosion** and **sediment** control plan and provides a list of pre-planning activities. At a minimum, **site erosion** and **sediment** controls and overall **site** management should conform to the following:

- 1. Control **stormwater** volume within the **site** to minimize soil **erosion**;
- 2. Control **stormwater** discharges, including both peak flowrates and total **stormwater** volume, to minimize **erosion** at outlets and to minimize downstream channel and stream bank **erosion**;
- 3. Minimize the amount of soil exposed during construction activity;
- 4. Minimize the disturbance of steep slopes;
- 5. Minimize **sediment** discharges from the **site**;
- 6. Address factors such as the amount, frequency, intensity, and duration of precipitation, the nature of resulting **stormwater runoff**, and soil characteristics, including the range of soil particle sizes expected to be present onsite;
- 7. Provide and maintain natural buffers around surface waters, direct **stormwater** to vegetated areas to increase **sediment** removal and maximize **stormwater** infiltration (unless infeasible); and
- 8. Minimize soil compaction and unless infeasible, preserve topsoil

For purposes of the WMO, an **erosion** and **sediment** control plan must describe all measures appropriate for the **development** such that all the requirements of Article 4 are met. In addition, the **erosion** and **sediment** control plan should put emphasis on avoiding sensitive areas and minimizing the amount and duration of soil exposed to **erosion** by wind, rain, **runoff** and vehicle tracking. Effective planning includes the **development** of a schedule for implementing appropriate **erosion control practices**, **sediment control practices**, and construction **site** management practices that control pollution generated from construction activities.

The plan sheet(s) require the associated details and staging construction plans, where

applicable. Some sites may require unique details to describe site-specific erosion control practices and sediment control practices and applications. Typically, a site grading plan will be utilized as the base for the erosion and sediment control plan sheet(s) as it is necessary to locate limits of disturbed areas and discharge points when designing the erosion and sediment control plan sheet(s).

The **erosion** and **sediment** control plan sheet(s) apply to all areas that are directly related to the project's construction activity, including but not limited to staging areas, storage yards, material borrow areas, storage areas, and access roads. The **erosion** and **sediment** control plan must provide controls for existing, interim, and proposed conditions. Also, the **erosion** and **sediment** control plan sheet(s) must ultimately reflect the contractor's phasing and/or construction staging, and must address the entire scope of the contract work.

Components of Erosion and Sediment Control Plan

As described in §302.2, the **erosion** and **sediment** control plan shall include the following:

 "A narrative description of the existing land cover, hydrologic conditions of the proposed development, upstream tributary area and areas adjacent to the development including a description of any Flood Protection Areas, site discharge location(s), points of discharge to Jurisdictional Waters of the U.S., and soil survey data." (§302.2A)

This paragraph(s) narrative should include a discussion of the existing conditions of both the **development** and the areas adjacent to the **development** that can be impacted by **erosion** or **sedimentation**. Soil data for the county can be obtained on-line through the **NRCS** at: <u>http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/WebSoilSurvey.aspx</u>

It is recognized that soil data may not be available for some areas of **Cook County**. If data is not available, then it should be noted in the narrative.

 "The NPDES ILR-10 permit number issued by Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) to the applicant upon submittal of the ILR-10 Notice of Intent permit application or permit." (§302.2B)

After the application has been submitted and reviewed by **IEPA** for completeness, an identifying ILR-10 number is assigned to the permit application and the Notice of Intent (NOI) will be published to the NOI page(s) of **IEPA's** website. The NOI and identifying ILR-10 permit number should be noted on the Schedule P form.

 "A narrative description of the proposed temporary erosion and sediment control practices, including a narrative describing how Flood Protection Areas will be protected from erosion and sedimentation." (§302.2C)

This narrative should include a description of the temporary **erosion control practices**, the temporary **sediment control practices** selected for the **development**, and how

these practices will be used to protect **Flood Protection Areas**.

4. "A schedule of construction activities including, but not limited to, clearing and grading, installation of **stabilized** construction entrances, **erosion and sediment control practice** implementation, disposal of construction waste, stockpiling, and inspection and **maintenance** of all **erosion and sediment control practices**." (§302.2D)

The schedule should allow adjustments in implementation of **erosion and sediment control practices** based on factors such as potential weather and the pace of work progress. The schedule should provide for the monitoring of weather forecasts for rainfall and adjust installation of **erosion and sediment control practices** prior to predicted rainfall events or dry-spells. The schedule should incorporate staged seeding and re-vegetation of graded slopes as work progresses.

Apply permanent **erosion** control to areas deemed substantially complete during the project's defined seeding window. The schedule should include a monitoring program consisting of regular inspection of **erosion and sediment control practices** to ensure proper installation, **maintenance**, and performance of implemented **structures** and procedures. Objectives and **maintenance** schedules should be adjusted based on the results of monitoring and changes in construction plans.

5. "Data and calculations used to size, locate, design, and maintain all **erosion and sediment control practices**, and the design of temporary stream crossings." (§302.2F)

All calculations, data, and assumptions used for the sizing and placement of **erosion and sediment control practices** should be included in the plan. This information should demonstrate how the proposed **erosion and sediment control practices** have been designed in compliance with the regulations in the WMO and/or **NPDES** ILR-10 permit.

6. "A mechanism for ensuring that the **erosion** and **sediment** control installation and **maintenance** requirements for both temporary and permanent measures will be met, including the list of **maintenance** tasks and performance schedules that have been identified and/or required in the plan sheet(s) and specifications." (§302.2G)

In accordance with ILR-10, onsite inspections must be completed regularly and also after **storm events** that result in 0.5 inches or more rainfall. An assessment should be made on whether the onsite soil **erosion and sediment control practices** are performing properly, as compared to the specifications contained in the plans and/or *Illinois Urban Manual*. Any **maintenance** that is required should also be identified as part of this process. Additional guidance on **maintenance** of soil **erosion** and **sediment** controls is provided in Article 9 of the **TGM**.

General NPDES Permit ILR-10 Requirements

The goal of General **NPDES** Permit ILR-10 is to protect the quality and beneficial uses of the State's surface water resources from polluted **stormwater runoff** and from non-**stormwater**

discharges associated with construction activities. To achieve this goal, the ILR-10 requires **permittees** to plan and implement appropriate pollution prevention and control practices for **stormwater runoff** and non-**stormwater** discharges throughout construction. These BMPs are aimed at reducing **erosion**, controlling **sediment** transport, implementing good housekeeping practices, and minimizing pollutant discharges. As stated previously in this article, for those **developments** located in a **combined sewer area**, if all **site stormwater** discharges, including construction dewatering, drain to a **combined sewer system**, ILR-10 permit coverage is <u>not</u> required.

A copy of General **NPDES** Permit ILR-10 is Available at: <u>http://www.epa.state.il.us/water/permits/storm-water/construction.html</u>

Notice of Intent

To receive authorization under the ILR-10 Permit, a discharge must either be covered by a valid Illinois General **NPDES** Construction **Site** Permit, or a completed Notice of Intent (NOI) in accordance with Part II (NOI Requirements) and Part VI.G (Signatory Requirements) of the ILR-10 Permit. The NOI must be submitted in sufficient time to allow a 30 day review period after receipt of the NOI by **IEPA** and the **start of construction**. Dischargers who fail to notify the **IEPA** of their intent to be covered, and discharge **stormwater** associated with construction **site** activity to Waters of the State without an **NPDES** permit, are in violation of the Environmental Protection Act and the Clean Water Act.

Construction activities that are operating under approved local **sediment** and **erosion** control plans, land disturbance permits, grading plans, or **stormwater** management plans, shall also submit signed copies of the NOI to the local agency approving such plans in accordance with the deadlines set forth in Part II.A of the ILR-10 permit. A copy of the NOI shall be sent to the entity holding an active General **NPDES** Permit No. ILR-40 if the project is located in an area covered by an active ILR-40 permit.

Additional NOI guidance is available on-line through the **IEPA** at: http://www.epa.state.il.us/water/permits/storm-water/construction.html

Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP)

A SWPPP is required for **developments** that will result in the disturbance of one or more acres of total land area, or for a **development** less than one acre of total land that is part of a larger common plan of **development** or sale, if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb one or more acres of total land area. The SWPPP is an integral part of the **IEPA**'s ILR-10 permit program, and plays a crucial role in minimizing the pollution of **stormwater runoff** from construction **sites**. A properly prepared and implemented SWPPP assists permitees with meeting **stormwater** pollution prevention goals. The **erosion** and **sediment** control plan alone should not be considered a SWPPP, rather one component of the **site** specific SWPPP.

The US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has published a guide to developing SWPPPs for

construction **sites**. The guide is available on-line at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/sw_swppp_guide.pdf</u>

An example SWPPP for a small (5-acre) construction **site** is available in pdf form on-line at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/exampleswppp_smallcommercial.pdf</u>.

An example SWPPP for a medium-sized (20-acre) construction **site** is available in pdf form online at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/exampleswppp_residential.pdf</u>.

Inspections

In accordance with the WMO (§1000.4), inspections must be performed to verify that the **development** is in compliance with the soil **erosion** and **sediment** control requirements of the WMO. An initial inspection of soil **erosion** and **sediment** control measures should occur after mobilization and installation of initial **erosion and sediment control practices**, prior to any soil disturbance (§1000.4A).

In accordance with ILR-10 regulations, inspections must be conducted at least once every seven calendar days and within 24 hours of the end of a storm, or by the end of the following business or work day, that is 0.5 inches or greater.

Inspections may be reduced to once per month when construction activities have ceased due to frozen conditions. Inspections must commence when construction activities are conducted, if there is a 0.5 inches or greater rain event, or if discharge due to snowmelt occurs.

An assessment should be made and documented in a report on whether the soil **erosion and sediment control practices** are performing properly, as compared to the specifications contained in the plans and/or *Illinois Urban Manual*. All remedial actions taken to repair or install soil **erosion** and **sediment** controls should be completed within 7 days of their discovery, unless the repair or installation is resulting in a pollutant discharge, in which the remedial action must occur immediately. For additional guidance on inspections, refer to Article 10 of the **TGM**.

TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL (§401 - §402)

Overview

Erosion and sediment control practices are techniques, measures or structural controls used for a given set of **site** conditions to manage the rate, quantity, and quality of **stormwater runoff** in a cost-effective manner. No single practice can address all pollutants associated with construction activities. Independently these practices serve different purposes. **Erosion** controls are preventative strategies that utilize techniques to stabilize the soil, thus minimizing the occurrence of **erosion**. **Sediment** controls are back up strategies that incorporate structural measures to contain **sediment** on **site** in the event that **erosion** does occur. While functionally different, these two forms of pollution control should be selected and implemented in a

complimentary manner in order to maximize pollution prevention effectiveness.

The selection process for temporary **erosion and sediment control practices** is an iterative process that first identifies potential pollutant sources and then identifies the measures necessary to reduce or eliminate pollutant discharges from the **site**. The nature and extent of the **erosion and sediment control practices** should be appropriate to address the specific conditions of the **site** and be properly maintained to ensure continued effective operation. For each aspect of construction, the placement of the necessary measures should be timed to optimize their effectiveness.

Temporary **erosion and sediment control practices** should reflect the features and limitations of the **development site** and adjacent properties. The following must be considered:

- 1. Seasonal, topographic, and maintenance limitations;
- 2. The susceptibility of soils to **erosion**;
- 3. Amount of tributary drainage area; and
- 4. Proximity to **Flood Protection Areas**.

Examples of seasonal, topographic, and **maintenance** limitations may include seeding windows, steep slopes, and accessibility. Available soil survey information and **site** investigation should be used to understand the potential susceptibility of **site erosion** of unprotected soils. Soil investigation should also include an understanding of infiltration capability, soil textural classes (percent sand, silt, and clay), as well as an understanding of the depth to seasonally high water table, bedrock, or other limiting layer. A description of these **site** soil features are required in the **development** of the volume control plan (§303), and can also facilitate the **development** of the temporary **erosion and sediment control practices**.

Avoiding Disturbance to Sensitive Areas

Construction schedules and planning should include all practicable measures to avoid disturbances to environmentally and culturally sensitive and regulated areas. Sensitive areas may include, but are not limited to, steep slopes, highly erodible soils, streams, stream buffers, specimen trees, and natural vegetation. Other sensitive areas include **Flood Protection Areas** (i.e., **floodplains**, **wetlands**, and **riparian environments**), threatened and endangered species habitat, historic preservation **sites**, and EPA 303(d) listed receiving waters. These areas provide numerous water quality and **flood** protection benefits and therefore require special management and protection in order to preserve their functions.



Figure 4.2 Example of a Double Row Silt Fence Protecting a Flood Protection Area

Flood Protection Areas

The WMO requires that soil stockpiles or other construction materials are not located within **Flood Protection Areas (FPAs)**, and that they be protected by a minimum of a double-row **silt fence** or equivalent measure, as shown in Figure 4.2. Additional **erosion and sediment control practices** should be employed as necessary to protect **FPAs** from negative impacts associated with **development**. Stockpiles should never be placed within **FPAs** in order to prevent **sediment**-loading, impairment of ecological functions, and restriction of conveyance during **storm events**. The implementation of preventative measures prior to construction, such as the preservation of vegetated buffers, use of fencing and signage, and avoiding disturbances near **FPAs**, are some of the most effective means of protection.

Floodplains

Floodplains safely convey floodwaters and dissipate flows and velocities, subsequently reducing streambank **erosion** and protecting **structures** and people from the effects of **flooding**. Protection of **floodplain** corridors also promotes connectivity of habitat, which encourages the spread of native plants and wildlife.

Wetlands

Wetlands and wetland buffers are important stormwater management assets, where biogeochemical interactions cleanse surface and subsurface water of pollutants. Decreased flow velocities in wetlands allow sediment to settle out of suspension, and wetland vegetation provides the surface area and energy sources necessary for microorganisms to break down and immobilize pollutants. Wetlands also provide stormwater attenuation and volume reduction benefits by detaining surface waters, which alleviates flooding, promotes evapotranspiration, and allows recharge of groundwater aquifers. Wetlands can also offer protection from

erosion, sequester atmospheric carbon dioxide into organic soils, and provide plant and wildlife habitat.

Riparian Environments

Riparian environments provide ecosystem services in the form of streambank **stabilization**, interception and immobilization of **sediment**, sequestration of nutrients, metals, organic compounds, and other pollutants, and also enhancement of biodiversity in this transitional zone. **Riparian environments** also provide **stormwater** management benefits, since the vegetated and wooded areas adjacent to streams can reduce **flood** velocities and flowrates. These areas can also provide volume reduction benefits through infiltration in the vegetated areas.

TEMPORARY EROSION CONTROL REQUIREMENTS (§401)

Erosion control practices involve the **stabilization** of soil in order to alleviate raindrop impact, prevent sheet and rill **erosion**, prevent suspension of solids in **stormwater runoff**, and prevent dust due to wind **erosion**.

Temporary erosion control practices are stabilization measures including, but not limited to:

- Protection of existing vegetation;
- Establishment of new vegetation;
- Soil **stabilization** measures;
- Wind and dust control measures;
- Stormwater conveyance channels; and
- Velocity dissipation measures.

When selecting **erosion control practices**, it is important to consider both onsite and offsite conditions. All potential sources of **erosion** should be evaluated and optimal methods should be chosen based upon the combination of soil characteristics, topography, climate, existing resources, proposed construction activities, and proximity to **FPAs**. Preservation of existing vegetation should always be considered as a primary method of soil **stabilization**, due to present and future value for **erosion** protection, **sediment** control, wildlife habitat, landscape aesthetics, and economic value. Implementing preventative measures early in the project timeline can save cost and time during later phases by reducing the need for supplemental **stabilization** and **sediment** containment practices.

Erosion control practices should be removed as soon as practicable, but no longer than seven days after construction activities have temporarily or permanently ceased. As stated in the ILR-10 permit, this requirement may be waived if construction activity is scheduled to resume
within 14 days from when activities ceased.

A listing of *Illinois Urban Manual* drawings for recommended temporary **erosion** control measures is provided in Table 4-1.

Protection of Existing Vegetation and Site Soil Disturbance Activities

Vegetation can be an effective and economic method of soil **stabilization**. Vegetative cover protects soils from raindrop impacts, rill and sheet **erosion**, and wind **erosion**. Vegetation also provides a reduction in velocity, valuable filtration and adsorption of pollutants, and can reduce **runoff** volumes by enhancing infiltration. The WMO states that existing vegetation shall be preserved where practicable to minimize the area of soil disturbance (§401.1). The purpose of retaining existing vegetation is to temporarily preserve areas that have value for **erosion** control during the construction process.

Preservation of existing vegetation is also a simple way of maintaining **stabilized** soils in areas of the **site** where no construction activity is planned or will occur at a later stage, phase, or date.

In addition to preservation of existing vegetation, the following general guidelines relating to soil disturbing activities should also be followed:

- 1. Minimize the area of soil exposed to **erosion** at one time;
- 2. Schedule major grading operations for the non-rainy season when practicable and limiting soil disturbing activities during the rainy season; and
- 3. Sequence trenching activities so that most open portions are closed before new trenching begins. Also any trenches, holes, or other excavations required for utility installation should be protected at the end of each workday.

Establishment of New Vegetation

As stated above, vegetation can be an effective and economic method of soil **stabilization**. Similar to preservation of existing vegetation, establishing temporary or permanent vegetative cover on disturbed or exposed areas reduces **erosion** and creates a landscape that enhances soil permeability and the filtering of **runoff** pollutants.

Soil Stabilization

Soil **stabilization** measures are manufactured products that protect against raindrop impact and enhance vegetative establishment by retaining soil moisture, providing an insulating layer, preventing seed washout, controlling weedy species, and protecting seeds from wildlife consumption. These products include mulches, soil binders, **erosion** control blankets, and turf reinforcement mats, which provide effective and immediate **stabilization** of slopes and channels before, during, and after the establishment of vegetation.

Wind and Dust Control

The purpose of this practice is to prevent blowing and movement of dust from exposed soil surfaces, to reduce on and offsite damage, to minimize health hazards, and to improve traffic safety. This practice is applicable to areas subject to dust blowing and movement where on and offsite damage is likely without treatment.

Stormwater Conveyance Channels

Stormwater conveyance channels prevent **erosion** by redirecting potentially erosive flows or convey clean or **sediment** laden water from upstream **tributary areas** along a **stabilized** path and away from areas that have not yet been **stabilized**. These include diversion dikes, drainage swales, lined ditches, and slope drains. **Stormwater** conveyance channels are not suitable as **sediment**-trapping devices, and should be **stabilized** prior to use to prevent **erosion** of exposed soils.

Velocity Dissipation Measures

Velocity dissipation measures prevent **erosion** by slowing the velocity of concentrated flows at the **stormwater outfall**. These measures are to be employed wherever concentrated flows are conveyed at erosive velocities, such as in steep swales or at pipe outlets. These consist of an area or apron of rock, concrete rubble, or gabions placed at the outlet of a drainage system. Appropriate applications include, outlets carrying a continuous flow of water, outlets subject to short, intense flows, outlets to **sediment basins**, and points where lined channels discharge to unlined channels or natural **waterways**.

Erosion and Sediment Control for Construction Shutdown or Phased Projects

The WMO requires that temporary **erosion control practices** be maintained on a year-round basis during construction (§401.5). Temporary **erosion control practice** are required for any periods of construction shutdown until permanent **stabilization** is achieved (§401.5).

All open areas that are to remain idle throughout winter should be **stabilized** with temporary or permanent vegetation prior to the end of the fall growing season. Seeding should be performed during the appropriate season in order to ensure rapid establishment of vegetation. In the event that temporary or permanent re-vegetation cannot be established prior to winter shutdown, a backup **stabilization** and containment plan should be in place in order to implement additional **erosion** control measures, such as the installation of mulch or **erosion** control blankets on all exposed soil. **Sediment control practices**, such as perimeter **silt fence** and **storm sewer** inlet protection devices, should also be installed and maintained throughout the winter shutdown period.

Temporary Erosion Control Strategy	Illinois Urban Manual Code						
Protection of Existing Vegetation							
Tree and Forest Ecosystem Preservation 984							
Establishment of New Vegetation							
Temporary Seeding	965						
Permanent Vegetation	880						
Sodding	925						
Erosion Control Blanket	830						
Mulching	875						
Wind and Dust Control Measures							
Dust Control	825						
Stormwater Conveyance Channels							
Diversion Dike	820						
Temporary Diversion	955						
Temporary Slope Drain	970						
Temporary Swale 980							
Temporary Pipe Diversion	676-PD						
Velocity Dissipation Measures							
Rock Outlet Protection	910						

Table 4-1. Illinois Urban Manual Drawings for Temporary Erosion Control Strategies

For projects involving phased construction, within the portions of the **site** where construction activities will be temporarily ceased, **stabilization** practices must be completed within seven days unless construction activity is resumed on that portion of the **site** within 14 days (§401.6). The WMO allows for the instances where snow cover precludes the completion of the **stabilization** practices. In such cases, the **erosion control practices** must be completed as soon as practicable.

TEMPORARY SEDIMENT CONTROL REQUIREMENTS (§402)

Sediment-laden waters generated onsite should be routed through at least one sediment control practice prior to discharge (§402.3). These practices are designed to contain or filter sediment-laden runoff (eroded material) before it leaves the site. Most sediment control practices function by reducing flow velocity and turbulence of sediment-laden water, subsequently allowing sediment to settle out of suspension. In some instances, multiple sediment control practices will be necessary to protect against the discharge of suspended sediment. All sediment control practices should be installed in conjunction with erosion control practices, and therefore should not be utilized as stand-alone measures. A listing of

Illinois Urban Manual drawings for recommended temporary **sediment** control measures is provided in Table 4-2.

Sediment control practices must intercept all **runoff** from **disturbed areas** before **runoff** leaves the **site** (§402.5). When the **disturbed area** or areas constitute an area draining less than one acre, then the **disturbed area** must be protected by a minimum of a **silt fence** or equivalent. For a **silt fence** equivalent, refer to the following section, Perimeter Controls. Equivalent measures should be used only when approved by the **District**.

When the **disturbed area** or areas constitute an area draining more than one acre, then the **disturbed area** must be protected by a **silt fence** (or equivalent) and a **sediment basin** or equivalent. The **sediment basin** must be sized to intercept the 2-year, 24-hour **runoff** volume from the **tributary area**.

In all cases, it is important to consider measures that capture and contain **sediment** close to its source. **Sediment control practices** should always be integrated with **erosion control practices**, and should never be used as stand-alone methods of water quality protection.

Sediment control can be accomplished using the following general control mechanisms:

- Perimeter Controls: Vegetated buffers, silt fences, rolled barriers;
- Inlet Controls: Inlet filter bags, above grade inlet filters;
- Entrance/Exit Controls: **Stabilized** construction entrance/exit, tire wash stations;
- Sedimentation Controls: Sediment traps, sediment basins, flocculents;
- Instream Sediment Controls: Turbidity curtains, cofferdams; and/or
- Dewatering Operation Controls: Rim ditching, sock pipe/horizontal wells, well point systems, tank systems, and filtration.

Perimeter Controls

Perimeter controls are methods of containing **sediment** within the boundaries of the project **site**, or preventing offsite sources of **sediment** to enter the **site**. These practices prevent the discharge of **sediment** by filtering and dissipating the energy of **sediment** laden sheet flow **runoff**. All **site** characteristics should be considered when selecting appropriate perimeter control practices. Perimeter controls must be installed and functioning prior to soil disturbance (§402.3).

Inlet Controls

Inlet controls prevent the movement of **sediment** and other pollutants into the **storm sewer** network. All **site** and **storm sewer** characteristics should be considered when selecting an appropriate inlet control. Sheet flow draining to drop inlets may require different methods of

treatment than shallow concentrated flow draining to culvert inlets, so it is important to select an inlet control best suited to accommodate the expected velocity, shear stress, and **sediment** load of **site runoff**.

Entrance/Exit Controls

Entrance/Exit controls prevent offsite tracking of **sediment** at all points of construction ingress/egress where **sediment** can be tracked onto public roads. Any soil reaching a public or private roadway shall be removed immediately and transported to a controlled **sediment** disposal area.

Sedimentation Controls

Sedimentation controls utilize excavated or impounded areas to temporarily detain sedimentladen water to promote settling of suspended particles prior to discharge. The outlets of sedimentation controls should be stabilized (see Velocity Dissipation Measures) such that treated water does not become re-contaminated. Designs should allow for adequate retention time to ensure maximal sedimentation for the anticipated sediment loads. Pumping sedimentladen water into any stormwater facility that is not designated to be a sediment control measure, sediment trap, or sediment basin either directly or indirectly without filtration is prohibited.

Sediment traps should only be used for small disturbed soil areas draining less than one acre, and for treating coarse textured soils consisting of medium to large sized **sediment** particles (sands and coarse silts). If the contributing **drainage area** is greater than one acre, or **site** consists of finer textured soils, such as silts and clays, a **sediment basin** should be used. Basins are appropriate for large disturbed soil areas draining between one and ten acres, but are not appropriate for **drainage areas** greater than 75 acres.

Design of **sediment** traps and basins should provide enough storage to accommodate the settling process (live storage) in addition to the accumulated **sediment** (dead storage). Live storage volume should, at a minimum, accommodate the 2-year, 24-hour **runoff** volume for the **tributary area** to each **sediment** trap or basin. Dead storage should be sized to store the estimated **sediment** load generated from the **site** over the duration of the construction period and be below the permeable fill. The **sediment** load can be estimated by using the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE). Total storage may consist of only live detention storage; however, a more frequent schedule for **sediment** removal will be required. The following example demonstrates how to calculate the 2-year, 24-hour **runoff** volume for an example **site**.

Example 4.1: Sediment Basin Sizing

This example demonstrates how to size a **sediment basin** for a 10-acre **site**. The WMO requires that the **sediment basin** be sized based on the 2-year, 24-hour **runoff** volume from the tributary **drainage area**. In this example, it is assumed that the entire project **site** (10 acres) is tributary to the **sediment basin**.

To calculate the **runoff** volume, the **NRCS runoff** equation is used, which is:

$$R = \frac{(P - 0.2S)^2}{(P + 0.8S)}$$

where,

- R = **runoff** depth (in)
- P = 2-year, 24-hour rainfall depth of 3.04 in (Bulletin 70 Northeast Section)
- S = potential maximum retention after **runoff** begins (in), and is calculated by:

$$S = \frac{1000}{CN} - 10$$

where,

CN = **runoff** curve number for the **tributary area**. A CN of 91 is used, assuming newly graded (bare soil) and C soils.

$$S = \frac{1000}{CN} - 10 = \frac{1000}{91} - 10 = 0.99 \text{ in}$$

Substituting the known values for P and S,

$$R = \frac{(3.04 - 0.2^* 0.99)^2}{(3.04 + 0.8^* 0.99)} = 2.11 \text{ in}$$

The volume of **runoff** (acre-feet), V, from the **tributary area**, A, can then be calculated by:

$$V = \frac{R}{12} \times Area = \frac{2.11 \text{ in}}{12 \text{ in/ft}} \times 10 \text{ ac} = 1.76 \text{ ac-ft}$$

Therefore, the required **sediment basin** volume is 1.76 acre-feet.

Instream Sediment Controls

These are methods of **sediment** containment when work must occur in or near **waterways**. Instream **sediment** controls are implemented to contain and prevent **sediment** loading of surface waters and subsequently protect **watershed** quality. All necessary permits (USACE, **FEMA**, **IEPA**, Section 401 and Section 404 permits, etc.) must be granted before installation can begin. Examples of instream **sediment** controls include turbidity curtains and cofferdams.

Dewatering Operation Controls

Dewatering operations remove and treat **groundwater** from an excavation area. These controls ensure safe working conditions, proper removal of contaminants, and appropriate discharge of **groundwater**. Dewatering operations include Filtration Systems, Pipe Socks,

Horizontal Wells, Well Point Systems, and Dewatering Tanks. Construction dewatering operations shall be designed and operated so that water discharged from a **site** will meet State of Illinois water quality standards, as set forth in Title 35, Subtitle C, Chapter I, Part 302, Subpart B, Illinois Administrative Code.

Temporary Sediment Control Measure	Illinois Urban Manual Code			
Perimeter Controls				
Silt Fence	920			
Filter Strip	835			
Permanent Vegetation	880			
Sodding	925			
Temporary Seeding	965			
Tree and Forest Ecosystem Preservation	984			
Inlet Controls				
Culvert Inlet Protection	808			
Inlet Protection - Fabric Drop	860			
Inlet Protection - Excavated Drain Plan	555			
Inlet Protection - Paved Areas Curb Protection	561C			
Inlet Protection - Paved Areas Drop-In Protection	561D			
Inlet Protection - Fabric Drop Plan	560			
Inlet Protection - Sod Filter Plan 562				
Sedimentation Controls				
Rock Check Dam - Riprap	605R			
Rock Check Dam	905			
Temporary Sediment Trap	660			
Sediment Basin Dewatering Device	615			
Polyacrylamide for Temporary Soil Stabilization	893			
Polyacrylamide for Turbidity Reduction and				
Sediment Control	894			
Sedimentation Controls				
Ditch Check (Manufactured)	514PC,514RC,514SC,514UF, 514VC			
Instream Controls				
Floating Silt Curtain	617A, 617B, 917			
Cofferdam	803			
Dewatering Operation Controls	1			
Dewatering	813			
Portable Sediment Tank	895			
Sump Pit	950			

Table 4-2. Illinois Urban Manual Drawings for Temporary Sediment Control Strategies

CONSTRUCTION SITE MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS (§403)

Construction **site** management practices are considered "good housekeeping" measures that are to be carried out throughout the duration of the project. These practices aim to reduce or eliminate the spread of pollutants by placing structural and/or procedural controls on activities that have the potential to pollute **stormwater runoff**. Emphasis is placed on preventing contact of **stormwater** with sources of pollutants. **Stabilized** construction entrances, proper management of soil stockpiles, and the proper installation of temporary stream crossings are all examples of construction **site** management controls. Good housekeeping can be accomplished using the following general control mechanisms:

- Material Handling and Waste Management: proper delivery, storage, and removal of construction materials and wastes;
- Spill Prevention and Control: **development** of a spill prevention and control plan;
- Equipment and Vehicle Use: designated fueling, cleaning, and **maintenance** areas;
- Street Sweeping and Vacuuming: timely removal of **sediment** tracked onto roadways;
- Allowable Non-**Stormwater** Discharge Management: prevention of contamination of these discharges from **stormwater**; and
- Stockpile Management: BMP implementation and proper location of piles.

One of the most useful tools for efficient construction **site** management is adequate signage. Legible signs should be placed throughout the construction **site** to identify vehicle wash and **maintenance** stations; designate solid, liquid, and hazardous waste storage locations; and convey any important notices concerning construction **site** management practices.

Temporary Stream Crossings

A temporary stream crossing is a culvert, ford, or bridge placed across a **waterway**, when frequent crossing cannot be avoided. Crossings are designed for short-term use (one year or less), allowing construction vehicles and heavy equipment to cross **waterways** while avoiding downstream **sedimentation** or damage to the channel morphology and ecosystem. All necessary permits (**Corps, FEMA, IEPA**, Section 401 and Section 404 permits, etc.) must be granted before installation can begin.

Temporary stream crossings should not cause **erosion** or damage due to increases in water surface profiles to adjacent properties. Disturbance or removal of vegetation should be limited to that which is necessary to complete construction, and when necessary, vegetation should be cut off no lower than ground level to promote re-growth. Riparian vegetation should be covered by a sufficient layer of clean river run cobble to prevent damage to underlying soil and root **structure**.

Temporary stream crossings used during construction should be designed to convey a two-year, 24-hour **flood** event without overtopping unless the **District** approves a more frequent design

event. In addition, the following conditions should be met:

- Temporary stream crossings should not reduce the carrying capacity of the channel;
- The entire crossing should be designed to withstand hydrodynamic, hydrostatic, and erosive forces up to the **base flood** event without washing out;
- Upon completion the temporary stream crossings should be entirely removed and the stream bed and banks restored to a stable non-erosive condition that incorporates native vegetation where appropriate; and
- **Erosion and sediment control practices** should be implemented and maintained during installation, **maintenance**, and removal of temporary stream crossings.

All **structures** should be inspected often, especially following **runoff**-producing rainfall, for any blockages in the channel and for **sediment** or debris buildup upstream or within the stream crossing **structure**.

A listing of *Illinois Urban Manual* Drawings for recommended construction **site** management controls is provided in Table 4-3.

Construction Site Management Strategy	Illinois Urban Manual Code
Stabilized Construction Entrance	930
Temporary Stream Crossing	975
Temporary Concrete Washout Facility	954

Table 4-3. Illinois Urban Manual Drawings for Construction Site Management Strategies

PERMANENT EROSION CONTROL REQUIREMENTS (§404)

Permanent **stabilization** means that all soil disturbing activities in an area of the **site** have been completed and a uniform (e.g., evenly distributed, without large bare areas) perennial vegetative cover has been established on all unpaved areas and areas not covered by permanent **structures**. Vegetative cover must have a density of 70 percent of the native background vegetative cover. A **disturbed area** may also be considered permanently **stabilized** if riprap, gabions, or other non-vegetative practices are installed.

In general, permanent **stabilization** using seeding often takes time (weeks or even months), especially during times of low rainfall or during the colder months of the year, so it is important to generate an appropriate timeline for permanent **stabilization** in order to prevent extended and costly **maintenance** of temporary **erosion and sediment control practices**.

Permanent **stabilization** must be initiated within seven days following the completion of soil disturbing activities. All temporary **erosion and sediment control practices** should be maintained until permanent **stabilization** is achieved and then removed within 30 days of **stabilization**.

By bringing areas of the **site** to permanent **stabilization**, the workload associated with maintaining and inspecting temporary **erosion and sediment control practices** will be reduced as routine inspections can be discontinued in that area. Table 4-4 provides the *Illinois Urban Manual* standard drawings for permanent vegetation.

Permanent Erosion Control Strategy	Illinois Urban Manual Code			
Permanent Vegetation	880, 880a, 880b, 880c, and 880d			

TYPICAL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROLS BY DEVELOPMENT TYPE

The acceptable **erosion and sediment control practices** will vary from project to project, however, certain types of projects will have many of the same practices in common. Examples of typical **erosion and sediment control practices** for different types of **development** are shown in Table 4-5 below.

Development Type	Typical Erosion and Sediment Control Practices
Commercial	 Stabilized Construction Entrance Silt Fence Seeding with Erosion Control Blanket Sedimentation Basin Concrete Washout Facility Inlet Protection
Underground Utility Project (within FPA)	 Stabilized Construction Entrance Double-row silt fence to protect FPA Placement of soil stockpiles outside of FPA
Single-Family Development (within FPA)	 Stabilized Construction Entrance Double-row silt fence to protect FPA Inlet Protection Sodding and/or Seeding with Erosion Control Blanket Placement of soil stockpiles outside of FPA
Roadway/Alleyway Projects	 Stabilized Construction Entrance Silt Fence Concrete Washout Facility Inlet Protection

Table 4-5. Typical Erosion and Sediment Control Practices by Development Type

It should be noted that the **erosion and sediment** controls shown in Table 4-5 are typical practices for those **development** types. These should be considered the minimum **erosion and sediment practices** that are required, and depending on the project, additional measures may be required to meet the requirements of Article 4 of the WMO.

SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES FOR GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

Because every **development** permitted under the WMO is required to incorporate **green infrastructure** into the **site** design, special **maintenance** practices should be developed (both during construction and post-construction) that ensure that the **green infrastructure** functions properly over time. Without proper **maintenance**, the void spaces in porous pavement and infiltration basins may become clogged with **sediment**, reducing their effectiveness.

During Construction

Green infrastructure is susceptible to failure during construction and therefore it is important that staging, construction practices, and **erosion and sediment control practices** all be considered during their installation. To protect the long-term functionality of volume control practices, the following measures should be addressed in the construction sequencing, general notes, and/or **soil erosion and sediment control** plan for a **development**:

- Volume control practices should be installed toward the end of the construction period.
- The contributing **drainage area** must be stabilized prior to the installation of the **volume control practice**.
- Soil compaction shall be minimized as much as possible during **site** grading. Appropriate measures (such as fencing) should be used to prevent heavy construction equipment traffic from accessing the area.
- Volume control facilities must be protected with a double-row of silt fence (or equivalent measure) during construction. The two layers of silt fence should be placed at least 5 feet apart and must follow the *Illinois Urban Manual* standards.
- In general, **volume control facilities** should not be used as temporary sediment traps during construction. For **sites** where this is not practicable, special construction notes and/or details are required to protect the functionality of the facility.

Post-Construction

To prevent clogging in the void space of pervious pavement (concrete, asphalt, pavers), it is recommended that adjacent landscaped areas be designed such that **stormwater runoff** from these areas onto the porous pavement is minimized. In addition, low pressure power washing and vacuuming of the surface is recommended on a yearly basis. This **maintenance** is especially critical during the fall. High pressure washing should be avoided for these types of surfaces, as it can cause damage to the pavement. Proper **maintenance** is especially difficult for pervious pavers, because extra care must be taken so that power washing and vacuuming does not dislodge the small chips that are used to fill in the paver gaps. In addition, small debris can collect in the paver gaps and lead to weed growth.

For infiltration trenches and basins, the use of a mulch layer above the infiltration practice will work like a filter for the **sediment** transported by **stormwater runoff**. The mulch layer will need to be replaced when it is filled, but will protect the void spaces in the soil and aggregate layers below from **sedimentation**. An alternative to using a mulch layer is the installation of a **sediment** trap upstream of the infiltration area. The **sediment** trap is a small depression that captures **stormwater** and allows the **sediment** to settle before it reaches the infiltration basin. For the **sediment** trap to be effective, the collected **sediment** must be removed regularly.

REFERENCES

EnviroCert International, Inc. 2010. <u>Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control Exam</u> <u>Review Study Guide</u>.

Illinois Environmental Protection Agency.2013.General NPDES Permit No. ILR10. Available at: <u>http://www.epa.state.il.us/water/permits/storm-water/general-construction-permit.pdf</u>

Kane County Technical Reference Manual. Available at: http://www.countyofkane.org/FDER/Documents/waterOrdinances/technicalManual.pdf

Lake County Technical Reference Manual. Available at: <u>http://www.lakecountyil.gov/Stormwater/FloodplainStormwaterRegulations/WDOandTRM/Pages/TechnicalReferenceManual.aspx</u>

Lutey, Brian, email interview by Megan Elberts. *Porous Concrete Design and Considerations* (Nov. 15, 2011).

Minnesota Pollution Control Agency. <u>Construction Specifications for Permeable Pavement</u>. Available at:

http://stormwater.pca.state.mn.us/index.php/Construction_specifications_for_permeable_pavement

US Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service. 2012. <u>Illinois Urban</u> <u>Manual: A Technical Manual Designed for Urban Ecosystem Protection and Enhancement</u>. Available at: <u>http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/il/technical/</u>

US Environmental Protection Agency. 2007. <u>Developing Your Stormwater Pollution Prevention</u> <u>Plan: A Guide for Construction Sites</u>. Available at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/sw_swppp_guide.pdf</u>

ARTICLE 5: REQUIREMENTS FOR STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

Introduction

Site stormwater management involves the control of **stormwater runoff** from **development sites** to minimize the potential for adverse impacts on adjacent and downstream properties. The goal of **site stormwater** management, as stated in §501.1 of the WMO, is to ensure that **development** does not:

- "Increase **flood** elevations or decrease **flood** conveyance capacity upstream or downstream of the area under the **ownership** or control of the **co-permittee**;
- Pose any increase in **flood** velocity or impairment of the hydrologic and hydraulic functions of streams and **floodplains** unless a **water resource benefit** is realized;
- Violate any provision of this **ordinance** either during or after construction; and
- Unreasonably or unnecessarily degrade surface or groundwater quality."

The objective of **stormwater** management is to balance **development** with **stormwater** drainage and design approaches that do not cause an increase in **flooding** and do not unreasonably or unnecessarily degrade water quality due to **development**. **Site development** and **stormwater** management standards are established in the WMO to meet the requirements of §501.1. **Site stormwater** management involves the control of the rate, volume, and quality of **stormwater runoff** associated with **development**. The WMO requires several practices to be incorporated into the **site** drainage design to address these impacts, including **detention** (rate control), **volume control practices** (volume reduction), and **flow-through** (treatment) requirements.

The WMO provides standards for **stormwater** management including:

- Site Runoff Requirements (§502);
- Site Volume Control Requirements (§503);
- Site Detention Requirements (§504); and
- Allowances for **Redevelopment** (§505).

The purpose of this section of the **TGM** is to provide guidance on how to demonstrate compliance with the WMO requirements, in order to ensure that the **development** or **redevelopment** will not result in a negative impact to downstream or adjacent properties.

<u>Note</u>: All bold terms contained in this document are defined terms in the WMO. Refer to Appendix A of the WMO or the TGM for the definition of each bold term.

<u>GENERAL SITE DEVELOPMENT AND STORMWATER MANAGEMENT</u> <u>REQUIREMENTS (§501)</u>

Site Stormwater Management and Development Categories

The WMO regulates **developments** based on the size and type of **development**. Table 5-1 (Table 2 in the WMO) summarizes which **site stormwater** management requirements must be met, depending on the size of **parcel** and type of **development**.

There are three categories of **site stormwater** regulations:

- 1. Site Runoff Requirements (§502);
- 2. Site Volume Control Requirements (§503); and
- 3. **Site Detention** Requirements (§504).

There are five types of **developments** specifically covered in the WMO:

- 1. Single-family home;
- 2. Residential subdivision;
- 3. Non-residential and multi-family development;
- 4. Right-of-way development; and
- 5. **Open space** (not part of a larger **development**).

Table 5-1 shows the **stormwater** regulation categories for the different classifications of **developments**. As defined in the WMO, **parcel** or **parcels** means "**contiguous** land area under single **ownership** or control, under an affidavit of **ownership**, or under a single legal description on record with the **Cook County** Recorder of Deeds Office." As defined in the WMO, **development** means:

"Any human-induced activity or change to real estate (including, but not limited to, grading, paving, excavation, dredging, fill, or mining; alteration, subdivision, change in land use or practice; **building**; or storage of equipment or materials) undertaken by private or public entities that affects the volume, flow rate, drainage pattern or composition of **stormwater**, or the **substantial improvement** of an existing **building** in a **Special Flood Hazard Area**. The term **development** shall include **redevelopment** and shall be understood to not include **maintenance**."

Development Type	§502 §503		§504			
(See Appendix A of the WMO for	Runoff	Volume Control	Storage			
definitions.)	Requirements	Requirements ₂	Requirements ₂			
Single-Family Home	Exempt Exempt		Exempt			
	Parcels	Parcels	Parcels			
Residential Subdivision	≥	2	≥			
	1 acre	1 acre	5 acres			
	Parcels	Parcels	Parcels			
Multi-Family Residential	≥	2	≥			
	0.5 acre	0.5 acre	3 acres ‡			
	Parcels	Parcels	Parcels			
Non-Residential	≥	≥	≥			
	0.5 acre	0.5 acre	3 acres ‡			
	New	New	New			
	Impervious	Impervious	Impervious			
Right-of-Way	Area	Area	Area			
	≥	≥	2			
	1 acre	1 acre †	1 acre †			
	Parcels					
Open Space	≥	Not Applicable	Not Applicable			
	0.5 acre					
1 Site stormwater management requirements are not required for maintenance activities as defined in Appendix A						

Table 5-1. Summary	y of Site Stormwater	Management Rec	uirements (Ta	ble 2 from WMO)1

2 Requirements are applicable when a Watershed Management Permit is required under §201 of the WMO.

[‡] Starting the effective date of the WMO, any new **development** on the **parcel** that totals either individually or in the aggregate to more than one-half (0.5) of an acre.

+ Where practicable.

At the bottom of Table 5-1, it is important to note that site stormwater management requirements are not required for **maintenance**. The examples of **maintenance** are provided to explicitly state that in-kind replacement or repair of existing infrastructure or facilities are not regulated under the WMO.

"Where practicable" is included with right-of-way (roadway) development since it is understood that often roadway design is limited by public **right-of-way** constraints. In cases where the WMO stormwater requirements have not been met, the applicant must demonstrate how the **development** has met the **stormwater** requirements of the WMO to the maximum extent practicable.

Developments less than or equal to 0.1 acre that require a **Watershed Management Permit** are exempt from the runoff (§502), volume control (§503), and Legacy Sewer Permit requirements (§505). **Developments** greater than 0.1 acre are subject to these requirements when the ownership area exceeds the thresholds specified in Table 5-1.

SITE RUNOFF REQUIREMENTS (§502)

As described in Table 5-1, the **site runoff** requirements in §502 apply to:

- 1. Residential subdivision development on parcels that total one acre or more; and/or
- 2. Non-residential or multi-family residential development on parcels that total 0.5 acre or more; and/or
- 3. **Right-of-way development** that creates one acre or more of **new impervious area**, and/or
- 4. **Open space development** on **parcel**(s) that total 0.5 acre or more.

Site runoff requirements are not required for the **development** of **single family homes** on individual residential lots. The act of subdividing land distinguishes between a **single family home** and a **residential subdivision**, which is subject to the **site stormwater** requirements in Article 5. **Site runoff** requirements (§502) for **development** may include the:

- 1. Determination of **watershed** boundaries;
- 2. Design of minor **stormwater facilities**;
- 3. Design of major stormwater facilities;
- 4. Determination of **design runoff rate**s;
- 5. Consideration of existing sub-surface drainage;
- 6. Consideration of **upstream tributary flows** and bypass flows;
- 7. Protection of **depressional storage**;
- 8. Allowable flow depths on roadways and parking lots; and/or
- 9. Building protection standards.

Not all **development sites** will contain all of the **site** features discussed in §502. In addition, the applicant must procure all federal, state, and/or local permits associated with the **stormwater runoff** from the **site**.

Transfer Between Watersheds

Unless there are extenuating circumstances for a **development**, **stormwater runoff** should stay within the existing **watershed**. The WMO (§502.2) specifies that the transfer of water between **watersheds** is prohibited unless such transfers do not violate the provisions of §501.1 of the WMO. "**Watershed**" for this provision is defined as the **tributary area** to the **waterway** to which the **development** drains. "Transfer" refers to the diversion of **runoff** or stream flow via overland flow paths or **storm sewer** systems.

In order to demonstrate compliance with §502.2, the existing and proposed conditions tributary areas must be evaluated for the site. For the determination of the development site's watershed boundaries, topography from Cook County or the US Geological Survey (USGS) should be obtained. Some sites, prior to development, may contain a ridge line resulting in the site being tributary to multiple watersheds. The proposed grading plan for the site should preserve these natural drainage boundaries. For any portions of the site that drain to another watershed, it must be demonstrated that no negative impacts will result to any watershed to which the site was originally tributary. Negative impacts include increases in flowrates, velocities, and flood elevations. The maximum permissible impact is a 0.1-ft increase in flood elevations and a 10% increase in velocities. Computation of flows must be completed utilizing the methodology required for major stormwater systems.

Minor Stormwater Systems

Minor stormwater systems are typically designed to collect and convey events less than the 100-year **storm event** and consist of **storm sewers**, inlets/catch basins and other **stormwater** collection appurtenances. **Minor stormwater systems** prevent water from ponding on roadways, sidewalks, and properties during the more frequent **storm events**.

§502.5 requires that the **minor stormwater systems** be sized to convey **runoff** from the **tributary area** under fully developed conditions consistent with the design requirements of the local jurisdiction or existing **stormwater** system. Minor **stormwater facilities**, when not regulated by the local community, should be designed to convey a minimum of the 10-year event by gravity, with no pressure flow in the conduits.

Minor **stormwater facilities** should consider all **watershed** areas upstream of the point of design under fully developed conditions to ensure that they are not undersized. In some cases, the fully developed conditions of the upstream area may be the current land. Regardless, the upstream land use conditions must be assessed. In cases where the upstream **tributary areas** are still subject to **development**, the municipal or County land use plans should be evaluated. If the upstream **tributary area** is subject to further **development**, then any special considerations of the **runoff** rate must be pre-approved by the **District** or an **authorized municipality**.

Rational Method

The Rational Method can be utilized to determine the peak flow from a particular **tributary area** for the sizing of minor **stormwater facilities**, primarily consisting of inlets and **storm sewers**. The Rational Method is defined as:

$$Q = C \cdot i \cdot A$$

Where: Q = peak rate of flow (cubic feet/second)

C = Composite **runoff** coefficient , based on Table 5-2

i = intensity of precipitation (inches/hour)for a duration equal to time of concentration, t_c, and a given return period (Table 5-3)

A = area (acres)

For each **drainage area**, the composite **runoff** coefficient (C) must be computed using the values shown in Table 5-2.

Surface Type	Runoff Coefficient, C
Impervious area (Roads, roofs, sidewalks, etc.)	0.90
Pervious Area	0.45
Gravel (loose, unbound)	0.75
Water Surface (open water)	1.00
Native Plantings	0.15
Wetlands	0.79
Synthetic Turf Fields	0.75
Green Infrastructure:	
Pervious Surfaces (Porous Asphalt, Pervious	0.75
Concrete, Permeable Pavers)	
Bioswale	0.10
Rain Garden	0.10
Green Roof	(Refer to Table 5-9)

Table 5-2. Runoff Coefficients (C Values) for the Rational Method

The duration used for the rainfall intensity, i, is equal to the time of concentration, t_c , for the **drainage area**. An example t_c calculation is provided in Example 5.3. **Bulletin 70** sectional rainfall intensities are to be used for Rational Method calculations; these rainfall intensities are provided in Table 5-3 below. The rainfall intensities provided in Table 5-3 can be used to generate intensity-frequency-duration (IDF) curves for **storm sewer** sizing applications. For example, Figure 5.1 shows the IDF curves generated by the *Hydraflow* computer software based on the user-specified **Bulletin 70** rainfall intensities.

Duration	Intensity (in/hr)							
Duration	1-Year	2-Year	5-Year	10-Year	25-Year	50-Year	100-Year	
5 min	3.60	4.32	5.52	6.48	7.92	9.36	10.92	
10 min	3.30	4.02	5.04	5.88	7.26	8.52	10.02	
15 min	2.72	3.28	4.12	4.84	5.96	7.00	8.20	
30 min	1.86	2.24	2.82	3.30	4.08	4.78	5.60	
1 hour	1.18	1.43	1.79	2.10	2.59	3.04	3.56	
2 hour	0.74	0.90	1.12	1.32	1.63	1.91	2.24	
3 hour	0.53	0.65	0.81	0.95	1.18	1.38	1.62	
6 hour	0.31	0.38	0.48	0.56	0.69	0.81	0.95	

Table 5-3. Bulletin 70 Northeast Sectional Rainfall Intensities



Figure 5.1. Bulletin 70 Northeast Sectional IDF Curves (Generated by Hydraflow)

Once the peak flowrate has been established, Manning's equation can be used to size the pipe or open channel through an iterative process. This must be done until design capacity from Manning's equation is found to exceed the required peak flow design rate as determined in the Rational Method. Manning's equation is as follows:

$$Q = \frac{1.49}{n} \cdot A \cdot R^{\frac{2}{3}} \cdot S^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Where:	Q	=	design flowrate (cubic feet/second)
	n	=	the roughness coefficient of the pipe or channel (dimensionless)
	А	=	the cross sectional area of the pipe or channel (square feet)
	R	=	the hydraulic radius of the pipe or channel which is the area (square feet) divided by the wetted perimeter (feet)
	S	=	the slope of the pipe or channel (foot/foot)

Example 5.1 – Sizing of a Minor Stormwater System

For the proposed drainage schematic shown below, determine the required **storm sewer** sizes to convey the 10-year **storm event**. The area, **runoff** coefficient, and time of concentration are provided for each subbasin. Also provided are the rim elevations of each proposed **structure** and the distances between **structures**. Use Manning's equation to determine the required pipe sizes for the proposed drainage system.



Figure 5.2. Proposed Drainage Schematic for Storm Sewer Sizing

In this example, a spreadsheet based on Manning's equation is used to size the **proposed storm sewers**. The completed spreadsheet with the required **storm sewer** sizes is provided as Figure 5.3. Referring to Figure 5.3, the following items should be noted:

- Rainfall intensities are calculated from the IDF curves provided as Figure 5.1 and are based on **Bulletin 70** northeast sectional rainfall depths.
- Manning's equation is used to verify the full-pipe capacity is greater than the design 10year peak flowrate.

• A Manning's equation spreadsheet is an acceptable alternative to a **storm sewer** sizing computer program such as *Hydraflow*, *HYDRA*, and *StormCAD*. If an applicant is using computer software to design a **storm sewer** network, the hydraulic grade line (HGL) of the system must be plotted to ensure the **storm sewer** system is not under pressure flow for the 10-year design. Because Manning's equation assumes full-pipe conditions, the HGL is equal to the crown of the pipe and therefore no other HGL calculations are required using this methodology.

	Pipe Cover Downstream (ft)	3.88	3.08	3.38	3.08	ł
	Pipe Cover Upstream (ft)	3.38	3.58	3.38	3.08	3.08
	Invert Elevation Downstream (ft)	692.50	691.00	691.00	690.00	I
	Invert Elevation Upstream (ft)	695.00	692.50	692.00	691.00	690.00
	Rim Elevation Downstream (ft)	698.00	696.00	696.00	695.00	1
	Rim Elevation Upstream (ft)	700.00	698.00	697.00	696.00	695.00
	Travel ⊺ime (min)	1.04	0.58	1.65	0.43	1
	Velocity (ft/s)	4.80	5.70	3.04	5.88	I
	Pipe Capacity (cfs)	5.89	13.72	3.73	18.48	ł
	(%) əqol2 əqi9	0.83	0.75	0.33	0.67	I
	Pipe Diameter (in)	15	21	15	24	I
0.013	Q (cts)	5.82	9.21	3.73	15.21	18.03
ng's n =	l (in/hr)	5.88	3.30	5.52	3.26	3.24
Manr	t _{cum} (min)	10.0	30.0	5.0	30.6	31.0
	(nim) _[t	10.0	30.0	5.0	15.0	10.0
ears	_i A* _i ⊃ mu≳	0.99	2.79	0.68	4.67	5.57
10 \	C¹*Aj	0.99	1.8	0.68	1.2	0.9
sign Storm =	Aj (Acres)	1.50	3.00	1.50	2.00	1.50
Des	c ¹	0.66	0.60	0.45	0.60	0.60
S	(ֈֈ) կֈնսəๅ	300	200	300	150	1
LJ	Downstream Manhole	2	с	e	5	out
ngineer:	Upstream Manhole	-	2	4	e	5
ш	Line Number	-	2	ы	4	5

of

Sheet

1/13/2014

Date:

Project: Cook County TGM



Article 5. Site Stormwater Management Page 5-10

Major Stormwater Systems

Major stormwater systems are drainageways that convey flows from major storms when the capacity of **minor stormwater systems** is exceeded. Generally, the **minor stormwater system** is designed to carry the 10-year design **runoff** event and the **major stormwater system** is designed to carry the additional flow for the 100-year design **runoff** event. The WMO (§502.6) requires that the **major stormwater system** be designed to convey the **design runoff rate** of the 100-year **storm event** using a **critical duration analysis** and an event hydrograph method. A **critical duration analysis** is required only for the following:

- 1. Large **developments**, where:
 - a. Residential > 10 acres, and
 - b. Commercial > 5 acres
- 2. Smaller sites with an offsite flow area greater than the **development** area; and
- 3. Clear conveyance issues that may contribute to onsite flooding.

The **design runoff rate** for **major stormwater systems** must include the calculated flows from all the **tributary areas** upstream of the point of design without increasing **flood** or **erosion** damages downstream or on adjacent properties. A **major stormwater system** consists of the overland flow routes and channels that convey **stormwater runoff** that exceeds the **storm sewer** capacity downstream, to the **site detention facility**.

In general, the **minor stormwater system** consists of a **storm sewer** system (designed for the 10-year return interval), and the **major stormwater system** consists of an overland flow path (designed for the 100-year return interval). Overland flow paths can consist of roadways or side/rear yard swales and can be sized using Manning's equation. As shown in Table 5-4 below, only two Manning's n values should be used for the design of the overland flow route, depending on whether the proposed channel is paved or unpaved.

Surface Type	Manning's n Value
Paved Channels (asphalt or concrete roadways)	0.013
Unpaved Channels (grassed)	0.035

 Table 5-4. Manning's n Values for Design of Overland Flow Routes (Source: Chow, 1959)

For all projects, the direction of flow for **major stormwater systems** should be clearly shown on the appropriate plan sheets and exhibits (grading plan and drainage exhibit). Flow arrows should be provided that show the direction of overland flow, and if storm sewers are sized to convey the 100-year design runoff rate, this should be indicated on the utility plan.

Event Hydrograph Methods

The maximum flowrate determined in the 100-year **critical duration analysis** will establish the **design runoff rate**. As with the **minor stormwater system** design, the major **stormwater facilities** should consider all **watershed** areas upstream of the point of design under fully developed conditions to ensure that they are not undersized. Peak discharge for conveyance of **stormwater** and the design of **stormwater facilities** must be based on the **critical duration analysis** using the appropriate rainfall distribution. The analysis should include the 1-, 2-, 3-, 6-, 12-, 18-, 24- and 48-hour storm durations to determine the critical storm duration for the **watershed**.

The following event hydrograph methods are allowed for the determination of the **design runoff rate** and the sizing of **major stormwater facilities**:

- 1. HEC-1 (SCS runoff method);
- 2. HEC-HMS (SCS **runoff** method); and
- 3. TR-20.

Other modeling programs that are not listed may be used with the approval of the **District**. Event hydrographs must incorporate the following:

- Antecedent Moisture Condition II. The antecedent moisture condition is the measure of the soil conditions with respect to **runoff** potential before a storm. "I" is dry, "II" is average and "III" represents saturated soils conditions; the CN values for all **development** should be based on the values provided in Table 5-7, which are based on an AMC II.
- Huff Rainfall Distribution. The Huff rainfall distribution is a measure of the time distribution of rainfall for storm events of various durations. The appropriate Huff quartile distribution to be used for each associated rainfall duration is found in Table 5-5.

				HUF	r QUAI		SIKIBU		-			
CUMUL.		AREA <	: 10 SM		AREA > 10 & AREA < 50			AREA	AREA > 50 & AREA < 400			
STORM		HUFF Q	UARTIL	E		HUFF Q	UARTIL	E	н	UFF QL	JARTIL	Ξ
PERCENT	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4^{th}	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4^{th}	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4^{th}
05	16	03	03	02	12	03	02	02	08	02	02	02
10	33	08	06	05	25	06	05	04	17	04	04	03
15	43	12	09	08	38	10	08	07	34	08	07	05
20	52	16	12	10	51	14	12	09	50	12	10	07
25	60	22	15	13	62	21	14	11	63	21	12	09
30	66	29	19	16	69	30	17	13	71	31	14	10
35	71	39	23	19	74	40	20	15	76	42	16	12
40	75	51	27	22	78	52	23	18	80	53	19	14
45	79	62	32	25	81	63	27	21	83	64	22	16
50	82	70	38	28	84	72	33	24	86	73	29	19
55	84	76	45	32	86	78	42	27	88	80	39	21
60	86	81	57	35	88	83	55	30	90	86	54	25
65	88	85	70	39	90	87	69	34	92	89	68	29
70	90	88	79	45	92	90	79	40	93	92	79	35
75	92	91	85	51	94	92	86	47	95	94	87	43
80	94	93	89	59	95	94	91	57	96	96	92	54
85	96	95	92	72	96	96	94	74	97	97	95	75
90	97	97	95	84	97	97	96	88	98	98	97	92
95	98	98	97	92	98	98	98	95	99	99	99	97

Table F F Useff Oscartile Distributions

The distributions are expressed as percentages of cumulative rainfall depth as a percentage of storm duration. The 1st quartile distribution is applied to storm durations less than or equal to 6 hours, the 2nd quartile distribution is applied to storm durations greater than 6 hours but less than 12 hours, the 3rd quartile distribution applies to storm durations greater than 12 hours but less than or equal to 24 hours, and the 4th quartile distribution applies to storm durations greater than 24 hours. There are three separate Huff distributions that represent the three different sizes of **drainage areas** utilized in the study: **drainage areas** less than 10 square miles (left), **drainage areas** between 50 and 400 square miles (right). The majority of projects will be using values for areas less than 10 square miles.

Illinois State Water Survey Bulletin 70 Northeast Sectional Rainfall Statistics. Bulletin 70
rainfall data provide the expected rainfall amounts for selected storm durations and
return periods. Table 5-6 provides the Bulletin 70 rainfall depths for the various storm
durations and return intervals.

Duration			Storm	n event Freq	uency		
Duration	1-year	2-year	5-year	10-year	25-year	50-year	100-year
5 min	0.30	0.36	0.46	0.54	0.66	0.78	0.91
10 min	0.55	0.67	0.84	0.98	1.21	1.42	1.67
15 min	0.68	0.82	1.03	1.21	1.49	1.75	2.05
30 min	0.93	1.12	1.41	1.65	2.04	2.39	2.80
1 hour	1.18	1.43	1.79	2.10	2.59	3.04	3.56
2 hour	1.48	1.79	2.24	2.64	3.25	3.82	4.47
3 hour	1.60	1.94	2.43	2.86	3.53	4.14	4.85
6 hour	1.88	2.28	2.85	3.35	4.13	4.85	5.68
12 hour	2.18	2.64	3.31	3.89	4.79	5.62	6.59
18 hour	2.30	2.79	3.50	4.11	5.06	5.95	6.97
24 hour	2.51	3.04	3.80	4.47	5.51	6.46	7.58
48 hour	2.70	3.30	4.09	4.81	5.88	6.84	8.16
72 hour	2.93	3.55	4.44	5.18	6.32	7.41	8.78
120 hour	3.25	3.93	4.91	5.70	6.93	8.04	9.96
240 hour	4.12	4.95	6.04	6.89	8.18	9.38	11.14

 Table 5-6. Illinois State Water Survey Bulletin 70 Rainfall Depths for Northeast Sectional (inches)

Calculating Runoff Curve Number

The **runoff** curve number (CN) is a hydrologic parameter used to estimate the potential for **stormwater runoff** from a particular area. Factors affecting CN values include land cover type (including hydrologic conditions), hydrologic soil group, and antecedent moisture condition. The CN is used to calculate **runoff** volumes and flows for the **development site** as well as to size the **site's detention facility**. CN values must be calculated for both existing and proposed conditions of the **development site**.

For calculating CNs of proposed **developments**, the land uses and soil types should be taken from those listed in Table 5-7. This table is a modified version of Table 2-2a from the *Urban Hydrology* for *Small Watersheds*, *TR-55* (TR-55 Manual), published by **NRCS**, for determining curve numbers. The table also includes appropriate CNs for **volume control practices**. For further guidance, refer to the TR-55 Manual, which is available through the Certified Professional in **Erosion** and **Sediment** Control (CPESC) website at: <u>http://www.cpesc.org/reference/tr55.pdf</u>.

Cover Type and Hydrologic Conditions	Curve Numbers for Hydrologic Soil Group			
Cover Type and Hydrologic Conditions	С	D		
Impervious area (roads, roofs, sidewalks, etc.)	98	98		
Pervious area (open space, mostly grassed areas)	74	80		
Gravel (railroad yards, roads, parking lots)	89	91		
Water surface (open water)	100	100		
Newly graded areas (pervious areas only, no vegetation)	91	94		
Native Plantings	70	77		
Wetlands	91	94		
Synthetic Turf Fields	91	91		
Green Infrastructure:				
Non-compacted gravel areas	91	91		
Porous/permeable pavement	91	91		
Bioswale	63	70		
Rain Garden	63	70		
Green Roof	Refer to	Table 5-9		

Table 5-7.Runoff Curve Numbers for Urban Areas

The **developments** and **redevelopments** that will be permitted under the WMO will be mostly residential and commercial **developments** that have significant amounts of **impervious area**. Due to the general uniformity of **developments**, the land use types used in the CN calculation will be limited to those shown in Table 5-7. The majority of **Cook County** consists of either native poorly-drained soils (HSG C and D) or became that way due to **development**. The areas of the County that contain well-drained soils (HSG A and B) are extremely limited. And even though an area may be labeled as having well-drained soils on the soil survey, if the area has been developed, the soils have likely lost their infiltration capacity. Based on this information, the calculation of CNs for proposed **developments** should be based on HSG C and D type soils. The use of A and B soils in calculating CNs would only be allowed for those **sites** where native soils are currently intact and a soil test is performed to verify the infiltration capacity. The applicant would also have to demonstrate that these soils would be preserved under the developed conditions. Soils information for **Cook County** is available on-line through the **NRCS** at: websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/.

Example 5.2 provides a sample CN calculation for a 3-acre, **non-residential development** for proposed conditions, as shown in Figure 5.4. The CN calculation spreadsheet for this example is provided as Figure 5.5.

Example 5.2 – Example CN Calculation

Figure 5.4 shows a proposed **development** that consists of a **building**, a permeable pavement parking lot, **open space**, and a **stormwater** detention basin. Using **NRCS** TR-55 methodology, determine the CN for the **site**.



Figure 5.4. Example of Calculation of Runoff Curve Numbers

In this example, there are two types of pervious area onsite: (1) the **open space** around the perimeter of the **development** that is assumed to be in good condition (grass cover is >75%) and HSG C-type soils and (2) the permeable pavement parking lot. From the values provided in Table 5-7, the **open space** CN is 74 and the CN for permeable pavement is 91. A distinction is made between the two types of **impervious areas** on the proposed **site**: the **building** is assigned a CN of 98, while the open water of the wet-bottom detention basin (at the normal water level (NWL)) is assigned a CN of 100.

Using the CN worksheet, as shown in Figure 5.5, a composite CN of 89 is computed for the **development**.

Runoff Curve Number				
Project: Location: File: Circle One:	CN Example Calculation Cook County, IL ExampleCN.xlsx Present Developed	By: Checked: Description: <u>3-Acre S</u>	LJS Date: JMG Date: Site Example	12/22/2013 12/23/2013
Soil Name and Hydrologic Group (Appendix A)	Cover Description (cover type, treatment, and hydrologic condition; percent impervious; unconnected/connected impervious area ratio)	Curve Number	Area Xacres sq. mi.	Product of Curve Number and Area
	Pervious Area - Open Space, Good Condition Permeable Pavement Impervious Area - Building Impervious Area - Open Water	74 91 98 100	0.75 1.25 0.75 0.25	55.5 113.75 73.5 25
CN (weighted) =		Totals =	3.00	267.75
	total area 3	Use CN	1 = 89	

Figure 5.5. CN Calculation Worksheet for Example 5.2

Calculating the Time of Concentration

The time of concentration (t_c) is the time it takes for **stormwater runoff** to travel from the most hydraulically distant point in a **watershed** to the **watershed** outlet. Based on the **NRCS** TR-55 methodology, the t_c for a **watershed** is a combination of sheet flow, shallow concentrated flow, and open channel flow.

Sheet flow is the first segment of a flow path and consists of shallow flow (less than 0.1 ft) over plane surfaces. Sheet flow should be limited to a length of 100 feet, and roughness coefficients (Manning's n values) for sheet flow over different types of surfaces should be taken from Table 5-8 (Table 3-1 from the **NRCS** TR-55 manual). To determine the travel time for sheet flow, Manning's kinematic (Overton and Meadows) solution should be used.

$$T_{t} = \frac{0.007(nL)^{0.8}}{(P_{2})^{0.5}s^{0.4}}$$

Where:

T_t = travel time (hr)

n = Manning's roughness coefficient (Table 5-8)

L = flow length (ft)

 $P_2 = 2$ -year, 24-hour rainfall depth (3.04 in)

s = slope of hydraulic grade line (land slope, ft/ft)

Table 5-8. Manning's n Values for Sheet Flow	(Table 3-1 from NRCS TR-55)
--	-----------------------------

Surface Description	Manning's n Value
Smooth surfaces	0.011
(concrete, asphalt, gravel, or bare soil)	0:011
Fallow (no residue)	0.05
Cultivated Soils	
Residue Cover ≤ 20%	0.06
Residue Cover ≥ 20%	0.17
Grass:	
Short grass prairie	0.15
Dense grasses	0.24
Bermudagrass	0.41
Range (natural)	0.13
Woods:	
Light underbrush	0.40
Dense underbrush	0.80

After 100 ft, sheet flow will transition to shallow concentrated flow. The travel time for shallow concentrated flow is based on the equation (TR-55 equation 3-1) shown below.

$$T_t = \frac{L}{3600V}$$

Where:

T_t = travel time (hr) L = flow length (ft) V = average velocity (ft/s) 3600 = conversion factor from seconds to hours

The velocity term in the equation is calculated separately based on the type of surface. If the surface is "unpaved," the velocity is calculated using the following equation:

$$V_{unpav} = 16.1345(s)^{0.5}$$

Where: s = slope of the ground (ft/ft)

If the surface is "paved," the following equation should be used:

 $V_{pav} = 20.3282(s)^{0.5}$

Water may also move through a **watershed** as open channel flow. Creeks, ditches, and **storm sewers** are all examples of open channel conveyance systems in a **watershed**. The travel time for open channel flow can be determined using TR-55 Equation 3-1, with flow velocities based on Manning's equation (assuming bankfull conditions). For open channel flow in **storm sewers**, it is reasonable to assume an average velocity of 2 ft/s.

In general, urbanization decreases the t_c in **watersheds**, as flow over smooth, impervious surfaces – along with the installation of efficient conveyance systems such as **storm sewers** – speeds up the flows and decreases the t_c . The t_c affects the shape of the **runoff** hydrograph for a **watershed**: a shorter t_c results in a steep **runoff** hydrograph with a higher peak flow, whereas a longer t_c will flatten the shape of the **runoff** hydrograph and result in a lower peak flow. In many cases, particulary in small urban areas, the t_c will be small, and a minimum value of 10 minutes should be used.

Example 5.3 – Example Time of Concentration Calculation

The figure below shows the flow path from the most hydraulically distant point in a **watershed** (A) to the **watershed** outlet (D). Using **NRCS** TR-55 methodology, determine the time of concentration (t_c) for this **watershed** assuming the following:

Segment AB: Sheet flow; dense grass; slope = 0.03 ft/ft; length = 100 ft Segment BC: Shallow concentrated flow; paved; slope = 0.02 ft/ft; length = 650 ft Segment CD: Open channel flow; length = 900 ft; velocity = 2 ft/s (from Manning's equation)



Figure 5.6. Time of Concentration Flow Path for Example 5.3

As shown in the calculation worksheet (Figure 5.7), the t_c for this **watershed** is 0.40 hours.

	Time of Co	oncentration	ı (T	c) or Tra	vel	Time (T	T _t)				
Ducient				Der	_	1.10		Deter	10	10010040	
Project:	Example 5.2		-	By:		LJS	-	Date:	12	/30/2013	-
Location:			-	Checked:	_	JSG	_	Date:	12	/30/2013	
File:	ExampleTC.xisx										
		Present / Deve	loner	4							
		To through subar	rea	J		Example \	Nator	shed			-
		re though suba	lea		-		valer	Shea			_
SHEET FL	_OW										
	Segment ID	AB									
Surface De	escription (table 3-1)	Dense Grass									
Manning's	roughness coeff., n	0.24									
Flow Lengt	th, L (total L \leq 100') (ft)	100									
Two-yr 24-	hr rainfall, P2 (in)	3.04									
Land slope	e, s (ft/ft)	0.03									
$T_t = (0.007)$	$(nL)^{0.8})/(P_2^{0.5} s^{0.4})$ (hr)	0.21	+						=	0.21	hr
SHALLOV	V CONCENTRATED FLOW										
	Compart				_						
Surface De	Segment IL	BC			_						
Flow Long		ραν.			_						
Viotoroour		0.02			_						
Average		0.02									
$T_{\rm r} = 1/360$	00 V (hr)	0.06	+		+		+		=	0.06	hr
		0.00			_] [0.00	_
CHANNEL	FLOW										
	Segment ID	CD									
Cross-sect	tional flow area, a (ft ²)	10.1									
Wetted per	rimeter, Pw (ft)	25.7									
Hydraulic r	adius, r = a/Pw (ft)	0.39									
Channel sl	ope, s (ft/ft)	0.01									
Manning's	roughness coeff., n	0.04									
V = (1.49 r	^{0.667} s ^{0.5}) / n (ft/s)	2.00									
Flow length	n, L (ft)	900			1						
$T_t = L / 360$	00 V (hr)	0.13	+						=	0.13	hr
Watershe	d or subarea T _c or T _t								=	0.40	hr

Figure 5.7. Time of Concentration Worksheet for Example 5.3

Example 5.4 – Sizing of a Major Stormwater System

Based on **Cook County** topography, a proposed **development** has an offsite **drainage area** of 40 acres. Using **NRCS** TR-55 methodology, the CN was calculated to be 87 and the t_c was determined to be 1.2 hrs. Determine the **design runoff rate** that must be bypassed through the **site** and size a grassed swale to safely convey the flow.

<u>Solution</u>: Use HEC-HMS to perform a **critical duration analysis** to determine the 100-year **design runoff rate**. Once the design flowrate is known, Manning's equation can be used to size the overland flow path.

<u>Step 1</u>: A one-subbasin HEC-HMS model was developed to represent the offsite area. The subbasin (named Subbasin-1) is the only component of the *Basin Model*.

For Subbasin-1, enter the information for the project **site**:

- Area = 0.0625 square miles (40 acres)
- CN = 87
- Lag time = 0.72 hrs (0.6 * t_c)
- SCS CN and Unit Hydrograph Methodology

The *Meteorological Model* contains the rainfall depth information, which are the 100-year, 1-hour through 100-year, 48-hour depths from Table 5-6. The *Time-Series Data* contains the time distribution of rainfall, which includes the Huff 1st through 4th quartile distributions for various storm durations.

🕿 HEC-HMS 3.5 [Z:\MWRDGC\130409\Water\Models\HEC-HMS\Example5.4\Example5.4\Example5.4.hms]					
File Edit View Components Parameters Compute Results 1	ools Help				
🗋 🖆 🖬 🎒 💽 🕂 🕂 🤉 🎂 🔲 🍑 🌞	21 24 24 15 18 18 18 19 19				
Example 5.4 Basin Models Basin 1 Basin 1 Basin 1 Begin Subbasin 1 Begin Begin Subbasin 1 Begin Subbasin 1 Be	Basin Model [Basin 1]				
Components Compute Results					
Basin Name: Basin 1					
Element Name: Subbasin-1					
Description:					
Downstream:					
*Area (MI2) 0.0625					
Canopy Method:None					
Surface Method:None					
Loss Method: SCS Curve Number					
Transform Method: SCS Unit Hydrograph		-			
Baseflow Method:None	•				
	NOTE 40049: Found no parameter problems in basin model "Basin 1". WARNING 41784: Simulation time interval is greater than 0.29.* Ian for subbasin "Subbasin-1": reduce simulation time interval	4 4			

Create and compute simulation runs for the 100-year, 1-hour through 100-year, 48-hour storm durations.

Kerner HEC-HMS 3.5 [Z:\MWRDGC\130409\Water\	Models\HEC-HMS\Example5.4\	(Example5.4.hms)
File Edit View Components Parameters Co	mpute Results Tools Help	
🗋 🚔 🖬 ə 🦎 🕂 🕂 🕁	Create Simulation Run	
Example 5.4	Select Run	100YR12HR
E- Basin Models	Run Manager	100YR18HR
Basin 1	Create Ontimization Trial	100YR1HR
Subbasin-1 Meteorologic Models	Select Trial	100YR24HR
Control Specifications	Trial Manager	100YR2HR
Time-Series Data	manwanager	100YR3HR
	Create Analysis	100YR48HR
	Select Analysis	100YR6HR
	Analysis Manager	Subpasir-1
	Multiple Compute	
Components Compute Results	Check Parameters	
Subbasin Loss Transform Options	Compute	
Basin Name: Basin 1		
Element Name: Subbasin-1		
Downetream:		
*Area (MI2) 0.0625		
Canopy Method:None		
Surface Method:None		
Loss Method: SCS Curve Number	- III	
Transform Method: SCS Unit Hydrograph	•	
Baseflow Method:None	•	•
	NOTE 40049: E	Found no parameter problems in basin model "Basin 1".
	WARNING 4178	784: Simulation time interval is greater than 0.29 * Ian for subhasin "Subhasin-1": reduce simulation time interval

The figure below shows the summary output for the 100-year, 1-hour **storm event**.

 Summary Results fo	- • ×			
Pr	oject: Example5. Subl	4 Simu basin: Sut	llation Run: 100YR 1HR obasin-1	L
Start of Run: End of Run: Compute Time	01Jan2000, 00: 02Jan2000, 00: :01Dec2014, 09:	00 00 59:39	Basin Model: Meteorologic Model: Control Specificatior	Basin 1 100YR 1HR Is: 1HR
	Volume Ur	nits: 💿 II	N 🔘 AC-FT	
Computed Results				
Peak Discharge: Precipitation Volume Loss Volume: Excess Volume:	72.87 (CFS) 2:3.56 (IN) 1.32 (IN) 2.24 (IN)	Date/Ti Direct F Baseflo Dischar	me of Peak Discharge Runoff Volume: w Volume: :ge Volume:	:01Jan2000, 01:06 2.24 (IN) 0.00 (IN) 2.24 (IN)

Because there is no summary output table for the various simulations, the results of the **critical duration analysis** have been summarized in the table below.

Storm event	Peak Flowrate (cfs)
100-Year, 1-Hour	73
100-Year, 2-Hour	77
100-Year, 3-Hour	70
100-Year, 6-Hour	56
100-Year, 12-Hour	42
100-Year, 18-Hour	35
100-Year, 24-Hour	29
100-Year, 48-Hour	17
As shown in the table above, the 100-year, 2-hour **storm event** yields the highest peak flowrate (77 cfs) for the offsite area.

<u>Step 2</u>: Using the peak 100-year flowrate computed from HEC-HMS, use Manning's equation to determine the geometry of the overland flow path to safely convey the offsite flow. From the **site** grades, the slope of the channel can be no more than 1%. Based on the elevations of adjacent homes, there can be no more than one foot of depth in the channel. The depth must be kept under one foot to provide the two feet of freeboard for the 100-year critical duration **storm event**.



Referring to the figure above, for a trapezoidal channel,

The flow area, A, is calculated by: A = (b + zy)y

The wetted perimeter, P_w , is calculated using: $P_w = b + 2y \times (1+z^2)^{0.5}$

The hydraulic radius, R, is calculated by: R = A/P

Since this is a grassed channel, the Manning's n value should be 0.035, as determined from Table 5-4. The slope s, is 1%, or 0.01 ft/ft and the flow depth, y, is equal to 1 ft. Side slopes, z, for the overland flow route should be equal to 3:1. This only leaves the bottom width, b, which can be adjusted until the capacity of the channel is greater than the 100-year design flowrate of 77 cfs. Solving Manning's equation iteratively, the required bottom width is 12 ft which yields a channel capacity of 79 cfs.

Minor and Major Stormwater System Design Considerations

Upstream flows must be considered when developing a **site**, as stated in the WMO (§502.9). Flows from the upstream **tributary areas** to the **site** should be computed under fully developed conditions to ensure the proposed **stormwater facilities** are not undersized. Upstream offsite flows cannot be blocked. Upstream flows can be routed around the **development** via **storm sewer** or swales and must be designed to convey the **base flood** event. Otherwise, the upstream flows can be routed into and through the **site stormwater facility** (including **site storm sewer**, swales, **site detention facilities**, etc.).

All systems should drain by gravity. Hydraulic grade line (HGL) computations must be provided to verify **buildings** and **structures** are properly protected from **flooding**. HGL computations must take into account appropriate tailwater conditions at the most downstream point of the proposed **stormwater** system (HWL, **BFE**, etc.). The rim elevations of all **storm sewer** manholes (catch basins, inlets, trench drains, area drains, etc.) must be at or above the high water elevation of the **site detention facility** or if an emergency overflow weir/spillway is provided, no lower than six (6) inches above the weir/spillway crest elevation.

Existing and proposed low-entry points and **buildings** should be considered when designing **major stormwater facilities**. A minimum of one foot must be provided from the maximum designed water surface elevation to the low-entry point of any **building**. This includes all **major stormwater facilities** (overland flow paths and **detention facilities**).

Design of drainageways should have:

- Sufficient energy dissipation at the outlet to prevent scouring of the streambank, bed, or downstream land. Armoring of the stream channel should not be considered in lieu of energy dissipation. Energy dissipation is essential to avoid transferring scour and stability problems further downstream;
- To the extent possible, deep-rooted vegetated side slopes, and inverts with velocities sufficiently limited shall be used to prevent scouring for open-channel drainageways. This guide addresses the plan requirement to control **sediment** and **erosion** from drainageways; and
- 3. Have reasonable side slopes given the engineering properties of the materials. A 3:1 side slope typically provides adequate stability in an earth channel and is a mowable slope. A 4:1 or shallower side slope is desirable. Deviations from the minimum value should be justified by appropriate calculations (e.g., slope stability calculations) and **maintenance** plans that do not require mowing.

Some areas within the **District** jurisdiction/boundaries have **combined sewer** systems. **Developments** shall provide separate **sanitary sewer** and **storm sewer** systems within the property boundaries of the **development**.

Runoff from rooftops, parking lots, and other impervious surfaces that do not discharge directly into a **site** detention system facility should discharge onto pervious surfaces. This will allow for infiltration, **runoff** reduction, and the improvement of water quality.

Stormwater System Easements

The WMO (§502.8) requires that **major and minor stormwater systems** be located within easements or public **right-of-way** explicitly providing public access for **maintenance** of such facilities. This includes **storm sewer** pipes, overland flow routes, swales, and portions of the curb and gutter system.

Easements should be sized to allow for the **maintenance** of the systems. A minimum of 10 feet should be dedicated over any **storm sewer** line or other conveyance facility. However, consideration should be given to the depth of **storm sewer** in order to allow for access to and **maintenance** of the lines. For example, a **storm sewer** line that is 30 feet deep will likely require more than a 10-foot easement, should **maintenance** be needed. Areas up to 10 feet beyond the established high water level of a **stormwater detention facility** should be placed within an easement.

Easement language should include **maintenance** access provisions for all **stormwater facilities**. Easements should be dedicated and recorded on all legal documents, including plats or titles of all **parcels** containing the easements. The dedication should indicate that the easement serves the purpose of allowing for the **maintenance** and access to the **stormwater facilities**.

Existing Sub-Surface Drainage (Drain Tile)

Per §502.7 of the WMO, the applicant shall locate all existing field tile systems on the project **site** plan. Drain tile can either be safely routed through or around the **development site**. The drain tile can be reconnected to the existing drain tile at the downstream side of the **development** or incorporated into the proposed **minor and major stormwater facility** of the **site** (only in **separate sewer areas**).

Any modifications to drain tile shall not cause damage to upstream, downstream, or adjacent **structures**, land uses, or **stormwater facilities**. Calculations will likely be required to demonstrate this. As the slope of the drain tile is often unknown, an estimate of the capacity of the pipe will have to be made based upon the known existing drain tile size and an estimated pipe slope.

Particular attention should be paid to those drain tile systems that are used to convey **upstream tributary flows**. Drain tiles must maintain drainage service to these upstream **tributary areas** during construction until the new **storm sewer** system is constructed. Drain tiles used as outlets must be within public **rights-of-way** or in an easement.

Any drain tile replaced onsite should be properly reconnected to the downstream system. Onsite drain tile should be located within a public **right-of-way** or a dedicated easement. This information should be shown on the **record drawings** with all appropriate rim, invert, pipe size, pipe material, etc. information shown.

Depressional Storage

Depressional storage is an above-ground storage area that does not have a gravity surface outlet and only drains by evaporation or infiltration. Up to the point of overtopping, a **depressional storage** area effectively reduces the flowrate of **stormwater runoff** leaving the **site** as it stores water onsite.

A hydrologic analysis for the pre-developed **site runoff** rate, which factors in the storage volume of the **depressional storage** area, shall be performed for the 2-year, 10-year and 100-year **storm events** of a 24-hour duration in accordance with §502.4 of the WMO. All areas tributary to the depressional area (both on- and offsite) should be considered in the hydrologic model. If the depressional area is contained onsite, a complete topographic survey with 1-foot contour intervals should be used to determine the relationship between the stage and storage values of the depression, which are to be included in the hydrologic model. If the depressional areas that extend into other counties, the USGS topography may be used. For offsite areas that estend into other counties, the USGS topography maps can be used to complete a stage-storage relationship table. Any outlet from the depression, such as drain tile or an overflow weir, should be identified, and calculations are to be provided to determine the discharge rates from these **structures** as a component of the total existing release rate from the **site**.

The proposed **site's runoff** rate shall not exceed the existing **runoff** rate. A table of existing versus proposed flows and **flood** elevations should be provided for comparison purposes showing no increase in flows and **flood** elevations.

For those sites which require site detention facilities, the allowable release rate from the site shall be either equal to or less than the existing runoff rate. If the existing runoff rate is less than the calculated allowable release rate, the existing runoff rate becomes the site's new allowable release rate. The site detention facility shall be sized, accounting for the smaller of the two flow values.

If the depressional area is mapped as **floodplain** on the **FIRM** maps, the **floodplain** provisions of the WMO (Article 6) will apply.

Flow Depths on Roadways and Parking Lots

Maximum **flood** depths on any roadway for both storage and conveyance purposes shall not exceed 12 inches during the **base flood** condition. If located in the **regulatory floodway**, maximum **flood** depths on new parking lots shall not exceed 12 inches during the **base flood** condition. Parking areas that are located in the **floodplain** shall post signs indicating the **flood** hazard area. Figure 5.8 illustrates the acceptable **flood** depths on a roadway.



Figure 5.8. Allowable Flood Depths for Roadways

Building Protection Standards

For proposed **buildings** in areas adjacent to or within the limits of the **floodplain**, **building** protection standards are provided in Article 6 of the **TGM**. Proposed **buildings** shall be protected from **stormwater runoff** conveyed through the **site**. The proposed **buildings** shall be designed so that the lowest entry point for usable spaces shall be one foot above the high water elevation as determined from the design of the **major stormwater system** or overland flow paths. All usable space in new **buildings**, or added to existing **buildings**, adjacent to a **site detention facility** shall be elevated, **floodproofed**, or otherwise protected with a minimum of one foot of freeboard for the **base flood** condition to prevent the entry of surface **stormwater**.

SITE VOLUME CONTROL REQUIREMENTS (§503)

Introduction

The WMO (§503.2) requires that one (1) inch of **stormwater runoff** from all impervious surfaces of the **development** be treated using **volume control practices**. Impervious surfaces include: pavement and gravel paved areas, buildings, permanent pool areas, and wet bottomed detention ponds greater than 12-inches in depth. Synthetic turf fields and porous pavement areas are not considered impervious surfaces for purposes of volume control requirements.

The one (1) inch of **stormwater runoff** from these newly developed impervious areas is termed the **volume control storage**. The purpose of these practices is to provide pollutant and volume reduction mechanisms for **stormwater runoff** discharged from the **site** to receiving waters. The WMO presents a hierarchy of **volume control practices** in §503.3 to treat the **volume control storage** in §503.2:

- 1. **Retention-based practices** with quantifiable storage capacity are the primary form of water quality treatment. The use of **retention-based practices** must be maximized for treating the **volume control storage**; and
- 2. Flow-through practices are required for treatment of any portion of the volume control storage that has not been treated using retention-based practices."
- 3. **Redevelopments** with **site** constraints that prevent use of **retention-based practices** to retain the **volume control storage** in full, the **volume control storage** may be reduced by twenty-five percent (25%) for every five-percent (5%) of reduced **impervious area**, if the **development** can meet the conditions provide in §503.3.C of the WMO.

As presented in Table 5-1 of the **TGM** and in §503.1 of the WMO, the volume control requirements apply to:

- 1. Residential subdivision development on parcels totaling one (1) acre or more; and/or
- 2. Non-residential or multi-family residential development on parcels totaling 0.5 acre or more; and/or
- 3. Roadway **development** that is more than one (1) acre of **new impervious area**, where practicable.

The selection of **volume control practices** should be based on the **site** feasibility, which includes soil suitability. The design of **volume control practices** must be incorporated into the overall **site** design while meeting the **site runoff** requirements of §502 and the **site detention facility** requirements of §504.

For **developments** that require a permit and the ownership area is greater than or equal to the thresholds specified in Table 5-1, **volume control practices** are generally required for the

proposed **impervious area**. However, if the area of **development** is less than or equal to 0.1 acre, the volume control requirements do not apply. The following example demonstrates this point:

<u>Commercial Development</u> Total **Development** Area = 0.49 acre Total Ownership Area = 1.0 acre Proposed **Impervious area** = 0.34 acre Includes Qualified Sewer Construction **Is Volume Control Storage Required? Yes**

Although the disturbance is less than 0.5 acre, a permit is required for the **development** since it includes **qualified sewer construction**. Because the ownership area is greater than 0.5 acre (from Table 5-1) and the **development** area is greater than 0.1 acre, the **volume control storage** will have to be provided for the 0.34 acre of proposed **impervious area**.

Impervious Area Reduction

As stated in §503.3.C of the WMO, **redevelopments** with site constraints that prevent the use of **retention based** practices may reduce the **impervious area** to meet the volume control requirements. The **volume control storage** may be reduced by twenty-five percent (25%) for every five-percent (5%) of reduced **impervious area**. Therefore, credit for the entire required **volume control storage** (100%) can be provided by reducing the **impervious area** by 20%. This concept is illustrated in Figure 5.9 below.



Figure 5.9. Reduction in Impervious Area to Meet Volume Control Requirements

Volume Control Practices Overview

Volume control practices utilize designated infiltration areas or structures to capture a portion of stormwater runoff (i.e., the volume control storage) and retain it onsite such that the runoff is able to 1) percolate through (or into) the underlying soils, 2) evaporate, 3) dissipate through evapotranspiration by plants, or 4) drain back slowly into the minor system via underdrains. The process of percolating runoff through the soil is an effective mechanism for both site runoff volume reduction and pollutant removal. Pollutants such as fine sediment, nutrients, bacteria, and organic materials can be filtered, absorbed by soil particles, or utilized by plants, thus providing a water quality benefit.

Since volume control practices reduce the quantity of stormwater runoff discharged from the site, "credit" for these practices provided in §503 may be applied to the site detention requirements in §504, when applicable. In other words, the total required site detention volume may be reduced by the volume stored within volume control practices. Additionally, site detention facilities may be modified by storing the volume control storage below the outlet restrictor. Credits and approaches for volume control storage are discussed in detail later in this section.



Figure 5.10. Example of Volume Control Practice

Flow-Through Practices

Flow-through practices are designed to provide water quality treatment by filtering out pollutants from the **runoff** before it is discharged from the **site**. Many **flow-through practices** provide some infiltration, however the volume reduction is not quantifiable. Many **flow-through practices** are conveyance systems that provide **stormwater** treatment along the flow path. For most practices, this is in the form of a series of vegetated swales, filter strips, or mechanical **structures** such as oil and grit separators. These practices should be sized to allow sufficient contact time with the treatment practice, such as shallow water depths and low velocities, in order for adequate pollutant removal to occur. **Flow-through practices** utilize deep-rooted plants that can trap suspended **sediment** and incorporate nutrients into their biomass as water flows through the practice.



Figure 5.11. Flow-Through Practice

For the purposes of the WMO, **flow-through practices** also serve as pretreatment practices to protect the functionality of **volume control practices**. **Flow-through practices** are not required for **stormwater runoff** that has originated from roofs.

Site Feasibility Assessment

A site feasibility assessment that examines site limitations is necessary to determine the appropriate approach for volume control practice design. Volume control practices should be located on soils that are significantly permeable to ensure that the captured volume of runoff can infiltrate and dewater the structure at a minimum rate of 0.5 inches per hour. Other considerations, such as the groundwater table and discharge of volume control practice overflows, should be examined and used in the design. Installing retention based volume control practices within a floodway is prohibited due to the risk of washout from deep and swift flood waters in these flood prone areas.

Soil Suitability

Retention-based practices require soils with appropriate infiltration capacity. The infiltration rate is strongly influenced by the proportion of sand, silt, and clay (texture). Predominately clay soils have infiltration rates that are too low (in inches per hour) to accommodate the volume of **volume control practices** and predominately sandy soils can infiltrate **runoff** too rapidly and adversely impact **groundwater**. In addition to infiltration capacity, the soils must be free of contaminants, which can also adversely impact **groundwater**. Therefore, **sites** with contaminated soils are not suitable for **volume control practices**.

Onsite soils must be tested in order to determine if they are appropriate for **volume control practices**. Testing must include a determination of the soil type(s) and the infiltration capacity, including the capacity of the soils at the base of the **structure**.

Soil borings or pits should be taken in the location of the proposed **volume control practice** to verify soil particle size distribution (textural class) and to determine the depth to **groundwater** and bedrock. The number of soil borings should be selected as needed to determine soil conditions. The minimum depth of the soil borings or pits must be five feet below the bottom elevation of the proposed **volume control practice**. This serves the purpose of determining the location of the seasonally-high **groundwater** table. Infiltration tests should be conducted at the proposed bottom elevation of the **volume control practice**. The infiltration rate must be measured with a double-ring infiltrometer and meet the requirements of ASTM D3385. For sites where the double-ring infiltrometer test is impractical, the single-ring infiltrometer test may be used, provided that the testing follows the procedure contained on Page 28 of the <u>City of Chicago Stormwater Ordinance Manual</u> (March 2014).

Soils must have sufficient infiltration capacity to accept the **volume control storage**. The infiltration range of onsite soils for **volume control practices** should be between 0.5 and 2.41 inches per hour. These restrictions limit the use of **volume control practices** to soils with textures of sandy loam, loam, silt loam, silt, most sandy clay loams, and only some clay loams and silty clay loams.

In the event that a natural depression is proposed to be used as a **volume control practice**, the applicant must demonstrate the following information:

- 1. Infiltration capacity of the soils under existing conditions (inches/hour);
- 2. Existing drawdown time for the high water level (HWL) and a natural overflow elevation; and
- 3. Operation of the natural depression under post-**development** conditions mimics the **hydrology** of the system under pre-**development** conditions.

Poor infiltration rates (< 0.5 inches/hour) are common in **Cook County** and do not prevent the use of **retention-based practices**. If onsite soils do not provide a suitable infiltration rate, the design of the **volume control practice** should incorporate the use of an underdrain system. As described in the next section, only certain site constraints (contaminated soils or high groundwater levels) are acceptable reasons for not providing **retention-based practices**.

Retention-Based Practices in Sandy Soils

Soils with large percentages of sand generally infiltrate water more quickly than finer textured soils, and therefore, are effective with retention-based practices, provided that precautions are taken to protect the groundwater. The level of treatment in sandy soils, however, is quite variable. Sands can be ideal for filtration of particulate material, whereas soluble pollutants generally move through the soil quite rapidly and unattenuated. Soil cleansing via filtration, adsorption, and microbial uptake can be very effective removal processes for some of the more difficult-to-treat runoff pollutants. However, soils that infiltrate too rapidly may not provide enough time for sufficient treatment, creating the potential for groundwater contamination.

Contaminated Sites

There are sites, such as those previously used as gas stations or sites with known contaminants (based on a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment), where it would be impractical to use retention-based practices. For these sites, the WMO volume control requirements can be met by providing **flow-through practices** or a reduction in **impervious area**.

Groundwater Analysis

An investigation into the location of the seasonally-high **groundwater** table must be carried out in order to avoid **groundwater** contamination. In **combined sewer areas**, the seasonally-high **groundwater** table must be at a minimum of 3.5 feet below the bottom of the proposed **volume control practice** to allow for treatment of collected **runoff** prior to it entering the **groundwater** system (2 feet in **separate sewer areas**). If soil borings or pits do not show the seasonally-high **groundwater** table to be within 3.5 (or 2) feet of the bottom of the proposed **volume control practice**, then further investigation is not required.

For instances where the seasonally-high **groundwater** table is within 3.5 (or 2) feet of the bottom of the proposed **volume control practice**, then the proposed **volume control practice** must be relocated or redesigned such that a minimum of 3.5 (or 2) feet is maintained.

Volume Control Practices for Site Development

The WMO (§503.3.A) requires that **volume control practices** must be sized to retain and/or infiltrate the **volume control storage**. The **volume control storage** is equal to one (1) inch of **runoff** from the impervious surfaces of the **development**. The **volume control practices** can include:

- Infiltration Trenches*
- Infiltration Basins*
- Porous Pavement (storage in the voids below the pavement)

- Bio-Retention Systems*
- Dry Wells
- Open Channel Practices Fitted With Check Dams*
- Storage Below the Outlet of a Site Detention facility*
- Constructed **Wetlands** that have Forebays, Deepwater Zones, and Micropools

As discussed above, pretreatment measures to protect the functionality of **volume control practices** are required where necessary. The **volume control practices** marked with an asterisk (*) will usually require pretreatment. A summary of the pretreatment measures that may be used for various volume control practices is included in Table 5-11.

Depending on the volume control practice, the storage volume may consist of surface storage, storage in the voids of growing media, and/or storage in the void space of aggregate. The aggregate layer may be incorporated into a number of practices ranging from infiltration trenches to porous pavements. Many **volume control practices** are in the form of reservoirs filled with coarse aggregate with no outlet beneath a vegetated depressional area (such as with bio-retention systems). When coarse aggregate is used, the capacity of the reservoir is determined by the void space of the coarse aggregate used in the system. If the infiltration rate of the underlying soil is less than 0.5 inches/hour, an underdrain must be used to drain the accumulated volume of **runoff**.

There can be a great deal of flexibility in the types of practices selected as well as the location and configuration of these practices onsite. For example, the dimensions (length, width, and depth) of these practices can be manipulated such that they can take on irregular shapes, thereby allowing for easier integration into the **site** design, such as along property lines, in parking lot islands, or unusable portions of the **site**. Additionally, underground storage can be provided using the stone voids under permeable pavement, and other systems can be designed to function below **impervious areas**.

Volume Control Practice Sizing and Drainage Criteria

Calculate Required Volume Control Storage

Determine the portion of the **volume control storage** that will need to be treated with **volume control practices**. The **volume control storage** is equal to one inch of **runoff** from the impervious surfaces of the **development**. This volume is best represented in cubic feet.

 $V_c = Std_c x$ Unit Conversion x A_{IMPV}

Where:	Vc	=	Volume control storage (cubic feet)
	Std_c	=	Control Standard = 1.0 in.
	Unit Conversion	=	1 ft/12 in.
	AIMPV	=	Proposed Impervious area (ft ²)

Article 5. Site Stormwater Management

The dimensions of the **volume control practices** will be a combination of the depth and surface area available to retain the **volume control storage**. In order to minimize the footprint of the practice, the allowable depth is often the limiting factor. The maximum allowable depth is determined by the depth necessary to maintain a 3.5 foot separation from the seasonally high **groundwater** level, bedrock, or other limiting layer (3.5 feet in **combined sewer areas**, 2 feet in **separate sewer areas**). The surface area of the **volume control practice** is determined using the design volume and final depth values.

All **volume control practices** must have quantifiable storage space to retain the calculated **volume control storage**. Depending on the volume control practice, the storage volume may consist of surface storage, storage in the voids of growing media, and/or storage in the void space of aggregate.

The capacity of an aggregate-filled reservoir to retain the **volume control storage** should be based on the volume of void space (% porosity) of the coarse aggregate used in the system, where the volume of voids is equal to the **volume control storage**. If test data is not available, use 36% porosity for the coarse aggregate. The size of an aggregate-filled reservoir can be computed by converting the **volume control storage** to reservoir volume:

$$V_{\text{RES REQ'D}} = V_{\text{C}} x \frac{100}{\% \text{ Void Space}}$$

Where: V_{RES REQ'D} = Required Reservoir Volume (cubic feet) = volume of voids + volume of aggregate (This is the volume necessary to contain the coarse aggregate and the **volume control storage**.)

Perforated underdrain is required for each volume control **retention-based practice** due to the region's typical clayey soils where infiltration rates are assumed to be low. In most cases, a required underdrain should be no larger than 4-inches in diameter to encourage retention, have an observation well installed at the terminal end, be spaced no more than 30 feet on center across a retention field area, and laid with the perforations on the bottom of the pipe. Void volume credit available below the invert of the perforated underdrain must be limited to no more than 12-inches and will be credited at 100% toward volume control requirements. Void volumes below the underdrain invert must extend across the entire volume control storage system, and not limited to only an underdrain trenched area. Void volume above the invert of the underdrain up to the ground surface will be deducted by a factor of 50% to account for losses out of the underdrain. When calculating the storage volume in aggregate a void volume of 0.36 is used. A void ratio of 0.25 is used for growing media.

Volume provided above the ground surface will be limited in depth to 12-inches of wetland ponding and credited at 100%. For calculating surface **volume control storage**, the average end area method between the ground elevation and the elevation of the overflow grate/outlet pipe/check dam is recommended. Wet ponding depths above one foot of depth are not considered volume control and are considered impervious areas. For more information, see the **volume control practice** details located in Appendix C of the **TGM**.

If high infiltrating soils are suspected, provide a detailed soils report documenting the additional in situ percolation tests to confirm actual infiltration rates and to allow for design of a volume control facility without underdrains and take credit for additional infiltrative release.



Figure 5.12. Volume Control Practice – Surface Storage, Media Storage and Aggregate Storage

Volume Control Practice Site Location

Determine how **volume control practices** will fit into the **development site** design (on available pervious area of the **development**), and select the appropriate **volume control practice**. Information collected during the **site** feasibility assessment should identify the potential for multiple **volume control practices** versus relying on a single **volume control practice**. Again, **volume control practices** should be located on soils that are significantly permeable to ensure the captured **volume control storage** can infiltrate and dewater the **structure** at a minimum rate of 0.5 inches per hour.

The following should be considered when determining the location of **volume control practices**:

- 1. Conveyance path of the **runoff** to the practice;
- 2. Overland flow path from the practice to the main drainage system;
- Practices should be a minimum of 10 feet from a building foundation (unless waterproofed), 20 feet from a sanitary sewer, and 100 feet from potable water wells and septic tanks;
- 4. Practices should not be installed on slopes greater than 15;
- 5. Practices should not be installed above soils that are considered fill; and
- 6. A minimum setback of 20 feet from a road's gravel shoulder is required to ensure that the practices do not cause frost heaving.

Volume Control Storage Design

The **volume control practice** should be filled with coarse aggregate that meets **IDOT** Section CA-7 quality and gradation. Other types of coarse aggregate will be permitted, provided that it is crushed angular stone that is clean and washed free of fines. A void ratio of 0.36 is used when calculating the storage volume in aggregate. For growing media, a void ratio of 0.25 applies. A layer of choking stone or filter fabric must separate the growing media from thecoarse aggregate, and/or sand layers. No filter fabric shall be placed along the bottom of the trench between the volume control media and the native subsoil. Filter fabric must wrap along the trenching sides to prevent soils migration from clogging the system. The filter fabric should meet the requirements of the *Illinois Urban Manual Material Specifications 592* for geotextile fabric.

The storage reservoir should have direct access for **maintenance activities**. An observation well (e.g., a perforated PVC pipe that leads to the bottom of the **structure**) is needed to enable inspectors to visually monitor the drawdown rate of the water. For more information, see the observation well detail located in Appendix C of the **TGM**. One well per 40,000 ft² of practice surface area is required. Where infiltration rates of the soil are less than 0.5 inches per hour, volume control practices must incorporate an underdrain pipe that will allow the **structure** to be dewatered within 72 hours or less, if the **structure** becomes clogged. An underdrain can be a perforated pipe system in a gravel bed, installed at the base of the **structure** (minimum of 2" and maximum of 12" from the bottom) to collect and remove filtered **runoff**. The period of inundation is defined as the time from the high water level in the practice to one to two inches above the bottom of the facility (see Figure 5.12). This criterion was established to provide:

- 1. Wet-dry cycling between rainfall events;
- 2. Unsuitable mosquito breeding habitat;

- 3. Suitable habitat for vegetation;
- 4. Aerobic conditions; and
- 5. Storage for back-to-back precipitation events.

Additional details and specifications for the design of **volume control practices** are provided in this article and in Appendix C of the **TGM**:

- Underdrain
- Coarse aggregate
- Filter fabric
- Monitoring well
- Turf fields

Overflow Path from Volume Control Practice

In addition to a conveyance design that routes flows to a **volume control practice**, an equally important consideration is a conveyance design that routes flows from the practice back to the main drainage system. The overflow path is a necessary component designed to prevent structural damage to the **volume control practice** from localized **flooding** in the event that the practice does not dewater fast enough to prevent an overflow. Overflows can occur as a result of clogging or during long-duration, high-intensity **storm events** that raise the **groundwater** level to an elevation that impedes infiltration. Therefore, overflow designs should route excess flows through a **stabilized** discharge point that allows these flows to be directed back to the main drainage system in a controlled manner that will not cause scour.

Protection of Volume Control Facilities During Construction

Volume control practices are susceptible to failure during construction and therefore it is important that staging, construction practices, and **erosion and sediment control practices** all be considered during their installation. To protect the long-term functionality of volume control practices, the following measures should be addressed in the construction sequencing, general notes, and/or **soil erosion and sediment control** plan for a **development**:

- Volume control practices should be installed toward the end of the construction period.
- The contributing **drainage area** must be stabilized prior to the installation of the **volume control practice**.
- Soil compaction shall be minimized as much as possible during **site** grading. Appropriate measures (such as fencing) should be used to prevent heavy construction equipment traffic from accessing the area.
- Volume control facilities must be protected with a double-row of silt fence (or equivalent measure) during construction. The two layers of silt fence should be placed at least 5 feet apart and must follow the *Illinois Urban Manual* standards.

• In general, **volume control facilities** should not be used as temporary sediment traps during construction. For **sites** where this is not practicable, special construction notes and/or details are required to protect the functionality of the facility.

Protection of Volume Control Practice Infiltration Capacity: Pretreatment

Pretreatment is critical for **runoff** entering **volume control practices** in order to prevent clogging within the **volume control practice**. This reduces **maintenance** and also provides an added level of protection against **groundwater** contamination. §503.3.A (3) of the WMO requires, where necessary, pretreatment of **runoff** entering a **volume control practice** to protect the functionality of the **structure**. Where practicable, **flow-through practices** such as vegetated swales or filter strips should be used to meet the pretreatment requirement. Additionally, upland drainage should be properly **stabilized** both during and after construction to reduce **erosion**, thus minimizing the **sediment** loads being delivered to the **structure**. The use of trash racks or downspout screens will also satisfy the pretreatment requirements in some cases, as these measures prevent debris from clogging the **volume control practice**. Table 5-11 provides a summary of pretreatment measures that may be used for various volume control practices.

Flow-through Practices for Site Development

The WMO (§503.3.B) requires **flow-through practices** for treatment of any portion of the **volume control storage** that has not been treated using **volume control practices**. **Flow-through practices** must be sized to filter or detain the **volume control storage** as it passes through the **structure**. Maximizing the contact time between the vegetation and the **runoff** is critical to the effectiveness of **flow-through practices** to provide adequate treatment. Vegetation selection varies depending on climate, soil type, topography, land use, available light (shade tolerance), aesthetics, and planned use of the area.

Flow-through practices include, but are not limited to:

- Vegetated Filter Strips;
- Bio Swales;
- Constructed Wetlands;
- Catch Basin Inserts; and
- Oil and Grit Separators.

Again, any of these practices are also a suitable form of pretreatment for **volume control practices** and **site detention facilities** (detention ponds). However, these practices are not appropriate for all **sites** due to several limitations, particularly in **redevelopment** areas.

Providing vegetated **flow-through practices** may be difficult in many **redevelopment** areas due to the lack of ideal soils capable of supporting hearty vegetative growth. Many soils have undergone significant compaction and nutrient loss, which can limit root **development** and proper drainage. **Flow-through practices** can also have the potential to interfere with existing infrastructure and practice design should be considered accordingly.

Flow-through Practice Sizing and Criteria

Calculate Volume Control Storage for Flow-Through Treatment

Determine the portion of the **volume control storage** that will need to be treated with **flow-through practices**. The **volume control storage** is equal to one inch of **runoff** from the impervious surfaces created by the **development**. If a portion of the **volume control storage** is to be treated by **volume control practices**, subtract that portion from the **volume control storage** to determine the volume to be treated by **flow-through practices**.

• First, Calculate Volume to be Treated Using a Volume Control Practice:

$$V_{C RET} = V_C \times \%_{RET}$$

Where: V_{CRET} = Portion of volume control storage in Volume Control Practice (ft³)

V_c = Volume control storage (ft³)
 %_{RET} = Portion of volume control storage in Volume Control Practice (%)

• Then, Calculate Volume to be Treated Using a Flow-Through Practice

$$V_{C FLW} = V_C - V_{C RET}$$

Where: $V_{c FLW}$ = Portion of volume control storage in Flow-Through Practice (ft³) V_c = Volume control storage (ft³)

 V_{CRET} = Portion of volume control storage in Volume Control Practice (ft³)

Volume Control Examples

This section provides examples of the five most common **volume control practices** that have been utilized in **Cook County**. There are additional acceptable **volume control practices** that have not been addressed in the **TGM**. These practices are itemized in §503.3.B of the WMO.

Porous (Permeable) Pavement

The concept of porous pavement is to allow rainwater to infiltrate into and through the surfaces of parking lots, streets, and other traditional impervious surfaces. When designing a porous surface, the designer must carefully evaluate where the infiltrated rainwater is draining and how the **stormwater** is being conveyed.

The main benefits of porous pavements are increased **stormwater** infiltration, decreased surface **runoff**, improved water quality, and reduction in **runoff** velocity. Porous pavements are particularly important in filtering the first flush pollutants commonly observed at the beginning of a **storm event**. First flush pollutants are present on the land surface before the **storm event** and typically include car oil, gasoline, trash, road salt and suspended solids.



Figure 5.13. Example of a Permeable Paver Parking Lot Cross-Section (APT, 2011)

- There are several pavement options: pervious concrete, permeable pavers, and porous asphalt (not preferred).
- Must be sized and designed based on **drainage area**, structural requirements, soils, and the **volume control storage**.
- Underdrains may be used to provide drainage unless infiltration rate is greater than 0.5 inches/hour.
- Maintenance is necessary to ensure long-term functionality. Maintenance procedures include: sweeping organic materials off of gravel-filled pavers, and conventional street-sweeping with vacuums, brushes, and water to clear out voids (aggregate fill may be needed following each cleaning to refill the voids). Schedule R and Exhibit R must be submitted for the volume control facility, as well as a detail drawing of proposed signage, as required.
- This practice should be used with caution in areas underlain with highly permeable soils (i.e., surface sand or gravel) where infiltrated pollutants could reach **groundwater** without opportunity for attenuation.
- The effects of subgrade compaction, freeze-thaw cycles, de-icing, and snow removal must be considered in determining the applicability of this practice.
- The bottom should be at least 3.5 feet above the seasonal high water table (in **combined sewer areas**, 2 feet in **separate sewer areas**) and as level as possible in order to uniformly distribute infiltration to the surrounding soil.

For additional design considerations for porous pavement, the **Illinois Urban Manual** practice standard is available on-line at: <u>http://aiswcd.org/IUM/standards/urbst890.html</u>.

Dry Wells

A dry well consists of an excavated area which is backfilled with aggregate to temporarily store and infiltrate **stormwater runoff** from rooftops. Their typical application is for single family residences. The purpose of the dry well is to reduce **runoff** volume and peak discharges from a **development**. They also have the ability to filter soluble contaminants out of the **stormwater runoff**.



Figure 5.14. Typical Cross-section for Dry Well

- Must be sized and designed based on the drainage area, soils, and volume control storage.
- Dry wells can be constructed in two different forms: either a structural chamber that is assembled or inserted into an excavated pit, or an excavated pit filled with aggregate.
- It is important that the location of the dry well is adequately placed so that it does not cause **basement** seepage, **flooding**, or ponding at the ground surface.
- Dry wells should drain accumulated volume within 72 hours.
- They must be sized with consideration of both **drainage area** (1 acre maximum) and soil type (sandy soils will drain much more quickly than clay dominated soils).

- The bottom of the well should be at least 3.5 feet above the seasonal high water table (in **combined sewer areas**, 2 feet in **separate sewer areas**) and as level as possible in order to uniformly distribute infiltration to the surrounding soil.
- Dry wells should be protected from construction **site runoff** to prevent clogging.
- Dry well use is restricted by concerns of **site** feasibility, soil types, clogging, seasonally high **groundwater**, and bedrock.

For additional design considerations for dry wells, the **Illinois Urban Manual** practice standard is available on-line at: <u>http://aiswcd.org/IUM/standards/urbst847.html</u>.

Bio-retention System

Bio-retention systems consist of landscaped areas that are designed to intercept, infiltrate, and store **stormwater runoff** from the **site**. A permeable soil layer allows **stormwater runoff** to infiltrate to a layer of coarse aggregate, where **stormwater** can be stored in the void space of the stone. Bio-retention systems provide surface storage (between the ground elevation and the elevation of the overflow grate), storage in the void space of the growing media, and storage in the void space of aggregate.



Figure 5.15. Typical Cross-section for Bio-retention System

- Bio-retention Systems are commonly located in parking lot islands or as small pockets within residential land uses.
- **Runoff** can be drained to Bio-retention Systems using curb cuts or wheel stops.

- They must be sized and designed based on **drainage area**, soils, and the **volume control storage**.
- Generally, a one- to three-foot gravel layer wrapped in a woven geotextile provides temporary **stormwater** storage. However, this may vary depending on the amount of storage needed to meet the volume control requirement.
- Mix should be 50% sand, 30% organic (e.g. aged composted leaf mulch), 20% high quality topsoil (minimal clay content). Several District mixes, which vary by the underlying soil type, are also acceptable and consist of the following:

Mix-1, for Area Where Native Soil is Clay 50% sand, 50 % **District** composted biosolids or any other compost (Incorporate in top 4-inches)

<u>Mix-2, for Areas Where Native Soil is Sandy</u> 40% top soil, 60% **District** composted biosolids or any other compost (Incorporate in top 4-inches)

<u>Mix-3, for Areas Where Native Soil is Loamy</u> 25 % Sand, 75 % **District** composted biosolids or any other compost (Incorporate in top 4-inches)

- The mulch layer should consist of shredded hardwood mulch (commercial), **District's** unscreened composted biosolids, or another non-floating mulch.
- During smaller **storm events**, **runoff** filters through the mulch and prepared soil mix is collected in a perforated underdrain and returned to the storm drain system. **Runoff** from larger storms is generally diverted past the bio-retention system to the **storm sewer** system.
- Additional design details are available on-line at: <u>http://www.stormwatercenter.net/</u>.



Figure 5.16. Root Systems of Grass and Prairie Plants (Source: Heidi Natura, CRI, 1995).

Water Reuse Systems

Water reuse systems consist of structures that are designed to intercept and temporarily store stormwater runoff. These systems are beneficial because they capture stormwater runoff and allow it to be used for irrigation, which promotes infiltration of that stored water following a storm event. If a storage system does not contain a water reuse application, it does not qualify as a volume control practice since there is no infiltration.



Figure 5.17. Typical Water Reuse System (Stormwatersmart.org, 2015)

Water reuse systems can either be above-ground or underground, and may be gravity-drained or pump-evacuated. A typical underground water reuse system is shown as Figure 5.17. There are several common variations of these systems available that include:

- Rain barrels
- Rain cisterns (above-ground and underground)
- Underground storage (tanks, vaults, or other manufactured products)

- Water reuse systems are commonly used to intercept and store stormwater runoff from rooftops, but can be designed with other areas such as parking lots.
- Placement of water reuse system in the up-gradient portions of a site may eliminate or reduce the need for pumping.
- An overflow pipe must be provided to bypass large storm events through the system.

- To ensure that the storage is available for the next storm event, the system should be designed so that it completely drains within 72 hours. If a low-flow pump is used to dewater the facility, an operation plan should be provided that follows this dewatering schedule.
- Overflow conditions should be considered when prescribing an offset from building foundations. The minimum setback for water reuse systems should be 10 feet from the nearest building foundation (unless waterproofed).
- Pretreatment measures for water reuse systems consist of screens and/or trash racks to filter debris from incoming stormwater runoff.

Green Roofs

A green roof is a conventional rooftop that includes a covering of vegetation which allows it to act like a pervious surface instead of an impervious one. There are two types of green roofs: intensive and extensive. Extensive green roofs involve a shallow growing medium layer (typically four inches or less) and therefore support plants with shallow root systems, such as herbs, grasses, moss, and sedum. Intensive green roofs include a deeper growing medium layer (typically between 4 and 12 inches) that can support plant species with deeper root zones, including trees and shrubs. Intensive green roof systems are generally limited to flat roofs and require significantly more maintenance than extensive green roof systems.

The overall thickness of a green roof may range anywhere from two inches to 12 inches, and consists of multiple layers that include: planting layer (native vegetation), growing medium layer, geotextile fabric, drainage layer, insulation, membrane protection and root barrier, and structural supports. An example cross-section of a green roof is provided as Figure 5.18 below.



Figure 5.18. Typical Green Roof Cross-section (Source: City of Chicago, 2014).

Green roofs provide runoff storage volume in the void space of both the growing medium layer and the drainage layer. Therefore, the runoff volume reduction potential of a green roof is a function of the thickness of its growing medium and drainage layers. Table 5-9 provides a summary of the curve number and available volume control storage for a variety of media thicknesses. For calculating volume control storage, a void ratio of 0.25 should be used for the growth medium layer and also the drainage layer (typically pea gravel).

Media Depth* (inches)	Void Ratio	Reduced CN	Reduced Runoff Coefficient, C	Volume Control Storage (ft ³ /ft ² of Green Roof)
0		98	0.90	
2	0.25	94	0.83	0.042
4	0.25	90	0.74	0.083
6	0.25	85	0.66	0.125
9	0.25	79	0.54	0.188
12	0.25	72	0.40	0.25
>12	0.25	63	0.10	>0.25

Table 5-9. Summary of Curve Numbers and Volume Control Storage for Green Roofs

*Media Depth includes growing medium layer and drainage layer

- Roofs with slopes greater than 45° are typically not suitable for a green roof system.
- Careful attention and additional maintenance are necessary during the first two growing seasons to ensure establishment and proper function as a volume control system.

- Access should be considered for ease of inspection and maintenance.
- The load-bearing capacities of green roofs must be verified by a licensed structural engineer and architect (design plans must be sealed by either). Roof structure must be able to support snow loads in addition to green roof loading.
- A minimum setback of two feet is required from the roof perimeter and all roof penetrations (e.g. water connections, building parts for the usage of roof area, etc.)
- Growth media should consist of 80% lightweight inorganic materials and 20% organic matter.
- Native plants should be selected according to ASTM E2400-06, *Guide for Selection, Installation and Maintenance of Plant for Green (Vegetated) Roof Systems.*
- If vegetation consists of drought-resistant plants, irrigation is usually only necessary during the plant establishment period. Otherwise, an irrigation system is a typical component of a green roof system (water reuse system may be used for irrigation).
- Pretreatment measures are not required for green roof systems.

Filter Strip

Filter strips are vegetated sections of land that treat sheet flow from adjacent **impervious areas**. Filter strips are beneficial because they remove pollutants from **stormwater** before they reach the receiving **storm sewer** system. Filter strips may provide some reduction in **stormwater runoff** volume, but their primary function is to filter out contaminants in **stormwater runoff**. Since they do not provide any quantifiable storage, the use of filter strips is appropriate as a **flow-through practice** only.



Figure 5.19. Illustration of a Filter Strip

Design Considerations:

- Filter strips are suitable for draining areas that are five acres or less.
- The minimum length of the filter strip may be determined by the type of vegetative cover, permeability of the soil present, and slope of the filter strip. In general, filter strips should be no less than 30 feet in length and should not exceed 100 to 150 feet in length, as sheet flow will concentrate and cause **erosion**.
- Longitudinal slopes for filter strips should be between 2 and 5%, but can be up to 10%. The slope should be uniform throughout the strip to maintain sheet flow.
- Since concentrated flows entering a filter strip can cause **erosion**, a level spreader may be required at the top of the slope.

For additional design considerations, the **Illinois Urban Manual** practice standard is available on-line at: <u>http://aiswcd.org/IUM/standards/urbst835.html</u>.

Vegetated Swale

Vegetated swales are shallow earthen channels that are designed to slow **stormwater runoff** and promote infiltration. Similar to filter strips, vegetated swales intercept **stormwater runoff** from nearby **impervious areas**. Their primary function is to filter pollutants and **sediment** from **stormwater runoff**. Since they do not provide any quantifiable storage, the use of vegetated swales is appropriate as a **flow-through practice** only.

Vegetated swales may be combined with non-infiltration related storage volume to provide the required **volume control storage**. For example, an underground concrete vault (concrete bottom) may be used to provide the one inch of volume over the proposed **impervious area**. The vault may be pump-evacuated to a **flow-through practice** (such as a vegetated swale) to treat the volume. For configurations such as these, the storage volume component of volume control is provided in the vault, while the infiltration and pollutant removal component is provided in the **flow-through practice**. These facilities must be operated and maintained in a manner that maximizes the availability of the provided storage volume.



Figure 5.20. Typical Cross-section for Vegetated Swale

Design Considerations:

- Vegetated swales can be applied in most development situations with few restrictions. They are well-suited to treat highway or residential road stormwater runoff due to their linear nature.
- They must be sized and designed based on **drainage area**, soils, and the **volume control storage**.
- To maximize the wetted perimeter, side slopes of 4:1 or flatter are recommended. Side slopes should not exceed a 3:1 ratio.
- Longitudinal channel slopes should range from as close to zero as drainage permits to 4%. Slopes greater than 4% can be used if check **dams** are used to reduce flow velocity.
- Additional design details are available on-line at: <u>http://www.stormwatercenter.net/</u>.

Example 5.5 – Calculation of Required Volume Control

A five acre commercial area is proposed in a **combined sewer area** with the land use described below. The required volume control is to be provided by a permeable parking lot. The average surface elevation is at 636.0 feet and the **groundwater** elevation has been determined to be at 631.0 feet.

- Area of **building** = 2.3 acres
- Area of permeable parking lot = 1.5 acres
- Area of dry-bottom detention pond = 0.3 acres
- Landscaping = 0.9 acres

- Volume of voids in the stone below the permeable pavement is 36%
- Depth of permeable paver and settling base = 9 inches
- Infiltration rate of underlying soil = 0.3 inches/hour

The required **volume control storage**, V_c, is calculated as follows:

$$V_c = 2.3 \text{ acres } x = \frac{43,560 \text{ ft}^2}{\text{acre}} x 1'' \text{ runoff } x = 8,349 \text{ ft}^3$$

Note that the permeable pavement is not included in the **impervious area** calculation.

The first step is to calculate the volume that is provided in the 2-inch (minimum) offset between the bottom of the facility and the invert of the underdrain, over the 1.5-acre parking lot. The void space storage in this location is credited at 100%, and is calculated by the following:

2 inches x
$$\frac{1 \text{ ft}}{12 \text{ inches}}$$
 x 1.5 acre x $\frac{43,560 \text{ ft}^2}{1 \text{ acre}}$ x 0.36 = 3,920 ft³

Therefore, a storage volume of 4,429 ft³ must be provided above the underdrain invert (8,349 ft³ – 3,920 ft³). Since the storage volume in this location is only credited at 50%, the required volume and depth of stone above the underdrain invert can be calculated by:

$$\frac{4,429 \text{ ft}^3}{0.36 \times 0.50} = 24,606 \text{ ft}^3 \qquad \text{x} \quad \frac{1}{1.5 \text{ acre}} \qquad \text{x} \quad \frac{1 \text{ acre}}{43,560 \text{ ft}^2} = 0.38 \text{ ft}$$

Since the required depth of stone is now known, the design can be checked against the site constraints and WMO requirements:

Depth to the bottom of stone:

Depth from the bottom to groundwater:

634.70 ft – 631.0 ft = 3.70 ft
$$\rightarrow$$
 OK > 3.5 ft

See Figure 5.21 below for the configuration of the proposed permeable pavement parking lot, as determined in Example 5.5.



Figure 5.21. Configuration of Volume Control Storage for Example 5.5

While this design provides the required **volume control storage** and satisfies the WMO offset requirements for **groundwater**, there are several alternative designs that could also work. Since the void storage below the underdrain invert is credited at 100%, the offset from the bottom could be increased (instead of the minimum 2 inches) to provide more **volume control storage**. This would reduce the depth of stone needed above the underdrain invert. Alternatively, the depth of stone could also be reduced by expanding the area of the permeable pavement parking lot.

Other Design Requirements:

- Because the infiltration rate of the existing soils is less than 0.5 inches/hour, an underdrain must be provided for the storage. The underdrain must be offset a minimum height of 2 inches (0.17 feet), with a maximum allowable offset of 12 inches (1 foot) from the bottom.
- Because this example is located in a **combined sewer area**, the bottom of the volume control storage must be at least 3.5 feet above the seasonal **groundwater** elevation. In **separate sewer areas**, the requirement is 2 feet.
- The permeable pavement storage will need two monitoring wells (1 per 40,000 ft²).
- In this example, the aggregate was assumed to be **IDOT** CA-7. Other aggregate sizes may be used for **volume control practices**, provided that it is crushed, angular stone that is cleaned and washed free of fines. Since the available void space will vary with aggregate size, extra care must be taken in the volume control storage calculations.

• The permeable pavement should be designed to slope towards a drainage structure such as an inlet so overflows can be captured. This structure can also be the structure that the underdrain connects to. Since the only impervious area not draining to the volume control practice is the roof area, no flow-through practice is required.

Technical Guidance Manual 8-1-15

Table 5-10. Summary of Storage Calculations for	r Volume Control Practices			
Volume Control Practice	Void Space of Aggregate ¹	Surface Storage ²	Growing Media ³	
Bioretention Facility	×	×	×	
Bioswale ⁴	×	×	×	
Constructed Wetlands	×	×	×	
Drywell	×			
Green Roof	×		×	
Infiltration Trench	×			
Permeable Pavement	×			
Storage Below Detention Basin Outlet		×		
Vegetated Filter Strip (Flow-Through)				
Water Reuse System		×		

A void ratio of 0.36 shall be used to calculate volume in CA-1 or CA-7 gradations, 0.25 for pea gravel or CA-16 (volume above underdrain credited at 50%)

² Storage calculated using average-end method between surface elevation and elevation of overflow grate/check dam/outlet pipe

³Porosity of 0.25 shall be used to calculate volume in growing media (volume above underdrain credited at 50%)

⁴Surface storage only if check dams are installed

8-1-15 **Technical Guidance Manual**

olume Control Practices	Pretreatment Measures	
sures for V		
Table 5-11. Summary of Pretreatment Me	Volume Control Practice	

Volume Control Practice	Pretreatment Measures
Bioretention Facility	 Level spreader must be installed where runoff enters the facility as shallow concentrated flow to distribute the runoff as sheet flow over the entire facility. Vegetated filter strip, grass-lined channel, or sump must be installed upstream of the facility to filter out settleable particle and floatable materials. Where inflow velocities are greater than 3 ft/s, a vegetated filter strip or rock outlet protection must be installed to prevent erosion and distribute flows across the facility. Vegetated portions of the contributing drainage area must be stabilized.
Bioswale	 Level spreader must be installed where runoff enters the facility as shallow concentrated flow to distribute the runoff as sheet flow over the entire facility. Vegetated portions of the contributing drainage area must be stabilized.
Constructed Wetlands	 Where inflow velocities are greater than 3 ft/s, rock outlet protection should be provided to prevent erosion and distribute the flows into the facility. Vegetated portions of the contributing drainage area must be stabilized. Sediment forebay shall be installed upstream of the facility.
Drywell	 Filter screens must be installed on all roof drains directed toward the facility. For facilities that include inflow pipes, sump and/or trash rack shall be installed at manhole immediately upstream of facility.
Green Roof	 No pretreatment measures required.
Infiltration Trench	 Level spreader must be installed where runoff enters the facility as shallow concentrated flow to distribute the runoff as sheet flow over the entire facility. Vegetated filter strip, grass-lined channel, or sump must be installed upstream of the trench to filter out settleable particle and floatable materials. Where inflow velocities are greater than 3 ft/s, a vegetated filter strip or rock outlet protection should be provided to prevent erosion and distribute flows across the facility. Vegetated portions of the contributing drainage area must be stabilized.
Permeable Pavement	 Vegetated filter strip, grass-lined channel, or sump must be installed upstream of the facility to filter out settleable particle and floatable materials. Vegetated portions of the contributing drainage area must be stabilized.
Storage Below Detention Basin Outlet	 Where inflow velocities are greater than 3 ft/s, rock outlet protection should be provided to prevent erosion and distribute the flows into the facility. Vegetated portions of the contributing drainage area must be stabilized. Sediment forebay shall be installed upstream of the facility.
Vegetated Filter Strip (Flow-Through)	 Level spreader must be installed where runoff enters the facility as shallow concentrated flow to distribute the runoff as sheet flow over the entire facility. Vegetated portions of the contributing drainage area must be stabilized.
Water Reuse System	 Filter screens must be installed on all roof drains directed toward the facility. For facilities that include inflow pipes, sump and/or trash rack shall be installed at manhole immediately upstream of facility.

Article 5. Site Stormwater Management Page 5-56

Impervious Area Reduction for Redevelopment Sites

For **redevelopment sites**, where **volume control practices** are not feasible due to **site** limitations (contaminated soils, high **groundwater** table, close proximity to wells, etc.) a reduction in existing **impervious area** may be permitted. This strategy relies on several techniques to reduce the total area of rooftops, parking lots, streets, sidewalks and other types of impervious cover created at a **development site**. The basic approach is to reduce each type of impervious cover by downsizing the required minimum geometry specified in current local codes, keeping in mind that there are minimum requirements that must be met for fire, snowplow, and school bus operation. In many communities, local codes may need to be changed to allow the use of this group of better **site** design techniques.

The WMO (§503.3.C) states that for **redevelopments**, a proportionate reduction in existing **impervious area** is required for retention of any portion of the **volume control storage** that cannot be addressed using **volume control practices**. To utilize this provision, the applicant must:

- 1. Demonstrate that **site** limitations prevent the use of **volume control practices** to retain the **volume control storage** in full; and
- 2. Provide the **volume control storage** onsite to the maximum extent practicable.

For **developments** that satisfy the above requirements, for every 5% of **impervious area** that is reduced onsite, the **volume control storage** may be reduced by 25%. To satisfy the full **volume control storage** requirements, the **site's impervious area** would have to be reduced 20% from existing conditions.

Demonstration of Redevelopment Site Limitations

If the redevelopment site can retain a portion of the volume control storage, then volume control practices must be provided. For any portion of the volume control storage that cannot be retained on site, then soil data, groundwater data, and other site design limitations, such as zoning requirements, must be included in the Watershed Management Permit submittal. The information provided must demonstrate why a portion of the volume control storage cannot be retained and infiltrated or treated with a flow-through practice.

Volume Control Storage Credit for Volume Control Practices

As stated in the WMO (§503.3.C), the required **detention facility** volume can be reduced by the **volume control storage** provided onsite. To ensure that the **detention facility** and outlet control **structures** are appropriately sized for the 100-year, 24-hour **runoff** volume, the **volume control storage** credit is provided as a reduction in the overall curve number (CN) of the developed **site**. The following steps outline the CN reduction methodology: For a given **watershed** (site) with area, A_W , stormwater storage is required using the **NRCS** procedure and is also required to provide a volume of infiltration storage equal to or greater than 1 inch over the **impervious area**, A_I , of the **development**. This procedure was developed to reflect the volumetric reduction in the **runoff** hydrograph for the **site** area (A_W).

The **NRCS runoff** equation is:

$$R_{\rm W} = \frac{(P - 0.2S)^2}{(P + 0.8S)}$$

Where,

 $R_W = runoff depth (in) from Area, A_W$

P = rainfall depth used to calculate **runoff** (in),

S = potential maximum retention after **runoff** begins (in), and is calculated by:

$$S = \frac{1000}{CN_W} - 10$$

Where,

 $CN_W = runoff$ curve number for the watershed

The volume of **runoff** (acre-feet), V_w, from **watershed** A_w can then be calculated by:

$$V_{W} = \frac{A_{W}}{12} \times R_{W}$$

The total volume of **runoff** from the **site** can be reduced by the volume control required and the extra **green infrastructure** volume that may be provided:

$$V_{ADJ} = V_W - V_R - V_{GI}$$

where,

V_{ADJ} = adjusted **runoff** volume from **site** (acre-feet)

V_R= volume of **volume control storage** (one-inch over **impervious area** of **development**)

 V_{GI} = volume of green infrastructure provided in addition to the required one-inch

This reduced volume of **runoff** can be reflected in an overall reduction to the CN used in detention basin sizing by using:

$$\frac{V_{ADJ}}{A_{W}} = R_{ADJ} = \frac{(P - 0.2S)^{2}}{(P + 0.8S)}$$

Since R_{ADJ} is known, and P = 7.58 inches for the 100-year, 24-hour **storm event**, we can solve for S, which then translates to the adjusted CN. The adjusted curve number (CN_{ADJ}) is then used to calculate the required detention volume for the **site**.

Example 5.6 – Calculation of Volume Control Storage Credit (CN Reduction) For a 10-acre proposed residential area with a developed CN of 78, and 3 acres of **impervious area**, find the revised CN resulting from the one-inch volume control provisions of the WMO.

The future 100-year **runoff** volume for the proposed **development** without volume control can be calculated using the **NRCS runoff** equation.

$$R_{W} = \frac{(7.58 \text{ in}-0.2\text{ S})^{2}}{(7.58+0.8\text{ S})}$$

$$S = \frac{1000}{78} - 10 = 2.82 \text{ in}$$

$$R_{W} = \frac{(7.58 \text{ in} - (0.2)(2.82 \text{ in}))^{2}}{7.58 \text{ in} + 0.8(2.82 \text{ in})}$$

Rw = 5.00 inches

The total volume is therefore:

$$V_W = \frac{R_W}{12} \times A_W = \frac{5}{12} \times 10 \text{ acres} = 4.17 \text{ acre-feet}$$

The volume associated with the total impervious area that must be stored is:

$$V_R = 3 \text{ acres} x \frac{1 \text{ in}}{12} = 0.25 \text{ acre feet}$$

For this example, V_{GI} =0, so the adjusted **runoff** volume is:

$$V_{ADJ}$$
 = 4.17 acre-feet – 0.25 acre feet = 3.92 acre-feet

And therefore:

12 x
$$\frac{V_{ADJ}}{A_W} = \frac{(P - 0.2S)^2}{(P + 0.8S)} = 4.70$$
 in
Since P=7.58 inches:

4.70 inches =
$$\frac{(7.58 \text{ in} - 0.2\text{S})^2}{(7.58 \text{ in} + 0.8\text{S})}$$

Solving this equation iteratively:

S = 3.28, and the adjusted CN,
$$CN_{ADJ} = 75.32$$

The curve number in this example is reduced from 78 to 75.32. This procedure reflects the **stormwater** volume reduction and allows for hydrologic routing through proposed **stormwater** management facilities. To simplify this procedure, an Excel spreadsheet has been provided which reflects the analysis described above. The applicant would only have to provide areas, developed CN and the depth of storage being provided and the reduced CN would be solved for the user. The spreadsheet version of Example 5.6 is shown below.

RUNOFF CURVE NUMBER ADJUSTMENT CALCUL	ATOR				
Site Information:					
Total Site Area, A (ac) =	10		Tota	Impervious Area, A. (ac) =	3
	10				5
Runoff, R (in) =	5.00				
P = rainfall depth (in) =	7.58				
	70				
CN =	/8				
S =	2.82				
Runoff Volume Over Watershed, V _w (ac-ft) =	4.17				
Volume of GI Provided:					
Volume Control Storage, V _R =	0.25	ac-ft	1" of volume	over impervious area	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} =	0.00	ac-ft	Additional vo	blume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} =	0.00	ac-ft	Additional vo	blume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} =	0.00	ac-ft	Additional vo	olume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} = Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ} = V _W - V _R	0.00	ac-ft	Additional vo	olume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} = Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ} = V _W . V _R V _{ADJ} (ac-ft) =	0.00 V _{GI} 3.92	ac-ft	Additional vo	olume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} = Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ} = V _W . V _R V _{ADJ} (ac-ft) =	0.00 V _{GI} 3.92	ac-ft	Additional vo	olume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} = Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ} = V _W . V _R V _{ADJ} (ac-ft) = Adjusted Runoff Over Watershed, R _{ADJ} = <u>V_{ADJ}</u> A _W	0.00	ac-ft	Additional vo	olume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} = Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ} = V _W . V _R V _{ADJ} (ac-ft) = Adjusted Runoff Over Watershed, R _{ADJ} = V _{ADJ} A _W	0.00	ac-ft	Additional vo	olume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} = Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ} = V _W . V _R V _{ADJ} (ac-ft) = Adjusted Runoff Over Watershed, R _{ADJ} = V _{ADJ} A _W R _{ADJ} (in) =	0.00 V _{GI} 3.92 4.70	ac-ft	Additional vo	olume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} = Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ} = V _W .V _R V _{ADJ} (ac-ft) = Adjusted Runoff Over Watershed, R _{ADJ} = V _{ADJ} A _W R _{ADJ} (in) = S _{ADJ} =	0.00 V _{GI} 3.92 4.70 3.28	ac-ft	Additional vo	olume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} = Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ} = V _W · V _R V _{ADJ} (ac-ft) = Adjusted Runoff Over Watershed, R _{ADJ} = <u>V_{ADJ}</u> A _W R _{ADJ} (in) = S _{ADJ} =	0.00 . V _{GI} 3.92 4.70 3.28	ac-ft	Additional vo	olume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} = Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ} = V _W - V _R V _{ADJ} (ac-ft) = Adjusted Runoff Over Watershed, R _{ADJ} = V _{ADJ} A _W R _{ADJ} (in) = S _{ADJ} = Adjusted CN for detention calcs, CN _{ADJ} =	0.00 V _{GI} 3.92 4.70 3.28 75.32	ac-ft	Additional vo Additional vo 	olume over the required 1"	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} = Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ} = V _W . V _R V _{ADJ} (ac-ft) = Adjusted Runoff Over Watershed, R _{ADJ} = V _{ADJ} A _W R _{ADJ} (in) = S _{ADJ} = Adjusted CN for detention calcs, CN _{ADJ} =	0.00 . V _{GI} 3.92 4.70 3.28 75.32	ac-ft	Additional vo Additional vo 	olume over the required 1"	

Volume control facilities that make use of void volume above the invert of an underdrain (and which is reduced by 50%), may take full credit for this void volume toward required detention (at 100%), provided the void volume is tributary to the restrictor.

SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS (§504)

As presented in §504.1 of the WMO, site detention facilities are required for:

- 1. "Residential subdivision development on parcels totaling five acres or more" in size;
- 2. Non-residential or multi-family residential development on parcels totaling three acres or more in size "with new development on the parcel(s) that totals either individually or in the aggregate to more than 0.5 acres after the effective date" of the WMO; and
- 3. Roadway **development** that creates more than one acre of **new impervious area**, where practicable.

Non-residential developments (including those **developments** that have been made exempt from the WMO) will be required to provide **site** detention volume when new **development** to the **site** (any activity or disturbance that affects **runoff**, including the grading of pervious to pervious, or the replacement of impervious on impervious) reaches 0.5 acres in aggregate since the effective date of the WMO. The provision allows existing **non-residential developments** to expand or construct additions before having to provide detention storage.

Allowable Release Rate

The allowable release rate for a development site that discharges to a waterway is (§504.3):

• 0.30 cfs per acre of **development** for the 100-year event.

The calculation of the **allowable release rate** is based on the area of **development** (§504.2). The **allowable release rate** is the maximum allowable **stormwater** discharge release rate for the entire **development site**. Though the **site detention facility** release rate may be impacted by the presence of existing **depressional storage** or **unrestricted flow** within the **development**, the **site** maximum **allowable release rate** is 0.30 cfs per acre. §504.4 states that the release rate from the **site detention facility** plus the flowrate from any **unrestricted flow** areas must not exceed the **allowable release rate** for the **development**.

Allowable release rate for the 100-year event:

Q_{Allowable_(100-year)} (cfs) = 0.30 cfs/acre x A_{Development} (acres)

Where: $Q_{Allowable_{(100-year)}}$ = the **allowable release rate** for the 100-year event

in cubic feet per second (cfs)

A_{Development} = the area of the **site development** (acres)

Existing Depressional Storage

§504.5 requires that the **allowable release rate** be reduced to reflect the retention provided in existing **depressional storage** areas. For **sites** where **depressional storage** exists and where the existing **runoff** rate for the **development** is less than the **allowable release rate** provided in §504.3, the **allowable release rate** must be reduced to the existing 100-year **runoff** rate for the **development**. The required detention volume for the **site** must be calculated using the existing **runoff** rate for the **development site**. The existing **runoff** rate must in turn be calculated using event hydrograph methods that account for the existing onsite **depressional storage** volume.

Unrestricted Flows

Unrestricted flow is stormwater runoff from a development which is not directed to the detention facility. This is commonly due to the location of the site stormwater facility or sometimes due to topography. The areas generating unrestricted flow are referred to as unrestricted or uncontrolled release rate areas.



Figure 5.22. Unrestricted Flow Area on the Downstream Side of a Proposed Site Detention Facility

Every attempt should be made to direct all **runoff** from the **development site** to the **site detention facility**. Per §504.6, when all **runoff** from a **development** cannot be captured and conveyed to the **site detention facility**, the **unrestricted flow** must be addressed by demonstrating that it does not cause offsite damage. In addition, one of the following methods must be used:

Option 1 – Equivalent Area

Diverting an equivalent upstream **tributary area** where detention is not provided to the **site detention facility** is one option of addressing the **unrestricted flow**. If the **site** has **upstream tributary flows**, this flow can be diverted into the storage basin. Essentially, if **upstream**

tributary flow were to be bypassed through the **site**, a portion of this flow could be directed to the **site detention facility**. The **site allowable release rate** would remain the same as calculated in §504.3. CN values and time of concentration calculations would include the equivalent upstream **tributary area**. It should be noted that the diversion of equivalent area is only allowed if the property is owned by the applicant. Also, this is not a viable option if there is no offsite area tributary to the project **site**.

Option 2 – Reduction in Release Rate

Reducing the **allowable release rate** for the area that is tributary to the **site detention facility** to compensate for **unrestricted flow** leaving the **site** is another option of addressing this **unrestricted flow**. The **site allowable release rate** would remain as calculated in §504.3, but the **site detention facility** release rate is reduced.

An event hydrograph model run is needed to determine the release rate of the unrestricted area(s). Both the CN and the t_c must be calculated. The CN and the t_c must be specific to the unrestricted area.

Option 3 – Native Planting Conservation Area

Planting the **unrestricted flow** area with native deep-rooted vegetation approved by the **District** is the third option of addressing the **unrestricted flow**. **Unrestricted flow** areas must be placed in an easement and maintained as a **native planting conservation area** in perpetuity. The **allowable release rate** for the **development** must be based on the **development** area tributary to the **site detention facility**.

The **native planting conservation area** within a **development** must be planted and maintained with deep rooted native plants. The proposed plant mix and a landscape plan must be submitted with the **Watershed Management Permit** application. With Option 3, the **site allowable release rate** is re-calculated based on the area of the **development** minus the **unrestricted flow** area. The **site detention facility** release rate would become the **site allowable release rate**.

Site Detention Volume Determination

The **site** detention volume must be sufficient such that the 100-year **allowable release rate** specified in §504.3, or the reduced **allowable release rate** as required in §504.5 (**depressional storage**) and/or §504.6 (**unrestricted flow**), will not be exceeded.

The **site detention facility** volume must be calculated using either an event hydrograph routing method or the nomograph relating percent impervious to required detention volume.

Event Hydrograph Method

The event hydrograph method must be used when:

1. The allowable release rate calculated in §504.3 is adjusted due to site depressional storage;

- 2. The **allowable release rate** calculated in §504.3 is adjusted through Option 2 (§504.6.B(2)) or Option 3 (§504.6.B(3)) due to **unrestricted flow**;
- 3. There is **upstream tributary flow** to the **site** (§504.10); and/or
- 4. There are tailwater conditions on the **site detention facility** outlet **structure**.

The **site detention facility** must be sized such that the 100-year, 24-hour **storm event** release rate will not exceed the **allowable release rate** and the design high water level will be contained within the **site detention facility**. The event hydrograph methodology contained in the *Site Runoff Requirements* section of the **TGM** should be followed.

Detention Volume Nomograph

For simple cases, a detention volume nomograph can be used to determine the required detention volume for the **development**. The nomograph relates detention volume with the reduced CN of a **site** (the overall CN adjusted for the **volume control** storage provided), and is used instead of an event hydrograph method. The detention nomograph is provided as Figure 5.23.

The use of the nomograph is only allowable for the following scenarios:

- The allowable release rate is not affected by existing onsite depressional storage.
- The allowable release rate is not affected by any unrestricted flow.
- There is no **upstream tributary flow** to the proposed **detention facility**.
- There are no tailwater conditions on the proposed **detention facility's** outlet control **structure**.



Figure 5.23. Detention Nomograph

Upstream Tributary Flow

Upstream tributary flow includes **stormwater runoff** or **groundwater** flows from **tributary areas** upstream of a **development site**. The WMO (§504.10) requires that the proposed **site detention facility** be designed to safely convey any upstream flow through the project **site**. Flows from the upstream **tributary areas** to the **site** should be computed under fully developed conditions to ensure the proposed **stormwater facilities** are not undersized. Upstream offsite flows cannot be blocked.

When an **upstream tributary flow** to a **development site** exists, it must be addressed in conjunction with the design of the **site detention facility** by one of the following options:

Option 1 – Bypass Flow

Provide site detention facility volume for the development at the allowable release rate while bypassing upstream tributary flows either (1) around the site to the existing discharge location or (2) through the proposed detention facility. The preferred method is to bypass offsite flows around the site. The bypass flow can be routed around the development via storm sewer or swales and must be designed to convey the 100-year critical duration storm event. If it is not feasible to route offsite flows around the site, the bypass flow may be routed through the proposed detention facility, with the overflow weir/restrictor sized to convey the onsite and offsite 100-year critical duration peak flowrate. In either case, the bypass flow must not result

in an increase in velocities or flows when leaving the proposed **development site** downstream or on adjacent properties. The applicant is responsible for demonstrating that any downstream or adjacent drainage conditions are not exacerbated when compared with pre-development conditions.

The method for bypassing upstream flows through the **site** should be based on the following hierarchy:

- Where possible, the preferred method is to bypass flows around the site. Offsite flows may be routed through the detention facility if the drainage areas meet the requirements of (2) below. If the ratio of offsite to onsite drainage area is greater than 5:1, the upstream flow must be bypassed around the detention facility.
- 2. If the ratio of offsite to onsite **drainage area** is 5:1 or less, the 100-year critical duration peak flowrate from upstream areas should be bypassed through the overflow weir of the **detention facility**.

Whenever offsite flows are routed through the **detention facility**, an analysis of the basin drawdown time must be performed. In cases where the drawdown time is excessive (greater than 72 hours), it is recommended that the upstream **tributary area** is bypassed around the **detention facility**.

Option 2 – Routing Through Site Detention facility

Provide site detention facility volume to accommodate both the runoff for the development and the upstream tributary flow area on the site at the site's allowable release rate. If it is infeasible to route the upstream tributary flows around the site, this alternative would be to route the offsite flows into the site detention facility while providing additional storage volume for the offsite flow. The site detention facility volume will be determined based on the allowable release rate (calculated from the site area excluding the upstream tributary area) and the stormwater runoff from the site area and the upstream tributary area for the 100year, 24-hour storm.

Option 3 – Store the Upstream Tributary Flow

Sufficient **site detention facility** volume can be provided to accommodate **runoff** from the **development** and **the upstream tributary flow** area with a release rate that ensures that no adverse offsite impacts will occur and that a **water resource benefit** is provided. The applicant must consider **runoff** from all **tributary areas** and demonstrate the impacts for 2-year, 10-year, and 100-year **storm events**, at a minimum, using **critical duration analysis** and the methodology provided in §504.9. The minimum **site detention facility** volume required must be based on the **site allowable release rate** as determined in §504.3 and §504.4. The **District** or **authorized municipality** will determine whether the proposed release rate is sufficiently providing a **water resource benefit**.

Design Considerations for the Site Detention Facility

Site detention facilities may be dry-bottom or wet-bottom basin designs. The treatment of the **volume control storage** may be addressed within the basin design. The design of the outlet **structure** and emergency overflow, and the consideration of tailwater conditions are of particular concern, and are discussed below. Numerous other design considerations must also be made. §504.11 requires that the **site detention facility** must:

- 1. Be designed to provide one foot of freeboard (an elevation higher than the **base flood** water level) for the 100-yr, 24-hr storm;
- 2. Be designed to function with a gravity outlet wherever possible;
- 3. Function without human intervention and under tailwater conditions with minimal **maintenance**;
- 4. Provide an overflow **structure** and overflow path that can safely pass a **design runoff rate** of at least 1.0 cfs/acre of **tributary area** to the **site detention facility**;
- 5. Provide side slope **stabilization**;
- 6. Provide earth **stabilization** and armoring with riprap, concrete or other durable material when high erosive forces could lead to soil **erosion** or washout. Examples of where armoring may be required include:
 - a. Storm sewer flared end sections;
 - b. Emergency Overflows; and
 - c. Berms adjacent to streams.
- 7. Be accessible and maintainable; and
- 8. Provide a **maintenance** agreement.

Other design considerations include:

- 1. Above-ground **site detention facilities** should provide access for **maintenance** like riding lawn mowers or a small truck;
- 2. **Site detention facilities** with retaining walls, a ramp will need to be provided for the above mentioned equipment access;
- 3. Above-ground **site detention facilities** should be designed with side slopes of 4-feet horizontal to 1-foot vertical (4:1) for ease of maintenance. The design minimum for side slopes is 3-feet horizontal to 1-foot vertical (3:1);

- 4. Underground facilities should also provide access for maintenance through manholes large enough for the necessary maintenance to be performed, including access ladders. Access is recommended near all storm sewer outlets and inlets to the underground detention system to allow for ease of inspection, maintenance, and debris removal. A minimum of two access points is recommended at opposite ends of the vault for safety, with a minimum of at least one ladder provided egress (e.g. located along a wall with integrated steps).
- Appurtenance rim elevations for stormwater facilities upstream and downstream of the site detention facility must be higher than the base flood level of the site detention facility; and
- 6. When feasible the **site detention facilities** should be constructed and functioning prior to issuance of **building** permits or the operation of **sanitary sewers** for service. Volume control facilities that make use of void volume above the invert of an underdrain (and which have been reduced by 50%), may take full credit for this void volume toward required detention (at 100%), provided the void volume is tributary to the restrictor.
- 7. Volume control facilities that make use of void volume above the invert of an underdrain (and which have been reduced by 50%), may take full credit for this void volume toward required detention (at 100%), provided the void volume is tributary to the restrictor.



Figure 5.24. Critical Elevations for Detention Facilities

As shown in Figure 5.24, the finished floor elevation (or low-entry elevation) for proposed **structures** must be at least one foot above the peak 100-year water surface elevation (WSEL) through the overflow weir. The overflow weir will typically be set at the HWL of the detention basin and sized to convey the peak 100-year onsite and offsite flowrate. The depth of flow in the overflow weir is the peak 100-year WSEL for the **detention facility**, and one foot of freeboard must be provided for adjacent **structures** above this elevation.

Tailwater/Zero Release Rate Conditions

Tailwater conditions occur when a **stormwater facility** discharges to a **floodplain**, depressional area, a poor draining swale, **storm sewers**, or a condition where the HGL for the downstream condition is higher than the outlet of the **site stormwater** management facility.

When tailwater conditions are present, the **allowable release rate** for the **site detention facility** is 0 cfs (zero release rate) until the water level in the facility (the head) exceeds the tailwater elevation. This prevents negative impacts to the downstream condition, as there will be no discharge until the facility outlet can drain. Tailwater conditions may require an increase in the size of the **site detention facility**. The outlet control **structure** should be sized assuming no tailwater conditions, but the volume in the **detention facility** should be determined by the appropriate tailwater conditions. The **site detention facility** may not exceed the **allowable release rate** when the **detention facility** is modeled without tailwater conditions.

Determining the tailwater condition depends upon the type of downstream facility. If the storage facility is discharging into a river or **floodplain**, the **100-year flood elevation** is used as the tailwater condition. If the storage facility is discharging into a depressional area, drainage swale, or **storm sewer** system the applicant should use the highest elevation (**base flood**) as the tailwater elevation. The local governing body may determine that the tailwater elevation may need to be raised or lowered based on local conditions.

Site Detention facility Outlet Structure

The outlet **structure** of the **site detention facility** (restrictor) should be sized using the orifice equation such that the **allowable release rate** is met at the design high water level (HWL) of the **detention facility**. The orifice equation consists of the following:

$$Q = C \times A \times (2gh)^{0.5}$$

Where, Q = discharge rate, in cfs C = orifice discharge coefficient (taken from Figure 5.23) A = orifice area (ft²) g = acceleration due to gravity, 32.2 ft/s² h = head (ft); vertical distance between water surface and center of orifice

The appropriate orifice discharge coefficient, C, should be used based on the restrictor type shown in Figure 5.25. In addition, the head on the orifice should account for any tailwater effects from receiving streams, if applicable.

	Nomina	I Coefficients f	or Orifices (C)*	
	1		2	3
	Projecting Edge Sharp (Borda)	Sharp Edge	Square Edge Thin Wall/Plate	Short Tube Thick Wall/Plate
C Coefficient	0.52	0.	61	0.82
L Length	=1/2d to 1d	<	2d	2 to 3d

Figure 5.25. Orifice Discharge Coefficients (Source: MWRD, 1978)

The outlet control device for **site detention facilities** must meet the following design requirements:

- 1. The outflow control restrictor (including the emergency overflow device) must be located within the property boundary;
- The location of the outflow control restrictor must be clearly shown on a utility site plan drawing and a section detail must be provided; installation must be permanent and durable; there must be no plastic or removable or adjustable gates or systems, or bypass shunts/secondary outlets;
- 3. The outflow control restrictor must be visible and readily accessible for **maintenance** (cleaning/rodding) and inspection;
- 4. Outflow control restrictors must be located on the downstream side of the **structure** for ease of debris clearing;
- 5. The outflow control restrictor must be designed to be self-cleaning;
- 6. Restrictor plates must be of minimum ¼ inch thickness, and shaped to conform to the concrete **structure** wall, with a minimum of four steel anchor bolts screwed with epoxy at least three inches into the wall, with all bolt heads tack welded to the plate;
- Restrictor pipes must be inserted in larger diameter pipes; the restrictor pipe must be a minimum 2-foot long with the annular space over the length filled with non-shrink grout suitable for submergence;
- 8. The outflow control restrictor must have a minimum 4-foot diameter manhole or **structure** of equivalent clearance; and
- 9. Though there is no minimum restrictor size (diameter), **maintenance** increases with smaller diameters. It is recommended that whenever possible, head be reduced; or if there are multiple onsite restrictors, the **site detention facilities** should be combined to

facilitate increasing the restrictor size (where appropriate). If a project entails any restrictor with less than a 4-inch diameter, a letter from the applicant is required acknowledging a more stringent outlet **maintenance** plan, and a letter from the **permittee** is required acknowledging enforcement of the **maintenance** plan. Restrictors less than 4 inches in diameter should be installed with hoods and in a wall with a presump. Another acceptable alternative for restrictors less than four inches in diameter is the use of the City of Chicago's vortex restrictor.

The preferred outlet control structure consists of a center-wall style restrictor configured with a removable hood that prevents debris from clogging the restrictor. Example details for these devices are provided in Appendix C.

Emergency Overflow Structure

The WMO (§504.11.C) requires an overflow **structure** and overflow path for the **site runoff** facility that can safely pass a **design runoff rate** of at least 1.0 cfs per acre of **tributary area**. The **design runoff rate** must be determined in accordance with the methodology for **major stormwater systems**. A properly sized overflow **structure** and overflow path will help protect the **detention facility** from damage should the water level in the facility exceed the one foot of freeboard and direct the overflow downstream to an appropriate location. The overflow **structure** may be set at the high water elevation of the facility but all other elevations surrounding the facility will need to be constructed at least one foot above the high water level in the emergency overflow **structure**. The capacity of the emergency overflow **structure** and overflow path for the **site detention facility** shall be designed by calculating the 100-year critical duration peak onsite and offsite flowrate to the **detention facility**. The design flowrate should be based on the 100-year critical duration flowrate, or 1.0 cfs/acre of **tributary area**, whichever is higher.

$$Q_{Overflow}$$
 (cfs) = 1.0 cfs/acre x $A_{Tributary}$ (acres)

Where: $Q_{Overflow}$ is the minimum overflow structure capacity $A_{Tributary}$ is all of the area tributary to the site detention facility,including the development site and upstream tributary flow directedto the site detention facility

The overflow weir for the **site detention facility** should be sized using the weir equation:

$$Q = C \times L \times H^{3/2}$$

Where, Q = flowrate (cfs) C = weir coefficient (assume = 3.0) L = length of weir (ft) H = head on weir (ft) The following examples provide sample calculations for the sizing and design of a **detention facility** for several scenarios that range from simple to complex.

Example 5.7 – Simple Detention (Nomograph Method)

Using the **site** from *Example 5.2*, determine the required detention volume using the detention nomograph. It is assumed that the proposed **site** will provide the required volume control storage in the aggregate voids under the permeable pavement parking lot. It is also assumed there is no offsite **tributary area** or **unrestricted flow** area for the **site**.

As shown in Example 5.2, the curve number for the **site** is 89, with a total **impervious area** (open water and **building**) of one acre. The required volume control storage, V_c , for the **site** is calculated as:

$$V_c = 1 \text{ in } x \frac{1 \text{ foot}}{12 \text{ inches}} x 1 \text{ acre} = 0.083 \text{ acre-feet}$$

Using the CN Adjustment Calculator for the **site** (shown below), the adjusted CN is calculated to be 86.13.

RUNOFF CURVE NUMBER ADJUSTMENT CALCUL	ATOR			
Site Information:				
	2	7		1
Total Site Area, A _w (ac) =	3	4	Total impervious Area, A ₁ (ac) =	1
Runoff, R (in) =	6.28			
P = rainfall depth (in) =	7.58			
CN =	89			
		_		
S =	1.24	4		
Runoff Volume Over Watershed, V _w (ac-ft) =	1.57]		
Volume of GI Provided:				
		-		
Control Volume, V _R =	0.08	ac-ft	1" of volume over impervious area	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} =	0.00	ac-ft	Additional volume over the required 1"	
Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, $V_{ADJ} = V_W V_R$	_V _{GI}			
V _{aDI} (ac-ft) =	1.49			
	-			
Adjusted Runoff Over Watershed, R _{ADJ} = V _{ADJ}				
Aw				
		_		
R _{ADJ} (in) =	5.94			
S=	1.61			
	1.01	4		
Adjusted CN for detention calcs, $CN_{ADJ} =$	86.13			
*Blue values are entered by user				



Using the detention nomograph, 0.23 acre-feet of detention volume is required for every acre of **development**, based on the adjusted CN of 86.13. By multiplying this value times the **development** area of 3 acres, the required detention volume is calculated to be 0.69 acre-feet. It should be noted that although the detention nomograph is allowed to determine the required detention volume, an event hydrograph method must be used to size the overland flow routes in and out of the **detention facility**.

W	ATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACI	LITIES	
Nai	me of Project: Example 5.7		
A.	DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION		
1)	Total parcel area: ^{3.0}	acres	
2)	Total development area on the parcel: 3.0	acres	
B.	SITE VOLUME CONTROL REQUIREM	ENTS	
1)	Existing impervious area of development:	0.25	acres
2)	Proposed impervious area of development:	1.00	acres
3)	Gross volume control storage required (0.083)	X Line B.2): 0.08	acre-feet
4)	Volume control storage allowance. Do site	constraints prevent the use	of retention-based
	practices in full? 🗖 Yes 🗹 No		
	If yes, explain and complete B.4.a, B.4.b, a	and B.4.c	
	a. Percent reduction in impervious area (I	B.1 – B.2)/B.1:	%
	b. Volume control storage allowance (Lin	ne B.4.a/5%)(0.25)(Line B.3)	
	acre-feet		
		al muchicas	nora foot
	c. Volume control treated by a flow throu	ign practice:	acre-reet
5)	c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (Line B.3 – Line B.4.b	– Line B.4.c)
5)	c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08acre-feet	Line B.3 – Line B.4.b	– Line B.4.c)
5) 6)	c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be grad	(Line B.3 – Line B.4.b) eater than line B.5) : 0.08	– Line B.4.c) acre-feet
5) 6)	c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be gree	(Line B.3 – Line B.4.b) eater than line B.5) : 0.08	acre-feet
5) 6) C.	c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be gre SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS	Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) : 0.08	acre-feet
 5) 6) C. 1) 	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green storage provided (must be green storage) SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of the storage) 	Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) : 0.08	acre-feet
5) 6) C. 1)	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green storage provided (must be green storage) SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Reservoir) 	Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) : 0.08 one)	acre-feet
5) 6) C. 1)	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green storage provided (must be green storage) SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check storage) C Reservoir C Reservoir C Parking Lot 	Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) :0.08 one) □ Other Specify	acre-feet
5) 6) C. 1)	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green storage provided (must be green storage) SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check storage) C Reservoir C Reservoir C Parking Lot C Offsite Facility 	Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) :0.08 one) □ Other Specify	acre-feet
5)6)C.1)	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Reservoir Reservoir Parking Lot Offsite Facility Location 	Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) :0.08 one) □ Other Specify	acre-feet
5)6)C.1)	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Reservoir Reservoir Parking Lot Offsite Facility Location 	Ign practice: [Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) :0.08 one) □ Other Specify	acre-feet
 5) 6) C. 1) 2) 	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Reservoir Reservoir Parking Lot Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination 	Ign practice: [Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) :0.08 one) ☐ Other Specify	acre-feet
 5) 6) C. 1) 2) 	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Reservoir Parking Lot Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination A) Existing conditions 100-year runof 	The B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) :0.08 one) ☐ Other Specify Frate for the development:	acre-feet
 5) 6) C. 1) 2) 	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be grassing SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Reservoir Parking Lot Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination A) Existing conditions 100-year runof (if the development contains depression) 	Ign practice:	acre-feet
 5) 6) C. 1) 2) 	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Reservoir I Parking Lot S Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination A) Existing conditions 100-year runof (if the development contains depresent) 	Ign practice:	acre-feet
 5) 6) C. 1) 2) 	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Reservoir I Parking Lot S Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination A) Existing conditions 100-year runof (if the development contains deprese B) Gross allowable release rate: 	Ign practice: [Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) : one) □ Other Specify f rate for the development: ssional storage) 0.90 cfs	acre-feet
 5) 6) C. 1) 2) 	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Parking Lot S Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination A) Existing conditions 100-year runoff (if the development contains depress B) Gross allowable release rate: (lesser of Line C.2.A or 0.30 x Line) 	Ign practice: [Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) : one) □ Other Specify f rate for the development: ssional storage) 0.90 cfs ne A.2)	acre-feet
 5) 6) C. 1) 2) 	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be green SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Parking Lot Parking Lot Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination A) Existing conditions 100-year runof (if the development contains deprese B) Gross allowable release rate: (lesser of Line C.2.A or 0.30 x Line C) Unrestricted release rate: 	Ign practice: [Line B.3 – Line B.4.b eater than line B.5) :0.08 one) □ Other Specify f rate for the development: ssional storage) 0.90cfs ne A.2) 0.00cfs	acre-feet
 5) 6) C. 1) 2) 	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be grassing SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Parking Lot S Parking Lot S Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination A) Existing conditions 100-year runof (if the development contains depression) B) Gross allowable release rate: (lesser of Line C.2.A or 0.30 x Line C) Unrestricted release rate: (assume 0 cfs if equivalent upstream 	Ign practice:	acre-feet acre-feet cfs cfs
5)6)C.1)2)	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be grassing SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Parking Lot S Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination A) Existing conditions 100-year runoff (if the development contains depression) B) Gross allowable release rate: (lesser of Line C.2.A or 0.30 x Line C) Unrestricted release rate: (assume 0 cfs if equivalent upstream D) Unrestricted native planting area 	Ign practice:	acre-feet acre-feet
 5) 6) C. 1) 2) 	 c. Volume control treated by a flow throu Net volume control storage required (0.08 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be grassing SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check of Reservoir I Parking Lot S Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination A) Existing conditions 100-year runoff (if the development contains depression) B) Gross allowable release rate:	Ign practice:	acre-feet acre-feet

Schedule D Form for Example 5.7 (Page 1 of 3)

7	MO SCHEDULE D		
1	ATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITIES		
	E) Net allowable release rate: 0.9 ct (Line C.2.B – Line C.2.C - Line C.2.D.ii)	fs	
	Detention Volume Determination (Submit calculations for items C.3.A through C.3.H)		
	a. Methodology		
	Nomograph	l in diants around)
		i indicate vers	sion)
	$\Box \text{ HEC-HMS}$		
	$\square \text{ IR-20}$		
	h Composite CN for the development: 89		
	c. Reduced CN for the development: 86.13		
	d. Time of concentration for the development:	15	minutes
	e. Required detention volume at actual release rate:	0.69	acre-feet
	f. Actual detention volume provided at HWL:	0.69	acre-feet
	g. Actual release rate: 0.9 cfs at HWL 7	00.00 ft	(NAVD 88)
	(cannot be greater than Line C.2.E)		
	h. Outlet control structure (provide details and calculate	tions)	
	i. Orifice		
	1. Type: Sharp-edge	-	
	2. Discharge coefficient: 0.61	-	
	3. Diameter: $-\frac{1}{1}$ In 4. Orifice invert elevation 696.00	ft (NAVD 8	8)
	ii Weir		0)
	1. Weir length: 5.0 ft		
	2. Weir invert elevation: 700.00	ft (NAV	D 88)
	UPSTREAM TRIBUTARY AREA		
	Unstream tributary drainage area: 0.00		acres
	A)Ratio of upstream tributary area to development area:	N/A	actes
	B) Composite CN for upstream tributary area:	N/A	
	Dicomposite Civitor upsiteani tributar varea.	N/A	minutes
	C) Time of concentration for upstream tributary area:		cfs
	C) Time of concentration for upstream tributary area: D)100-year peak flowrate for upstream tributary area:	N/A	
	C) Time of concentration for upstream tributary area: D) 100-year peak flowrate for upstream tributary area: E) Detention facility drawdown time:	N/A N/A	hours
	C) Time of concentration for upstream tributary area: D)100-year peak flowrate for upstream tributary area: E) Detention facility drawdown time:	N/A N/A	hours
	C) Time of concentration for upstream tributary area: D) 100-year peak flowrate for upstream tributary area: E) Detention facility drawdown time:	N/A N/A	hours
	C) Time of concentration for upstream tributary area: D)100-year peak flowrate for upstream tributary area: E) Detention facility drawdown time:	N/A N/A	hours

Article 5. Site Stormwater Management Page 5-77

	Watershed Management Po	ermit No. XX-XXXX
WMO SCHEDULE D WATERSHED MANA) AGEMENT FACILITIES	
 Describe bypass system Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharged Weir length:N/A 	m type details: \Box Overflow weir \Box N/A in Orifice invert elevation: arge coefficient: N/A A ft Weir invert elevation:	Restrictor N/A ft (NAVD 88) N/A ft (NAVD 88)
Name John S Signature Smit	Smith h Engineering	TitleProject EngineerDate4/28/14
		PE SEAL
4/14 WMO SCHEE	DULE D – WATERSHED MANAGEMENT FA	ACILITIES PAGE 3 OF 3

Schedule D Form for Example 5.7 (Page 3 of 3)

Example 5.8 – Detention with Unrestricted Releases and Upstream Tributary Area

A proposed 5-acre commercial **development** has a curve number (CN) of 93 (80% impervious) and a time of concentration (t_c) of 15 minutes. Determine the **stormwater** detention volume required for the **site**. Based on **Cook County** one-foot topography, it was determined there are 3 acres of offsite **tributary area** to the project **site**. The offsite **tributary area** has a CN of 89 and a t_c of 12 minutes. The proposed **development** will provide the 1 inch of **volume control storage** in the void space of aggregate under a permeable parking lot. There is a 0.2-acre area with a CN of 74 and a t_c of 10 minutes that will release undetained from the **site**.

<u>Step 1</u>: Using the **Runoff** Curve Number Adjustment Calculator spreadsheet, determine the reduced curve number resulting from the 1 inch of **volume control storage** provided for the **site**.

RUNOFF CURVE NUMBER ADJUSTMENT CALCUL	ATOR			
Site Information:				
Total Site Area, A _w (ac) =	5		Total Impervious Area, A _I (ac) =	4
Runoff, R (in) =	6.75			
P = rainfall depth (in) =	7.58			
		_		
CN =	93	_		
S =	0.75			
		_		
Runoff Volume Over Watershed, V _w (ac-ft) =	2.81			
Volume of GI Provided:				
Control Volume, V _R =	0.33	ac-ft	1" of volume over impervious area	
Additional Volume, V _{GI} =	0.00	ac-ft	Additional volume over the required 1"	
Adjusted Volume Over Watershed, V _{ADJ=} V _{W-} V _F	V _{GI}			
		_		
V _{ADJ} (ac-ft) =	2.48			
Adjusted Runoff Over Watershed, Ross = Voo		_		
R _{ADJ} (in) =	5.95			
	1.60	_		
S _{ADJ} =	1.60	_		
Adjusted CN for detention calcs, CN _{ADJ} =	86.22			
	\sim			
*Blue values are entered by user				

As shown in the above figure, a CN of 86.22 should be used in the **stormwater** detention calculations.

<u>Step 2</u>: Using the adjusted CN for the proposed **development** determined in Step 1, set up a HEC-HMS hydrologic model to determine the required **stormwater** detention volume.

💥 HEC-HMS 3.5 [Z	\MWRDGC\130409\Water\Models	HEC-HI	MS\Example5.7\Example5.7.hms]	X
File Edit View Co	mponents Parameters Compute	Results	Tools Help	
🗋 😂 🖬 🕌	👂 📐 🕁 🗢 🖶 🖬 🕯	Ý 🐳	マ 体 ※ 瞬 回 目 雪	
Example 5.7 Example 5.7 Basin Modes Basin	ssin-1 voir-1 Models fications sta Storage Functions -Storage Functions -Storage Functions ute Results Transform Options		Basin Model [Basin 1] Current Run [100YR24HR]	▲ (1)
Basin Name: Element Name:	Basin 1 Subbasin-1			
Description:				
Downstream:	Keservoir-1			
-Area (MI2)	Nee	1		
Canopy method:	None	-		
Loss Method:	SCS Curve Number	1		
Transform Method:	SCS Linit Hydrograph	1		
Raceflow Methods	-None	1		
			NOTE 10185: Finished computing simulation run "100/R24HR" at time 04Feb2014, 12:08:	33.

In this case, there is one subbasin that represents the project **site** (Subbasin-1) and one storage area that represents the proposed detention pond (Reservoir-1). The subbasin and pond are the components of the *Basin Model*.

The *Meteorological Model* contains the rainfall depth information, which is the 100-year, 24-hour from Table 5-3 (7.58 inches). The *Time-Series Data* contains the time distribution of rainfall, which is the Huff 3rd quartile distribution for the 24-hour storm duration.

For *Subbasin-1*, enter the information for the project **site**:

- Area = 0.00781 square miles (5 acres)
- CN = 86.22 (from CN adjustment calculator spreadsheet) (do not enter % impervious)
- Lag time = 9 minutes (0.6 * t_c)
- SCS CN and Unit Hydrograph Methodology

The stage-storage-discharge relationship for the detention basin is specified under Paired Data. For *Reservoir-1*, a spreadsheet is used to determine the stage-storage-discharge relationship for the proposed **detention facility**.

<u>Step 3</u>: Determine the **allowable release rate** for the **site**, accounting for any unrestricted areas. The **allowable release rate** from the **site** is initially 1.5 cfs (0.3 cfs/acre x 5 acres) but should be adjusted to account for the 0.2-acre undetained area (which was delineated based on the proposed grading plan). The 100-year, 24-hour unrestricted release rate from this area must be calculated using the HEC-HMS hydrologic model. Information for the unrestricted area is provided below:

- Area_{unrest} = 0.00031 square miles (0.2 acres)
- CN = 74
- Lag time = 6 minutes (0.6 * t_c = 10 minutes)

A new subbasin (*Undetained*) must be added to the HEC-HMS model. As shown in the next HEC-HMS screenshot, the undetained area is not routed to the proposed **detention facility**. From the HEC-HMS model, the 100-year, 24-hour unrestricted release rate from the **site** is **0.12 cfs**. The **allowable release rate** for the **site** must be adjusted for the unrestricted release rate by the following:

Maximum allowable release rate - unrestricted release rate = net allowable release rate,

The net allowable release rate = 1.50 cfs - 0.12 cfs = 1.38 cfs

It is assumed that there is no tailwater condition for the **site**. Based on the **site** conditions, it was determined that five feet of depth is possible in the proposed detention basin.

<u>Step 4</u>: Use the orifice equation spreadsheet to size the restrictor. Using the elevationdischarge spreadsheet, a 4.9-inch diameter restrictor is needed to pass the net **allowable release rate** of 1.38 cfs at the HWL of 605 ft.

			c .									
PROPU		NUTTON	3									
ORIFIC	e/weir	STRUCT	URE RA	ting an	ALYSIS							
PROJECT	NAME:	Technical G	uidance Man	iual								
PROJ. NO	.:	13-0409										
DESCRIPT	TION:	Example 5.7										
FILENAME	:	Orifice.xlsx										
DATE:		9-Feb-14										
OUTLET:		ORIFICE #1	4.86	IN. DIA. @	ELEV	600						
		ORIFICE #2	N/A	IN. DIA. @	ELEV	N/A						
		WEIR #1:	N/A	FEET WID	E @ ELEV	N/A						
		WEIR #2:	N/A	FEET WID	E @ ELEV	N/A						
			1	T	1	ſ						
HYDRAUL	IC DIMENS	IONS										
					#1	#2						
ORIFICE A	RFA (ft ²)				0.1288	İ						
	IAMETER (i	n)			4.9							
	ISCHARGE	COFFEICIEN	л		0.61							
ORIFICE F	IFV (ft-NA)	(D88)			600.00							
TAII WATE	R OR CENT	ROID (ft-NAV	(D88)		600.20							
WEIRLEN	GTH (ft)											
WEIR COF	FEICIENT											
WEIR ELE	V (ft_NGVD)					<u> </u>						
					OPIECE ELOW E		A(20H)0.5					
ELEVATIO	N-DISCHAR	GE RELATIO	ONSHIP		WEIR FLOW EQU	ATION: Q = 3.0L(H	0 ¹⁵					
Flevation	Q-orifice #1	Q-orifice #2	Q-weir #1	Q-weir #2	Q-total		1				-)
(feet)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)		OR	IFICE RA		VE		
600.0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1	OIL					
600.5	0.34	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.34	805.0						E
601.0	0.56	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.56							E
601.5	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	8						E
602.0	0.85	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.85	N N						
602.5	0.96	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.96	Z ∞3.0						E
603.0	1.05	0.00	0.00	0,00	1.05	z						E
603.5	1.15	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.15	P #2.0						
604.0	1.23	0.00	0.00	0.00	1 23	5						
604.5	1.31	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.20	비 원 601.0						E
605.0	1.38	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.38							
000.0	1.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	600.0	0.2 0	0.4 0.6	0.8	1.0 1.2	1.4	F
								DISCH	ARGE (cfs)			H
									(/
						1						
	-			-		-					-	

<u>Step 5</u>: Use the elevation-storage spreadsheet to obtain the appropriate relationship to enter into HEC-HMS. For each iteration, the HEC-HMS stage-storage relationship must be revised under *Paired Data* to match the iterated spreadsheet below.

POND:	Propo	sed Detention F	acility	С	enterline Elevation	
JOB NO.		130409		Side Slopes	Orifice Radius:	
PROJECT:		Example 5.7		1	Orifice Coeff:	
FILE:		Storage.xls		4	Weir Elevation:	
DATE:		2/4/2014			Length of Weir	
DA					Weir Coeff	
		1				1
		Are	ea	Average	Incremental	Cummulative
Elevation	INC			Area	Storage	Storage
(ft)		(ft2)	(ac)	(ac)	(ac-ft)	(ac-ft)
600.00		6,080	0.140			
				0.155	0.15	
601.00		7,392	0.170			0.155
				0.186	0.19	
602.00		8,831	0.203			0.341
				0.221	0.22	
603.00		10,399	0.239			0.562
				0.258	0.26	
604.00		12,094	0.278			0.820
				0.299	0.30	
605.00		13,918	0.320			1.118

Using the elevation-storage spreadsheet, iteratively enter the elevation-storage relationship until the proposed basin fills up for the 100-year, 24-hour **storm event**. As shown in the figure below, a volume of 1.12 acre-feet is required for this **site**.

Basin Model [Basin 1] Current Run [100YR24HR]		23
Undetained	Subbasin-1	
Project: Example5. 7 Simulation Run: 100YR24HR Reservoir: Reservoir-1 Start of Run: 01Jan2000, 00:00 Basin Model: Basin 1 End of Run: 03Jan2000, 00:00 Meteorologic Model: 100YR24HR Compute Time: 04Feb2014, 15:11:56 Control Specifications: 24HR Volume Units: IN AC-FT Computed Results Peak Inflow: 3.72 (CFS) Date/Time of Peak Inflow: 01Jan2000, 15:00 Peak Outflow: 1.38 (CFS) Date/Time of Peak Nutflow: 01Jan2000, 18:15 Total Inflow: 5.950 (IN) Peak Storage: 1.12 (AC-FT) Total Outflow: 5.945 (IN) Peak Storage: 605.00 (FT)		Ŧ

From the results of the HEC-HMS analysis for the 100-year, 24-hour **storm event**, the HWL of the proposed **detention facility** is 605.00 ft.

<u>Step 6</u>: Determine the 100-year peak flowrate from offsite and onsite **tributary areas** to the **detention facility**. An emergency overflow weir is needed to safely pass offsite flows, and onsite flows in the event the restrictor becomes blocked. Information for the offsite area is provided below:

- Offsite area = 0.00469 square miles (3.0 acres)
- CN = 89
- Lag time = 7.2 minutes (0.6 * t_c = 12 minutes)

A new subbasin (*Offsite*) is required to determine the peak flowrate of the offsite **tributary area** to the **detention facility** and a *junction (Junction-1)* is required to add the **runoff** hydrographs from the onsite and offsite **tributary areas**. In determining the design flowrate, the <u>unadjusted</u> CN for the **site** should be used. The reduced CN is to be used only for the determination of required detention volume; all other **stormwater** design should be based on the composite CN for the **site**.

A critical duration analysis must be run for the offsite plus the onsite tributary area to determine the 100-year peak flowrate. The overflow weir must, at a minimum, be sized for 1.0 cfs/acre of tributary area, so a check must be done following the HEC-HMS critical duration analysis. The results of the HEC-HMS analysis show that the 1-hour is the critical duration, with a peak flowrate of 37.7 cfs.



37.7 cfs = 4.7 cfs/acre > 1 cfs/acre \rightarrow OK

<u>Step 7</u>: Size the overflow weir so that it can safely pass the 100-year critical duration flowrate from all onsite and offsite **tributary area**.

Using the weir equation,

Q = C x L x H^{3/2} Where, Q = flowrate (31.0 cfs) C = weir coefficient (assume 3.0) L = length of weir (ft) H = head on weir (ft, assume 1 ft)

The weir equation becomes: $Q = 37.7 \text{ cfs} = 3.0 \text{ x L x} (1)^{3/2}$, and solving for L,

L = 12.6 ft, which is the minimum length of weir required to pass the 100-year peak flowrate (with one foot of head) for the onsite and offsite area. In traditional detention basins, the emergency overflow weir is a trapezoidal or rectangular channel set at the HWL of the **detention facility**. It is also acceptable to provide the emergency overflow weir as a wall at the outlet control **structure** (within the manhole). The top of the wall is set to the HWL of the **detention facility**. Details for both types of overflow **structures** are provided in Appendix C. In either case, it must be demonstrated that the emergency overflow weir can safely pass the peak 100-year flowrate for the total **tributary area** (offsite and onsite) coming to the **detention facility**.

W	ATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITIES
INAI	
A.	DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION
1) 2)	Total parcel area: 5.0 acres Total development area on the parcel: 5.0 acres
B.	SITE VOLUME CONTROL REQUIREMENTS
1)	Existing impervious area of development:0.50 acres
2)	Proposed impervious area of development: 4.00 acres
×	practices in full? □ Yes □ No If yes, explain and complete B.4.a, B.4.b, and B.4.c a. Percent reduction in impervious area (B1 – B 2)/B 1:
	b. Volume control storage allowance (Line B.4.a/5%)(0.25)(Line B.3): acre-feet
	c. Volume control treated by a flow through practice:acre-feet
5)	Net volume control storage required (Line B.3 - Line B.4.b - Line B.4.c):
	0.33 acre-feet
6)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B 5): 0.33 acre-feet
6)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33 acre-feet
6) C.	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33 acre-feet SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS
6) C. 1)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33 acre-feet SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one)
6) C. 1)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33 acre-feet SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one) Image: Reservoir Image: Other
6) C. 1)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33 acre-feet SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one) Image: Content in the storage of the storage
6) C. 1)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33 acre-feet SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one) Image: Reservoir Image: Other Image: Parking Lot Specify Image: Offsite Facility Location
 6) C. 1) 2) 	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33 acre-feet SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one) Image: Reservoir Image: Other Image: Parking Lot Specify Image: Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination Storage offsite Facility Image: Other Storage offsite Facility Image: Determination Storage offsite Facility
6)C.1)2)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33 acre-feet SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one)
6)C.1)2)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33acre-feet SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one)
6)C.1)2)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33 acre-feet SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one) Image: Reservoir Image: Other Image: Parking Lot Specify
6)C.1)2)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.33acre-feet SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one)

Schedule D Form for Example 5.8 (Page 1 of 3)

Г

ention Vo bmit calcu a. Me □ □ ■ □ b. Cor c. Rec d. Tin a. Pac	lume Dete lations fo thodology Nomograj Hydrologi Hydrologi HI D TF D W nposite C luced CN	ermination r items C.3.A through C.3.H) oh ic model (select modeling softwa EC-HMS <u>Version 4.0</u> R-20 IN TR-20 N for the development:	are and indicate vo	ersion)
b. Con c. Rec d. Tin	lume Dete lations fo thodology Nomograp Hydrologi HI D TF D W nposite C luced CN	r items C.3.A through C.3.H) oh ic model (select modeling softwa EC-HMS Version 4.0 R-20 IN TR-20 N for the development:	are and indicate v	ersion)
a. Me □ 1 ■ 1 b. Con c. Rec d. Tin	thodology Nomograp Hydrologi I HI TF W W nposite C luced CN	c model (select modeling softwa EC-HMS <u>Version 4.0</u> R-20 <u></u> IN TR-20 <u></u> N for the development: <u></u>	are and indicate ve	ersion)
b. Con c. Rec d. Tin	Nomograp Hydrologi Hydrologi TH TF W Nposite C luced CN	oh ic model (select modeling softwa EC-HMS Version 4.0 R-20 IN TR-20 N for the development:	are and indicate v	ersion)
b. Con c. Rec d. Tin	Hydrologi Hydrologi HI TF W Nposite C luced CN	ic model (select modeling softwa EC-HMS <u>Version 4.0</u> R-20 IN TR-20 N for the development:	are and indicate vo	ersion)
b. Con c. Rec d. Tin	■ HI □ TF □ W mposite C luced CN	EC-HMS Version 4.0 R-20 IN TR-20 N for the development:	93	
b. Cor c. Rec d. Tin	TF TF W nposite C luced CN	R-20 IN TR-20 N for the development:	93	
b. Coi c. Rec d. Tin	□ W nposite C luced CN	IN TR-20 N for the development:	93	
b. Con c. Rec d. Tin	nposite C luced CN	N for the development:	93	
c. Rec d. Tin	luced CN			
d. Tin	luccu CIV	for the development.	86.22	
o Por	ne of conc	entration for the development:	15	minutes
e. Rec	uired det	ention volume at actual release ra	ate: 1.12	acre-feet
f. Act	ual detent	tion volume provided at HWL:	1.12	acre-feet
g. Act	ual releas	e rate: 1.38 cfs at HW	′L 605.00	ft (NAVD 88)
(car	not be gr	eater than Line C.2.E)		
h. Out	let contro	l structure (provide details and c	alculations)	
	i. Orific	ce		
	1.	Type: Sharp-edge		
	2.	Discharge coefficient: 0.61		
	3.	Diameter: <u>4.86</u> in		
	4.	Orifice invert elevation 60	0.00 ft (NAVD	988)
	ii. Weir	126 0		
	1.	Weir length: 12.6 ft	605.00 C O L	VD 00
	2.	Weir invert elevation:	ft (NA	AVD 88)
STREAM	TRIBU	ΓARY AREA		
stream trib	utary drai	nage area: 3.00	0	acres
Ratio of up	stream tri	butary area to development area	: 0.6	
Composite	CN for u	pstream tributary area:	89	
Time of co	ncentratic	on for upstream tributary area:	12	minutes
00-year p	eak flowr	ate for upstream tributary area:	37.7	cfs
Detention f	facility dra	awdown time:	36	hours
	(car h. Out STREAM Stream trib Ratio of up Composite Fime of co 100-year po Detention f	(cannot be gr h. Outlet contro i. Orific 2. 3. 4. ii. Weir 1. 2. STREAM TRIBUT stream tributary drai Ratio of upstream tri Composite CN for u Time of concentratio 100-year peak flowra Detention facility drai	<pre>(cannot be greater than Line C.2.E) h. Outlet control structure (provide details and c i. Orifice</pre>	(cannot be greater than Line C.2.E) h. Outlet control structure (provide details and calculations) i. Orifice 1. Type: Sharp-edge 2. Discharge coefficient: 0.61 3. Diameter: 4.86 in 4. Orifice invert elevation 600.00 ft (NAVD) ii. Weir 1. Weir length: 12.6 ft 2. Weir invert elevation: 605.00 ft (NAVD) stream tributary drainage area: 3.00 Ratio of upstream tributary area to development area: 0.6 Composite CN for upstream tributary area: 89 Time of concentration for upstream tributary area: 12 100-year peak flowrate for upstream tributary area: 36

Schedule D Form for Example 5.8 (Page 2 of 3)

Watershed Management Permit No. XX-XXXX WMO SCHEDULE D
 WATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 2) Describe bypass system type details: ■ Overflow weir □ Restrictor Orifice diameter: N/A in Orifice invert elevation: N/A ft (NAVD 88) Orifice type and discharge coefficient: N/A Weir length: 12.6 ft Weir invert elevation: 605.00 ft (NAVD 88)
NameJohn SmithTitleProject EngineerSignatureDate4/28/14Engineering FirmSmith Engineering
PE SEAL
4/14 WMO SCHEDULE D – WATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITIES PAGE 3 OF 3

Schedule D Form for Example 5.8 (Page 3 of 3)

Example 5.9 – Detention Ponds in Series with Tailwater

As shown in the figure below, the required detention volume for a proposed 10-acre commercial **development** will be provided in two detention basins in series. Based on **Cook County** one-foot topography, there is no offsite **tributary area** to the project **site**. However, Detention Basin 2 will discharge to a receiving stream with a **100-year flood elevation** of 699 feet. Based on the proposed grading plan, the **site** is separated into two subbasins. Determine the requirements of the two detention basins based on the WMO and **TGM**.



<u>Subbasin 1</u> Area = 0.009375 square miles (6 acres) **Impervious Area** = 2.25 acres Curve Number = 92 Adjusted Curve Number = 88.79 (assumes 1 inch on volume control storage) SCS Lag Time = 9 minutes

<u>Subbasin 2</u> Area = 0.00625 square miles (4 acres) **Impervious Area** = 1.25 acres Curve Number = 88 Adjusted Curve Number = 85.36 (assumes 1 inch on volume control storage) SCS Lag Time = 6 minutes

<u>Step 1</u>: Determine the required storage volumes for each of the proposed detention basins. A HEC-HMS model must be developed for the onsite area that will be detained. As shown in the next HEC-HMS screenshot, Subbasin-1 drains to Reservoir-1, and the outflow of Reservoir-1 then drains into Reservoir-2, along with Subbasin-2.



It is assumed there are no unrestricted areas for the proposed **development**. Therefore, the **allowable release rate** for the **site** is simply determined by 0.30 cfs/acre times the acreage. It should be noted that as long as the release rate at the **site's** outlet (Reservoir-2 outflow) is less than or equal to 3 cfs (0.30 cfs/acre x 10 acres), the proposed detention configuration is flexible. For example, if **site** conditions prevent Reservoir-1 from detaining Subbasin-1 at 0.30 cfs/acre, Reservoir-1 can be sized to underdetain its **tributary area**, so long as Reservoir-2 is oversized to meet the **allowable release rate** for the **site**.

From the proposed grading plan, it is determined that four feet of bounce can be accommodated in the proposed detention basins. The elevations of the **site** allow the following configurations of the detention basins:

<u>Detention Basin 1 (Reservoir-1)</u> Normal Water Level (NWL) = 700 ft High Water Level (HWL) = 704 ft Tailwater Condition = none

<u>Detention Basin 2 (Reservoir-2)</u> Normal Water Level (NWL) = 698 ft High Water Level (HWL) = 702 ft Tailwater Condition = 699 ft (**100-year flood elevation** of receiving stream) <u>Step 2</u>: Using the orifice equation, determine the restrictor size for the proposed detention basins. Since the outflow of the restrictor for Reservoir-2 must be less than or equal to 3.0 cfs, the configuration of the detention basins is flexible as long as the ultimate outflow of the **site** meets this release. The restrictor for Reservoir-1 can release 1.8 cfs at the HWL of 704 ft and the restrictor for Reservoir-2 can release 3.0 cfs at the HWL of 702 ft. From the orifice equation spreadsheet (shown below), a 5.9-inch diameter restrictor is needed to convey 1.8 cfs at the HWL of 704 ft.

PROPO	SED CC	NDITION	S									
ORIFIC	E/WEIR	STRUCT	URE RA	TING AN	ALYSIS							
				_								
PROJECT	NAME:	Example 5.9										
PROJ. NO).:	13-0409										
DESCRIP	TION:	Detention Ba	asin 1									
FILENAM	E:	Orifice.xlsx										
DATE:		9-Feb-14										
OUTLET:		ORIFICE #1	5.9	IN. DIA. @	ELEV	700						
		ORIFICE #2	N/A	IN. DIA. @	ELEV	N/A						
		WEIR #1:	N/A	FEET WID	E @ ELEV	N/A						
		WEIR #2:	N/A	FEET WID	E @ ELEV	N/A						
					# 1	#2		_				
	REA (ft ²)				0.1899							
	MAMETER (ii	ן)			5.9			_				
	SCHARGE		ΙΤ		0.61							
	IEV (ft-NA)	(D88)			700.00			_				
TAILWATE	R OR CENT	ROID (ft-NAV	(D88)		700.25			_				
WEIRLEN	IGTH (ff)		,					_				
WEIR COL	FEICIENT											
WEIR ELE	V (ft-NGVD)											
								_				-
					ORIEICE EL OW E		(2aH) ^{0.5}					
			ONSHIP		WEIR ELOW FOL	ATION: O = 3.01 (H)	1.5 0 ^{1.5}	_				
							,					
Elevation	Q-orifice #1	Q-orifice #2	Q-weir #1	Q-weir #2	Q-total							
(feet)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)			ORIFICE	RATING CL	IRVE		
700.0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	704.0	1				-	
700.5	0.47	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.47	1						
701.0	0.81	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.81	703.0						
701.5	1.04	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.04							
702.0	1.23	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.23	AVI						
702.5	1.40	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.40	Z 702.0				-		
703.0	1.54	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.54	z						
703.5	1.68	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.68	P 701.0						
704.0	1.80	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.80	.VA						
							0.0 0.2 0.4	0.6 0	8 1.0 1.:	2 1.4 1.6	1.8 2	.0
						1		DIS	CHARGE (cfs)		
	1	1		1	1	1		1		1		

<u>Step 3</u>: Using the elevation-storage spreadsheet and solving iteratively, it is determined that 1.40 acre-feet of storage volume is required for Detention Basin 1, as shown in the next HEC-HMS screenshot. For each iteration, the HEC-HMS stage-storage relationship must be revised under *Paired Data* to match the iterated spreadsheet below.

POND:	Propo	sed Detention Fa	cility 1	С	enterline Elevation	
JOB NO.		130409		Side Slopes	Orifice Radius:	
PROJECT:		Example 5.9		1	Orifice Coeff:	
FILE:		Storage.xls		4	Weir Elevation:	
DATE:		2/10/2014			Length of Weir	
DA					Weir Coeff	
		Are	a	Average	Incremental	Cummulative
Elevation	INC			Area	Storage	Storage
(ft)	0.25	(ft2)	(ac)	(ac)	(ac-ft)	(ac-ft)
700.00		11,543	0.265			
				0.285	0.29	
701.00		13,326	0.306			0.285
				0.328	0.33	
702.00		15,237	0.350			0.613
				0.373	0.37	
703.00		17,276	0.397			0.987
				0.421	0.42	
704.00		19,443	0.446			1.408



<u>Step 4</u>: Size the restrictor for Detention Basin 2 so that it releases 3.0 cfs at the HWL assuming full release conditions. As shown below, a 7.7-inch diameter restrictor is needed to convey the **allowable release rate**. However, since there is a tailwater condition on this restrictor, the detention volume must be sized assuming the 100-year tailwater of the receiving stream (699 ft). Therefore, another stage-discharge spreadsheet needs to be developed to determine the outflow assuming the 100-year tailwater of 699 ft.

PROPC	SED CC	NDITION	s									
ORIFIC		STRUCT										
		511(001)										
		Example 5.0										
PROJECT	NAME.	12 0400										
DESCOID	' TION:	Detention Br	ncin 2									
		Orifice view	15111 2									
DATE		0 Feb 14										
DATE.		9-Feb-14										
			7.65		ELEV	609						
OUTLET.		OPIEICE #2	N/A		ELEV	030 N/A						
			N/A			N/A	-					
		WEIR #1.	N/A			N/A						
		WEIN #2.	19/79									
HYDRAUL	IC DIMENS	IONS										
					#1	#2	1					
ORIFICE A	RFA (ft ²)				0.3192							
	MAMETER (i	n)			7.7							
	ISCHARGE	COFFEICIEN	П		0.61							
	IEV (ft-NA)	(D88)			698.00							
TAII WATE	R OR CENT	ROID (ft-NAV	(D88)		698.32							
WEIRLEN	GTH (ft)					1	1					
WEIR COP	FEICIENT											
WEIRELE	V (ft-NGVD)											
		1			<u>u</u>	u						
					ORIFICE FLOW F	QUATION: Q = 0.6	A(2nH) ^{0.5}					
ELEVATIO	N-DISCHAR	GE RELATIO	ONSHIP		WER FLOW FOU	ATION: Q = 3.01 (F	015					
							,					
Flevation	Q-orifice #1	Q-orifice #2	Q-weir #1	Q-weir #2	Q-total		1					
(feet)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)		OF	RIFICERA	TING CUF	RVE		
698.0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	702.0 -						
698.5	0.67	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67							
699.0	1.29	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.29							
699.5	1.70	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.70	8 701.0						
700.0	2.03	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.03							
700.5	2.31	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.31	₹ 700.0						
701.0	2.56	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.56	1 E						
701.5	2.79	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.79	j ≦ _{@20}		_				
702.0	3,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	3.00	T A						
	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	0.00	<u> </u>						
						<u> </u>	0 0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0 2.5	3.0	
								DISCH	ARGE (cfr)			
								Disch				
	1	1	1		1	1				1		

Restrictor for Detention Basin 2 assuming free flow (no tailwater)

PROPC	SED CO	NDITION	s									
ORIFIC	E/WEIR	STRUCT	URE RA	TING AN	ALYSIS							
PROJECT	NAME:	Example 5.9										
PROJ. NO).:	13-0409										
DESCRIPT	TION:	Detention Ba	asin 2									
FILENAME	E:	Orifice.xlsx										
DATE:		9-Feb-14										
OUTLET:		ORIFICE #1	7.65	IN. DIA. @	ELEV	698						
		ORIFICE #2	N/A	IN. DIA. @	ELEV	N/A						
		WEIR #1:	N/A	FEET WID	E @ ELEV	N/A						
		WEIR #2:	N/A	FEET WID	E @ ELEV	N/A						
							-					
HYDRAUL	IC DIMENS	IONS										
					# 1	#2						
ORIFICE A	REA (ft ²)				0.3192							
ORIFICE D	DAMETER (i	n)			7.7							
ORIFICE D	SCHARGE	COEFFICIEN	п		0.61							
ORIFICE E	ELEV. (ft-NA)	/D88)			698.00							
TAILWATE	R OR CENT	ROID (ft-NAV	/D88)		699.00							
WEIR LEN	IGTH (ft)				1							
WEIR COE	EFFICIENT											
WEIR ELE	V. (ft-NGVD))										
						1						
-					ORFICE FLOW E	QUATION: Q = 0.6/	A(2aH) ^{0.5}					
ELEVATIO	N-DISCHAR	GE RELATIO	ONSHIP		WER FLOW EQU	ATION: Q = 3.0L(H	D ^{1.5}					
Elevation	Q-orifice #1	Q-orifice #2	Q-weir #1	Q-weir #2	Q-total							
(feet)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(cfs)		O	RIFICE R	ATING CU	RVE		
698.0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	702.0					_	
698.5	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00							
699.0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00							
699.5	1.10	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.10	6 ^{701.0}						
700.0	1.56	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.56	Ĩ Ĩ				-		
700.5	1.91	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.91	¥ 700.0						
701.0	2.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.21	٤						
701.5	2.47	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.47	S						
702.0	2.71	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.71	E 699.0						
						Ъ.	t I					
						ш _{698.0}						
							0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0 2.5	3.0	
								DISC	HARGE (cfs))
	1		1	1	1	1				1	1	1

Restrictor for Detention Basin 2 assuming tailwater of 699 ft

<u>Step 5</u>: Using the elevation-storage spreadsheet and solving iteratively, it is determined that 1.30 acre-feet of storage volume is required for Detention Basin 2, which allows the basin to fill up to its HWL of 702 ft and release at the **allowable release rate**. Note that when there is a 100-year tailwater on the detention basin, the release rate is only 2.7 cfs. When there is no tailwater condition, the outflow of the detention basin will be no greater than the maximum **allowable release rate** of 3.0 cfs.

POND:	Propos	ed Detention Fa	cility 2	C	enterline Elevation	
JOB NO.		130409		Side Slopes	Orifice Radius:	
PROJECT:		Example 5.7		1	Orifice Coeff:	
FILE:		Storage.xls		4	Weir Elevation:	
DATE:		2/10/2014			Length of Weir	
DA					Weir Coeff	
		Are	ea	Average	Incremental	Cummulative
Elevation	INC			Area	Storage	Storage
(ft)	0.25	(ft2)	(ac)	(ac)	(ac-ft)	(ac-ft)
698.00		10,522	0.242			
				0.261	0.26	
699.00		12,228	0.281			0.261
				0.302	0.30	
700.00		14,061	0.323			0.563
				0.345	0.35	
701.00		16,022	0.368			0.908
				0.392	0.39	
702.00		18,112	0.416			1.300



	Watershed Management Permit No. XX-X	XXX
WI WA	MO SCHEDULE D ATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITIES	
Nar	me of Project: Example 5.9	
A.	DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION	
1) 2)	Total parcel area:10.0acresTotal development area on the parcel:10.0acres	
B.	SITE VOLUME CONTROL REQUIREMENTS	
1) 2) 3) 4)	Existing impervious area of development: 0.38 Proposed impervious area of development: 3.50 Gross volume control storage required (0.083 X Line B.2): 0.29 Volume control storage allowance. Do site constraints prevent the use of retention practices in full?	_acres _acres cre-feet n-based
5)	 a. Percent reduction in impervious area (B.1 – B.2)/B.1: b. Volume control storage allowance (Line B.4.a/5%)(0.25)(Line B.3): <u>acre-feet</u> c. Volume control treated by a flow through practice:acre_feet Net volume control storage required (Line B.3 – Line B.4.b – Line <u>0.29</u>acre-feet 	% re-feet B.4.c):
6)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.29 act	re-feet
6) C.	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.29 act SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS	re-feet
6) C. 1)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.29 act SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one)	re-feet
6) C. 1)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.29 act SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one) Reservoir Parking Lot Specify Offsite Facility Location	re-feet
6)C.1)2)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.29act SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one)	re-feet cfs
6)C.1)2)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.29 act SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one)	re-feet cfs
6)C.1)2)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.29act SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one) Reservoir Other Parking Lot Specify Offsite Facility Location Release Rate Determination A) Existing conditions 100-year runoff rate for the development:N/A (if the development contains depressional storage) B) Gross allowable release rate:3.0 (lesser of Line C.2.A or 0.30 x Line A.2) C) Unrestricted release rate:0.00 (assume 0 cfs if equivalent upstream area is being diverted to the detention	re-feet cfs facility
6)C.1)2)	Volume control storage provided (must be greater than line B.5) : 0.29 act SITE DETENTION REQUIREMENTS Type of stormwater detention facility (check one) Image: Reservoir Image: Other Image: Image: Other Image: Other Image: Image: Image: Image: Other Image: Other Image: Image: Image: Image: Image: Other Image: Image: Other Image: Imag	re-feet cfs facility

Schedule D Form for Example 5.9 (Page 1 of 3)



Schedule D Form for Example 5.9 (Page 2 of 3)
Watershed Management Permit No. XX-XXXX WMO SCHEDULE D
WATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITIES
 2) Describe bypass system type details: □ Overflow weir □ Restrictor Orifice diameter: <u>N/A</u> in Orifice invert elevation: <u>N/A</u> ft (NAVD 88) Orifice type and discharge coefficient: <u>N/A</u>
Weir length: ft Weir invert elevation: N/A ft (NAVD 88)
Name John Smith Title Project Engineer
Signature Date 4/28/14
PE SEAL
4/14 WMO SCHEDULE D – WATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITIES PAGE 3 OF 3

Schedule D Form for Example 5.9 (Page 3 of 3)

Site Detention Facilities within the Floodplain

The WMO (§504.13) allows **site detention facilities** in areas outside of the **regulatory floodway**, but within the **regulatory floodplain** provided that they:

- 1. Conform to all applicable requirements specified in Article 6, and in particular §602.18; and
- 2. Store the **site runoff** from the **development** such that the **allowable release rate** determined in §504.3 and adjusted in §504.5 and/or §504.6 is not exceeded, assuming a zero release rate (0 cfs) below the **BFE**.

Other Requirements

The WMO (§504.15) requires that **site detention facilities** be functional before occupancy permits are issued for residential and **non-residential subdivisions** or before **sanitary sewers** are placed in service. In addition, §504.16 requires that **site detention facilities** shall be functional for **developments** before **building** or road construction begins.

Offsite Facilities

If it is not practicable to provide a **detention facility** onsite, an **offsite detention facility** may be constructed if **all** of the following conditions are met:

- 1. The required **volume control storage** is provided onsite;
- 2. The **co-permittee** demonstrates that **site** limitations prevent the **development** from providing the full volume of the **detention facility** onsite;
- 3. The **parcel** area is less than ten (10) acres;
- 4. **Stormwater** detention is provided in accordance with the following hierarchy:
 - a. Partially onsite in a **detention facility** with supplemental storage offsite in an **offsite detention facility** according to (b), (c) and (d) below;
 - b. Offsite in an offsite detention facility where the development conveys the 100-year storm event to the offsite detention facility;
 - c. Offsite in an **offsite detention facility** in a location that is upstream or hydrologically equivalent to the **development** in the same **subwatershed**; or
 - d. Offsite in an offsite detention facility within the same subwatershed;

As described above, offsite detention is only an option for those **parcels** with areas between 3 acres and 10 acres (detention is not required for **parcels** \leq 3 acres under the WMO), although **parcels** containing the offsite storage can be of unlimited size. When offsite detention is proposed, the **co-permittee** must demonstrate how the hierarchy outlined in (4) was followed for the **development**. An explanation of the navigation through the hierarchy should be included in the narrative in the **stormwater** submittal.

The offsite detention facility must be permitted and functional prior to the permitting of the development that is seeking detention credit. The WMO allows collaboration with either the Cook County Land Bank Authority or the South Suburban Land Bank and Development Authority to facilitate the trading of detention credits. Concurrence of the District or an authorized municipality should be sought prior to the start of the design of an offsite detention facility.

The design of **offsite detention facilities** must comply with the requirements of §500, §501, §502, §503, and §504 of the WMO, and shall not adversely impact upstream or downstream properties as described in §501.1.

Site Detention Exemptions

The WMO (§504.17) exempts certain types of **development** from the **site** detention requirements. Those **developments** that are tributary to Lake Michigan and provide water quality benefits will be exempt from providing **stormwater** detention. Specifically, the **development** must comply with the following conditions, as outlined in the WMO:

- The **development** discharges **stormwater** to a **storm sewer** tributary to Lake Michigan;
- The downstream receiving **storm sewer** has adequate capacity as determined by the governing **municipality**;
- The development complies with the site volume control requirements (WMO §503); and
- The **development** intercepts and treats all **stormwater runoff** onsite to improve water quality prior to discharge from the **development**.

The Lake Michigan water quality structure may be a stormwater treatment train of various BMPS, or may consist of a hydrodynamic separator with a settling or separation unit to remove sediments, hydrocarbons, and other pollutants commonly found in stormwater runoff. There are many manufactured hydrodynamic separation systems available, but the suitability of each type will vary based on the tributary area and stormwater runoff characteristics of each site.

The water quality benefits are satisfied by demonstrating the following stormwater runoff pollutant removal standards:

• 80% Total Suspended Solids (TSS) removal, with TSS defined by the Ok-110 particle size distribution (PSD)

- 80% of free floatable hydrocarbons
- 100% of floating trash and debris

The water quality structure must have the capacity to treat peak flowrate/runoff volume for the 2-year, 24-hour storm event (3.04 inches based on Bulletin 70), which is considered the "first flush" storm event. Additionally, the water quality structure must contain an overflow system that safely bypasses flows in excess of the 2-year, 24-hour design flowrate. A typical detail for a Lake Michigan water quality structure is provided in Appendix C.

<u>ALLOWANCES FOR REDEVELOPMENT & DEVELOPMENT SUBJECT TO A</u> <u>LEGACY SEWERAGE SYSTEM PERMIT (§505)</u>

The WMO separates the **stormwater** detention requirements for **redevelopments** into four categories: (1) the **parcel** that is to be redeveloped includes an **existing detention facility** permitted under the **Sewer Permit Ordinance (SPO)**, (2) the **parcel** was not tributary to an **existing detention facility** permitted under the **SPO**, but will be under proposed conditions, (3) the **parcel** to be redeveloped contains an **existing detention facility** that was permitted under a local **ordinance**, but not under the **SPO**; and (4) the **parcel** that is to be redeveloped does not contain a previously permitted **detention facility** and will not be tributary to one under proposed conditions. For those **redevelopments** that involve **parcels** that were never planned to be tributary to or do not contain an **existing detention facility** permitted under the **SPO** ((4) above), the **redevelopment** must comply with the **stormwater** management requirements described in §500 through §504 of the WMO. As detailed below, the WMO makes allowances for the **redevelopment** of **parcels** that involve previously permitted **existing detention facilities** and can meet certain conditions ((1), (2) and (3) above).

Parcels That Involve Existing Detention Facilities Permitted Under the SPO

For those **redevelopments** that involve an **existing detention facility** that was permitted under the **SPO** ((1) and (2) above), the WMO provides allowances if the following conditions are met:

- 1. Documentation is provided demonstrating the **existing detention facility** was designed, approved, and permitted under the **SPO**. At a minimum, the Schedule D form for the existing **development** must be provided.
- 2. The actual storage volume provided in the **existing detention facility** either meets or exceeds the permitted storage volume and is verified by a recent survey, signed and sealed by a **Professional Engineer** or **Professional Land Surveyor**.
- 3. The **redevelopment** meets the volume control requirements of the WMO.
- 4. The **redevelopment** provides adequate capacity to convey **stormwater runoff** to the **detention facility** for all storms up to the 100-year **storm event**.

If the **redevelopment** can meet these four conditions, the following detention allowances are granted by the WMO:

If the composite runoff coefficient (C) of the redevelopment does not exceed the C value of the existing development permitted under the SPO (found on the Schedule D form), additional stormwater detention volume is not required. When determining increases in C values for detention allowances, the C value should always be analyzed to two decimal places.

- 2. If the **redevelopment's** C value exceeds the C value of the existing **development** (found on the Schedule D form), the additional **stormwater** detention volume may be calculated using the modified Rational Method and **Bulletin 70** sectional rainfall depths. For these cases, the **allowable release rate** can be calculated using the following:
 - a) If the **redevelopment** is within a permitted **parcel** intended to be tributary to an **existing detention facility**, the existing approved release rate and restrictor may be used.
 - b) If the redevelopment is an area within a permitted parcel, which was never intended to be tributary to an existing detention facility, but will be tributary upon redevelopment, the original release rate for the basin must be recalculated using the proportion of original tributary area to new tributary area. The total new required detention volume is based on the pro-rated release rate and the existing restrictor may need to be replaced.

If the **redevelopment** only requires a marginal increase in detention storage compared to the provided storage volume in the existing facility, then no additional volume is required. The "marginal" increase in required volume is defined as less than 0.10 acre-feet or within 2% of the existing storage volume provided.

Any modifications to the **existing detention facility** that are necessary to provide the new required storage volume are considered to be **non-qualified development**, and this area of disturbance is not included in the calculation of required detention volume.

It should be noted that the WMO detention allowances are dedicated for **redevelopments** that utilize the existing detention located on the project site. If a **redevelopment** will completely reconfigure the site and relocate the **existing detention facility**, the **redevelopment** detention allowances will not apply to the **site**. Any **redevelopments** that completely reconfigures the existing developed portion of the site and also result in the removal or relocation of 75% or more of the existing detention volume must meet the full detention requirements of the WMO (§504).

A special case of **redevelopment** occurs when a **parcel** was originally permitted as part of a larger **development**. To avoid penalizing a redeveloper of a single **parcel** with providing additional detention volume for the entire **development**, a special methodology has been developed for these cases. Referring to Figure 5.26, Parcels 1-4 were originally permitted as a single **development**. If an applicant wants to redevelop only Parcel 3, the methodology for determining the additional storage volume required is provided below.



Figure 5.26. Redevelopments of Parcels Part of a Larger Development

The first step is to calculate the proposed C value of the entire **development**, C_{REDEV} , which includes the redeveloped **parcel**. If C_{REDEV} is greater than the permitted C value for the original **development**, C_{PERMIT} , additional storage is required.

The second step is to determine the amount of permitted volume that was allocated just for **Parcel** 3, which is calculated by the following:

$$\frac{V_{PERMIT}}{A_{PERMIT}} x A_{PARCEL 3} = V_{PERMIT,3}$$
 (Permitted Storage Volume Allocated to Parcel 3)

Using the modified Rational Method with **Bulletin 70** rainfall depths, the third step is to determine the pro-rated <u>required</u> detention volume for the three-acre **parcel**.

$$\frac{V_{REDEV}}{A_{PERMIT}}$$
 x $A_{PARCEL 3}$ = $V_{REDEV,3}$ (Required Storage Volume for Parcel 3)

The last step is to determine the additional storage volume that must be provided for the **redevelopment** of Parcel 3, which can be calculated by:

Additional storage volume required = $V_{REDEV,3} - V_{PERMIT,3}$ If the additional storage volume required is less than or equal to 0.10 ac-ft or within 2% of the original volume allocated for the **parcel**, then additional storage volume is not required. Any **volume control storage** that is provided as part of the **redevelopment** of the **parcel** is credited toward the required additional volume.

Example 5.10 – Detention Requirements for Redevelopment

An existing 11.3-acre industrial area is to be redeveloped into a shopping mall. The original **development** contains a **detention facility** that was permitted under the **Sewer Permit Ordinance (SPO)**. The proposed **development** has a C value of 0.90, with 8.0 acres of **impervious area**. It is assumed that the proposed **development** will provide the 1 inch of **volume control storage**. Determine the required detention volume for the **site**.

<u>Step 1</u>: Obtain the Schedule D form for the original **development** to determine the composite **runoff** coefficient (C value) and required detention volume that was permitted. As shown on Page 2 of the Schedule D form, the permitted **development** in this example has a C value of 0.88 and a required detention volume of 3.07 acre-feet.

SCI	IEDU	LE D – DETENTION MW	RDGC Permit No.	A
А.	PRO	JECT INFORMATION		50
	Ma	f Dellar		0
	Nai	ne of Project	(as shown on plans)	
B.	MET	HOD OF DETENTION:		
	R	eservoir 🔲 Rooftop 🗌 Parking Lot [Others	
C.	UND total,	EVELOPED SITE_DETERMINATION developed, undeveloped and unrestricted are	OF ALLWABLE RELEAS cas on a grading plan)	SE (Deline
	1.	Area of Site	11.334	acr
	2.	Average Ground Slope	0.0024	feet/fo
	3.	Longest overland flow distance (Shown on a contour map for undeveloped site)	1250	fe
	4.	Overland flow time of concentration	97	minut
	5.	Average slope of channelized flow (see note)		feet/for
	6.	Channelized flow distance (see note)		fe
	7.	Channelized flow time of concentration		minute
	8.	Total time of concentration (line 4 + line 7)	97	minute
	9.	Rainfall intensity for 3- year storm	1.21	inches/h
	10.	Gross Allowable release rate (0.15 x line 9 x line 1 or $Q_{all} = 0.15 \times i_3 \times A$)	2.057.	cl
	п.	$\begin{array}{l} Unrestricted \ release \ rate \ (Q_{un}) \\ Q_{un} = C_{un}(i_{un}.1e0)(A_{un}) \end{array}$	0.874	ct
	12.	Net allowable release rate (line 10 - line 11)	1.183	cf
	13.	Actual release rate at HWL 594.00-fr (must be less than or equal to line 12)	1.183 (H.W.=594.00)	cf
	14.	Restrictor type and size INV = 588.90 -ff	4.47 (H W = 594.00)	inche

Page 1 of 2

				2
SCI	IEDUI	LE D DETENTION	MWRDGC Permit No	
D.	DEVI (Subn	ELOPED SITE-DETERMINATI nit calculations for Items 1 through	ON OF RESERVOIR SIZE gh 6)	"COD
	1.	Impervious drainage area excluding wet	9.431	acres
	2.	Impervious wet pond area ¹	0.965	acres
	3.	Pervious drainage area ¹	0.796	acres
	4.	Composite runoff coefficient (C)	0.88	
	5.	Required detention capacity provided at	3.07 (H.W.=(593.98)	acre-feet
	6.	Actual detention capacity provided at H	WL 3.084 (H.W.=594.00)	acre-feet

¹Unrestricted areas shall be excluded here. (0.115 - AC IMPERVIOUS AND 0.027 - AC PERVIOUS) E. REQUIRED BYPASS RATE THROUGH DEVELOPMENT SITE FROM

UPSTREAM AREA

Note: Following steps are applicable to bypass flow over a weir or bypassing detention system. Design frequency shall be determined by local ordinance. If no local requirement is established, use 5-year storm frequency. (Delineate bypass areas on grading plans or USGS maps).

1.	Total area upstream	N/A	acres
2.	Impervious area		acres
3.	Pervious area	<u></u>	acres
4.	Composite runoff coefficient (minimum of 0.35)		-
5.	Design storm frequency for the upstream area		year
6.	Time concentration for upstream area at point of entry; upstream area to be considered as <u>developed</u>		minutes
7.	Rainfall intensity for time of concentration		inches/hr.
8.	Permissible bypass rate (line 1 x line 4 x line 7)		cfs
9.	Bypass system – Type & capacity (provide detail and calculations)	·	cfs
Name		Title	
Signature		Date	
Engineering	Firm		
		*	
	Page 2 of 2		

<u>Step 2</u>: Determine if the **redevelopment** can meet the conditions for detention allowances provided in Section §505.3 of the WMO. The four conditions are:

- Design of the existing detention facility is documented and approved under an existing sewerage system permit;
- 2. The actual storage volume is verified to meet the required permitted volume (3.07 acre-feet in this example) by a survey;

- The redevelopment will meet the volume control requirements of the WMO; and
- 4. The **redevelopment** provides adequate conveyance to convey the 100-year peak flowrates to the **detention facility**.

<u>Step 3</u>: Assuming the **redevelopment** can meet the four conditions outlined above, calculate the **redevelopment's** C value. Using the values provided in Table 5-2 of the **TGM**, the redeveloped C value is 0.90. Because the redeveloped C value (0.90) is greater than existing (0.88), additional detention storage is required. If the redeveloped C value were to match the permitted C value of 0.88, no additional storage volume would be required.

<u>Step 4</u>: Determine the required storage volume for the **redevelopment** using the modified Rational Method and **Bulletin 70** rainfall depths. Since the **existing detention facility** was previously permitted under the **SPO**, the original release rate and restrictor can be used. From Page 1 of the Schedule D form, the **allowable release rate** is 1.183 cfs. (Note that the release rate of 1.183 cfs calculated for the original **development** included unrestricted releases; if the **redevelopment** causes additional unrestricted releases, or if the applicant wants to use a larger release rate because unrestricted areas have been reduced, a modification to the outlet control **structure** would be required.)

	DETEN (Bulle	tion stora	GE CALCUL	ATIONS sities)	
PROJECT.	Example 5 10				
IOB NO ·	Technical Guida	nce Manual			
	ModRatB70 xls	(
	5-Eeb-14				
	010011				
	TRIBUTARY AR	EA =		11.33	acres
	COMPOSITE R		CIENT =	0.90)
	ALLOWABLE R	ELEASE RATE	=	1.18	3 cfs
	COMPL	JTED DETENTIO	N STORAGE =	4.441	acre-ft
		RAINFALL	INELOW.	STORED	RESERVO
DURATION	TIME	INTENSITY	RATE	RATE	SIZE
(hours)	(min)	(in/hr)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(ac-ft)
(10013)	((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((((112111)	(013)	(013)	(do it)
0.08	5	10.90	111 19	110.01	0.758
0.00	10	10.00	102 21	101.03	1 392
0.25	15	8 20	83.64	82.46	1 704
0.33	20	7.30	74.46	73.28	2 019
0.50	30	5.60	57.12	55.94	2.311
0.67	40	4.58	46.72	45.54	2.509
0.83	50	3.97	40.50	39.32	2.708
1	60	3.56	36.31	35.13	2.903
1.5	90	2.68	27.34	26.16	3.243
2	120	2.24	22.85	21.67	3.581
3	180	1.62	16.52	15.34	3.803
4	240	1.40	14.28	13.10	4.330
5	300	1.17	11.93	10.75	4.441
6	360	0.95	9.69	8.51	4.218
7	420	0.83	8.47	7.29	4.216
8	480	0.75	7.65	6.47	4.276
9	540	0.68	6.94	5.76	4.282
10	600	0.63	6.43	5.25	4.336
11	660	0.59	6.02	4.84	4.397
12	720	0.55	5.61	4.43	4.390
18	1080	0.39	3.98	2.80	4.161
24	1440	0.32	3.26	2.08	4.120
36	2160	0.22	2.24	1.06	3.145
10	0000	0.17	1 = 0	0 55	1

Using the modified Rational Method and **Bulletin 70** rainfall depths, the required detention volume for the **redevelopment** is 4.44 acre-feet. Since the provided detention storage for the original **development** was 3.07 acre-feet (and was verified by a survey), the additional storage that is required is 1.37 acre-feet. Any **volume control storage** that is provided is credited toward the required storage volume.

It should be noted that while the WMO provides detention allowances for **redevelopments**, all other requirements of the WMO may still be applicable. The overflow weir for the **detention facility**, for example, may need to be retrofitted to meet the design requirements of the WMO if there is a known drainage problem associated with the **parcel**.

e of Project: Example 5.10	
DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION	
Fotal parcel area: 11.334 acres Total re/development area on the parcel: 11.334 acres	
SITE VOLUME CONTROL REQUIREMENTS	
Existing impervious area of re/development area:	0.40 acres
Proposed impervious area of re/development area:	8.0 acre
Gross volume control storage required (0.083 X Line B.2):	0.67 acre-fee
Do site constraints prevent the use of retention-based practices in ful	ll? 🗆 Yes 🔳 No
f yes, explain and complete B.4.a, B.4.b, and B.4.c for volume co	ontrol storage allowance:
a. Percentage reduction in impervious area $(B.2 - B.1)/B.1$:	%
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1: b. Volume control storage allowance (Line B.5.a/5%)(0.25)(Line acre-feet 	<u>%</u> e B.3):
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	e B.3): acre-feet
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	<u>e B.3):</u> acre-feet B.4.b – Line B.4.c):
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	<u>e B.3):</u> <u>acre-feet</u> <u>B.4.b – Line B.4.c):</u> 0.67 <u>acre-feet</u>
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	<u>e B.3):</u> <u>acre-feet</u> <u>B.4.b – Line B.4.c):</u> <u>0.67</u> acre-feet
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	<u>acre-feet</u> B.4.b – Line B.4.c): 0.67 acre-feet
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	<u></u> % e B.3): <u>acre-feet</u> B.4.b – Line B.4.c): <u>0.67</u> acre-feet
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	e B.3): acre-feet B.4.b – Line B.4.c): 0.67 acre-feet
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	e B.3): acre-feet B.4.b – Line B.4.c): 0.67 acre-feet ed under the SPO ted parcel under the SPC
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	<u>acre-feet</u> <u>acre-feet</u> <u>acre-feet</u> <u>0.67</u> acre-feet <u>0.67</u> acre-feet <u>0.67</u> acre-feet <u>ct</u> under the SPO ted parcel under the SPC or otherwise)
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	% e B.3): acre-feet B.4.b – Line B.4.c): 0.67acre-feet ed under the SPO ted parcel under the SPO or otherwise) acility
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	% e B.3): acre-feet B.4.b – Line B.4.c): 0.67 acre-feet ed under the SPO ted parcel under the SPC or otherwise) acility
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	<u>acre-feet</u> B.4.b – Line B.4.c): <u>0.67</u> acre-feet ed under the SPO ted parcel under the SPC or otherwise) acres acres
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	$= \frac{9}{6}$ e B.3): $= \frac{1000}{100}$ acre-feet B.4.b - Line B.4.c): $= \frac{0.67}{100}$ acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet $= \frac{11.334}{1.182}$
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	$= \frac{9}{6}$ e B.3): $= \frac{1}{6}$ acre-feet B.4.b - Line B.4.c): $= \frac{0.67}{1.67}$ acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet $= \frac{11.334}{1.183}$ acres $= \frac{11.183}{1.183}$
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	$= {}$ e B.3): $= {}$ acre-feet B.4.b - Line B.4.c): $= {}$ 0.67 acre-feet ed under the SPO ted parcel under the SPO or otherwise) neility $= {}$ 11.334 acres $= {}$ 1.183 cfs 0.88
 a. Percentage reduction in impervious area (B.2 – B.1)/B.1:	$= {}$

Schedule D-Legacy for Example 5.10 (Page 1 of 4)

W	MO SCHEDULE D-LEGACY	
W	ATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITIES	
	Unpermitted Existing Facility Information:	
7)	Tributary area to existing facility:	acres
8)	Existing release rate (must be less than 0.30 cfs/ac):	cfs
9)	Existing composite runoff coefficient:	
10)	Verified detention volume capacity (from survey):	acre-feet
D.	DEVELOPMENT TRIBUTARY TO EXISTING DETENTION FACILITY((S)
	Existing Detention Sufficient	
1)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5) 0.88	
2)	Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area)	
	If $D.2 \ge D.1$, no additional detention volume is required, complete D & proceed to If $D.2 \ge D.1$, proceed to (D.5).	(D G)
2)	If $D.2 \ge D.1$, proceed to (D.5).	anna faat
5) 4)	Varified extra avisting detention volume capacity (C.6):	acre-leet
•)	vernied actual existing detention volume serving proposed development.	aere-reet
	Additional Volume Required (Use Modified Rational method with Bulletin 7	0 Rainfall Dep
))	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88	
5)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90	
5) 5) 7)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4): 1.183	cfs
5) 5) 7) 3)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4): 1.183 Original required detention volume capacity (C.6): 3.07	cfs acre-feet
5) 6) 7) 8) 9)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4): 1.183 Original required detention volume capacity (C.6): 3.07 Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (C.6/C 3.07 acre-feet	cfs acre-feet C.2 * A.2):
5) 6) 7) 8) 9) 10)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4): 1.183 Original required detention volume capacity (C.6): 3.07 Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (C.6/C 3.07 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2): 4.44	cfs acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet
5) 6) 7) 8) 9) 10) 11)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4): 1.183 Original required detention volume capacity (C.6): 3.07 Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (C.6/C 3.07 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2): 4.44 Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (D.10/C 4.44 acre-feet	cfs acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet 2.2 * A.2):
5) 6) 7) 8) 9) 10) 11)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4): 1.183 Original required detention volume capacity (C.6): 3.07 Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (C.6/C 3.07 Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2): 4.44 Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (D.10/C 4.44 acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey): 3.07	cfs acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet
5) 5) 7) 3) 10) 11) 12) 13)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5):0.88Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4): 1.183 Original required detention volume capacity (C.6): 3.07 Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (C.6/C 3.07 acre-feetProposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2): 4.44 Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (D.10/C 4.44 acre-feetVerified actual existing detention volume (from survey): 3.07 Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9): 1.37	cfs acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet
5) 6) 7) 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) 13) 14)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5):0.88Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area):0.90Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4):1.183Original required detention volume capacity (C.6):3.07Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (C.6/C 3.07 acre-feetProposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2): 4.44 Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (D.10/C 4.44 acre-feetVerified actual existing detention volume (from survey): 3.07 Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9): 1.37 Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G): 0.67 (Vol Cont) 0.70 (Det.)	cfs acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet _acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet
5) 6) 7) 8) 9) 11) 12) 13) 14) E.	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4): 1.183 Original required detention volume capacity (C.6): 3.07 Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (C.6/C 3.07 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2): 4.44 Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (D.10/C 4.44 acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey): 3.07 Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9): 1.37 Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G): 0.67 (Vol Cont) 0.70 (Det.) DEVELOPMENT NOT PREVIOUSLY TRIBUTARY TO MWRD PERMIT DETENTION FACILITY	cfs acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet
5) 6) 7) 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) 13) 14) E.	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4): 1.183 Original required detention volume capacity (C.6): 3.07 Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (C.6/C 3.07 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2): 4.44 Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (D.10/C 4.44 acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey): 3.07 Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9): 1.37 Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G): 0.67 (Vol Cont) 0.70 (Det.) DEVELOPMENT NOT PREVIOUSLY TRIBUTARY TO MWRD PERMIT DETENTION FACILITY New Release Rate	cfs acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet 2.2 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet
5) 6) 7) 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) 13) 14) E.	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5):0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area):0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4):1.183 Original required detention volume capacity (C.6):3.07 Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (C.6/C 3.07acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2):4.44 Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (D.10/C 4.44acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey):3.07 Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9):1.37 Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G):0.67 (Vol Cont) 0.70 (Det.) DEVELOPMENT NOT PREVIOUSLY TRIBUTARY TO MWRD PERMIT DETENTION FACILITY New Release Rate Cfs/acre for original permit area (C.4/C.2):	cfs acre-feet C.2 * A.2): acre-feet C.2 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet
5) 5) 7) 8) 9) 110) 111) 12) 111) 12) 14) E. 1) 2)	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.88 Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/development area): 0.90 Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4): 1.183 Original required detention volume capacity (C.6): 3.07 Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/development area (C.6/C 3.07	cfs acre-feet C.2 * A.2): acre-feet C.2 * A.2): acre-feet _acre-feet _acre-feet cfs/acre cfs/acre

Schedule D-Legacy for Example 5.10 (Page 2 of 4)

	Additional Volume Required (Use Modified Rational method with Bu	lletin 70 Rainfall Depth
4)	Required detention volume for new development (per Bull. 70 & w/ new racre-feet	release (E.2):
5)	Required new total detention volume (C.6 + E.4):	acre-feet
6)	Verified actual existing detention volume (per survey):	acre-feet
7)	Additional detention volume required [†] (E.5 – E.6):	acre-feet
8)	Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G):	acre-feet
F.	DEVELOPMENT TRIBUTARY TO UNPERMITTED DETENTION	FACILITY(S)
1)	Existing Detention Sufficient (Use Modified Rational method with TP- Original total composite symplectic $(C, 0)$:	-40 Rainfall Depths):
$\frac{1}{2}$	Original allowable release rate (C.8):	
3)	Original required detention volume capacity (based on C 7):	acre-feet
4)	Verified actual existing detention volume (per survey):	acre-feet
5)	Existing impervious area of re/development:	res
~ .		
6)	Proposed impervious area of re/development:	es
6)	Proposed impervious area of re/development: acr If $F_{0} \leq F_{0}$ no additional detention volume is required proceed to G)	es
6)	Proposed impervious area of re/development:acr If $F.6 \le F.5$, no additional detention volume is required, proceed to G) If $F.6 > F.5$, proceed to (F.7).	es
6) 7) 8)	Proposed impervious area of re/development:acr If $F.6 \le F.5$, no additional detention volume is required, proceed to G) If $F.6 > F.5$, proceed to (F.7). Additional Volume Required (Use Modified Rational method with Bu Proposed composite runoff coefficient for re/development area: Allowable release appropriated to proposed re/development (F.2/C.7 *A.2	es Iletin 70 Rainfall Depth
6) 7) 8) 9)	Proposed impervious area of re/development:acr If $F.6 \le F.5$, no additional detention volume is required, proceed to G) If $F.6 > F.5$, proceed to (F.7). Additional Volume Required (Use Modified Rational method with Bu Proposed composite runoff coefficient for re/development area: Allowable release appropriated to proposed re/development (F.2/C.7 *A.2 Required detention volume for proposed re/development:	es lletin 70 Rainfall Depth):cfsacre-feet
7) 8) 9) 10)	Proposed impervious area of re/development:acr If $F.6 \le F.5$, no additional detention volume is required, proceed to G) If $F.6 > F.5$, proceed to (F.7). Additional Volume Required (Use Modified Rational method with Bu Proposed composite runoff coefficient for re/development area: Allowable release appropriated to proposed re/development (F.2/C.7 *A.2 Required detention volume for proposed re/development: Existing detention volume pro-rated for re/development area (acre-feet	es Iletin 70 Rainfall Depth):cfs acre-feet F.3/C.7 * A.2):
 6) 7) 8) 9) 10) 11) 	Proposed impervious area of re/development:	es Iletin 70 Rainfall Depth):cfs acre-feet F.3/C.7 * A.2): acre-feet
 6) 7) 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) 	Proposed impervious area of re/development:acrProposed impervious area of re/development:acrIf $F.6 \le F.5$, no additional detention volume is required, proceed to G)If $F.6 > F.5$, proceed to (F.7).Additional Volume Required (Use Modified Rational method with Bu Proposed composite runoff coefficient for re/development area:	es Iletin 70 Rainfall Depth):cfs acre-feet F.3/C.7 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet
 7) 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) 	Proposed impervious area of re/development:	es Iletin 70 Rainfall Depth .):cfsacre-feet F.3/C.7 * A.2):acre-feetacre-feet al volume required. Note,
 7) 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G. 	Proposed impervious area of re/development:acr Proposed impervious area of re/development:acr If F.6 \leq F.5, no additional detention volume is required, proceed to G) If F.6 \geq F.5, proceed to (F.7). Additional Volume Required (Use Modified Rational method with Bu Proposed composite runoff coefficient for re/development area: Allowable release appropriated to proposed re/development (F.2/C.7 *A.2 Required detention volume for proposed re/development: Existing detention volume pro-rated for re/development area (acre-feet Additional detention volume required †: (F.9 – F.10): Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G): † If additional volume required \leq 0.10 acre-feet or 2% of total required, no additional volume control storage provided can be credited toward the required volume EXISTING / PROPOSED DETENTION FACILITY PARAMETERS (Document existing, provide details and calculations if proposed) Type of stormwater Detention Volume (check one)	es Iletin 70 Rainfall Depth):cfs acre-feet F.3/C.7 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet al volume required. Note,
 7) 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G. 	Proposed impervious area of re/development:	es Iletin 70 Rainfall Depth): cfs acre-feet F.3/C.7 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet al volume required. Note, te Facility
 7) 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G. 	Proposed impervious area of re/development:	es Iletin 70 Rainfall Depth):cfsacre-feet F.3/C.7 * A.2):acre-feet al volume required. Note, te Facility n
 7) 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G. 1) 	Proposed impervious area of re/development:	es Iletin 70 Rainfall Depth): cfs acre-feet F.3/C.7 * A.2): acre-feet al volume required. Note, te Facility n acre-feet

Schedule D-Legacy for Example 5.10 (Page 3 of 4)

3)	HWL (NAVD 88):	594.00)	ft		
	Type of Stormwater Outlet Co	ontrol	Structure:			
4)	Type: Sharp-edge Orifice					
;)	Discharge coefficient: 0.61					2
6)	Diameter: 4.47 in	n				
)	Orifice invert elevation (NAVD	88):	588.90	ft		
3)	Weir length:f	t				
)	Weir invert elevation (NAVD 8	8):	594.00	ft		
H.	UPSTREAM TRIBUTARY AI	REA	AND BYPASS	SYSTEMS		
	(Document existing, provide det	ails an	d calculations i	f proposed)		
1)	Upstream tributary drainage are	a:	N/A			acres
	A)Ratio of upstream tributary a	rea to	development a	rea:		
	B) Detention facility drawdown	time:				hrs
	C)Composite CN for upstream	tributa	ary area:			
	DIT' C C					
	D) Time of concentration for up	stream	n tributary area:			minutes
	E) 100-year peak flowrate for up	stream pstrear	n tributary area: n tributary area	1:		cfs
)	 D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe hypass system type de 	stream pstrear	n tributary area: m tributary area		ictor	cfs
:)	 D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifica diameter: 	stream pstrear tails:	n tributary area: m tributary area Overflow	weir 🗆 Restr	ictor	cfs
2)	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter:	stream pstrear tails: in	n tributary area: n tributary area Overflow Orifice inve		ictor	cfs ft (NAVD 88
)	 D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Wair length; 	stream pstrear tails: in ficient	n tributary area: m tributary area Overflow Orifice inver- tain invert alay	weir CRestr	ictor	cfs cfs ft (NAVD 88
:)	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length:	stream pstrear tails: in ficient ft V	n tributary area: m tributary area Overflow Orifice invertion Veir invert elev	weir CRestr ert elevation: ation:	ictor	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88
2)	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION	stream pstrear tails: in ficient ft V	n tributary area: m tributary area Overflow Orifice invertion Veir invert elev	weir CRestreet Restreet Restre	ictor	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88
2)	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies	stream pstrear tails: in ficient ft V	n tributary area: m tributary area Overflow Orifice invector Veir invert elev lesign of the stormwat	weir CRestrert elevation:	ictor	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88
2)	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an	stream pstrear tails: in ficient _ft V that the c d will hav	n tributary area: m tributary area: D Overflow Orifice inverting Veir invert elev lesign of the stormwattor veno in	weir Restr ert elevation: ation:	ictor : : eam propertie	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88
2)	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an 2. Proposed collection systems and severs have su 3. The bypass system (existing or proposed) is des	stream pstream tails: in ficient ft V that the d d will hav ufficient e	n tributary area: m tributary area D Overflow Orifice inverting Veir invert elev lesign of the stormwat ve no adverse impacts apacity to collect and th sufficient capacity f	weir Restr ert elevation: ation: ation: er management facilities on adjacent and downsh convey the 100-yr site si or emergency overland f	ictor eam propertie ormwater run low of upstrea	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 s; off to the basin and; m and onsite areas.
2)	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an 2. Proposed collection systems and sewers have st 3. The bypass system (existing or proposed) is des	stream pstream tails: in ficient ff V that the c d will hav ifficient e igned will	h tributary area: m tributary area: m tributary area: Overflow Orifice invection verifice invection	weir Restr ert elevation: ation: er management facilities on adjacent and downsth convey the 100-yr site sl or emergency overland f	ictor : eam propertie omwater rund low of upstrea	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 off to the basin and; m and onsite areas.
2) [. Na	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an 2. Proposed collection systems and severs have su 3. The bypass system (existing or proposed) is des me John Smith	stream pstream tails: in ficient ficient d will hav ifficient e igned with	n tributary area: m tributary area D Overflow Orifice inverting Veir invert elev lesign of the stormwat ve no adverse impacts apacity to collect and th sufficient capacity f	weir Restr ert elevation: ation: er management facilities on adjacent and downsth convey the 100-yr site st or emergency overland f	ictor eam propertie omwater run- low of upstrea	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 s; off to the basin and; m and onsite areas.
2) [. Na	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an 2. Proposed collection systems and severs have st 3. The bypass system (existing or proposed) is des me John Smith gnature	stream pstream tails: in ficient ft V that the d d will hav ifficient e igned with	n tributary area: m tributary area: m tributary area: Overflow Orifice invection verifice invection Veir invert elev lesign of the stormwath ve no adverse impacts vapacity to collect and th sufficient capacity f	weir CRestr ert elevation: ation: er management facilities on adjacent and downst convey the 100-yr site st or emergency overland f Title Date	ictor eam propertie comwater run low of upstrea <u>Project E</u> 4/28/14	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 s; off to the basin and; m and onsite areas.
2) Ja	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an 2. Proposed collection systems and severs have su 3. The bypass system (existing or proposed) is des me John Smith gnature	stream pstream tails: in ficient ficient d will her d will her igned wit	n tributary area: m tributary area: m tributary area: Overflow Orifice invection verifice invection	weir	ictor eam propertie ornwater run- low of upstrea <u>Project E</u> <u>4/28/14</u>	cfs cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 s; off to the basin and; m and onsite areas.
2) [. Na Sig	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an 2. Proposed collection systems and sewers have st 3. The bypass system (existing or proposed) is des me John Smith gamering Firm Smith Engineering	stream pstream tails: in ficient ficient d will hav ifficient e igned wit	n tributary area: m tributary area: m tributary area: Overflow Orifice inverting Veir invert elev lesign of the stormwat ve no adverse impacts apacity to collect and th sufficient capacity f	weir CRestreert elevation:	ictor eam propertie ornwater run- low of upstrea <u>Project E</u> 4/28/14	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 s; off to the basin and; m and onsite areas.
2) Na Sig	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an 2. Proposed collection systems and sewers have st 3. The bypass system (existing or proposed) is des me John Smith mature gineering Firm Smith Engineering	stream pstream tails: in ficient fit V that the d d will hav ifficient c igned with	n tributary area: m tributary area: m tributary area: Overflow Orifice inverting Veir invert elev lesign of the stormwath ve no adverse impacts rapacity to collect and th sufficient capacity f	weir CRestreet Restreet elevation:	ictor eam propertie ornwater run- low of upstrea <u>Project E</u> <u>4/28/14</u>	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 s; off to the basin and; m and onsite areas.
2) I. Na Sig En	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an 2. Proposed collection systems and sewers have st 3. The bypass system (existing or proposed) is des me John Smith gature gineering Firm Smith Engineering	stream pstream tails: in ficient ff V that the d d will hav ifficient c igned wit	n tributary area: m tributary area: m tributary area: Overflow Orifice invector Veir invert elev lesign of the stormwath ve no adverse impacts vapacity to collect and th sufficient capacity f	weir CRestr ert elevation: ation: er management facilities on adjacent and downstr convey the 100-yr site st or emergency overland f Title Title	ictor eam propertie ornwater rund low of upstrea <u>Project E</u> <u>4/28/14</u>	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 off to the basin and; m and onsite areas.
2) [. Na Sig	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an 2. Proposed collection systems and severs have st 3. The bypass system (existing or proposed) is des me John Smith gature gineering Firm Smith Engineering	stream pstream tails: in ficient ficient d will hav fificient e igned wit	h tributary area: m tributary area: m tributary area: Overflow Orifice invertion Veir invert elev design of the stormwat reapacity to collect and th sufficient capacity f	weir Restr ert elevation: ation: er management facilities on adjacent and downsh convey the 100-yr site si or emergency overland f Title Title	ictor eam propertie comwater run low of upstrea <u>Project E</u> <u>4/28/14</u>	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 s; off to the basin and; m and onsite areas. ingineer PE
2) - Va Sig	D) Time of concentration for up E) 100-year peak flowrate for up Describe bypass system type de Orifice diameter: Orifice type and discharge coeff Weir length: CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies 1. Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, an 2. Proposed collection systems and sewers have st 3. The bypass system (existing or proposed) is des me John Smith gature gineering Firm _Smith Engineering	stream pstream tails: in ficient fit V that the d d will hav d will hav d will hav	h tributary area: m tributary area: m tributary area: Overflow Orifice invertion verifice inverifice invertion verifice invertion verifice invertion verifice	weir CRestreet Restreet elevation:	ictor eam propertie ornwater run- low of upstrea <u>Project E</u> <u>4/28/14</u>	cfs ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 ft (NAVD 88 s; off to the basin and; m and onsite areas. ingineer PE SEAL

Schedule D-Legacy for Example 5.10 (Page 4 of 4)

Example 5.11 – Redevelopment of a Parcel Permitted as Part of Larger Development

For the **site** in Example 5.10, determine the required detention volume if only a 6-acre portion of the **site** is to be redeveloped. Of the 6 acres that is to be redeveloped, 5.4 acres are impervious.



<u>Step 1</u>: Calculate the proposed C value of entire **development**, C_{REDEV} , which includes redeveloped **parcel**. If C_{REDEV} is greater than the permitted C value for the **development**, C_{PERMIT} , additional storage volume is required.

C_{PERMIT} = 0.88 (from Schedule D form for original **development**)

C_{REDEV} = 0.89 (entire **development** including redeveloped 6-acre **parcel**)

Since C_{REDEV} is greater than C_{PERMIT}, additional storage volume is required.

<u>Step 2</u>: Determine the pro-rated permitted detention volume for the 6-acre **parcel**. From Schedule D for the original **development**, 3.07 acre-feet is required for the 11.33-acre **development**. The pro-rated detention volume for the 6-acre **parcel** is calculated as such:

 $\frac{3.07 \text{ acre-feet}}{11.33 \text{ acres}} \times 6 \text{ acres} = 1.63 \text{ acre-feet}$

<u>Step 3</u>: Using the modified Rational Method with **Bulletin 70** rainfall depths, determine the prorated <u>required</u> detention volume for the 6-acre **parcel**.

4.39 acre-feetx6 acres=2.32 acre-feet11.33 acres

	DETEN (Bulle	tion story	AGE CALCUL	ATIONS isities)	
000 /507.	Europeale 5.40				
PROJECT:	Example 5.10	n n n Manual			
JUB NU.:	Technical Guida				
FILENAME:	MOORALB / U.XIS	<			
DATE :	5-FeD-14				
				11.00	
				0.90	acres
				0.09	ofo
	ALLOWABLE		_	1.10	013
	СОМРІ	JTED DETENTIC)N STORAGE =	4.387	acre-ft
		RAINFALL	INFLOW	STORED	RESERVOIR
DURATION	TIME	INTENSITY	RATE	RATE	SIZE
(hours)	(min.)	(in/hr)	(cfs)	(cfs)	(ac-ft)
0.08	5	10.90	109.91	108.73	0.749
0.17	10	10.02	101.04	99.86	1.375
0.25	15	8.20	82.69	81.51	1.684
0.33	20	7.30	/3.61	72.43	1.995
0.50	30	5.60	56.47	55.29	2.285
0.67	40	4.58	46.18	45.00	2.479
0.83	50	3.97	40.03	38.85	2.675
1	60	3.56	35.90	34.72	2.869
1.5	90	2.68	27.02	25.84	3.203
2	120	2.24	22.59	21.41	3.538
3	180	1.62	10.34	15.16	3.758
4	240	1.40	14.12	12.94	4.277
5	300	1.17	0.50	10.62	4.307
7	300	0.95	9.50	0.40	4.104
/	420	0.83	0.3/ 7.56	6.29	4.158
0	400	0.75	00.1	0.30	4.210
9	540	0.00	0.00	5.00	4.223
11	660	0.03	5.05	J.17 4 77	4.270
10	720	0.59	5.55	4.27	4.004
18	1080	0.33	3.03	2 75	4.086
24	1440	0.33	3.33	2.75	4.060
24	2160	0.32	2.20	2.05	3.085
48	2880	0.22	1 71	0.53	2 001
	2000	0.11		0.00	2.001

<u>Step 4</u>: Determine the additional storage volume required.

Additional storage volume required = 2.32 ac-ft – 1.63 ac-ft = 0.69 acre-feet

Since additional storage volume required is greater than 0.10 acre-feet and is not within 2% of the existing volume allocated for the **parcel**, the additional storage volume must be provided. Assuming 0.45 acre-feet of **volume control storage** was provided as part of the **redevelopment** of the **parcel** (1 inch over the **impervious area**), the net volume that is required is 0.24 ac-ft.

Watershed Mai	nagement Permit No.	xx-xxxx
MO SCHEDULE D-LEGACY		
VATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITI	ES	
ame of Project: Example 5.11		
. DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION		
Total parcel area: 11.334	acres	
Total re/development area on the parcel: 6.00	acres	
SITE VOLUME CONTROL REQUIREMENT	S	
Existing impervious area of re/development area:	5.10	acres
Proposed impervious area of re/development area:	5.40	acres
Gross volume control storage required (0.083 X Li	ne B.2): 0.45	acre-feet
Do site constraints prevent the use of retention-bas	ed practices in full? \Box	Yes 🔳 No
If yes, explain and complete B.4.a, B.4.b, and B.4	.c for volume control sto	orage allowance:
a Percentage reduction in impervious area (B	2 - B 1)/B 1	0/0
 b. Volume control storage allowance (Line B.5) 	(0.25)(Line B.3):	/0
acre-feet		
c. Volume control treated by a flow through pr	actice:	acre-feet
Net volume control storage required (Line	B.3 – Line B.4.b -	Line B(1a):
		- Line D.4.0).
0.45acre-feet		- Line D.4.c).
Volume control storage provided (must be greater	than line B.5):0.45	acre-feet
Volume control storage provided (must be greater	than line B.5):0.45	acre-feet
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO	than line B.5):0.45	acre-feet
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply:	than line B.5):0.45	acre-feet
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention	than line B.5):0.45	acre-feet
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Image: Development is tributary to existing detention Image: Development is part of the ownership area of a stributary to nership area of a stributary to the ownership	than line B.5):0.45 facilities permitted under an existing permitted parc	acre-feet the SPO el under the SPO
 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Legace) 	than line B.5):0.45 facilities permitted under an existing permitted parc gacy Schedule L, or other	the SPO el under the SPO rwise)
 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Let) Development is tributary to an existing unpertored 	than line B.5):0.45 facilities permitted under an existing permitted parc gacy Schedule L, or other nitted detention facility	acre-feet the SPO el under the SPO rwise)
 0.45acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Letter) Development is tributary to an existing unperrint Legacy Permit Information (approved Schedule) 	than line B.5): 0.45 facilities permitted under an existing permitted parc gacy Schedule L, or other nitted detention facility D form):	the SPO el under the SPO rwise)
 0.45acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Le Development is tributary to an existing unperr Legacy Permit Information (approved Schedule Provide Legacy SPO Permit No(s),:X-XXXX 	than line B.5): 0.45 facilities permitted under an existing permitted parc gacy Schedule L, or other nitted detention facility e D form):	acre-feet the SPO el under the SPO wise)
 0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Letter Development is tributary to an existing unperrection Development is tributary to an existing unperrection 	than line B.5): 0.45 facilities permitted under an existing permitted parc gacy Schedule L, or other nitted detention facility e D form):	acre-feet the SPO el under the SPO wise) acres
 0.45acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Le Development is tributary to an existing unperr Legacy Permit Information (approved Schedula Provide Legacy SPO Permit No(s),: XX-XXXX Total "Area of Site" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1): "Total Contiguous Ownership, including project" ("Development of the provide Schedula Provide Legacy Sport ("Development Note") 	than line B.5):	acre-feet the SPO el under the SPO rwise) acres
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Let) Development is tributary to an existing unpert Legacy Permit Information (approved Schedule) Provide Legacy SPO Permit No(s),: XX-XXXX Total "Area of Site" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1): "Total Contiguous Ownership, including project" ("Net Allowable Release Rate" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1)	than line B.5):0.45 facilities permitted under an existing permitted parc gacy Schedule L, or other nitted detention facility D form): 	the SPO el under the SPO wise)
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Let) Development is tributary to an existing unperr Legacy Permit Information (approved Schedule) Provide Legacy SPO Permit No(s),: XX-XXXX Total "Area of Site" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1): "Total Contiguous Ownership, including project" ("Net Allowable Release Rate" (Legacy Sch. D, Item "Development Coefficient (C)" (Legacy Sch.	than line B.5):0.45 facilities permitted under an existing permitted parce gacy Schedule L, or other nitted detention facility e D form): 	the SPO el under the SPO wise) acres 11.334 acres 83 cfs .88
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Let) Development is tributary to an existing unpert Legacy Permit Information (approved Schedulate) Provide Legacy SPO Permit No(s),: XX-XXXX Total "Area of Site" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1): "Total Contiguous Ownership, including project" ("Net Allowable Release Rate" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1); "Composite Runoff Coefficient (C)" (Legacy Sch. "Required Detention Capacity at actual releases area fact	than line B.5):	the SPO el under the SPO rwise) acres <u>11.334</u> acres <u>83</u> cfs .88 D, Item D-5):
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Le Development is tributary to an existing unpert Legacy Permit Information (approved Schedular Provide Legacy SPO Permit No(s),: XX-XXXX Total "Area of Site" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1): "Total Contiguous Ownership, including project" ("Net Allowable Release Rate" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1); "Composite Runoff Coefficient (C)" (Legacy Sch. "Required Detention Capacity at actual releation Capacity at actual releat	than line B.5):	acresfeet the SPO el under the SPO rwise) acres 11.334 acres 83 cfs .88 D, Item D-5):
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: ■ Development is tributary to existing detention □ Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Let) □ Development is tributary to an existing unperr Legacy Permit Information (approved Schedule) Provide Legacy SPO Permit No(s),: X××X×X Total "Area of Site" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1) : "Total Contiguous Ownership, including project" ("Net Allowable Release Rate" (Legacy Sch. D, Ite "Composite Runoff Coefficient (C)" (Legacy Sch. "Required Detention Capacity at actual releated 3.07	than line B.5):	acre-feet the SPO el under the SPO wise) <u>acres</u> <u>11.334</u> acres <u>83</u> cfs .88 D, Item D-5):
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: Development is tributary to existing detention Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Le Development is tributary to an existing unperr Legacy Permit Information (approved Schedula Provide Legacy SPO Permit No(s),: XX-XXXX Total "Area of Site" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1): "Total Contiguous Ownership, including project" ("Net Allowable Release Rate" (Legacy Sch. D, Ite "Composite Runoff Coefficient (C)" (Legacy Sch. "Required Detention Capacity at actual releated 3.07 acre-feet	than line B.5):	acres the SPO el under the SPO rwise) acres <u>11.334</u> acres <u>83</u> cfs .88 D, Item D-5):
0.45 acre-feet Volume control storage provided (must be greater RELATIONSHIP TO LEGACY SPO Check one of the following conditions that apply: ■ Development is tributary to existing detention □ Development is part of the ownership area of a (Not currently tributary; encumbered under Letter Development is tributary to an existing unperrecent Development Information (approved Schedule Provide Legacy SPO Permit No(s),: XX-XXXX Total "Area of Site" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1): "Total Contiguous Ownership, including project" ("Net Allowable Release Rate" (Legacy Sch. D, Item C-1): "Composite Runoff Coefficient (C)" (Legacy Sch. "Required Detention Capacity at actual release 3.07 acre-feet	than line B.5):	acre-feet the SPO el under the SPO wise) <u>acres</u> <u>11.334</u> acres <u>83</u> cfs .88 D, Item D-5):

Schedule D-Legacy for Example 5.11 (Page 1 of 4)

	Unpermitted Existing Facility Information:		
)	Tributary area to existing facility:		acres
)	Existing release rate (must be less than 0.30 cfs/ac):		cfs
)	Existing composite runoff coefficient:		2.) 22
0)	Verified detention volume capacity (from survey):		acre-feet
).	DEVELOPMENT TRIBUTARY TO EXISTING DETEND	NTION FAC	ILITY(S)
	Existing Detention Sufficient		
()	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5)	3	0.80
2)	Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/developme	ent area)	0.09
	If $D.2 \le D.1$, no additional detention volume is required, con	nplete D & pr	oceed to G)
2)	If $D.2 > D.1$, proceed to (D.5).		aara faa
) 1)	Varified actual existing detention volume capacity (C.O).	davalonmont:	acre-lee
,	vermed detail emissing detention verante serving proposed	ae veropinent.	uoro roc
	Additional Volume Required (Use Modified Rational me	thod with Bu	lletin 70 Rainfall D
()	Original total composite runoff coefficient (C.5): 0.	.88	
5)	Proposed composite runoff coefficient (for sub re/developme	ent area):	0.89
)	Permitted release rate for the original facility (C.4):	1.183	cfs
3)	Original required detention volume capacity (C.6):	3.07	acre-feet
/			
))	Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/deve	lopment area	(C.6/C.2 * A.2):
) (0)	Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/deve 1.63 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2)	lopment area	(C.6/C.2 * A.2):
)) (0) (1)	Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/deve 1.63 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2) Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/devel 2.32 acre-feet	lopment area : <u>4.3</u> opment area	(C.6/C.2 * A.2): acre-feet (D.10/C.2 * A.2):
) 10) 11) 12)	Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/deve 1.63 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2) Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/devel 2.32 acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey):	lopment area : <u>4.3</u> opment area 3.07	(C.6/C.2 * A.2): acre-feet (D.10/C.2 * A.2): acre-feet
) (0) (1) (2) (3)	Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/deve 1.63 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2) Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/devel 2.32 acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey): Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9):	lopment area :4.3 opment area 3.07 0.69	(C.6/C.2 * A.2): <u>acre-feet</u> (D.10/C.2 * A.2): <u>acre-feet</u> <u>acre-feet</u>
0) 1) 2) 3) 4)	Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/deve <u>1.63</u> acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2) Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/devel <u>2.32</u> acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey): Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9): Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G): <u>0.4</u>	lopment area :4.3 opment area 3.07 0.69 15 (Vol Cont) 0.2	(C.6/C.2 * A.2): $acre-feet$ $(D.10/C.2 * A.2):$ $acre-feet$ $acre-feet$ $acre-feet$ $acre-feet$
 9) 10) 11) 12) 13) 14) E. 	Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/deve 1.63 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2) Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/devel 2.32 acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey): Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9): Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G): 0.4 DEVELOPMENT NOT PREVIOUSLY TRIBUTARY T DETENTION FACILITY	lopment area :4.3: opment area 3.07 0.69 15 (Vol Cont) 0.2 TO MWRD P	(C.6/C.2 * A.2): $acre-feet$ $(D.10/C.2 * A.2):$ $acre-feet$ $acre-feet$ $acre-feet$ $acre-feet$ $ERMITTED$
 A) <	Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/deve 1.63 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2) Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/devel 2.32 acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey): Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9): Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G): 0.4 DEVELOPMENT NOT PREVIOUSLY TRIBUTARY T DETENTION FACILITY New Belease Bate	lopment area :4.3 opment area 3.07 0.69 15 (Vol Cont) 0.2 TO MWRD P	(C.6/C.2 * A.2): acre-feet (D.10/C.2 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet ERMITTED
2) (0) (1) (2) (3) (4) E.	Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/deve 1.63 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2) Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/devel 2.32 acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey): Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9): Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G): 0.4 DEVELOPMENT NOT PREVIOUSLY TRIBUTARY T DETENTION FACILITY New Release Rate Cfs/acre for original permit area (C 4/C 2):	lopment area : <u>4.3</u> opment area 3.07 0.69 (Vol Cont) 0.2 O MWRD P	(C.6/C.2 * A.2): acre-feet (D.10/C.2 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet 4 (Det.) acre-feet ERMITTED
) (0) (1) (2) (3) (4) E.	Existing detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/deve 1.63 acre-feet Proposed required detention volume capacity (based on C.2) Proposed detention volume pro-rated for the sub re/devel 2.32 acre-feet Verified actual existing detention volume (from survey): Additional detention volume required†: (D.11 – D.9): Additional storage volume provided (then proceed to G): 0.4 DEVELOPMENT NOT PREVIOUSLY TRIBUTARY T DETENTION FACILITY New Release Rate Cfs/acre for original permit area (C.4/C.2): Release rate for new area (A 2 * F 1):	lopment area :4.3 opment area 3.07 0.69 15 (Vol Cont) 0.2 *O MWRD P	(C.6/C.2 * A.2): acre-feet (D.10/C.2 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet 4 (Det.) acre-feet ERMITTED

Schedule D-Legacy for Example 5.11 (Page 2 of 4)

		Watershed Management P	ermit No.	XX-XXXX
W	MO SCHEDULE D-LEGA	ACY		
W	ATERSHED MANAGEM	ENT FACILITIES		
4)	Additional Volume Required (Use Modified Rational method with Bulletin 70 Rainfall Dept Required detention volume for new development (per Bull. 70 & w/ new release (E.2): acre-feet			n 70 Rainfall Depths): ase (E.2):
5)	Required new total detention vo	olume $(C.6 + E.4)$:		acre-feet
6)	Verified actual existing detention	on volume (per survey):		acre-feet
7)	Additional detention volume re	equired † (E.5 – E.6):		acre-feet
8)	Additional storage volume prov	vided (then proceed to G):		acre-feet
F.	DEVELOPMENT TRIBUTARY TO UNPERMITTED DETENTION FACILITY(S)			CILITY(S)
1)	Existing Detention Sufficient Original total composite runoff	(Use Modified Rational method coefficient (C 9):	with TP-40	Rainfall Depths):
2)	Original allowable release rate	(C.8):	cfs	_
3)	Original required detention vol-	ume capacity (based on C.7):		acre-feet
4)	Verified actual existing detention	on volume (per survey):	acre	e-feet
5)	Existing impervious area of re/	development:	acres	
6)	Proposed impervious area of re	/development:	acres	
/	If $F.6 < F.5$, no additional deter	ntion volume is required, proceed	to G)	
	If $F.6 > F.5$, proceed to (F.7).			
7)	Additional Volume Required	(Use Modified Rational method	with Bulleti	n 70 Rainfall Depths):
"	Tioposed composite runoit coe.	inclent for fe/development area	C 7 * A 2).	
8)	Allowable release appropriated	to proposed re/development (F /		ote
8)	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for	to proposed re/development (F.2/	C.7 * A.2):	cts
8) 9) 10)	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for) Existing detention volume acro	proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet	area (F.3/	$\frac{\text{cfs}}{\text{acre-feet}}$ C.7 * A.2):
8) 9) 10) 11)	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for Existing detention volume acro Additional detention volume re	proposed re/development (F.2/ proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet equired †: (F.9 – F.10):	area (F.3/	cts acre-feet C.7 * A.2): acre-feet
8) 9) 10) 11) 12)	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for Existing detention volume acrup Additional detention volume re Additional storage volume prov	roproposed re/development (F.2/ proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet equired †: (F.9 – F.10): vided (then proceed to G):	area (F.3/	cts acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet
8) 9) 10) 11) 12)	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for) Existing detention volume acr) Additional detention volume re) Additional storage volume prov † If additional volume required ≤ 0 volume control storage provided of	to proposed re/development (F.2, proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet equired †: (F.9 – F.10): vided (then proceed to G): 0.10 acre-feet or 2% of total required, r can be credited toward the required vol	area (F.3/	cts acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet
8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G.	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for) Existing detention volume acr) Additional detention volume re) Additional storage volume prov † If additional volume required <0 volume control storage provided of EXISTING / PROPOSED DEC (Document existing, provide do Type of stormwater Detention	to proposed re/development (F.2, proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet equired †: (F.9 – F.10): vided (then proceed to G): 0.10 acre-feet or 2% of total required, r can be credited toward the required vol TENTION FACILITY PARAM etails and calculations if propos Volume (check one)	area (F.3/ area (F.3/ no additional vo ume IETERS ed)	cts acre-feet acre-feet acre-feet lume required. Note,
8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G.	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for Existing detention volume acr Additional detention volume re Additional storage volume prov † If additional volume required ≤ 0 volume control storage provided of EXISTING / PROPOSED DE' (Document existing, provide do Type of stormwater Detention	to proposed re/development (F.2, proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet equired †: (F.9 – F.10): vided (then proceed to G): 0.10 acre-feet or 2% of total required, r can be credited toward the required vol TENTION FACILITY PARAM etails and calculations if propos Volume (check one) □ Other	area (F.3/ area (F.3/ no additional vo ume (ETERS ed)	cts acre-feet C.7 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet lume required. Note,
8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G.	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for Existing detention volume acr Additional detention volume re Additional storage volume prov † If additional volume required ≤ 1 volume control storage provided of EXISTING / PROPOSED DE' (Document existing, provide do Type of stormwater Detention	to proposed re/development (F.2, proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet equired †: (F.9 – F.10): vided (then proceed to G): 0.10 acre-feet or 2% of total required, r can be credited toward the required vol TENTION FACILITY PARAM etails and calculations if propos Volume (check one) □ Other Specify	area (F.3/ area (F.3/ ono additional vo ume (ETERS ed) Offsite F Location	cfs acre-feet C.7 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet lume required. Note,
8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G.	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for) Existing detention volume acr) Additional detention volume re) Additional storage volume prov	to proposed re/development (F.2, proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet wided (then proceed to G): 0.10 acre-feet or 2% of total required, r can be credited toward the required vol TENTION FACILITY PARAM etails and calculations if propos Volume (check one) □ Other Specify	area (F.3/ area (F.3/ mo additional vo ume (ETERS ed) □ Offsite F Location	cts acre-feet C.7 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet lume required. Note,
 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G. 1) 	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for Existing detention volume 	to proposed re/development (F.2, proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet equired †: (F.9 – F.10): vided (then proceed to G): 0.10 acre-feet or 2% of total required, r can be credited toward the required vol TENTION FACILITY PARAM etails and calculations if propos Volume (check one) ☐ Other Specify ded at HWL (NAVD 88): 3.32	area (F.3/ area (F.3/ mo additional vo ume IETERS ed) Offsite F Location	cfs acre-feet C.7 * A.2): acre-feet acre-feet lume required. Note, acre-feet
 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G. 1) 2) 	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for) Existing detention volume acr) Additional detention volume re) Additional storage volume prov † If additional volume required ≤ 1 volume control storage provided of EXISTING / PROPOSED DE (Document existing, provide do Type of stormwater Detention ■ Reservoir □ Parking Lot Actual detention volume provide Actual release rate at HWL:	to proposed re/development (F.2, proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet equired †: (F.9 – F.10): vided (then proceed to G): 0.10 acre-feet or 2% of total required, r can be credited toward the required vol TENTION FACILITY PARAM etails and calculations if propos Volume (check one) Other Specify ded at HWL (NAVD 88):3.32 1.183 cfs	area (F.3/ area (F.3/ no additional vo ume (ETERS ed) Offsite F Location	cts acre-feet C.7 * A.2): acre-feet lume required. Note, acility acre-feet
 8) 9) 10) 11) 12) G. 1) 2) 	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for) Existing detention volume acr) Additional detention volume re) Additional storage volume prov	to proposed re/development (F.2, proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet vided (then proceed to G): 0.10 acre-feet or 2% of total required, r can be credited toward the required vol TENTION FACILITY PARAM etails and calculations if propos Volume (check one) □ Other Specify ded at HWL (NAVD 88):3.32 1.183 cfs	area (F.3/ area (F.3/ no additional vo ume (ETERS ed) □ Offsite F Location	cts acre-feet C.7 * A.2): acre-feet lume required. Note, acility
8) 9) 11) 12) G. 1) 2)	Allowable release appropriated Required detention volume for) Existing detention volume acr	to proposed re/development (F.2, proposed re/development: pro-rated for re/development e-feet equired †: (F.9 – F.10): vided (then proceed to G): 0.10 acre-feet or 2% of total required, r can be credited toward the required vol TENTION FACILITY PARAM etails and calculations if propos Volume (check one) □ Other Specify ded at HWL (NAVD 88):3.32 1.183 cfs	area (F.3/ area (F.3/ no additional vo ume (ETERS ed) □ Offsite F Location	cts acre-feet C.7 * A.2): acre-feet lume required. Note, acility

Schedule D-Legacy for Example 5.11 (Page 3 of 4)

Г

Watershed Management Permit No. XX-XXXX
WMO SCHEDULE D-LEGACY WATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITIES
3) HWL (NAVD 88):ft
Type of Stormwater Outlet Control Structure:
5) Discharge coefficient: 0.61
6) Diameter: 4.47 in
7) Orifice invert elevation (NAVD 88): 588.90 ft
8) Weir length: 10.0 ft
9) Weir invert elevation (NAVD 88):ft
H. UPSTREAM TRIBUTARY AREA AND BYPASS SYSTEMS (Document existing, provide details and calculations if proposed)
1) Upstream tributary drainage area: N/A acres
A)Ratio of upstream tributary area to development area:
B) Detention facility drawdown time:
C) Composite CN for upstream tributary area:
D) Time of concentration for upstream tributary area: minutes
E) 100-year peak flowrate for upstream tributary area:
 2) Describe bypass system type details: □ Overflow weir □ Restrictor Orifice diameter: in Orifice invert elevation: ft (NAVD 88) Orifice type and discharge coefficient: Weir length: ft Weir invert elevation: ft (NAVD 88)
 CERTIFICATION The undersigned professional engineer certifies that the design of the stormwater management facilities: Are in accordance with §501.1 of the WMO, and will have no adverse impacts on adjacent and downstream properties; Proposed collection systems and sewers have sufficient capacity to collect and convey the 100-yr site stormwater runoff to the basin and; The bypass system (existing or proposed) is designed with sufficient capacity for emergency overland flow of upstream and onsite areas.
Name John Smith Title Project Engineer
Signature Date
Engineering Firm Smith Engineering
PE SEAL
4/14 SCHEDULE D-LEGACY – WATERSHED MANAGEMENT FACILITIES PAGE 4 OF 4

Schedule D-Legacy for Example 5.11 (Page 4 of 4)

Parcels with Existing Detention not Permitted Under the SPO

Parcels in **combined sewer areas** were not required to provide **detention** under the **SPO**, however, a local ordinance may have required **detention** for these **developments**. Similarly, a local ordinance may have required detention in a **separate sewer area** when the **SPO** did not require it (for example, if the **development** was constructed prior to 1972 and a local ordinance was in place). Therefore, it is possible that **parcels** may have **existing detention facilities** that were never permitted by the **District**. The WMO also makes allowances for the **redevelopment** of these **parcels**. These allowances are outlined in §505.4 of the WMO.

If the **redevelopment** meets <u>all</u> of the following conditions:

- Actual detention volume is verified to meet or exceed the detention volume calculated according to standards set under the **SPO**, and signed and sealed by either a **Professional Engineer** or a **Professional Land Surveyor**;
- Actual release rate from the existing control **structure** is verified to be less than the requirements set under the **SPO**, and the calculations are signed and sealed by either a **Professional Engineer**;
- The **redevelopment** provides treatment of the **volume control storage** as required in the WMO; and
- The **redevelopment** provides adequate capacity to convey **stormwater runoff** to the **existing detention facility** for all storms up to and including the 100-year **storm event**.

Then, the following **redevelopment** allowances may be granted:

- If the **redevelopment's** proposed **impervious area** does not exceed the existing **impervious area**, additional **stormwater** detention volume is not required;
- If the redevelopment's proposed impervious area exceeds the existing impervious area, additional stormwater detention volume shall be provided for the redevelopment. In such situations, the modified Rational Method using Bulletin 70 rainfall data may be used to calculate the additional required storage volume. The release rate for the redevelopment will be based on a pro-rata share of redevelopment's portion of the actual release rate of the control structure.

<u>REFERENCES</u>

APT BASS System. "Permeable Paver Cross Section." <u>http://www.advancedpavement.com/</u> (accessed November 22, 2011).

Burke, C.B, and Burke, T.T. 2008. Indiana LTAP Stormwater Drainage Manual.

Chow, V.T. 1959, reissued 1988. Open Channel Hydraulics.

City of Chicago Stormwater Ordinance Manual. 2014. Available at: <u>http://www.cityofchicago.org/content/dam/city/depts/water/general/Engineering/SewerConst</u> <u>StormReq/2014StormwaterManual.pdf</u>

Kane County Technical Reference Manual. Available at: http://www.countyofkane.org/FDER/Documents/waterOrdinances/technicalManual.pdf

Lake County Technical Reference Manual. Available at: <u>http://www.lakecountyil.gov/Stormwater/FloodplainStormwaterRegulations/WDOandTRM/Pages/TechnicalReferenceManual.aspx</u>

Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago. 1978. *Recommendations for Design of Outflow Control Devices of Stormwater Detention Facilities*.

Natura, Heidi, Conservation Research Institute (CRI). "Root Systems of Prairie Plants." 1995. Available at: <u>http://conservationresearchinstitute.org/</u>

Southeast Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG). 2009. Low Impact Development Manual for Michigan: A Design Guide for Implementers and Reviewers. Available at: http://semcog.org/Plans-for-the-Region/Environment/Green-Infrastructure

US Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 1986. <u>Urban Hydrology</u> <u>for Small Watersheds: Technical Release 55.</u> Available at: <u>http://www.cpesc.org/reference/tr55.pdf</u>

US Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 2004. <u>National</u> <u>Engineering Handbook,</u> Part 603 Hydrology. Available at: <u>http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detailfull/national/water/?cid=stelprdb1043063</u>

US Environmental Protection Agency. 1999. *Storm Water Technology Fact Sheet: Hydrodynamic Separators*. Available at:

http://water.epa.gov/scitech/wastetech/upload/2002 06 28 mtb hydro.pdf

ARTICLE 6: FLOOD PROTECTION AREAS

Introduction

Flood Protection Areas (FPAs) are generally natural topographic and/or vegetated areas that provide water quantity benefits that are important components of **watershed** management. Under the WMO, **FPAs** include **floodplains**, **floodways**, **wetlands**, **wetland buffers**, and **riparian environments**.

FPAs provide a variety of functions, including **sediment** filtering, bank **stabilization**, water/**floodplain** storage and release, and aquifer recharge. In addition, **FPAs** can provide important habitat for wildlife.

FPAs are regulated by state and federal agencies. The Illinois Department of Natural Resources - Office of Water Resources (OWR) regulates activities in the regulatory floodway. The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) administers the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) in regulatory floodplains and regulatory floodways. The US Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) regulates waters of the US, including wetlands, and to some degree wetland buffers, which may also be located within riparian environments.

The WMO provides standards for **development** that meet, or in some instances exceed, the State **floodway** requirements as administered by the **OWR** and the **wetland** permitting requirements administered by the **Corps**. WMO regulations do not supersede or replace the authority of the **OWR** or the **Corps** to administer or issue permits for **development** under their jurisdiction. Prior to construction within a **FPA**, applicants must secure all appropriate permits or approvals from these agencies. For certain activities in the **floodway** and **wetlands**, the **OWR** and the **Corps** have issued Statewide and Regional Permits. Where **developments** meet the general or specific conditions of Statewide or Regional Permits, the appropriate documentation must be submitted to the **District** or an **authorized municipality** prior to issuance of a WMO permit.

Additionally, while the WMO meets, and in some instances exceeds, the minimum technical requirements of the **NFIP** for **development** in the **floodplain**, not all administrative requirements are specifically addressed. For example, the requirement and standard for elevating a **building** in the **floodplain** that has been substantially improved is included in the WMO. However, the administrative requirement to determine if an improvement is a **substantial improvement** is the responsibility of the **NFIP** community and may include activities that do not affect **stormwater**, such as internal remodeling or exterior improvements such as siding and windows.

<u>Note</u>: All bold terms contained in this document are defined terms in the WMO. Refer to Appendix A of the WMO or the TGM for the definition of each bold term.

REQUIREMENTS FOR FLOODPLAINS AND FLOODWAYS (§601)

Introduction

Floodplain management is a critical component of **watershed** management and is defined as the regulation of activity or **development** in the **floodplain**. For the purposes of the WMO, the **floodplain** is the area adjacent to and including a body of water where ground surface elevations are at or below the **100-year flood elevation**. The 100-year **flood** event represents a **flood** that has a one percent chance of occurring in any given year, and is also known as the "1% annual chance **flood**" or "**base flood**." The **100-year flood elevation** is commonly referred to as the **Base Flood Elevation** (**BFE**).

Floodplain management consists of the regulation of **floodways**, **flood** fringe areas, and **site**specific or **depressional storage** areas. **Floodplain** standards define appropriate activities allowed in the **floodplain** and describe how these activities must be constructed to protect people and property from **flood** damage.

The WMO establishes general standards for **development** activities in the **floodplain**. The WMO in §601.1 states that **development** within **floodplains** shall <u>not</u>:

- "Result in any new or additional expense to any **person** other than the applicant for flood protection or for lost environmental stream uses and functions;
- Increase flood elevations by more than 0.1 ft or decrease flood conveyance capacity upstream or downstream of the area not under the ownership or control of the applicant;
- Increase flood velocities by more than 10% or result in an impairment of the hydrologic and hydraulic functions of streams and floodplains unless a water resource benefit is realized;
- 4. Violate any provision of this **Ordinance** either during or after construction; and
- 5. Unreasonably or unnecessarily degrade surface or ground water quality."

All activities in the **floodplain** that meet the WMO definition of **development** require a **Watershed Management Permit**. The WMO defines **development** as:

"Any human-induced activity or change to real estate (including, but not limited to, grading, paving, excavation, dredging, fill, or mining; alteration, subdivision, change in land use or practice; **building**; or storage of equipment or materials) undertaken by private or public entities that affects the volume, flow rate, drainage pattern, or composition of **stormwater**, or the **substantial improvement** of an existing **building** in a **Special Flood Hazard Area** (**SFHA**). The term **development** shall include **redevelopment** and shall be understood to not include **maintenance**."

The WMO and the National Flood Insurance Program

National Flood Insurance Program Eligibility (WMO §206)

- 1. The WMO does not repeal any municipal ordinance or resolution passed in order to establish eligibility for the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP).
- 2. The WMO is not intended to supplement, replace, or remove any responsibility that a municipality may have to maintain eligibility and good standing in the NFIP. Proper administration and enforcement of the NFIP within participating municipalities is a requirement of the NFIP.
- 3. Floodplain requirements meet or exceed the NFIP requirements for development as defined by Article 6 of the WMO.

Note:

Refer to the actual language contained in the NFIP Floodplain Management Regulations at Title 44 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 59 and 60 for municipal requirements for the administration and enforcement of the required NFIP minimum criteria.

Identifying Regulatory Floodplain

The National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) was established in 1968 to promote responsible floodplain management to reduce future flood damages and to offer flood insurance to individual property owners. The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) began publishing Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs) to show the locations of flood zones in relation to specific properties. Since FEMA began publishing FIRMs in the early 1970's, the maps have been updated and revised to include the various flood studies that have been completed over the years. At the time of this publication, the most recent FIRMs for Cook County have a revision date of August 19, 2008. Both historical and effective FIRMs can be viewed on-line through FEMA's website at: <u>https://msc.FEMA.gov/</u>. A complete listing of all FIRM maps in Cook County is provided in Appendix B of the TGM.

FIRMs provide the locations of various **flood** zones in relation to specific properties. Each **FIRM** contains a legend that designates the different types of **flood** zones and their characteristics. The maps also include other useful information such as the limits of the **regulatory floodway**, municipal boundaries, and benchmarks. The **regulatory floodplain** is shown on the **FIRM** as a **SFHA**, and in Illinois all **SFHAs** have Zone "A" designations. **Flood** zones with the "A" designation are areas with a one percent chance of **flooding**, however, a **BFE** may or may not be established by **FEMA**.

A listing of applicable Zone A **floodplains** is shown in Table 6-1. Any Zone A areas shown on a **FIRM** are considered to be **regulatory floodplain** areas. Descriptions of other common **FIRM** zones are also included in the table.

FIRM Zone	Description
	Areas with a 1% annual chance of flooding and a 26% chance of flooding over the life
AE, A1-A30	of a 30-year mortgage. In most instances, BFEs derived from detailed analyses are
	shown at selected intervals within these zones.
	Areas with a 1% annual chance of shallow flooding, usually in the form of a pond, with
۸ L I	an average depth ranging from 1 to 3 feet. These areas have a 26% chance of flooding
АП	over the life of a 30-year mortgage. BFEs derived from detailed analyses are shown at
	selected intervals within these zones.
	River or stream flood hazard areas and areas with a 1% or greater chance of shallow
	flooding each year, usually in the form of sheet flow, with an average depth ranging
AO	from 1 to 3 feet. These areas have a 26% chance of flooding over the life of a 30-year
	mortgage. Average flood depths derived from detailed analyses are shown within
	these zones
	Areas with a 1% annual chance of flooding and a 26% chance of flooding over the life
	of a 30-year mortgage. Because detailed analyses are not performed for such areas, no
٨	depths or BFEs are shown within these zones. Since no BFE has been established, the
A	applicant must determine an elevation using a site-specific floodplain study by a
	professional engineer using appropriate hydrologic and hydraulic models. This is
	discussed in further detail in this document.
	Areas with a temporarily increased flood risk due to the building or restoration of a
	flood control system (such as a levee or a dam). Mandatory flood insurance purchase
AR	requirements will apply, but rates will not exceed the rates for unnumbered A zones if
	the structure is built or restored in compliance with Zone AR floodplain management
	regulations.
	Areas with a 1% annual chance of ${\it flooding}$ that will be protected by a Federal ${\it flood}$
A99	control system where construction has reached specified legal requirements. No
	depths or BFEs are shown within these zones.
	Areas outside the 1-percent annual chance floodplain, outside of the 1% annual
	chance sheet flow flooding where average depths are less than 1 foot, and outside the
v	areas of 1% annual chance stream flooding where the contributing drainage area is
^	less than 1 square mile, or areas protected from the 1% annual chance flood by levees.
	No BFEs or depths are shown within these zones. Flood insurance is not required in
	these zones and no floodplain permit is required from MWRD.
D	Areas in which flood hazards are undetermined, but possible.

The AE, A1-A30, AH, AO, A, AR, and A99 areas described in the table above are often referred to as the 100-year **floodplain**. Following the passage of the **Flood** Disaster Protection Act of 1973 and the National **Flood** Insurance Reform Act of 1994, the purchase of **flood** insurance is mandatory for any federally backed mortgage on a **building** located in a **SFHA**.

Regulatory Floodplain and BFE Determination

Although the limits of the **regulatory floodplain** are shown on a **FIRM**, a more accurate location of the **regulatory floodplain** is possible by delineating the **BFE** on the project-specific topography. Because **FIRMs** round the **BFE** to the nearest whole foot, it is necessary to consult the **Flood Insurance Study (FIS)**, which provides **flood** profiles to the nearest 0.1 foot. Therefore, to accurately identify the limits of the **regulatory floodplain** on a project **site**, a combination of the information provided on the **FIRM** and in the **FIS** must be used.

In addition to the **flood** profiles, the **FIS** contains other useful information such as the hydrologic and hydraulic computer models used in **floodplain** studies, **floodway** data tables, and **flood** profiles. It also contains an inventory of any **Letters of Map Change (LOMC)** that have been issued by **FEMA** for the County. The **Cook County FIS** can be viewed on-line through **FEMA's** website using the following link: <u>https://msc.FEMA.gov/.</u>

Map zones are designated on the **FIRM** and are described in the map's legend. As stated in the WMO, the determination of the **BFE** in **SFHAs** shown on the **FIRM** associated with the effective **FIS** shall be determined for:

- AE Zones by using the 100-year profile at the **development site**, which is taken from the FIS;
- 2. AH Zones by using the elevation noted on the applicable **FIRM**;
- 3. AO Zones by using the **highest adjacent grade** plus the depth number shown on the applicable **FIRM**, or two feet above the **highest adjacent grade** if no depth number is provided; and
- 4. Areas shown as A Zones on the effective **FIS**, a **BFE** shall be determined by a projectspecific **floodplain** study approved by the **District**. This study shall be approved by **OWR** in cases where both:
 - a. The drainage area is one square mile or greater; and
 - b. The **development** is associated with a permit that will be issued by **OWR**.

When a known **flood** hazard is not shown on the **FIRM** as an **SFHA**, the **District** or an **authorized municipality** may require the applicant to perform a project-specific **floodplain** study to determine the **BFE**. For these cases, the requirements outlined in (4) above will also apply.

Project Specific Floodplain Studies

The **District** may require a project-specific **floodplain** study to determine the project-specific **100-year flood elevation** (§601.5). The reasons for a project-specific **floodplain** study may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Areas that are mapped as SFHAs on the FIRM but contain no associated flood elevation. The project-specific study will provide both the limits of the floodplain and floodway and will serve as best available information until a regulatory floodplain and floodway are established. If the tributary area to the site is one square mile or greater, the study shall also require approval from OWR or their designee;
- Areas that are known to flood, but where there is no SFHA shown on the FIRM. The project-specific floodplain study will be used to determine the extent of the floodplain to ensure that new structures are built to withstand flooding and to ensure that no

damage is caused to existing **buildings** as a result of new **development**; and

3. Areas where the **floodplain** maps are known to incorrectly delineate the **floodplain** elevations.

For the above situations, the project-specific **floodplain** studies need to be approved by **OWR** in cases where both:

- 1. The **drainage area** is one square mile or greater; and
- 2. The **development** is associated with a permit that will be issued by **OWR**.

Also, when a project-specific **floodplain** study is required, hydraulic and hydrologic analysis must be completed utilizing an approved methodology such as those outlined in §601.6 of the WMO, including:

- 1. TR-20, HEC-1, or HEC-HMS hydrologic model; and
- 2. HEC-2 or HEC-RAS hydraulic model.

Hydrologic Models

TR-20 is a DOS-based hydrologic modeling computer program that was developed by the Soil Conservation Service (now named the **Natural Resources Conservation Service**). TR-20 is a physically-based **watershed** scale **runoff** event model that is based on the Soil Conservation Service (SCS) Technical Release (TR-55) methodology. It computes direct **runoff** and develops hydrographs resulting from any synthetic or natural rainstorm. Developed hydrographs are routed through stream and valley reaches as well as through reservoirs. Hydrographs are combined from tributaries with those on the main stream stem. Branching flow (diversions) and baseflow can also be accommodated. The TR-20 hydrologic modeling software is available for download on-line at:

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detailfull/null/?cid=stelprdb1042924

A windows-based version of the software (Win TR-20) has also been developed and can be downloaded on-line at:

https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detailfull/national/water/manage/hydrology/

HEC-1 and HEC-HMS hydrologic modeling computer programs were developed by the **Corps**. These programs offer the same capabilities as TR-20, but provide additional methodologies for the generation of **runoff** and hydrograph routing. HEC-HMS is the windows-based version of the software and supersedes the original DOS-based HEC-1 software. Both programs are acceptable to use in hydrologic analyses, however, HEC-1 and HEC-HMS must be used in conjunction with the SCS **runoff** method. The programs are available for download on-line at:

http://www.hec.Corps.army.mil/software/.

Hydrologic Modeling Procedure

If flowrates for a **waterway** have been established in the **FIS**, or have been certified by **OWR**, the applicant may use these flowrates instead of performing a detailed hydrologic analysis of the **waterway**. If there are no established flowrates, or if **watershed** conditions have changed which render the established flows obsolete, then the applicant must perform a detailed hydrologic analysis to define flowrates through the project **site**. Utilizing one of the approved hydrologic models from the previous section, a hydrologic analysis must be performed using the following guidelines:

- The modeling should assume an average Antecedent Moisture Condition (AMC) of 2 for the **watershed**.
- The **Bulletin 70** rainfall depths provided in Table 5-6 of the **TGM** must be used in conjunction with the appropriate Huff rainfall distributions (Table 5-5).
- The analysis should include the 1-, 2-, 3-, 6-, 12-, 18-, 24- and 48-hour storm durations to determine the critical storm duration for the **watershed**.
- Where available, the hydrologic model should be calibrated to gaged data for the **watershed**.

Hydraulic Models

Both HEC-2 and HEC-RAS are water surface profile programs developed by the **Corps**. The HEC-RAS software, which performs one-dimensional steady and unsteady flow river hydraulic calculations, supersedes the DOS-based HEC-2 software, which calculated water surface profiles for one-dimensional, steady flow conditions. These programs compute water surface profiles for both subcritical and supercritical flow conditions, and have the ability to analyze the effects of bridges, culverts, flow obstructions, inline weirs, lateral **structures** and other **structures** that influence river hydraulics. These models were also designed for applications in **floodplain** management and **flood** insurance studies to evaluate **floodway** encroachments. Both HEC-2 and HEC-RAS are acceptable hydraulic modeling software, and are available for download on-line at:

http://www.hec.Corps.army.mil/software/

Since technologies are constantly improving and new models are being developed, there may

be additional methods available for modeling purposes. Alternative methodology must be approved by the **District** and by **OWR**, as applicable, prior to submitting for a permit.

Hydraulic Modeling Procedure

By utilizing either established flowrates or flowrates obtained through a detailed hydrologic analysis, the water surface profiles for a **waterway** can be established by using one of the hydraulic models approved by the WMO. An existing (without project) conditions hydraulic model should be developed to determine the limits of the **floodplain** through the project **site**. A proposed (with project) conditions hydraulic model should also be developed to determine the impacts (if any) that the proposed project has on **flood** elevations.

Existing (Without Project) Conditions Model

A hydraulic model is developed based on project-specific survey data, which includes channel cross-sections and all hydraulic **structures**. The cross-sections should be drawn parallel to each other and perpendicular to **flood** flow, and should also extend beyond the limits of the 100-year **floodplain**. Roughness coefficients (Manning's n values) for the channel and overbank areas of each cross-section must be defined based on the types of vegetation and land use. The hydraulic model requires the user to define a downstream boundary condition, which is either a known water surface elevation (preferable) or the normal depth based on the average slope of the channel. The downstream boundary condition should be located sufficiently downstream so that it does not affect the onsite **flood** elevations (in most cases this will be less than 500 feet downstream). If the subject **waterway** is influenced by the backwater of a receiving stream, the downstream boundary condition should be adjusted accordingly.

The results of this model will serve as the existing (without project) conditions. This hydraulic model can become the regulatory model if it is approved by the community, **OWR** (if required), and **FEMA**.

Proposed (With Project) Conditions Model

This hydraulic model is developed based on the effects of the proposed **development** on the **waterway**. The cross-section geometries should reflect any **floodplain** cut or fill that results from the proposed **development**. If the **development** proposes roadway crossings, the new hydraulic **structures** should be included in the hydraulic model. The channel and overbank roughness coefficients should be adjusted to account for any changes to the onsite vegetation and land use. The proposed conditions model will determine the impacts that the proposed project has on the existing hydraulic conditions.

Letters of Map Change (LOMC)

The WMO requires all applicants to review the current **FIRM**, including any **LOMCs**, to determine if a **regulatory floodplain** is within the **development site**. **FIRMs** can be updated at any time by **FEMA**, and only **FEMA** can issue a revision to a **FIRM**. Because each **LOMC** is not necessarily updated on the **FIRMs**, the applicant must review all **LOMCs** issued in their area of **interest** to verify they are using the most up-to-date **FEMA** approved **flood** elevations. For this reason, the WMO states in §601.3:

The current versions of the maps adopted and published by **FEMA** for regulation under the **NFIP** together with any amendments, additions, revisions, or substitutions adopted and published by **FEMA** at any time in the future are hereby referred to, adopted, and made part hereof, as if fully set out in the WMO.

LOMCs can be viewed on-line from **FEMA**'s website at: <u>https://msc.FEMA.gov</u>.

Because **FIRMs** play such a critical role in effective **floodplain** management, the limits of the **SFHAs** are constantly being updated to reflect new and better information. Communities, engineers, homeowners, and developers may find it necessary to revise the **FIRMs** to reflect new information. A description of each type of **LOMC** is provided below.

Letter of Map Amendment (LOMA)

A LOMA is required when a single structure (or multiple structures) is inadvertently shown in the SFHA, but is built on natural high ground that is equal to or above the BFE. Certification by a **Professional Engineer** or **Professional Land Surveyor** is required so that the lowest adjacent grade (LAG) of the structure is at or above the BFE. When FEMA issues a LOMA, the structure is removed from the SFHA, but the FIRM is not actually revised to reflect it.

Letter of Map Revision (LOMR)

To officially revise the **regulatory floodplain** and **floodway** boundaries, a **LOMR** must be issued by **FEMA**. There are several cases that may require a **LOMR**, with the most common being:

- A flood study is developed for a Zone A (unstudied) area;
- A new **flood** study is developed that revises the regulatory **flood** study; or
- A **flood** control facility, such as a reservoir or levee, is constructed that revises the regulatory flowrates/**flood** elevations

When **FEMA** issues a **LOMR**, both **flood** elevations and **SFHA** boundaries are revised, but only for the affected area.

Physical Map Revision (PMR)

LOMR requests typically involve small areas of revisions, but if a large area of revision is requested, such as for an entire **watershed** study, it is easier for **FEMA** to re-issue the entire **FIRM** panel(s). When a PMR is issued, **FEMA** will physically reprint one or more **FIRM** panels that cover the area of revision.

LOMR-F

A LOMR-F request is to remove a **structure** or area of land from the **SFHA** through the placement of fill. The LOMR-F officially revises the limits of the **SFHA** based on the fill area, but it does not revise **flood** elevations or **floodway** boundaries (since fill is not allowed in the **floodway**).

CLOMR

A **CLOMR** is only required for proposed projects that either: (1) increase **flood** elevations by more than 0.1 foot, or (2) revise the **regulatory floodway** boundary. The purpose of the **CLOMR** is to verify that, if a proposed project is constructed as designed, it will revise **flood** elevations and/or **floodway** boundaries. Since a **CLOMR** is conditional, there is no map revision when it is issued. The official map revision would occur after as-builts are submitted and **FEMA** issues a **LOMR**.

In order to meet the minimum requirements of the **NFIP** and the **OWR floodway** regulations, the WMO requires certain **LOMCs** to be obtained prior to construction in the **FPA**:

- All CLOMR, LOMR, and LOMR-F applications must have the approval of the governing municipality and must be submitted to the District concurrently with the application to FEMA (§602.15);
- Filling, grading, dredging, excavating, or other proposed development within the regulatory floodplain is prohibited if the proposed activity will create an increase to the FIS effective BFE or a modification to the regulatory floodway boundary, until a CLOMR is issued by FEMA and a floodway construction permit is issued by OWR (§602.16); and
- 3. If a **LOMR** is required by **FEMA**, then **building** construction shall not take place until the approved **LOMR** is received (§602.17).

Examples for Determining the BFE, the Flood Protection Elevation (FPE), and Limits of the Regulatory Floodplain

Example 1: SFHA Shown on FIRM and BFE Established

BFE = 100-year flood elevation taken from FIS flood profile

FPE = BFE + 2 feet

Regulatory Floodplain = BFE delineated on site-specific topography

Example 2: SFHA Shown on FIRM, BFE Determined in the FIS and an LOMC Issued

BFE = 100-year flood elevation taken from issued LOMC

FPE = BFE + 2 feet

Regulatory Floodplain = **BFE** delineated on **site**-specific topography

Example 3: SFHA Shown on FIRM and No BFE Established

BFE = 100-year flood elevation from project-specific floodplain study

FPE = BFE + 2 feet

Regulatory Floodplain = BFE delineated on **site**-specific topography

Example 4: SFHA NOT Shown on FIRM, No BFE, and District Requires a Project-Specific Study

BFE = 100-year flood elevation from project-specific floodplain study

FPE = BFE + 2 feet

Regulatory Floodplain = **BFE** delineated on **site**-specific topography

In this situation it is important to note that all WMO and **NFIP** requirements apply throughout the **SFHA**.

Identifying Regulatory Floodway

The **floodway** is the portion of the **floodplain** adjacent to a stream or watercourse that is needed to convey the **base flood** without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than 0.10 foot. Water within the **floodway** is often the deepest and swiftest. Protecting this area is critical because **development** within it may result in potentially damaging increases in **flood** stage and **flood** velocities. In accordance with Illinois law, **development** in the **regulatory floodway** is limited to **appropriate uses** and is under the jurisdiction of the **OWR**.



Figure 6.1. Floodplain, Floodway, and Stream Channel Cross-section

The limits of the **regulatory floodway** must be determined for each **development site**. Designated **regulatory floodways** are shown as cross-hatched areas on the effective **FIRM**. To locate the **regulatory floodway** boundary on a project **site**, the **floodway** should be scaled off the **regulatory floodway** map and located on a **site** plan using reference marks common to both maps. These reference points should be fixed objects common to both the **floodway** map and the **site** plan such as roadways, bridges, and section lines. Unlike the **regulatory floodplain**, which is delineated based on project-specific topography, the **regulatory floodway** widths for a

project **site** should be identical to the **regulatory floodway** widths shown on the **FIRM**. Where interpretation is needed to determine the exact location of the **regulatory floodway** boundary, the **District** or an **authorized municipality** should be contacted for the interpretation.

In some instances, a cross-section from the **FIS** may be located on the property. For that specific location, it is not necessary to scale the **floodway** limits. The applicant may refer to the **Floodway** Data Tables found within the **FIS**. The cross-section number should be determined from the **FIRM** and then located within the **FIS**.

Designating a Regulatory Floodway

The **floodway** is established using the hydraulic computer model that was used to establish the **floodplain**. The **floodplain** is artificially encroached upon until a certain threshold in reached. Per **OWR** Part 3708 Rules, encroachments are made to the **floodplain** until one of the following criteria is met:

- 0.10-foot increase in the **100-year flood elevation**;
- 10% reduction in storage volume; or
- 10% increase in flow velocities.

When one of these thresholds is met, the **floodway** boundaries have been established. Figure 6.1 illustrates the encroachment of a **floodplain** to define the **floodway**.

Regulatory Floodway Not Designated

The **FIRMs** may show **SFHAs**, but the **floodway** may not be designated or depicted. This is also the case for those projects where no **SFHA** is defined, but a **site**-specific **floodplain** study is required. If a **floodway** has not been designated, requirements are based on the **drainage area** of the **development site** and upstream areas:

- 1. If the **drainage area** is greater than one square mile to any portion of the **site**, **regulatory floodway** is determined to be the limits of the **regulatory floodplain** (§601.7.A). All provisions related to **regulatory floodway**, with the exception of the **appropriate use** criteria, would apply.
- 2. If floodplain is not designated on the Cook County FIRM but the tributary drainage area is greater than one square mile to any portion of the site, the applicant is required to complete a site-specific floodplain study to establish the 100-year floodplain through the site. OWR concurrence would be required for the site-specific floodplain study, however, it is not necessary for the applicant to designate the floodway. The provisions referenced in (1) above would apply.
- 3. If the **floodway** is not designated on the **Cook County FIRM** and the tributary **drainage area** to all portions of the **site** is less than one square mile, **floodway** designation is not required (§601.7.B); only **floodplain** provisions of the WMO would apply.

Re-Designating a Regulatory Floodway

Flood elevations generated by the regulatory model must first be duplicated before updated data is input into the model to reflect the existing conditions. The **flood** profiles, flows, and **floodway** data in the **regulatory floodway** study must be used for analysis of the regulatory conditions. If the study data appears to be in error or conditions have changed, the **OWR** or its designee shall be contacted for approval and concurrence on the appropriate existing conditions data to use. Once the output of the regulatory model has been duplicated to within 0.10 foot of the regulatory profile, revisions should be input to reflect the modified-existing conditions.

Duplicate Effective Model

Whether or not a revision to the **regulatory floodway** conditions is desired, the first step is to duplicate the regulatory profile using the same hydraulic model. Data input into the duplicate model should be identical to the data generated by the regulatory profile. It is not necessary to duplicate the entire regulatory profile but the applicant should start the profile at least four cross-sections downstream of the project site. Once the input from the regulatory model has been duplicated, the output of the duplicate model should be verified against the output of the regulatory model. A copy of the regulatory profile should be submitted along with the duplicate model run as part of the permit application package. The discharges from the regulatory model shall be used except where the **District** or an **authorized municipality** requires new discharges. The necessity for new discharges will depend on the correlation between the existing conditions profile, the regulatory profile, and the magnitude of the impacts on the profile due to the project. If the existing conditions profile is calculated to be lower than the regulatory profile, the effects of lost storage must be analyzed and the new hydrologic analysis must reflect the future land use. The applicant may contact the **District** or an **authorized** municipality for an opinion on the suitability of the regulatory discharges. New discharges shall be developed based on the methodologies outlined in Article 5 of the TGM. Where there is a designated **floodway** mapped, but there is no computer model available, the engineer should consult the **District** about how to proceed with the specifics of modeling the existing conditions. Whenever new discharges are determined, they should be submitted to the OWR for concurrence. The certified discharges form is available on-line through the **OWR's** website at:

http://www.dnr.illinois.gov/WaterResources/Documents/DischargeCertification_Live_Form.pdf

Corrected Effective Model

Once the duplicated model has been prepared and is operational, the model must be updated to create a model based upon the existing conditions, in order to do a comparison against the proposed conditions hydraulic model. Cross-sections should be added to the effective model where it is appropriate to add them for both the existing and with project hydraulic analyses. The existing conditions model should include all corrections to the regulatory profile and should be modeled with attention to areas of ineffective conveyance. The applicant is responsible for all existing field conditions within the **watershed** which may affect the existing conditions hydraulic model. These areas can be maintained in the model for storage volume and area
calculations by inputting an artificially high n-value for these areas (such as 99). This will cause the computer model to treat these areas as ones of ineffective flow, but the cross-sectional area is still maintained for the area and volume calculations. Ineffective flow areas should be clearly annotated on the plans and cross-sections.

The existing conditions profile must tie in to the regulatory profile to within 0.5 feet, based on **FEMA** requirements, upstream and downstream of the project reach. Where it is not possible to meet the regulatory profile, a new **hydrology** study will need to be prepared.

With Project Conditions Model

The with project conditions model will use the same regulatory discharges and cross-section locations as the regulatory conditions model but will reflect the **development** on the **site**. The applicant should first run the model using the with project topography with the fixed encroachments set at the existing condition. If the conveyance, storage, and travel time are maintained and the **flood** stages are not increased, the with project **floodway** will be allowed if it does not differ from the existing conditions **floodway**. If these conditions are not yet met, there are two options: (1) to revise the design to meet the criteria of the WMO, or (2) to develop a new **floodway** that meets the WMO definition and obtain a **LOMR** from **FEMA**, revising the **regulatory floodway**.

The **regulatory floodway** may be re-designated by the applicant, provided that approvals are received from **FEMA** and the **OWR**. For all designated **floodway**s, approval of the re-designation shall be required by **FEMA** through a **CLOMR** and **LOMR**. **FEMA** requires **OWR** concurrence whenever the **tributary area** is greater than one square mile.

REQUIREMENTS FOR DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE FLOODPLAIN (§602)

Introduction

For the purposes of the WMO, the **floodplain** is the area adjacent to and including a body of water where ground surface elevations are at or below the **100-year flood elevation**. The WMO §602 provides standards for **development** within the **floodplain**. The standards incorporate the minimum requirements of the **OWR** for activities within the **regulatory floodway** and the technical standards of the **NFIP**. Activities in the **regulatory floodway** are limited to **appropriate uses** of the **floodway**.

FPE Determination

The WMO (§601.9) specifies that the **Flood Protection Elevation (FPE)** for the **development site** is two feet above the highest **100-year flood elevation** as determined by:

- 1. The BFE associated with the effective Cook County FIS, including any Letter of Map Change (LOMC) that has been issued by FEMA; and
- 2. The project-specific **100-year flood elevation** developed in §601.5.

The **FPE** must be determined for all **sites** with **floodplain** areas located on the **site** or adjacent to the **site**. **Buildings** located in a **floodplain** must be elevated to the **FPE** (§602.2) and **buildings** adjacent to a **floodplain** must be elevated or otherwise protected (via **floodproofing**) to the **FPE** (§502.14). The two feet of elevation is added to the highest **100-year flood elevation** to provide a factor of safety for **floods** greater in magnitude than a 100-year event. It should be noted that projects with multiple **SFHAs** may have more than one **FPE** for the **development**.

This factor of safety is the last line of defense for protecting **buildings** and **structures** from **flood** damages. Since the **FPE** defined by the WMO goes above and beyond the **NFIP** requirement of elevating **buildings** to the **BFE**, it will also lower insurance premiums for **structures** that carry **flood** insurance.

All usable space in new **buildings** and additions to existing **buildings** in a **floodplain** must be elevated to at least the **FPE** either on fill or by structural elevation. Additionally, all usable space for **substantial improvements** to existing **buildings** in a **regulatory floodplain** must be elevated to at least the **FPE**. It is acceptable for the floor of an attached garage to be elevated only one foot above the **BFE**, provided that the entry door threshold and other openings are elevated to the **FPE** by either fill or by structural elevation. This concept is illustrated in Figure 6.3.

As outlined in the **TGM**, a **basement** is only allowable if a **Letter of Map Revision Based on Fill** (**LOMR-F**) effectively removes the lot from the **floodplain**. All electrical, heating, ventilating, plumbing, and air conditioning equipment must also be elevated to at least the **FPE**. All **structures** that are not **buildings** must be constructed at or above the **FPE** or otherwise protected to the **FPE** from **flood** damage.



Figure 6.2. BFE, FPE, and Compacted Fill Cross-section for Structure in the Floodplain (Assumes No LOMR-F)

Building Protection

The **FPE** determined in §601.9 applies to all **structures** located in the **floodplain**. Understanding the definitions of **structures**, **buildings**, usable space, and **accessory structures** is important to understand when the WMO requirements apply.

Structures are defined by the WMO as:

Anything that is erected or constructed on or below ground including, but not limited to, **buildings**, **manufactured homes**, **accessory structures**, fences, sheds, tanks, **dams**, sewers, constructed channels, **outfalls**, parking lots, driveways, roads, sidewalks, and concrete patios.

Buildings are defined by the WMO as:

A **structure** that is constructed and is enclosed by walls and a roof, including **manufactured homes**. This term does not include **accessory structures**.

Accessory Structure is defined by the WMO as:

A detached, non-habitable **building** without sanitary facilities that is an accessory to an existing **building** and that is less than 500 square feet in area. **Accessory structures** include, but are not limited to, garages and sheds.

Usable Space can be defined as:

Enclosed space used for dwelling, storage, utilities, or other beneficial purposes

including, but not limited to, **basement**s and attached garages.



Figure 6.3. BFE and FPE for Structures with Attached Garages

New and Existing Buildings

New **buildings**, additions to existing **buildings**, or **substantial improvements** to existing **buildings** within the **regulatory floodplain** but outside the **regulatory floodway**, that have their **lowest floor** below the **BFE**, must comply with the following:

- The lowest adjacent grade to the foundation must be at or above the **BFE** for a minimum distance of 10 feet beyond the outside face of the **structure** for **buildings** without **basements**;
- The lowest adjacent grade to the foundation must be at or above the **BFE** for a minimum distance of 20 feet beyond the outside face of the **structure** for **buildings** with **basements** (see Figure 6.4);
- The lowest opening in the foundation wall must be at or above the **FPE**;
- **Compensatory storage** per §602.9 and §602.10 must be provided;
- It must be demonstrated that a building and building site are reasonably safe from flooding per design requirements in Technical Bulletin 10-01 issued by FEMA (available at <u>http://www.FEMA.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1511-20490-3169/tb1001.pdf</u>); and
- A LOMR-F must be obtained if the building site is in the regulatory floodplain.

If the **site** of a proposed **building** within a **development site** is elevated by fill such that **FEMA** will provide a **LOMR-F**, then a **basement** can be constructed below the **BFE**. This is an allowable

practice since the **LOMR-F** effectively removes the area from the **floodplain**, and therefore the **NFIP** requirements are no longer applicable to **development** on this land.



Figure 6.4. BFE and Setback Distance for Buildings with Basements (FEMA, 2001)

The WMO contains additional requirements for **development** in the **floodplain** (§602.12). New **structures** that are elevated, existing **structures** that are **floodproofed**, or **substantial improvements** shall:

- A. Be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement;
- B. Use **flood** resistant materials below the **FPE**;
- C. Use construction methods and practices that do not increase the potential for increases in **flood** damage;
- D. Elevate electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, air conditioning equipment, and other service facilities to the **FPE** or higher;
- E. Provide adequate access and drainage; and
- F. Provide a backup power source that will activate without human intervention if electricity is required.

Accessory Structures

New accessory structures within the floodplain shall be elevated according to the NFIP Ordinance adopted by the municipality. At a minimum, accessory structures must be elevated to the BFE.

Parking Lots

There is no specified maximum **flood** depth on new parking lots in the **floodplain**, however, any parking lot built below the **100-year flood elevation** must clearly post the potential **flood** hazard.

Water and Wastewater Systems

New and replacement water supply systems, wells and sanitary systems in areas adjacent to or within the **floodplain** must have all above ground openings above the **FPE** or be watertight (§602.19). New waste disposal systems on the **site** shall not be constructed within the **floodplain** (§602.22).

Methods for Providing Flood Protection

As discussed above, new **buildings**, new additions to existing **buildings**, or existing **buildings** in the **floodplain** undergoing **substantial improvement** must have all usable space elevated to the **FPE** (which is two feet above the **BFE**). **Floodproofing** is not permitted on new **buildings**, both residential and **non-residential**. Instead, the **building** must be elevated. This can be accomplished a number of ways, as discussed below.

Elevation Using Fill

Fill may be placed on a **site** to elevate a portion of the property above the **FPE** in order to provide a buildable area for a proposed **building** or **structure**. Any fill used to elevate a **building** must extend at least 10 feet beyond the foundation before the grade slopes below the **100-year flood elevation** (§602.13). This 10-foot buffer around the **building** reduces potential damage and impacts resulting from hydrostatic forces on the **building** from the surrounding **base flood** waters.

Any fill required to elevate a **building** or **structure** to the **flood protection elevation** must also adhere to all other provisions of the WMO. Any fill placed within the **floodplain** to meet **flood** protection requirements must also meet **compensatory storage** requirements as outlined in §602.9 and §602.10 of the WMO.

FEMA provides a document with information to help ensure that **buildings** or **structures** built on fill are reasonably safe from **flooding**. This document is entitled *Technical Bulletin 10-01* and is available on **FEMA's** website on-line at:

http://www.FEMA.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1511-20490-3169/tb1001.pdf

Elevating by Means Other Than Fill

Elevating a **building** or **structure** to provide the required **flood** protection by means other than filling when within the **floodplain** may be permitted (§602.14). This may be accomplished using stilts, piles, walls, or other foundations. All other provisions of the WMO apply. Additional guidance related to the provisions in §602.14 is contained in the **FEMA** publication *Elevating Residential Structures* (FEMA 54). This document is available on **FEMA's** website on-line at:

http://www.FEMA.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1509-20490-6744/FEMA54.pdf

Floodproofing of Existing Structures

Existing structures, including buildings, in the floodplain may be floodproofed (§602.12). New structures, other than buildings, can be floodproofed (§602.4). For both cases, the requirements of §602.12 and §602.14 must be followed. Floodproofing is defined in the WMO as "additions, changes, or adjustments to structures or land that prevent the entry of flood water in order to protect property from flood damage." FEMA provides a number of publications on floodproofing, including *Non-Residential Floodproofing – Requirements and Certification* (FIA-TB-3).

Compensatory storage is not required for any **floodproofing** measures or protection of an existing **structure** or existing **building** provided that the **flood** protection measures are within 10 feet of the outside face of the **structure**. Any fill or material required for **floodproofing** beyond 10 feet of the outside of the **structure** shall require **compensatory storage**. Further information regarding **compensatory storage** can be found below.

Substantial improvements to Existing Structures in the Regulatory Floodplain

The same requirements apply to **substantial improvements** made to existing **buildings** located in the **regulatory floodplain** and outside the **regulatory floodway**. The footprint of existing **buildings** located in the **regulatory floodway** cannot be increased. According to the **FEMA** definition, **substantial improvement** is any repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or other improvement of a **building**, the cost of which improvement equals or exceeds, individually or in the aggregate, 50 percent of the fair market value of the **building**. Communities participating in the **NFIP** may have a more restrictive definition of **substantial improvement** and the local government agency **NFIP** Ordinance should be consulted.

The administrative requirement to determine if an improvement is a **substantial improvement** is the responsibility of the **NFIP** community and may include activities that do not affect **stormwater**, such as internal remodeling or exterior improvements such as siding and windows. The **District** does not regulate **substantial improvements** under the WMO.

Elevating Structures Outside of the Regulatory Floodplain

There are many flood-prone structures throughout **Cook County** that are not mapped within an **SFHA**. These structures do not flood as a result of overbank flooding from a waterway, but rather from storm events exceeding the design capacity of the local drainage system. Since these structures are not within the regulatory floodplain, the structure can be elevated by means other than fill and are not bound to the requirements of §602.3 of the WMO. There are two acceptable methods for elevating these types of structures, which includes: (1) elevating the top of the basement window well to the FPE (as shown in Figure 6.5), and (2) the construction of a flood control berm that is elevated to the FPE. The FPE in these cases is the 100-year flood elevation (if known), or the historical flood elevation, plus two feet of freeboard.



Figure 6.5. Waterproofed Window Well Elevated to the FPE

As shown in Figure 6.5 above, the window well must be poured with the **building** foundation wall and elevated to the **FPE**. In addition, the window well drain must be tied into the **building's** drain tile/sump pump system to avoid a hydraulic connection to the flooding source.

Stormwater Facilities and Detention in the Regulatory Floodplain

Stormwater Facilities and Storm Sewer Outfalls

Stormwater facilities are allowed in the **regulatory floodplain**. Per the WMO §602.18, **stormwater facilities**, such as culverts, bridges, and impoundments that have an associated backwater cannot not be removed, replaced, or modified unless:

- 1. All **structures**, including **buildings**, within the backwater area of the existing **stormwater facility** are identified and their associated **lowest entry elevations** are determined;
- 2. Hydraulically equivalent compensatory storage is provided to mitigate any potential increases in flow or flood elevations upstream or downstream of the stormwater facility that is removed, replaced, or modified; and
- 3. A **water resource benefit** is provided to the area as a result of the removal, replacement, or modification of the **stormwater facility**.

The **structures**, including **buildings**, within the backwater area should be shown on a map or exhibit, and the **lowest entry elevation** should be determined by a field survey. The water

resources benefit means that there must be a decrease in **flood** elevations, a reduction in **flood** damages to **structures** upstream or downstream of the **development site**, and/or enhancement of existing water-related environmental resources.

The WMO (§602.25) requires that new or modified **storm sewer outfalls** in the **regulatory floodplain** must meet the general **site** requirements (§501), **site runoff** requirements (§502), and **Illinois Department of Transportation's** (**IDOT**) minimum standards. Relevant **IEPA** and **NPDES** permits are required for all new **outfalls** to **waterways** and Lake Michigan.

Detention Facilities in the Floodplain and Regulatory Floodway

The WMO prohibits construction of **detention facilities** within the **regulatory floodway** (§602.23). This is to ensure that the **floodway** is available for **flood** water conveyance. The WMO §602.24 allows **detention facilities** to be located outside of the **regulatory floodway** but within the **floodplain**, provided that the **site runoff** storage facility:

- Stores the required site runoff under all stream flow and backwater conditions up to the 100-year flood elevation, assuming a zero release rate below the 100-year flood elevation; and
- 2. Does not allow design release rates to be exceeded under any stream elevation less than the **100-year flood elevation**.

Detention facilities must also meet the requirements of §504.11 of the WMO.

During events where the 100-year storm has occurred onsite, but the area downstream of the outlet **structure** (likely the **waterway**) is not at the 100-year **base flood** elevation, the outlet **structure** will have no tailwater. For this condition, it must be verified that the release rate for the **site** has not been exceeded.

Detention within the **floodplain** utilizes the existing **floodplain** area to store **stormwater runoff**. The difficulty with this approach is demonstrating timing. The applicant must demonstrate that the **stormwater runoff** is stored or detained before the floodwaters rise and fill the basin. Detention volumes must be sized for maximum tailwater conditions, while detention release rates are sized for no tailwater. This is discussed in more detail in Article 5.

Compensatory Storage in the Regulatory Floodplain

It is necessary to preserve the natural storage within **floodplains**. Filling without providing **compensatory storage** could lead to increases in **flood** depths and the frequency of **flooding**. **Compensatory storage** is the replacement of storage within the **floodplain** and **floodway** due to filling or the construction of **structures** as part of a project. **Compensatory storage** is required to ensure that new **development** does not result in an increase in **flood** heights on adjacent properties or an increase in **flood** flows.

The WMO requires **compensatory storage** for any fill, **structure**, or other material above the existing ground elevation in the **regulatory floodplain** that temporarily or permanently

displaces floodplain storage volume (§602.9). Compensatory storage must:

- Equal at least 1.1 times the volume of **flood** storage lost below the **BFE**;
- Be operational prior to the placement of fill, **structures**, or other materials temporarily or permanently placed in the **regulatory floodplain**;
- Be provided in the immediate vicinity of the **flood** storage lost, where practicable;
- Be provided in addition to the **site** detention volume; and
- Drain freely and openly to the **waterway**.

The WMO (§602.10) also requires that **compensatory storage** be provided incrementally such that:

- All **regulatory floodplain** storage lost below the existing regulatory 10-year **flood** elevation shall be replaced below the proposed regulatory 10-year **flood** elevation;
- All **regulatory floodplain** storage lost above the existing regulatory 10-year **flood** elevation shall be replaced above the proposed regulatory 10-year **flood** elevation; and
- The additional **compensatory storage** required beyond a one to one (1:1) ratio may be placed above or below the proposed regulatory 10-year **flood** elevation.

Note that the WMO requires **compensatory storage** for activities in the **regulatory floodplain**. There is no minimum for providing **compensatory storage**; any volume of fill requires **compensatory storage** be provided. However, the **compensatory storage** requirement does not apply to specific activities in the **regulatory floodplain**, such as the **floodproofing** of an existing **building**, where the **floodproofing** measures such as berms or floodwalls are within 10 feet of the **building**.

WMO Section	Development	Compensatory Storage (in Regulatory Floodplain)
§602.2, §602.3, §602.4	New or Existing Buildings , and New Structure s, Elevated by Fill	Yes
§602.14	New or Existing Buildings , and New Structure s, Elevated by Method Other Than Fill	No
§602.11	Floodproofing of Existing Buildings and Structures	Not for volume displaced by building and 10 feet from building

Table 6-2	Compensatory	/ Storage h	nv Develo	onment
	compensatory	, otoruge t	by Deven	philene

Computing Compensatory Storage

The WMO requires that for any fill placed within the **floodplain**, 1.1 times the volume of **compensatory storage**, i.e., cut, is provided. Fill is measured between the existing ground elevation and the *existing* 10-year and **100-year flood elevations**. **Compensatory storage** needs to be provided between the proposed ground elevation and the *proposed* **floodplain** elevation. In some instances during large **developments** or regrading projects, the **BFEs** are modified due to cuts and fills or relocation of the **waterway**. This is why the **compensatory storage** is then provided between the proposed ground elevations and the proposed **floodplain** elevation. In many projects the existing and proposed **floodplain** elevations will remain unchanged.

Referring to Figure 6.7, equivalent storage lost between the existing ground and the existing 10year **flood** elevation must provide **compensatory storage** between the proposed ground elevation and the proposed 10-year **floodplain** elevation. Storage lost between the existing 10year and the existing **100-year flood elevation** must be compensated for between the proposed 10-year and proposed **100-year flood elevations**. The additional **compensatory storage** required beyond the 1:1 ratio may be placed either above or below the 10-year **flood** elevation.

It should be noted that no **compensatory storage** credit will be given for any cut below the normal water level. In addition, some **municipalities** may prescribe **compensatory storage** requirements that differ from the 1.1:1 ratio specified in the WMO. For projects in these communities, the applicant should follow the more restrictive **compensatory storage** requirement.

When preparing a grading plan, thought should be given to how **compensatory storage** will be quantified. The acceptable method of calculating cut and fill volumes is the use of cross-sections and the "average end method." The following requirements should be followed when preparing cross-sections:

- 1. Prepare a detailed topographic survey tied to the North American Vertical Datum of 1988 and the **Cook County** Survey Control Network benchmarks.
- 2. Locate cross-sections parallel to each other and perpendicular to a reference line, oftentimes a property line or fence line. Cross-sections used in a hydraulic model are always perpendicular to **flood** flows, and not always parallel to each other. Therefore, these are often not suitable for computing **flood** fringe **compensatory storage** volumes.
- Plot cross-sections at a standard engineering scale so as to allow the reviewer to verify areas. The horizontal scale should be a maximum of 1 inch = 50 feet and vertical scale should be a maximum of 1 inch = 5 feet, or as approved by the **District**.
- 4. Show existing ground elevations, proposed ground elevations, existing and proposed 10-year flood elevations, existing and proposed 100-year flood elevations, normal water level, a reference line, and floodway limits on the cross-sections on the plans.

- 5. Locate cross-sections no more than 150-feet apart, with a minimum of three crosssections per cut/fill area, or as necessary to accurately quantify cuts and fills.
- 6. Locate cross-sections to pick up critical features such as berms, ditches, and existing and proposed **structures**.
- 7. Each cross-section should be numbered or lettered and referenced on the plans.

This information can then be utilized to compute the areas of cut and fill. A sample **compensatory storage** plan is provided as Figure 6.6 and the **compensatory storage** calculations are shown in Table 6-3. For clarity, the topography has not been included on Figure 6.6.



Figure 6.6. Compensatory Storage Calculation Example



Figure 6.7. Cross-section D-D from the Compensatory Storage Plan provided in Figure 6.6

Cross-Section	Distance	Fill Area	Average Fill Area	Volume of Fill	Cut Area	Average Cut Area	Volume of Cut
	(ft)	(ft ²)	(ft²)	(ft³)	(ft ²)	(ft ²)	(ft ³)
А		0			0		
	150		50	7,500		0	0
В		100			0		
	90		125	11,250		0	0
С		150			0		
	100		125	12,500		62.5	6,250
D		100			125		
	100		50	5,000		142.5	14,250
E		0			160		
	100		0	0		175	17,500
F		0			190		
	85		0	0		127.5	10,838
G		0			65		
Total Fill =			Total Fill =	36,250			10.005
Compensatory Storage Required = 1.1* Fill =			39,875		fotal Cut =	48,838	

Table 6-3. Example of Compensatory Storage Calculation, 0 – 10 Year Increment

Equation Formulas for Table 6-3:

Fill area between Cross-sections A & B:

AverageFill Area =
$$\frac{\text{Fill Area}^{"} \text{A}^{"} + \text{Fill Area}^{"} \text{B}^{"}}{2}$$
AverageFill Area =
$$\frac{0 ft^{2} + 100 ft^{2}}{2} = \boxed{50 ft^{2}}$$

Fill volume between Cross-sections A & B:

Volume of Fill = (AverageFill Area)×(Distance)
Volume of Fill =
$$(50 ft^2)$$
×(150 ft) = 7,500 ft³

Compensatory Storage required for fill placed between the 0- and 10-yr **flood** elevation:

Required Compensatory Storage = $(1.1) \times (\text{Total Volume of Fill})$ Required Compensatory Storage = $(1.1) \times (36,250 \text{ ft}^3) = 39,875 \text{ ft}^3$

Is the Total Volume of Cut Provided greater than or equal to the Total Required Volume of Cut (**Compensatory Storage**)?

$$48,838 \, ft^3 \ge 39,875 \, ft^3 \rightarrow OK$$

The total **floodplain** fill is multiplied by 1.1 to determine the cut required. The total **compensatory storage** for this **site** must be at least 36,250 multiplied by 1.1, which is 39,875 cubic feet. Table 6-3 shows that 48,838 cubic feet will be provided, which meets the 1.1:1 **compensatory storage** requirement.

It is not permissible to subtract the fill from the cut for each cross-section. For example on cross-sections C & D, the volume of fill is 12,500 cubic feet and the volume of cut is 6,250 cubic feet. It is not permissible to subtract 6,250 from 12,500 and multiply the result (6,250) by 1.1 (6,250*1.1=6,875). This results in inadequate volume.

Instead, for this cross-section, 12,500 cubic feet is multiplied by 1.1 which results in 13,370 cubic feet of required **compensatory storage**. This computation for each cross-section also equals the 39,875 cubic feet of required total **compensatory storage** for the **site**. Again, the sum of the volume of cut in Table 6-3 shows that 48,838 cubic feet will be provided, which meets the 1.1 **compensatory storage** requirement.

Location of Compensatory Storage

Compensatory storage must be located onsite and adjacent to or opposite the areas filled or occupied by a **structure**. In those rare instances when **compensatory storage** cannot be located

adjacent to or opposite to the areas filled or occupied, engineering computations are required that demonstrate **hydraulically equivalent compensatory storage** has been provided. These computations must show that no increase **flood** depths (≤ 0.10 foot) will result from the location of the proposed **compensatory storage**.

Compensatory storage must be constructed to drain freely and openly to watercourses (§602.9.E). In some rare cases it may be necessary to install pipes to construct and/or operate a **compensatory storage** basin. This may occur when **site** constraints, such as a roadway or sidewalk, separate the **waterway** from the **compensatory storage** area. This is illustrated in the top half of Figure 6.8.

Another scenario may occur when a **site** cannot meet the incremental storage requirements of the WMO. If incremental storage requirements from the 10-year to **100-year flood elevations** cannot be met, pipes could be installed with a flap gate to prevent the water from entering from the stream bed at lower elevations. The berm could then be set at the elevation of the 10-year **BFE**, thus allowing the storage to only become effective above the 10-year **flood** elevation. This is illustrated in the bottom half of Figure 6.8.



Figure 6.8. Example of a Compensatory Storage Plan

The use of pipes in **compensatory storage** will require approval by the **District** or an **authorized municipality**. If approved, two pipes will be required to reduce the risk of clogging. Pipes must be a minimum of 15 inches in diameter so as to allow water to enter and exit freely with a minimum head differential. If the **compensatory storage** is proposed to be combined with detention, it must be demonstrated that the entire storage volume is accessed during a **storm event** by analyzing the timing of both the **compensatory storage** and detention storage.

Development in the Regulatory Floodway

Appropriate Uses

In Illinois, the **OWR** has been delegated the authority over **regulatory floodways**. **OWR** has jurisdiction of those areas designated on the **FIRM** as the **regulatory floodway**, and also any **waterway** that drains more than one square mile of area. Any **development** in the mapped **regulatory floodway**, or in an area that drains more than one square mile, will require a **Floodway** Construction Permit from the **OWR**. The **OWR** permit application is available on-line at:

http://www.dnr.illinois.gov/WaterResources/Documents/JointpermitApp.pdf

Only **appropriate uses** as defined within the WMO will be permitted within the **regulatory floodway**. The list of **regulatory floodway appropriate uses** can be found in §602.29 of the WMO. These are taken from the **OWR's** *Part 3708 - Floodway Construction in Northeastern Illinois.* The **OWR** Part 3708 rules are available on-line at:

http://www.dnr.illinois.gov/adrules/documents/17-3708.pdf

Appropriate uses are those **developments** necessary or that provide a **stormwater** benefit to the **watershed**. These **appropriate uses** are based on the WMO's goals and objectives to improve water quality and mitigate or minimize **stormwater flood** damages. Any proposed **development** in the **regulatory floodway** must also meet the requirements for **development** in a **floodplain** (§602). Only the following **appropriate uses** shall be considered for permits for **development** in a **floodway**:

- 1. **Flood** control **structure**s, dikes, **dams**, and other public works or private improvements relating to the control of drainage, **flooding**, or **erosion**, or water quality or habitat for fish and wildlife that provides a **water resource benefit**;
- 2. **Structures** or facilities relating to the use of, or requiring access to, the water or shoreline, such as pumping and treatment facilities, as well as facilities and improvements related to recreational boating, commercial shipping, and other functionally dependent uses;
- 3. Storm and sanitary sewer outfalls;
- 4. Underground and overhead utilities;

- 5. Recreational facilities such as playing fields and trail systems including any related fencing built parallel to the direction of **flood** flows;
- 6. Detached garages, storage sheds, or other non-habitable accessory structures to existing buildings that will not block flood flows. This does not include the construction or placement of any other new structures, fill, building additions, buildings on stilts, fencing (including landscaping or plantings designed to act as a fence), and the storage of materials;
- 7. Bridges, culverts, roadways, sidewalks, railways, runways, and taxiways, and any modification thereto;
- 8. Parking lots built at or below existing grade where either:
 - a. The depth of **flooding** at the **BFE** will not exceed one foot; or
 - b. The parking lot is for short-term outdoor recreational use facilities where the applicant agrees to restrict access during overbank **flooding** events and agrees to accept liability for all damage caused by vehicular access during all overbank **flooding** events. Signs shall be posted to clearly identify the **flooding** hazard.
- 9. Aircraft parking aprons built at or below ground elevation where the depth of **flooding** at the **BFE** will not exceed one foot;
- 10. **Regulatory floodway** re-grading without fill to create a positive slope toward the watercourse;
- 11. **Floodproofing** activities to protect existing **structures** including, but not limited to, constructing water tight window wells and elevating;
- 12. The replacement, reconstruction, or repair of a damaged **building**, provided that the outside dimensions of the **building** are not increased, and provided that, if the **building** is damaged to 50% or more of the **building's** market value before it was damaged, the **building** will be protected from **flooding** at or above the **FPE**; and
- 13. Modifications to an existing **building** that would not increase the enclosed floor area of the **building** below the **BFE**, and would not block **flood** flows to including, but not limited to fireplaces, bay windows, decks, patios, and second story additions.

Certain types of projects are authorized by the **OWR** through Statewide and General Permits, and therefore do not require permitting through the **OWR**. For these types of projects, a letter from the **OWR** that verifies the proposed project is in compliance with the requirements of the Statewide or General Permit should be submitted to the **District** or the **authorized municipality**. The **OWR** Statewide and General Permits are available on-line through the **OWR's** website at:

http://www.dnr.illinois.gov/waterresources/pages/permitsstatewideregionalgeneral.aspx

Regulatory Floodway Performance Standards

The WMO (§602.27) requires that a **development** must preserve effective the **regulatory floodway conveyance** such that there will be no increases in **flood** elevations, flowrates, or **regulatory floodway** velocity, unless:

- 1. These increases are contained in a public **flood** easement;
- 2. A water resource benefit is provided; and
- 3. A **CLOMR** is issued by **FEMA** prior to any work in the **regulatory floodway**. Only **appropriate uses** of the **regulatory floodway** are allowed by the WMO (§602.29). If a portion of the **regulatory floodway** is vital to a **development** and the **development** is not an **appropriate use**, then the **regulatory floodway** must be relocated, but in such a manner that all requirements of §602.27 are met.

The **floodway conveyance**, K, is calculated at each cross-section using the following:

$$K = \frac{1.49}{n} * A * R^{2/3}$$

Where,

n = Manning's roughness coefficient,
A = effective flow area of the cross-section, and
R = hydraulic radius.

For any proposed **development** within the **regulatory floodway**, the applicant must provide the **District** or **authorized municipality** with an evaluation of the hydrologic and hydraulic impacts of the **development** (§304.10) in order to prove compliance with §602.28:

- 1. Using the **regulatory floodplain** model, if available, or a study as directed by the **District** or **authorized municipality** using the methodology provided in §601.6;
- 2. For the 2-year, 10-year, and 100-year **storm event**s for the 24-hour event, at a minimum; and
- 3. For existing and any future planned **watershed** conditions as directed by the **District** or **authorized municipality**.

The impacts must meet the standards in §602.27 of the WMO. Minor **development** projects that don't involve fill in the **floodway** and have a hydraulic impact may not require a hydraulic and hydrologic analysis and will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis by the **District** or **authorized municipality**.

Results must show no increase in **flood** flows or **flood** elevations for the full range of **storm events** (50 percent (2-year) through the one percent (100-year) **storm events**). For **OWR** permitting purposes, proposed **developments** must show no more than a 0.04-foot increase in **flood** elevations. This threshold demonstrates "no increase." **FEMA** coordinates with **OWR** on the issuance of **CLOMR**.

Compensatory Storage in the Regulatory Floodway

Only **developments** that are considered **appropriate uses** of the **regulatory floodway** will be allowed to fill within the limits of the **floodway**. Any fill placed within the existing **floodway** must be compensated for within the proposed **floodway**. All **floodway** storage lost below the existing 10-year **flood** elevation shall be replaced at a 1.1:1 ratio below the proposed 10-year **base flood** elevation. All **floodway** storage lost between the existing 10-year **flood** elevation and the existing **100-year flood elevation** shall be replaced at a 1.1:1 ratio between the proposed 10-year **flood** elevation and the existing **100-year flood elevation** shall be replaced at a 1.1:1 ratio between the proposed 10-year **flood elevation**.

There shall be no reduction in **floodway** surface area as a result of a **floodway** modification, unless such modification is necessary to reduce **flooding** at an existing **structure**.

Per the **OWR** Part 3708 Rules, cross-sections used in the **compensatory storage** calculations must be located perpendicular to **flood** flows. These cross-sections may be different than those utilized for computing **flood** fringe **compensatory storage**. The average end method should be used when calculating the **floodway compensatory storage**.

Other Development in the Regulatory Floodway

If the proposed **development** does not constitute an **appropriate use** as defined in the **OWR** Part 3708 Rules, the **development** may only take place if the **regulatory floodway** boundary is revised to remove that area from the **regulatory floodway**. The following process is required to revise the **regulatory floodway** boundary:

- A CLOMR must be issued by FEMA that acknowledges that the regulatory floodway will be revised if the project is constructed. Approval from the municipality must be obtained by using FEMA's Community Acknowledgement Form. Concurrence from the District or authorized municipality and the OWR is also required.
- 2. Construct only that portion of the project that will result in the revision to the **regulatory floodway** boundary.
- 3. Based on the as-built plans for the project, **FEMA** must issue a **LOMR** for the **site**. Approval from the **municipality**, the **OWR**, and the **District** is also required. The **LOMR** officially revises the **floodway** boundary on the **site**.
- 4. Since the **floodway** is now removed from that portion of the **site**, **development** in that area is no longer subject to the **appropriate use** regulations.

<u>REQUIREMENTS FOR WETLAND BOUNDARY, QUALITY, AND BUFFER WIDTH</u> <u>DETERMINATION (§603)</u>

Introduction

Wetlands may provide a variety of functions, including natural **stormwater** storage, attenuation of peak **floods**, **groundwater** recharge, water quality enhancement, plant and wildlife habitat, and aesthetic, recreational, educational, and economic benefits.

The "Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972," referred to as the Clean Water Act (CWA), established objectives for restoring and maintaining the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the nation's waters. The Secretary of the Army, acting through the **Army Corps of Engineers (Corps)**, is authorized to issue permits for the discharge of dredged or fill material into the **waters of the United States** (US), including **wetlands**, under Section 404 of the CWA. Section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899 authorizes the **Corps** to regulate **structures** and regulate work that is performed in, over, or under navigable waters of the US. Some waters may be regulated under both statutes.

For purposes of the Clean Water Act, "Waters of the United States" means:

- 1. All waters which are currently used, were used in the past, or may be susceptible to use in interstate or foreign commerce, including all waters which are subject to the ebb and flow of the tide;
- 2. All interstate waters, including interstate "wetlands";
- 3. All other waters such as interstate **lakes**, rivers, streams (including intermittent streams), mudflats, sandflats, **wetlands**, sloughs, prairie potholes, wet meadows, playa **lakes**, or natural ponds the use, degradation, or destruction of which would affect or could affect interstate or foreign commerce including any such waters:
 - (a) Which are or could be used by interstate or foreign travelers for recreational or other purposes;
 - (b) From which fish or shellfish are or could be taken and sold in interstate or foreign commerce; or
 - (c) Which are used or could be used for industrial purposes by industries in interstate commerce;
- 4. All impoundments of waters otherwise defined as **waters of the United States** under this definition;
- 5. Tributaries of waters identified in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this definition;
- 6. The territorial sea; and
- 7. Wetlands adjacent to waters (other than waters that are themselves wetlands) identified in paragraphs (1) through (6) of this definition.

Waste treatment systems, including treatment ponds or lagoons designed to meet the requirements of CWA are not **waters of the United States**.

The WMO follows the Clean Water Act of 1972 definition of **wetlands**:

Those areas that are inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. **Wetlands** generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas.

Jurisdictional and Isolated Waters and Wetlands

Waters and **wetlands** under the regulatory authority of the **Corps** are referred to as "Jurisdictional Waters of the US" and "Jurisdictional Wetlands." A Corps permit is required for the discharge of dredged or fill material into jurisdictional waters of the US, including **wetlands**.

As briefly described above, jurisdictional waters and **wetlands** must meet certain criteria. The USEPA and **Corps** have prepared additional guidance and supporting documentation to further define the intended jurisdictional limits of waters and **wetlands**. However, not all waters and **wetlands** are regulated under the CWA by the **Corps**. Those **wetland** and waters that are not regulated by the **Corps** are referred to as "isolated waters" and "isolated wetlands". Because of the importance of all **wetlands**, the WMO regulates isolated wetlands – wetlands that are not protected at a federal level. Waters and **wetlands** regulated by the **Corps** are not regulated by the WMO.

Request for a Jurisdictional Wetland Determination

Wetlands may or may not be regulated by the **Corps**. To make that determination, a *Request for Jurisdictional Determination* must be submitted to the **Corps**. Generally, if a **wetland** has an identifiable surface or subsurface (piped) water connection to other **jurisdictional waters of the US**, the area will likely be regulated.

The determination of jurisdiction can only be made by the **Corps**, therefore, applicants must request a Jurisdictional Determination from the **Corps** (Chicago District) to document which onsite **wetlands** are, or are not, regulated. *Requests for Jurisdictional Determinations* should be made after the **wetland** delineation report has been prepared. A copy of the **wetland** delineation report should be provided to the **Corps** with the request for Jurisdictional Determinational Determination.

Wetlands that are not non-Corps jurisdictional will be classified as isolated wetlands.

Other Reviews or Authorities

Wetlands are regulated by the Illinois Department of Natural Resources (IDNR) when funding from or through the State of Illinois is involved in the **development**. Regulatory authority is established by the Interagency **Wetland** Policy Act (IWPA) of 1989 [20 ILCS 830]. All **wetland** areas are regulated under the IWPA (**Corps** jurisdictional and isolated). Impacts to **wetland** under the IWPA must be mitigated in accordance with the requirements of that Act.

Additionally, any project that must receive state or local approval must complete threatened and endangered species consultation. Regulations and procedures required under the Illinois Endangered Species Protection Act are established in Title 17 Ill. Admin. Code Part 1090. IDNR developed the Ecological Compliance Assessment Tool (EcoCAT) to assist with the review of proposed activities.

General Isolated Wetland Mitigation Requirements

Isolated wetlands have been determined to provide important functions that should be protected and mitigated (replaced) when impacts will occur. Mitigation consists of taking steps to avoid or minimize negative environmental impacts. Mitigation can include: minimizing impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the action, rectifying the impact by repairing or restoring the affected environment, reducing the impact by protective steps required with the action, and compensating for the impact by replacing or providing substitute resources.

The WMO requires that **isolated wetlands** impacts be mitigated in cases where the impact exceeds 0.10 acre. Further detail is provided under *Wetland Avoidance and Minimization Documentation* in the **TGM**.

Wetland Boundary, Quality, and Buffer Width Determination

Wetland Identification

Development activities that directly or indirectly impact **isolated wetlands** or their associated buffers are regulated by the WMO. Therefore, the applicant(s) (i.e. **co-permittee**) must identify (delineate) any onsite or offsite **isolated wetland(s)** located within 100 feet of the **development site**. The delineation must be completed in accordance with the current **Corps Delineation Manual** and, if applicable, **Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS)** for **farmed wetlands** determinations. Figure 6.9 illustrates these scenarios.



Figure 6.9. Wetland Delineation Scenarios

Onsite Wetland Delineations and Delineation Reports

Onsite **wetland** delineations are to be made using procedures in accordance with the current **Corps Wetland Delineation Manual** (*Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Midwest Region (Version 2.0)*). The manual is available on-line from the **Corps** website at:

http://www.Corps.army.mil/Portals/2/docs/civilworks/regulatory/reg_supp/erdc-el-tr-10-16.pdf

The **Corps** Manual provides data collection requirements, technical guidelines, methods and approaches, and evaluation steps. The WMO places responsibility for identifying the locations of **wetlands** on or offsite on the applicant. **Wetland** delineations should be completed early in the planning process, by trained **wetlands** specialists. The Chicago **District** of the **Corps** maintains an online list of consultants who provide those services.

In accordance with the Delineation Manual, an area qualifies as a **wetland** when the following criteria are met: there is a presence of hydrophytic vegetation, hydric soils, or **wetland hydrology**. If **wetlands** are identified within the **development site**, the **wetland** boundaries must be staked and located via a sub-meter or a more accurate survey and overlaid onto an aerial photo or drawing. **Wetlands** identified offsite, but within 100 feet of the **development site**, shall be delineated using procedures outlined in §603.5. A **wetland** delineation report shall be prepared in accordance with the Delineation Manual and WMO requirements.

The written **wetland** delineation report shall be prepared in compliance with all methodologies and definitions set forth in the WMO and **Corps**. All required documentation to be included in the delineation report may be found in the **wetland** submittal checklist provided in Article 3 of the **TGM**.

Farmed Wetlands Delineations

For **development sites** that are, or have been, used for agricultural production within the past five years, onsite **wetlands** within the agricultural portions of the **site** must be identified and delineated in accordance with the current National Food Security Act Manual (NFSAM) methodology. The NFSAM Manual is available on-line from the US Department of Agriculture, **NRCS** website at:

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/national/programs/alphabetical/camr/.

It is recommended that **farmed wetland** determinations be completed early in the planning process, by trained **wetlands** specialists. Onsite isolated **farmed wetlands** are subject to the same WMO regulatory requirements as all other non-farmed isolated onsite **wetlands**. Documentation to be included in the delineation report is identified in Article 3.

Onsite Wetland Boundary Verifications

Applicants must contact the **District** or **authorized municipalities** to request a **wetland** boundary verification (§603.7 of the WMO) for all onsite **isolated wetland** determinations and delineations.

Offsite Wetland Delineations

The approximate location, extent and quality of offsite **wetlands** must be identified by the applicant (§603.5 of the WMO). Offsite **wetlands** may be the portion of an onsite **wetland** that extends onto adjoining property, or **wetland** located on an adjacent property within 100 feet of the **development site**. The offsite **wetland** delineation should be completed using the **Corps** Manual whenever possible. If an offsite delineation is not available or cannot be performed, the offsite **wetlands** can be identified by using the following resources:

- National **Wetland** Inventory (**NWI**) Maps from the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). The **NWI** map is available at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/nwi/</u>.
- Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) wetland inventory maps. Contact your local NRCS field office to obtain a copy of the map for your project location.
- The location and extent of offsite **wetlands** may be identified using other mapping products, including but not limited to: current and historical aerial photographs, US Geological Survey (USGS) hydrological atlas, Soil Survey of **Cook County**, and USGS topographic maps.

Because the **Corps** requires the signature of the property owner, it is difficult to obtain a Jurisdictional Determination for offsite wetlands. For the WMO, offsite wetlands will be considered isolated for the purposes of determining the required buffer width unless it is clear that the offsite wetland would be **Corps** jurisdictional. Examples of these cases where **Corps** jurisdiction is clear include, but are not limited to the following:

- Wetland fringe or wetland adjoining or adjacent to a **Jurisdictional Waters of the US** (drainageway, creek, stream, river) or a pond/lake with an obvious hydrologic traceable connection to a **Jurisdictional Waters of the US** that has been found to be jurisdictional by the **Corps**.
- Wetland with an obvious hydrologic connection to other **jurisdictional wetland** or wetlands in series that have an obvious traceable connection to a Jurisdictional Waters of the US that have been found to be jurisdictional by the **Corps**.

When the applicant and review authority agree the wetland would clearly be **Corps** jurisdictional, the buffers prescribed by the WMO are not required. It should also be noted that offsite **wetlands** that are more than 100 feet away from the proposed **development** (and are not indirectly impacted by the proposed **development**) do not require a **wetland** submittal. However, a statement of opinion must be provided by a **Wetland Specialist** that confirms this.

Exempt Wetlands

The WMO (§603.6) lists **wetland** areas that are exempt from the requirements of the WMO. Exempt **wetlands** are areas that have developed **wetland** characteristics due to either intentional or incidental human activities, e.g., areas that formed by either excavation upland (non-**wetland**) or were created by artificial **hydrology**. These areas are referred to as maninduced **wetlands** that may be exempt from regulation.

For the purposes of the WMO, the following areas are not considered to be **wetlands** and shall be exempt from the **wetland** requirements of the WMO:

- 1. Wetlands in roadside ditches created by excavation in upland areas;
- Wetlands created by excavation or by other unfinished development activities in upland areas;
- Wetlands created by artificial hydrology, including but not limited to, irrigation or site runoff storage facility outlets that would revert to upland areas if irrigation were to cease;
- 4. Wetlands created by the construction of **stormwater facilities** in upland areas, provided that the facility was not created for the purpose of **wetland mitigation**; and
- 5. **Wetlands** created by the construction of ponds in upland areas.

Wetland Classification

Introduction

Under §603.8 of the WMO **wetlands** must be categorized as "High Quality" or "Standard Quality" based on an assessment of two criteria. If one or both of the criteria are met, the **wetland** is classified as High Quality. If neither criterion is met, the **wetland** is classified as a standard **wetland**. The following are the criteria to be evaluated:

- 1. Swink and Wilhelm Floristic Quality Index (FQI) value greater than or equal to 20 during a single season assessment, or a native mean C-value of 3.5 or higher as calculated by the Swink and Wilhelm methodology;
- 2. The **wetland** is known to possess a federal, or state-listed threatened or endangered species based upon consultation with the Illinois Department of Natural Resources (IDNR) and the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). This is typically determined through submittal of an <u>Ecological Compliance Assessment T</u>ool (EcoCAT) on-line request to IDNR, and by following the USFWS procedures outlined under Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act of 1973.

Swink and Wilhelm Floristic Quality Index and Native Mean C

Wetland specialists, botanists and plant ecologists use a quantitative measure called the Floristic Quality Index (FQI) to express the "quality" of a natural area. The FQI is an indicator of natural plant biodiversity and conservatism that is widely used throughout Northeastern

Illinois. The use of the FQI as an indicator of **wetland** quality requires identification and cataloging of all plant species in the **wetland** during the growing season. This standardized tool provides a useful number for comparing various natural areas.

To calculate the FQI, each plant species is assigned a predetermined value: a coefficient of conservatism (CC) score that is scaled from 0 to 10. The individual score reflects that species' tolerance to disturbance and specificity to a particular habitat type. Once the plant species inventory has been collected, the FQI can be calculated. The FQI is derived by multiplying the sums of the all C-values by the square root of the number of species identified. The Mean C-value is calculated by summing the Coefficients of Conservatism of the identified species and dividing by the total number of species identified. A computer-based Floristic Quality assessment program is available to compute the Native Mean C, FQI, and other applicable information quickly. Programs that complete the tabulation of plants and complete the calculations are available from Conservation Design Forum and Chicago **District Corps** of Engineers.

References:

Swink, F. and G. Wilhelm (1994). Plants of the Chicago Region, 4th ed., Indiana Academy of Science, Indianapolis, 921 pp.

Wilhelm, G. S. and L. A. Masters (1995). Floristic Quality Assessment in the Chicago Region and Application Computer Programs, Morton Arboretum, Lisle, IL. 17 pp. + Appendices.

Chicago District Corps of Engineers. Beta Version of the Chicago Region Floristic Quality Assessment (FQA) Calculator, January 2014. Excel Format.

Standard Wetlands

Isolated wetlands that do not meet *either* of the above criteria shall be assigned a standard **wetland** status. The **District** or **authorized municipality** will make the final determination of **wetland** status based upon a review of submitted information and, when necessary, upon consultation with outside **wetland** authorities.

Wetland Buffers

Introduction

Wetland buffers help protect wetland function by infiltrating stormwater, filtering sediment, nutrients, and associated pollutants from surface water runoff; moderating the temperature of water bodies; and providing organic matter to the wetland. Buffers also provide beneficial habitat for wildlife and plant species, and serve as corridors and pathways for movement of species between fragmented habitats. Wetland buffers apply to WMO regulated isolated wetlands.

Minimum Wetland Buffer Widths

Minimum **wetland buffers** widths for **isolated wetlands** in the WMO are established based upon the **wetland** quality classification (high quality **wetland** versus standard **wetland**). Table 6-4 (Table 3 in the WMO) provides this information.

Wetland Quality	Acreage	§603.9(A)	§603.9(B)	§603.8(C)
Standard Isolated	≥ 0.1 to < 0.5 acre	30 ft.		
Wetland	≥ 0.5 acre		50 ft	
High Quality Isolated Wetland	No minimum			100 ft

 Table 6-4. Wetland Buffer Determination for Isolated Wetlands

Minimum **wetland buffer** widths are also depicted in Figure 6.10. **Wetland buffer** widths in the WMO meet the **Corps** minimum standards for **jurisdictional wetland buffers**.



Figure 6.10. Depiction of Minimum Wetland Buffer Widths as Determined by Type of Isolated Wetland

DEVELOPMENT AFFECTING THE FUNCTION AND VALUES OF WETLANDS AND WETLAND BUFFERS (§604)

Introduction

The WMO regulates the direct and indirect impacts to **isolated wetland** and the corresponding buffer. The standards in §604 of the WMO are specific to the completed **wetland** determinations and **wetland** classifications. Table 6-5, taken from the WMO (§604.1) provides a

matrix identifying the applicable sections of the WMO for **wetland** and buffer impact requirements:

Wotland Type	Watland Area	WMO Section				
wettand Type	wetland Area		§604.3	§604.4	§604.5	
Corps Jurisdictional Wetland	Any	х				
Standard Isolated	< 0.10 acre				х	
Wetland	≥ 0.10 acre			х		
High Quality Isolated Wetland	Any		Х			

Table 6-5. Wetland Impact Matrix

Though the WMO does not regulate **Corps jurisdictional wetlands**, the co-applicant must provide a copy or copies of permits issued for impacts to **Corps jurisdictional wetlands** and waters to the **District** or **authorized municipality**. Specifically, **development** that impacts onsite **Corps jurisdictional wetlands** shall be prohibited unless a permit for all regulated activities is obtained from the appropriate federal and state authorities (WMO §604.2).

Wetland Avoidance and Minimization Documentation

Impacts to High Quality Isolated Wetlands

Impacts to **high quality isolated wetlands** are prohibited unless the co-applicant can demonstrate that the presence of **high quality isolated wetlands** precludes all economic use of the **site** and that no practicable alternative to **wetland** modification exist; or the avoidance of **high quality isolated wetlands** would create a hazardous road condition and that no practicable alternative to **isolated wetland** modification exists (§604.3 of the WMO). The process for completing Practicable Alternatives determinations has been defined by the federal government, and these procedures are now used throughout all levels of government to determine whether or not a project is permissible. Below are the definitions of Practicable Alternatives Analysis. These definitions are based on guidance prepared by the Federal Government under the Clean Water Act.

Practicable Alternative: A **development** that is available and capable of being completed after taking into consideration cost, existing technology, and logistics in light of the overall basic **development** purpose. A study of practicable alternatives should consider possible alternative **sites**, a reduction in the scale of the **development** and rearrangement of the proposed facilities. This study assesses actions such as fill **site** locations, partial and full avoidance of habitats, and restoration and enhancement of habitats and **development** economics. See also **alternatives analysis**.

Alternatives Analysis: The process of comparing and evaluating two or more courses of action of the various technical aspects of a **development** with the intent of selecting the action that best meets the stated Basic **Development** Purpose, while minimizing environmental effects and costs. A practicable alternatives study should consider possible alternative sites, a reduction in the scale of the **development** and rearrangement of the proposed facilities. This study assesses actions such as fill site locations, partial and full avoidance of habitats, and restoration and enhancement of habitats and **development** economics.

Federal Guidance

The USEPA prepared a document, <u>Memorandum: Appropriate Level of Analysis Required for</u> <u>Evaluating Compliance with the Section 404(b)(1) Guidelines Alternatives Requirements</u>.

"The purpose of this memorandum was to clarify the appropriate level of analysis required for evaluating compliance with the Clean Water Act Section 404(b)(1) Guidelines' (Guidelines) requirements for consideration of alternatives. 40 CFR 230.10(a). Specifically, this memorandum describes the flexibility afforded by the Guidelines to make regulatory decisions based on the relative severity of the environmental impact of proposed discharges of dredged or fill material into **waters of the United States**."

"The fundamental precept of the Guidelines is that discharges of dredged or fill material into **waters of the United States**, including **wetlands**, should not occur unless it can be demonstrated that such discharges, either individually or cumulatively, will not result in unacceptable adverse effects on the aquatic ecosystem. The Guidelines specifically require that <u>"no discharge of dredged or fill material shall be permitted if there is a</u> <u>practicable alternative to the proposed discharge which would have less adverse impact</u> <u>on the aquatic ecosystem, so long as the alternative does not have other significant</u> <u>adverse environmental consequences."</u> 40 CFR 230.10(a). Based on this provision, the applicant is required to evaluate opportunities for use of non-aquatic areas that would result in less adverse impact on the aquatic ecosystem. <u>A permit cannot be issued</u>, <u>therefore, in circumstances where a less environmentally damaging practicable</u> <u>alternative for the proposed discharge exists (except as provided for under Section</u> <u>404(b)(2))."</u>

The Federal Guidance speaks of the discharge of material into waters of the US or **wetland**, because in reality dredging on its own is not a Federal regulated activity. But in regards to **Cook County** that activity is regulated, and the evaluation is completed following the spirit of the Federal process.

The Guidelines, as well as the WMO, do not require the same intensity of analysis for all types of projects, but instead envisions a correlation between the scope of the evaluation and the potential extent of adverse impacts on the aquatic environment.

Minor impacts are associated with activities that generally would have little potential to degrade the aquatic environment and include one, and frequently more, of the following characteristics: are located in aquatic resources of limited natural function, are small in size and cause little direct impact, have little potential for secondary or cumulative impacts, or cause only temporary impacts.

It is important to recognize, however, that in some circumstances even small or temporary fills could result in substantial impacts, and that requires a more detailed evaluation.

It is important to note that it is not acceptable for a reviewer to consider compensatory mitigation in making a determination as to whether or not a proposed discharge will cause only minor impacts for purposes of the practicable analysis required.

In reviewing projects that have the potential for only minor impacts on the aquatic environment, Co-applicants and reviewers should consider the following factors:

- i. Such projects by their nature should not cause or contribute to significant degradation individually or cumulatively. Therefore, it generally should not be necessary to conduct or require detailed analyses to determine compliance.
- ii. Although sufficient information must be developed to determine whether the proposed activity is in fact the least damaging practicable alternative, the Guidelines <u>do not</u> <u>require an elaborate search</u> for practicable alternatives if it is reasonably anticipated that there are only minor differences between the environmental impacts of the proposed activity and potentially practicable alternatives.

This decision will be made after determining whether potential alternatives would result in no identifiable or discernible difference in impact on the aquatic ecosystem. Those alternatives that do not have a discernible difference may be eliminated from further analysis. Because evaluating practicability is generally the more difficult aspect of the alternatives analysis, this approach should save time and effort for both the applicant and the **District** or **authorized municipality**. By initially focusing the alternatives analysis on the question of impacts on the aquatic ecosystem, it may be possible to limit (or in some instances eliminate altogether) the number of alternatives that have to be evaluated for practicability.

- iii. When it is determined that there is no identifiable or discernible difference in adverse impact on the environment between the applicant's proposed alternative and all other practicable alternatives, then the applicant's alternative is considered as satisfying the requirements.
- iv. Even where a practicable alternative exists that would have less adverse impact on the aquatic ecosystem, the Guidelines allow it to be rejected if it would have other significant adverse environmental consequences. This allows for consideration of :evidence of damages to other ecosystems in deciding whether there is a 'better' alternative." Hence, in applying the alternatives analysis required by the Guidelines, it is not appropriate to select an alternative where minor impacts on the aquatic environment are avoided at the cost of substantial impacts to other natural environmental features (e.g., removal of quality woodlands to further minimize **wetland impact**).
- v. In cases of negligible or trivial impacts (e.g., small discharges to construct individual driveways), it may be possible to conclude that no alternative location could result in less adverse impact on the aquatic environment. In such cases, it may not be necessary to conduct an offsite alternatives analysis but instead require only any practicable onsite minimization.

A reasonable, common sense approach in applying the requirements with sound environmental protection: The WMO contemplates that reasonable discretion should be applied based on the nature of the aquatic resource and potential impacts of a proposed activity in determining compliance with the Practicable Alternatives test.

Hazardous conditions: **Development** that impacts onsite high-quality **wetlands** shall be prohibited unless documentation is submitted that demonstrates that avoidance of high-quality **wetlands** itself would create a hazardous road condition, and that no practicable, safe alternative to **wetland** modification exists. Safety issues often arise associated with certain types of projects, especially roadway **developments**. It is important that unsafe alternatives do not fulfill the basic project purpose. However, an option that meets accepted standards even if it is not the safest option is still practicable.

Based upon a review of the above documentation and any other available resources, the **District** or **authorized municipality** will make the final determination as to whether the proposed high-quality **wetland** modification represents the least amount of **wetland impact** required to allow use of the **parcel** or to mitigate the road hazard. The **District** or **authorized municipality** will then make a determination as to whether the request is permissible.

Impacts to Standard Isolated Wetlands greater than 0.10 acre

§604.4 of the WMO requires documentation as to why standard isolated wetlands that are

equal to or greater than 0.10 acre in aggregate cannot be avoided and why impacts to **wetlands** must occur. The primary goal is that identified **isolated wetlands** should be avoided; if the **isolated wetland impact** cannot be avoided, then the impact to the **isolated wetland** must be minimized. The co-applicant must demonstrate that the proposed impact is essential for the **development**, that no alternative practical design could be submitted that would result in less impact to the resource. For further guidance regarding this analysis, refer to the practicable alternatives discussed previously in the **TGM**.

Impacts to Standard Isolated Wetlands less than 0.10 acre

For each **standard isolated wetland impact** with a surface area (including adjoining **isolated waters**) of less than 0.10 acre, no documentation of a practicable alternatives is required to support the proposed impact (§604.5). The impacts are automatically acceptable and no practicable alternatives evaluation must be completed. **Wetland mitigation** is required only if the total combined area(s) of **isolated wetland impact** exceeds 0.10 acre.

The cumulative total acreage refers to the acreage of the **wetland(s)** and **contiguous isolated waters**, that when their acreages are combined is less than 0.10 acre. Figure 6.11 demonstrates this concept.



Figure 6.11. Examples of When Documentation is Required Depending on Wetland Acreage

Indirect Wetland Impacts

Activities that occur outside of the identified **wetland** boundaries that alter **wetland** hydrologically are considered to be Indirect **wetland impacts**. Specifically, an **indirect wetland impact** is assumed if the **development** activity causes the **wetland hydrology** to fall below 80%, or to exceed 150%, of the existing condition **storm event runoff** volume to the **wetland** for the

2-year, 24-hour **storm event**. Indirect environmental impacts to **isolated wetlands** must be sufficiently evaluated, minimized, and mitigated (§604.6 of the WMO).

Changes in **hydrology** includes evaluation of increases or decreases in flow, volume, or duration to all identified onsite and offsite **wetlands**. Existing **hydrology** must be maintained as close to 100% as possible during and following construction. An indirect **wetland hydrology** impact shall be assumed to occur if the **development** activity causes the **wetland hydrology** to fall below 80% or to exceed 150% of the existing condition **storm event runoff** volume to the **wetland** for the 2-year, 24-hour **storm event**.

Professional judgment should be taken when evaluating indirect hydrologic impacts. **Wetlands** are highly variable, and calculations in the spreadsheet may not always represent the actual indirect impact to all types of **wetlands**.

Written permission from adjacent property **owners** is required when increased or decreased **hydrology** outside of the 80% to 150% limits is proposed to **wetlands** that are also located on their property.

Detention in Wetlands

The WMO allows **site runoff** storage in **standard isolated wetlands** only (§604.7 of the WMO). This storage allowance does not include temporary detention nor **sediment basins** for **erosion** and **sediment** control. The **hydrology** of the **standard isolated wetland** must be maintained as close as possible to 100%. Proposed detention in a **standard isolated wetland** will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the **wetland hydrology** will not fall below 80%, nor will it exceed 150% of the existing condition **storm event runoff** volume to the **wetland** for the 2-year, 24-hour **storm event**.

Detention in any **high quality isolated wetlands** or **Corps jurisdictional wetlands** is not allowed if prohibited by the **Corps** as part of a permit process.

Stormwater Outlets Discharging to Wetlands

Stormwater outlets discharging into a **wetland** will only be allowed provided that appropriate water quality and **erosion control practices** are installed, and that the outlets are proposed to have appropriately designed energy dissipation, such as a level spreader, vegetated swale, or scour protection (§604.8 of the WMO). Project designers are recommended to prepare designs in accordance with the **Illinois Urban Manual** and **IEPA–NPDES** requirements. Please refer to Article 4 for additional requirements regarding design and implementation.

Stormwater outlets discharging into a **wetland** must not result in adverse direct (§604.3, §604.4 or §604.5 of the WMO) or indirect **wetland impacts** (§604.6 of the WMO).

Wetland Mitigation for Impacts to Isolated Wetlands

Introduction

Wetland mitigation for impacts to standard isolated wetlands and high quality isolated wetlands is only considered an option after the District or authorized municipality has determined that the applicant has avoided and minimized impacts to isolated wetlands to the extent practicable. For high quality isolated wetlands, the applicant must satisfy the requirements contained in §604.3 of the WMO. Mitigation is required for isolated wetland impacts to replace lost wetland function. Isolated wetland mitigation shall be completed in accordance with the following criteria:

- 1. When the cumulative total **standard isolated wetland(s)** impact is less than 0.10 acre, no mitigation is required;
- 2. When the cumulative total **Standard isolated wetland(s)** impacts are equal to or greater than 0.10 acre, mitigatation shall be provided at a ratio of one-and-one-half acre of creation for each acre impacted (1.5:1);
- 3. High-quality **isolated wetlands** shall be mitigated at a ratio of three acres of creation for each acre impacted (3:1); and
- 4. **Isolated wetland impacts** initiated after the effective date of the WMO and prior to issuance of a **Watershed Management Permit**, or other unauthorized impact shall be mitigated at a ratio of three acres of creation for each acre impacted (3:1).

Wetland Mitigation Ratios

Mitigation for **development**s that impact an **isolated wetland** shall provide for the replacement of the lost **wetland** environment according to Table 6-6:

Wetland Quality	Area of Impact	§604.9 (A)	§604.9 (B)	§604.9 (C)	§604.9 (D)
Standard Isolated	< 0.10 acre	None			
Wetland	≥ 0.10 acre		1.5:1		
High-Quality Isolated Wetland	Any			3:1	
Impacts Prior to Issuance of Permit					3:1

Table 6-6. Isolated Wetland	Mitigation	Requirement Ratios
-----------------------------	------------	---------------------------

Acceptable Isolated Wetland Mitigation Credit Options

The co-applicant can provide the required **isolated wetland mitigation** as follows (§604.10 of the WMO):

1. Payment into a Corps approved wetland mitigation bank within the same Watershed

Planning Area as the impact;

- Payment into a Corps approved wetland mitigation bank that is closest to the development within the same Corps Watershed Service Area as the impact as shown in Appendix D of the WMO;
- 3. Enhancement of an existing onsite **isolated wetland** from a **standard isolated wetland** to a **high quality isolated wetland**, subject to §604.14 of the WMO;
- 4. Expansion of an existing onsite **isolated wetland**;
- 5. Onsite wetland mitigation; and
- 6. Offsite wetland mitigation within the same Watershed Planning Area as the impact.

Wetland Creation Onsite or OffSite

Creation of **wetlands** for mitigation of **development** impacts, within or affecting a **wetland**, may take place only within areas that are not currently **wetlands** (§604.13 of the WMO). The design, analysis, and construction of all **wetland mitigation** shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local regulations. The Joint **Corps** and Environmental Protection Agency regulation, "Compensatory Mitigation for the Losses of Aquatic Resources (June 2008)," shall be used for mitigating impacts. **Wetland** creation can take place on the **development site** or at another approved location.

Existing Wetland Enhancement

The **District** or **authorized municipality** may allow the enhancement of an existing **wetland** that is within or adjacent to a proposed on- or offsite **wetland mitigation** area in exchange for a partial reduction in the mitigation acreage required (§604.14 of the WMO). Either the **District** or an **authorized municipality** may reduce the total **wetland mitigation** area required by 0.75 acre for every one acre of **wetland** enhancement; however, the area of creation of new **wetlands** to compensate for unavoidable **wetland** loss shall not be allowed to fall below a ratio of one acre of creation for each acre impacted (1:1). **Corps** approval of the proposed enhancement to **Corps jurisdictional wetlands** is required if the co-applicant proposes to obtain enhancement credit in lieu of **wetland mitigation** credit.

Wetland Mitigation Plan

If **isolated wetlands** are proposed to be impacted and mitigated on the **development site**, a **wetland mitigation** plan must be prepared and submitted by the co-applicant (§604.15 of the WMO). The mitigation plan shall include design, construction, monitoring, and **maintenance** of the mitigation measures.

The **wetland mitigation** plans must include sheets that depict the location and extent of the proposed **wetland mitigation** area, impacted **wetlands**, planting zones, planting and grading specifications, soil **erosion** and **sediment** control, and temporary and permanent access locations. A summary table shall be included that tabulates the **isolated wetland** acreages to be disturbed (by classification), mitigation ratios, area by classification to be mitigated, and the total mitigation area acreage. If applicable, the mitigation plan should include the proposed buffer and **riparian environment** mitigation plans and associated supporting documentation.

A narrative description of the proposed plan must be provided that describes the proposed **wetland hydrology**, soil characteristics, the proposed plant communities, and any other local geomorphologic conditions that impact the construction or long term sustainability of the **wetland**.

The mitigation plan shall include specifications for construction. These include but are not limited to: specifications for rough and final grading, soil types, soil handling methods, water control **structures**, plant materials, scientific and common names, rates of seeding or spacing, source, storage, and installation methods.

The **maintenance** plan shall at a minimum include a description of each **maintenance** task proposed and its expected effect, the means of measuring its success, and an annual work schedule including the time of year each task will be performed. A checklist for the mitigation plan sheets and **maintenance** plan is provided in Article 3.

If **wetland mitigation** is required, a **wetland mitigation** document must be prepared by the applicant that includes all required information for the **wetland mitigation** and **maintenance** and monitoring submittals. The **wetland mitigation** document must include the following:

- 1. Proposed **wetland hydrology** and an inundation and duration analysis;
- 2. Proposed soils and soil management activities;
- 3. Proposed planting zones, species, quantities, sizes, locations, specifications, methodologies, and details;
- 4. Proposed **maintenance** and monitoring plan with **maintenance activities** and performance criteria outlined;
- 5. Schedule of earthwork, planting, monitoring, and **maintenance**;
- 6. A plan for the continued management, operation, and **maintenance** of the **wetland mitigation** measures including the designation of funding sources and the **person** responsible for long-term operation and **maintenance**; and
- 7. A description of applicable temporary and permanent access and **maintenance** and conservation easements granted or dedicated to and accepted by a governmental entity.

Wetland Mitigation Plan Approval

Isolated wetland Impacts may not occur until after the mitigation plan has been approved by the **District** or **authorized municipality** (§604.16 of the WMO).

Annual Wetland Monitoring Reports

The WMO requires that the applicant provide the **District** or **authorized municipality** with annual monitoring reports documenting the status of the constructed mitigation measures for five years, or until such time that the performance criteria has been met (§604.18 of the WMO). The **District** or **authorized municipality** may also require the applicant to undertake remedial action to bring the area into compliance with the mitigation plan. Changes to the mitigation,
maintenance, and monitoring plan shall be approved by the **District** or **authorized municipality** as necessary.

The monitoring plan shall establish performance standards for the **wetland mitigation**. Performance standards are predetermined goals for guiding and measuring mitigation success. The monitoring plan shall identify:

- 1. The party(s) responsible for monitoring;
- 2. The data to be collected and reported;
- 3. The frequency and duration of monitoring;
- 4. The assessment tools and/or methods to be used for data collection; and
- 5. The format for reporting monitoring data and assessing mitigation success based upon the proposed performance standards.

Monitoring Reports should contain at a minimum the following information:

- Copies of the mitigation plans and if available, as-built plans;
- Maps, and photographs to illustrate **site** conditions;
- Results of functional, condition, or other assessments used to provide quantitative or qualitative measures of the functions provided by the compensatory mitigation project.

Isolated Wetland Buffer Mitigation

Development within an **isolated wetland buffer** shall not, without mitigation (§604.19 of the WMO):

- 1. Adversely change the quantity, quality, or temporal and areal distribution of flows entering any adjacent **wetlands** or waters;
- 2. Adversely affect any **groundwater** infiltration functions; or
- 3. Destroy or damage vegetation that stabilizes **wetland** fringe areas or provides overland flow filtration to **wetlands**. The removal of invasive vegetation is not considered to be destruction or damage of vegetation.

Impacts to **isolated wetland buffer** areas shall be mitigated through the replacement or enhancement of impacted function (§604.20 of the WMO). Therefore, information must be provided that documents the function(s) of the existing buffer. Function(s) of the impacted buffer may be mitigated by enhancing the plants and **structure** of the remaining buffer.

The WMO does not state that buffer is to be mitigated on area basis, but replacement on an

acre-for-acre basis is acceptable. This form of mitigation is referred to as buffer averaging. Buffer averaging is a reduction of the width of a buffer in one area while increasing the width in another without reducing the total surface area of the buffer, maintaining the net surface area of buffer (§603.10 of the WMO). Buffer averaging is allowable if the applicant demonstrates that the averaging will not adversely affect **wetland** function and value, and that the buffer is not reduced in any location by more than 50% or to less than 30 feet total. See Figure 6.12 below for an illustration of this concept.



Figure 6.12. Wetland Buffer Averaging

WETLAND BANKING (§605)

When mitigation is provided via **wetland** banking, the Interagency Coordination Agreement (ICA) on Mitigation Banking within the Regulatory Boundaries of Chicago, the **District**, and the **Corps** will be used. The ICA is the guiding document that outlines regulatory requirements for the authorization, management, and monitoring of any proposed **wetland** banks in **Cook County** and surrounding collar counties. The ICA can be viewed on the **Corps** Chicago **District** website.

Isolated wetland mitigation provided through **wetland mitigation** banking shall abide by the following hierarchy (§605.1 of the WMO):

- 1. Payment into a **Corps** approved **wetland mitigation** bank in the same **watershed planning area**; or
- 2. Payment into a Corps approved wetland mitigation bank that is closest to the

development within the same **Corps** Watershed Service Area as the impacts, as shown in Appendix D of the WMO.

Information on **Corps** approved mitigation bank credits within the Chicago **District** Regulatory Branch is available on the *Regional Internet Bank Information Tracking System* (RIBITS). RIBITS was developed for use by **Corps** nationwide to aid in tracking mitigation bank credit and other information. An applicant can determine if mitigation credit is available from any bank noted as "approved." Information regarding RIBITS can be found at RIBITS:

www.lrc.Corps.army.mil/co-r/ribits.htm.

The payment amount made into the **wetland mitigation** banking program will be determined by multiplying the acres of required mitigation by the banking cost quoted by the mitigation banker on a per acre credit basis (§605.2 of the WMO).

Wetland mitigation banking credits for **jurisdictional wetlands** shall be approved by the **Corps** (§605.3 of the WMO). Credits purchased for **jurisdictional wetland impacts** cannot be applied simultaneously to mitigate for **isolated wetland impacts**.

The **Corps** will have the sole authority for approving **wetland mitigation** banks (§605.4 of the WMO). The **District** or an **authorized municipality** will accept credits purchased from **Corps** approved banks for impacts to **isolated wetlands** regulated by the WMO.

RIPARIAN ENVIRONMENTS REQUIREMENTS (§606)

Introduction

Similar to **wetland buffer** areas, **riparian environments** may help to: reduce **flood** flowrates and volumes, provide bank **stabilization**, pollutant assimilation, **sediment** filtration, stream shading, and wildlife habitat functions.

The **Corps** has the authority under Section 404 and Section 10 of the CWA to regulate **riparian environments** that are located within the limits of delineated **Jurisdictional Waters of the US** or **wetlands** when a **Corps** permit is required.

Unlike **wetlands**, the **Corps** and other federal agencies have not defined **riparian environments**. Research by a number of organizations has led to numerous definitions of a **riparian environment**. The WMO defines a **riparian environment** as follows:

The vegetated area between aquatic and upland ecosystems adjacent to a **waterway** or body of water that provides **flood** management, habitat, water quality enhancement, or other amenities dependent on the proximity to water.

The WMO also states that "adverse impacts to the existing functions of a **riparian environment** shall be mitigated and a mitigation plan shall be prepared" (§607.4).

Waters that are exempt from regulation are likewise exempt from having riparian habitat (§606.3 of the WMO) as listed below.

- Roadside ditches created by excavation for the purposes of stormwater conveyance;
- 2. Channels or bodies of water created by unfinished **development** activities; or
- 3. Channels or bodies of water created by the construction of **stormwater facilities** in upland areas for the purposes of **stormwater** management.

It is important to clarify that **stormwater facilities** constructed in hydric soils (non-upland areas) may be considered waters and may therefore provide a riparian habitat.

Development that Impacts Jurisdictional Waters of the US

Waters of the US and **wetlands** are regulated by the **Corps** under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act and other local municipal ordinances; **wetlands** are regulated by the State of Illinois under the Illinois Interagency **Wetlands** Policy Act (IWPA). WMO regulated **riparian environments** located within areas regulated by other agencies cannot commence until permits from the applicable agencies have been obtained and copies provided to the **District** or **authorized municipality**.

Protection of Existing Functions of a Riparian Environment

The WMO requires the protection of the existing functions of a **riparian environment**. Protection of the **riparian environment** functions pertains to the functions of the onsite **riparian environment**. Similar to the **wetland** requirements, the phrasing of "to the extent practicable" is understood as a solution that is feasible to implement after taking into consideration cost, existing technology, and logistics in light of the overall purpose of the **development** (see the avoidance and minimization sequencing discussion in the **TGM**).

Requirements for Development That Affect the Function and Values of Riparian Environments

There are three main standards for **development** that impact **riparian environment** functions:

- 1. **Development** that impacts **Jurisdictional Waters of the US** on the **development site** shall be prohibited unless a permit for all regulated activities is obtained from the appropriate federal and state authorities (§607.1 of the WMO);
- 2. To the extent practicable, the existing functions of a **riparian environment** shall be protected (§607.2 of the WMO); and
- 3. Adverse impacts to the existing functions of a **riparian environment** shall be mitigated and a mitigation plan shall be prepared (§607.4 of the WMO).

The **District**, or **authorized municipality** will make the final determination as to whether the proposed **riparian environment** modifications will be permitted pursuant to a review of a riparian area mitigation plan.

Below is the technical guidance related to the **riparian environment** standards in **Cook County**:

- 1. Riparian environment determination;
- 2. Riparian environment functions;
- 3. Riparian environment exemptions;
- 4. Riparian environment mitigation; and
- 5. Riparian environment maintenance and monitoring.

Riparian Environment Determination

Riparian Identification

Any **development** containing **riparian environments** requires the identification of the boundaries or limits of those **riparian environments** and the determination of the **riparian environment** function. The limits of **riparian environments** are measured from a stream or **waterway's Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM)** to 30, 50, or 100 feet inland, depending on the stream or **waterway** classification. Within these boundaries, the functional value of the existing vegetation must be assessed.

Because it is the *function* of the **riparian environment** that should be protected, it is important to distinguish those areas that provide a meaningful function from those areas that do not. From a practical standpoint, the following areas are considered to have low functional benefit and should generally not be considered to be "riparian" as they do not meet the definition of **riparian environments** found in the WMO or found within most resource manuals because (1) they are not effective at providing habitat or water quality enhancement and (2) they are manmade ecotypes:

- Paved or graveled surfaces;
- Buildings/structures; and
- Manicured/maintained lawns or formal landscape beds.



Figure 6.13. Examples of Riparian and Non-riparian Environments

Boundaries of Riparian Environments

Determining Biological Stream Characterization and Waters Classification

Riparian environments adjacent to streams and **waterways** are considered based on the classification of the **waterway** including:

- **Biological Stream Characterization (BSC)** of "A" or "B";
- Biologically Significant Stream (BSS); and
- Jurisdictional Water of the US.

The **waterways** classification can be determined by referring to latest edition of the **Illinois Environmental Protection Agency's** *Biological Stream Ratings for Diversity, Integrity and Significance* found at the following website:

http://www.dnr.illinois.gov/conservation/BiologicalStreamratings/Pages/default.aspx .

Determining Limits of Riparian Environment

Table 6-7, taken from the WMO, summarizes the **riparian environment** determinations.

Biological Stream Characterization	Waters Classification	WMO Section		
		§606.2 (A)	§606.2 (B)	§606.2 (C) or (D)
All other streams	Jurisdictional Water	50 feet from the		
	of the US	OHWM		
	Isolated Waters		30 feet from the	
			OHWM	
BSC of "A" or "B" or BSS streams	Jurisdictional Water			100 feet from the
	of the US			OHWM
	Isolated Waters			100 feet from the
				OHWM

Table 6-7. Riparian Environment Determination

Figure 6.14 shows the 50-foot **riparian environment** for a **Jurisdictional Waters of the US** that does not qualify as **wetlands**.



Figure 6.14. Riparian Environment for a Jurisdictional Waters of the US that does not Qualify as Wetlands

Figure 6.15 shows the 30-foot **riparian environment** for an **isolated waters** that does not qualify as **wetlands**. The **riparian environment** shall be 30 feet from the **OHWM**.



Figure 6.15. Riparian Environment for an Isolated Waters that does not Qualify as Wetlands

The limit of the **riparian environment** is 100 feet from the **OHWM** for any **Jurisdictional Waters of the US** or for any **isolated waters** that do not qualify as **wetlands** and which are identified as:

- **Biological Stream Characterization** (**BSC**) of "A" or "B" according to the latest edition of the **Illinois Environmental Protection Agency's** *Biological Stream Characterization: Biological Assessment of Illinois Stream Quality.*
- **Biologically Significant Stream (BSS)**, which is a stream with a Biological Diversity or Integrity of "A", "B", or "C" according to the latest edition of the Illinois Department of Natural Resource's (IDNR) Office of Resource Conservation: *Biological Stream Ratings for Diversity, Integrity and Significance.*



Figure 6.16. Riparian Environment Limits for Streams with a BSC Classification of "A" or "B" and BSS streams

The Illinois Department of Natural Resources - Office of Resource Conservation *Biological Stream Ratings for Diversity, Integrity and Significance* is available at:

www.dnr.state.il.us/orc/BioStrmRatings/

Riparian Environment Functions

Riparian environments are defined in two ways, by function and proximity to waters of the US and **isolated waters** (§606.1 of the WMO). It is the function of the **riparian environments** that is to be protected. It is the responsibility of the co-applicant to document the functions that each identified **riparian environment** has on the **development site**.

The following provides examples of riparian functions that should be considered.

- Reducing **flood** flowrates, velocities, and volumes;
- Minimizing **erosion** and promoting bank stability of streams, **lakes**, ponds, or **wetland** shorelines;
- Helping to control **sediment** from upland areas by filtering and assimilating nutrients

discharged from surrounding uplands;

- Has overhanging vegetation that helps to cool stream flow; and/or
- Providing nutrient uptake that may reduce algal blooms and subsequent depressed levels of dissolved oxygen in-stream.

The presence and extent of **riparian environments** are to be identified by the permit applicant. The applicant should identify the function and quality of **riparian environments**. If a **riparian environment** is present on the subject **parcel**, the applicant is encouraged to obtain the assistance of an environmental scientist to delineate the boundaries of the **OHWM**. The **Corps** maintains a list of consultants who perform these services. Inclusion on this list does not constitute a recommendation, endorsement, or certification of its qualifications or performance record.

Exempt Riparian Areas

Some areas that meet the requirements to be considered **riparian environments** are exempt from regulation because they are manmade. Areas that were excavated out of upland conditions or created by artificial **hydrology** are generally not regulated by the WMO as a **riparian environment** (§606.3 of the WMO). While man-induced waters may not be regulated under the WMO, they may be regulated by other federal, state, or local **municipalities**. The **Corps** and USEPA reserve the right on a case-by-case basis to determine that a particular water body is a **Jurisdictional Waters of the US**.

The following **riparian environments** are exempt from the **riparian environment** requirements of the WMO:

- 1. Roadside ditches created by excavation for the purposes of **stormwater** conveyance;
- 2. Channels or bodies of water created by unfinished **development** activities; and
- 3. Channels or bodies of water created by the construction of **stormwater facilities** for the purposes of **stormwater** management.

RIPARIAN ENVIRONMENT MITIGATION (§607)

Definition of Adverse Impacts

Adverse impacts to the function of **riparian environments** must be mitigated. Appropriate mitigation must be included in a **site** mitigation plan, which is part of the permit submittal (§306 of the WMO).

Adverse impacts to **riparian environment** functions are defined as:

- 1. Modification or relocation of streams and channels;
- 2. Significant changes to quantity, quality, or distribution of flows draining to any adjacent

wetlands or waters; and

3. Damage to vegetation that overhangs, stabilizes, provides overland flow filtration, or shades stream channels, **wetlands**, or impoundments that normally contain water.

The removal of invasive vegetation is not considered to be destruction or damage of vegetation. The removal of vegetation and downed trees impeding drainage or removal of invasive vegetation is excluded from the WMO requirements when included as part of a **District** recognized program or project for stream **maintenance**, **stabilization**, restoration, or enhancement.

Riparian Environment Mitigation

Impacts to **riparian environments** are mitigated through the replacement or enhancement of impacted functions and values. Therefore, a narrative must be provided that identifies the existing **riparian environment** functions.

Mitigation Approaches

The functions of the impacted **riparian environment** may be mitigated by enhancing the functions and values of the remaining **riparian environment**. For example, if the existing **riparian environment** were a fallow field and provided limited soil **stabilization**, **sediment** filtration, and pollutant assimilation functions, those functions could be enhanced by revegetating the remaining **riparian environment** with native deep rooted vegetation that increases the soil **stabilization**, **sediment** filtration, and pollutant assimilation, sediment with native deep rooted vegetation that

Riparian environment averaging may also be used to mitigate impacts. Averaging is reducing the width of the **riparian environment** in one area while increasing the width in another without reducing the aggregate area. This is allowable if the applicant demonstrates that the averaging will not adversely affect the **riparian environment** functions and values and that the **riparian environment** width is not reduced in any location by more than 50% or to less than 30 feet. Figure 6.17 illustrates this concept:



Figure 6.17. Riparian Environment Averaging

Channel Relocation and Stabilization Practices

The following requirements pertain to channel relocation and **stabilization** practices:

Avoidance of Impacts to Natural Streams and Channels

When practicable, impacts to natural streams and channels should be avoided. Natural streams and channels provide greater benefits than urban hard-armored streams and channels. Therefore, the WMO requires avoidance of these areas.

Similar to the **wetland** requirements, the phrasing of "when practicable" is understood as available and being capable of being implemented after taking into consideration cost, existing technology, and logistics in light of the overall purpose of the **development** (see the avoidance and minimization sequencing discussion in §604). However, natural streams and channels have often been degraded due to **erosion** from urban **runoff**. Therefore, stream restoration and enhancement projects are exempt from this requirement, as the goals of these projects are to provide enhanced functions and values.

Naturalizing New or Relocated Channels

If a channel is completely or partially relocated, the newly created portion shall be constructed in a manner which will allow naturalizing to occur, including but not limited to, meandering, pools, or riffles where practicable.

Constructed in Dry Conditions

When feasible, new or relocated channels shall be built under dry conditions through the diversion of the normal flow within the channel. All items of construction (including establishment of vegetation) shall be completed prior to diversion of water into the new channel.

Building new or relocated channels under dry conditions minimizes and controls suspended **sediment** and degradation of downstream water quality.

Erosion and Sediment Control Practices

An approved and effective **erosion** and **sediment control practice** to minimize and control suspended **sediment** and degradation of downstream water quality must be installed before excavation begins. The installed practices must be maintained throughout the construction period and conform to the requirements of WMO Article 4.

There are numerous methods and proprietary products to control **erosion** and **sediment** during construction of streambank **stabilization** projects. Some of these practices include, but are not limited to, **silt fence** at the toe of the slope, turbidity curtains, stream draw down, by-pass pumping, diversion channels, and coffer **dams**. See Article 4 for appropriate **erosion** and **sediment control practices**.

Meeting Channel Modification Requirements

Any channel modifications shall meet all other requirements in the WMO and **TGM**, including the **floodplain** and **floodway** requirements outlined in §601 and §602. See Article 3 for

floodplain and floodway submittal requirements.

Length of New or Relocated Channel

The length of any new or relocated channel shall be greater than or equal to the length of the disturbed channel.

Meandering channels are generally longer than straightened channels. Meandering channels can offer more physical stability and physical habitat diversity than are typically found in a straightened stream corridor. This requirement is to ensure that channel straightening does not occur.

Withstanding All Events up to the Base Flood without Increased Erosion

Streams and channels shall be expected to withstand all events up to the **base flood** without increased **erosion**. Hard armoring of banks with concrete, bulkheads, rip-rap, and other non-natural materials shall be avoided where practicable. Hard armoring shall be used only where **erosion** cannot be prevented by use of bioengineering techniques or gradual slopes. Such armoring shall not have any adverse impact on other properties nor shall it have an adverse impact upon the existing land use.

Natural streams and channels provide greater benefits than hard-armored streams and channels. Similar to the **wetland** requirements, the phrasing of "where practicable" is understood as available and being capable of being implemented after taking into consideration cost, existing technology, and logistics in light of the overall purpose of the **development** (see the avoidance and minimization sequencing discussion of the **TGM**). When hard armoring is proposed where **erosion** cannot be prevented by use of approved methods, documentation must be provided showing the need for hard armoring techniques.

Replanting for Stability

All **disturbed areas** must be replanted for stability with native vegetation where appropriate.

Stormwater Outlets Impacting Riparian Environments

Stormwater outlets discharging into a channel shall be designed with appropriate water quality control practices and proper energy dissipation or scour protection. See Article 4 appropriate water quality and **sediment** and **erosion** control measures.

Riparian Environment Mitigation Plan Requirements

A **riparian environment** mitigation plan shall be developed by the applicant and meet the requirements of Article 9. This plan shall include:

- 1. Mitigation area design;
- 2. Plan sheets;
- 3. Construction phasing;

- 4. A monitoring plan; and
- 5. A **maintenance** plan.

This plan may be combined with other impact and mitigation plans if **wetland** or buffer impacts are proposed.

Each **riparian environment** mitigation plan must have a drawing that depicts the location and extent of the **riparian environment** mitigation as well as **riparian environment** that is impacted on the **site**, planting zones, and temporary and permanent access locations. A summary table shall be included on this drawing that includes the acreage to be disturbed and the acreage to be mitigated.

The mitigation plan shall include specifications for construction. These include but are not limited to: specifications for rough and final grading, types of soils, soil handling methods, plant materials, scientific and common names, rates of seeding or spacing, source, storage, and installation methods.

The **maintenance** plan shall at a minimum include a description of each **maintenance** task proposed, expected effect, means of measuring its success, and an annual work schedule including the time of year each task will be performed.

The monitoring plan shall establish performance standards for the **riparian environment** mitigation. Performance standards are predetermined goals for guiding and measuring mitigation success. The monitoring plan shall identify the party(s) responsible for monitoring, the data to be collected and reported, how often and for what duration, the assessment tools and/or methods to be used for data collection, and the format for reporting monitoring data and assessing mitigation success based upon the proposed performance standards.

Riparian Environment Monitoring and Maintenance

The **District** or **authorized municipality** will require that the applicant provide the annual monitoring reports on the status of the constructed mitigation measures for five years or until such time that the performance criteria has been met. The **District** or **authorized municipality** may also require the applicant to undertake remedial action to bring the area into compliance with the mitigation plan. Changes to the mitigation, **maintenance** and monitoring plan may be approved by the **District** or **authorized municipality** as necessary.

Mitigation measures in **riparian environment**s shall include required provisions for long-term **maintenance**.

Requirements for Outfalls

For all new and reconstructed **outfalls** to any **waterways**, including Lake Michigan, require a **Watershed Management Permit**. For **outfalls** to **waterways** located within the City of Chicago, a **Facility Connection Authorization** is also required.

Each **outfall structure** must be designed with energy dissipation. **Outfalls** constructed within **wetlands, wetland buffer**, and **riparian environments** will be subject to those applicable requirements of the WMO. The **outfall** and energy dissipation must be designed such that no downstream **erosion** or **flooding** results from the discharge. Article 4 of the WMO requires that the **stabilization** practices be installed as soon as practicable in those portions of the **site** where construction activities have temporarily or permanently ceased.

REFERENCES

<u>Compensatory Mitigation for the Losses of Aquatic Resources</u>, April 2008. Available at: <u>http://www.mitigationbanking.org/pdfs/2008finalcompensatorymitigation.pdf</u>

Environmental Laboratory. 1987. <u>Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual</u>. Technical Report Y-87-1. Vicksburg, MS: US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. Available at: <u>http://el.erdc.Corps.army.mil/wetlands/pdfs/wlman87.pdf</u>

Environmental Laboratory. September 2008. <u>Interim Regional Supplement to the Corps of</u> <u>Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Midwest Region</u>. Technical Report ERDC/EL TR-08-27. Vicksburg, MS: US Army Engineer Research and Development Center Available at: <u>http://el.erdc.Corps.army.mil/elpubs/pdf/trel08-27.pdf</u>

Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), May 2001. <u>Technical Bulletin 10-01: Ensuring</u> <u>That Structures Built on Fill In or Near Special Flood Hazard Areas Are Reasonably Safe From</u> <u>Flooding</u>.

Available at: http://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1511-20490-3169/tb1001.pdf

Illinois Department of Natural Resources – Office of Water Resources (IDNR-OWR) Floodplain Model Ordinance. Available at: <u>http://dnr.state.il.us/flood/model.htm</u>

The Interagency Coordination Agreement (ICA) on Mitigation Banking Within the Regulatory Boundaries of the Chicago District, Corps of Engineers. Available at: <u>http://www.lrc.Corps.army.mil/co-r/MBICAJun2008.pdf</u>

Kane County Technical Reference Manual. Available at: <u>http://www.countyofkane.org/FDER/Documents/waterOrdinances/technicalManual.pdf</u>

Lake County Technical Reference Manual. Available at: <u>http://www.lakecountyil.gov/Stormwater/FloodplainStormwaterRegulations/WDOandTRM/Pages/TechnicalReferenceManual.aspx</u>

Regional Internet Bank Information Tracking System (RIBITS) Available at: <u>http://www.lrc.Corps.army.mil/co-r/ribits.htm</u>

USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service. 1994. <u>National Food Security Act Manual</u>, third edition (as amended). Washington, DC. Available at: <u>http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/programs/compliance/index.html</u>

ARTICLE 7: REQUIREMENTS FOR SEWER CONSTRUCTION

Introduction

For the protection of existing and future infrastructure, and in the **interest** of public health, all **qualified sewer construction** in **Cook County** is subject to regulation requiring formal approvals and permitting. Regulating sewer projects promotes minimum design and construction standards, provides a data repository of underground sewer infrastructure, and minimizes the risk to existing public and private infrastructure by requiring research, preparation, and coordination prior to a contractor beginning work.

GENERAL SEWER CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS (§700)

Approximately 125 agencies (municipalities, sanitary districts, townships, and one utility company) are tributary to the District's collection system of interceptor sewers. These agencies are relieved of the responsibility to own and operate a sewage treatment plant and benefit from the economy of scale of large, regional sewage treatment plants. Older municipalities are built upon a combined sewer system that conveys domestic sewage, industrial wastes, and stormwater runoff to the District collection system. Municipalities constructed after 1945 are generally on a separate sewer system where one pipe conveys domestic sewage and industrial wastes with a separate pipe for the collection of stormwater runoff. The District maintains a *Combined Sewer Atlas* to show what areas it considers to be on a combined sewer system and what areas considered to be on a separate sewer system.

The **District** has the right to annex property within **Cook County** into the **District** Corporate limits. This is done by an Act of the State Legislature. The **District** also has the right to enter into Sewer Service Agreements with **municipalities** that are within **Cook County** and the **District's** corporate limits and also lie in an adjoining county such as Lake, DuPage, or Will Counties. Areas that are annexed after July 9, 1998 must pay a **Connection Impact Fee** to the **District** for the area to be served.

The **District** follows the design standards for public sewer systems as regulated by Title 35 of the State of Illinois Administrative Code, Subtitle C, Part 370. While the **District** does not regulate plumbing of **buildings** it may ask for plumbing plans to determine where waste flows are originating from and how they are routed through the **building**.

<u>Note</u>: All bold terms contained in this document are defined terms in the WMO. Refer to Appendix A of the WMO or the TGM for the definition of each bold term.

QUALIFIED SEWER CONSTRUCTION (§701)

The **District** collects, treats, and disposes of **sewage** from approximately 95% of the land area of **Cook County**. The suburbs of Chicago Heights, University Park, Park Forest, and the majority of Homewood are tributary to the Thorn Creek Basin Sanitary District (TCBSD); construction and replacement of **sanitary** or **combined sewers** in those communities should be coordinated through TCBSD. Contact information is available on-line at the following website: <u>www.thorncreek.dst.il.us</u>. The far northwest portion of **Cook County** (Barrington and the areas immediately east of it) is also not in the corporate limits of the **District** and **sanitary sewer** construction would be regulated by the appropriate local agency. Most of this area is currently on septic and is not tributary to a **sewage** treatment plant. However, a **Watershed Management Permit** is still needed for **development** in these areas of **Cook County**, even when they are not located within the corporate boundaries of the MWRD or are not tributary to its treatment plants (WMO §200.1) Service laterals for **single-family homes** and multi-family homes less than 3 units within the corporate limits are not regulated by the WMO.

Construction or modification of **storm sewers** in a **combined sewer area** and construction of **storm sewers** in a **separate sewer area** that discharge to a **District** facility are considered **qualified sewer construction** and require a **Watershed Management Permit**. Refer to the **qualified sewer construction** flowchart provided as Figure 7.1 for additional guidance. A permit from the **District** is also required for **development** that impacts **District** property; a flowchart that navigates applicants through **District** impacts is provided as Figure 7.2.

A **Watershed Management Permit** is required for cured-in-place pipe (CIPP) lining of public sewer systems. CIPP lining of private sewer systems is considered **non-qualified sewer construction**. Routine **maintenance** performed on an existing sewer system, public or private, such as grouting, jetting, cleaning, and root cutting is not regulated by the WMO.

QUALIFIED SEWER CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS (§702)

Qualified sewer construction is considered all public and private new sewers and new sewer connections, exterior to the building envelope, including sewer repair and sewer replacement. Any construction that is considered qualified sewer construction will require a Watershed Management Permit. The following summarize the District's requirements for qualified sewer construction:

A. Single-Family Home

A service sewer, also referred to as a lateral, that serves a single-family home or two-unit building to connect to the public sewer system does not require a Watershed Management

Permit from the **District**. However, it does require a **Watershed Management Permit** if the public sewer must be extended to serve that property.

B. Residential Subdivision

A **residential subdivision** of **single-family homes** or townhomes or **multi-family residential** units requires a **Watershed Management Permit**.

C. Multi-Family Residential Sewer

A **development** that consists of a single **building** or **structure** that has more than two individual dwelling units requires a **Watershed Management Permit**.

D. Non-Residential Service Sewer

Commercial, recreational, and industrial properties must apply for and receive a **Watershed Management Permit** before they can be constructed and discharge into the public sewer system. All such properties will require an inspection manhole that isolates the **sewage** being discharged from the **building** before it leaves the private property. The inspection manhole should be located at least 5 feet from the perimeter of the **building** and not be in a driveway or traveled area. A manhole into which a force main discharges cannot be considered an inspection manhole.

E. Public Lift Station/Force Main

The following items are required for a proposed lift station:

- Schedule E Lift Station (Schedule E is only required for publicly owned lift stations serving multiple service areas; an original PE Seal and signature is required on the Schedule E form).
- Details of Construction;
- Service Area Map;
- Hydraulic design calculations;
- Present and future population equivalents (PE);
- Pump System Curves, Characteristic Curves, Operation Point;
- Wet Well Capacity and Detention Time calculations (detention should be between 10 and 30 minutes);
- Buoyancy Calculations for the lift station;
- Lift stations are to be located a minimum of 25 feet horizontally from any water main; and
- New lift stations shall not be located within the **regulatory floodplain** or have access openings and vents below the **Flood Protection Elevation (FPE)**.





The following items are required for a proposed force main:

- A plan and profile drawing are required identifying high and low points and point of discharge;
- For a public force main the minimum diameter is four inches or a pipe size that provides a self scouring velocity of 2 feet per second;
- Thrust blocks are required for open cut installations;
- Air relief valves are required on the high points;
- Blow off valves are recommended on the low points;
- Submit calculations addressing items 2, 4, 5, 6 of Schedule E;
- Submit service area map with present and future population equivalents (PE); and
- Submit pump curves and systems curves.

The lift station shall be designed and operated so that only one pump is in operation at a time. The second pump should have the capacity for the service area, and will serve as a backup to be placed in operation only when the first pump is not in operation. Simultaneous operation of both pumps is prohibited. If the pump station has three or more pumps, multiple pumps may operate simultaneously; however, the maximum discharge rate may not be exceeded at any time.

PLC control logic electrical schematic diagrams must be submitted as part of the plan set. The control logic must demonstrate that the pumps cannot be operated simultaneously.

In addition, the applicant must also:

- Verify the size of the force main is not less than 4 inches for public systems;
- Provide wet well size calculations;
- Verify the detention/retention time in the wet well is calculated and provided between 10 and 30 minutes. The cycle time of the pumps should not be more than six times per hour;
- Verify that air relief valves are provided on the high points of the force main;
- Include information or calculations for future growth (PE and pump curves);
- Identify Pump Horsepower and Impeller type and which system curve is applicable;
- Verify that the operating head is not too close to the shutoff head.

If an existing lift station is being replaced, any increase in the pump capacity must be justified, such as by service population increase (and a map showing this must be provided to support this). The **District** does not allow increased pump capacity to accommodate excessive Infiltration and Inflow (I&I) conveyed by **sanitary sewers** upstream of the Lift Station. In addition, force main to force main connections are discouraged.

For private lift stations, the engineer must provide the force main profile and Special Conditions will be attached to the permit. A private lift station serves a sole property even if that property is publicly owned. A separate inspection manhole shall be provided upstream of the wet well for any **non-residential** facilities tributary to the private lift station.

For **stormwater** lift stations, check downstream conditions that may limit or constrict flow such as culverts under a roadway.

F. District Interceptor, TARP and other Direct Connections to District Facilities

- Procure applicable **District record drawings**, design standards, and specifications relevant to the proposed connection.
- Provide a map of the service area for the proposed sewer.
- Provide a detail of the connection to the **District** facility including size, pipe material, details of **District structure**, and proposed **structure**.
- Provide an auxiliary manhole upstream of the proposed connection.
- Before construction commences, provide calculations prepared and sealed by a Structural Engineer licensed in the State of Illinois for excavation support systems that may be required.
- Provide a bypass pumping plan, if required.

G. Outfall Connection

For proposed **outfall** connections, the following must be provided:

- Provide a map of the service area for the proposed **outfall**.
- Provide a natural or mechanical flow-through device (see Lake Michigan Outfall Water Quality Structure Typical Detail).
- Provide a headwall for the outfall, a precast flared end Section may be provided for outfalls that are 15 inches or less in diameter such as IDOT Standard 542301. For larger outfalls, a cast in place headwall must be provided such as IDOT Standard 542101 or be part of the permanent dock wall.
- Energy dissipation by the use of a level spreader or rip-rap placement must be provided when discharging at a grade.
- Details of the energy dissipation system must be provided.
- Consider if a backflow prevention device is required when the receiving **waterway** is at **flood** stage. Backflow preventers are required for stormwater detention systems in separate sewer areas with flood control projects and also in combined sewer areas where an open detention pond is proposed.
- Provide WMO Schedule O (see §608 of the WMO for **outfall** requirements).

- Should the **outfall** pierce an existing dock wall, such as a driven sheet pile wall, a detail of the wall penetration must be prepared and sealed by a Structural Engineer licensed in the State of Illinois.
- A Special Condition requiring the **owner** of the **outfall** to obtain a **National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)** permit from the **IEPA** is attached to the permit.

H. Treatment and Pretreatment Facilities (such as Treatment Plants and Oxidation Ponds)

Provide technical data on the operation of the facilities including criteria and calculations, such as the following:

- Process Flow Schematics.
- Provide Schedule G (or IEPA Schedule J).
- Provide a flow meter to measure water into the facility.
- Provide a sampling chamber or inspection access where samples of the effluent can be taken.
- Provide a surety bond for the **maintenance** and operation of the facility.

I. Septic Systems

The **District** does not regulate the design, construction, or **maintenance** of septic systems for **sewage** disposal serving a home or **building**. When allowed, the local authority would be the permitting agency for such an installation. In unincorporated **Cook County**, the County's Department of Public Health would regulate and permit such an installation. Septic systems cannot discharge their effluent to a sewer tributary to the **District's** interceptor sewer system.

When disconnection from a septic system and sanitary service connection is made, the existing septic system must be abandoned by pumping out any residual sludge, completely filling the abandoned septic tanks with granular material such as **IDOT** FA 2 or CA 6, and plugging the ends with grout. Alternatively, the septic system could be completely removed. If the existing tank is left in place, the bottom slab should be punctured to allow water to drain out, and the ends plugged with grout. Connections and piping to the new **sanitary sewer** system must be made upstream of the septic tank and must be watertight.

J. Sewer Construction in Floodplain

Provide watertight, bolt down covers on **sanitary** or **combined sewer** manholes that may be inundated during a **flood** condition. This would be considered any area that is less than two feet above the **Base Flood Elevation**, **Flood Protection Elevation**, or the detention system's High Water Level. The **Flood Protection Elevation (FPE)** is defined as the **Base Flood Elevation** plus two feet of freeboard.

FACILITY CONNECTION AUTHORIZATION (§703)

Within the City of Chicago, a **Facility Connection Authorization** (**FCA**) must be prepared for connections made directly or indirectly to **District** facilities. The **FCA** is signed by an authorized representative of the Department of Water Management. Projects that cross **District** property to reach a **waterway** require an easement from the Law Department's Real Estate Section. The technical details would be the same as listed under subsection *F. District Interceptor, Tarp and other Direct Connections*.

THE SEWER CONSTRUCTION PROCESS

Starting the Project

First, identify where the project is located and which public sewer the **sewage** will discharge to. The **municipality** that owns the public sewer is the "**permittee**." The property **owner** whose **building** or facility is discharging the **sewage** is the "**co-permittee**." There are situations where the **sewage** discharges directly to a **District** interceptor sewer, generally known as a "Sole **Permittee**." There are locations where **sewage** and/or **stormwater** flow through more than one **municipality's** sewer before it reaches the **District** interceptor or the receiving stream. In such cases an additional Page 7 and Page 8 are required indicating that the **municipality** is aware and agrees to the project and certifies that their sewer system has adequate capacity. Information about existing **Sewerage System Permits** that may be helpful can be obtained by forwarding an email to the head of the Local Sewer System Section and requesting that a search of the permit data base for a given location be conducted. If a large number of permits are involved, the applicant will be asked to go the Stickney Field Office and review the permits to determine what is relevant to the project.

Identify if the project is in a **combined sewer area** or a **separate sewer area**. The **District** maintains an atlas that defines the areas considered to have been developed on a **combined sewer** system. Some older **municipalities** have done partial separation by **building storm sewers** for roadway drainage, but those **municipalities** are still considered to be on a **combined sewer** system.

Identify whether the project is residential, commercial, institutional, or industrial. The amount of **sewage** to be generated from the project is calculated by using the chart in the State of **Illinois Recommended Standards for Sewage Works** (Title 35 Part 370), Appendices A and B. It is assumed that, on average, a **person** needs 100 gallons of water per day to bathe, cook, flush the toilet and clean. It is also assumed that whatever water goes into a home or business comes out to the public sewer.

A Population Equivalent (PE) Calculation is required for any **building** connection or public sewer extension. The PE calculation may be written on Schedule C (Page 7) or it can be attached as a worksheet or shown on a drawing. Any time the PE calculation is not written on Schedule C (Page 7), a note should be written below the "PE** ___" that indicates where the PE calculation is located (i.e. "See Attachment or See Sheet C1.1").

Design Flow. Average design flow for **sanitary sewers** shall be 100 gpcpd. Maximum design flow for **sanitary sewer** lines shall be determined by one of the equations indicated below; provided, however, that the maximum design flow for sewer laterals need not exceed 400 gpcpd and the maximum design flow for sewer mains and trunks shall not be less than 250 gpcpd.

Equation 1:

$$Q = \sqrt[6]{P}$$
Equation 2:

$$Q = 100 (1 + 14)$$

$$4 + \sqrt{P}$$

Where,

Q = Maximum design flow, gallons per capita per day (gpcpd)

P = Population in thousands

The **sanitary sewer** is designed to flow under gravity to the public sewer with adequate slope to maintain a self-scouring velocity of 2 feet per second and with adequate earth cover, not less than 36 inches, to prevent freezing during the winter months.

Table 7-1. Minimum	and Maximum	Pipe Slopes by Size
	and maximum	The biopes by bize

Sewer Diameter	Minimum Slope	Maximum Slope
Inches	Percent	Percent
6	1.0	33.0
8	0.40	22.0
10	0.28	15.0
12	0.22	11.0
15	0.15	8.3
16	0.14	7.8
18	0.12	6.5
21	0.10	5.1
24	0.08	4.2

Under special conditions, if detailed justifiable reasons are given, slopes slightly less than those required for the 2 feet per second velocity when flowing full may be permitted. Such decreased slopes will only be considered where the depth of flow will be 30% of the diameter or greater for design average flow. Whenever such decreased slope are selected, the design engineer must furnish with his report his computations of the depth of flow in such pipes at minimum, design average, and design peak rates of flow. It must be recognized that decreased slopes may cause additional sewer **maintenance** expense and special linings or materials should be considered for corrosion protection. A letter from both the **permittee** and **co-permittee** acknowledging the increased **maintenance** due to the decreased slope shall be provided to the **District**.

Design of the Sewer System

The sewer system is laid out in the most efficient alignment possible keeping in mind the presence of other utilities such as potable water, natural gas, **storm sewers**, and electrical and telecommunications cables. The design of the sewer system is laid out concurrently with the grading plan to minimize any cut and fill earthwork the project may require and to ensure adequate earth cover over the **sanitary sewer**. Occasionally there are situations where an outlying **building** or public restroom for a park may be more efficiently served by constructing a grinder pump and a small 2-inch diameter HDPE force main that outlets to the public sewer system than constructing a gravity sewer.

Service Sewer

A **service sewer**, also known as a lateral, is defined as a sewer pipe receiving flow from a single **building**, connecting to a sewer main, and constructed on private property, except for street crossings. The maximum length of a **service sewer** shall not exceed 400 feet or 150 feet if access to a sewer cleaning truck is not available. If the length is exceeded, an intermediate manhole shall be built. Cleanouts may be used only for special conditions and shall not be substituted for manholes nor installed at the end of laterals greater than 150 feet in length. Two consecutive cleanouts in series are not allowed. When the **service sewer** connects to a sewer lateral of a size not larger than the size of the **service sewer**, a manhole shall be built at the point of connection. The minimum slope for a 6-inch diameter service line shall be one percent (1%).

Minimum design standards, and other requirements hereof, governing materials, joints, infiltration, workmanship and **maintenance** for sewer mains and laterals shall also apply to **service sewers**. Horizontal and vertical alignment of the **service sewer** shall be uniform and shall follow a straight line alignment. Any change in sewer alignment will require a structure at the change. There shall be no dips in the grade or fall of the line. Turns or bends required for the riser, if any, necessary to connect to the sewer wye or tee, shall be made with standard bends.

In those instances where the **service sewer** is partially constructed from the sewer lateral or main to a point other than the **building** to be served, the pipe shall be tightly plugged using a manufactured plug. The plug shall be pre-wired by the manufacturer so that it can be firmly secured in place.

Combined Sewer Areas

In areas designated as **combined sewer areas** on the **District** *Combined Sewer Atlas*, the following requirements shall apply:

- a. *Separation.* Complete separation of **storm** and **sanitary sewers** shall be provided within the property lines.
- b. *Down Spouts.* All down-spouts or roof drains shall discharge onto the ground or be connected to the **storm** or **combined sewer**. No down spouts or roof drains shall be connected to the **sanitary sewers**.
- c. Footing Drains. Footing drains shall be connected to sump pumps, and discharge shall be made into storm sewers, combined sewers or drainage ditches. No footing drains or drainage tile shall be connected to the sanitary sewer. After December 31, 1970 all new construction shall conform to the requirements of this paragraph. No permit application will be accepted, nor any permits issued after December 31, 1970 to any municipality or local government unless said municipality or local government shall have adopted an ordinance reflecting the requirements of this paragraph and a copy of said ordinance shall have been filed with the District, or that the permittee and/or co-permittee shall agree to comply with the requirements of this article.
- d. *Floor Drains.* Floor drains in **basements** shall be connected to sump pumps and discharged to the sanitary or **combined sewers**.
- e. *Sump Pumps.* Sump pumps installed to receive and discharge **groundwater** or other **stormwater** shall be connected to the **storm** or **combined sewers** or discharge into a drainage ditch. Sump pumps installed to receive and discharge floor drain flow or other sanitary **sewage** shall be connected to the **sanitary** or **combined sewers**. A sump pump shall be used for one function only, either the discharge of **stormwater** or the discharge of sanitary **sewage**.
- f. *Stormwater Detention.* A backflow preventer is required for all detention basins tributary to **combined sewers**. Required backflow preventers shall be inspected and exercised annually by the property owner to ensure proper operation, and any necessary maintenance shall be performed to ensure functionality. In the event of a sewer surcharge into an open detention basin tributary to **combined sewers**, the **permittee** shall ensure that clean up and wash out of sewage takes place within 48 hours of **the storm event**.

Separate Sewer Areas

In areas served by **separate sewer** systems, the following requirements shall apply:

- a. *Down Spouts.* All down-spouts or roof drains shall discharge onto the ground or be connected to **storm sewer**. No down-spouts or roof drains shall be connected to the **sanitary sewers**.
- b. *Footing Drains.* Footing drains shall be connected to sump pumps, and discharge shall be made into **storm sewers** or drainage ditches. No footing drains or drainage tile shall be connected to the **sanitary sewer**. After December 31, 1970, all **new construction** shall conform to the requirements of this paragraph. No permit application will be accepted, nor any permits issued after December 31, 1970, to any **municipality** or local government unless said **municipality** or local government shall have adopted an ordinance reflecting the requirements of this paragraph and a copy of said ordinance shall have been filed with the **District**, or that the **permittee** and/or **co-permittee** shall agree to comply with the requirements of this article.
- c. *Floor Drains.* Floor drains in **basements** shall be connected to sump pumps and discharged to the **sanitary sewers**.
- d. *Sump Pumps.* Sump pumps installed to receive and discharge **groundwater** or other **stormwater** shall be connected to the **storm sewer** or discharge into a drainage ditch. Sump pumps installed to receive and discharge floor drain flow or other sanitary **sewage** shall be connected to the **sanitary sewers**. A sump pump shall be used for one function only, either the discharge of **stormwater** or the discharge of sanitary **sewage**.
- e. *Completion of Storm Sewer System.* The construction of the proposed **storm sewer** system shall be completed before the **sanitary sewer** system is put in service. When compliance with this requirement may cause an undue hardship to the **permittee**, the **permittee** shall notify the **District** and the **District** may waive this requirement if the conditions so warrant.
- f. *Window Well and Area-Way Drains*. No window well or area-way drains shall be connected to the **sanitary sewer**.

Storm Sewers

Storm sewers are usually shallower and on a flatter slope than **sanitary** or **combined sewers**. The **storm sewer** is sized for a particular **storm event** (typically a 10-year **storm event**) and conveys **stormwater** to an outlet. The outlet is usually a **waterway** but there are cases where **stormwater** outlets to a **District** facility. The 100-year **storm event** is usually designed to flow over pavement and ground to a receiving **waterway**. It is important that there shall not be any **structures** in the path of the 100-year storm. An important aspect of **storm sewer** design is the spacing of inlets so the **stormwater** can actually be collected into the **storm sewer** during the rain event. Many **municipalities** have a standard frame and grate that they use based upon their past experience

and the need to maintain inventory for repairs and **maintenance**. Any analysis of the **storm sewer** system inlets should be done with the standard grate that the **municipality** will specify.

Overhead Plumbing

All new **buildings** with **basements**, floors, rooms, or occupancy areas below ground level at the **building site** and served by a public or private sewer system, shall have overhead plumbing. No permit application will be accepted, nor any permits issued to any **municipality** or local government unless said **municipality** or local government shall have adopted an ordinance requiring overhead plumbing, and a copy of said ordinance shall have been filed with the **District**, or that the **permittee** and/or **co-permittee** shall agree to comply with the requirements of this section. A project that is a Sole **Permittee** will have to provide Schedule J, Overhead Plumbing.

Manholes, Drop Manholes

An exterior drop pipe must be provided for a sewer entering a manhole at an elevation of 24 inches or more above the manhole invert, as provided in the State of Illinois Title 35, Part 370. The minimum diameter of any manhole shall be 48 inches. A rubber boot conforming to ASTM C-923, shall be provided for all connections between sanitary sewers and manholes, for all connections between combined sewers and manholes, and for all connections between storm sewers and storm sewer structures that are tributary to the District's collection system. The diameter of the drop pipe shall preferably be larger than, or of the same diameter as, the entering sewer. The minimum diameter of the drop pipe shall not be smaller than the diameter of the entering sewer by more than two nominal diameters (e.g. for 12", 15" and 18" entering sewer, the drop shall be 8", 10" and 12" respectively), provided that the minimum diameter of the drop pipe shall not be less than 8". If a smaller drop pipe is desired, design calculations and configurations shall be submitted for review and approval. The drop pipe shall be encased in concrete. The flow channel through manholes shall be made to conform in shape and slope to that of the sewers. A bench shall be provided which shall have a minimum slope of two (2) inches per foot. A drop manhole is required when a storm sewer discharges to a combined sewer and the change in elevation is 24 inches or more.

Protection of Water Mains

Water mains shall be protected in accordance with the requirements of the State of **Illinois Recommended Standards for Sewage Works** (Title 35 Part 370). Where a water main crosses above a sewer main lateral or **building** service, a minimum vertical separation of 18" shall be provided between the top of the lower pipe and the bottom of the upper pipe. Where the 18" vertical separation is not provided or where the sewer crosses above the water main, the sewer shall be designed and constructed of pipe equal to water pipe such as AWWA C900 or ASTM D- 3139/D-2241 or shall be encased in a steel casing pipe for a minimum distance of 10 feet on each side of the water main. Water mains must be located at least 25 feet from a sanitary lift station.

The **District** does regulate the use of pipe materials for sewers .The table below summarizes the most commonly used pipe materials and their ASTM, ANSI, and AWWA specification. The **District** will consider other pipe materials than those shown below but that material must be proposed to the **District** in writing and given written approval before the **Watershed Management Permit** can be approved.

All sewers tributary to the **District's** facilities are to have a gasketed joint to ensure water tightness. A solvent weld (commonly called a glued) joint is not acceptable to the **District**. If such a joint is provided, it must be encased in a concrete collar. Fused joints for directionally drilled HDPE pipe are acceptable.

Material	Pipe Specification	Joint Specification
Vitrified Clay Pipe	ASTM C-700	ASTM C-425
Reinforced Concrete Sewer Pipe	ASTM C-76	ASTM C-443
Cast Iron Soil Pipe	ASTM A-74	ASTM C-564
Ductile Iron Pipe	ANSI A21.51	ANSI A21.11
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) Pipe		
6-inch to 15-inch Diameter SDR 26	ASTM D-3034	ASTM D-3212
18-inch to 27-inch Diameter F/dy=46	ASTM F-679	ASTM D-3212
Lish Density Delyethylene (UDDE)	ASTM D-3350	ASTM D-3261, F-2620 (Heat Fusion)
High Density Polyethylene (HDPE)	ASTM D-3035	ASTM D-3212, F-477 (Gasketed)
Water Main Quality PVC		
4-inch to 36-inch	ASTM D-2241	ASTM D-2672 OR ASTM D-3139
4-inch to 12-inch	AWWA C900	ASTM D-3212
14-inch to 48-inch	AWWA C905	ASTM D-3212

Table 7-2. Pipe and Joint Materials

Workmanship

As a minimum requirement all sewer pipes shall be laid in accordance with the applicable ASTM specification. The specifications for the construction of any sewers within the **District** shall not be less stringent than the latest version of the "Standard Specifications for Water and Sewer Main Construction in Illinois," adopted by a joint committee of the Illinois Society of **Professional**

Engineers, Consulting Engineers Council of Illinois, Illinois Municipal League, and The Associated General Contractors of Illinois. A copy of said specifications is obtainable from the organizations mentioned.

Directionally Bored Sewers

When the proposed sewer is to be constructed by the means of a directional bore, the sewer pipe must have restrained joints, the completed sewer shall have a minimum slope as specified in the table above plus 1% additional slope or greater, and the finished installation must be televised in the presence of the **District** inspector. Before the proposed directional bore sewer is connected to the public sewer system, it shall be air pressure tested, flooded, then drained by gravity and followed by televising for compliance with MWRD requirements covering pipe and joint material. If it fails to meet current requirements, the sewer shall be replaced.

Green Infrastructure

Underdrains in **combined sewer areas** that are tributary to the **District's** collection system must have a fabric filter cloth or sock. The underdrains must be at least 3.5 feet above the seasonal high **groundwater** elevation, which is established through soil borings performed on the **development site**.

Appurtenances

If the project is not solely residential there may be appurtenances that need to be provided. A restaurant or facility that prepares food will usually require a grease interceptor or basin.

An automobile dealership will have a vehicle service area that requires an oil water separator or triple trap to capture spilled oil and a vehicle wash area that will have a grit separator or mud basin to capture grit that is washed off vehicles. Discharge from a grit separator shall not flow through the oil water separator.

A commercial laundromat and apartment complexes with laundry rooms will require a lint trap to collect fibers that are present in the wastewater.

Swimming pools and spas have certain requirements about where backwash must discharge to and where the pool drain may discharge to.

Industrial facilities may have neutralization basins or pH adjustment processes to treat the wastewater before it is discharged into the public sewer.

The design engineer is encouraged to consult with the **District** in a pre-permit meeting to clarify any questions that he or she may have in connection with the permit requirements and to insure adequacy and conformance of the drawings to the intent of the WMO. In all cases which involve the design of treatment or pre-treatment facilities, direct connection to the **District** interceptors or facilities, and any project involving **industrial waste**, the design engineer should confer with the **District** prior to the preparation of the final plans. The transmittal letter submitting the plans must bear reference to prior consultations, if any.

Specific Requirements By Building Type

The following requirements are specific to certain types of **development**:

- a. *Commercial & Recreational.* Check for whether an inspection manhole has been provided. Inspection manholes cannot be located in the roadway or in a driveway. The flow into the inspection manhole has to be gravity flow not from a force main. The inspection manhole should serve just one property. Verify that when an inspection manhole is provided on the property, approximately 5 feet from the **building**, only sanitary **sewage** flows though the manhole. Do not route **stormwater** through the inspection manhole, only **sewage**.
- b. *Food preparation*. If the grease trap is inside, a detail is not required. If it is outside, a detail is required and must provide cleanouts for **maintenance** both upstream and downstream of the grease trap. Dishwasher discharges must bypass the grease trap.
- c. *Auto service*. Inside/outside, a triple basin is required (provide detail if outside).
- d. Auto wash. Inside/outside, a grit trap (mud basin) is required (provide detail if outside). <u>Note:</u> If the project includes a triple basin and a grit trap (mud basin), verify that the discharge from the grit trap (mud basin) bypasses the triple basin.
- e. Drainage from Multi-Story Parking Garages With Open Wall Areas. Floor drains for multistory parking garages that have open exterior walls where 50% or more of the floor to ceiling space is open must connect to the **storm sewer** system. All stories with less than 50% open exterior wall area must connect to the **sanitary sewer** system and shall have a triple basin before connection to the receiving system. In all cases, if the top story of the garage is open to the sky, that area must be connected to the separate **storm sewer** system within the property, even if the remainder of the **building** is connected to the **sanitary sewer** system as mentioned above.
- f. *Laundry facilities.* Lint trap for laundromats, commercial laundries, and apartment complexes with laundry rooms.
- g. *Swimming Pools.* For indoor swimming pools: filter backwash, deck drains, and main drain must discharge to the **sanitary sewer** system. No filter media shall be discharged into the sewers. If receiving **sanitary sewer** system has insufficient capacity for the main drain discharge, the main drain discharge may be routed to a **storm sewer**. Detailed plumbing plans must be submitted clearly showing the route of the flow of water from the above mentioned pool facilities to their point of discharge to a public sewer system. For outdoor pools: deck drains and main drains connect to the **storm sewer** system. Filter backwash pit discharges to a **sanitary sewer**. Outdoor pools shall be drained into the **storm sewer**

system. A note must be included on the plans that the pool will not be drained earlier than 24 hours following a rainfall.

Coordination with other District Ordinances

The design engineer must comply with the requirements of the **District's Sewage and Waste Control Ordinance**, Environmental Remediation Wastewater Ordinance and any other ordinances that may apply.

The design engineer will identify if the potential exists for **industrial wastes** to be discharged from the **building**. Should **industrial wastes** be produced (food processing, manufacturing, reclaiming of wastes, etc.) the appropriate Schedules F and G must be completed and provided with the **Watershed Management Permit** application. Schedule F is provided when the waste stream from the project is contaminated to the point that pretreatment or a Discharge Authorization from the Monitoring and Research Department (M&R) is required. The discharge of condensate from cooling towers does not require a Schedule F. If treatment or pretreatment facilities, such as neutralizing basins or metal precipitation are part of the project Schedule G must be provided as part of the **Watershed Management Permit** application.

Landfill Leachate and **Groundwater**. The discharge of landfill leachate (liquids that have percolated through landfill disposal wastes) and **groundwater** into a **sanitary** or **combined sewer** system will require a Discharge Authorization or a Special Discharge Authorization issued by the **District's** Director of Monitoring and Research or his designee, pursuant to the Environmental Remediation Wastewater Ordinance or the **Sewage and Waste Control Ordinance**.

Chemical Toilet Wastes. A permit from the Monitoring and Research Department must be granted. See Chemical Toilet Wastes Disposal Ordinance.

Coordination of **IEPA** Permits: Two (2) signed copies of the **Watershed Management Permit** may be accepted by the **IEPA** in lieu of certification of item 7 of **IEPA** WPC-PS-1.

Submittal of the Watershed Management Permit

Once the design is completed, the **Watershed Management Permit** application is submitted to the **District** for review. An initial Review Letter (RL #1) is generated and sent to the design engineer who responds to the RL #1 in writing. Any remaining deficiencies are summarized in a second Review Letter and sent to the designer who responds to RL #2 in writing. The cycle continues until all the comments are resolved and the **District** issues the **Watershed Management Permit**.

Filling out the Watershed Management Permit forms:

- On Schedule B, indicate the sewer length all the way to the face of the building. Indicate on Schedule B whether the sewer is a storm sewer, sanitary sewer, or combined sewer. Combined sewers are allowed only in a combined sewer area. Storm sewers and/or <u>underdrains</u> that are not tributary to the District interceptor sewer do not have to be shown, unless the storm sewers are proposed in a combined sewer area and are tributary to a waterway, in which case the storm sewers must be listed with a note stating that "storm sewers are tributary to sewer system that discharges to a waterway."
- If an underground detention vault or pipe system are proposed and are tributary to an MWRD interceptor or to **TARP**, the vault/pipe system should be shown in the table, which would be the length of the detention vault or the overall length of the pipe system.
- Indicate the type of sewer pipe and joints by ASTM standard, this must also be shown on the plan sheets. Sewer size and length of run that are to be lined by CIPP or other methods should be indicated but no inspection fee is to be charged. If **storm sewers** to a **waterway** are to be constructed in a **combined sewer area**, indicate so on Schedule B.
- Schools, public roadways, fire stations, police stations, or parks are considered publicly financed projects. A convention center or athletic facility that generates revenue for the public entity may not be fee exempt.
- Provide a future service area map and provide corresponding PE calculations for a sewer intended to serve future areas.

Designers should cross reference this information with the plans to:

- Check the length, slope, diameter, and material with respect to the sewers proposed on the plans and the total length indicated on the Fee Payment Voucher form.
- Verify separation of **sanitary** and **storm sewers** before the property line in a **combined sewer area**. As tracing the route, the offsite sewer size should not decrease (onsite, **storm sewers** may be used for detention systems).
- Verify that wye connections are made from a smaller pipe to a larger pipe (i.e. a six-inch pipe wyes into an eight-inch pipe). Wye connections cannot be made with the same size pipe; provide a manhole or cleanout instead. Alternate cleanouts with manholes (two cleanouts in a row are not allowed).

Plans. Two copies of the plans no larger in size than 24" x 36" shall be submitted with the permit application. All plans shall show a "North" arrow, and shall be oriented so that the "North" arrow points upward or to the right hand side of the drawing. When the set of drawings submitted contains five or more sheets, an index shall be provided on the title sheet of the set, if any, or on the overall plan. Each sheet shall be designated by a proper title. The index sheet shall bear a date and shall show the name of the project and the name, address, email, and telephone number of the design engineer. When the set of plans contains less than five sheets, and no index is provided, each sheet shall be identified independently and shall show the name of the project, the date, the sheet title, and the name, address, and telephone number of the design engineer. The plans must contain the MWRD General Notes shown below and a routing map of the sewers and how they are tributary to the **District** facility. The plans shall be signed and sealed with original signatures and seals by a licensed **Professional Engineer** in the State of Illinois. If a plan index sheet is provided, that sheet must be signed and sealed.

MWRD General Notes (Sanitary Sewer)

- 1. The contractor shall take measures to prevent any polluted water, such as ground and surface water, from entering the existing sanitary sewers.
- 2. A water-tight plug shall be installed in the downstream sewer pipe at the point of sewer connection prior to commencing any sewer construction. The plug shall remain in place until removal is authorized by the municipality and/or MWRD after the sewers have been tested and accepted.
- 3. Discharging any unpolluted water into the sanitary sewer system for the purpose of sewer flushing of lines for the deflection test shall be prohibited without prior approval from the municipality or MWRD.
- 4. All sanitary sewer construction shall be in accordance with the *Standard Specifications for Water and Sewer Main Construction in Illinois* (latest edition).
- 5. All floor drains shall discharge to the sanitary sewer system.
- 6. All downspouts and footing drains shall discharge to the storm sewer system.

7. All sanitary sewer pipe materials and joints (and storm sewer pipe materials and joints in a combined sewer area) shall conform to the following:

<u>Pipe material</u>	Pipe Specifications	Joint Specifications
Vitrified Clay Pipe	ASTM C-700	ASTM C-425
Reinforced Concrete Sewer Pipe	ASTM C-76	ASTM C-443
Cast Iron Soil Pipe	ASTM A-74	ASTM C-564
Ductile Iron Pipe	ANSI A21.51	ANSI A21.11
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) Pipe 6-inch to 15-inch Diameter SDR 26 18-inch to 27-inch Diameter F/dy=46	ASTM D-3034 ASTM F-679	ASTM D-3212 ASTM D-3212
High Density Polyethylene (HDPE)	ASTM D-3350 ASTM D-3035	ASTM D-3261 or F-2620 (Heat Fusion) ASTM D-3212, F-477 (Gasketed)
Water Main Quality PVC		
4-inch to 36-inch	ASTM D-2241	ASTM D-2672 or ASTM D-3139
4-inch to 12-inch	AWWA C900	ASTM D-3212
14-inch to 48-inch	AWWA C905	ASTM D-3212

- 8. All sanitary sewer construction (and storm sewer construction in combined sewer areas), requires stone bedding with stone ¼ " to 1" in size, with minimum bedding thickness equal to ¼ the outside diameter of the sewer pipe, but not less than four (4) inches nor more than eight (8) inches. Material shall be CA-11 or CA-13 and shall be extended at least 12" above the top of the pipe when using PVC.
- "Band seal" or similar non-shear flexible-type couplings shall be used in the connection of sewer pipes of dissimilar materials.
- 10. All manholes shall be provided with bolted, watertight covers. Sanitary lids shall be constructed with a concealed pickhole and watertight gasket with the word "SANITARY" cast into the lid.
- 11. When connecting to an existing sewer main by other than an existing wye, tee or an existing manhole, one of the following methods shall be used:
 - A circular saw-cut of sewer main by proper tools ("shewer-tap" machine or similar) and proper installation of hubwye saddle or hub-tee saddle.
- Remove an entire section of the pipe (breaking only the top of one bell) and replace with a wye or tee branch section.
- With pipe cutter, neatly and accurately cut out desired length of pipe for insertion of proper fitting, using "band seal" or similar couplings to hold it firmly in place.
- 12. Whenever a sanitary/combined sewer crosses under a watermain, the minimum vertical distance from the top of the sewer to the bottom of the watermain shall be 18 inches. Furthermore, a minimum horizontal distance of 10 feet between sanitary/combined sewers and watermains shall be maintained unless: the sewer is laid in a separate trench, keeping a minimum 18" vertical separation; or the sewer is laid in the same trench with the watermain located at the opposite side on a bench of undisturbed earth, keeping a minimum 18" vertical separation. If either the vertical or horizontal distances described above cannot be maintained, or the sewer crosses above the watermain, the sewer shall be constructed to watermain standards.
- 13. All existing septic systems shall be abandoned. Abandoned tanks shall be filled with granular material or removed.
- 14. All sanitary manholes, (and storm manholes in combined sewer areas), shall have a minimum inside diameter of 48 inches, and shall be cast in place or pre-cast reinforced concrete.
- 15. All sanitary manholes, (and storm manholes in combined sewer areas), shall have precast "rubber boots" that conform to ASTM C-923 for all pipe connections. Precast sections shall consist of modified groove tongue and rubber gasket type joints.
- 16. All abandoned sanitary sewers shall be plugged at both ends with at least 2 feet long nonshrink concrete or mortar plug.
- 17. Except for foundation/footing drains provided to protect buildings or perforated pipes associated with volume control practices, drain tiles/field tiles/underdrains/perforated pipes are not allowed to be connected to or tributary to combined sewers, sanitary sewers, or storm sewers tributary to combined sewers in combined sewer areas. Construction of new facilities of this type is prohibited; and all existing drain tiles and perforated pipes encountered within the project area shall be plugged or removed, and shall not be connected to combined sewers, sanitary sewers, or storm sewers tributary to combined sewers, or storm sewers tributary to combined sewers.
- 18. A backflow preventer is required for all detention basins tributary to combined sewers. Required backflow preventers shall be inspected and exercised annually by the property owner to ensure proper operation, and any necessary maintenances shall be performed to ensure functionality. In the event of a sewer surcharge into an open detention basin tributary to combined sewers, the permittee shall ensure that clean up and wash out of sewage takes place within 48 hours of the storm event.

Specifications. When specifications are prepared for the project separate from the plan sheets, submit one (1) copy of the specifications covering or relating to the sewer work, <u>upon request</u>. The specifications shall indicate the name of the project, and the name and address of the design engineer and shall contain a table of contents. The specifications table of content page shall be signed and sealed with original signatures and seals by a licensed Professional Engineer in the State of Illinois.

REFERENCES

American Concrete Pipe Association. 2011. Concrete Pipe Design Manual. Available at: http://www.concrete-pipe.org/pdf/cp-manual.pdf

American Society of Civil Engineers. 2007. <u>Manual of Practice No. 60, Gravity Sanitary Sewer</u> <u>Design and Construction</u>

American Society of Civil Engineers. 2012. <u>Manual of Practice No. 87, Design of Urban Stormwater</u> <u>Controls</u>

American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) Standards. Available at: <u>www.astm.org</u>

American Water Works Association (AWWA) Standards. Available at: <u>www.awwa.org</u>

Ductile Iron Pipe Research Association. 1984. <u>Ductile Iron Pipe Handbook</u>. <u>www.dipra.org/publications</u>

East Jordon Iron Works, <u>www.americas.ejco.com</u>

Illinois Department of Transportation. 2011. <u>Drainage Manual</u>. Available at: <u>http://www.dot.il.gov/bridges/pdf/IDOT%20DRAINAGE%20MANUAL.pdf</u>

Metcalf & Eddy. 1972. Wastewater Engineering: Collection, Treatment, Disposal.

Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago. <u>Combined Sewer Atlas</u>. (Order from the Engineering Department Vault)

Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago. MWRD Facilities Atlas (Order from the Engineering Department Vault)

Neenah Foundry Company, <u>www.nfco.com</u>

Standard Specifications for Water & Sewer Construction in Illinois

State of Illinois Administrative Code: *Title 35: Environmental Protection, Subtitle C: Water Pollution Chapter II: Environmental protection Agency Part 370: Illinois Recommended Standards for Sewage Works.*

State of Illinois Plumbing Code. Available at: <u>http://www.ilga.gov/commission/jcar/admincode/077/07700890sections.html</u>

Uni-Bell PVC Pipe Association. 1979. <u>Handbook of PVC Pipe</u> Available at: <u>www.uni-bell.org</u>

US Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service. 2012. <u>Illinois Urban</u> <u>Manual: A Technical Manual Designed for Urban Ecosystem Protection and Enhancement</u>. Available at: <u>http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/il/technical/</u>

US Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 2004. <u>National</u> <u>Engineering Handbook.</u> Available at:

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detailfull/national/water/?cid=stelprdb1043063

Water Environment Foundation. 1993. <u>Design of Wastewater and Stormwater Pumping Stations</u>, <u>Manual of Practice</u>.

ARTICLE 8: INFILTRATION / INFLOW CONTROL PROGRAM

INTRODUCTION (§800)

Major components of the **sanitary sewer** system are the public sewer mains (mains) and privatelyowned sewer laterals (PSLs). Both contribute infiltration and inflow (I/I) to the **sanitary sewer** system. Significant I/I flow causes **sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs**), damage to private property through **basement backups (BBs**), loss of conveyance capacity and an increase in wastewater conveyance and treatment costs. The **sanitary sewer** system is designed to convey only wastewater, not wet weather flows or excessive **groundwater** that infiltrates into the sewers. When intense rain events occur and **groundwater** and **stormwater** enter the **sanitary sewer** system, the sewer becomes overloaded and capacity is exceeded, leading to **SSOs** and **BBs**. To prevent this from occurring, the **District** is implementing an Infiltration/Inflow Control Program with which all **satellite entities** must comply. The effective date of the Infiltration/Inflow Control Program described in §801 through §806 is July 10, 2014.

Infiltration

Infiltration removal/reduction addresses **groundwater** entering defective sewer systems. Sewer system defects that allow infiltration include pipe cracks, open/offset joints, open connections, etc. Removal/reduction of infiltration sources is generally accomplished by rehabilitation (repair/replacement) of the sewer system. Additional advantages to rehabilitation include restoring the structural integrity of the system, increased hydraulic capacity and the prevention of tree root intrusion.

Inflow

Inflow removal/reduction addresses **stormwater** and **groundwater** conveyance systems that are connected to the **sanitary sewer** system. Conveyance systems that contribute clear water inflow into the **sanitary sewer** system include downspouts, foundation/footing drains, sump pumps, area drains, etc. Removal/reduction of inflow sources is generally accomplished by disconnection from the **sanitary sewer** and rerouting of discharge into a **stormwater** conveyance system or redirecting discharge flows at grade. Figure 8.1 illustrates the most common sources of clear water into the **sanitary sewer** system. Figure 8.2 is a graphical representation of the components of wet weather flow in a sanitary sewer.

<u>Note</u>: All bold terms contained in this document are defined terms in the WMO. Refer to Appendix A of the WMO or the TGM for the definition of each bold term.





Technical Guidance Manual



Figure 8.2. Typical Components of Rainfall-Derived Inflow and Infiltration

History of Infiltration and Inflow Control Programs at the District

The **District** serves both **combined sewer areas** and **separate sewer areas**. Permits issued by the **District** allowing local sewer system owners to connect to **District** interceptors dating back to 1920 contain language prohibiting surface water from entering the **sanitary sewer** system. Although such language was included in the **District's** permits issued in **separate sewer areas** since that time, excessive I/I in the **District's** system became a growing problem. The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended on October 18, 1972 by Public Law 92-500, required all applicants for treatment works grants from **USEPA**, after July 1, 1973, to demonstrate that each sewer system discharging into such treatment works is not subject to excessive infiltration/inflow. This requirement motivated the **District** to amend the **Manual of Procedures** for the Administration of the **Sewer Permit Ordinance** (MOP) in 1972 to include Article 6.5, which became effective January 1, 1973. Article 6.5 contained the **District's** I/I control program which included the following requirements:

- Within one year of the effective date, all **satellite entities** had to inspect all structures for directly and indirectly connected downspouts, and have all such downspouts properly disconnected from the **sanitary sewer** system.
- Within one year of the effective date, all **satellite entities** had to inspect their public systems for inflow sources and remove such sources.
- All satellite entities were to submit quarterly progress reports.

Initially, the **District** required **satellite entities** to demonstrate that average daily wet weather flow in the **sanitary sewer** system did not exceed 100 gallons per capita per day. In the 1970s, at the request of satellite system owners, the **District** raised the maximum allowable wet weather flow rate to 150 gallons per capita per day. Areas that were served by **combined sewer** systems were exempt from this program because excessive wet weather flows would, in theory, be captured by the **Tunnel and Reservoir Plan (TARP)**.

Many **satellite entities** took advantage of grant money offered by **IEPA** to hire consultants to prepare Sewer Systems Evaluation Studies (SSES). An SSES was necessary to receive grant funds for sewer rehabilitation. Once a scope of work was defined as a result of an SSES, a satellite system owner would hire contractors to perform required rehabilitation work on the public sector sewer system. One condition of receiving these grants was that sewer system owners agreed to adequately maintain their sewer system going forward.

Despite the easing of requirements under the initial I/I control program, most **satellite entities** found the compliance criteria too difficult and costly to achieve and appealed to the **District Board of Commissioners** to consider a program that emphasized the cost effectiveness of reducing I/I instead of having an absolute goal. In 1985, a series of meetings were held between elected local officials and representatives of the **District**, **IEPA** and **USEPA** on the matter of **sanitary sewer** rehabilitation. This led to the **Sewer Summit Agreement** (**SSA**) which established guidelines and a schedule for achieving final compliance with **sanitary sewer** rehabilitation requirements that were acceptable to all of the involved parties. The **Board of Commissioners** adopted the **SSA** on November 21, 1985 and Article 6.5 of the **MOP** was amended to reflect the new Infiltration/Inflow Corrective Action Program (ICAP) option, in addition to the existing compliance criteria, which was referred to as the 150 gallons per capital per day (gpcpd) option.

Under the ICAP option, satellite system owners had to perform an evaluation of their system, and an SSES, which included a cost-effectiveness analysis of specific I/I removal measures. The cost of I/I removal was compared to the cost to transport and treat excess flow, if the I/I was not removed. The SSES also calculated a projected post-rehabilitation wet weather flow rate, following implementation of cost-effective I/I removal measures. Satellite systems were required to implement these measures and then perform post-rehabilitation flow metering to demonstrate the reduction in I/I. Satellite systems were also required to develop a **Long Term O&M Program** (**LTOMP**) addressing both the public and private sectors. Finally, satellite systems were required to submit annual summary reports after achieving compliance with ICAP.

The **District** was obligated to conduct analyses of each basin to assess the impact of the wet weather flow expected to remain in the system after satellite systems performed the required cost effective I/I removal work. In order to handle the review of the SSES from all satellites, review programs initiated by the satellites, and review certificates of compliance, the **District** contracted with Donohue and Associates and with Metcalf and Eddy to provide an extension to in-house staff. Donohue conducted the basin analyses and Metcalf and Eddy developed the <u>Operations and</u>

Maintenance Manual for Separate Sanitary Sewer Collection Systems for Local Agencies Tributary to the Metropolitan Sanitary District of Greater Chicago ("1989 Manual").

Despite the considerable effort and resources spent towards removing I/I under ICAP and the 150 gpcpd, the **District** still experiences high flows during wet weather from **separate sewer areas**. This is particularly evident at the **District's** treatment plants that serve only separate sewer systems (Hanover Park Water Reclamation Plant (WRP) and Egan WRP) and at the Lemont WRP, that serves a predominantly separate sewer system. In addition, the **District** is at risk of enforcement measures by regulators should **SSOs** occur within its system. Furthermore, satellite system owners have voiced concerns about evidence of excessive wet weather flow in the form of **SSOs** and **BBs** within their own systems.

The **IEPA** issued draft versions of **NPDES** operating permits for the **District's** Calumet WRP, North Side WRP and Stickney WRP in 2009 for public comment. These draft permits contained a new Special Condition addressing the **District's** I/I control program. The Special Condition stated:

"In the event that local sewer system owners have excessive I/I (any wet weather flows exceeding 150 gpcpd 24-hour average with peak flow not to exceed 100 gpcpd times an allowable peaking factor in accordance with the Illinois Recommended Standards for Sewage Treatment Works) in their separate sewer systems that cause or contribute to basement back-ups and/or sanitary sewer overflows, the Permittee shall require that the local sewer system owner implement measures in addition to those required under the Sewer Summit Agreement in an effort to reduce the excessive I/I. Such additional remedies may include sewer system evaluation studies, sewer rehabilitation or replacement, inflow source removal, and restrictions on the issuance of additional sewer connection permits. A summary of such additional measures shall be included with the Sewer Summit Agreement Report."

This language allowed the **District** to require additional effort on the part of satellite system owners to reduce I/I under certain circumstances. Although the **IEPA** did not issue the **NPDES** permits containing this Special Condition until 2013, the **District** formed an Advisory Technical Panel (ATP) in 2011 to discuss elements of a new I/I control program. The ATP is comprised of representatives from the **USEPA**, **IEPA**, **municipalities**, sanitary districts, townships, a utility company, a sewer construction contractor, consultants, and **District** staff. The ATP met regularly throughout 2011, 2012 and 2013, and has provided insight and valuable perspective on elements of a new I/I control program, which is described below. The ATP's comments will be sought on the development of technical guidance on this program, and any future modifications of the program will be presented to the ATP.

SCOPE AND GOALS (§801)

The purpose of this program is to reduce **SSOs** and **BBs**, comply with the **District's NPDES** permit requirements and to eliminate extraneous flows to the **District's** facilities by the formation and adoption of an I/I Control Program (IICP). The IICP will require **satellite entities** to identify and address I/I sources within the public and private sewer system. This will be accomplished by the individual **satellite entities** developing and continually implementing their own **Long Term O&M**

Program (LTOMP) and **Private Sector Program (PSP)**. Satellite system owners are in the best position to know what actions need to be taken to eliminate **SSOs**, **BBs**, and excessive wet weather flow. Therefore, latitude is offered under this program to satellite system owners to determine those actions that will effectively reduce excessive I/I. Further information regarding these programs is provided in §803, §804, and §805.

APPLICABILITY (§802)

The IICP applies to all **satellite entities** that are located within the **separate sewer area** (areas with separate sewers designed for wastewater and **stormwater**) that are directly and/or indirectly tributary to the District's facilities. The IICP also applies to the portions of local sewer systems located in the designated **separate sewer area**, when a local sewer system consists of both combined and separate systems. Separate sewer systems within the City of Chicago are exempt from the IICP.

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS (§803)

The IICP will be implemented by all **satellite entities** to reduce **SSO**s and **BBs**, and to reduce excess wet weather flow in the **sanitary sewer system**. This will be accomplished through Short Term Requirements, a **Private Sector Program (PSP)** and a **Long Term O&M Program**, and annual reporting of activities planned and performed to meet these requirements.

SHORT TERM REQUIREMENTS (§804)

Within the first five years of the effective date of the IICP, all **satellite entities** must complete the Short Term Requirements detailed herein. All **satellite entities** must conduct a condition assessment of their sewer system, undertake rehabilitation work to address I/I sources, and develop and submit their individual **LTOMP** and **PSP** to the **District** for approval.

Sewer System Condition Assessment

Condition Assessment Prioritization

The undertaking of the sewer system condition assessment is the first step in identification of I/I sources that lead to **SSOs** and **BBs**. At a minimum, the condition assessment must include all of the high risk public **sanitary sewers**. Satellite system owners shall determine the extent of high risk public **sanitary sewers** within their systems. This determination must be completed by the time the first Short Term Requirements Annual Report (described below) is submitted to the **District**, as it defines the scope of condition assessment activities for the first five years of the IICP.

Public sewers in the following areas may be considered high risk **sanitary sewers**:

- A. Areas with **SSOs** and/or **BBs**;
- B. Areas upstream of SSOs and BBs;
- C. Subbasins known to surcharge;
- D. Areas with excessive wet weather flows and/or excessive lift station pumpage; and
- E. Areas with system deficiencies that could result in system failure.

Areas with SSOs and/or BBs are subbasins within a sanitary sewer system that have experienced one or more SSOs and/or BBs that have not been attributed to problems with the private sanitary sewer (such as a clogged private lateral), and that have not been resolved through rehabilitation or maintenance activities on the public sewer (such as sewer cleaning, sewer lining, point repairs, private sector improvements, etc.). Areas with more widespread and frequent BBs and SSOs should be addressed with a higher priority than areas with fewer BBs and SSOs.

Areas upstream of SSOs and BBs are subbasins that discharge into a public sewer upstream of the point where a subbasin with SSOs and BBs, as defined above, discharge into a public sewer. In Figure 8.2, if Subbasin 2 experiences SSOs and/or BBs, Subbasin 1 is considered an area upstream of an area with SSOs and BBs, since it discharges into the same sanitary sewer main line further upstream, and could contribute to SSOs and BBs in Subbasin 2.



Figure 8.3. Subbasins Tributary to the Same Sanitary Main Line (Courtesy of the Village of Tinley Park)

Subbasins known to surcharge include areas where the satellite sewer system owner has knowledge of incidences of the hydraulic grade line in **sanitary sewers** exceeding the elevation of the crown of the sewers on an annual or more frequent basis. Such conditions would be ascertained through **sanitary sewer** flow metering, level measurement in manholes, and/or

observations of **SSOs** and **BBs**. Although new flow metering is not required as part of this program, satellite system owners that have previously conducted flow metering may use the information collected to identify areas known to surcharge. If satellite system owners wish to conduct flow metering under the IICP to determine the severity and extent of surcharging in their systems, they are encouraged, but not obligated, to do so.

Areas with excessive wet weather flows include areas experiencing SSOs, BBs and/or surcharging as described above, but also include areas where flow metering has identified wet weather flows with peaking factors of 4 or greater, in the absence of other indicators of excessive wet weather flow. A peaking factor is the maximum wet weather flow rate at a particular location in the **sanitary sewer** divided by the dry weather flow rate at that same location. A description of how to conduct flow metering and determine peaking factors is provided in §805 of this document. Areas with larger peaking factors should be addressed with a higher priority than areas with lower peaking factors. As stated above, flow metering is not required under the IICP, but satellite system owners are encouraged to use reliable flow metering data obtained previously, or to conduct new flow metering - at their sole discretion - to determine wet weather peaking factors in their system.

Areas with excessive lift station pumpage include areas tributary to a sanitary lift station where the discharge flow rate from the lift station exceeds the rated capacity of the lift station, on occasion during wet weather. Sanitary lift stations are sized to accommodate dry weather flow. Although lift stations are designed to have redundant pumps, simultaneous operation of redundant pumps during wet weather to prevent or minimize a rising water level in the wet well is an indication of excessive I/I within the **tributary area**. Lift stations that have force main discharge pressure meters can be used to quantify peaking factors according to the method described in §805. Lift stations that only have event recorders, and no discharge pressure meters, cannot be used to quantify peaking factors.

Areas with system deficiencies that could result in system failure include areas with structural and/or operation and maintenance defects that allow significant I/I into the system or indicate high likelihood of sewer collapse or blockage that may lead to SSOs and/or BBs. Portions of the sanitary sewer system with defect grades of 4 or 5 according to the National Association of Sewer Service Companies (NASSCO) pipeline assessment guidelines are examples of such areas. Additional information about the NASSCO condition assessment guidelines is provided below.

Satellite system owners may use additional criteria to determine which portions of the public **sanitary sewer** system are considered "high risk." Any additional criteria must be described on the *Condition Assessment Prioritization Form* to be attached to the *Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report Form* that is submitted to the **District**. Satellite system owners must explain the criteria they use to define high risk sewers within each of the aforementioned types of areas. If a satellite system does not include one of the aforementioned types of areas, then this must be indicated on the *Condition Assessment Prioritization Form* and a reason provided. Although portions of the sewer system may be grouped into more than one type of area, these portions must be listed under only one type of area shown on the form. For example, areas with **SSOs** and

BBs are also subject to surcharging, but such areas should only be listed in one row of the table. In no case shall less than ten percent (10%) of the **sanitary sewer** system be assessed over the five-year period preceding the effective date of the **LTOMP**. Figure 8.4 is an excerpt of a section of the *Condition Assessment Prioritization Form*, filled out as an example showing how a satellite sewer owner might prioritize the high risk **sanitary sewers** within the system. A map showing which sewers are high risk and the extent of the areas served by those sewers must be attached to the *Condition Assessment Prioritization Form*. This map should also show the full extent of the satellite system's service area. This map should be updated to show which areas have been inspected in the reporting year, and should be attached to each Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report. Maps attached to subsequent submittals of the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report should identify areas that have been inspected in previous years since the effective date of the IICP as well.

Type of Area	Present In System (yes/no)	Prioritization Criteria	Linear Feet of High Priority Sanitary sewer to be Assessed in Short Term
Areas with SSOs and/or BBs	Yes	High risk areas have had SSOs and/or BBs reported during 1-year rain events and/or dry weather.	50,000
Areas upstream of SSO/BB areas	Yes	Not high risk. All have been lined in last 15 years. All manholes have been inspected and those allowing I/I have been rehabilitated in last 15 years.	0
Subbasins known to surcharge	Yes	High risk areas have surcharged in 1- year rain event.	50,000 ⁽¹⁾
Areas with excessive wet weather flows, other than those listed above	No	Same as areas with SSOs and BBs. No flow metering has been performed to identify other areas with excessive wet weather flows.	0
Areas with excessive lift station pumpage	Yes	Not high risk. Public sewer in area tributary to pump station has been lined over past 10 years. Excessive lift station flows due to private sector I/I.	0
Areas with deficiencies that could result in system failures	Incies that systemYesH2S corrosion evident in 15" main along Cambridge Street between First Ave. and Eighth Ave. This is high priority.		4,400
Other	Yes	Odor complaints submitted every week in dry weather along Gardner Street.	2,000
Total length of public sanitary sewers (feet):		1,000,000	
Total length of High Priority sanitary sewer to be assessed in short term (feet):			106,400
Percentage of p	public sanitary sew	ver system to be assessed in short term:	10.64%

⁽¹⁾This total excludes areas with SSOs and BBs listed in the first row.

Figure 8.4. Sample Section from Condition Assessment Prioritization Form

Credit may be given for condition assessment of high risk sewers that has been completed within the five-year period preceding the effective date of the IICP. Should a satellite system have performed such assessments within the preceding five years, they must provide documentation that the work was completed and that NASSCO coding standards were used to code the defects. A report of such assessments in the NASSCO standard format, indicating the date of the televising, manhole inspection, smoke testing or dyed water testing, date of the assessment, name and certificate number of the person performing the assessment, and the individual findings, is acceptable documentation. To obtain credit for the previous work, submit the documentation to the **District** with the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report. If a **satellite entity** has completed rehabilitation work to address deficiencies identified during these pre-IICP assessments, that work shall be indicated on the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report. A sample of a completed Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report is included in Appendix D.

If a **satellite entity** has inspected and performed rehabilitation through CIPP lining of a high risk public **sanitary sewer** and associated manholes more than five years before the effective date of the IICP, but still considers the sewer to be high risk, the **satellite entity** may request a waiver from the requirement to televise the rehabilitated public sewer and inspect manholes in this high risk area. Smoke testing of the public sewers and follow-up dyed water testing and external property inspections as described below will still be required in areas served by the rehabilitated high risk **sanitary sewers**. Furthermore, the **satellite entity** will need to televise an equivalent length of public sewers that have not been rehabilitated, but may be sources of significant I/I, and perform inspections of the associated manholes, as part of the Short Term Requirements. This waiver must be requested in a letter submitted to the **District** with the completed *Condition Assessment Prioritization Form*. The map submitted with the *Condition Assessment Prioritization form*.

- Rehabilitated high risk sewers that will be smoke tested and dyed water tested;
- The areas tributary to these rehabilitated high risk sewers;
- Unrehabilitated high risk sewers to be televised/inspected, smoke tested and dyed water tested; and
- Unrehabilitated non-high risk sewers to be televised/inspected only.

The waiver request letter must state when the rehabilitation work was performed and the method of rehabilitation used.

Once the **District** approves the waiver request and proposed plan for condition assessment, the **satellite entity** should report its progress on the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report and Status of High Priority Deficiencies forms, as described later in this chapter.

As indicated above, the definition of high risk public sewers shall be completed by the time the first Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report is submitted to the **District**. Revisions to the definition of high risk public sewers can be made, if, for example, wet weather events that

occur after the first year indicate that additional areas are susceptible to **SSO**s and **BB**s. Such revisions will be considered by the **District** on a case by case basis. Declassification of an area as high risk due to a lack of rain and subsequent reduction in **SSO**s and **BB**s will not be allowed. Any revisions to the definition of high risk public sewers must be described in a narrative attached to the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report.

Condition Assessment

Once the high risk sewers have been identified, each satellite system owner must conduct a condition assessment of the elements of the **sanitary sewer** system within the high risk areas. Assessment of all high risk sewers must be completed within five years of the effective date of the IICP. All condition assessment work shall be reported to the **District** on the *Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report Form*.

At a minimum, condition assessment under the Short Term Requirements of the IICP shall consist of:

- Televising all high risk public sewer lines;
- Inspection of all manholes in high risk areas;
- Inspection of all lift stations in high risk areas;
- Smoke testing all high risk public sewer lines;
- Conducting dyed water testing in high risk areas where:
 - **Storm sewer**s or storm ditches run parallel to or cross the **sanitary sewer**s and service laterals and are located above the **sanitary sewer** system and where prior smoke testing has indicated the possible location of a cross-connection;
 - Streams, drainage ditches and areas subject to ponding are located above the sanitary sewer system and where prior smoke testing has indicated the possible location of a cross-connection, downspouts are discharged below ground and may be connected to the sanitary sewer system, and smoke testing could not confirm or rule out such a connection; and
- Conducting follow-up external property inspections in high risk areas that have previously been smoke tested to determine whether downspouts that discharge below ground but that did not smoke are connected to the **sanitary sewer** and to determine the exact condition of cleanouts that did smoke.

Inspections of the public **sanitary sewer** system must be conducted in accordance the NASSCO standards for Pipeline Assessment and Certification Program (PACP[®]), Manhole Assessment and Certification Program (MACP[®]), and Lateral Assessment and Certification Program (LACP[®]) (where applicable). Smoke testing shall also be conducted in accordance with NASSCO standards. A description of methods for conducting condition assessments and related guidance is provided below.

If a satellite system owner has an inspection program already in place on the effective date of the IICP that does not adhere to NASSCO standards, and the satellite system owner believes his or her program accomplishes substantially similar goals as the NASSCO standards, the satellite system owner may request that the **District** allow his or her existing inspection program to continue to be used instead of a NASSCO program. This request must be submitted to the **District** by the time the first Short Term Requirements Annual Report (described below) is submitted to the **District**. Such a request must include a narrative description of the existing program, written standards for inspection of facilities and classification of defects by severity including whether they are high risk defects, a description of training requirements for staff conducting the inspections, and inspection forms. If the **District** concurs that the existing inspection program is substantially similar to NASSCO's programs and that classification of defects occurs according to standards, then the satellite system will be allowed to continue using its system.

Background on Condition Assessment Methods

Standardization of the condition inspection and assessment procedures under the IICP will provide for the following:

- Uniform inspection standards based on current technology coupled with uniform classification of main sewer, and manhole defects under the NASSCO coding system will provide for uniform reporting, and assessment of compliance with **District** requirements for all of the **satellite entities**.
- Consistency in the development of Short Term Requirements rehabilitation costs by satellite system owners.
- Equitability among **satellite entities** and credit for those that have already conducted investigation/rehabilitation work.
- Standardization of rehabilitation work eligible for **IEPA** SRF funding, and possible **District** funding.
- Consistency in annual reporting to **District** of completed rehabilitation.

Condition inspection standards for **satellite entities** were first established in 1989 as part of the **District** ICAP program (See 1989 Manual). Since the publication of this manual, new condition inspection technologies and national standards for classification and coding of I/I defects have been developed and refined. NASSCO has developed a standard **sanitary sewer** defect identification and numerical coding system for **sanitary sewers**, manholes and service laterals. This coding system has been in place since 2001, and is supported by a network of certified trainers. NASSCO coding standards are now a common requirement of **USEPA**/Department of Justice Consent Decrees.

Closed Circuit Television Inspection (CCTV)

Television inspection involves pulling a television camera through a sewer while an operator observes recorded footage on a computer monitor via closed circuit television signals. Figure 8.5 shows examples of defects in sewers identified by CCTV inspection. Basic procedures for conducting CCTV are addressed in the 1989 Manual on pages 4-7 to 4-11. In addition to procedures addressed in this manual, television inspection must meet the requirements of NASSCO PACP[®] (Pipeline Assessment and Certification Program - Current Version). Sewer inspection by CCTV will permanently document the condition of the sewer. The video can then be reviewed and the sewer assessed by NASSCO defect coding.



Figure 8.5. High-Priority Mainline Pipe Defects - Left: Multiple Fracture; Right: Hole

Television inspections should also include the following procedures:

- Operators performing CCTV and software shall have current certification by NASSCO for PACP[®].
- Cameras shall be color with pan and tilt capability and capable of turning at right angles to pipe's axis (minimum pan of 270 degrees and minimum rotation of 360 degrees). Cameras may also be equipped with digital sidewall scanning capability.
- Sewer condition shall be reviewed at no greater than 30 feet per minute while stopping at all lateral connections and mainline defects.

Satellite entities are encouraged to utilize GIS technology as a part of the **LTOMP**. Data collected from televising inspections (attribute and defect) should be delivered in a database format capable of integration into industry standard GIS systems. Defects and attributes shall be measurable from either the upstream or downstream manhole. Digital audio, video and photographs should be linked in the database to the pipe segments inspected.

Manhole Inspection

Basic procedures for conducting manhole inspections are addressed in the 1989 Manual on pages 4-3 to 4-7. Manhole components and typical clear water entry points are illustrated in Figure 8.6.

Examples of manhole defects identified during inspections are shown in Figure 8.7. As stated above, in addition to procedures addressed in the 1989 Manual, manhole inspections must comply with the current version of NASSCO's MACP[®], and should include the following procedures:

• Full descent inspections

Manhole conditions including manholes greater than twelve feet deep, manholes with significant debris, manholes with structural conditions that may require immediate rehabilitation, or manholes where accurate rim to invert elevations are required for system modeling should be inspected by full descent procedures.

- "Pole camera" (remote)inspections
 Manhole conditions including manholes greater than twelve feet deep, manholes with significant debris, or manholes with structural conditions that may require immediate rehabilitation, could also be inspected by "pole camera" procedures.
- Surface Inspections

Manholes with none of the above conditions could be inspected by either surface inspection, full descent or "pole camera" procedures. Surface inspections can be effective for identifying defects and manhole conditions in the top portions of the manhole. Surface inspections should be performed in accordance with NASSCO Level 1 Manhole Inspection procedures.



Figure 8.6. Components of a Manhole with Correlate Defects

Article 8. Infiltration / Inflow Control Program Page 8-14

Manhole inspections should be documented by video and/or photographs. This method will permanently document the condition of the manhole. The video and/or photographs can then reviewed and the manhole assessed using MACP[®] defect coding.



Figure 8.7. High-Priority Manhole Defects – Left: Deteriorating Brickwork; Right: Deteriorated Adjustment Ring

Data collected from manhole inspections (attribute and defect) should be delivered in a database format capable of integration into industry standard GIS systems. At a minimum, a mapping grade location for manholes shall be provided. Digital videos and photographs should be linked in the database to the manholes inspected.

Lift Station Inspection

Basic procedures for conducting lift station inspections are addressed in the 1989 Manual on Pages 4-11 to 4-18. Note that in case a **satellite entity** wishes to use a lift station as a flow monitoring point, the lift station should be calibrated first. This is performed using a force main pressure meter or by conducting a fill and draw calibration of the wet well, which includes timed calibration of the pump station discharge against wet well level. Data collected from lift station inspections (attribute and defect) should be delivered in a database format capable of integration into industry standard GIS systems. At a minimum, a mapping grade location and address linking, if applicable, for lift station locations shall be provided. Digital videos and photographs should be linked in the database to the inspection record.

Smoke Testing

Smoke testing is a relatively inexpensive way to identify inflow sources by introducing smoke into a sanitary manhole and observing points where smoke escapes to the atmosphere. Smoke testing is required under the Short Term IICP to identify downspouts that are illegally connected to the **sanitary sewer**, as well as direct and indirect cross-connections. Basic procedures for conducting smoke testing are addressed in the 1989 Manual on pages 4-31 to 4-35.

In addition to procedures addressed in the 1989 Manual, **sanitary sewer** smoke testing must be compliant with the NASSCO Performance Specification Guidelines for Sanitary Sewer Smoke

Testing - December, 2010 - including the use of NASSCO inspection header and defect codes. In the case of any conflict in procedures between the two standards, the NASSCO standard will govern. Due to the prevalence of clay soils and significant soil moisture typical in the Northeastern Illinois area, as well as the frequency of indirect cross-connections between **storm sewer**/storm ditches and the **sanitary sewer** system, smoke testing programs should include the following provisions:

• Smoke Blower Configuration

In order to ensure that smoke is "driven" through soil seams and reaches the surface for identification of indirect cross-connections between **storm sewer**/storm ditches and the **sanitary sewer** as well as for the identification of main line and service lateral defects, dual smoke blowers must be used. One blower shall be placed at the upstream manhole and the other at the downstream manhole. It is not necessary to install blowers in adjacent manholes that are less than 400 linear feet apart. In such cases, one blower can be installed in the next manhole along the sewer. The dual blower configuration is shown in Figure 8.8.

• Identification of Suspect Sources

As required in the NASSCO Performance Specification Guidelines for Sanitary Sewer Smoke Testing Section 3.03.A.4, suspect sources (sources that due to their nature may be connected to the **sanitary sewer**) should be recorded when vent stacks do not exhibit smoke. In addition, downspouts piped underground, driveway drains and area drains that are observed without any exiting smoke should be recorded for possible follow-up dye water testing, regardless of whether vent stacks did or did not exhibit smoke. Suspect sources like downspouts, area drains and driveway drains that are connected to the **sanitary sewer** may not exhibit smoke during smoke testing for one of two reasons:

- 1. The main sewer that they are connected to has a blockage which limits smoke from getting to the source (ie. no vent smoke on homes), or
- 2. The downspout, area drain or driveway drain itself is trapped or discharges to a clogged or partially blocked service lateral.



Figure 8.8. Dual-Blower Smoke Testing Process

Article 8. Infiltration / Inflow Control Program Page 8-16

Defect data collected from smoke testing should be delivered in a database format capable of integration into industry standard GIS systems. A mapping grade location for smoke observations shall be provided. Digital videos and photographs should be linked in the database to the smoke observations recorded.

Smoke testing will identify I/I sources on private property. The IICP requires disconnection of direct and indirect cross-connections within one year of identification. Other I/I sources will likely be identified during smoke testing, such as driveway drains, area drains, and window well drains. Although **satellite entities** are urged to take action to have such I/I sources disconnected promptly, the IICP requires that **satellite entities** keep records of the location and nature of such sources. The **satellite entities' PSP** will address whether and how such I/I sources are to be managed.

Dye Water Testing

Dye water testing will need to be performed at locations where smoke testing does not conclusively identify whether a potential inflow source is connected to the **sanitary sewer**, or where confirmation of a possible connection identified through smoke testing is needed. This method of testing is useful in confirming the presence of both direct inflow sources and indirect I/I sources. Dye water testing with plugging should be used for identifying cross-connections with **storm sewer**/storm ditches (with and without television inspection). Dye water testing without plugging should be used for confirming whether private sources (including downspouts piped underground, driveway drains and area drains) are connected to the **sanitary sewer**.

Basic procedures for conducting dye testing are addressed in 1989 Manual on pages 4-29 to 4-31. In addition to the provisions of the 1989 Manual, the typical nature of the I/I defects within the **District satellite entities** also requires that both depth of flow and velocity in the **sanitary sewer** should be measured before starting the dye water testing setup and again after dye transfers to the **sanitary sewer**. This allows for a quantification of the magnitude of peak flow from the cross-connection.

Under the IICP Short Term Requirements, direct and indirect cross-connections, directly connected downspouts, and broken or missing cleanout caps must be rectified. Dye water testing is an effective method for confirming these sources, if smoke testing alone does not. It is also effective at confirming other private sector I/I sources such as directly connected area drains, driveway drains and window well drains. While **satellite entities** are urged to identify and address as many of these I/I sources as possible during the Short Term Requirements, they are not obligated to do so until the **LTOMP** begins. Should such I/I sources be found during the Short Term Requirements, **satellite entities** must keep a record of the location and nature of the sources so that they can be addressed under the **PSP**.

Defect data collected from dyed water testing should be delivered in a database format capable of integration into industry standard GIS systems. A mapping grade location for defect observations shall be provided. Digital audio, videos, and photographs should be linked in the database to the defect observations recorded.

Property Inspection

Property inspections consist of entering onto private property and inspecting for any connections that contribute **stormwater** to the **sanitary sewer** collection system. Internal inspections involve entering the resident's home while external inspections involve checking the exterior parts of the **building** and yard(s). Typically, when inside the residence, inspectors are looking for storm or combination sump pumps discharging into the **sanitary sewer**, or a diverter setup where the homeowner can control the discharge location of the storm sump. The following are descriptions of the three common types of sump pumps and a diverter valve:

- **Sanitary Sump:** A sanitary sump collects sanitary wastewater from within a **building** and pumps it to the **sanitary sewer**.
- Storm Sump: A storm sump collects groundwater drainage from footing drains and routes it to a storm sewer or to the outside building yard. The correct configuration of storm and sanitary sumps and discharge piping is shown in Figure 8.9. Storm sumps that are improperly connected to the sanitary sewer, as shown in Figure 8.10, can be significant sources of inflow.



Figure 8.9. Separate Storm and Sanitary Sumps with Separate Discharge Piping (Compliant Condition)



Figure 8.10. Storm Sump Connected to Sanitary Sewer

• **Combination Sump:** A combination sump collects both sanitary waste and **groundwater** drainage and is routed to the **sanitary sewer**. Figure 8.11 illustrates this configuration.



Figure 8.11. Combination Sump Pump



• **Diverter Valve:** A diverter valve is a valve on a storm sump that allows routing the storm sump discharge to either the **sanitary sewer** or to the outside yard. Figure 8.12 shows a storm pump installation using a diverter valve.



Figure 8.12. Storm Sump with Diverter Valve

Under the Short Term Requirements, **satellite entities** are not required to conduct internal **building** inspections. However, **satellite entities** may need to enter onto private property to conduct dye water testing where smoke testing does not conclusively identify whether a downspout discharging underground, or whether a cleanout with a damaged or missing cap does not release smoke during smoke testing. **Satellite entities** will also have to enter onto private properties to verify corrective work to address illegally connected downspouts and uncapped cleanouts, in order to fulfill the Short Term Requirements. Internal/external property inspections will be required as part of the **PSP** and **LTOMP**, as described later in this chapter. Basic procedures for conducting internal/external **building** inspections are addressed in the 1989 Manual on pages 4-21 to 4-23.

In addition to procedures in this manual, the **District** recommends that internal/external **building** inspection also include dye testing to determine whether storm sumps, combination pumps, and/or unsealed sumps discharge to the **sanitary sewer** or to some other location. This dye testing would be used only when the discharge location of the sump pump cannot be determined visually.

Data collected from private property inspections (attribute and defect) should be delivered in a database format capable of integration into industry standard GIS systems. At a minimum, data

collected shall be linked to an address and a mapping grade location. Digital videos and photographs should be linked in the database to the inspection record.

Additional Condition Assessment Methods

Additional condition assessment methods such as flow monitoring, electro scanning, and blockage detection using acoustic testing are described in §805. Although these techniques are not required by the **District**, **satellite entities** are encouraged to use them where appropriate to identify portions of the **sanitary sewer** system requiring more detailed inspection, **maintenance** and/or rehabilitation.

High Priority Deficiencies

The goals of conducting a condition assessment of high risk **sanitary sewers** under the Short Term Requirements are:

- To identify High Priority Deficiencies, and
- To identify rehabilitation needs which form the basis of a Capital Improvement Plan (CIP).

High Priority Deficiencies are defects that have a low cost of removal to I/I flow rate ratio or that have a high likelihood of causing sewer collapse or blockages if not rehabilitated. All High Priority Deficiencies must be addressed and corrected as quickly as possible. The **District** requires that direct and indirect cross-connections identified during a conditions assessment of the high risk sewers be disconnected within one year of identification. This includes downspouts that are directly connected to the **sanitary sewer** or poorly disconnected from the **sanitary sewer**. In some cases, downspouts that were disconnected by plugging of the downspout lead line at grade with hydraulic cement have deteriorated over time to allow roof water to re-enter the **sanitary sewer**. The **District** requires repair of missing or broken lateral cleanout caps within one year of identification. For those High Priority Deficiencies that cannot be immediately addressed, a CIP must be prepared to correct them. Work on High Priority Deficiencies in the CIP must begin within three years of identification of the High Priority Deficiencies.

In order to ensure uniformity in defect coding across all **satellite entities**, they must be in compliance with the NASSCO defect identification and I coding system for **sanitary sewers**, manholes and service laterals. NASSCO's defect codes are assigned a grade from 1 to 5 using the PACP[®] Code Matrix (provided in NASSCO's Certification Program documentation) and in Appendix D. Grades are assigned based on the significance of the defect, extent of damage, percentage of flow capacity restriction or the amount of wall loss due to deterioration. Detects fall within one of two categories—either structural defects or O&M defects, with 5 indicating the most significant defects.

A High Priority Deficiency is defined as NASSCO condition Grade 4 or 5 and all illegal connections. However, for the purpose of the IICP, high-cost removal of illegal sources including driveway drains, foundation drains and window well drains can be addressed under a long term disconnection program that is part of a **satellite entity's PSP**.

High Priority Public Main Line Sanitary Sewer Defects

High Priority Deficiencies include structural and/or operation and **maintenance** defects that allow significant I/I and defects that could result in sewer collapse or blockage that may lead to dry and/or wet weather **SSOs** or **BBs**.

The following tables summarize current NASSCO defect coding and grading of High Priority Deficiencies in **sanitary sewers.** The current NASSCO Manual should always be referenced for the latest codes and grades:

Structural	Grade		
Crack Hinge	4-5 (depends on location)		
Fracture Multiple	4		
Fracture Hinge	4-5 (depends on location)		
Broken	5		
Collapse	5		
Deformed	4-5 (depends on severity of deformation)		
Hole	4-5		
Surface Aggregate Missing	4		
Reinforcement Visible	5		
Reinforcement Corroded	5		
Missing Wall	5		
Brick Work Missing	4		
Dropped Invert (brick)	5		

Table 8-1. Structural High Priority Deficiency Grades

Table 8-2. O&M High Priority Deficiency Grades

0&M	Grade
Deposits (all) 20-30%	4
Deposits (all) > 30%	5
Root Ball Barrel	5
Root Ball Lateral	4
Root Ball Connection	4
Infiltration Runner	4
Infiltration Gusher	5
Obstacles/Obstructions (all) 20-30%	4
Obstacles/Obstructions (all) > 30%	5

High Priority Manhole Defects

High Priority Manhole Defects include structural and/or O&M defects that allow significant I/I, in addition to defects that could result in manhole collapse or blockage that could lead to dry and/or wet weather **SSOs** or **BBs**. Manhole inspections are performed in accordance with the NASSCO Level 1 and Level 2 inspection criteria. Level 1 inspection is performed to evaluate the general condition of the structure and to determine if a Level 2 inspection is needed. A Level 2 inspection is to gather detailed information to fully document all existing defects.

The following tables summarize current NASSCO defect coding and grading of High Priority Manhole defects for Level 1 and Level 2 inspections. The current NASSCO Manual should always be referenced for the latest codes and grades:

Level 1	Condition		
Cover Type	Vented		
Cover Condition	Cracked, Broken, or Missing		
Frame Condition	Cracked, Broken, or Missing		
Frame Offset Distance	> 3-inches		
Frame Seal Inflow	IG, IR, or ID		
Chimney I/I	IG, IR, or ID		
Additional Component Information	Note significant structural or I/I observations		

Table 8-3. Level 1 Defect Codes (General Condition)

Level 2 Structural	Grade
Fracture Multiple	4
Broken	5
Collapse	5
Deformed	4-5 (depends on severity of deformation)
Surface Aggregate Missing	4
Reinforcement Visible	5
Reinforcement Corroded	5
Missing Wall	5
Brick Work Missing	4

Table 8-4. Level 2 Defect Grades (Detailed Inspection - Structural)

Grade	
5	
4	
4	
4	
5	
4	
5	
5	
4	
	Grade 5 4 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4

Table 8-5. Level 2 Defect Grades (Detailed Inspection - O&M)

High Priority Cross-Connections

Cross-connections between sanitary sewers and storm sewers/storm ditches can be large contributors of I/I flows into a sanitary sewer system. Cross-connections are first identified during a smoke testing program. Smoke reaching the surface in a storm ditch or exiting a storm sewer inlet and/or manhole is typically followed by dye water flooding of the storm sewer/storm ditch to confirm the transfer of dyed water from the storm sewer/storm ditch to the sanitary sewer. The final step involves the television inspection of the sanitary sewer concurrent with dyed water flooding to pinpoint the exact location(s) of the defect(s) in the sanitary sewer that allow stormwater to enter the sanitary sewer. In some cases the entry point is on the **sanitary sewer** service lateral, not the main line sewer. Removal of the cross-connection(s) will therefore require rehabilitation of the service lateral. In most cases, the peak rate of wet weather flow from sanitary sewer/storm sewer cross-connections results in them being classified as High Priority Deficiencies. Direct and indirect cross-connections found during the condition assessment performed as part of the Short Term Requirements must be repaired within one year of identification. Direct crossconnections include locations where the **storm sewer** or storm inlet/catch basin is directly piped into the sanitary sewer. These direct connections are unusual. Indirect crossconnections are locations where **stormwater** flows from a **storm sewer** pipe or storm ditch down into the sanitary sewer via a soil seam, as illustrated in Figure 8.13. The most common type of indirect cross-connection involves stormwater from a storm ditch or storm sewer flowing down through an open soil seam and into a service lateral located directly under the storm sewer or storm ditch. Many storm sewers were constructed without pipe joint materials, or the pipe joints have deteriorated enough over time to permit stormwater to flow out of the storm sewer. The magnitude of flow from an indirect cross-connection can be significant, in some cases approaching that of a direct crossconnection.



Figure 8.13. Storm-to-Sanitary Sewer Cross-Connection

High Priority Private Sector Deficiencies

All connections that allow **groundwater** or **stormwater** into the **sanitary sewer** are illegal and are considered High Priority Deficiencies. However, the removal, disconnection and/or rehabilitation of high-cost I/I sources (e.g., service lateral, foundation drains, driveway drains, area drains and window well drains) may be addressed under a **LTOMP**.

Low-cost High Priority Deficiencies corrections include: downspout disconnections (Figure 8.14), replacing missing and/or damaged cleanout caps/covers and addressing poorly disconnected downspout drains that act as area drains. These High Priority Deficiencies must be addressed within one year of identification.

Downspout connections and open cleanouts can be identified through **sanitary sewer** smoke testing programs and/or visual inspections. In some cases, downspouts that discharge underground may not smoke, and will require follow-up dye testing to confirm whether the downspout is connected to the **sanitary sewer**. In other cases, downspouts that were disconnected from the **sanitary sewer** by plugging the lead line from the downspout will be identified during a smoke testing program and may require follow-up due to deterioration of the plug over time.



Figure 8.14. Typical Remediation of Connected Downspouts

Sewer System Rehabilitation

Sanitary sewer and manhole rehabilitation must take place for High Priority Deficiencies found during the condition assessment. Additionally, any connected downspouts, poorly disconnected downspouts, and cleanouts that are missing caps/covers will be required to be disconnected and/or repaired. These types of deficiencies can contribute large amounts of I/I into the **sanitary sewer** system. **Satellite entities** may need to work with property owners to correct these deficiencies; however, low-cost defects must be corrected within one year of identification.

Satellite entities must complete a *Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form* for tracking the status of High Priority Deficiencies that are not fixed by the end of the year in which they are identified. This form must show an identification number for each High Priority Deficiency, the date identified, the anticipated correction date, actual correction date, the means of correction and the **District** permit number under which the correction was performed. If any deficiencies are to be addressed by in-house staff, this should be noted on the form. This form is to be updated annually and submitted to the **District** with the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report. High Priority Deficiencies can be removed from the form only after the deficiencies have been corrected and the Actual Correction Date has been reported to the **District** as part of the annual report. An example of selected entries in the *Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form* is shown in Figure 8.15.

As indicated earlier, credit may be given for condition assessments of high priority sewers performed by a **satellite entity** in the five year period preceding the effective date of the IICP. If high priority deficiencies have been identified during these pre-IICP condition assessments but have not been addressed, these must be included on the *Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form*.

For High Priority Deficiencies that cannot be corrected and/or addressed in the short term, the satellite entity must prepare a CIP. The CIP will detail the plan and schedule for the long term correction of all identified High Priority Deficiencies. Information to be included in the CIP includes the name of capital projects, description of project areas, project cost, project funding source, anticipated project start date, duration, and project completion date. A sample CIP is included in Appendix D. The CIP should identify publicly funded projects to address items on the Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form. The CIP should not include maintenance work performed by inhouse staff. The CIP must be submitted as part of the Annual Report and should be updated to indicate items that have been corrected and to include newly identified High Priority Deficiencies. Rehabilitation work to correct High Priority Deficiencies must begin within three years of identification of the deficiencies. One of the means by which the District will monitor progress under the IICP will be through its permitting process. Satellite entities are reminded that a District permit will be required for sanitary sewer system repair and rehabilitation work. The scope of work to be performed under a project will determine whether a Watershed Management Permit or a Notification and Request for Inspection will be required. Satellite entities are encouraged to contact the **District** for assistance in determining which type of permit is appropriate.

ONE YEAR DEFIC	CIENCIES					
Deficiency ID	High Priority Deficiency Type	Date Identified	Anticipated Correction Date	Actual Correction Date ⁽¹⁾	Means of Correction	District Permit Number ⁽²⁾
P-0016	Directly connected downspout	6/16/15	4/17/16	Future	Property owner to disconnect and install rain barrel	Not required
P-0103	Missing cleanout cap	6/20/15	4/1/16	Future	Property owner to replace	Not required
0984	Storm sewer connected to sanitary at Lake and Wagner	7/18/15	7/18/16	Future	Part of FY2016 Sewer Cleaning/CIPP lining contract	15-5133
0735	Stormwater in pond at Pleasant Park infiltrates into 8" san. sewer	7/20/15	7/20/16	Future	Line sewer as part of FY2016 Sewer Cleaning/CIPP lining contract	15-5133
THREE YEAR DEP	ICIENCIES					
Deficiency ID	High Priority Deficiency Type	Date Identified	Anticipated Correction Date	Actual Correction Date ⁽¹⁾	Means of Correction	District Permit Number ⁽²⁾
1234	Main line Fracture Multiple	5/1/2015	10/1/2016	Future	FY2016 Sewer Cleaning/CIPP lining contract	15-5133
1956	Deformed sewer main line, 20'	5/15/2015	10/15/2017	Future	Wagner Road Sewer and Water Main Replacement Project	No permit yet
2668	Main line Infiltration Gusher	6/1/2015	10/1/2017	Future	FY2017 Sewer Cleaning/CIPP lining contract	No permit yet
2969	Visible reinforcement in manhole	6/23/2015	10/1/2016	Future	FY2016 Sewer Cleaning/CIPP contract	15-5133
3143	Manhole chimney I/I - IG	6/30/2015	10/15/2016	Future	Smith Avenue Road Repair Project	No permit yet
4217	Infiltration runner in manhole	5/3/2015	6/1/2016	Future	Manhole Repair contract	16-5003

(1) Entries in this column will all be "Future" in the first Annual Report, but will contain actual completion dates in subsequent reports as repair work is performed.

(2) Enter the permit number once it is issued.

Figure 8.15. Sample Entries into Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form

Development of the Private Sector Program

Each **satellite entity** is required to develop and submit to the **District** for approval a **Private Sector Program** (**PSP**) that will detail the means and methods for on-going internal and external I/I source identification and the removal of these sources. The goal of the **PSP** is to reduce **BBs** and **SSOs** by removing I/I sources. **Satellite entities** that do not already have inspection ordinances in place will need to enact ordinances granting them authority to conduct inspections and take enforcement actions for **PSP** compliance. A procedure to notify owners of the inspection, and to obtain consent must be established. The procedure must detail steps to be taken in the event consent is not given, such as fines, denial of service, obtaining a warrant and litigation, as well as procedures for handling non-compliance. The **PSP** will need to address how private sector I/I sources identified during the Short Term IICP inspections will be addressed. The **PSP** should be adequately funded and staffed with qualified personnel to implement the program. See Appendix D for a sample **PSP**.

The following items further describe what is required for a PSP:

1. Staff / Training / Authority

Adequate and appropriately trained/qualified staff and/or contractors will be provided to implement all necessary components of the **PSP**. An organizational structure should be established that clearly defines responsibilities and authority for all staff. Staff should be periodically trained in their respective responsibilities including how to conduct internal and external property inspections, and how to document findings consistently. Staff must be equipped with necessary and proper equipment, tools and materials (smoke/dye/flood testing, camera, etc.) to perform the work required under the **PSP**. As part of the **PSP**, **satellite entities** must list the staff job titles that will have responsibility for implementation of the **PSP** and an estimated number of hours per month that will be allocated to work on the **PSP**.

2. Local Authority

Satellite entities will be required to enact ordinances, resolutions, bylaws, and/or access agreements that will provide authority to gain access to properties for I/I source inspection and identification, and to enforce **PSP** compliance, if they do not currently have such legal measures in place. Such agreements must provide **satellite entities** with authority to conduct exterior and interior inspections of private property. **Satellite entities** should have legal counsel to advise them for any proceedings toward owners that refuse access for inspection. As part of the **PSP**, **satellite entities** must provide a copy of their ordinances, resolutions, bylaws, and/or access agreements that give them the authority to conduct inspections for I/I sources.

Examples of Inspection and Enforcement Ordinances are posted on the **District's** website at: <u>https://www.mwrd.org/irj/portal/anonymous/Infiltration</u>. Most of the examples are from **satellite entities** within the **District's** service area.

3. Inspection

Satellite entities must develop a private property inspection program to address the disconnection of illegal private infiltration and inflow sources. In general, inspections are to be made in areas where private sector I/I appears to be a significant contribution of the overall I/I in a system. At a minimum, if a portion of the satellite system experiences BBs and/or SSOs during multiple wet weather events within one 12-month period and if the public sector sanitary sewer system has no unrehabilitated High Priority Deficiencies, then the satellite entity should conduct inspections of private properties in the impacted area, upstream areas, or any other areas that the satellite entity believes may be contributing to the BBs and SSOs. Satellite entities may include additional criteria for conducting private property inspections as part of their **PSPs**. A written description of the private property inspection program, including all inspection checklists, sample notice letters, door hangers, and documentation of noncompliance, must be submitted to the **District** as part of the **PSP**. Note that the inspection program should have clear procedures for notification to property owners, obtaining consent for inspections, and procedures for properties where consent is not given, such as fines, denial of service, obtaining a warrant and litigation. Satellite entities are urged to consult an attorney when developing inspection procedures to ensure constitutional protections of private property rights are not violated.

Inspections will be conducted to locate and identify private property internal and external I/I sources and to document all sewer connections. **Satellite entities** may wish to use the authority provided by sewer use ordinances and private property inspections for **building** permits to ensure that sanitary and **stormwater** utilities on private property are properly connected as to prevent the allowance of I/I sources connected to **sanitary sewers**. Implementation of the program can be coupled with water meter readings or replacements, water heater, furnace, or air conditioner replacement, roadway reconstruction or resurfacing projects, and etc. A list of I/I sources should be created and added to an inspection checklist. A sample checklist is included in Appendix D. Ideally, all properties will be inspected on a 10-15 year cycle with priority given to areas known to have **SSOs** and **BBs** and areas upstream. In addition, more frequent inspections may be necessary depending upon the system's condition (e.g., sewer age and material, areas that connect I/I sources to the sewer system during original construction, history of violations, **SSOs** and **BBs**, and etc.).

Internal **building** inspections typically include visual inspections of sump pumps and sump pump discharge piping, and may include insertion of dyed water into sump pits if the discharge location is indeterminate by visual inspection alone.

External home inspections may also be periodically employed to identify potential private property I/I sources visible from outside the property, such as downspouts, area drains, or defective cleanout caps. Visual inspections can identify I/I sources from cleanouts and potential I/I sources from area drains and downspouts that discharge underground. Smoke testing is the most effective starting point for identifying external private property sources.

However, dye testing is often required to trace and confirm the discharge locations of area drains and downspouts that terminate underground.

An inspection of the lateral is recommended when other I/I sources have been ruled out. The following tests should be utilized: visual, smoke testing, dye testing and CCTV. Inspection of laterals should be conducted according to NASSCO Lateral Assessment and Certification Program (LACP[®]) standards, and diligence should be taken to cross-reference LACP[®] inspection data with PACP[®] data from inspections of connecting public sewer mains to properly establish where connections are located.

A hierarchy of various sewer connection and/or condition status should be established and documented upon inspection. Examples of status are: compliance, partial compliance (e.g., sump pump connected, downspout disconnection), and non-compliance. Special care should be taken when classifying connections for non-compliance. For example, both a downspout and a foundation drain tied into the **sanitary sewer** are illegal connections. However, disconnection of the downspout(s) is relatively easy and must be completed in the short term and should be categorized as non-compliant, whereas, the foundation drain connection is generally a long term correction item and may not trigger an immediate non-compliance notification. The **District** considers footing drains, driveway drains, and leaking laterals to be high-flow, high-cost private sector I/I sources. Although **satellite entities** are encouraged to work with property owners to have these high-flow, high-cost private sector I/I sources that the cost of such repairs may make this difficult. Therefore, **satellite entities** are required to establish a long term program under which such high-flow, high-cost private sector I/I sources may be addressed.

4. Non-Compliance Correction

A notification and correction procedure must be established to notify, assist, and educate owners of non-compliance. The procedure should include how the owner is notified, a schedule to correct the non-compliance, and verification through re-inspection.

The notification must include a letter to the property owner describing the non-compliant condition, stating the date by which the condition must be corrected, and describing legal actions that will be taken by the satellite entity if the owner does not correct the condition. The notification may also include educational material on the type of disconnection/rehabilitation required, a list of bonded/insured contractors in the area capable of performing the work, information regarding funding assistance provided by the satellite entity and/or regional agency.

5. Long Term Program to Address High-Cost I/I Sources

As indicated above, the **District** recognizes that many sources of private sector I/I are costly to remove. Satellite system owners must establish a program that documents which properties have high-cost, high-flow I/I sources, which includes footing drains, driveway drains, area

drains, and leaking laterals. Information on such sources gathered through municipal records and/or inspections must be documented and stored in perpetuity. The long term program must establish means by which such I/I sources may be removed. This section of the **PSP** must address identification and correction of private sector I/I sources identified during the first five years of the IICP. Establishing and promoting cost-sharing programs for correcting such sources, and enacting ordinances requiring removal of such sources in conjunction with teardowns or major home improvements are examples of components of a long term program. A sample long term program is included with the **PSP** example in Appendix D.

Ultimately, **satellite entities** are to use discretion to determine the extent to which removal of high-flow, high-cost private I/I sources must occur, in conjunction with any other sewer system improvements, to achieve the IICP goals of reducing **BBs** and **SSOs**.

6. Enforcement

A hierarchy of enforcement actions should be established when an owner fails to comply with a notification of non-compliance. Enforcement action(s) must be established through the enacted ordinance of the **satellite entity**. The hierarchy should be structured such that an escalation of penalties occurs. Examples include fines, denial of service and litigation.

7. Funding

The **PSP** must be appropriately funded every year. All costs should be tracked to develop subsequent **PSP** budgets such that any future rate increases are justified if they are needed. In general, the **PSP** will be funded as part of the **satellite entity's sanitary sewer maintenance** program. As part of the **PSP**, **satellite entities** must identify the amount of money they intend to allocate towards the **PSP** each year, in addition to identifying the source of the funding.

8. Public Information

Educational/outreach programs should be created and promoted to introduce the general public, new property owners, realtors and area plumbers to the **USEPA**, state and local regulations requiring I/I control and the **PSP**. Such programs should also explain the public health, environmental, regulatory and other benefits of I/I reduction efforts, and inform the public of their responsibilities related to the I/I problem. Public outreach should include information regarding basic I/I education, how the individual can help with reducing I/I, and information regarding new ordinance and inspection requirements. Brochures, village publications, websites, mailings, inserts in water bills, and emails can convey this information. As part of the **PSP**, **satellite entities** must describe their public information program and must attach any brochures or publications they distribute about private sector I/I control. Such materials must be reviewed every ten years and updated if necessary.

Each satellite system owner must submit a **PSP** to the **District** within five years of the effective date of the IICP. Each satellite system owner must report on the progress of development of its
PSP on the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report. Examples of activities to report during the development of the **PSP** include:

- Drafting language for inspection and required disconnection ordinances;
- Determining requirements for private sector inflow source removal cost-sharing programs⁽¹⁾;
- Developing a brochure about private sector inflow source removal cost-sharing programs including plumbing;
- Details for acceptable disconnection materials and methods⁽¹⁾;
- Establishing variance procedures for unique individual disconnections related to unreasonable cost or lack of a feasible discharge location;
- Developing rules and application forms for private sector inflow source removal cost-sharing programs⁽¹⁾;
- Adopting ordinances for inspection programs⁽²⁾;
- Adopting ordinances for cost-sharing programs⁽¹⁾;
- Developing private property inspection procedures;
- Establishing rules and ordinance language related to overhead sewer installation;
- Establishing rules and ordinance language for periodic re-inspection of homes;
- Establishing rules and application forms for backflow prevention devices, with and without pump-over capability^{(1) (2)};
- Establishing policy and ordinance language for elimination of all clear water sources in conjunction with a "tear down" or major renovation⁽¹⁾;
- Establishing policy and ordinance for inspection of homes for compliance as part of all property transfers^{(1) (2)};
- Posting all relevant documents and forms on the satellite system website and/or newsletters;
- Training staff on how to conduct inspection of private property; and
- Entering into agreements with consultants to conduct inspections of private property.
- (1) This is recommended, but not mandatory.
- (2) Please visit the **District's** website to see examples of similar programs administered by local satellite sewer system owners.

Reporting of Sanitary Sewer Overflows and Basement Backups

The **District** will use information about **SSOs** and **BBs** to view trends over time within individual **satellite entities**. Implementation of an effective I/I control program and sewer **maintenance** and rehabilitation program within a **satellite entity's** sewer system should result in fewer **SSOs** and **BBs** during low to moderate recurrence interval wet weather events over time. Therefore, under the IICP, **satellite entities** are required to keep records on all **SSOs** and **BBs** that occur within their system. A *Sanitary Sewer Overflow and/or Basement Backup Satellite Entity Internal Summary Form* must be completed for every **SSO** or **BB** that occurs within a **satellite entity's sanitary sewer** system. These forms do not need to be submitted to the **District** unless the **District** requests them.

Information about **SSO**s and **BB**s within the **sanitary sewer** system must be provided where indicated on the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report and on the **LTOMP** Annual Report. In general, causes of all **SSOs** and **BBs** should be determined and these causes should be corrected to prevent future **SSOs** and **BBs**.

Auditing

The **District** reserves the right to audit any **satellite entity** following submittal of the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report. The purpose of such audits is to:

- Review condition assessment and inspection documentation;
- Verify the quantity of assessment work performed within reporting years;
- Verify that assessments were conducted according to NASSCO standards, or approved equivalent standards;
- Verify that repairs of High Priority Deficiencies have been performed;
- Review records of private property inspection program;
- Review list of properties with high-flow, high-cost I/I sources; and
- Verify that detailed records on **SSOs** and **BBs** are kept.

LONG TERM O&M PROGRAM (§805)

The **sanitary sewer** system is designed to remove wastewater from homes and other **buildings** and convey it to the **District's** water reclamation plants (WRPs). A **sanitary sewer** system that is not properly designed, managed, operated and maintained can pose potential risks to the environment and public health. These risks arise through system failures or when I/I flow enters the **sanitary sewer** system through defects and/or deficiencies. I/I flows reduce sewer system capacity which results in **SSOs** and **BBs**. Therefore, a **LTOMP** is required for a successful I/I control program. The **LTOMP** shall be continually implemented by **satellite entities** to maintain **sanitary sewer** system capacity and performance, thereby reducing **SSOs** and **BBs**.

A major, often over-looked, portion of the **sanitary sewer** system is the private sewer system. The private sewer system can account for as much as 50% of the entire sewer system. Recent published studies have documented that up to 80% of I/I enters the sewer system through private sector sources. Therefore, in addition to the aforementioned **LTOMP**, a **PSP** is required to achieve meaningful I/I control and reduction. The **PSP** shall be continually implemented by all **satellite entities** to identify and remove internal and external I/I sources, thereby reducing **SSOs** and **BBs**.

The **LTOMP** and **PSP** should be adequately funded and staffed with qualified personnel to implement the program.

Requirements for the **LTOMP** and **PSP** are based in part on the **USEPA**'s Capacity, Management, Operation and Maintenance (CMOM) guidelines. CMOM is a flexible, dynamic framework for **sanitary sewer** system owners to identify and incorporate widely accepted wastewater industry practices to better manage, operate and maintain collection systems, investigate capacity-constrained areas, and respond to **SSO** events.

The CMOM program was developed in an attempt to establish a process and framework that would allow collection system owners and operators to:

- 1. Understand the components that the collection system is composed of, as well as understanding how the collection system performs.
- 2. Identify goals and objectives for managing a specific collection system.
- 3. Ensure that appropriate program components are in place, including administrative and **maintenance** functions, legal authorities, and design and performance standards.
- 4. Strive for adjustment of implementation activities to reflect changing conditions; including monitoring and measuring program implementation and making appropriate modifications, conducting necessary system evaluations, implementing a capacity assurance program, and conducting periodic program audits to evaluate implementation, identify deficiencies and to generate steps to respond to them.
- 5. Prepare for and respond to emergency events.
- 6. Communicate with interested parties on the implementation and performance of the CMOM program.

In 2001, **USEPA** proposed a rule under which CMOM programs would have been required of **sanitary sewer** system owners in their **NPDES** permits. This rule was never adopted at the federal level, however, some states have taken steps to implement CMOM programs through **NPDES** permits. For example, the IEPA has included special conditions in **NPDES** permits issued to the **District** in 2013, that require development of CMOM plans for the **District's** own collection facilities.

The **District's** website includes a link to **USEPA**'s Guide for Evaluating CMOM Programs. **Satellite entities** are encouraged to review this reference as they prepare their **LTOMP**. Several specific recommended practices aimed at reducing reactive **maintenance** and fostering more effective proactive **maintenance** programs are described in this document.

The following items describe what will be required for an LTOMP:

1. Sewer System Management

Sewer System Management includes staffing, training of staff, standard operating procedures, and tracking of **maintenance** activities and complaints. Clearly defined procedures, management and training are required for effective O&M activities to reduce potential risks to the environment and public health.

a. Staff, Training and Safety

Staffing with **satellite entity** personnel and/or subcontractors will be provided to implement necessary components of the **LTOMP**. **Satellite entities' LTOMPs** must establish an organizational structure that clearly defines responsibilities and authority for all personnel including operation and **maintenance** staff.

Staff should be periodically trained in their respective responsibilities. Training should be provided for the following: public relations and customer service, safety, sewer O&M activities, lift station O&M activities, **SSO/BB** emergency response, sewer inspection, repair, rehabilitation and replacement. **Satellite entities' LTOMPs** must include a description of the staff training program.

Internal communication procedures should be established to coordinate and/or advise staff of information regarding the implementation or performance of the **LTOMP**.

Staff must be provided with required safety equipment to perform the work required under the **LTOMP**, and safety procedures must be provided to staff in writing (including procedures, policies and training courses). Safety equipment must be maintained for the staff to perform daily activities and undertake any emergency repairs.

The purpose of a safety program is to define the principles under which the work is accomplished, to establish safe working procedures, and to establish and enforce specific regulations and procedures. The safety program should be in writing (including procedures, policies and training courses) and training shall be documented. Safety measures to be taken when developing or improving a sewer **maintenance** program are described in detail in Chapter 9 of the 1989 Manual.

Personnel involved in **sanitary sewer maintenance** activities need to be aware of the many safety risks inherent with **sanitary sewer** systems. Risks associated with explosive gases, oxygen depletion, toxic gases, pathogens, engulfment, falling objects, traffic control, tripping and falling all must be mitigated when preparing to enter a manhole or sewer. Completing a confined space entry permit and work plan prior to entering a manhole will help to ensure that participants are aware of all of the equipment they will need as well as insuring that they are aware of unique challenges to a particular task. All **sanitary sewer maintenance** crews shall have access to and training on the use of portable gas detectors, which produce visual and audible warnings when hazardous atmospheres are detected.

Satellite entities should have written lock-out and tag-out procedures and provide training on these procedures. The purpose of lock-out and tag-out protocols is to ensure that equipment cannot be operated while it is being serviced (such as a pump undergoing **maintenance**). Such procedures also protect people working in areas that

could become unsafe for human occupation if the locked out equipment could be operated. Tags and locks should be placed on the equipment by all parties involved in operating the equipment, as well as by the parties who need the equipment locked, so that equipment cannot be restarted until all affected parties verify that it is safe to do so.

Training for new employees and routine refresher training for existing employees is essential to any effective safety program. **Satellite entities** should designate a staff member who is responsible for keeping track of when each employee received training on a particular topic, and when they must take a refresher course.

Safety training and programs should be in place for the following:

- Confined spaces
- Chemical handling
- Trenching and excavations
- Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS)
- Biological hazards
- Traffic control and work site safety
- Lock-outs and Tag-outs
- Electrical and mechanical safety
- Pneumatic and hydraulic systems

Safety equipment should be maintained for the staff to perform daily activities and undertake any emergency repairs. Staffing levels should be adequate to assign an appropriate number of staff to tasks with inherent risks.

b. Customer Service

A customer service and/or public relations program should address any incoming inquiries, requests and complaints. A record of all inquiries, requests and complaints should be kept and should include date received, location, customer information, date resolved, etc. When receiving reports of **BBs**, staff should gather information, if available, on depth of flooding in basement, whether the backup was preceded by a storm event, whether there was a power outage prior to the **BB**, and how long it took for the backup to recede. **Satellite entities' LTOMP**s must include protocols for handling inquiries, requests and complaints from the public.

c. Management Information Systems

A Computerized Maintenance Management System (CMMS) should be used to effectively manage current information related to the collection system. A CMMS system should be able to track and maintain records of customer service,

emergency response, inspections, monitoring, compliance, **maintenance**, asset inventory, equipment and supply inventory, etc. **Satellite entities' LTOMPs** must include a description of the system used to track the aforementioned information about the **sanitary sewer** system.

A Geographical Information System (GIS) should be used to map and locate facilities and provide information on all municipal infrastructure (material, size, elevations, etc.). The GIS and CMMS systems should be integrated.

d. SSO/BB Notification Program

A procedure must be established for reporting an **SSO** to appropriate parties, when required. Such entities may include the **IEPA**, drinking water officials, public health officials, transportation officials or the general public. A summary of **SSOs** and **BBs** must be provided to the **District** annually. Information about each **SSO** and **BB** that occurs within a **sanitary sewer** system, whether in the private public sector, must be recorded on the *Sanitary Sewer Overflow or Basement Backup Satellite Entity Internal Summary Form*. Typical information recorded about the **SSO** event includes date, time, location, cause, volume, how it was stopped and remediation actions and methods. A procedure for cleaning a site following an **SSO** should also be included in the **LTOMP**.

A procedure must be established for responding to and inspecting **BBs**. Typical information recorded on the aforementioned form about the **BB** event should include: date, time, location, cause, volume, how it was stopped, remediation actions and methods, depth of flooding in basement, whether the backup was preceded by a storm event, whether there was a power outage prior to the **BB** and how long it took for the backup to recede.

e. Emergency Preparedness and Response

Satellite entities' LTOMP must include a written plan for both routine and catastrophic emergencies. These emergencies include **SSOs**, **BBs**, sewer breaks or collapse, power outages at lift stations, etc. The emergency response plan should utilize the most current information about the collection system and should be available to the staff. For larger systems, the collection system should have a risk assessment, identifying areas where the collection system is vulnerable to failure, as well as the effect failure would have to system operation, equipment, public safety and health. A risk assessment should consider the vulnerability of the system to the following:

- Extreme weather events and other natural disasters;
- Work stoppages;
- Accidents; and

• Improper maintenance or negligence.

Once vulnerable areas are known, appropriate plans should be in place to ensure system operation continues for the duration of the emergency. Plans should address contingencies for emergency conditions, including:

- Inaccessibility of equipment or system components;
- Equipment failures;
- Power outages; and
- Lost or difficult communication caused by noise, equipment failure, or service outages.

Plans should identify all steps that staff should take in the event of emergency situations. Plans should also indicate when they should be initiated and terminated. Finally, plans should detail the type of equipment that should be used in various situations and how operations should be performed.

Typical components of an emergency program may include the following:

- General information, such as telephone numbers of personnel, fire department and ambulance;
- Identification of hazards with classification, e.g., flammable, energized electrical circuits, etc.;
- Risk assessment for vulnerabilities which identifies what type of emergencies that could occur;
- Emergency response procedures;
- Methods to reduce the risk of emergencies;
- Responsibilities of staff; and
- Continuous training.

Emergency procedures should be understood and practiced by all staff. Records of all past emergencies should be kept in order to constantly improve response training and the method and timing of future responses. If resources are limited, consideration should be given to contracting other departments or private industries to respond to some emergencies.

2. Mapping

Satellite entities are required to have an accurate, current map of their **sanitary sewer** system. This map shall be submitted to the **District** as soon as it is available, but no later than the time at which the **LTOMP** is submitted to the **District**. Chapter 2 of the 1989 Manual discusses sewer mapping. An accurate map of the location, size, depth, material, and age of

the **sanitary sewer** system including appurtenances is vital for effective operation and **maintenance** activities. The map must also show the extent of the **satellite entity's** sewer system service area. Many satellite sewer system owners will have area maps and section maps. Area maps are drawn at a larger scale and help orient the reader to the area of interest. A section map can then be consulted for detailed information about the sewer system in one area. Sewer system maps should be developed, if they do not currently exist, or updated prior to developing and implementing **maintenance** activities.

Maintenance of the sewer map by updating all relevant information about the collection system is vital. Maps should contain the following information:

- All mainline sewers and force mains;
- Manholes and cleanouts;
- Lift Stations, siphons, diversion structures, overflows and bypasses;
- **Building** and house laterals' connection points to mainline sewer;
- Service area boundaries¹;
- Roads, water bodies, etc.;
- Connections to **District** facilities;
- All relevant elevations, diameters, sizes, and materials of the above; and
- The footprint of **buildings** served by the public sewer system (for **satellite entities** that have digitized maps, as described below).

¹ Examples of the types of service area boundaries that should be shown on a sewer map, if applicable in a particular satellite entity include: combined sewer areas, separate sewer areas, unsewered areas, areas that are tributary to a particular District treatment plant (if the satellite entity discharges to more than one treatment plant), and areas tributary to the District versus another sanitary district.

The maps should have a permanent numbering system to uniquely identify all manholes and cleanouts, and these numbers should never change. Manholes should be labeled with rim and invert elevations. Sewer lines should indicate the diameter, length between manholes, material, and slope or direction of flow. The maps should also have access and overflow points, a scale, and a north arrow. It is recommended that **regulatory floodplains** be shown on the maps, as well as other utilities such as **storm sewer** and water mains, as long as the information about **sanitary** and **combined sewers** remains clearly visible. The maps should also have the date the map was drafted and the latest revision date.

A Geographical Information System (GIS) is preferable to be used for collection system mapping, as it is efficient to update. Information is more easily obtained from a map in GIS than from map in other formats (i.e., paper). GIS easily allows for the printing of maps at the user's choice of scale. Separate steps are not required to generate area maps and section maps, since a map book feature can be used to generate the large-scale map which facilitates locating specific information from a section map. Staff should be properly

trained in the use of GIS mapping. Figure 8.16 shows an example of a **sanitary sewer** map in GIS format.



Figure 8.16. GIS-Based Sewer System Mapping

While many satellite entities in the District service area have already transferred their sewer maps to GIS, several still use paper maps. Transferring the mapping system to GIS is strongly recommended. In addition to the benefits mentioned above, adding new fields of information to the map can be accomplished more easily in GIS. Locating structures (such as manholes) in the field is easier because a current aerial photo can be switched on as a base map. Viewing sewer information - along with other information, such as locations of storm sewers, water mains, floodplains, gas mains, municipal boundaries, etc. is easier because feature classes of these types of data can be stored in the system and switched on and off as needed. Transferring sewer and utility data to GIS from paper requires an investment of monetary resources to purchase the software, digitize data, provide adequate computer hardware, and pay for future system upgrades. The transfer of sewer system data to GIS also requires an investment of staff time to check the electronic data and to learn how to use the new system. Satellite system owners considering transferring sewer system data to GIS are urged to take the necessary time to ensure that data being digitized is correct. If poor quality, erroneous data on paper maps is simply re-drawn in digital format, the data will still only be marginally useful. Therefore, it is recommended that a review of paper maps be made - especially in conjunction with transferring the sewer map to a GIS format - to identify and resolve issues such as missing rim and invert elevations, adjacent invert elevations that do not seem reasonable or realistic (such as a downstream manhole invert that is higher on a gravity line), sanitary sewers that do not connect to anything or dead-end at a manhole, and sanitary sewer sizes that seem unreasonable or unrealistic (such as a larger pipe connecting to a smaller downstream pipe). The most accurate method to build a **sanitary sewer** layer in a GIS system involves the establishment of an accurate GPS location for each manhole from recent field investigations.

Specific procedures should be established when correcting or entering new information into the GIS map. It is recommended that updates to sewer maps be handled by, or at least approved by, a single designated staff member. The procedure for updating maps should require updates to be made quickly. Typical items that would require periodic updating include:

- New sewer system extensions and additions;
- Changes to the sewer as a result of replacement or rehabilitation;
- Changes to appurtenances as a result of replacement or rehabilitation;
- Location of service lateral connections to the mainline sewer after a television inspection is completed, if such information is not already available;
- Corrections to map errors; and
- Documentation of completed rehabilitation work.

Satellite entities' LTOMPs must include a procedure for updating the **sanitary sewer** map. Updates to the sewer map shall be made annually, at a minimum.

3. Equipment and Collection System Maintenance

Every sewer system should have a well-planned, systematic and comprehensive **maintenance** program, with the goals of preventing and eliminating **SSOs** and **BBs**, maximizing service and system reliability at minimal cost, and establishing infrastructure sustainability. Procedures and instructions should be in place to describe the **maintenance** and repair approach of various systems and facilities.

Maintenance can be planned or unplanned. Planned **maintenance** activities include predictive and preventive **maintenance**. Unplanned **maintenance** consists of corrective and emergency **maintenance**. The goal is to reduce corrective and emergency **maintenance** through planned and predictive **maintenance**. Each **satellite entity's LTOMP** must include a description of how it approaches planned and unplanned **maintenance**.

a. Planned and Unplanned Maintenance

A planned **maintenance** program is a systematic approach to performing **maintenance** activities to avoid equipment or system failure. Planned **maintenance** includes both predictive and preventive **maintenance**. A well planned **maintenance** program should reduce capital repair and replacement costs, reduce **SSOs** and **BBs** and improve and sustain public confidence in the sewer system.

Predictive **maintenance** activities include assessment and inspection of equipment and the system, and monitoring equipment can be used to detect early warning signs of failure. Predictive **maintenance** also takes previously recorded information into account to determine how and when the system will deteriorate over time.

Implementing an accurate recordkeeping system of inspection activities will provide a baseline condition of the system which can then be used to implement an effective predictive **maintenance** program that identifies potential problem areas and trends that could affect equipment and system performance. This can be achieved by utilizing a CMMS. Identification of these areas will offer an early warning and shift a corrective or emergency task to a planned task.

An effective predictive **maintenance** program will minimize costs, reduce environmental and public health impacts, reduce the need for corrective and emergency repairs, and increase the useful life of the equipment and system.

Maintenance of mechanical equipment, such as lift stations, should be based on the manufacturer's recommendations. A **maintenance** card or digital record should be kept for all equipment within the **sanitary sewer** system. Records should be kept for all equipment that details **maintenance** recommendations, schedule and instructions as well as any **maintenance** activities conducted.

The schedule of sewer inspections, cleaning, root removal, repair, rehabilitation and replacement activities should be based on recorded inspection data. It should be noted that regular frequencies of cleaning, inspection and root removal may not be necessary and could be inefficient. In many cases a small percentage of the system has the most problems; therefore, the **maintenance** schedule should be based on the recorded inspection data.

Unplanned **maintenance** activities take place in response to equipment and/or sewer breakdowns or failures. Unplanned **maintenance** may be corrective or emergency **maintenance**.

Corrective **maintenance** occurs as a result of preventive or predictive activities or a non-emergency which has been identified as a problem situation. Emergency **maintenance** occurs when a failure occurs creating an environmental hazard, public health hazard, or a hazard to the related system or equipment.

Corrective **maintenance** activities may draw resources away from predictive and preventive **maintenance**. When corrective **maintenance** activities become predominant, planned **maintenance** may not be performed, leading toward an increase of corrective and emergency **maintenance** activities.

Emergency crews, or on-call emergency crews, must be in place for 24-hour-a-day, year-round operation to respond to emergency **maintenance** activities. A procedure should be established detailing the type of action to take, necessary equipment and the personnel required.

b. Sewer Cleaning

Satellite entities' LTOMP must include a protocol for sewer cleaning.

The purpose of sewer cleaning is to remove accumulated material, to prevent blockages and to prepare the sewer for inspections. The major methods of sewer cleaning include hydraulic, mechanical and chemical cleaning. Table 8-6 was developed by the **USEPA** and shows the relative effectiveness of various sewer cleaning methods that address specific issues commonly encountered in sewers. Sewer cleaning methods, and their respective advantages and disadvantages, are discussed on pages 5-1 through 5-40 in the 1989 Manual.

Hydraulic cleaning is the application of pressurized water to clean the sewer. Such methods include balling, high velocity cleaning with a nozzle and flushing. Mechanical cleaning uses a device to scrape, cut or pull material from the sewer. Such methods include sewer scooters, bucket machines, scrapers and power/hand rodders. Many local sewer system owners have access to combination vacuum/jetting trucks, like the one shown in Figure 8.17, to address a variety of sewer cleaning tasks.



Figure 8.17. Vacuum/Sewer Cleaning Truck (Source: Anaheim Truck & Auto Service, Inc.)

Another element of sewer cleaning, chemical cleaning, is commonly used to control roots, but can also be used to manage accumulated grease.

Roots are a concern for owners of sewers not only because they can grow inside of the sewers and block flow, but also because they can widen existing cracks or joints in the sewer, which may lead to increased **groundwater** infiltration. Roots can be removed through mechanical means such as rodding and jetting with cutting heads, however, chemical treatment is usually required in conjunction with these methods due to roots' tendency to grow back.

Some products designed to kill roots contain copper. Due to potential toxicity to microorganisms at downstream wastewater treatment plans, the use of products containing copper is not recommended. Active ingredients used in common root control chemicals include diquat dibromide and metam-sodium. Both can have harmful impacts on humans and the environment if they are not used as directed, but byproducts created when metam-sodium breaks down, particularly the gas Methyl isothiocyanate (MITC), pose significant health risks. The EPA restricts the use of metam-sodium products within 50 feet of a manhole in order to minimize the risk of exposure of bystanders to MITC.

Foam is the only available application method for metam-sodium and diquat dibromide root control products.

In recent years, an increase in sales of non-woven fabric wipes, particularly those that are not marketed as baby wipes, has correlated to increased incidences of blockages in sewers and pump station failures due to clogging. Several local sewer system owners have seen a sharp increase in the number of manhours dedicated to sewer cleaning associated with wipes and other debris that become trapped once they are in the sewer system. One of the most significant instances of this was the formation of a 15-ton bus-sized mass of debris in a London interceptor, given the nickname "fatberg." Discussions between industry groups representing wastewater collection facility owners and non-woven fabric manufacturers continue with the goal of finding a solution to conflicting recommendations for durability of wipes. In the meantime, sewer system owners need to be aware of the trend. They may consider initiatives to educate the public that inappropriate materials flushed down toilets can cause clogged pipes, service disruption and ultimately, increased sewer service rates.

Accurate records are needed to indicate which areas of the **sanitary sewer** system are susceptible to blockages. The records will aid in the development of a cleaning cycle to address problem areas more frequently. Potential problem areas should be identified, preferably on a map. Problem areas include: grease/industrial discharges, hydraulic bottlenecks, sewers with insufficient slope, areas prone to root intrusion, etc. An effective and economical cleaning cycle must be determined by each **satellite entity**. Cleaning is required prior to scheduled inspection and rehabilitation work.



Table 8-6. Relative Effectiveness of Sewer Cleaning Techniques (Source: USEPA, 2002, Collection Systems O&M Fact Sheet Sewer Cleaning and Inspection)

Most effective solution for a particular problem

• = Least effective solution for a particular problem

Source: U.S. EPA, 1993.

c. Lift Stations

Proper lift station operation, **maintenance** and repair typically requires electrical, hydraulic and mechanical knowledge. Lift station failure may damage equipment and endanger the environment and public health as a result of an **SSO**.

Information regarding lift station operation and equipment should be maintained to the fullest extent possible. Key operational parameters should be maintained in an organized and accessible manner and should be readily available to operators at all times. Key operational data to be collected and kept current include the following:

- Station drawings;
- Wet well dimensions and key elevations;
- Pump on/off levels;
- Level of influent pipes and tributary sewers relative to on/off set points;
- Pump model(s) and impeller trims;
- Pump curves and design points;
- Size of pump discharge piping and force mains;

- Types and condition of valves;
- Manufacturer data sheets for mechanical and electrical equipment; and
- Calibration records for level and flow monitoring equipment.

The lift station O&M manual should consider the variation of equipment types, configuration, etc., and should contain written procedures for the following:

- Automatic or manual pump rotation and frequency;
- Wet well operation levels to limit pump starts and stops;
- Procedure for manipulating pump operations during wet weather to increase in-line storage of wet weather flows;
- How flow is measured (if applicable) and how the collected data is used;
- Assessing whether the lift station has capacity related or **maintenance** related overflows, and whether overflow monitoring is and should be provided;
- Primary means of level control;
- Use of floats for primary or backup level control;
- Whether there is a history of power outages and a source of emergency power; and
- Procedure for regularly exercising the emergency generator (if present) under load.
- d. Force Mains

When properly designed and maintained, force mains can have a useful life comparable to that of a gravity sewer. Annual force main route inspections are recommended to ensure normal functioning and to identify potential problems. Special attention should be given to the integrity of the force main surface and pipeline connections, unusual noise, vibration, pipe and pipe joint leakage and displacement, valve arrangement and leakage, lift station operation and performance, discharge pump rates and pump speed, and pump suction and discharge pressures. One common method of determining the condition of the force main is by routine pump station calibration. If this is done on an annual basis, any changes in capacity and discharge head in the pump station can be identified. Because these changes could also be attributed to pump wear, it is essential to verify that the pumps are in good working order before determining that the force main needs cleaning.

4. Material and Equipment

An inventory of spare parts, equipment and supplies should be maintained and based on the manufacturers' recommendations and/or historical records. This inventory will reduce the down time of the **sanitary sewer** system in the event of a failure. It is recommended that

frequently used items be kept in stock as well as parts that are difficult to obtain. Safety equipment used by the sewer **maintenance** crew should also be included on the equipment inventory.

Basic equipment inventory should include: type, age and description of the equipment, manufacturer, fuel type (as applicable), year of acquisition, estimated year for replacement and other special requirements, operating costs and repair history.

Satellite entities' LTOMPs shall indicate which person or position is responsible for developing and maintaining the equipment inventory, and the process for obtaining spare parts, supplies and replacement equipment.

Chapter 8 of the 1989 Manual contains lists of equipment and materials that are commonly needed by sewer **maintenance** crews. In addition to the material and equipment listed in the 1989 Manual, it is recommended that sewer **maintenance** crews have access to metal detectors to facilitate finding buried manholes, smartphones to facilitate communication and photographing conditions, semi-permanent spot marking paint, tripod and cable on a winch for safe confined space entry, and picks or keys required to open locked manholes.

5. Sewer System Capacity Evaluation

An evaluation of the capacity of the **sanitary sewer** system may be required in either of the following situations:

- An area experiences dry weather **SSOs** and **BBs** that cannot be attributed to **maintenance** issues or deteriorated sewers; or
- An area is being developed or redeveloped and the projected dry weather flow exceeds that of the current land use.

The capacity evaluation begins with an inventory and characterization of the **sanitary sewer** system components. Most of this information should be available on the **sanitary sewer** system map.

The inventory should include the following basic information:

- Population served and service area;
- Total system size;
- Inventory of length, size, material, age and condition, if available;
- Inventory of appurtenances such as lift stations and siphons, including size, capacity, material, age and condition, if available;
- Manhole rim and inverts;
- Sewer slopes and inverts;
- Force main locations, length, size, material and condition, if available; and

• Location of laterals.

The WMO (§703) provides the standards by which **sanitary sewers** are to be sized and also establishes standards for design capacity of sanitary lift stations (§702.2.E.2). If areas within a **sanitary sewer** system lack the capacity to handle dry weather flow, according to the aforementioned WMO and TGM standards, the **satellite entity** may undertake system improvements to provide the required dry weather capacity. Such improvements require a WMO permit from the **District**.

6. Sewer System Inspection and Condition Assessment

A continuous sewer system inspection program is an important part of a preventive **maintenance** program. Inspections are required to identify and locate I/I sources, reveal blockages in the system, and to identify structural defects. Sewer defects can cause **SSOs**, **BBs**, sewer surcharging, exfiltration of wastewater into the ground, collapse of roadways and an increase of deposits in the sewers and lift stations. A continuous inspection program will identify system defects, and schedule them for repair before they cause a system failure, which would result in an emergency repair. An inspection program should include: sewers, force mains, manholes, lift stations and other appurtenances. Smoke testing and dye water testing can be used in problem areas to identify sections of the system that require detailed inspections. I/I sources can only be identified and corrected if a continuous inspection program is implemented.

Although **satellite entities**' high risk **sanitary sewers** will be inspected under the Short Term Requirements, the **LTOMP** must address inspection of the entire public **sanitary sewer** system. Classification of the entire **sanitary sewer** system, including gravity lines, manholes, lift stations, and force mains, into high-, medium-, and low-risk categories is recommended for forming the basis of establishing the frequency of sewer inspection and condition assessment. Figure 11-3 in the 1989 Manual provides recommendations for frequency of inspection based upon the characteristics of the community. **Satellite entities' LTOMP** must include a description of the continuous sewer system inspection program which shall detail the frequency of inspection for various portions of the **sanitary sewer** system as well as the inspection method to be used. A goal is to inspect the entire public **sanitary sewer** system on a 10-year cycle. At a minimum, two percent (2%) of the **sanitary sewer** system must be inspected each year. As discussed under the Short Term Requirements, inspections shall be conducted according to NASSCO standards, or an approved equivalent system of standards. NASSCO codes can be used to prioritize rehabilitation work.

PACP[®] condition ratings are meant to be objective and should be coded by trained and experienced technicians familiar with the rating system. Structural defects with a rating of 5 indicate an imminent collapse and should receive immediate attention. O&M defects commonly include root penetration, sedimentation, and buildup of fats, oils and grease (FOG). A rating of 5 indicates a significant or near-total blockage. Each pipe segment is

assigned a quick rating which indicates the severity of the most significant defect on the segment as well as the overall condition of the segment.

PACP[®] inspection databases can be used in a GIS or CMMS to map individual defects, and full pipe segments can be thematically coded to prioritize segments for more frequent re-inspection cycles or for long term budgeting for O&M and rehabilitation.

On a long term basis, it is crucial to maintain consistency in the review and categorization of defects. To this end, it is important that **satellite entities** performing condition assessments in-house have staff available who have received proper PACP[®], MACP[®] and LACP[®] training and certifications as well as training in defect coding software compatible with CMMS systems. Work contracted to others should be expected to follow the same standards for ease of integration with condition assessment data collected by others.

The **satellite entity** can utilize the NASSCO rating systems for long term O&M in the following ways:

- 1. Defects can be individually graded so that pipes can be prioritized based on severity and cross-referenced with criticality and consequence of failure. This results in focusing rehabilitation funds where they will have maximum impact.
- 2. Defect databases can be maintained and used to compare previous inspections for changes or deterioration to prioritize the frequency of re-inspections.
- 3. Pipe segments subject to FOG build-up can be mapped and prioritized for more frequent re-inspection and cleaning cycles.
- 4. Service connections can be mapped along the sewer segment minimizing excavations during future repairs.
- 5. Data can be used to update the GIS for material, size, and condition.

Electrical current leakage testing (currently a proprietary technology of Electro Scan, Inc.) may be used in conjunction with or as an alternative to CCTV to identify sources of infiltration or exfiltration along pipelines that may not be visible by CCTV inspection. This method can be used for pipes of any non-conductive material, and it provides a quantifiable, objective measure of a pipe's potential for leakage. The main advantages of this technology compared to CCTV are as follows:

- Inspections and quantification of defects can be conducted more quickly than CCTV.
- Sources of infiltration that are not visible from CCTV inspection are frequently identified.
- The portion of the pipe below the flow line can be inspected more easily than with CCTV.
- Defects in lined sewers, which are often undetectable on CCTV, can be located.
- Defects are quantified by their estimated I/I contribution in units of flow.

Disadvantages, as compared to CCTV are as follows:

- Inspections do not provide a visual image of the defects.
- Defects are not coded according to PACP[®] condition ratings.
- The method cannot be used on metal pipes or any other conductive pipe material.

While Electro Scan does not replace CCTV as a PACP[®] inspection method, it can be used as a way to prioritize subsequent CCTV inspections and to supplement CCTV by identifying additional sources of leakage. The technology is also effective at certifying pipe lining by detecting small sources of leakage not visible from CCTV.

Acoustic Emissions Testing (AET) is a form of pipeline inspection that can be used to inspect force mains, siphons, or other pressure pipes that CCTV is unable to inspect. AET must be conducted while a pipe is full, allowing a pressure pipe to be tested while still in service. The SmartBall developed by Pure Technologies is one form of this technology which can inspect very long pipelines using just two points of access — one to insert the unit and one to retrieve it — by emitting acoustic signals and monitoring their activity as the inspection unit travels along the pipeline.

Another type of acoustic testing is used in gravity sewer pipes to locate potential blockages by sending an acoustic signal between manholes from the surface. The Infosense SL-RAT is one example of this technology. Compared to CCTV, it has the following advantages:

- Inspections are much faster than CCTV.
- Inspections can be conducted from the surface, reducing the need for personnel to perform confined space entry.
- The method utilizes smaller, more mobile equipment.

Limitations of the method include the following:

- Only locations of potential blockages are detected.
- CCTV is required to identify both the type and location of the blockage.
- It is more effective for smaller diameter pipes.

Although it cannot replace CCTV, acoustic testing can be a fast, low-cost method for prioritizing where to use CCTV and for locating potential blockages. It has been proven effective in reducing the risk of **SSOs** caused by reductions in pipe capacity.

Satellite entities must have a program for inspection of new **sanitary sewer** facilities, both publicly owned and privately owned. Requirements for inspection in conjunction with new construction shall be contained in **satellite entities**' ordinances. Written procedures for the

inspection of new construction, including inspection checklists, must be included in the **LTOMP**.

7. Sewer System Rehabilitation and Updating the CIP

A sewer system rehabilitation program should be established with the objective of maintaining the conveyance capacity of the sewer system. This is accomplished by ensuring structural integrity, limiting the loss of conveyance capacity due to excessive I/I, and limiting potential **groundwater** contamination by controlling exfiltration. The rehabilitation program should be based on all recorded information from all **maintenance** and observations made as part of the capacity evaluation.

The type of rehabilitation method depends on several pipe characteristics such as age, material, size, location, sewer flow, surface condition, severity of I/I, etc. Rehabilitation methods include replacement, lining, grouting, joint sealing, etc. The rehabilitation program should identify methods that have previously been used successfully to guide methods to be utilized for subsequent sewer rehabilitation. Chapter 6 of the 1989 Manual describes standard rehabilitation methods. In addition, the WEF Manual of Practice FD-6 contains detailed information about current rehabilitation methods.

Rehabilitation procedures for manholes often involve modifications to covers and frames, which are common entry points for extraneous flows to the system. One such source is from manhole covers with open pick holes located in low-lying or flood-prone areas. The two references mentioned above outline several solutions that will reduce inflow from such manhole covers, which are among the least expensive ways to reduce inflow. In addition, adjustments to the manhole frame can also be completed to restore the watertight seal between the frame and the manhole. Infiltration through leaky manhole walls can be repaired by injecting chemical grouts or installing rubber joint seals at leaking manhole section joints. Manhole restoration methods include coating, patching, plugging and installing a structural lining. Figure 8.18 illustrates application of cementitious lining inside of a manhole. The method used depends on the causes of deterioration, whether the manhole is still structurally sound, and the extent of the damage. Refer to Pages 6-3 through 6-7 of the 1989 Manual for more detailed information on manhole rehabilitation.



Figure 8.18: Manhole Rehabilitation by Cementitious Lining

Rehabilitation methods for sewer pipes include open cut and trenchless methods. Many sewer pipes can be repaired from inside the pipe, but in cases of extensive structural damage, a complete replacement of the sewer pipe may be necessary. The most common rehabilitation methods for sewer pipes include:

 Cured-in-place-pipe (CIPP) lining – lining a section of pipe (usually between two manholes) by inserting a "sleeve" (usually polyester or fiberglass) that is saturated with a resin. When the sleeve is inflated with water or air, the resin is hardened using heat, which forms a liner within the existing pipe. Service connections to the pipe are re-established by cutting openings in the lining. This method cannot be used to rehabilitate pipe sections with severe deformation. Figure 8.19 shows the CIPP lining process.



Figure 8.19: Cured-in-Place Pipe (CIPP) Lining

- Sliplining a new pipe, usually made of HDPE, is pulled into the existing sewer. With structural grouting of the annual space between the existing and new pipes, this is a structural repair. Excavation at the insertion and receiving pits is necessary, and re-establishing service laterals also requires excavation. This method reduces the inside diameter of the sewer more significantly than CIPP does.
- External grout injection injecting chemical or cement-based grouting to stabilize soils, fill underground voids and reduce **groundwater** movement. Since the grout has to be injected exactly where known leaks exist, the external grouting method is better suited for stabilizing soils rather than sealing out infiltration.
- Internal joint sealing the most commonly used method for sealing leaking joints in sewer pipes and involves sealing the leaking joints or cracks using a chemical grout gel. Chemical grouting can be performed for sewers flowing partially full, and maximum flow depths have been prescribed by NASSCO for effective chemical grouting.
- Point repairs these repairs usually address a damaged section of pipe and require excavation. They may be used in conjunction with other repair methods, such as CIPP lining.
- Pipe replacement excavation and replacement of damaged pipe. Although likely to be the most expensive option, replacement may be warranted when an increase in pipe size, change in alignment, etc. is needed in addition to the rehabilitation work.

Additional information on the methods described above can be found on pages 6-8 through 6-16 of the 1989 Manual as well as in the WEF Manual of Practice FD-6.

Because lateral connections may contain excessive defects, repairs to these service connections can also significantly reduce inflow and infiltration into the system. As outlined in Chapter 6 of the 1989 Manual (Page 6-16), there are multiple options available for rehabilitation of lateral connections: (1) variations of the standard chemical grouting method that utilize specialized television cameras, which is illustrated in Figure 8.20, (2) CIPP lining, and (3) complete replacement is also a consideration.



Figure 8.20. Lateral Rehabilitation by Injection Grouting

Table 6-1 on Page 6-19 of the 1989 Manual provides a summary of the most common sewer rehabilitation methods along with their associated advantages and disadvantages. In addition, Table 6-2 on Page 6-21 of the 1989 Manual provides a summary of the service lives for repairs to the sewer system.

The cost of the rehabilitation work should always be compared to the replacement cost of the system component before making a decision on which corrective measure to implement. For severely deteriorated components of the sewer system, it may be more cost-effective to perform a complete replacement instead of rehabilitation. Other items that may also factor into the decision-making process include safety, potential utility conflicts, the need to maintain existing sewage flows and traffic disruption. Prior to choosing a corrective action (rehabilitation vs. replacement), the service lives of the repairs should also be taken into consideration.

Each **satellite entity's** rehabilitation program should prioritize rehabilitation work according to severity of defects, age of the sewer, expected impact of sewer failure, anticipated public works projects in the vicinity that may provide an opportunity to perform sewer rehabilitation and available funding/resources. The **LTOMP** must include an explanation of the process used by the **satellite entity** to prioritize sewer rehabilitation projects.

Rehabilitation projects that will be performed by contractors should be included on the **satellite entity's** CIP. The CIP developed under the Short Term Requirements shall be updated as projects are completed and as new areas requiring rehabilitation are identified under the inspection program of the **LTOMP**. The CIP should include the fiscal year in which capital improvements are to be undertaken, the anticipated start date, the **District** permit number, the anticipated cost, a project description, and the priority of the project.

Completed rehabilitation work should be tracked on the **sanitary sewer** system map. Information to be included in the sewer system database includes contract number for rehabilitation work, date work was performed, rehabilitation method, and contractor.

The severity of the defects to be addressed under sewer rehabilitation efforts should be a significant factor in determining the budget necessary to support the CIP. **Satellite entities** are encouraged to allocate a portion of annual revenue for a capital improvements reserve fund so that resources are available to undertake capital improvement projects when necessary. Options for funding rehabilitation projects other than a reserve fund include assessments from a special service area and State Revolving Loan Funds.

8. Funding Plan

Satellite entities must secure a funding source to continually implement the LTOMP.

Funding can come from various sources, including service fees for sewer and water usage. The system owner should track all costs in order to have accurate records each time the annual operating budget is developed. An annual baseline provides documentation for future budget considerations and provides justifications for any future rate increases if they are needed.

The key components in an annual operation budget are the cost of preventive and corrective **maintenance** and major collection system repairs and improvements. There should also be an annual budget of discretionary and non-discretionary items. The annual budget should also address CIP projects, as discussed above.

Satellite entities may also utilize sources such as **IEPA** State Revolving Fund (SRF) loans or federal loan or grant programs to fund rehabilitation and repair costs. Low-income areas may be eligible for community development grants, or areas impacted adversely by flooding, particularly those served by combined sewers, may be eligible for disaster relief or green infrastructure programs. These funding sources typically require advanced planning and lead time, as well as adequate economies of scale, in order to be utilized effectively. Therefore, they are typically considered potential funding sources for preventative **maintenance** and rehabilitation, such as sewer lining or replacement and combined sewer separation, and not for emergency repairs or routine **maintenance**, such as cleaning and televising.

Categories of operating costs are labor, utilities and supplies, and outside contractors. These categories should include information on unit costs, total costs and the amount or quantities used.

The system owner should track all **maintenance** costs throughout the year, including those associated with contracted services, so that the budget is based on representative costs of

the previous years. The budget should be developed by using past records that are usually categorized as preventive **maintenance**, corrective **maintenance**, projected repair requirements and actual repair requirements.

Costs for emergency repairs should be a relatively small percentage of the entire budget. Emphasis should be placed on planned **maintenance** to avoid costly emergency repairs. An emergency reserve may also be established as part of the budget. The budget should also consider including a **maintenance** work backlog. The labor portion of the budget should be consistent with local pay rates and staffing needs.

Though not a means to accomplish I/I removal, potential sources of funding for work on private service laterals are sanitary service lateral warranty insurance programs. These programs have been developed by private companies and are marketed directly to homeowners or through the local community. These private companies typically retain local plumbers and contractors to perform the covered service lateral repairs. Property owners in these programs typically will pay a monthly fee, and the insurance will cover all or most costs associated with repairing the portion of the external service lateral that is damaged, clogged with roots, collapsed, and etc. It should be noted that lateral insurance does not cover repairs to address I/I, such as the lining of laterals due to leaking joints. Only the portion of the service lateral owned and maintained by the homeowner is covered. These service lateral warranty insurance programs do not typically cover costs related to replacing trees or shrubs damaged or removed during the repair, damage from sanitary backup into the home from the main sewer, replacement of the entire lateral (unless the entire lateral is damaged) or costs above a pre-determined annual cap for all repairs.

Satellite entities' LTOMP must indicate how annual operating costs, emergency repairs and capital improvements will be funded. **Satellite entities** must report their annual budget and the actual amount spent on their **LTOMP** each year to the **District**.

9. Private Sector Program (PSP)

As discussed earlier, all **satellite entities** must develop a **PSP** which will be implemented in conjunction with the **LTOMP**. **Satellite entities** will be required to report activities performed under the **PSP** to the **District** each year.

Entities may also wish to incorporate the inspection and repair of private service laterals with public sewer and road improvements when excavations expose or make private laterals more accessible to work crews.

Though typically more characteristic of a short term program, smoke testing can be employed as part of a long term program to determine the effectiveness of remediation of I/I sources identified during a short term program. Smoke testing can also identify private sector defects

on sewer laterals, which are subject to progressive deterioration and would be more costly to individually inspect by CCTV. Smoke testing can identify which laterals need follow-up CCTV to recommend repairs.

10. Sewer Use Ordinance and Enforcement

To run an effective **sanitary sewer** operation and **maintenance** program, **satellite entities** must have the authority to do the following:

- Control the quantity and quality of wastewater from new developments and satellite collection systems;
- Control I/I sources ;
- Control sources of fats, oils and grease (FOG);
- Require proper design and construction of new and rehabilitated sewers and connections;
- Require proper installation, testing and inspection of new and rehabilitated sewers; and
- Access all components of the collection system.

This authority is commonly established by the adoption of a sewer use ordinance, though it may be established in service agreements or contracts as well, depending on the terms by which the **satellite entity** provides service to particular parties.

At a minimum, a sewer use ordinance will:

- Identify acceptable uses of the sanitary sewer system;
- Establish a procedure for obtaining authorization to connect to the sewer system;
- Establish enforcement measures or penalties for parties that violate the Sewer Use Ordinance;
- Describe regulations concerning industrial waste;
- Place limits on the quantity and composition of waste that is discharged to the system;
- Authorize the satellite entity to inspect new sewer construction; and
- Authorize the **satellite entity** to inspect private property for improper and/or illegal connections to the sewer system.

Satellite entities must have strict control over the nature and quantity of new flows introduced to their collection systems. **Satellite entities** must also establish design standards for sewer construction in both private and public sewer systems. These controls are normally implemented through a **building** permit process that involves design review and construction inspection by the **satellite entity**. Standards for new construction, procedures for reviewing designs, and protocols for testing, inspection and approvals should be established. **Satellite**

entities' standards for design and construction of sewers must comply with **IEPA** and **District** standards, at a minimum.

In preparing design standards and reviewing proposed designs, **satellite entities** should emphasize ease of **maintenance**. Construction supervision should be provided by qualified staff, preferably a **Professional Engineer**. **Satellite entities** should ensure that **building** occupancy permits are not issued until all requirements pertaining to **sanitary sewer** construction are satisfied.

Satellite entities must submit copies of their sewer use ordinance(s) with the **LTOMP**. The **LTOMP** must describe the process for updating the sewer use ordinance. It must also include information about procedures and programs that the **satellite entity** has implemented to administer the sewer use ordinance(s).

The sewer use ordinance can be enforced using various means under the authority of the **satellite entity**. Penalties for non-compliance should be explicit and implemented in a fair and consistent manner. The mechanisms for enforcement available to the **satellite entity** include:

- Fines;
- Court orders;
- Shutoff of water service;
- Refusal to grant requests for additional service(s);
- Refusal to grant **building** permits for additions or modifications to the property; and
- Refusal to approve sale or transfer of a property.

Satellite entities considering the use of penalties to private property owners for noncompliance should be diligent in vetting ordinance changes with public officials, residents and other stakeholders.

Enforcement of sewer use ordinances may require inspection of private properties to verify compliance. Private property inspections can be conducted as a targeted program by the **satellite entity** with consent of the owners of properties being inspected. Other opportunities to inspect private properties include inspections for **building** permits, property transfers or water meter **maintenance**.

11. Template LTOMP

A template **LTOMP** is provided in Appendix D.

Additional Information to Support LTOMP Development and Implementation

Although not addressed specifically in Article 8 of the WMO, the following section addresses topics that are relevant to the management of **sanitary sewer** systems. In developing a comprehensive **LTOMP**, it is recommended that **satellite entities** consider addressing the topics discussed below.

Flow Monitoring

Flow monitoring provides information on dry weather flows and areas of the **sanitary sewer** system that experience wet weather flows from I/I sources. There are three types of flow monitoring techniques: permanent and long term monitoring, temporary and short term monitoring, and instantaneous monitoring. Permanent flow monitoring is performed at discharge points of the **sanitary sewer** system and lift stations. Temporary flow monitoring is typically done for 30 to 120 days and can be used to identify **sanitary sewer** subbasins with high wet weather flows and to evaluate pre- and post-rehabilitation work performance with I/I source removal. Instantaneous monitoring involves a single reading.

When a **satellite entity** decides to conduct flow monitoring, a flow metering plan should be established that describes the monitoring strategy and includes the frequency of inspection, service and calibration.

Flow metering performed for the purpose of quantifying I/I can be separated into three components: base flow, infiltration and inflow. Base flow is the flow generated by wastewater. Infiltration is the amount of **groundwater** that enters the **sanitary sewer** system through sewer defects and deficiencies. Inflow is the amount of **stormwater** runoff that enters the **sanitary sewer** system through direct connections.

For smaller **sanitary sewer** systems, where cost may prohibit the implementation of flow metering, other methods, such as a visual inspection at manholes, may be done during low-flow periods to determine if I/I flow is conveyed in the **sanitary sewer** system.

Basic procedures for conducting flow monitoring are addressed in the 1989 Manual on Pages 3-7 to 3-32. Flow monitoring programs typically fall into one of three categories:

• Short term for the development of wet weather peaking factors

A reasonable relative ranking of subbasin wet weather flow response can be established with three or four storm events.

• Short term for the development of wet weather flow/rainfall relationships

The correlation of peak wet weather flow response to rainfall intensity required to establish design storm peak wet weather flows and pre- and post-rehabilitation design storm peak flows typically requires at least six measurable (non-surcharging with an intensity of over 0.15 inches per hour) storms under similar medium to high antecedent moisture conditions.

• Long term

Long term monitoring programs where flow meters are left in the **sanitary sewer** system are useful for tracking the reduction in wet weather flows in a multi-year investigation and rehabilitation program.

In addition to procedures in the 1989 Manual, flow monitoring must also include:

- Redundant depth sensors and a Doppler velocity sensor;
- Short term programs: Site calibration and meter **maintenance** during installation, upon removal, and on semi-weekly basis. If a meter's data is transmitted via telemetry, the frequency of these activities can be reduced.
- Long term programs: minimum of monthly calibration and site **maintenance** unless site is on data telemetry;
- Short term program monitoring interval of 15,000 to 25,000 linear feet;
- Long term monitoring interval of up to 100,000 linear feet; and
- Continuously recording rain gauge requirements of approximately one rain gauge per every eight flow meters with a minimum of two rain gauges.

Data Collection Requirements:

- Flow meters and rain gauges should log data at intervals of five minutes. If there are circumstances that necessitate extending instrument battery life, an interval of no greater than 15 minutes may be acceptable. The data logging intervals of flow meters and rain gauges should match to facilitate data analysis.
- Data shall be reviewed at least once per week during the first three weeks of installation. During this time, a minimum of two calibration readings should be taken to set data adjustment standards for the flow meters. This involves manually measuring velocity and depth at several locations within the flow profile, as shown in Figure 8.21. Crews will also make efforts to prevent sensor failure, minimize equipment maintenance issues, avoid excessive siltation and configure monitoring equipment to capture hydraulic variations or anomalies.
- Analyze the data to identify data gaps, hydraulic anomalies and meter performance.
- Data shall be corrected and adjusted according to field measurements, calibrations and flow balances among connecting sites.

Satellite entities should utilize GIS technology as a part of the **LTOMP**. Flow monitoring information, including installation data and all **maintenance** visits for each site, shall be delivered in a database format capable of integration into industry standard GIS systems. At a minimum, a mapping grade location for each equipment installation shall be provided and should be linked to an address (rain gauge) or manhole structure (flow meter).

If the area being monitored is sufficiently large, radar-derived rainfall data can be used to enhance the monitoring of rainfall by deriving rainfall at finer spatial resolution. NEXRAD radar data is typically used in conjunction with rain gauge data and specialized software to estimate rainfall totals at locations between gauge locations in a rain gauge network. Radar data, though not required, can lead to more accurate, localized rainfall measurements for flow meter analysis.



Figure 8.21. Manual Flow Meter Calibration

Determination of Wet Weather Peaking Factors

All **satellite entities** are required to conduct **sanitary sewer** condition assessments as part of the Short Term Requirements. In some cases, a history of reported **BB** locations and observed **SSOs** may allow for the prioritization of subareas in the **sanitary sewer** system for condition assessment activities. In many cases, however, lack of consistent reporting and recording of both **BBs** and **SSOs** will not provide enough information to prioritize subareas for condition inspection. In addition, **BBs** and **SSOs** may occur at the downstream end of the **sanitary sewer** system as a result of the total impact of all I/I defects upstream of these locations. Downstream hydraulic restrictions can also cause **BBs** and **SSOs**, which are related to system capacity more than to the level of wet weather flow. In these situations, **BB** and **SSO** history will not provide a reliable mechanism for prioritizing subareas for condition assessment.

Wet weather peaking factors generated from flow monitoring data can allow for the prioritization of **sanitary sewer** subareas for condition inspection activities. This approach can be coupled with available **BB** and **SSO** history to prioritize the subareas of the **sanitary sewer** system for condition assessment activities performed as part of the Short Term Requirements.

A flow monitoring program that is limited to the development of relative wet weather peaking factors among **sanitary sewer** subbasins can be designed with a shorter duration than a flow monitoring program designed to establish design storm peak wet weather flow rates for each subbasin. A reasonable relative ranking of subbasin wet weather flow response can be established

with three or four storm events. However, the correlation of peak flow response to rainfall intensity required to establish design storm peak wet weather flows, and pre- and post-rehabilitation design storm peak flows typically requires at least six measurable (non-surcharge and over 0.15 inches per hour) storms under similar medium to high antecedent moisture conditions.

Methodology

1. Determination of Wet Weather Peaking Factors

The wet weather peaking factor is the ratio of peak wet weather flow to average dry weather flow for all **sanitary sewers** upstream of a flow monitoring location. A high ratio normally indicates a high concentration of high priority defects. A low ratio normally indicates a low concentration of high priority defects.

Step 1- Determine Dry Weather Flow

Dry weather flow can be determined from selecting the period during the flow monitoring program that is most isolated from rainfall and high **groundwater** periods. This "low flow" period should be at least one week in duration, and will in many cases include a "permanent infiltration" component. After selecting the dry weather flow period, a 24-hour diurnal flow curve can be established for each meter location. Establishing a weekend diurnal flow curve will improve the accuracy of the wet weather peaking factor determination when storm events occur on weekends. An example of a typical diurnal flow curve is shown on Figure 8.22.

Step 2- Determine Peak Wet Weather Flow

Peak wet weather flow after a significant storm event should be determined for all storms during the flow monitoring program. When flow monitoring is conducted with a tributary area of approximately 15,000 to 25,000 linear feet of main sewer, the sustained peak flow that occurs for 60 minutes should be selected. The 60-minute peak hourly flow is typically close to the time of concentration for subbasins of this size. Selection of average basin size smaller than this range will allow for more precise identification of subbasins with high infiltration/inflow with a proportionately higher level of effort in flow monitoring. Selection of average basin size greater than this will result in a less precise identification of subbasins with high infiltration/inflow. It is also preferable to maintain as uniform as subbasin size as possible. This will improve the ability to compare wet weather peaking factors from subbasin to subbasin while minimizing the impact of peak flow attenuation due to basin size. The longer the flow monitoring program is conducted; a larger number of storm events are likely to be monitored. This will also improve the accuracy of the wet weather peaking factor analysis.

Storms that result in surcharging at the meter location should not be used in the peaking factor determination because the true measure of the peak flow that could be delivered to

the flow meter location cannot be measured when the site surcharges. Peak wet weather flow for each storm event is then determined by subtracting the hourly diurnal dry weather flow from the storm induced peak hourly flow. An example of this determination is shown on Figure 8.23.

When pump stations are used as monitoring points instead of gravity flow meters, the most accurate method to determine peak wet weather flow requires a continuous closed pipe flow meter (either ultra-sonic/Doppler or electromagnetic) on the pump station force main coupled with continuous depth level recording in the wet well. If a force main closed pipe flow meter is not utilized, accurate timed calibration of the pump station discharge against wet well level is important. Utilization of pump station run time data only will typically underestimate peak flows.

Step 3- Determine Wet Weather Peaking Factor

Wet weather peaking factors are calculated for each storm at each flow monitoring location by dividing the peak wet weather flow by the average dry weather flow for the same time of day on the dry weather diurnal flow curve. Each flow monitoring site will then have an average wet weather peaking factor for all monitored storms. Storms with hourly intensity of less than 0.15 inches and storms that result in surcharging at a monitoring location will distort these ratios and should not be used in calculating the average wet weather peaking factor.

2. Ranking of Subbasins by Wet Weather Peaking Factors

Subbasins can be ranked in descending order of wet weather peaking factors to establish a priority plan for sewer system condition assessment activities. An example of ranking process is shown on Figure 8.24. The subbasin ranking process can be used to prioritize subareas for condition assessment activities performed as part of the Short Term Requirements.

In systems where it is likely to have large differences in permanent infiltration from subbasin to subbasin, or where subbasin size varies significantly, a more refined approach to determining wet weather peaking factors could be utilized. This more refined approach would involve the determination of linear feet of main sewer upstream of each flow monitoring location. Wet weather peaking factors would then be based on peak one hour wet weather flow length of main sewer (peak gpd/1,000 linear feet) and ranked in descending order.

3. Elimination of areas from Short Term Requirements condition assessment based on Wet Weather Peaking Factors

Subbasins with very low wet weather peaking factors could be candidates for elimination from condition assessments under the Short Term Requirements and the **LTOMP**.

Additional guidance on wastewater flow components and flow monitoring planning is also available on Pages 3-1 to 3-11 of the 1989 Manual.



Article 8. Infiltration / Inflow Control Program Page 8-65



Meter	Dry Weather Flow (mgd)	1-Hr Peak Flow (mgd)	Wet Weather Peaking Factor	Priority Ranking
G	0.65	19.5	30.0	1
0	0.60	17.7	29.5	2
Q	0.44	12.2	27.7	3
A	0.42	10.5	25.0	4
D	0.56	13.2	23.5	5
N	0.39	6.0	15.5	6
F	0.69	9.8	14.2	7
R	0.61	8.2	13.5	8
С	0.49	6.1	12.5	9
E	0.59	6.5	11.0	10
F	0.55	5.5	10.0	11
н	0.70	5.6	8.0	12
J	0.62	4.8	7.7	13
в	0.55	4.1	7.5	14
E	0.61	3.1	5.0	15

Typical Basin Ranking- Wet Weather Peaking Factors

Figure 8.24. Typical Basin Ranking- Wet Weather Peaking Factors

Local Storage Requirements

In the event that a **satellite entity** has an active sewer **maintenance** program but still experiences **SSOs** and **BBs**, the **satellite entity** may consider constructing local wet weather storage facilities. The purpose of such facilities is to store excessive wet weather flow, which is later released into the **sanitary sewer** system when capacity is available. Wet weather flow that can be kept in a storage facility does not cause **BBs** or **SSOs**. Local storage facilities shall only receive wet weather flow.

Sizing of any wet weather flow facility depends upon the storage volume needed to prevent **BBs** and **SSOs** at the design wet weather event chosen by the **satellite entity**, the conditions and locations of the site of the storage facility, and the budget of the **satellite entity** for the improvement. Permits for local wet weather storage facilities must be obtained from the **District** as well as **IEPA**.

A **satellite entity** that wants to build a local storage facility should request a meeting with the **District** prior to submitting a permit application. At the meeting, the **satellite entity** should provide an analysis demonstrating the impact the local storage facility is predicted to have on reducing **BBs** and **SSOs**. If the portion of the public sewer system tributary to a local storage facility has not been classified as high risk sewer under the Short Term Requirements (prior to submitting a permit application for a local storage facility) the **satellite entity** must submit a written summary of its efforts to reduce I/I in the tributary area. This summary must include a

description of public sector inspections and rehabilitation work as well as private sector inspections and corrections or improvements.

If a local storage facility is installed upstream of a lift station, the allowable rate of discharge from the lift station must be based on the dry weather flow generated by the tributary population.

Odor control measures should be considered as part of any local storage facility design. **Satellite entities** must develop a cleanup plan for any local wet weather storage facilities. Provisions for minimizing **groundwater** from flowing into storage facilities must be included in the design of such facilities. Permit application submittals for local storage facilities must include a **maintenance** and cleanup plan.

Once a local wet weather storage facility is constructed, **satellite entities** are cautioned that **SSOs** and **BBs** could still occur, depending upon the severity of wet weather events and the design capacity of the storage facility.

The **District** will consider permit applications for local storage facilities at any time during the IICP. The **District** will review Annual Summary Reports submitted under ICAP to determine whether a **satellite entity** that submits a permit application before implementing their **LTOMP** under the IICP has an active sewer **maintenance** program.

Individual Backflow Prevention

Another mechanism for prevention of **BBs** available to **satellite entities** and their residents is individual backflow prevention. Individual backflow prevention is any measure taken by a property owner to prevent wastewater from backing up through the lateral from the public sewer main. These measures are typically used in situations where the risk of **BBs** is atypically high, and measures to prevent **BBs** by flow reduction or public system capacity improvements is insufficient in mitigating that risk. Some examples of these situations are as follows:

- Locations where the ground profile is low relative to adjacent properties;
- Locations where the grade elevation is low relative to the invert of the public sewer;
- Properties near a lift station where the wet well level can influence the water level in upstream sewers;
- Properties with lateral connections to a large-diameter public main;
- Locations near the confluence of large diameter sewers and/or force main discharges;
- Locations near the connection to a regional interceptor that exerts downstream control on the local public sewer main; and
- Properties amid clusters of properties with large inflow sources, which collectively can overburden a small-diameter public main.
Common backflow prevention measures include the following:

- **Stand pipes and plugs.** Stand pipes and plugs are inexpensive devices inserted into a basement floor drain to prevent backflow of sewage through the drain. These devices are typically effective up to a few feet of head pressure.
- **Backwater valves.** Backwater valves are check valves that can be inserted into the private lateral at relatively low cost and ensure that wastewater can only flow out the lateral and cannot back up from the public main. However, backwater valves cannot assure outflow from the lateral to the public main in a surcharged condition. Schematic illustrations of backwater valve installations are shown in Figures 8.25 and 8.26.
- **Overhead sewer connection.** Overhead sewers are a relatively expensive modification to a property's interior plumbing that pump wastewater from basement facilities to the first floor level, allowing continued use of facilities during a surcharged condition and making a sewer backup extremely unlikely. A typical installation is shown in Figure 8.27.
- **External pump-over.** An external pump-over is an arrangement in which wastewater from the interior of a home flows into an external sump pit on the property and is then pumped into the public sewer main. These devices are very costly and require backup generators to ensure continued operation during power outages. A schematic of an external pump-over system is provided in Figure 8.28.



Figure 8.25. External Backflow Prevention Valve System

With any backflow prevention measure where water can be pumped into a public main, it is typical practice to require that the property owner receive a **building** permit from the public entity providing sewer services. Permit requirements help the entity maintain records of where these measures are implemented and provide a means for requiring the disconnection of private sector I/I sources (storm sumps, downspouts, and foundation drains) as a condition of granting the permit.



Figure 8.26. Internal Backflow Prevention Valve System

Funding of backflow prevention measures is often shared by the property owner and the public entity providing sewer services. Typical arrangements include cost-sharing programs where public funds are used to pay for a specific percentage of the improvement up to maximum dollar amount or where public funds are used to front the total cost with the property owner gradually paying back through an additional surcharge on monthly sewer service fees.



Figure 8.27. Typical Overhead Sewer System



Figure 8.28. External Pump-Over System

FOG Programs

An important component of sanitary sewer management in most systems is a proactive, effective program to control the release of fats, oils, and greases (FOG) into the system. Due to the presence of potential contributors of significant amounts of FOG, most satellite entities in the District should have a FOG program, primarily those having food service establishments (FSEs) and large apartment buildings. When FOG cools, it solidifies and adheres to the inside surfaces of sewers and manholes. Over time, FOG builds up and reduces the conveyance capacity of the sewer system. FOG accumulation is a significant cause of **SSOs**, particularly dry weather **SSOs**. Therefore, preventing FOG from entering the sanitary sewer system is essential to maintain sewer capacity and keep sewer cleaning costs down. This is accomplished through good practices by sewer users, particularly FSEs, and through installation of grease traps and interceptors. Under the Illinois Plumbing Code, plumbing systems for institutions or commercial establishments in which grease, fats, culinary oils or similar waste products from kitchens or food processing areas are wasted - or in which grease, fats or culinary oils are wasted in connection with utensil, vat, dish or floor cleaning processes - shall include grease interceptors. All waste lines and drains carrying grease, fats or culinary oil in these establishments shall be directed to one or more interceptors. All other waste streams from such **buildings**, including discharge from dishwashing machines, must bypass grease basins or interceptors.

A sample grease interceptor is shown in Figure 8.29. Critical elements of grease interceptors include: the inlet and outlet tees - which extend below the liquid surface, cleanouts on the inlet and outlet tees, the baffle wall - which forces most of the gravity separation of sediments, water, and grease to take place on the inlet side of the basin, a manhole cover which provides access for cleaning the basin, and an opening for water to flow from the inlet side to the outlet side without overtopping the baffle.

As an alternative to grease interceptors that are part of the exterior **sanitary sewer** system, FSEs may install grease traps inside of the **building**, which are usually just above or below the floor.

A FOG program should establish legal authority, and describe the **satellite entity's** requirements for the following:

- Plan review and design standards;
- Inspections;
- Permitting and control mechanisms;
- Enforcement;
- Communication;
- Performance measures;
- Public education; and
- Information management system.





Article 8. Infiltration / Inflow Control Program Page 8-72

Ongoing public education efforts are necessary to ensure that residents know not to discharge FOG to plumbing fixture drains. The **District** website contains examples of municipal FOG programs.

ANNUAL REPORTING (§806)

Satellite entities must submit Annual Reports to the **District** of their progress and plans relative to their Short Term Requirements and **LTOMP**. Annual Reports must be submitted regardless of the degree of progress made during the reporting period. Depending on the manner in which deficiencies in the **sanitary sewer** system are found and addressed, additional report forms and supporting documents many need to be submitted with the annual reports. All annual reports should reference work completed within the **satellite entities**' **separate sewer area** only. Examples of completed report forms are included in Appendix D.

Annual reports must be submitted to the **District** every March 1st detailing work completed for the preceding calendar year of January 1st to December 31st. To cover the transition from ICAP to the IICP Short Term Requirements, and then to the **LTOMP**, **satellite entities** that were part of the **District** before the effective date of the IICP must submit reports according to the following schedule:

Report Due Date	Reporting Year	Report Form
March 1, 2015	January 1, 2014-December 31, 2014	ICAP Annual Summary Report
March 1, 2016	January 1, 2015-December 31, 2015	Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report, Infiltration & Inflow Control Program
Annual reports for Report, until the sa O&M Program Ann	2016-2019 should be made using the Sl tellite entity has completed the Short T ual Summary Report Form will be subm	hort Term Requirements Annual Summary Term Requirements, after which the Long Term hitted.
March 1, 2021	January 1, 2020-December 31, 2020	Long Term O&M Program Annual Summary Report Infiltration & Inflow Control Program

Table 8-7. Schedule for Satellite Entity Annual Reporting

Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report

First Full Year

The first Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report must include the following:

- 1. A completed *Condition Assessment Prioritization Form* as an attachment.
- 2. A map showing which sewers are high risk and the extent of the areas served by those sewers. This map should also show the full extent of the satellite system's service area. If condition assessment work has occurred during the reporting year, the areas where this work was conducted should also be shown on the map. Only one map needs to be submitted with the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report.

- 3. Documentation showing the location of condition assessment work on High Risk **Sanitary Sewers** performed between July 10, 2009 and July 10, 2014, if the **satellite entity** requests credit for such work. This documentation must demonstrate when the work was performed, and that the work was performed according to NASSCO standards. Documentation showing any High Priority Deficiencies identified during the condition assessment must be submitted.
- 4. A completed Sanitary Sewer System Description and Inventory Form.
- 5. If High Priority Deficiencies have been identified and have not been corrected during the reporting year, a *Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form* must be submitted with the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report.
- 6. If any High Priority Deficiencies have been identified but not corrected in the reporting year and are to be addressed under the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), a CIP must be submitted with the Short Term Requirements Annual Report.

Second Year through Fifth Year

Subsequent Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Reports are to be submitted until the **satellite entity** has complied with the Short Term Requirements, which shall occur no later than five years after the effective date of the IICP. These Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Reports must include the following:

- An updated Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form;
- An updated CIP; and
- An updated sewer system map showing locations of condition assessment activities performed in the reporting year.

Long Term O&M Program Annual Summary Report

This report is to be submitted to summarize activities occurring in the year the **satellite entity** completes the Short Term Requirements. The **Long Term O&M Program** Annual Summary Reports must include the following:

- 1. A *Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form*, if High Priority Deficiencies have been identified but not addressed during the reporting period, and/or if High Priority Deficiencies identified in previous years have been addressed in the reporting period.
- 2. A CIP showing when High Priority Deficiencies will be addressed.
- 3. A list of property addresses where private sector I/I sources have been identified but not corrected.
- 4. A schedule for correcting the private sector I/I sources that have been identified but not corrected.

If a **satellite entity** undertakes any substantial sewer system improvements during the reporting period, which includes providing service to areas that were not previously served by the **satellite entity**, or full separation of a **combined sewer area**, then a revised *Sanitary Sewer System*

Description and Inventory Form must be submitted with the **Long Term O&M Program** Annual Summary Report for that year.

Item 4 of the Short Term Requirements Annual Summary Report and Item I of the Long Term O&M Program Annual Summary Report require summary information about SSOs and BBs. Only reportable events should be included in the total numbers of occurrences of SSOs and BBs. Reportable events include wet weather SSOs, dry weather SSOs and BBs caused by public sewer surcharging and blockages under either wet weather or dry weather conditions. Reportable events do not include BBs caused by collapse or blockage entirely of the private service lateral.

<u>REFERENCES</u>

Joint Committee on Administrative Rules. 2014. <u>Administrative Rules: Chapter I, Title 77,</u> <u>Subchapter r, Part 890: Illinois Plumbing Code</u>.

Available at: <u>http://www.ilga.gov/commission/jcar/admincode/077/07700890sections.html</u>

Monitoring and Management Services. <u>Fats, Oils, and Grease (FOG) Management & Control</u> <u>Program</u>. Available at:

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/rwqcb7/water issues/programs/pretreatment/docs/intro fog i nspections.pdf

MWRD. 1989. <u>Operations and Maintenance Manual for Separate Sanitary sewer Collection</u> <u>Systems for Local Agencies Tributary to the Metropolitan Sanitary District of Greater Chicago</u>. Available at:

http://pepportal.mwrd.local:50100/irj/go/km/docs/documents/District/internet/Departments/En gineering/Doing Business with Engineering/htm/Infiltration and Inflow/Infiltration and Inflow Operations Manual.htm

National Association of Sewer Service Companies (NASSCO). 2010. <u>Performance Specification</u> <u>Guideline for Sanitary Sewer Smoke Testing, December 2010.</u>

National Association of Sewer Service Companies (NASSCO). <u>Pipeline Assessment and Certification</u> <u>Program (PACP®) Latest Version.</u>

US Environmental Protection Agency. 2005. <u>Guide for Evaluating Capacity, Management,</u> <u>Operation, and Maintenance (CMOM) Programs at Sanitary sewer Collection Systems</u>. Available at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/NPDES/pubs/cmom_guide_for_collection_systems.pdf</u>

US Environmental Protection Agency Region 1. 2009. <u>Template for Developing Sewer Collection</u> <u>System Preventive Maintenance and Sewer Overflow Response Plans; Assistance for Capacity,</u> <u>Management, Operations and Maintenance of your Sewer Collection System</u>. Available at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/region1/SSO/toolbox.html</u>

Water Environment Federation. 2009. <u>Manual of Practice for Existing Sewer Evaluation and</u> <u>Rehabilitation No. FD-6</u>

Water Environment Federation. 1999. <u>Manual of Practice for Prevention and Control of Sewer</u> <u>System Overflows No. FD-17</u>

ARTICLE 9: MAINTENANCE

Introduction

The WMO was established to manage and mitigate the impacts of **development** and **stormwater** upon **flooding** and water quality. The management and mitigation of these impacts is completed through an approach of effecting change on a variety of levels: from promoting responsible land use; providing storage; minimizing **impervious areas**; protecting and enhancing **wetlands**, **floodplains**, buffers, and **riparian environments**; minimizing **erosion**; and providing **sediment** control (see §103 for a complete listing). Accomplishing these goals requires implementation of onsite **maintenance** and monitoring to ensure that the work is carried out effectively over the life of the project. Through effective **maintenance** and monitoring, and completion of remedial tasks to address issues that arise, the overall goals of the program and permitted projects can be met.

Many of the **maintenance** requirements specified in the WMO are already required by **National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)** General Permits. The **erosion** and **sediment** control requirements in the WMO are generally based on the General **NPDES** Permit for **Stormwater** Discharges from Construction **Site** Activities (General **NPDES** Permit ILR-10). In addition, many of the **maintenance** requirements for each community's **stormwater** management system are covered under the General **NPDES** Permit for **Stormwater** Discharges from Small Municipal Separate **Storm Sewer** Systems (MS4 Permit).

Under the WMO (§900.1), perpetual **maintenance** plans must be prepared and implemented for the following components of every **development**:

- A. Erosion and sediment control practices;
- B. Stormwater detention facilities;
- C. Stormwater collection facilities including both major and minor stormwater systems;
- D. Volume control facilities;
- E. Native planting conservation areas;
- F. **Qualified sewer construction** including service on grease basins, triple basins, and private pre-treatment facilities;
- G. Wetland mitigation; and
- H. Riparian environment mitigation.

For every development permitted under the WMO, the facilities described in A through H above must be listed on Schedule R. In addition, the location of these facilities must be shown on Exhibit R (Recording Exhibit) along with the applicable maintenance responsibilities and activities. Two copies of Schedule R and Exhibit R should be included with each submittal and four copies of each are due at approval. Exhibit R should be submitted separately from the plans as its own sheet (minimum exhibit size of 11" by 17").

<u>Note</u>: All bold terms contained in this document are defined terms in the WMO. Refer to Appendix A of the WMO or the TGM for the definition of each bold term.

Schedule R is not required for simple sewer connection permits that solely includes a straightforward service connection or private sewer extension to existing **development** (i.e. no new site development). In addition, any municipal owned properties/publicly funded permits do not require Schedule R. One exception to the above would be a permit that involves a **Sole Permittee** status (see **Sole Permitte** section in article 3 of the **TGM** for more information). If a Schedule R is not required for a publically funded school improvement project, for example, then all the appropriate **maintenance** schedules and notes must be included as part of the engineering utility or **maintenance** plan, with additional provisions for all proposed qualified sewers (if applicable) including pretreatment facilities. If a Schedule R is required for a permit, as in the case of a new volume control facility on private property, then all the qualified sewer **maintenance** including pretreatment facilities must also be included on Schedule R and Exhibit R (if applicable).

Table 9.1 lists those project types and the likely type of **maintenance** plan or native vegetation performance standards that may apply. In some cases, the **maintenance** may be a temporary measure during construction, but in most cases the **maintenance** will begin post-construction and will continue permanently with the **development**.

		Dura	ation	Vegetative I Stan	Performance dards	Manufactured
		During Construction	Post Construction	Lawn, etc.	Native Plants	Device
A	Erosion and sediment control practices	Х	Х	-	-	-
В	Stormwater detention facilities	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
С	Stormwater collection facilities including both major and minor stormwater systems	Х	Х	х	x	х
D	Volume control facilities	-	Х	Х	Х	Х
E	Native planting conservation areas	Х	Х	Х	х	Х
F	Qualified Sewer Construction including service on grease basins, triple basins and private pre- treatment facilities	-	х	-	-	х
G	Wetland mitigation	х	Х	-	х	х
н	Riparian environment mitigation	Х	Х	х	x	х

Table 9-1. Summary of Maintenance Plan Requirements

Plan Requirements and Guidance

The **maintenance** plan should describe inspection, **maintenance**, and monitoring activities that occur after the construction phase and continue, as applicable, into perpetuity. There are three key components to an effective **maintenance** plan:

- 1) A comprehensive list of all **maintenance** tasks that are to be performed for each system (A through H above) and the frequency of each task;
- 2) The responsible party for performing the **maintenance**; and

3) A description of applicable temporary and permanent access and **maintenance** easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity.

Guidance for the **maintenance** of the systems listed in items A through H above is included below. Example perpetual maintenance plans and wetland mitigation maintenance and monitoring plans are included at the end of this article.

Erosion and Sediment Control Practices

All **developments** that are greater than or equal to one (1.0) acre in size must comply with the Illinois Environmental Protection (IEPA) NPDES requirements for construction activities (General NPDES Permit ILR-10). However, the WMO requires **erosion and sediment control practices** on all **development sites**, regardless of the area of land disturbance. For every **development**, a **maintenance** plan is required for all temporary and permanent **erosion and sediment control practices**.

The **maintenance** plan should be a schedule of implementation of the **erosion** and **sediment** control plan including, but not limited to:

- A. A statement that installation of **erosion and sediment control practices** will occur prior to any soil disturbance;
- B. A schedule for construction activities, including **stabilized** construction entrance installation, **sediment** trapping facility installation, **site** clearing, stockpiling, grading, construction waste disposal, temporary and permanent **stabilization**, and removal of temporary **erosion and sediment control practices**;
- C. A schedule for inspection, reporting, and **maintenance** of all **erosion and sediment control practices**; and
- D. Contact information for the party responsible for implementation and **maintenance** of the **site** soil **erosion** and **sediment** control plan.

Onsite inspections should be completed regularly and also after **storm events** that result in 0.5 inches or more rainfall. During these inspections, an assessment should be made on whether the onsite soil **erosion and sediment control practices** are performing properly, as compared to the specifications contained in the plans and/or *Illinois Urban Manual*. Any **maintenance** that is required should also be identified and implemented immediately.

All **erosion and sediment control practices** should be monitored and maintained throughout the duration of construction in accordance with the requirements of §302 of the WMO and General **NPDES** Permit ILR-10. In some cases, perpetual **maintenance** and monitoring of projects, post-construction, is required to ensure the **erosion** and **sediment** control issues that may arise are quickly identified and rectified as necessary (see §310.2). However, in most cases monitoring of the **site** will cease once a Notice of Termination (NOT) has been submitted to

IEPA. All temporary **erosion and sediment control practices** should be maintained until permanent **stabilization** is achieved and then removed within 30 days of **stabilization**.

Maintenance and inspection provisions for erosion and sediment control practices during the construction phase should be provided on the plans in the form of general notes and maintenance/inspection schedules. Figures 9.1 and 9.2 provide examples of general notes for maintenance and inspections, and Figure 9.3 provides an example of an inspection and maintenance schedule.

GENERAL NOTES – MAINTENANCE

THE FOLLOWING IS A DESCRIPTION OF PROCEDURES THAT SHOULD BE USED TO MAINTAIN, IN GOOD AND EFFECTIVE OPERATION CONDITIONS, VEGETATION, EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES AND OTHER PROTECTIVE MEASURES IDENTIFIED IN THIS PLAN AND STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS. ALL EROSION CONTROL MEASURES MUST BE MAINTAINED AND IMMEDIATELY REPLACED AS NEEDED AND AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINER. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL INSPECTION, MAINTENANCE, AND REPAIR. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSPECT AND COMPLETE MAINTENANCE OF ALL TEMPS A MINIMUM OF EVERY 7 DAYS AND WITHIN 24 HOURS OF A 0.5-INCH RAINFALL. ALL TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ITEMS, INCLUDING PERIMETER EROSION BARRIER, MUST BE REMOVED WITHIN 30 DAYS AFTER FINAL STABILIZATION IS COMPLETED.

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE: THE ENTRANCES SHOULD BE MAINTAINED TO PREVENT TRACKING OF SEDIMENT ONTO PUBLIC STREETS. MAINTEMANCE INCLUDES TOP DRESSING WITH ADDITIONAL STONE AND REMOVING TOP LAYERS OF STONE AND SEDIMENT. THE SEDIMENT RUN-OFF INTO THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY SHOULD BE REMOVED IMMEDIATELY.

RIPRAP OUTLET PROTECTION: RIPRAP SHOULD BE INSPECTED FOR ANY SCOUR BENEATH THE RIPRAP OR FOR STONES THAT HAVE BEEN DISLODGED. SEDIMENT ACCUMULATION IN THE OUTFALL AREA SHOULD BE REMOVED AS NEEDED.

CONCRETE WASHOUT AREA: EXISTING AREAS SHOULD BE CLEANED OUT, OR NEW FACILITIES SHOULD BE CONSTRUCTED AND OPERATIONAL ONCE THE EXISTING WASHOUT IS 75% FULL. WASHOUT SHOULD BE INSPECTED FREQUENTLY TO ENSURE THAT PLASTIC LININGS ARE INTACTS AND SIDEWALLS HAVE NOT BEEN DAMAGED BY CONSTRUCTION ACITIVITIES. WHEN THE WASHOUT AREA IS ADJACENT TO A PAVED ROAD, THE PAVED ROAD SHOULD BE INSPECTED FOR ACCUMULATED CONCRETE WASTE. ANY ACCUMULATED CONCRETE WASTE ON THE ROAD, CURB, OR GUTTER SHOULD BE REMOVED AND PROPERLY DISPOSED.

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET: THE BLANKET AND STAPLES SHOULD BE INSPECTED FREQUENTLY AND SHALL BE INSTALLED TO THE ILLINOIS URBAN MANUAL, UNLESS OTHERWISE INSTRUCTED BY THE MANUFACTURER. EROSION OCCURRING UNDERNEATH THE BLANKET SHOULD BE BACK-FILLED AND SEEDED WITH THE APPROPRIATE SEED MIX. ADDITIONAL BMP'S MAY NEED TO BE INSTALLED TO REDUCE EROSION UNDER THE BLANKET.

SILT FENCE: SILT FENCES SHOULD BE INPSECTED REGULARLY FOR UNDERCUTTING WHERE THE FENCE MEETS THE GROUND, OVERTOPPING, AND TEARS ALONG THE LENGTH OF THE FENCE. DEFICIENCIES SHOULD BE REPAIRED IMMEDIATELY. REMOVE ACCUMULATED SEDIMENTS FROM THE FENCE BASE WHEN THE SEDIMENT REACHES ONE-HALF THE FENCE HEIGHT. DURING FINAL STABILIZATION, PROPERLY DISPOSE OF ANY SEDIMENT THAT HAS ACCUMULATED ON THE SILT FENCE. INSTANCES WHEN AREAS OF SILT FENCE CONTINUALLY FAIL, REPLACE SILT FENCE WITH ANOTHER BMP AS SEEN FIT.

CATCH BASIN AND INLET FILTERS: INLET FILTERS SHOULD BE INSPECTED FOR PROPER FILTERING, IF FILTER BAGS ARE USED, REMOVE SEDIMENT FROM THE FILTER BAGS WHEN 50% OF THE STORAGE VOLUME HAS BEEN FILLED, UNLESS OTHERWISE INSTRUCTED BY THE MANUFACTURER. REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS DURING INSPECTIONS. ACCUMULATED MATERIAL IN THE FILTERS SHOULD BE DISPOSED PROPERLY. DO NUT PUNCTURE HOLES IN FILTERS IF PONDING OCCURS.

THE CONTRACTOR OR CO-PERMITTEE WILL ASSUME MAINTENANCE OF FACILITIES FOR THE PROPOSED PROJECT ONCE CONSTRUCTION IS COMPLETE AND THE DISTURBED AREAS ARE STABILIZED.

Figure 9.1. Example General Notes for Maintenance of Erosion and Sediment Control Practices

GENERAL NOTES – INSPECTIONS

THE OWNER SHALL DESIGNATE A QUALIFIED PERSON TO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SEDIMENT AND EROSION CONTROL OBSERVATION REPORTING. THIS QUALIFIED PERSION SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS NOTED IN THE LIR10 PERMIT CONDITIONS AND/OR THE WMO REGULATIONS. SITE OBSERVATIONS SHOULD OCCUR AT LEAST ONCE EVERY SEVEN CALENDAR DAYS AND WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE END OF A STORM THAT IS 0.5 INCHES OR GREATER, OR EQUIVALENT SNOWFALL. SITE OBSERVATION REPORTS SHOULD BE MAINTAINED ONSITE AS PART OF THE SWPPP. EACH SITE OBSERVATION SHALL INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING COMPONENTS: A DISTURBED AREAS AND AREAS USED FOR THE STORAGE OF MATERIALS THAT ARE EXPOSED TO PRECIPITATION SHALL BE CHECKED FOR EVIDENCE OF, OR POTENTIAL FOR, POLLUTANTS ENTERING THE DRAINAGE SYSTEM. THE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES IDENTIFIED IN THE PLAN SHALL BE OBSERVED TO ENSURE THAT THEY HAVE BEEN INSTALLED AND ARE OPERATING CORRECTLY. WHERE DISCHARGE POINTS ARE ACCESSIBLE, THEY SHOULD BE CHECKED TO ASCERTAIN WHETHER EROSION CONTROL MEASURES ARE EFFECTIVE IN PREVENTING SIGNFICANT IMPACTS TO THE RECEIVING WATERS, LOCATIONS WHERE VEHICLES ENTER AND EXIT THE SITE SHOULD BE CHECKED FOR OFF-SITE SEDIMENT TRACKING. ALL PUMPING OPERATIONS AND ALL OTHER POTENTIAL NON-STORM WATER DISCHARGES SHOULD BE OBSERVED. B. BASED ON THE RESULTS OF THE SITE OBSERVATION, THE DESCRIPTION OF POTENTIAL POLLUTANT SOURCES IDENTIFIED, AND THE POLLUTION PREVENTION MEASURES DESCRIBED IN THIS PLAN SHALL BE REVISED AS APPROPRIATE, AS SOON AS PRACTICABLE AFTER THE OBSERVATION. THE MODIFICATIONS, IF ANY, SHALL PROVIDE FOR TIMELY IMPLEMENTATION OF ANY CHANGES TO THE PLAN WITH 7 CALENDAR DAYS FOLLOWING THE SITE OBSERVATION. C. A REPORT SUMMARIZING THE SCOPE OF THE OBSERVATION, NAME(S) AND QUALIFICATIONS OF PERSONNEL MAKING THE OBSERVATION, THE DATE(S) OF THE OBSERVATION, MAJOR OBSERVATIONS RELATING TO THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN, AND ACTIONS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPH B ABOVE SHALL BE MADE AND RETAINED AS PART OF THE STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN FOR AT LEAST THREE YEARS FROM THE DATE OF FINAL STABILIZATION OR PERMIT COVERAGE IS TERMINATED. THE REPORT SHALL BE SIGNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH PART VI.G (SIGNATORY REQUIREMENTS) OF THE ILR10 NPDES PERMIT. D. THE OWNER SHALL NOTIFY THE APPROPRIATE AGENCY FIELD OPERTATIONS SECTION OFFICE BY EMAIL AT EPA.SWNONCOMP@ILLINOIS.GOV. TELEPHONE, OR FAX WITHIN 24 HOURS OF ANY INCIDENCE OF NONCOMPLIANCE FOR ANY VIOLATION OF THE STORM WATER POLLUTION

TELEPHONE, OR FAX WITHIN 24 HOURS OF ANY INCIDENCE OF NONCOMPLIANCE FOR ANY VIOLATION OF THE STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN OBSERVED DURING A SITE OBSERVATION, OR FOR VIOLATIONS OF ANY CONDITION OF THE PERMIT. THE OWNER SHALL COMPLETE AND SUBMIT WITHIN 5 DAYS OF INCIDENCE OF NONCOMPLIANCE (ION) REPORT FOR ANY VIOLATION OF THE STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN OBSERVED DURING AN INSPECTION CONDUCTED. SUBMISSION SHALL BE ON FORMS PROVIDED BY THE AGENCY AND INCLUDE SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE CAUSE OF NONCOMPLIANCE, ACTIONS WHICH WERE TAKEN TO PREVENT ANY FURTHER CAUSES OF NONCOMPLIANCE, AND A STATEMENT DETAILING ANY ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT, WHICH MAY HAVE RESULTED FROM THE NONCOMPLIANCE.

E. ALL REPORTS OF NONCOMPLIANCE SHALL BE SIGNED BY A RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY AS DEFINED IN PART VI.G OF THE ILR10 NPDES PERMIT (SIGNATORY REQUIREMENTS).

F. ALL REPORTS OF NONCOMPLIANCE SHALL BE MAILED TO THE AGENCY AT THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS:

ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY DIVISION OF WATER POLLUTION CONTROL COMPLIANCE ASSURANCE SECTION 1021 NORTH GRAND AVENUE EAST POST OFFICE BOX 19276 SPRINGFIELD, ILLINOIS 62794-9276



Figure 9.3. Example Maintenance and Inspection Schedule for Erosion and Sediment Control Practices

GIN FINI: NAL FINI: NDSCAPING I	3 DAYS
952	174 DAYS
MPLEMENT RDS 1DN ONTROL	2 DAYS

SEEDING *	TYPE	JAN.	FEB.	MAR.	APR.	HAY	JUNE	JULY	AUG.	SEPT.	0CT.	NON.	DEC.
	PERMANENT	ļ					4						1

SDIL PROTECTION SCHEDULE

WEEKLY AND AFTER EACH SIGNIFICANT RAINFALL EVENT 1 YEAR FROM COMPLETION CONDING FROM CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION

CONTRACTOR ENGINEER

ACTIVITY SCALLEATION DURING CONSTRUCTION MAINTENINGE CONSTRUCTION DURING VEGETATION MAINTENING VEGETATION MAINTENINGE STRAILCATION MAINTENINGE

RESPONSIBLE PARTY DURATION CONTRACTOR DECEMBER 2005 TO JUNE 2006

INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE SCHEDULE

SCHEDULE	
PROPOSED	

COURDON E			
0100000			

(*) EROSION CONTROL BLANKET SHALL BE PLACED ON ALL DISTURBED AREAS WITHIN 15 DAYS AFTER FINAL GRADE IS REACHED.

Article 9. Maintenance Page 9-6

Stormwater Detention Facilities

A scheduled perpetual **maintenance** plan is required for all **stormwater detention facilities**, and should include, at a minimum, the following items:

- Planned **maintenance** tasks and frequency of each task such as removal of **sediment**, debris, mowing and pruning of vegetation, and restoration of eroded areas;
- Identification of the responsible parties for performing the **maintenance** tasks; and
- A description of applicable temporary and permanent access and **maintenance** easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity.

Maintenance tasks for **stormwater detention facilities** should be performed monthly, at a minimum. The **maintenance** plan for **stormwater detention facilities** should include the following tasks:

- *Debris removal.* Trash, brush, grass clippings, **sediment**, and other debris should be removed from the **detention facility** to maintain the designed storage volume. To prevent clogging, the outlet control **structure** should also be inspected and all debris should be removed.
- *Restoration of eroded areas.* For areas where there is evidence of **erosion**, or in areas where future **erosion** is likely, protection should be provided to prevent further damage. All bare areas should be seeded and restored. Areas located along the side slopes of the **detention facility** will require seeding in conjunction with an **erosion** control blanket.
- Vegetation control. If used as a recreational area, the grassed areas of the **detention facility** should be mowed regularly to provide the intended use of the area. Grass clippings from mowing activities should always be collected. Mechanical methods for controlling weeds should be used instead of herbicides and pesticides. In addition, trees should not be allowed to grow along the emergency overflow weir and on any berms that are greater than four feet high. Vegetative control for **detention facilities** that serve as a **wetland** or wildlife habitat area should follow the guidance contained in the **wetland maintenance** plan.

Stormwater Collection Facilities

A perpetual **maintenance** plan for **stormwater facilities** is required. This includes the **major** and **minor** components of the **stormwater system** (other than the **detention facility**), such as **storm sewers**, catch basins, inlets, **outfalls** to **waterways**, and overland flow routes. A scheduled perpetual **maintenance** plan is required for all **stormwater** collection facilities, and should include, at a minimum, the following items:

- Planned **maintenance** tasks and frequency of each task such as removal of **sediment**, debris, mowing and pruning of vegetation, and restoration of eroded areas;
- Identification of the responsible parties for performing the **maintenance** tasks; and
- A description of applicable temporary and permanent access and **maintenance** easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity.

To ensure that **stormwater** collection facilities function as they were designed, regular inspections and **maintenance** of the system should be performed every two weeks. At a minimum, the following **maintenance activities** should be performed:

- *Debris removal.* Trash, wood chips, grass clippings, **sediment**, and other debris should be removed from the catch basins, inlets, **outfalls**, and **storm sewers** to prevent clogging. Cleaning should be done in such a way that the debris is not discharged back into the **stormwater** system.
- *Removal of obstructions.* Inspections should be performed to ensure that all overland flow routes are free from obstructions. If an obstruction has been placed in an overland flow route, it should be removed immediately.
- Vegetation control. For grassed swales that serve as overland flow routes, regular mowing should be performed to keep grass at an optimum height (less than six inches). Trees, bushes, and any other non-grass vegetation should be removed to preserve the conveyance capacity of the swale. Any areas of bare soil should be restored immediately using seeding with **erosion** control blanket.

Volume Control Facilities

A perpetual **maintenance** plan for volume control facilities is required. The written plan must include:

- Planned **maintenance** tasks and frequency of each task such as removal of **sediment**, debris, mowing and pruning of vegetation, and restoration of eroded areas;
- Identification of the responsible parties for performing the **maintenance** tasks; and
- A description of applicable temporary and permanent access and **maintenance** easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity.

Because every **development** permitted under the WMO is required to incorporate **green infrastructure** into the **site** design, special **maintenance** practices should be developed that ensure that the **green infrastructure** (both **volume control practices** and **flow-through practices**) functions properly over time. For **volume control practices**, monitoring wells are required for every 40,000 ft² of surface area. The monitoring wells should be utilized to determine the water level in the **volume control practice** and verify it is functioning properly. Without proper **maintenance**, the void spaces in porous pavement and infiltration basins may become clogged with **sediment**, reducing their effectiveness. To prevent clogging in the void space of pervious pavement (concrete, asphalt, pavers), it is recommended that adjacent landscaped areas be designed such that **stormwater runoff** from these areas onto the porous pavement is minimized. In addition, low pressure power washing and vacuuming of the surface is recommended on a yearly basis. This **maintenance** is especially critical during the fall. High pressure washing should be avoided for these types of surfaces, as it can cause damage to the pavement. Proper **maintenance** is especially difficult for pervious pavers, because extra care must be taken so that power washing and vacuuming does not dislodge the small chips that are used to fill in the paver gaps. In addition, small debris can collect in the paver gaps and lead to weed growth.

For infiltration trenches and basins, the use of a mulch layer above the infiltration practice will work like a filter for the **sediment** transported by **stormwater runoff**. The mulch layer will need to be replaced when it is filled, but will protect the void spaces in the soil and aggregate layers below from **sedimentation**. An alternative to using a mulch layer is the installation of a **sediment** trap upstream of the infiltration area. The **sediment** trap is a small depression that captures **stormwater** and allows the **sediment** to settle before it reaches the infiltration basin. For the **sediment** trap to be effective, the collected **sediment** must be removed regularly.

For mechanical **flow-through practices**, such as an oil and grit separator, an effective **maintenance** plan is based on performing frequent inspections. The rate at which these devices collect pollutants will vary from **site** to **site**, and therefore frequent inspections (once per month) should be performed to ensure the system is functioning properly. The **maintenance** for these devices should be performed in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations. As an example, the inspection and **maintenance** guide for the CDS system, which was developed by Contech Construction Products, Inc., is available on-line at:

http://www.conteches.com/products/stormwater-management/treatment/cds.aspx#1822141-technical-info

Qualified Sewer Construction

A perpetual **maintenance** plan is required for all **qualified sewer construction**. The written plan must include, at a minimum:

- Planned maintenance tasks and frequency of each task for the removal of objectionable wastes, fats, oils and grease, or any other wastes collected in private pre-treatment or separator structures;
- Planned routine maintenance for all private lift station and pumping facilities;
- Operation **maintenance** agreements for all private **service sewers** providing service to multiple **owners**;

• A description of applicable temporary and permanent access and **maintenance** easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity.

The **maintenance** for **sanitary sewer** systems should follow the guidance provided in document, <u>Separate Sanitary Sewer</u> Collection System Operation and <u>Maintenance</u> Manual for <u>Local</u> Agencies Tributary to the Metropolitan Sanitary <u>District</u> of Greater Chicago. This operation and <u>maintenance</u> guide was developed by Metcalf and Eddy, Inc. in 1989 on behalf of the <u>District</u> and is available on-line through the <u>District's</u> website at:

https://www.mwrd.org/irj/portal/anonymous/Infiltration

Private pre-treatment and separator **structures** that collect objectionable wastes, fats, oils and grease, or any other undesirable waste should be inspected and, if necessary, maintained every two weeks. **Maintenance** of these **structures** is usually performed by permitted haulers or recyclers, and consists of removing the material and then disposing of the material in accordance with local, State, and Federal laws.

To prevent stoppages in gravity sewers, sewer cleaning should be performed on a preventative basis. A regular cleaning schedule for sewers should be developed such that 100% of the pipes are cleaned annually. Some pipe sections may be prone to stoppages and may require more frequent cleaning, such as every month. Other pipe sections may not be susceptible to stoppages and therefore can be cleaned annually. The cleaning schedule should be customized based on information obtained during regular inspections of the system. When cleaning the sewer system, there are both hydraulic cleaning methods and mechanical cleaning methods available. Hydraulic methods utilize high-velocity water to clean the bottoms and walls of the pipes, whereas mechanical methods use equipment to physically remove the material from the bottoms and walls of the pipes.

Planned routine **maintenance** for all private lift station and pumping facilities should be based on the manufacturer's recommendations. The schedule of **maintenance activities** can be supplemented by information obtained during the regular inspections of the equipment. At a minimum, the **maintenance activities** and frequency should meet the manufacturer's recommendations.

Wetland Mitigation and Native Planting Conservation Areas

Maintenance plans must be prepared for wetland mitigation and native planting conservation areas. The plans shall cover the short term and long term (perpetual) maintenance. The short term plans will have set time frames based on the following examples. Actual timeframes will vary based on the complexity or difficulty of the project. The timeframes set a project length of the program; however, failure to meet the performance standards listed in the plan can extend the period until the project is approved. Long term plans are perpetual and intended to maintain the level of quality achieved during the short term period.

5 years

Short Term Maintenance Plan Example Timeframes:

- Temporary Impact Minimal Restoration, e.g. utility line installation 1 year
- Enhancement/restoration of an existing area (more than minimal) 3 years
- Wetland Mitigation

The contents of the Short Term Plan are as follows:

- Proposed wetland hydrology and an inundation and duration analysis;
- Proposed soils and soil management activities;
- Proposed planting zones, species, quantities, sizes, locations, specifications, methodologies, and details;
- Proposed **maintenance** and monitoring plan with **maintenance activities** and performance criteria outlined;
- Schedule of earthwork, planting, monitoring, and **maintenance**; and
- A description of applicable temporary and permanent access and **maintenance** and conservation easements granted or dedicated to and accepted by a governmental entity.

The contents of the Long Term Plan are as follows:

• A plan for the continued management, operation, and **maintenance** of the **wetland mitigation** measures including the designation of funding sources and the **person** responsible for long-term operation and **maintenance**.

Riparian Environment Mitigation

Maintenance plans must be prepared for **riparian environments**. The plans shall cover the short term and long term (perpetual) **maintenance**. The short term plans will have set time frames based on the following examples. Actual timeframes will vary based on the complexity or difficulty of the project. The timeframes set a project length of the program; however failure to meet the performance standards listed in the plan can extend the period until the project is approved. Long Term plans are perpetual and intended to maintain the level of quality achieved during the short term period.

Short Term Maintenance Plan Example Timeframes:

- Temporary Impact Minimal Restoration, e.g. utility line installation 1 year
- Mitigation/Enhancement/Restoration of an existing **riparian environment** 3 years

The contents of the **Riparian** Short Term Plan are as follows:

- Proposed wetland hydrology and an inundation and duration analysis;
- Proposed soils and soil management activities;
- Proposed planting zones, species, quantities, sizes, locations, specifications, methodologies, and details;
- Proposed **maintenance** and monitoring plan with **maintenance activities** and performance criteria outlined;
- Schedule of earthwork, planting, monitoring, and maintenance;

• A plan for the continued management, operation, and **maintenance** of the **wetland mitigation** measures including the designation of funding sources and the **person** responsible for long-term operation and **maintenance**.

As applicable, the following shall also be included in the **maintenance** plan discussion.

- A description of applicable temporary and permanent access and **maintenance** and conservation easements granted or dedicated to and accepted by a governmental entity;
- The proposed naturalizing methods, such as meandering, pools, or riffles for relocated channels. Methods proposed are expected to be able to withstand all events up to the **base flood** without increased **erosion**;
- The methods by which the normal flow within the channel will be diverted to construct the new or relocated channel;
- The erosion and sediment control practices to be implemented;
- The appropriate hydrologic and hydraulic methods analyzing the impacts on **flood** flows and **flood** elevations (to be provided in the **floodplain** and **floodway** submittal) meeting all other requirements in the **Ordinance**, including the **floodplain** and **floodway** requirements outlined in §601 and §602 of the **Ordinance**;
- Proposed planting zones, species, quantities, sizes, locations, specifications, methodologies, and details;
- Scheduling of earthwork, planting, maintenance, and monitoring; and
- A description of applicable temporary and permanent access and **maintenance** and conservation easements granted or dedicated to, and accepted by, a governmental entity.

Wetland, Buffer, Riparian, and Native Planted Areas Maintenance & Monitoring Plan Format

The WMO describes within §310 (**Maintenance** and Monitoring Plan Submittal) the required contents of the submittals for each of the **site** elements listed above. However, the WMO does not provide any specific guidance or criteria regarding performance standards or format of the document. Recommendations regarding the type of **maintenance** and monitoring plan to prepare and recommended performance standards regarding certain project elements are described below.

It is recommended that **maintenance** and monitoring plans be prepared following Adaptive Management Principles. **Maintenance** and monitoring plans will be tailored to suit the needs of each **development**. Applicants will be required to determine the applicability of each element and complete the required **maintenance** and monitoring in accordance with the approved plan.

Adaptive Management is a **structured** approach for addressing uncertainties by adjusting implementation, as necessary, to improve the probability of success. Adaptive management is seen as an evolving process involving learning (the accumulation of understanding over time) and adaptation (the adjustment of management over time). The sequential cycle of learning and adaptation leads naturally to two beneficial consequences:

- 1. Better understanding of the resource system being managed, and
- 2. Better management based on that understanding.

Adaptive Management Goals and Objectives

Plans are designed to be adaptive to changing **site** conditions observed through periodic monitoring of the **site**. The monitoring visits are important to determine the annual tasks needed. Those tasks are then completed and evaluated for effectiveness. New tasks are then defined as necessary to achieve the project goals and objectives.

Plan:

- Identify management issues (e.g. weed infestations)
- Identify management goals (e.g. weeds managed, native seeding);
- Determine management strategies available (e.g. herbicide, hand pulling, burning);
- Select appropriate management action (e.g. hand removal);
- Determine what will be monitored and how (e.g. establish a fixed point in field); and
- Determine how change and success will be evaluated (e.g. absence of weeds one month or one year after removal).

Do:

• Carry out action (e.g. remove weeds, complete prescribed burn).

Monitor:

• Monitor results (e.g. revisit **site** to determine success of activities).

Review:

- Assess previous management strategy and modify plan as necessary to adapt to current site conditions; and
- Return to Planning begin again, adapt to new **site** conditions.

Recommended Native Seeding Planting Performance Standards

For **wetland**, **riparian**, buffer, and **stormwater** areas proposed to contain native seeding or planting, the following minimum performance standards shall apply. Applicants may offer alternative standards for unique situations.

 For projects which have or will receive a permit from the US Army Corps of Engineers (Corps), applicants should follow the most current version of the <u>Chicago District Permittee</u> <u>Responsible Mitigation Requirements</u> to the mitigation areas for wetland, buffer, and riparian environments. The guide is available on-line through the Corps website at:





http://www.lrc.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory/MitigationRequirements.aspx

- 2. For projects that do not have to receive a **Corps** permit, applicants should at a minimum achieve the following standard:
 - At least 80% of the vegetation present within the planted **wetland** and buffer restoration area shall be native, non-invasive species. This standard does not apply to emergent communities or existing previously vegetated areas that are not undergoing restoration or are lawn.

Maintenance Plan Implementation

As specified in the WMO (§900.4), **maintenance** is the responsibility of the **co-permittee** and **permittee** of the **development**. The **maintenance** responsibility may be delegated to an entity that is acceptable to the **permittee**, however, ultimate responsibility for the **maintenance** of the facilities lies with the **permittee**.

Maintenance plans may be modified if **site** conditions change or issues arise, however, the **District** or **authorized municipality** has discretion as to whether or not to accept the requested modification.

EXAMPLE MAINTENANCE PLAN FOR EXHIBIT R (RECORDING EXHIBIT)

The Owner of the XYZ Development, with facilities as shown on Exhibit R, shall assume responsibility for the following perpetual maintenance activities:

1. General

Regular inspections and routine maintenance of general areas shall be performed on a monthly or as-needed basis. Specific items of concern include:

- _____ Litter and debris shall be controlled
- _____ Landscaped areas shall be maintained with regular mowing and restored with appropriate seeding/vegetation as necessary
- _____ Accumulated sediment shall be disposed of properly, along with any wastes generated during maintenance operations
- _____ Riprap areas shall be repaired with the addition of new riprap, as necessary, of similar size and shape
- _____ Roads shall be swept, vacuumed and/or washed on a regular basis

2. Stormwater Management Facilities

All components of the stormwater management facilities shall be checked monthly between March and November and maintained as necessary to ensure proper performance. It is critical that all inflows and outflows to the detention facility are clean and performing as designed. In addition, the design volume of the detention facility shall also be maintained. Inspections for the following specific items should be conducted monthly between March and November:

Side Slopes/Embankment/Emergency Overflow Structure

- _____ Inspect embankments for settlement and erosion
- _____ Remove woody growth from the embankment
- _____ Any breaks, hire Registered Professional Engineer for design resolution
- _____ Seed and sod any eroded areas
- _____ Signs of piping (leakage), repair
- _____ Signs of seepage or wet spots on the downstream face of a berm, may require toe drains or chimney drains to solve problems
- _____ Stabilize emergency overflow structure if erosion observed
- _____ Remove obstructions blocking emergency overflow spillway

Vegetated Areas

- Regular mowing to control vegetation, no cutting of native vegetation
- _____ Need for planting, reseeding or sodding. Supplement alternative native vegetation if a significant portion has not established (50% of the surface area). Reseed with alternative grass species if original grass cover has not successfully established.
- _____ Evidence of grazing, motorbikes or other vehicles, repair
- _____ Check for invasive vegetation, remove where possible
- _____ All vegetation must be maintained per the approved planting plan

Page 1 of 3

Outlet Control Structure

- _____ Inspect restrictor and remove debris if clogged or discharge reduced
- _____ Remove accumulated sediment at outlet
- _____ Scour and erosion at outlet, repair and reseed
- _____ Any ice damage to outlet of pipe, repair if necessary
- _____ Condition of trash tracks, remove debris
- _____ Outlet channel conditions downstream

Access for Maintenance Equipment

_____ Remove any obstructions placed in maintenance easements

Safety Features

- Access controls to hazardous areas
- _____ Fences
- _____ Loose or damaged posts
- _____ Loose or broken wires
- _____ Accumulated debris in fences
- _____ Condition of gates
- _____ Signs

Detention Volume

Inspect all stormwater detention facilities to ensure that the constructed volume for detention is maintained. No sediment, topsoil, or other dumping into the facility shall be allowed. Specific locations in the stormwater management system, designed to accumulate sediment, shall be dredged as necessary to prevent sediment from reaching the invert of any gravity outlet pipe.

3. Volume Control Facility

Routine inspections and maintenance of volume control facilities shall be performed by the Owner on a yearly or as-needed basis. Specific items of concern include:

- _____ Facility shall be inspected yearly using the monitoring well to verify the system is functioning properly.
- _____ Surface of permeable pavement shall be cleaned with a low-pressure power washer.
- _____ Accumulated sediment from surface shall be vacuumed out and disposed of properly.
- _____ Appropriate signage shall be repaired if damaged or illegible.

4. Stormwater Collection System

The Owner shall perform monthly inspections of all components of the stormwater collection system. The monthly inspection shall occur between March and November and include the following specific areas of concern:

Storm Inlets/Manholes

_____ Remove accumulated leaves and other debris from grates

Page 2 of 3

- _____ Reset covers/lids on as-needed basis
- _____ Remove accumulated sediment from bottom of manhole when 50% of sump is filled

Storm Sewers/Culverts

- _____ Visually inspect pipes by removing manhole lids, make repairs as necessary
- _____ Storm sewers and culverts shall be checked for siltation deposits at inlets, outlets, and within the conduit, clean out as necessary
- Restore riprap at outfalls if erosion observed
- Restore riprap at outfalls
- _____ Replant and reseed any eroded areas

Overland Flow Routes (Ditches/Swales)

- Annual visual inspections shall be performed that verify the design capacity of the overland flow routes is maintained. The slope and cross-sectional area of the ditch/swale shall be verified during this inspection.
- _____ Remove any obstructions that have been placed in the drainage path
- _____ Seed and sod any eroded areas
- _____ Restore riprap as necessary
- _____ Regrade to provide positive drainage as necessary (A Professional Land Surveyor may be required to check grades to ensure positive drainage).
- _____ Regular mowing to control vegetation
- _____ Rototill bottom of dry swales if not drawing down within 48-hours

5. Vegetated Areas

- _____ Need for planting, reseeding, or sodding. Supplement alternative native vegetation if a significant portion has not established (50% of the surface area after second growing season). Reseed with alternative native grass species if original grass cover has not successfully established.
- _____ Evidence of grazing, motorbikes, or other vehicles, repair.
- _____ Check for invasive vegetation, remove when possible.
- ____ Regular mowing to control vegetation; it is recommended that native vegetation remain uncut.
- _____ Dead or damaged non-native grassy areas repair with seeding with fertilization or seeding with mulch.
- _____ Compensatory storage area shall be reseeded with appropriate vegetation according to the approved planting plan.

6. Qualified Sewer Construction

- _____ Perform manhole inspections once every five years, make repairs as necessary.
- _____ Perform sewer inspections once every five years, make repairs as necessary.
- Perform regular sewer cleaning so that every sewer segment is cleaned once every five years.
- _____ Remove any obstructions placed in maintenance easements that may impede maintenance equipment access.

Page 3 of 3

SAMPLE - <u>WETLAND MITIGATION</u> 5 YEAR MANAGEMENT AND MONITORING PLAN

DATE

PREPARED FOR:

(USACE Application No. LRC-XXXX) (XYZ Project No. XX-XXXX)

Introduction

The (OWNER) will implement a 5-Year Wetland Management and Monitoring Plan for the wetland mitigation and natural areas within the _____ project area. The purpose of this Wetland Management and Monitoring Plan is to define the responsibilities of OWNER in regards to the wetland mitigation and restoration.

The success or failure of the project is largely dependent upon completion of maintenance and monitoring during the five-year management program. The following Wetland Management and Monitoring Plan includes a schedule describing Wetland Mitigation Performance Standards and Reporting and Compliance requirements.

Vegetation Performance Standards

The following Ecological Performance Standards apply to USACE wetland restoration and enhancement areas, and associated buffer that are providing wetland mitigation credit. The limits of these combined areas are shown on the attached map and identified as "USACE REGULATED WATERS, WETLAND, AND BUFFER LIMITS".

- 1. A temporary cover crop shall be planted on all slopes immediately upon completion of any earthwork to prevent soil erosion. Soil erosion and sediment control measures shall be in place during all construction work. An erosion control blanket may also be required depending on site conditions and season of planting. Within three (3) months, at least 90% of this area, as measured by aerial coverage, will be vegetated. If the desired long-term slope vegetation is not planted with the temporary crop, it shall then be planted in the first available growing season appropriate for each plant community. All cover crop species shall be non-persistent or native and not allelopathic.
- 2. Species selected for the planting shall be native to the county where the mitigation site is located (ref. Swink and Wilhelm, Plants of the Chicago Region, 1994), and shall be appropriate for the hydrologic zone to be planted.
 - Marsh- minimum of 15 native perennial species
 - Sedge meadow/wet prairie- minimum of 35 native perennial species
 - Mesic Prairie (buffer) minimum of 25 native perennial species

- 3. At least 50% of the required minimum number of species shall occur at a 10% frequency or greater, within each plant community zone or area. Multiple transects within a given plant community may be combined for this frequency analysis.
- 4. A native mean coefficient of conservatism value (native mean C value) of greater than or equal to 3.5 shall be achieved in each separate vegetated plant community (e.g. wet prairie, marsh, mesic prairie buffer), and as measured over the entire mitigation site area. Native plant species coefficients of conservatism are designated in Swink, Floyd and Gerould Wilhelm, Plants of the Chicago Region (Indianapolis: Indiana Academy of Science, 4th edition, 1994).

Interim Yearly Standards:

- a. By the end of the first full growing season, at least 30% of the vegetation present within the planted wetland and buffer restoration area shall be native, non-invasive species. This standard does not apply to emergent communities or existing previously vegetated wetland or buffer.
- b. By the end of the second full growing season, at least 50% of the vegetation present within the planted wetland and buffer restoration area shall be native, non-invasive species. This standard does not apply to emergent communities or existing previously vegetated wetland or buffer.
- c. By the end of the third full growing season, at least 60% of the vegetation present within the planted wetland and buffer restoration area shall be native, non-invasive species. This standard does not apply to emergent communities or existing previously vegetated wetland or buffer.
- d. By the end of the fourth and fifth full growing seasons, at least 80% of the vegetation present within the planted wetland and buffer restoration area shall be native, non-invasive species. This standard does not apply to emergent communities or existing previously vegetated wetland or buffer.
- 5. The native floristic quality index value (native FQI) shall be greater than or equal to 20 in each separate vegetated community zone and as measured over the entire mitigation site. The floristic quality assessment method is described in Swink and Wilhelm, Plants of the Chicago Region.

Steps # 4 and #5 are evaluated based upon the overall plant community inventories as well as transect summaries. If a portion of the site has achieved compliance with the performance standards, the standard shall be maintained in that portion until the final compliance sign off for the mitigation site.

- 6. No area over the entire mitigation site greater than 1 square meter shall be devoid of vegetation, as measured by aerial coverage, unless specified on approved mitigation plans. This standard does not apply to emergent, streamside and aquatic communities.
- 7. None of the three most dominant plant species in any of the wetland community zones may be non-native species or weedy species, including but not limited to:
 - Typha angustifolia
 - Typha X glauca
 - Phragmites australis
 - Lythrum salicaria
 - Salix interior
 - Phalaris arundinacea

These species shall not cumulatively comprise more than 5% of the total percent cover (not relative cover) for each planted restored community. This standard does not apply to existing emergent wetland, streamside and aquatic communities or enhancement areas.

- 8. The native perennial species within each wetland plant community shall represent at least 80% of the total dominance measure. A lower percent native perennial species of the total dominance measure may be acceptable if it is demonstrated with transect data that the remaining dominance percentage is by native annual and biennial wetland plant species and the FQI and mean C standards are exceeded.
- 9. A vegetation map of the mitigation site based on as-built drawings developed at the completion of implementation shall be submitted. This information shall be descriptive and define the limits of all vegetation areas by community type, based on field observations. The permanent transects shall be shown on this map. Representative photographs of each vegetation area by general community zone shall be submitted to the Corps.

Hydrology Performance Standards

Consistent with the Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual (1987) and/or any appropriate regional supplements, all areas to receive credit as wetland plant communities shall have soils saturated within 12 inches or less of the ground surface for at least 12.5% of the growing season as defined in this ICA. To meet this standard the mitigation site shall demonstrate inundated or saturated soils for 23 consecutive days during the growing season. In addition to this minimum, hydrology data should reflect a hydrologic regime that is appropriate to the native plant community proposed for establishment.

Monitoring Standards

Monitoring and data collection are intended to assess whether the mitigation has attained the following performance standards for full credit release and certification. Monitoring is required for five (5) years from the completion of planting of the wetland area. It shall also be recognized that monitoring may need to continue beyond the five (5) year period until full performance standards are attained. This may be especially true for forested communities with a longer growing time to maturity.

Wetland Delineation

To meet full performance standards, a routine wetland delineation shall be performed to verify the total acreage of wetlands and waters achieved on site. If requested by the Corps, the wetland areas shall be staked for final inspection. The Corps may request that the property boundaries for the mitigation site shall be marked as well. The delineation shall be included/reported in the final monitoring report, if not before. It is recognized that the actual acreage of aquatic resources/wetland will vary from that in the plans; however, it shall approach or exceed the acreage specified in the permit.

Vegetation Monitoring

Permanent straight line sampling transects shall be established, plotted onto project drawings and a current aerial photograph of the site, across each proposed plant community of the mitigation site. Sufficient transects shall be established to provide full representation of all plant communities within the site, which might include more than one of each type. Each transect shall consist of a series of 1.0 square meter quadrats (no fewer than 10) at regular or random intervals (5-10m suggested interval). The number of quadrats depends on system complexity and the size of each plant community for which credit is sought. A rough guideline is 2 guadrats per acre in each plant community as a minimum. The plant sampling shall be done in May/June and August/September each year following the initial planting, throughout the monitoring period. Data shall be reported by plant community, and by transect. A total plant species list should be compiled over the entire site for which credit is sought. Data may be summarized by plant community for which credit is sought in monitoring reports, however, the full sampling data should be provided in an appendix to the annual monitoring report. Species dominance shall be determined by calculating importance values, with at least the following two parameters: frequency and percent cover. Absolute percent aerial cover data should be reported, though the frequency and cover may be relativized to calculate Importance Values (e.g. RF + RC = IV).

Monitoring Reports

 The Chicago District shall determine the information to be included in monitoring reports. This information shall be sufficient for the Chicago District to determine how the compensatory mitigation project is progressing towards meeting its performance standards, and may include plans (such as as-built plans), maps, and photographs to illustrate site conditions. Monitoring reports may also include the results of functional, condition, or other assessments used to provide quantitative or qualitative measures of the functions provided by the compensatory mitigation project site.

- The permittee or sponsor is responsible for submitting monitoring reports in accordance with the special conditions of the DA permit or the terms of the instrument. Failure to submit monitoring reports in a timely manner may result in compliance action by the Chicago District.
- 3. Monitoring reports shall be provided by the Chicago District to interested federal, tribal, state, and local resource agencies, and the public, upon request.

Adaptive Management

- 1. If the compensatory mitigation project cannot be constructed in accordance with the approved mitigation plans, the permittee or sponsor shall notify the Chicago District. A significant modification of the compensatory mitigation project requires approval from the Chicago District.
- 2. If monitoring or other information indicates that the compensatory mitigation project is not progressing towards meeting its performance standards as anticipated, the responsible party shall notify the Chicago District as soon as possible. The Chicago District will evaluate and pursue measures to address deficiencies in the compensatory mitigation project. The Chicago District will consider whether the compensatory mitigation project is providing ecological benefits comparable to the original objectives of the compensatory mitigation project.
- 3. The Chicago District, in consultation with the responsible party (and other federal, tribal, state, and local agencies, as appropriate), will determine the appropriate measures. The measures may include site modifications; design changes, revisions to maintenance requirements, and revised monitoring requirements. The measures shall be designed to ensure that the modified compensatory mitigation project provides aquatic resource functions comparable to those described in the mitigation plan objectives.
- 4. Performance standards may be revised in accordance with adaptive management to account for measures taken to address deficiencies in the compensatory mitigation project. Performance standards may also be revised to reflect changes in management strategies and objectives if the new standards provide for ecological benefits that are comparable or superior to the approved compensatory mitigation project. No other revisions to performance standards will be allowed except in the case of natural disasters.

Long Term Management

- 1. The applicant shall submit a long term management strategy with an associated financial assurance plan for Chicago District approval prior to authorization. The strategy shall include a description of long-term management needs, annual cost estimates for those needs, and identify the funding mechanism that will be utilized to meet the needs. The applicant shall also identify the entity responsible (and provide supporting documentation, e.g. agreement or letter of intent) for the ownership and long-term management of the site. Identifying the responsible entity prior to permit issuance will aid in the processing of the instrument. It is preferred that the proposed long term manager or organization have expertise in executing adaptive management procedures. Applicants shall establish agreements for long-term management with public or private conservation organizations with final approval of the Chicago District.
- 2. All land, including associated uplands, which are part of the mitigation site shall be protected from future development by a permanent conservation easement, deed restriction or other real estate instruments as deemed appropriate by the Chicago District. This easement or deed restriction, along with a map of the site, shall be recorded with the appropriate county register of deeds, attached to the abstract of title, with a certified copy of the registration provided to the Chicago District prior to authorization.

Compliance Signoff

The Chicago District will issue final approval at the end of the management and monitoring period if the mitigation is in compliance and the Long Term Manager has been established for the site. The Long Term Manager shall provide supporting documentation stating their acceptance of the site in perpetuity. To be successful, the mitigation shall demonstrate the characteristics specified in the approved mitigation plan, the stated goals, and the Mitigation Requirements. Failure to comply with all the terms and conditions of a Department of the Army permit, including the mitigation plan and Mitigation Requirements, at any time may result in suspension and/or revocation of the permit and additional enforcement actions. The Corps may issue early compliance signoff if the required performance standards have been met. If the mitigation fails, the permittee will be required to determine the cause of the failure and to correct the error at the mitigation site, or to conduct additional mitigation activities.

The TOLLWAY shall also be responsible for successful completion and submittal of the required Special Condition project documentation to the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, as listed in Item Number 8 of the IEPA October 16, 2013, Water Quality Certification.

REFERENCES

Hillsborough County Public Works Department. 2006. <u>Stormwater Facility Maintenance Manual.</u> Available at:

http://www.hillsborough.wateratlas.usf.edu/ccdpm/CanalStudy/Preventative%20Measures/Appendix%20A/SW%20Maintenance%20Manual.PDF

Illinois Environmental Protection Agency.2013.General NPDES Permit No. ILR10. Available at: <u>http://www.epa.state.il.us/water/permits/storm-water/general-construction-permit.pdf</u>

Kane County Technical Reference Manual. Available at: http://www.countyofkane.org/FDER/Documents/waterOrdinances/technicalManual.pdf

Metcalf and Eddy. 1989. <u>Separate</u> **Sanitary Sewer** Collection System Operation and **Maintenance** Manual for Local Agencies Tributary to the Metropolitan Sanitary District of <u>Greater Chicago</u>. Available at: https://www.mwrd.org/irj/portal/anonymous/Infiltration

Montgomery County Department of Environmental Protection. 1999. *Maintaining Urban Stormwater Facilities: A Guidebook for Common Ownership Communities.* Available at: <u>http://www6.montgomerycountymd.gov/ocptmpl.asp?url=/content/ocp/ccoc/ccoc_index.as</u>

New England Interstate Water Pollution Control Commission (NEIWPCC).2003. <u>Operation</u>, <u>Maintenance and Rehabilitation Techniques</u>, Chapter 7, Optimizing Operation, Maintenance, and Rehabilitation of Sanitary Sewer Collection Systems. Available at: <u>http://www.neiwpcc.org/neiwpcc_docs/WEBOM&R.CH7.pdf</u>

Santa Clara Valley Urban Runoff Pollution Prevention Program. 2005. *Example BMP Inspection and Maintenance Checklist. Available at:* <u>www.scvurppp-w2k.com/bmp_om_forms.htm</u>

US Environmental Protection Agency. 2000. "Collection Systems Technology Fact Sheet: Sewers, Lift Stations." Available at:

http://water.epa.gov/scitech/wastetech/upload/2002 06 28 mtb sewers-lift station.pdf

US Environmental Protection Agency. 2005. <u>Guide for Evaluating Capacity, Management,</u> <u>Operation, and Maintenance Programs for Sanitary Sewer Collection Systems</u>. Available at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/cmom_guide_for_collection_systems.pdf</u>

Water Environment Federation. 1998. *Urban Runoff Quality Management*. WEF Manual of Practice No. 23, ASCE Manual and Report on Engineering Practice No. 87.

ARTICLE 10: INSPECTIONS

The WMO requires inspections of all **developments** and **qualified sewer construction**. Inspections are generally defined as an examination of a product, process, service, or installation or their design and a determination of its conformity with specific requirements. The results of the inspections are compared to specified requirements and standards for determining whether the item is in line with the plans and specifications. Inspections are completed to ensure that projects meet requirements of the WMO, will be long-lived, and are safe for the general public.

General

The **District** is authorized to inspect any **development** under the **District's** regulation and any **development** or **qualified sewer construction** requiring a **watershed management permit** (§1000.1 and §1000.2). **Authorized municipalities** also are required to periodically inspect **developments** which require a **watershed management permit** (§1000.3). Periodic inspections during construction should be performed to insure that construction is being performed in compliance with the permitted plans. The inspections should be completed:

- 1) Following initial soil **erosion** and **sediment** control installation;
- 2) During excavation for sewers (storm and sanitary), **detention facilities**, and other **stormwater** infrastructure; and
- 3) At the completion of the **development** to verify that the work is in accordance with the plans and specifications. Completion of the **development** refers to when the **site** is permanently **stabilized** and all temporary **erosion and sediment control practices** have been removed.

In general, the **District** will be performing the sanitary sewer inspections and the **authorized municipality** will be responsible for the other inspections. **Authorized municipalities** will handle the inspections of **erosion and sediment control practices** and **stormwater** management systems, but **sanitary sewer** installation will remain the sole responsibility of the **District**. The **District** will typically only handle the inspections of **storm sewers** if the **development** is in a **combined sewer area**. However, since the **District** is authorized to inspect the **development** at any time, they may handle additional inspections in some cases.

Inspection Requirements to be met by the Development

Proposed **developments**' specific inspection requirements are listed within the WMO under §1001; however, noteworthy requirements of this section are discussed below.

• Two working days' notice shall be given prior to any milestone events to allow the inspectors an opportunity to visit the **site** during construction of the infrastructure of concern.

<u>Note</u>: All bold terms contained in this document are defined terms in the WMO. Refer to Appendix A of the WMO or the TGM for the definition of each bold term.

- A complete set of the approved construction plans and specifications and the associated permit shall be kept on **site**, or be readily available for viewing at the time of inspection.
- Backfilling of trenches shall not be completed until the sewer installation has been inspected in accordance with the WMO.
- Construction records shall be maintained and readily available to the inspector when requested. These include the **Stormwater** Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), the latest revision of plans and specifications, a construction schedule, project **site** photo documentation, and copies of all other federal, state, and local permits.
- If work proceeds without proper inspection, the work shall be exposed at the **owner's** expense to allow such inspections to be completed and to confirm that the work was completed in accordance with the approved plans and specifications.

Inspection Requirements for Erosion and Sediment Control Practices

In accordance with the WMO (§1000.4), inspections must be performed by a qualified **person** (as defined in Article 3 of the **TGM**) to verify the **development** is in compliance with the soil **erosion** and **sediment** control requirements of the WMO. An initial inspection of soil **erosion and sediment control practices** should occur after mobilization and installation of initial **erosion and sediment control practices**, prior to any soil disturbance (§1000.4A).

In accordance with **NPDES** General Permit ILR10, the **co-permittee** (developer) is responsible for inspections at least once every seven calendar days and within 24 hours of the end of a storm – or by the end of the following business or work day – that is 0.5 inches or greater rain event. Inspections may be reduced to once per month when construction activities have ceased due to frozen conditions. Inspections must commence when construction activities are conducted, or if there is a 0.5 inches or greater rain event, or discharge due to snowmelt occurs. In addition, the **permittee** (**municipality**) is responsible for performing periodic inspections of each **development**.

An assessment should be made and documented in a report on whether the soil **erosion and sediment control practices** are performing properly, as compared to the specifications contained in the plans and/or *Illinois Urban Manual*. All remedial actions taken to repair or install soil **erosion** and **sediment** controls should be completed within 7 days of their discovery, unless the repair or installation is resulting in a pollutant discharge, in which the remedial action must occur immediately.

As shown in Figure 10.1, an inspection report has been developed for the inspection of **erosion and sediment control practices**. A fillable version of the inspection form is available on the **District's** website at:

http://www.mwrd.org/irj/portal/anonymous/managementordinance

Post-Construction Inspection Requirements

Inspections should be performed after the project is constructed to verify that the **development** has been constructed as permitted and is in compliance with the issued **watershed management permit**. **Record drawings** must be submitted and compared to the originally permitted plans. The post-construction inspection should identify any areas of failed construction and verify that all components of the **stormwater management system** are functioning as they were designed. A copy of the post-construction inspection report is provided as Figure 10.2. A fillable version of the inspection form is available on the **District's** website at:

http://www.mwrd.org/irj/portal/anonymous/managementordinance

It should be noted that this form will be required in addition to *the Request for Final Inspection* (RFI) form, which is still required by the **District** for all **developments**. For developments within **authorized municipalities**, the applicant will submit the RFI to the **authorized municipality** for approval. However, if **District** approval is also required, the final inspection cannot be approved by the **authorized municipality** without a completed and approved inspection report by the **District**.

		General Informatio	n	
Pr	oject Name		Аррг	roximate Acreage:
0	wner/Permittee			
w	atershed Management F	ermit No.:		
Si	te Location			
Da	ate of Site Visit	NPDES Permit N	o. (if applicable)): ILR
0	bserver's Name & Title	L		
Er	nforcement Officer			
St	age of Construction		Ph	otos Taken 🔲 Yes 🔲 No
Ту	pe of Site Visit:			
-	Pouting Dest Storm F	rent Cther		
	aathor Conditiona	weather Informatio	11	
vv	eamer Conditions:			
Es	stimated end date of mo	t recent ≥ 0.5" rain event:		
	Site Observations -	Describe Location and Recomme	and Corrective	Measures on Back Page
		Beeenine Ecourien and Reconning		
				, c
0.		BMP/Activity		Implemented & Maintained
0.	Are discharge points and pollutants?	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo	sits and other	Implemented & Maintained
0.	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain	sits and other	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/ Yes Action Item N/
0.	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o	sits and other ed? n site?	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item
0.	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o pilized?	sits and other ed? n site?	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/.
0.	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o bilized? ement systems been constructed, stabilitiately?	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/
0.	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp Are Special Managemer protected?	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o bilized? ement systems been constructed, stabili iately? Areas (e.g., creeks, wetlands, buffers,	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified etc.) adequately	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/.
0.	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp Are Special Managemen protected? Are storm drain inlets ad	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o bilized? ement systems been constructed, stabili iately? Areas (e.g., creeks, wetlands, buffers, equately protected?	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified etc.) adequately	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/
0.	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp Are Special Managemer protected? Are storm drain inlets ad Have all idle, disturbed a	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o pilized? ement systems been constructed, stabili ately? Areas (e.g., creeks, wetlands, buffers, equately protected? reas been temporarily stabilized?	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified etc.) adequately	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/.
0.	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp Are Special Managemer protected? Are storm drain inlets ad Have all idle, disturbed a Are erodible stockpiles (BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o pilized? ement systems been constructed, stabili lately? Areas (e.g., creeks, wetlands, buffers, equately protected? reas been temporarily stabilized? .g., topsoil) properly located and adequ	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified etc.) adequately ately protected?	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/.
0.	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp Are Special Managemer protected? Are storm drain inlets ad Have all idle, disturbed a Are erodible stockpiles (Are washout facilities (e.	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o bilized? ement systems been constructed, stabili ately? Areas (e.g., creeks, wetlands, buffers, equately protected? reas been temporarily stabilized? .g., topsoil) properly located and adequ g., concrete washouts, etc.) available an	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified etc.) adequately ately protected? d maintained?	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/
0 .	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp Are Special Managemer protected? Are storm drain inlets ad Have all idle, disturbed a Are erodible stockpiles (Are washout facilities (e. Is waste, including buildi placed in approved rece	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o bilized? ement systems been constructed, stabili iately? Areas (e.g., creeks, wetlands, buffers, equately protected? reas been temporarily stabilized? .g., topsoil) properly located and adequ g., concrete washouts, etc.) available an og materials and construction debris, col tacles?	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified etc.) adequately ately protected? d maintained? lected and	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/.
0 .	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp Are Special Managemer protected? Are storm drain inlets ad Have all idle, disturbed a Are erodible stockpiles (Are washout facilities (e. Is waste, including buildi placed in approved rece Are non-stormwater disc	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o bilized? ement systems been constructed, stabili ately? Areas (e.g., creeks, wetlands, buffers, equately protected? eas been temporarily stabilized? .g., topsoil) properly located and adequ g., concrete washouts, etc.) available an ig materials and construction debris, col tacles? marges (e.g., dewatering) properly control	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified etc.) adequately ately protected? d maintained? lected and blled?	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/
0 .	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp Are Special Managemer protected? Are storm drain inlets ad Have all idle, disturbed a Are erodible stockpiles (Are washout facilities (e. Is waste, including buildi placed in approved rece Are vehicle and equipme leaks, or any other poter	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo- he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o bilized? ement systems been constructed, stabili- tately? Areas (e.g., creeks, wetlands, buffers, equately protected? eas been temporarily stabilized? .g., topsoil) properly located and adequ g, concrete washouts, etc.) available an g materials and construction debris, col tacles? harges (e.g., dewatering) properly contro- nt fueling, cleaning, and maintenance an ial pollutants?	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified etc.) adequately ately protected? d maintained? lected and blled? reas free of spills	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/
0 .	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp Are Special Managemer protected? Are storm drain inlets ad Have all idle, disturbed a Are erodible stockpiles (Are washout facilities (e. Is waste, including buildi placed in approved rece Are non-stormwater disc Are vehicle and equipme leaks, or any other poter Are portable toilets, mate stormwater contaminant	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o bilized? ement systems been constructed, stabili- iately? Areas (e.g., creeks, wetlands, buffers, equately protected? reas been temporarily stabilized? .g., topsoil) properly located and adequ p., concrete washouts, etc.) available an og materials and construction debris, col tacles? marges (e.g., dewatering) properly contro- nt fueling, cleaning, and maintenance an ial pollutants? rial storage areas, and materials that ar managed appropriately?	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified etc.) adequately ately protected? d maintained? lected and biled? reas free of spills e potential	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/
0. 0 1 2 3 4 5	Are discharge points and pollutants? Have BMPs specified in Has the SWPPP been u Are outlets protected/sta Have stormwater manag to be functioning approp Are Special Managemer protected? Are storm drain inlets ad Have all idle, disturbed a Are erodible stockpiles (Are washout facilities (e. Is waste, including buildi placed in approved rece Are non-stormwater disc Are vehicle and equipme leaks, or any other poter Are stormwater contaminant Are stabilized entrances	BMP/Activity receiving waters free of sediment depo he SWPPP been installed and maintain dated to reflect the current conditions o bilized? ement systems been constructed, stabili- ately? Areas (e.g., creeks, wetlands, buffers, equately protected? reas been temporarily stabilized? .g., topsoil) properly located and adequ g, concrete washouts, etc.) available an g materials and construction debris, col tacles? marges (e.g., dewatering) properly contro- nt fueling, cleaning, and maintenance an ial pollutants? rial storage areas, and materials that ar managed appropriately? nstalled and are adjacent roads clear of	sits and other ed? n site? zed, and verified etc.) adequately ately protected? d maintained? lected and blled? reas free of spills e potential	Implemented & Maintained Yes Action Item N/ Yes Action Item N

Figure 10.1a. Erosion and Sediment Control Inspection Report (Page 1 of 2)
No.	Location and Recommended Corrective Measure	Completed/Initial
ei - ei		
<u> </u>		
G	eneral Comments:	
Cer	tification Statement: (To address NPDES Permit No. ILR10 requirements)	
"I certif designe manage belief, t impriso	y under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or supervision in ac d to assure that qualified personnel properly gathered and evaluated the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of th a the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the be rue, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including to ment for knowing violations."	cordance with a system e person or persons who est of my knowledge and he possibility of fine and
Finit		
Signa	ature: Date:	
	Erosion and Sediment Control Inspection Report	2

Figure 10.1b. Erosion and Sediment Control Inspection Report (Page 2 of 2)

Post-Construction Inspection Report	
-------------------------------------	--

Deret	a at Nama			-4- 4		
Project Name		A	pproxima	ate Acrea	ge:	
Own	er/Permittee					
Wate	ershed Management	Permit No.:				
Site	Location				100 0	
Date	of Site Visit	P	hotos Ta	ken 🗌	Yes 🗌 No)
Obs Title	erver's Name &					
Enfo	prcement Officer					
No.		Development Component			Addressed	?
1	Have record drawing	s been submitted for the development?		🗌 Yes	🗌 No	□ N/A
2	Are all stormwater de record drawings fron	etention facilities functional and are they consistent with the permitted plans?	ith the			
3	Are the outlet contro	I structures for the detention facilities appropriately siz	ed?			
4	Are the outlet contro debris?	I structures for the detention facilities functional and free	ee of			
5	Is there any evidence slope instability/eros	e of failed construction, such as the settlement of bern ion, accumulated sediment in the detention facility, etc	ms, c.?			
6	Are all overland flow record drawings from	routes free of obstruction and are they consistent with n the permitted plans?	h the			
7	Are all volume contro drawings from the pe	ol practices functional and are they consistent with the ermitted plans?	e record			
8	Are all other stormwa they consistent with	ater management system components functional and a the record drawings from the permitted plans?	are			
9	Are onsite wetland b	uffers in place and free of any prohibited activities?				
10	Have all erosion and removed?	sediment control practices that are no longer needed	been			
11	Other, based on site	conditions:				
No.		Location and Recommended Corrective Measure			Comple	ed/Initial
1						
2						
3						
4						
5						
6						
7						
8						
9						
10						
	1					

Figure 10.2. Post-Construction Inspection Report

Special Requirements for Qualified Sewer Construction

Projects with **qualified sewer construction** permitted by the **District** have additional inspection requirements. The specific inspection requirements of this section are listed within the WMO under §1002; however, noteworthy requirements of this section are discussed below.

- All sewers approved shall be tested, at no cost to the **District**, and approved by the **District**; and
- No backfilling of trenches may occur without authorization of the **District**. The approval shall be maintained on **site** and be available for future review by the **District**.

Request for Final Inspection

For projects permitted by the **District**, requests for Final Inspection will follow the protocol specified in §1003 of the WMO; however, noteworthy requirements of this section are discussed below.

• A request for Final Inspection must include a properly executed *Request for Final Inspection* approval form, and the **District** must be given at least 2 working days' notice to allow scheduling of the **site** visit. The form can be found on the **District's** website at:

http://www.mwrd.org/irj/portal/anonymous/EngForms

The form must be submitted to:

MWRD Engineering Department Local Sewer Systems Section 6001 Pershing Road Cicero, IL 60804

- The sewer cannot be placed into service until all onsite facilities, which are required as conditions of the **Watershed Management Permit**, excluding landscaping, have been approved.
- **Record drawings** will have to be prepared and provided to the **District** prior to final inspection.
- Prior to final inspection a copy of the recorded documents shall be provided to the **District**. If the documents have not been recorded the **District** may complete the recording at the cost of the **permittee**.

ARTICLE 14: ADMINISTRATION

The purpose of this article is to provide guidance on the responsibilities of both the **District** and an **authorized municipality** for the enforcement of the regulations contained in the WMO. This article outlines the procedures and requirements for **municipalities** to be granted the authority to administer certain aspects of the WMO within their corporate boundaries. This article also provides clarification on the role of the **District** and the **authorized municipality** for issuing **Watershed Management Permits** for various types of **developments**, performing inspections, maintaining records, and resolving violations of the WMO.

§1400 Responsibility for Administration

The **District** has the authority and responsibility for administering the regulations contained in the WMO. Although **authorized municipalities** have the ability to issue certain **Watershed Management Permits** within their corporate boundaries, the **District** will oversee all **municipalities** within its jurisdiction to ensure compliance with the WMO.

§1401 Role of the District

As contained in §1401 of the WMO, the role of the **District** in the administration of the WMO includes the following:

- A. Supervising the execution of the WMO;
- B. Reviewing and issuing Watershed Management Permits;
- C. Developing and maintaining the **TGM**, which will serve as a companion reference to the WMO;
- D. Notifying **Cook County** governmental agencies, **municipalities**, **authorized municipalities**, **FEMA**, **OWR**, **Corps**, and **IEPA** of any amendments to the WMO;
- E. Providing inspections to ensure proper compliance with the WMO;
- F. Investigating complaints of violations of the WMO;
- G. Granting variances;
- H. Enforcing the WMO;
- I. Hearing appeals;
- J. Advising, consulting with, and cooperating with other governmental entities to promote the purposes of the WMO; and
- K. Supervising authorized municipalities.

<u>Note</u>: All bold terms contained in this document are defined terms in the WMO. Refer to Appendix A of the WMO or the TGM for the definition of each bold term.

Additionally, the **District** will timely review **Watershed Management Permit** applications and respond within:

- A. Fifteen (15) working days of an initial submittal for **developments** not involving **flood protection areas**;
- B. Thirty (30) working days of an initial submittal for **developments** involving **flood protection areas**; and
- C. Ten (10) working days of a resubmittal.

§1402 Role of an Authorized Municipality

Article 14 of the WMO allows local **municipalities** to become authorized to administer certain aspects of the WMO. Such **municipalities** are referred to as **authorized municipalities**. Referring to §201.2 of the WMO, there are certain **development** activities for which an **authorized municipality** does not have authority to issue a **Watershed Management Permit**. The **Watershed Management Permit** must have **District** approval prior to issuance for the following **developments**:

- **Development** that involves modification to the drainage system of a previously permitted **detention facility**;
- **Development** proposing reconfiguration of existing **major** or **minor stormwater systems** which alters the service area of a permitted or **existing detention facility**;
- Any **development** that is considered **qualified sewer construction**;
- **Development** that involves a sewer or connection to **District** sewers, reservoirs, facilities, interceptors, or **TARP structures**;
- **Development** that involves the modification of a new drainage system or **outfall** to a **waterway** or Lake Michigan;
- Development discharging stormwater directly to District property; and
- Non-residential development on septic systems or private treatment systems proposing a connection to a sanitary sewer (tributary to a District facility).

Additionally, **authorized municipalities** may not issue permits for projects located in a **combined sewer area** or for their own projects.

An **authorized municipality** has the authority to issue a **Watershed Management Permit** for the following types of **development** activities:

• **Development** where the land disturbance is greater than 0.5 acres;

- **Development** within a **flood protection area**;
- **Development** involving an **indirect wetland impact**; and
- Development that constitutes a substantial improvement to a structure in the floodplain.

When a new application is submitted, the **authorized municipality** should complete a *WMO Authorized Municipality Permit Form* and send it to the **District** to obtain an MWRD **Watershed Management Permit** number for the project. The MWRD **Watershed Management Permit** number should be included on all documentation associated with each **Watershed Management Permit** application.

In addition to issuing **Watershed Management Permits** to certain types of **development**, the **authorized municipality** will also be responsible for:

- Providing all inspections that are necessary to ensure compliance with the WMO;
- Investigating complaints of violations; and
- Advising, consulting with, and cooperating with other governmental entities to promote the purposes of the WMO.

Qualifications for Authorized Municipality

For a community to qualify as an **authorized municipality**, it must meet the following requirements:

- A. Have legal authority to perform all requirements of an **authorized municipality** as specified in the WMO;
- B. Adopt the WMO, including all amendments, by reference;
- C. Participate in the **NFIP**;
- D. Have the ability to review and issue **Watershed Management Permits** for **development** activities in **separate sewer areas** listed in §201.1 of the WMO and within its corporate boundaries in conformance with the WMO;
- E. Employ or retain by contract, adequate staff for all of the following positions:
 - 1) An Enforcement Officer;
 - 2) **Professional Engineer**(s); and
 - 3) Wetland Specialist(s);

- F. Conduct timely reviews of **Watershed Management Permit** applications and respond within:
 - 1) Fifteen (15) working days of an initial submittal for **developments** not involving **flood protection areas**;
 - 2) Thirty (30) working days of an initial submittal for **developments** involving **flood protection areas**; and
 - 3) Ten (10) working days of a resubmittal;
- G. Maintain all of the following records;
 - 1) Watershed Management Permits;
 - 2) Record drawings;
 - 3) **Structure** improvement data;
 - 4) Elevation certificates;
 - 5) Wetland mitigation bank credits;
 - 6) Base flood data and base flood maps; and
 - 7) LOMC, LOMR;
- H. Transmit all records specified in §1402.2.G of the WMO to the **District** within ten (10) calendar days of request;
- I. Issue **Watershed Management Permits** for **development** activities listed in §201.1 of the WMO within its corporate boundaries in conformance with the WMO;
- J. Inspect the construction of all **developments** which require a **Watershed Management Permit** from the **authorized municipality**;
- K. Notify the **District** promptly for any violation within the **authorized municipality**;
- L. Issue local stop work orders for all violations, when appropriate; and
- M. Establish Watershed Management Permit fees for Watershed Management Permits reviewed and issued by the authorized municipality.

In addition to the record keeping requirements noted above, the **Enforcement Officer** of an **authorized municipality** must complete the Annual Permit Summary Report each calendar year. The purpose of this report is to provide an inventory of all **developments** permitted within the **authorized municipality**, the status of the projects (pre-construction, during construction, and post-construction), as well as the permitting components of the project.

The annual report must be completed each calendar year by the following March 31, and should describe all **development** activities that have taken place during the previous year. The

form is available on-line through the **District's** website at: wmo.mwrd.org.

§1403 Procedure for Authorization

A **municipality** may become authorized at any point in time. To become authorized, the **municipality** must complete the following three steps:

- Submit a letter of intent (with supporting documentation) to the District to become an authorized municipality. Also provide contact information for the Enforcement Officer, Professional Engineer, and Wetland Specialist for the municipality;
- 2) Adopt the WMO by reference; and
- 3) Enter into intergovernmental agreement with the **District**.

Letter of Intent

Municipalities interested in authorization must first submit a letter of intent to the **District**. A sample letter of intent is provided as Figure 14.1 and is also available on-line through the **District**'s website at: wmo.mwrd.org. The letter of intent must be submitted to the **District's Director of Engineering** at the following address:

Director of Engineering Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago 100 E. Erie Street Chicago, IL 60611

As shown in Figure 14.1, supporting documentation is required in addition to the letter of intent. This supporting documentation includes:

- A. A statement of intent to adopt the WMO by reference;
- B. A legal opinion indicating the **authorized municipality** has legal authority to perform all obligations required by the WMO including:
 - 1) The regulation of **erosion** and **sediment** control, **stormwater** management, **floodplains**, **isolated wetlands**, and **riparian environments**;
 - 2) The ability to conduct inspections;
 - 3) The issuance of Watershed Management Permits;
 - 4) The enforcement of the WMO; and
 - 5) The ability to enter into an intergovernmental agreement with the **District**.

For a legal opinion, the **municipality** should contact the municipal attorney.

- C. A verified statement of financial capability to perform and adequately fund the obligations of the **authorized municipality**. This should be a letter from the community's chief financial officer (CFO) or budget officer that includes relevant excerpts from the municipal budget to show that it has the financial resources to hire/retain an **Enforcement Officer**, **Professional Engineer**, and **Wetland Specialist**;
- D. Designation of an Enforcement Officer;
- E. An implementation plan, which should include the estimated permit load, proposed staffing, the addressee of permit submittals, and estimated review turnaround time; and
- F. Proposed staffing (Enforcement Officer, Professional Engineer, and Wetland Specialist).

Intergovernmental Agreement

An executed intergovernmental agreement between the **municipality** and the **District** will effectuate the **municipality**'s status as an **authorized municipality**. The **District** will create the initial intergovernmental agreement and forward it to the **municipality** for review and execution. A sample intergovernmental agreement is available on-line through the **District**'s website at: wmo.mwrd.org.

The intergovernmental agreement between the **District** and the **authorized municipality** shall remain effective unless terminated. The **authorized municipality** may terminate the intergovernmental agreement at any time, as long as a 60 day written notice is provided by the **municipality**.

Contact Information

As described in the letter of intent, the **municipality** must provide information on the proposed staff that will be responsible for enforcing the WMO. The **municipality** must provide contact information for the **Enforcement Officer**, **Professional Engineer**, and **Wetland Specialist** that will handle the review responsibilities on behalf of the community. A template for the contact information sheet is shown as Figure 14.2 and is available on the **District**'s website at: wmo.mwrd.org.

Month XX, Year

Mr./Ms Director of Engineering Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago 100 E. Erie Street Chicago, Illinois 60611
Dear Mr./Ms:
Subject: Intent to become an authorized municipality to administer the Watershed Management Ordinance
The Town/City/Village of ("municipality") intends to become authorized to adopt and administer the Watershed Management Ordinance ("WMO") to the extent allowed by Article 14 of that ordinance.
The municipality designates Mr./Ms as the municipality's enforcement officer. All correspondence should be directed to Mr./Ms's attention at the following address:
Street Address City, State ZIP
Please find the following documents enclosed in support of this letter of intent.
 Legal Opinion indicating the municipality has legal authority to perform all obligations required by the WMO, including: a. Regulating erosion and sediment control, stormwater management, floodplains, isolated wetlands, and riparian environments; b. Conducting inspections on private property; c. Issuing watershed management permits; d. Administering the WMO; and e. Entering into an intergovernmental agreement with the District.
2. A verified statement of financial capacity to perform and adequately fund the municipality's obligations related to the administration of the WMO as set forth in Article 14 of that ordinance.
3. An implementation plan, with an estimate of permit load and available review staff.
4. Schedule of Permit Fees.
5. An exhibit delineating the corporate limits of the municipality for the purposes of administering the WMO. Note that areas within the limits of the Combined Sewer Area Limits cannot be locally administered.
6. Contact information sheet.
Please contact the municipality's enforcement officer at (XXX) XXX-XXXX if you require further information.
Very truly yours,
Municipal Executive
Figure 14.1. Template Letter of Intent to Become an Authorized Municipality

Contact Information Sheet				
The Town/City/Village of Watershed Management Ordinance. Enforcement Officer, Professional Engined	intends to become authorized to administer the Cook County Below is contact information for the Town's/City's/Villages's er, and Wetland Specialist.			
Enforcement Officer				
NAME:				
TITLE:				
ORGANIZATION:				
STREET ADDRESS:				
CITY, STATE, ZIP:				
PHONE:				
EMAIL:				
Professional Engineer				
NAME:	, P.E.			
TITLE:				
ORGANIZATION:				
STREET ADDRESS:				
CITY, STATE, ZIP:				
PHONE:				
FAX:				
EMAIL:				
Wetland Specialist				
NAME:				
TITLE:				
ORGANIZATION:				
STREET ADDRESS:				
CITY, STATE, ZIP:				
PHONE:				
FAX:				
EMAIL:				

Figure 14.2. Contact Information Form

Enforcement Officer

In **authorized municipalities**, the **Enforcement Officer** is responsible for the administration and enforcement of the WMO. The primary responsibility of the **Enforcement Officer** is to review **Watershed Management Permit** applications and issue **Watershed Management Permits** for proposed **developments**. Specific duties of the **Enforcement Officer** include the following:

- For each **Watershed Management Permit** application, determine whether the proposed **development** is located within the **regulatory floodplain** or **floodway**;
- Determine and solicit **District** review, as applicable;
- Review all plans, calculations, and analyses submitted as part of a Watershed Management Permit application;

- Verify that all required local, State, and federal permits have been obtained prior to issuance of a **Watershed Management Permit**;
- Issue the **Watershed Management Permit** (applicable **District** approval must be received prior to issuance);
- Review all proposed Letters of Map Change (LOMC) requests on behalf of the municipality and submit reports as required by the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP);
- Periodically inspect the **development** before, during, and post-construction to ensure it is in compliance with the regulations of the WMO;
- Verify that the **development** has been constructed and maintained according to the permitted plans;
- Issue stop-work orders for non-compliant **developments** and investigate/remedy complaints of violations; and
- Maintain records of all **Watershed Management Permit** applications, issued permits, hydrologic and hydraulic analyses, inspection records, violations and other enforcement actions, **LOMC** information, **record drawings**, etc.

Professional Engineer

A **Professional Engineer** is an individual licensed by the State of Illinois to practice engineering and is responsible for the review of any plans, calculations, or analyses submitted by a **Professional Engineer** pursuant to the requirements of the WMO. As contained in the intergovernmental agreement between the **District** and an **authorized municipality**, the **Professional Engineer** should avoid possible conflicts of interest to perform work or provide services related to, or arising out of, the **municipality's** administration of the WMO.

Wetland Specialist

A **wetland specialist** is a **person** who is skilled in the art and science of delineating, identifying, and accessing **wetlands**. The **wetland specialist** is responsible for the review of all delineation reports, impacts, mitigation plans, and other documentation related to **wetlands**, buffers, and **riparian environments**. To qualify as a **wetland specialist**, a **person** must meet the requirements of A, B, C, or D below:

- A. Certified as an Environmental Scientist in DuPage County or a Certified **Wetland Specialist** (CWS) in Lake County;
- B. Professional Wetland Scientist certification by the Society of Wetland Scientists (SWS);
- C. Minimum of a bachelor's degree in a biologic science or earth science and at least one of the following:
 - 1) Three (3) years cumulative (full-time) **wetlands** experience in the Upper Midwest

Region on wetland-related projects; or

- 2) Completion of at least 100 **wetland** delineation projects in the Upper Midwest Region;
- D. Six (6) years cumulative (full-time) **wetlands** experience in the Upper Midwest Region on **wetland**-related projects without a degree type noted above.

§1404 District Oversight of Authorized Municipalities

Although **authorized municipalities** are delegated the authority to issue certain types of **Watershed Management Permits** within their corporate boundaries, the **District** retains the authority to oversee the enforcement of the WMO in all communities within its jurisdiction. The **District** has the authority to inspect any **development** within an **authorized municipality** and may, at any time, audit an **authorized municipality**. As specified in §1404.2 of the WMO, during an audit, the **District** may:

- A. Inspect and copy pertinent records kept by an **authorized municipality**;
- B. Inspect Watershed Management Permits issued by an authorized municipality;
- C. Meet with staff of an **authorized municipality**;
- D. Conduct field inspections of **developments** permitted by an **authorized municipality**;
- E. Request and copy financial records of the **authorized municipality**;
- F. Verify that an **authorized municipality** complies with all requirements listed in §1402.2 of the WMO; and
- G. Verify that an **authorized municipality** does not violate any provision listed in §1402.3 of the WMO.

Following a **development** inspection or audit in an **authorized municipality**, the **Director of Engineering** shall promptly notify an **authorized municipality** of any of the following deficiencies:

- A. Failure to comply with any provision of §1402.2 of the WMO;
- B. Violation of any provision of §1402.3 of the WMO; or
- C. Breach of the intergovernmental agreement.

An **authorized municipality** shall remedy any deficiency listed in §1404.4 of the WMO within thirty (30) calendar days of notice of the deficiency. In cases where a deficiency cannot be remedied within thirty days, the **Director of Engineering** may grant an extension.

The **Director of Engineering** may either suspend or terminate a **municipality**'s status as an **authorized municipality** if the **municipality** fails to remedy a violation in accordance with

§1404.4 of the WMO. If a **municipality**'s status as an **authorized municipality** is either suspended or terminated, the **municipality** may petition the **Director of Engineering** for reauthorization after all deficiencies are remedied.

Resources for Authorized Municipalities

The **District** has developed <u>A Guide for Authorized Municipalities</u> and numerous other resources that provide additional guidance for administering WMO permits. These resources include:

- Erosion Control Inspection Form;
- Wetland Inspection Form;
- Post-Construction Inspection Form;
- WMO Authorized Municipality Permit Form;
- WMO Minimum Permit Submittal Checklist;
- Sample Information Sheet;
- Request for Inspection (RFI) form; and
- Annual Permit Summary Report.

These resources are available under the *Resources for Authorized Municipalities* link on the **District**'s website at: <u>wmo.mwrd.org</u>.

APPENDIX A. DEFINITIONS

INTERPRETATION OF TERMS AND WORDS

The terms and words used in this **Ordinance** shall be interpreted as follows:

- Verbs and phrases in the present tense shall be presumed to include the future tense;
- Parts of speech used in the singular shall be presumed to include the plural, and those used in plural shall be presumed to include the singular;
- The words "shall," "will," and "must" are understood as mandatory, not permissive; and
- All distances shall be measured horizontally unless otherwise stated.
- A masculine, feminine or neuter pronoun shall not exclude the other genders.

DEFINITIONS

Words and terms not defined herein shall be understood by their common dictionary definition.

Within the context of this Ordinance, the following words and terms shall be defined as follows (except where otherwise specifically indicated):

100-Year Flood Elevation

The 100-year flood elevation is highest elevation of the BFE or a project-specific 100-year flood elevation.

Accessory Structure

A detached, non-habitable **building** without sanitary facilities that is an accessory to an existing **building** and that is less than 750 square feet in area. Accessory **structures** include, but are not limited, to garages and sheds.

Allowable Release Rate

The maximum or actual post-development release rate from a required **detention facility** as specified in §504.3 of this **Ordinance**, which is adjusted by existing **depressional storage** and/or **unrestricted flow** areas on the **site**.

Appellant

A **co-permittee** who appeals the **District**'s denial and/or imposition of conditions of a **Watershed Management Permit** or of a **variance** request.

Appropriate Use

The only types of development within the **regulatory floodway** that are eligible for a **Watershed Management Permit** as specified in §602.27 of this **Ordinance**.

Authorized Municipality

A **Cook County municipality** authorized by the **District** to issue **Watershed Management Permits** within its corporate boundaries.

Base Flood

The **flood** having a one percent probability of being equaled or exceeded in a given year. The **base flood** is also known as the "100-year flood."

Basement

Any area of a **building** having its floor below grade.

BB

Basement **B**ackup. Discharge of sanitary wastewater into the lower level of a building caused by either a blockage or collapse on the service lateral from the building to the public sewer system or by surcharging of the public sector sewer system.

BFE

<u>B</u>ase <u>F</u>lood <u>E</u>levation. The height of the **base flood** in relation to the North American Vertical Datum of 1988 that is associated with the **Special Flood Hazard Area** on the effective **FIRM**. The **BFE** shall be determined by the effective Flood Insurance Study (**FIS**) for a **development site** at the time of application as determined by the criteria provided in §601.3 and §601.4 of this **Ordinance**.

Board of Commissioners

The nine-member Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago's **Board of Commissioners** who are elected by the public.

BSC

Biological **S**tream **C**haracterization. A program developed by the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (**IEPA**) in conjunction with biologists from the Illinois Department of Natural Resources (IDNR) to aid in the classification of streams throughout the **watersheds** of Illinois. The **BSC** utilizes the Alternative Index of Biotic Integrity (AIBI) to classify streams as A, B, C, D, or E. The ratings use fish, macroinvertebrates, crayfish, mussels, and threatened and endangered species information to generate an overall score of biological diversity and integrity in streams.

BSS

<u>B</u>iologically <u>S</u>ignificant <u>S</u>tream. Streams with a Biological Diversity or Integrity of "A", "B", or "C" according to the latest edition of the Illinois Department of Natural Resources (**NRCS**) Office of Resource Conservation: Biological Stream Ratings for Diversity, Integrity, and Significance.

Building

A structure that is constructed and is enclosed by walls and a roof, including manufactured homes. This term does not include accessory structures.

Building Envelope

The delineation between the interior and the exterior environments of a building and often depicted as the building foundation.

Bulletin 70

Huff, F.A., and J.R. Angel, 1989. "Rainfall Distributions and Hydroclimatic Characteristics of Heavy Rainstorms in Illinois" (**Bulletin 70**), Illinois State Water Survey.

CCSMP

The <u>C</u>ook <u>C</u>ounty <u>S</u>tormwater <u>M</u>anagement <u>P</u>lan adopted by the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago **Board of Commissioners** on February 15, 2007, as amended from time to time.

CLOMA

<u>C</u>onditional <u>L</u>etter <u>of</u> <u>M</u>ap <u>A</u>mendment. A **FEMA** comment letter on a **development** proposed to be located in, and affecting only that portion of, the area of **floodplain** outside the **regulatory floodway** and having no impact on the existing **regulatory floodway** or **BFEs**.

CLOMR

<u>C</u>onditional <u>L</u>etter <u>of</u> <u>Map</u> <u>R</u>evision. A letter that indicates that FEMA will revise BFEs, flood insurance rate zones, flood boundaries, or floodways as shown on an effective FIRM after the record drawings are submitted and approved.

Co-Permittee

A **person** applying for a **Watershed Management Permit**, who must be the **owner** of the land specified in the application, the **owner**'s representative, or a developer with the owner's authorization. In the event, the **co-permittee** is a beneficiary of a land trust that owns the land specified in the application, the **co-permittee** must have power of direction. [*Compare* **co-permittee** *with* **permittee** and **sole permittee**].

Combined Sewer

Sewers intended for the combined conveyance of **stormwater runoff** and wastewater flows. [*Compare* **combined sewer** *with* **sanitary sewer** and **storm sewer**].

Combined Sewer Area

Areas within the **District**'s corporate boundaries that have sewers intended for the combined conveyance of **stormwater runoff** and wastewater flows to a **District** wastewater storage or treatment facility. This regulatory limit should be considered the high water mark **of combined sewer area** service limits, and was established in the past to limit further expansion of areas served by **combined sewers**. This area does not represent the actual effective boundaries between combined and separate sewer sheds. Consult local sewer system atlas information for that level of detail. [*Compare* **combined sewer area** *with* **separate sewer** *area*].

Compensatory Storage

An excavated volume of storage used to offset the loss of existing flood storage capacity when fill or **structures** are placed within the **floodplain**.

Compliance Report and Schedule

A report that specifies a schedule and final compliance date for which all violations and conditions contained in a **NON – Stormwater** and/or a **NONC** are remedied.

Connection Impact Fee

Fee for annexing to the **District**.

Contiguous

Adjacent to and touching at one point or more; if the lands are separated by an easement or a dedicated right-of-way, it shall be considered contiguous.

Cook County

Cook County is defined as the land area within the boundaries of Cook County, Illinois.

Corps

United States Army Corps of Engineers.

Corps Jurisdictional Determination

Procedure by which the Corps determines whether it has jurisdiction over a subject water as a waters of the United States. The purpose of a jurisdictional determination is to determine whether a wetland is a Corps jurisdictional wetland. For the purposes of this Ordinance, a wetland not under the jurisdiction of the Corps shall be considered an isolated wetland.

Corps Jurisdictional Wetlands

All wetlands that are under the jurisdiction of the Corps.

Corps Wetland Delineation Manual

The current Corps Wetland Delineation Manual, including any relevant regional supplements, or superseded and as authorized under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act.

Critical Duration Analysis

Study that determines which **storm event** duration results in the greatest peak **runoff** rate.

Dam

Any obstruction, wall embankment, or barrier, including the related abutments and appurtenant works, that is constructed to store, direct, or impound water. An underground water storage tank is not classified as a **dam**.

Demolition

Removal of **structures**, **impervious area**, or utilities that return a **parcel** to a natural or vacant state. **Demolition** must not affect the volume, flow rate, drainage pattern, or composition of **stormwater**. **Demolition** activities that change the use of the **site** or require any fill within a **flood protection area** are considered **development**. [*Compare* **demolition** *with* **maintenance**, **maintenance activities**, *and* **development**.]

Depressional Storage

The volume potentially contained below a closed contour on a one-foot contour topographic map, with the upper elevation determined by the invert of a surface-gravity outlet.

Design Runoff Rate

The **runoff** rate, or flow rates, used to design **major stormwater systems** and determine offsite flow rates. **Design runoff rates** are calculated by using event hydrograph methods.

Detention Facility

A manmade **structure** providing temporary storage of **stormwater runoff** from a **development** with a release rate specified by this **Ordinance**. The **Detention Facility** includes a stormwater storage basin, control structure (or restrictor), and the basin outlet, overflow and inflow pipes.

Development

Any human-induced activity or change to real estate (including, but not limited to, grading, paving, excavation, dredging, fill, or mining; alteration, subdivision, change in land use or practice; **building**; or storage of equipment or materials) undertaken by private or public entities that affects the volume, flow rate, drainage pattern or composition of **stormwater**, or the **substantial improvement** of an existing **building** in a **Special Flood Hazard Area**. The term **development** shall include **redevelopment** and shall be understood to not include **maintenance, maintenance activities**, or **demolition**. [*Compare* **development** *with* **maintenance**, **maintenance activities**, *and* **demolition**.]

Director of Engineering

The Director of Engineering of the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago, and his or her designee.

District

Metropolitan Water Reclamation **District** of Greater Chicago. A <u>special-purpose district</u> established by the State of Illinois to, among other things, manage wastewater for an area largely corresponding to **Cook County**, and **stormwater** in **Cook County**. The **District** is an independent unit of local government with an elected nine member **Board of Commissioners**.

Disturbed Area

Actual land surface area disrupted by construction activity.

Drainage Area

The land area tributary to a given point that contributes **runoff** from rainfall and/or snowmelt.

DWP

<u>D</u>etailed <u>W</u>atershed <u>P</u>lans. A study and evaluation by the **District** to assess the specific conditions and needs for each of the following **watersheds**: Calumet-Sag Channel, the Little Calumet River, the Lower Des Plaines River, the North Branch Chicago River, Poplar Creek, and the Upper Salt Creek.

Elevation Certificates

A form published by **FEMA** that is used to certify the **BFE** and the lowest elevation of a **building**'s **lowest floor**.

Enforcement Officer

A municipal official having actual authority from an **authorized municipality** to administer this **Ordinance** and issue **Watershed Management Permits**.

Erosion

The process of soil particle detachment from the land surface by the forces of wind, water, or gravity.

Erosion and Sediment Control Practice

A temporary or permanent measure that stabilizes soil by covering and/or binding soil particles in order to prevent soil particles from becoming detached by the forces of wind, water, or gravity and intercepts **sediment** in **runoff**.

Erosion Control Practice

A temporary or permanent measure that stabilizes soil by covering and/or binding soil particles in order to prevent soil particles from becoming detached by the forces of wind, water, or gravity.

Executive Director

The **Executive Director** of the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago.

Existing Detention Facility

A **detention facility** either permitted under the **Sewer Permit Ordinance** or constructed as of the effective date of this **Ordinance**.

Existing Development Plans List

A list of proposed **development** projects submitted by a **municipality** to the **District** for which the **municipality** has granted formal preliminary approval.

Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision

A manufactured home park or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the **manufactured homes** are to be affixed (including, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final **site** grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed before the effective date of this **Ordinance**.

Expansion to an Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision

The preparation of additional **sites** by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the **manufactured homes** are to be affixed (including the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final **site** grading or the pouring of concrete pads).

Facility Connection Authorization

Within the City of Chicago, an authorization for planned connection to **District** owned, operated, and maintained facilities located within the City of Chicago, and for impacts to **District** owned or leased property. Examples of **District** owned facilities may include (but are not limited to): **District** interceptor, **TARP** structure or **District** tunnel, **District** Lift Station or force main, **District** reservoir, a new or reconstructed outfall to a Chicago Area Waterway within the City of Chicago, new or reconstructed outfall to Lake Michigan from property located within the City of Chicago. Formerly known as a Sewer Connection Authorization. Refer to §703 of this **Ordinance** for more information.

Farmed Wetland

A **wetland** that is farmed currently or has been farmed within five years previous to the permit application date.

FEMA

<u>F</u>ederal <u>E</u>mergency <u>M</u>anagement <u>A</u>gency. The federal agency whose primary mission is to reduce the loss of life and property and protect the nation from all hazards (including natural disasters, acts of terrorism, and other man-made disasters) by leading and supporting the nation in a risk-based, comprehensive emergency management system of preparedness, protection, response, recovery, and mitigation.

FIRM

<u>F</u>lood <u>I</u>nsurance <u>R</u>ate <u>M</u>ap. The current version of a map issued by **FEMA** that is an official community map on which **FEMA** has delineated both the special hazard areas and the risk premium zones applicable to a community together with any amendments, additions, revisions, or substitutions issued by **FEMA** at any time.

FIS

<u>F</u>lood <u>I</u>nsurance <u>S</u>tudy. The current version of a study of **flood** discharges and **flood** profiles for a community adopted and published by **FEMA**, together with any amendments, additions, revisions or substitutions issued by **FEMA** at any time. The **FIS** also includes its associated **FIRMs**.

Flood or Flooding

A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally dry land areas from the unusual and rapid accumulation or **runoff** of surface waters from any source.

Flood Control Project

1) A **development** undertaken by either the **District** or a **municipality** to reduce the frequency and magnitude of **flood** events, including, but not limited to, reservoirs, floodwalls, levees, and channel conveyance improvements and excluding **detention facilities** or 2) a **development** undertaken by a public utility, as defined in the Illinois Public Utilities Act, that the **District** determines is necessary to protect critical utility infrastructure from **flood** events and that the **District** determines is consistent with the purposes of this **Ordinance**, as set forth in §103.

Flood Protection Areas

Regulatory floodplains, regulatory floodways, riparian environments, wetlands, and wetland buffers.

Floodplain

The area adjacent to and including a body of water where ground surface elevations are at or below a specified **flood** elevation.

Floodproof or Floodproofing

Additions, changes, or adjustments to **structures** or land that prevent the entry of **flood** water in order to protect property from **flood** damage.

Floodway

The channel and portion of the floodplain adjacent to a stream or watercourse that is needed to convey the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than a tenth of a foot.

Floodway Conveyance

The measure of the flow carrying capacity of the **floodway** and is defined using Manning's equation as, $K = (1.49/n)AR^{2/3}$ where "n" is Manning's roughness factor, "A" is the effective area of the cross-section, and "R" is ratio of the wetted area to the wetted perimeter.

Flow-Through Practices

Permanent volume control practices designed to treat stormwater runoff from impervious areas of a development after permanent stabilization is achieved.

FPE

<u>Flood Protection Elevation</u>. The highest **100-year flood elevation** plus two foot of freeboard, as determined in §601.9 of this **Ordinance**.

General Counsel

The General Counsel of the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago.

Green Infrastructure

Practices aimed to mimic functions of the hydrologic cycle including infiltration, interception, depression storage, evapotranspiration, and evaporation.

Groundwater

Subsurface water occupying the saturation zone, from which wells and springs are fed. Water found below the normal water table.

High Quality Isolated Wetland

Isolated wetlands that are of the highest value due to their uniqueness, scarcity, function, and/or value as determined by §603.9 of this **Ordinance**.

Highest Adjacent Grade

The highest natural elevation of the ground surface next to the proposed walls of a **building** prior to construction.

Hydraulically Equivalent Compensatory Storage

Compensatory storage that can be shown by hydrologic and hydraulic analysis to off-set the increase in **flood** elevations due to **development**.

Hydrology

The science of the behavior of water including its dynamics, composition, and distribution in the atmosphere, on the surface of the earth, and underground.

IDOT

Illinois Department of Transportation.

IEPA

Illinois <u>Environmental</u> Protection <u>Agency</u>.

Illinois Pollution Control Board

A quasi-legislative and quasi-judicial body created under the Illinois Environmental Protection Act. The Illinois Pollution Control Board adopts environmental regulations and hears contested cases.

Illinois Recommended Standards for Sewage Works

The Illinois Recommended Standards for Sewage Works as included in the Illinois Administrative Code. 35 Ill. Adm. Code 370.

Illinois Urban Manual

This manual contains design guidance for a **development site** to meet this **Ordinance**'s performance standards for **erosion** and **sediment** control.

Impervious Area

Surfaces that do not readily allow for the penetration of rain into the ground, and include but are not limited to rooftops, paved areas and graveled areas. Areas that are designed to promote the infiltration of rainfall into the ground at rates at or above the infiltration rate of naturally vegetated areas (given applicable soil types), such as non-compacted gravel areas, porous/permeable pavement areas, and bioretention areas (rain gardens and bioswales, composed of an engineered soil mix) shall not be considered impervious.

Indirect Wetland Impact

A **development** activity that causes the **wetland hydrology** to fall below eighty percent (80%), or exceed one-hundred fifty percent (150%), of the existing condition **storm event runoff** volume to the **wetland** for the 2-year, 24-hour **storm event**.

Industrial Waste

The solids, liquid, or gaseous wastes resulting from any industrial, manufacturing, trade or business process or from the **development**, recovery or processing of natural resources.

Interest

The property interest or contractual interest, legal or equitable, directly or indirectly, in part or in full, and includes options to buy. In the case of a shareholder interest, the shareholder shall be deemed to have an interest if he owns or controls 5% or more of the shares.

Isolated Waters

All waters including **lakes**, ponds, streams, intermittent streams, and ephemeral pools that are not under the **Corps** jurisdiction. The limits of the **Isolated Waters** in **Cook County** extend to the **OHWM**.

Isolated Wetland

All wetlands that are not under the jurisdiction of the Corps.

Isolated Wetland Buffer

The vegetated area adjacent to **isolated wetlands** left open for the purpose of eliminating or minimizing adverse impacts to such areas.

Isolated Wetland Submittal

Submittal required under §305 of this Ordinance.

Jurisdictional Waters of the U.S.

All waters including **lakes**, ponds, streams, intermittent streams, and ephemeral pools that are under the jurisdiction of the **Corps**.

Jurisdictional Wetlands

All wetlands that are under the jurisdiction of the Corps.

Lake

A natural or artificial body of water encompassing a surface area of two or more acres that retains water throughout the year.

LOMA

<u>L</u>etter <u>of</u> <u>Map</u> <u>A</u>mendment. The official determination by **FEMA** that a specific **structure** or **parcel** of land is not in a **regulatory floodplain**. A **LOMA** amends the effective **FIRM**.

LOMC

<u>L</u>etter <u>O</u>f <u>M</u>ap <u>C</u>hange. A letter from **FEMA** which reflects an official revision to an effective **NFIP** map. **LOMC**s are issued in place of the physical revision and republication of the effective map.

LOMR

<u>Letter Of Map Revision</u>. A letter from **FEMA** that revises **BFEs**, **flood** insurance rate zones, **flood** boundaries, or **floodway** as shown on an effective **FIRM**.

LOMR-F

Letter Of Map Revision Based on Fill. A letter from FEMA which officially revises an effective NFIP map. A LOMR-F provides FEMA's determination concerning whether a structure or parcel has been elevated on fill above the BFE and excluded from the Special Flood Hazard Area.

Long Term O&M Program

Long Term Operation and Maintenance Program. An ongoing program that a **satellite entity** develops and implements to reduce **SSOs** and **BB**s including but not limited to removing I/I sources, addressing deficiencies in its sewer system, maintaining system capacity, and preventing catastrophic system failures.

Lowest Entry Elevation

The elevation at which water can enter a **building** through any non-water tight opening such as a doorway threshold, windowsill, or **basement** window well.

Lowest Floor

The **lowest floor** of the lowest enclosed area (including **basement**). An unfinished or **flood** resistant enclosure, used solely for parking of vehicles, **building** access, or storage in an area other than a **basement** area is not considered a **building**'s **lowest floor**; provided, that such enclosure is not built so as to render the **structure** in violation of the applicable non-elevation design requirement of the Code of Federal Regulations (44 CFR 60.3).

Maintenance

The action required to preserve the original function and prevent failure of systems, which include but are not limited to, **sewage** systems, **major stormwater systems**, constructed **wetlands**, or **green infrastructure**. [*Compare* **maintenance** *with* **maintenance activities**, **development**, *and* **demolition**.]

Maintenance Activities

In kind replacement, restoration, or repair of existing infrastructure, pavement, or facilities including, but not limited to, roadways and parking lots such that they will perform the same functions for which they were originally designed and constructed. [Compare maintenance]

activities with maintenance, development, and demolition.]

Major Stormwater System

That portion of a stormwater system needed to store and convey flows for the 100-year storm event.

Manual of Procedures

The **District**'s Manual of Procedures for the Administration of the Sewer Permit Ordinance as amended November 5, 1988.

Manufactured Home

A **building** that is transportable in one or more sections, built on a permanent chassis, and designated for use with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities. The term **manufactured home** includes park trailers, travel trailers, and other similar vehicles placed on a **site** for more than 180 consecutive days.

Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision

A parcel or contiguous parcels of land divided into two or more manufactured home lots.

Material Change

Any deviation from the approved plans or specifications accompanying an application for which a **Watershed Management Permit** has been issued under this **Ordinance**, that would affect the **runoff**, capacity, flow, or operation of sewerage and/or **major stormwater systems** constructed under said **Watershed Management Permit**.

Minor Stormwater System

All infrastructure including curb, gutter, culverts, roadside ditches and swales, **storm sewers**, tiles, subsurface drainage systems, and other practices intended to convey or capture **stormwater runoff** from **storm events** less than a 100-year **storm event**.

Multi-County Municipality

A **municipality** containing corporate area within both **Cook County** and an Illinois county located **contiguously** adjacent to **Cook County**.

Multi-Family Residential

Residential **parcel** where any **building** contains three (3) dwelling units or more. [*Compare* **multi-family residential** *with* **residential subdivision**.]

Municipality

A local government, including a city, village, town, or Cook County. The term shall not be understood to include a township, school district, park district, or sanitary district.

Native Planting Conservation Area

Area planted with native deep-rooted vegetation, as approved by the **District**, and maintained in perpetuity to address **unrestricted flow** areas of a **development site**.

New Construction

For the purpose of determining insurance rates, **structures** for which the **start of construction** commenced on or after the effective date of an initial **FIRM** or after December 31, 1974, whichever is later, and included any subsequent improvements to such **structures**. For the purpose of **floodplain** management, **new construction** means **structures** for which the **start of construction** commenced on or after the effective date of the **floodplain** management regulation adopted by a community and includes any subsequent improvements to such **structures**.

New Impervious Area

Impervious areas that result from **development** or **redevelopment** including new **structures** or **buildings** associated with **development**, new impervious surfaces, and impervious surfaces that are being replaced as part of **redevelopment**.

New Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision

A **manufactured home park** or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing homes are to be affixed (including at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final **site** grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed on or after the effective date of this **Ordinance**.

NFIP

<u>N</u>ational <u>F</u>lood <u>Insurance</u> <u>P</u>rogram. The requirements of the **NFIP** are codified in Title 44 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

NONC

<u>N</u>otice <u>of</u> <u>N</u>on-<u>C</u>ompliance. Notice issued to a **satellite entity** by the **District** for an apparent infraction of the Infiltration/Inflow Control Program described in Article 8 of this **Ordinance**.

Non-Residential

Land uses other than **residential subdivisions**, **multi-family residential**, **right-of-way**, or **open space**. **Non-residential** land use may include, but is not limited to, commercial land use and industrial land use.

Non-Qualified Development

Redevelopment area excluded from the **allowable release rate** calculation specified in §504.3 and **detention facility** volume calculation specified in §504.7 of this **Ordinance**.

Non-Qualified Sewer Construction

Non-qualifying sewer construction is defined in §701.2 of this Ordinance.

NOV

<u>N</u>otice <u>of</u> <u>V</u>iolation. Notice given to a **permittee**, **co-permittee**, and/or any other **person** responsible for an apparent violation of this **Ordinance**.

NPDES

The <u>National Pollutant</u> <u>Discharge</u> <u>Elimination</u> <u>System</u>.

NRCS

The United States Department of Agriculture <u>N</u>atural <u>R</u>esources <u>C</u>onservation <u>S</u>ervice.

NWI

<u>N</u>ational <u>W</u>etland <u>I</u>nventory. The **wetland** mapping program created by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service to provide information on the characteristics, extent, and status of the nation's **wetlands**, deepwater habitats, and other wildlife habitats.

Offsite Detention Facility

A manmade **structure** providing temporary storage of **stormwater runoff** intended to mitigate hydrologic impacts of **development** elsewhere in the **watershed**.

Offsite Volume Control Practices

Permanent practices designed to capture, retain, and infiltrate **stormwater runoff** from **impervious areas** of a **development** located elsewhere in the **subwatershed**.

OHWM

<u>O</u>rdinary <u>High</u> <u>W</u>ater <u>M</u>ark. The point on a bank or shore at which the presence and movement of surface waters is continuous, leaving a distinctive mark. The mark may be caused by **erosion**, destruction or prevention of terrestrial vegetation, a predominance of hydrophytic vegetation, or other recognized factors.

Open Space

Pervious land to be retained as pervious land which is not part of a larger development. Open space may include sidewalk, bike path, nature or walking trail **development** less than or equal to fourteen feet in width. [*Compare* open space with right-of-way.]

Ordinance

The Watershed Management Ordinance.

Other Wastes

All decayed wood, sawdust, shavings, bark, lime, refuse, ashes, garbage, offal, oil, tar, chemicals, and all other substances except sewage and industrial wastes.

Outfall

The end point of any **storm**, **sanitary**, or **combined sewer**, providing a point source discharge into a defined **waterway**, or Lake Michigan. **Outfalls** do not include culverts or open conveyances systems connecting two segments of a **waterway**. Outfalls do not include private single-family home drains.

Owner

The record title holder or a beneficiary of a land trust which is the record title holder, and includes singular and plural; if the **owner** is other than an individual, the term includes beneficiaries, agents, shareholders, officers, and directors.

Ownership

The holding of record title or any beneficial **interest**.

OWR

The Illinois Department of Natural Resources **O**ffice of **W**ater **R**esources.

Parcel

Contiguous land area under single **ownership** or control, under an affidavit of **ownership**, or under a single legal description on record with the Cook County Recorder of Deeds Office.

Permittee

Any **municipality**, municipal corporation, sanitary district, utility company, township government, or any other governmental body required to jointly sign a **Watershed Management Permit** application. [*Compare* **permittee** *with* **co-permittee** and **sole permittee**].

Person

Any individual, partnership, firm, school, district, company, corporation, municipal corporation, association, joint stock company, trust, estate, unit of local government, sanitary district, special taxing district, school district, public utility, political subdivision, county agency, state agency, federal agency, or any other legal entity, or **owner**, or any legal representative, agent, or assign thereof.

Professional Engineer

A person licensed under the laws of the State of Illinois to practice professional engineering.

Professional Engineering

The application of science to the design of engineering systems and facilities using the knowledge, skills, ability, and professional judgment developed through professional engineering education, training, and experience.

Professional Land Surveyor

A **person** licensed under the laws of the State of Illinois to practice land surveying.

PSP

<u>Private</u> <u>Sector</u> <u>Program</u>. An ongoing program that a **satellite entity** develops and implements to identify and remove I/I from privately owned sources.

Public Flood Easement

An easement acceptable to the appropriate jurisdictional body that meets the regulation of the **OWR**, the **District**, and the **municipality**, that provides legal assurances that all areas subject to **flooding** in the created backwater of the **development** will remain open to allow **flooding**.

Qualified Sewer Construction

All public and private new sewers and new sewer connections, exterior to a **building envelope**, including sewer repair and sewer replacement. See §701 of this **Ordinance** for a complete list.

Recommended Standards for Wastewater Facilities

The current edition of the **Recommended Standards for Wastewater Facilities,** also known as the Ten States Standards, as published by the Great Lakes—Upper Mississippi River Board of State and Provincial Public Health and Environmental Managers.

Record Drawings

Drawings prepared, signed, and sealed by a **professional engineer** or **professional land surveyor** representing the final "as-built" record of the actual in-place elevations, location of **structures**, and topography.

Redevelopment

Any human-induced activity or change to an existing developed property (including but not limited to, grading, paving, excavation, dredging, fill, or mining; alteration, subdivision, change in land use or practice; **building**; or storage of equipment or materials) undertaken by private or public entities that affects the volume, flow rate, drainage pattern, or composition of the **site stormwater runoff** on the previously developed land. The term shall not be understood to include **maintenance**.

Regulatory Floodplain

The **floodplain** as determined by the **BFE** used as the basis for regulation in this **Ordinance**.

Regulatory Floodway

Floodway under the jurisdiction of the Illinois Department of Natural Resources (17 Ill. Adm. Code 1700.30), which consists of portions of the **floodplain** depicted as **floodway** on maps recognized by **OWR**.

Residential Subdivision

Residential **parcel** that is planned to be subdivided for **development**, and where each sub-parcel contains a **building** with less than three (3) dwelling units. [*Compare* residential subdivision with multi-family residential and single-family home].

Respondent

Permittee, **co-permittee**, and/or any other **person** responsible for an apparent violation of this **Ordinance**.

Retention-Based Practices

Permanent volume control practices designed to capture, retain, infiltrate and treat stormwater runoff from impervious areas of a development after permanent stabilization is achieved.

Right-of-Way

Public **right-of-way** dedicated as of the effective date of this **Ordinance** including features such as roads and sidewalks. [*Compare* **right-of-way** *with* **open space**.]

Riparian Environment

The vegetated area between aquatic and **upland** ecosystems adjacent to a **waterway** or body of water that provides **flood** management, habitat, and water quality enhancement or other amenities dependent upon the proximity to water.

Runoff

The water from melting snow and/or precipitation falling within a **watershed** drainage area that exceeds the infiltration capacity of the soil of that basin.

Sanitary Sewer

Sewers intended for the conveyance of wastewater. [Compare sanitary sewer with storm sewer and combined sewer].

Satellite Entity

Any municipality, municipal corporation, township government or other governmental body, sanitary district, or utility company that owns and/or operates a public sanitary sewer system, including any successors or assigns of those entities, that discharges directly and/or indirectly to the **District's** facilities.

Sediment

The suspended soil particles that are transported after **erosion** has occurred.

Sedimentation

The process when the velocity of wind or water is slowed sufficiently to allow the suspended soil particles to settle.

Sediment Basin

A structure or area that allows for the sedimentation of stormwater runoff.

Sediment Control Practice

A structure that is designed to intercept sediment in runoff.

Separate Sewer Area

An area where **stormwater runoff** is intended to be collected and conveyed in a **separate sewer**, pipe and/or ditch system to a point of discharge in a receiving natural or man-made **waterway** or other **stormwater facility**. This regulatory limit was established in the past to limit further expansion of areas served by **combined sewers**. This area does not represent the actual effective boundaries between combined and separate sewer sheds. Consult local sewer system atlas information for that level of detail. [*Compare separate sewer area with combined sewer area*].

Service Sewer

A sewer pipe constructed on private property, except for street crossing, that receives flow from a single **building** and connects to a sewer main or lateral.

Sewage

The water-carried human wastes or a combination of water-carried waters from residences, business **buildings**, institutions and industrial establishments, together with such ground, surface, storm or **other wastes** as may be present.

Sewage and Waste Control Ordinance

The District's current Sewage and Waste Control Ordinance.

Sewer Permit Ordinance

The District's Sewer Permit Ordinance as amended in July of 1999.

Sewerage System Permit

A permit required under the **Distric**t's **Sewer Permit Ordinance**.

Silt Fence

A temporary **sediment** control barrier consisting of entrenched geotextile filtering fabric attached to supporting posts that is designed to prevent **sediment**-laden **runoff** from leaving a **site**. The application of a **silt fence** is limited to containment of sheet flow **runoff** from small **drainage areas**.

Single-Family Home

Residential **parcel** containing less than three (3) dwelling units. **Single-family home parcels** subdivided after the effective date of this **Ordinance** are considered as **residential subdivision**. [*Compare single family home with residential subdivision* and **multi-family residential**].

Site

Parcel or parcels associated with a development or redevelopment.

Site Constraint

Condition on a **site** that limits the use of **retention-based practices**, such as contaminated soils, high **groundwater**, **wetlands**, **riparian environments**, or **floodway**. New **development** that is considered a **site constraint** includes, but is not limited to, gas stations, chemical storage facilities, and conservation areas. Poor soils and proposed utility conflicts are not considered **site constraints**.

Sole Permittee

A co-permittee applying for a Watershed Management Permit without a permittee. A sole permittee is solely and completely responsible for the perpetual operation and maintenance of all site infrastructure, including the sanitary sewer systems, as approved under the Watershed Management Permit. See §301.1.B(1) of this Ordinance for a complete list requirements. [Compare sole permittee with permittee and co-permittee].

Special Flood Hazard Area

An area having special **flood**, mudslide, mudflow, or flood-related **erosion** hazards and which is identified on a **FIRM** as Zone A, AO, A1-30, AE, A99, AH, VO, V1-30, VE, V, M, or E.

SSA

<u>Sewer Summit Agreement provides guidelines for achieving final compliance with sewer</u> rehabilitation requirements acceptable to IEPA, USEPA, municipal conferences and the District. The goals of the SSA are to prevent water pollution and eliminate BBs and adverse surcharging conditions that cause health hazards and financial losses.

SSO

<u>Sanitary Sewer Overflow</u>. Any release or diversion of untreated sanitary wastewater from the sanitary sewer system to a surface water, storm sewer or storm ditch or the ground due to circumstances including but not limited to rain, snow melt, power outage, collapsed sewers, equipment failure, widespread flooding and/or pumping

Stabilization or Stabilized

Establishment of vegetative cover, riprap, or other means that minimizes **erosion** on **disturbed areas**.

Standard Isolated Wetland

All isolated wetlands other than high quality isolated wetlands.

Standard Specifications for Water & Sewer Construction in Illinois

The current edition of the Standard Specifications for Water & Sewer Construction in Illinois published by the Illinois Society of Professional Engineers.

Start of Construction

The date the **building** or **development** permit was issued, provided the actual **start of construction**, repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition placement, or other improvement was within 180 days of the permit date. The actual start means either the first placement of permanent construction of a **structure** on a **site**, such as the pouring of slab or footings, the installation of piles, the construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation; or the placement of a **manufactured home** on a foundation. For **substantial improvements**, the actual **start of construction** means the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of a **building** whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the **building**.

Storm Event

The frequency rainfall event as published in **Bulletin 70**.

Storm Sewer

A sewer intended for the conveyance of only **stormwater runoff**. [*Compare* **storm sewer** *with* **combined sewer** and **sanitary sewer**].

Stormwater

Precipitation that falls to the ground that does not naturally infiltrate into the subsurface soil.

Stormwater Facility

Structures and measures both natural and artificial which serve as a means of draining surface and subsurface water from land including, but not limited to, ditches, channels, conduits, bridges, culverts, levees, ponds, natural and man-made impoundments, **wetlands**, **wetland buffers**, **riparian environment**, tile, swales, **storm sewers**, and **waterways**.

Structure

A **structure** is anything that is erected or constructed on or below ground including, but not limited to, **buildings**, **manufactured homes**, **accessory structures**, fences, sheds, tanks, **dams**, sewers, manholes, drop shafts, constructed channels, **outfalls**, parking lots, driveways, roads, sidewalks, and concrete patios.

Substantial Damage

Damage of any origin sustained by a **building** whereby the cost of restoring the **building** to its before damaged condition would equal or exceed 50 percent of the market value of the **building** before the damage occurred.

Substantial Improvement

Determined by the local **municipality** in accordance with **NFIP** regulation. **FEMA** defines substantial improvement as "Any repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or other improvement of a **building**, the cost of which improvement equals or exceeds, individually or in the aggregate, fifty percent (50%) of the fair market value of the **building**, determined from the equalized assessed value of the **building** before the **start of construction** of the improvement. This term includes **building**s which have incurred "**substantial damage**", regardless of the actual repair work

performed." The term "cost of improvement" includes the market value of volunteer labor and donated materials. The term "cost of improvement" does not, however, include either (a) any project for improvement of a **building** to correct existing violations of state or local health, sanitary, or safety code specifications that have been identified by the local code enforcement official and that are the minimum necessary to assure safe living conditions or (b) any alteration of a historic **building** or a historic district that will not preclude the **building**'s continued designation as a historic **building**.

Subwatershed

Major **watershed** division of a **watershed planning area** as identified in the **District**'s Detailed Watershed Plans.

Swink and Wilhelm Mean Coefficient of Conservatism (ĉ)

The mean coefficient of conservatism (ĉ) in an inventory group calculated by the sum of all coefficients in an inventory unit divided by the number of species (N).

Swink and Wilhelm Floristic Quality Index (FQI)

The index derived from floristic inventory data. The index is the arithmetic product of the average coefficient of conservatism (\hat{c}) and the square-root of species richness (VN) of an inventory unit.

TARP

The **District**'s <u>T</u>unnel <u>And</u> <u>R</u>eservoir <u>P</u>lan including all associated structures and appurtenances.

TGM

<u>T</u>echnical <u>G</u>uidance <u>M</u>anual. A manual prepared in conjunction with this **Ordinance** that provides technical information and guidance on how to comply with the provisions of this **Ordinance**, and as amended from time to time.

Tributary Area

All land drained by or contributing water to the same stream, **lake**, or **stormwater facility**, or which drains to a common point.

Underdrain

A below grade pipe containing openings that allow the drainage of **stormwater** from overlying soils, gravel, sand, aggregate, and other similar media. **Underdrains** include, but are not limited to, field tiles, drain tiles, and open jointed pipes.

Unrestricted Flow

Stormwater runoff from a **development** which is not directed to the required **detention facility** is unrestricted or uncontrolled release or flow. The areas generating unrestricted flow are referred to as unrestricted or uncontrolled release rate areas.

Upland

Terrain lying above the level where water flows or where flooding occurs.

Upstream Tributary Flow

Stormwater runoff or groundwater flows from tributary areas upstream of a development site. Upstream tributary flows can be bypass flows.

USEPA

United States Environmental Protection Agency

Variance

A limited grant of relief by the **District** from the term(s) or condition(s) of this **Ordinance**.

Volume Control Practices

Permanent practices designed to capture, retain, and infiltrate **stormwater runoff** from **impervious areas** of a **development** after permanent **stabilization** is achieved.

Volume Control Storage

The first inch of **runoff** from the **impervious area** of **development** on the **site**.

Watershed

Tributary areas discharging to a common point.

Watershed Management Permit

A permit established by this **Ordinance** that is issued by the **District** prior to the approval of a **building** or construction permit by the appropriate unit of local government. The issuance of a **Watershed Management Permit** signifies that the proposed **development** is in compliance with the provisions of this **Ordinance**.

Watershed Planning Area

The area considered in a specific **DWP** and depicted in <u>Appendix E</u> of this **Ordinance**.

Water Reclamation Facility

Facility designed to treat **sewage**.

Water Resource Benefit

A decrease in **flood** elevations, a reduction in **flood** damages to **structures** upstream or downstream of the **development site**, a reduction in peak flow rates, and/or enhancement of existing water-related environmental resources created by the **development** which is greater than the minimum **Ordinance** requirements.

Waterway

Navigable body of water such as a stream, creek, canal, channel, or river.

Wetlands

Areas which are inundated or saturated by surface or ground water (**hydrology**) at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, under normal circumstances, a prevalence of vegetation (hydrophytes) typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions (hydric soils). **Wetlands** generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas.

Wetland Buffer

The vegetated area adjacent to **wetlands** left open for the purpose of eliminating or minimizing adverse impacts to such areas.

Wetland Impact

Wetlands that are directly or indirectly disturbed or otherwise adversely affected, whether temporarily or permanently, by filling, excavation, **flooding**, or drainage which results from implementation of a **development** activity.

Wetland Mitigation

The process of offsetting wetland impacts through the restoration, creation, enhancement, and preservation of wetlands.

Wetland Mitigation Bank

A **site** where **wetlands** are restored, established, enhanced, and/or preserved for the purpose of providing compensatory mitigation for authorized impacts. In general, a mitigation bank sells compensatory mitigation credits (acres) to the **co-permittee**(s), whose obligation to provide compensatory mitigation is then transferred to the mitigation bank sponsor.

Wetland Specialist

A person having skill in the art and science of identifying, delineating, and assessing wetlands.

TGM APPENDIX A REVISION TABLE

No.	Revision Description	Date	
0	Original TGM and WMO	5/1/2014	
1	July 10, 2014 WMO Amendment definitions	8/1/2015	
2	February 15, 2018 WMO Amendment definitions	2/15/2018	
	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
-------------------	-------------	-------------------------	------------------
COMMONITY NAME	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0609J
		8/19/2008	17031C0617J
		8/19/2008	17031C0628J
ALSIP	170055	8/19/2008	17031C0636J
		8/19/2008	17031C0637J
		8/19/2008	17031C0638J
		8/19/2008	17031C0639J
		8/19/2008	17031C0044J
		8/19/2008	17031C0063J
		8/19/2008	17031C0064J
		8/19/2008	17031C0182J
		8/19/2008	17031C0184J
		8/19/2008	17031C0192J
ARLINGTON HEIGHTS	170056	8/19/2008	17031C0201J
		8/19/2008	17031C0202J
		8/19/2008	17031C0203J
		8/19/2008	17031C0204J
		8/19/2008	17031C0211J
		8/19/2008	17031C0212J
		8/19/2008	17031C0020J
BARRINGTON	170057	8/19/2008	17031C00381
		8/19/2008	17031000151
		8/19/2008	17031000201
BARRINGTON HILLS	170058	8/19/2008	17031001551
5,		8/19/2008	1703100156
		8/19/2008	17031001571
		8/19/2008	17031001631
	170059	8/19/2008	1703100164
BARTLETT		8/19/2008	17031001681
		8/19/2008	17031003051
		8/19/2008	17031004871
	171007	8/19/2008	17031C04881
BEDFORD PARK		8/19/2008	17031C04891
		8/19/2008	17031006061
		8/19/2008	17031003691
	170061	8/19/2008	17031003881
BELLWOOD		8/19/2008	17031004571
		8/19/2008	17031C0476
BENSENVILLE	170200	8/19/2008	17031003581
	170200	8/19/2008	17031003691
BERKELEY	171039	8/19/2008	17031003561
		8/19/2008	17031004831
BERWYN	171036	8/19/2008	17031004835
		8/19/2008	17031004845
BLUE ISLAND		0/19/2008 8/10/2009	17021006201
	170064	0/13/2008	17021006421
	170004	0/15/2008	17021006441
		0/15/2008 8/10/2009	17021006451
		0/15/2008	170310043J
		δ/19/2008 8/10/2008	1703100489J
BRIDGEVIEW	170065	0/13/2008	17021006001
		δ/ 19/2008 8/10/2009	17021006001
		0/13/2008	170310008J
BROADVIEW	170067	8/19/2008	1/031C0476J
		8/19/2008	1/031C04//J

COMMUNITY NAME	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0478J
BROOKEIELD	170066	8/19/2008	17031C0479J
	1,0000	8/19/2008	17031C0486J
		8/19/2008	17031C0487J
BUFFALO GROVE	170068	8/19/2008	17031C0063J
	1,0000	8/19/2008	17031C0064J
BUBBANK	170069	8/19/2008	17031C0606J
	1,0000	8/19/2008	17031C0607J
		8/19/2008	17031C0664J
BURNHAM	170070	8/19/2008	17031C0668J
		8/19/2008	17031C0669J
		8/19/2008	17031C0466J
		8/19/2008	17031C0468J
BURR RIDGE	170071	8/19/2008	17031C0469J
		8/19/2008	17031C0581J
		8/19/2008	17031C0582J
		8/19/2008	17031C0664J
		8/19/2008	17031C0668J
		8/19/2008	17031C0669J
		8/19/2008	17031C0752J
CALUMET CITY	170072	8/19/2008	17031C0754J
		8/19/2008	17031C0756J
		8/19/2008	17031C0757J
		8/19/2008	17031C0758J
		8/19/2008	17031C0759J
		8/19/2008	17031C0643J
CALUMET PARK	170073	8/19/2008	17031C0644J
		8/19/2008	17031C0645J
		8/19/2008	17031C0742J
		8/19/2008	17031C0743J
		8/19/2008	17031C0744J
CHICAGO HEIGHTS	170075	8/19/2008	17031C0763J
		8/19/2008	17031C0806J
		8/19/2008	17031C0807J
		8/19/2008	17031C0826J
		8/19/2008	17031C0606J
CHICAGO RIDGE	170076	8/19/2008	17031C0607J
	1,00,0	8/19/2008	17031C0608J
		8/19/2008	17031C0609J
		8/19/2008	17031C0214J
		8/19/2008	17031C0218J
		8/19/2008	17031C0219J
CHICAGO		8/19/2008	1/031C0243J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0244J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0265J
	470074	8/19/2008	1/031C02/0J
	170074	8/19/2008	1/03100356J
		8/19/2008	1/03100357J
		8/19/2008	1/03100358J
		8/19/2008	1703100359J
		8/19/2008	1/03100376J
		8/19/2008	1703100378J
		8/19/2008	1703100382J
		8/19/2008	17031C0385J

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0386J
		8/19/2008	17031C0387J
		8/19/2008	17031C0401J
		8/19/2008	17031C0402J
		8/19/2008	17031C0404J
		8/19/2008	17031C0410J
		8/19/2008	17031C0415J
		8/19/2008	17031C0416J
		8/19/2008	17031C0417J
		8/19/2008	17031C0418J
		8/19/2008	17031C0419J
		8/19/2008	17031C0438J
		8/19/2008	17031C0440J
		8/19/2008	17031C0484J
		8/19/2008	17031C0491J
		8/19/2008	17031C0492J
		8/19/2008	17031C0503J
		8/19/2008	17031C0504J
		8/19/2008	17031C0506J
		8/19/2008	17031C0507J
CHICAGO	170074	8/19/2008	17031C0508J
		8/19/2008	17031C0526J
		8/19/2008	17031C0528J
		8/19/2008	17031C0529J
		8/19/2008	17031C0540J
		8/19/2008	17031C0545J
		8/19/2008	17031C0628J
		8/19/2008	17031C0636J
		8/19/2008	17031C0637J
		8/19/2008	17031C0645J
		8/19/2008	17031C0655J
		8/19/2008	17031C0658J
		8/19/2008	17031C06591
		8/19/2008	17031C0660J
		8/19/2008	17031C06611
		8/19/2008	17031C06621
		8/19/2008	17031C0663J
		8/19/2008	17031C0664J
		8/19/2008	17031C0668J
		8/19/2008	17031C0669J
		8/19/2008	17031C0670J
		8/19/2008	17031C04841
CICERO	17077	8/19/2008	17031C0503J
		8/19/2008	17031C0728
		8/19/2008	17031C07291
COUNTRY CLUB HILLS	170078	8/19/2008	17031C0736
		8/19/2008	17031C07371
		8/19/2008	17031C04671
COUNTRYSIDE	1	8/19/2008	17031C04691
	170079	8/19/2008	17031C04861
		8/19/2008	17031C04881
		8/19/2008	17031C06171
		8/19/2008	17031006191
CRESTWOOD	170080	8/19/2008	17031006361
		8/19/2008	17031006381

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
CRESTWOOD	170080	8/19/2008	17031C0639J
		8/19/2008	17031C0069J
DEERFIELD	170361	8/19/2008	17031C0088J
		8/19/2008	17031C0089J
		8/19/2008	17031C0208J
		8/19/2008	17031C0209J
		8/19/2008	17031C0212J
		8/19/2008	17031C0214J
		8/19/2008	17031C0216J
	170001	8/19/2008	17031C0217J
DES PLAINES	170081	8/19/2008	17031C0218J
		8/19/2008	17031C0219J
		8/19/2008	17031C0236J
		8/19/2008	17031C0238J
		8/19/2008	17031C0357J
		8/19/2008	17031C0376J
		8/19/2008	17031C0643J
DIXMOOR	170082	8/19/2008	17031C0644J
		8/19/2008	17031C0731J
		8/19/2008	17031C0644J
		8/19/2008	17031C0663J
		8/19/2008	17031C0664J
DOLTON	170083	8/19/2008	17031C0732J
		8/19/2008	17031C0751J
		8/19/2008	17031C0752J
	.=	8/19/2008	17031C0733J
EAST HAZEL CREST	170085	8/19/2008	17031C0734J
ELGIN	170087	8/19/2008	17031C0142J
		8/19/2008	17031C0144J
		8/19/2008	17031C0155J
		8/19/2008	17031C0161J
		8/19/2008	17031C0163J
		8/19/2008	17031C0305J
		8/19/2008	17031C0193J
		8/19/2008	17031C0194J
	170088	8/19/2008	17031C0211J
		8/19/2008	17031C0213J
ELK GROVE VILLAGE		8/19/2008	17031C0214J
		8/19/2008	17031C0218J
		8/19/2008	17031C0331J
		8/19/2008	17031C0332J
		8/19/2008	17031C0351J
ELMWOOD PARK	170089	8/19/2008	17031C0387J
EVANSTON		8/19/2008	17031C0253J
		8/19/2008	17031C0255J
	170090	8/19/2008	17031C0260J
		8/19/2008	17031C0265J
		8/19/2008	17031C0270J
EVERGREEN PARK	170733	8/19/2008	17031C0628J
		8/19/2008	17031C0737J
		8/19/2008	17031C0739J
FLOSSMOOR	170091	8/19/2008	17031C0741J
		8/19/2008	17031C0742J
		8/19/2008	17031C0743J

CUMMONITY NAME NEP NUMBER FFFECTIVE FRM PANEL NUMBERS FLOSSMOOR 170091 8/19/2008 170310744J FORD HEIGHTS 170084 8/19/2008 170310774J FORD HEIGHTS 170084 8/19/2008 170310778J FORD FEIGHTS 170092 8/19/2008 17031008201 FOREST PARK 170092 8/19/2008 1703100491J FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 1703100491J FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 1703100491J FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 170310036J 8/19/2008 170310036J 8/19/2008 170310036J S/19/2008 170310023J 8/19/2008 170310023J S/19/2008 170310023J 8/19/2008 170		COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
FLOSSMOOR 17091 8/19/2008 1703107744 FORD HEIGHTS 170084 8/19/2008 1703107631 FORD HEIGHTS 170084 8/19/2008 17031007631 FORD HEIGHTS 170092 8/19/2008 1703100826.0 SUP2008 1703100826.0 8/19/2008 1703100827.0 FOREST PARK 170092 8/19/2008 1703100827.0 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031004341 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031004341 FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 17031003581 8/19/2008 17031003561 8/19/2008 17031003561 8/19/2008 17031003581 8/19/2008 17031003581 8/19/2008 17031003561 8/19/2008 17031003581 8/19/2008 17031003661 8/19/2008 1703100361 8/19/2008 1703100381 8/19/2008 1703100381 8/19/2008 1703100231 8/19/2008 1703100231 8/19/2008 1703100231 8/19/2008 170	COMMUNITY NAME	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
FORD HEIGHTS 170084 8/19/2008 17031C07531 FORD HEIGHTS 170084 8/19/2008 17031C07641 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C07631 FORD HEIGHTS 170092 8/19/2008 17031C07631 FOREST PARK 170092 8/19/2008 17031C07731 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C04844 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C04931 FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 17031C04931 S/19/2008 17031C03591 8/19/2008 17031C03591 S/19/2008 17031C03501 8/19/2008 17031C03501 B/19/2008 17031C03501 8/19/2008 17031C03501 B/19/2008 17031C03501 8/19/2008 17031C03510 B/19/2008 17031C03510 8/19/2008 17031C03211 B/19/2008 17031C02511 8/19/2008 17031C02511 B/19/2008 17031C02201 8/19/2008 17031C02211 B/19/2008 17031C02321 8/19/2008	FLOSSMOOR	170091	8/19/2008	17031C0744J
FORD HEIGHTS 170084 8/19/2008 17031C077641 170084 8/19/2008 17031C08261 8/19/2008 17031C08271 FOREST PARK 170092 8/19/2008 17031C08271 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C08271 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C04921 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C04921 FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 17031C03581 8/19/2008 17031C03561 8/19/2008 17031C03563 S/19/2008 17031C03661 8/19/2008 17031C03661 S/19/2008 17031C03781 8/19/2008 17031C03781 S/19/2008 17031C03780 8/19/2008 17031C02511 S/19/2008 17031C02511 8/19/2008 17031C02511 S/19/2008 17031C02511 8/19/2008 17031C02211 S/19/2008 17031C02210 8/19/2008 17031C02211 S/19/2008 17031C02210 8/19/2008 17031C02211 S/19/2008 17			8/19/2008	17031C0763J
FORD HEIGHTS 170084 8/19/2008 17031C07581 FOREST PARK 170092 8/19/2008 17031C08271 FOREST PARK 170092 8/19/2008 17031C048271 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C04821 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C04911 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C04921 FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 17031C03581 S(19/2008 17031C03781 8/19/2008 17031C03781 S(19/2008 17031C03781 8/19/2008 17031C03781 S(19/2008 17031C03781 8/19/2008 17031C03781 S(19/2008 17031C03781 8/19/2008 17031C03781 S(19/2008 17031C03781 8/19/2008 17031C03731 S(19/2008 17031C03731 8/19/2008 17031C03231 S(19/2008 17031C03231 8/19/2008 17031C03241 S(19/2008 17031C02261 8/19/2008 17031C02271 S(19/2008 17031C02241 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031C0764J
8/19/2008 17031C0826j 8/19/2008 17031C0827j FOREST PARK 170092 8/19/2008 17031C0827j FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C0849j FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C0492j FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C0492j FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 17031C0350ji S/19/2008 17031C0350ji 8/19/2008 17031C0350ji FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 17031C0378i S/19/2008 17031C0378i 8/19/2008 17031C0378i S/19/2008 17031C0378i 8/19/2008 17031C0231i S/19/2008 17031C0231i 8/19/2008 17031C0232i S/19/2008 17031C0232i 8/19/2008 17031C0232i S/19/2008 17031C022i 8/19/2008 17031C022i S/19/2008 17031C022i 8/19/2008 17031C022i S/19/2008 17031C022i 8/19/2008 17031C022i S/19/2008 17031C022i 8	FORD HEIGHTS	170084	8/19/2008	17031C0768J
Bit 8/19/2008 17031C08271 FOREST PARK 170092 8/19/2008 17031C03291 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C04841 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C04921 S/19/2008 17031C04921 8/19/2008 17031C03581 S/19/2008 17031C03581 8/19/2008 17031C03591 S/19/2008 17031C03591 8/19/2008 17031C03591 S/19/2008 17031C03591 8/19/2008 17031C03591 S/19/2008 17031C03591 8/19/2008 17031C03661 S/19/2008 17031C0361 8/19/2008 17031C03781 S/19/2008 17031C03781 8/19/2008 17031C02321 S/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02311 S/19/2008 17031C02321 8/19/2008 17031C02321 S/19/2008 17031C02321 8/19/2008 17031C02321 S/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02321 S/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02311			8/19/2008	17031C0826J
FOREST PARK 170092 8/19/2008 17031C0389J FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C0477 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C0491J 8/19/2008 17031C0491J 8/19/2008 17031C0492J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0373J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C037J 8/19/2008 17031C0373J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0227J 8/19/2008 17031C0226J 8/19/2008 17031C0227J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 <td></td> <td></td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0827J</td>			8/19/2008	17031C0827J
FOREST PARK 170092 8/19/2008 17031C04771 FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C0484J FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C049J RAMELIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 17031C049J SCHERNER 8/19/2008 17031C0358J 8/19/2008 17031C0359J SCHERNER 8/19/2008 17031C0359J 8/19/2008 17031C0359J SCHERNER 170094 8/19/2008 17031C037J 8/19/2008 17031C037J SCHENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 17031C032JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ SCHENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ SCHENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ SCHENVIEW 170096 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ SCHENVIEW 170096 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ SCHENVIEW 170096 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ SCHENVIEW </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0389J</td>			8/19/2008	17031C0389J
FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C0484J FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031C0491J FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 17031C0492J FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 17031C0358J 8/19/2008 17031C0356J 8/19/2008 17031C0367J 8/19/2008 17031C0367J 8/19/2008 17031C0367J 8/19/2008 17031C0373J 8/19/2008 17031C037J 8/19/2008 17031C036J 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C022BJ 8/19/2008 17031C022BJ 8/19/2008 17031C022BJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 <td>FOREST PARK</td> <td>170092</td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0477J</td>	FOREST PARK	170092	8/19/2008	17031C0477J
FOREST VIEW 170093 8/19/2008 17031004911 8/19/2008 17031004921 8/19/2008 17031004921 8/19/2008 17031004921 8/19/2008 17031004921 8/19/2008 1703103581 8/19/2008 1703103581 8/19/2008 1703103561 8/19/2008 1703103661 8/19/2008 1703103661 8/19/2008 1703103861 8/19/2008 17031003781 8/19/2008 1703100931 8/19/2008 1703100931 8/19/2008 1703100931 8/19/2008 17031001313 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002231 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031004841
Income Income Income Income Billy2008 Incolledagi Incolledagi Incolledagi Billy2008 Incolledagi	FOREST VIEW	170093	8/19/2008	1703100494
GLENVIEW 170094 8/19/2008 170310358J GLENVIEW 170094 8/19/2008 170310358J GLENVIEW 170094 8/19/2008 170310357J GLENVIEW 170095 8/19/2008 170310367J S(19/2008 1703100367J 8/19/2008 170310037BJ GLENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 1703100231J 8/19/2008 1703100231J 8/19/2008 1703100231J 8/19/2008 1703100231J 8/19/2008 1703100231J 8/19/2008 1703100221J 8/19/2008 1703100221J 8/19/2008 1703100221J 8/19/2008 1703100221J 8/19/2008 1703100225J 8/19/2008 1703100225J 8/19/2008 1703100226J 1703100226J 8/19/2008 1703100226J 8/19/2008 1703100223J 8/19/2008 170310023J 8/19/2008 170310023J GLENVIEW 170096 8/19/2008 170310023J 8/19/2008 170310023J GLENVIEW 170097 8/19/2008 170310023J		1,0000	8/19/2008	17031004921
FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 170310350/ 170310359 FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 170310359/ 170310378] GLENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 1703100378] GLENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 1703100394) 8/19/2008 170310094) 8/19/2008 170310094) GLENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 1703100231) 8/19/2008 1703100231) 8/19/2008 1703100231) 8/19/2008 1703100231) 8/19/2008 17031002251 8/19/2008 17031002261 8/19/2008 17031002291 8/19/2008 17031002261 8/19/2008 17031002291 8/19/2008 17031002281 8/19/2008 17031002291 8/19/2008 17031002231 8/19/2008 17031002231 8/19/2008 17031002231 8/19/2008 17031002341 8/19/2008 17031002341 8/19/2008 17031002341 8/19/2008 17031007431 8/19/2008 17031007431 GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031003581
FRANKLIN PARK 170094 8/19/2008 17031C0356j 8/19/2008 17031C0367j 8/19/2008 17031C0367j 8/19/2008 17031C0378j 8/19/2008 17031C0393j 8/19/2008 17031C0231j 8/19/2008 17031C0231j 8/19/2008 17031C0232j 8/19/2008 17031C0223j 8/19/2008 17031C0223j 8/19/2008 17031C0226j 8/19/2008 17031C0226j 8/19/2008 17031C0226j 8/19/2008 17031C0223j 8/19/2008 17031C0231j 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0762j 8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17			8/19/2008	17031003501
FRANKLIN PARK 170094 3/19/2008 17031C0350J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0367J 8/19/2008 17031C0378J 8/19/2008 17031C0336J 8/19/2008 17031C0034J 8/19/2008 17031C0034J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0221J 8/19/2008 17031C0225J 8/19/2008 17031C0226J 8/19/2008 17031C0226J 8/19/2008 17031C0228J 8/19/2008 17031C0228J 8/19/2008 17031C0228J 8/19/2008 17031C0228J 8/19/2008 17031C0223J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C076J 8/19/2008 <td></td> <td></td> <td>8/10/2008</td> <td>1703100355</td>			8/10/2008	1703100355
GLENVIEW 17091008 1703100378/J GLENVIEW 170095 8/19/2008 170310378/J GLENVIEW 170095 8/19/2008 170310378/J GLENVIEW 170095 8/19/2008 1703100378/J GLENVIEW 170095 8/19/2008 1703100378/J GLENVIEW 170095 8/19/2008 1703100231J GLENVIEW 170096 8/19/2008 1703102251J SGLENVIEW 170096 8/19/2008 170310227J 8/19/2008 170310227J 8/19/2008 170310227J 8/19/2008 170310227J 8/19/2008 170310223J 8/19/2008 170310223J 8/19/2008 170310223J 8/19/2008 170310223J 8/19/2008 170310233J 8/19/2008 170310233J 8/19/2008 170310233J 8/19/2008 170310233J 8/19/2008 170310233J 8/19/2008 1703100231J 8/19/2008 1703100231J GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 1703100231J 8/19/2008	FRANKLIN PARK	170094	8/10/2008	17031003671
GLENCOE 3/13/2008 17031C0386J GLENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 17031C0386J S(19/2008) 17031C0393J 8/19/2008 17031C0393J S(19/2008) 17031C0331J 8/19/2008 17031C0331J S(19/2008) 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J S(19/2008) 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J S(19/2008) 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0221J S(19/2008) 17031C0226J 8/19/2008 17031C0228J S(19/2008) 17031C0228J 8/19/2008 17031C023J S(19/2008) 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C024J S(19/2008) 17031C024J 8/19/2008 17031C074J S(19/2008) 17031C024J 8/19/2008 17031C076J <td></td> <td></td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031003791</td>			8/19/2008	17031003791
GLENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 1703100931 GLENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 1703100931 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031002311 8/19/2008 17031022511 8/19/2008 17031002271 8/19/2008 1703102261 8/19/2008 17031002271 8/19/2008 17031002271 8/19/2008 17031002291 8/19/2008 17031002291 8/19/2008 17031002291 8/19/2008 17031002291 8/19/2008 17031002331 8/19/2008 17031002331 8/19/2008 17031002341 8/19/2008 17031002341 8/19/2008 17031007611 GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 17031007611 S(19/2008 17031007611 8/19/2008 17031007613 GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 17031007613 S(19/2008 17031007613 8/19/2008 1703			8/19/2008	17031003785
GLENCOE 170095 3/19/2008 17031C00941 8/19/2008 17031C0131 3/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02311 3/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02311 3/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02311 3/19/2008 17031C02071 8/19/2008 17031C02071 3/19/2008 17031C02201 8/19/2008 17031C02201 3/19/2008 17031C02201 8/19/2008 17031C02201 3/19/2008 17031C02201 8/19/2008 17031C02201 3/19/2008 17031C02201 8/19/2008 17031C02231 3/19/2008 17031C0231 8/19/2008 17031C02341 3/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02411 3/19/2008 17031C07611 8/19/2008 17031C07611 3/19/2008 17031C07611 8/19/2008 17031C07611 3/19/2008 17031C07611 60LF 170097 3/19/2008 17031C07611 60LF 170097 3/19/2008 1703			8/10/2008	1703100300
Bit Bit <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031000933</td>		-	8/19/2008	17031000933
GLENCOE 170095 8/19/2008 1703100131 8/19/2008 1703102231 8/19/2008 1703102231 8/19/2008 1703102231 8/19/2008 1703102231 8/19/2008 17031022511 8/19/2008 17031022071 8/19/2008 17031022071 8/19/2008 1703102201 8/19/2008 1703102261 8/19/2008 1703102221 8/19/2008 1703102221 8/19/2008 1703102221 8/19/2008 1703102231 8/19/2008 1703102231 8/19/2008 1703102231 8/19/2008 17031022361 8/19/2008 17031022361 8/19/2008 17031022361 8/19/2008 1703102361 8/19/2008 1703102361 8/19/2008 17031002361 8/19/2008 17031002361 8/19/2008 17031002371 8/19/2008 17031007611 8/19/2008 17031007611 8/19/2008 17031007611 GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 17031007611 GOLF 170098 8/19/2008 17031007621 </td <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0094J</td>		-	8/19/2008	17031C0094J
8/19/2008 1/031C0231 8/19/2008 17031C0231 8/19/2008 17031C02511 8/19/2008 17031C02511 8/19/2008 17031C02511 8/19/2008 17031C02251 8/19/2008 17031C02201 8/19/2008 17031C02201 8/19/2008 17031C02201 8/19/2008 17031C02201 8/19/2008 17031C02201 8/19/2008 17031C02231 8/19/2008 17031C02331 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02411 8/19/2008 17031C07421 8/19/2008 17031C07421 8/19/2008 17031C07611 8/19/2008 17031C07611 8/19/2008 17031C07621 8/19/2008 17031C0761 8/19/2008 17031C0761 8/19/2008 17031C07621 8/	GLENCOE	170095	8/19/2008	1/031C0113J
GLENVIEW 8/19/2008 1/031C025JJ 8/19/2008 17031C025JJ 8/19/2008 17031C0207J 8/19/2008 17031C0207J 8/19/2008 17031C0226J 8/19/2008 17031C0225J 8/19/2008 17031C0225J 8/19/2008 17031C0223J 8/19/2008 17031C0223J 8/19/2008 17031C0223J 8/19/2008 17031C0223J 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ 8/19/2008 17031C024JJ 8/19/2008 17031C076JJ 8/19/2008 17031C023JJ			8/19/2008	17031C0231J
GLENVIEW 17031C02071 8/19/2008 17031C02071 8/19/2008 17031C02071 8/19/2008 17031C02071 8/19/2008 17031C02261 8/19/2008 17031C02271 8/19/2008 17031C02281 8/19/2008 17031C02291 8/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02411 8/19/2008 17031C07611 8/19/2008 17031C07621 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>8/19/2008</td><td>17031C0232J</td></td<>			8/19/2008	17031C0232J
GLENVIEW 170096 17031C02071 8/19/2008 17031C022091 8/19/2008 17031C02291 8/19/2008 17031C02271 8/19/2008 17031C02291 8/19/2008 17031C02291 8/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02311 8/19/2008 17031C02331 8/19/2008 17031C02331 8/19/2008 17031C02331 8/19/2008 17031C02331 8/19/2008 17031C02331 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02411 8/19/2008 17031C07621 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C02331 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C07631 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02411 <			8/19/2008	1/031C0251J
GLENVIEW 170096 8/19/2008 17031C0220j 8/19/2008 17031C0220j 8/19/2008 17031C0220j 8/19/2008 17031C0220j 8/19/2008 17031C0220j 8/19/2008 17031C0220j 8/19/2008 17031C0220j 8/19/2008 17031C0231j 8/19/2008 17031C0231j 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0241j 8/19/2008 17031C0241j 8/19/2008 17031C0742j 8/19/2008 17031C0761j 8/19/2008 17031C0761j GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 17031C0761j 8/19/2008 17031C0761j 8/19/2008 17031C0761j GOLF 170098 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 60LF 170098 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0		170096	8/19/2008	17031C0207J
GLENVIEW 170096 8/19/2008 17031C0226j 8/19/2008 1703100227j 8/19/2008 1703100227j 8/19/2008 1703100228j 8/19/2008 1703100223j 8/19/2008 1703100231j 8/19/2008 1703100231j 8/19/2008 1703100231j 8/19/2008 1703100231j 8/19/2008 1703100231j 8/19/2008 1703100234j 8/19/2008 1703100236j 8/19/2008 1703100236j 8/19/2008 1703100237j 8/19/2008 1703100241j 8/19/2008 1703100241j 8/19/2008 1703100761j 8/19/2008 1703100761j 8/19/2008 1703100761j GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 1703100761j 6/0LF 170097 8/19/2008 1703100763j 8/19/2008 1703100234j 8/19/2008 1703100234j 6/0LF 170098 8/19/2008 1703100234j 8/19/2008 1703100234j 8/19/2008 1703100234j 8/19/2008 1703100234j 8/19/2008 17031	GLENVIEW		8/19/2008	17031C0209J
GLENVIEW 170096 8/19/2008 17031C0227J 8/19/2008 17031C0228J 8/19/2008 17031C0228J 8/19/2008 17031C0223J 8/19/2008 17031C0223J 8/19/2008 17031C0223J 8/19/2008 17031C0223J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 17031C0761J S(19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0762J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J GOLF 170098 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0242J			8/19/2008	17031C0226J
GLENVIEW 170096 8/19/2008 17031C02281 8/19/2008 17031C0229J 8/19/2008 17031C0223J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0237J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 17031C0742J 8/19/2008 17031C076J 8/19/2008 17031C076J GOLF 170097 8/19/2008 17031C0233J GOLF 170098 8/19/2008 17031C0234J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J			8/19/2008	17031C0227J
GLENVIEW 170096 8/19/2008 17031C0229J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0233J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0237J 8/19/2008 17031C0237J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0742J GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 17031C076J 8/19/2008 17031C076J 8/19/2008 17031C076J GOLF 170097 8/19/2008 17031C0234J B/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0241J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0241J			8/19/2008	17031C0228J
8/19/2008 17031C0231J 8/19/2008 17031C0233J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0237J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C074J 8/19/2008 17031C076J 8/19/2008 17031C076J 8/19/2008 17031C076J 8/19/2008 17031C076J 8/19/2008 17031C076J 8/19/2008 17031C076J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C024J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031C0229J
8/19/2008 17031C0233J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0237J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0742J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0762J 8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C023J 8/19/2008 17031C024J 8/19/2008 </td <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0231J</td>			8/19/2008	17031C0231J
8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0237J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0742J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0762J 8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0233J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0168J			8/19/2008	17031C0233J
8/19/2008 17031C0236J 8/19/2008 17031C0237J 8/19/2008 17031C0237J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0742J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0762J 8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C024J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J			8/19/2008	17031C0234J
8/19/2008 17031C0237J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0742J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0762J 8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C024JJ 8/19/2008 17031C0168J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J			8/19/2008	17031C0236J
8/19/2008 17031C0241J GLENWOOD 8/19/2008 17031C0742J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0762J 8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0168J			8/19/2008	17031C0237J
Best State Second State <td></td> <td></td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0241J</td>			8/19/2008	17031C0241J
GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 17031C0761J 8/19/2008 17031C0762J 8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J GOLF 8/19/2008 17031C0233J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0242J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0168J			8/19/2008	17031C0742J
GLENWOOD 170097 8/19/2008 17031C0762J 8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J BOLF 170098 8/19/2008 17031C0233J B/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C024J B/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J B/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0168J			8/19/2008	17031C0761J
8/19/2008 17031C0763J 8/19/2008 17031C0764J B/19/2008 17031C0234J GOLF 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0169J	GLENWOOD	170097	8/19/2008	17031C0762J
8/19/2008 17031C0764J GOLF 8/19/2008 17031C0233J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0169J			8/19/2008	17031C0763J
B 8/19/2008 17031C0233J GOLF 8/19/2008 17031C0234J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0169J			8/19/2008	17031C0764J
B 8/19/2008 17031C0234J B 8/19/2008 17031C0241J B 8/19/2008 17031C0242J B 8/19/2008 17031C0242J B 8/19/2008 17031C0242J B 8/19/2008 17031C0168J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0169J			8/19/2008	17031C0233J
HANOVER PARK 170098 8/19/2008 17031C0241J 8/19/2008 17031C0242J 8/19/2008 17031C0168J 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0169J	COLE	170009	8/19/2008	17031C0234J
8/19/2008 17031C0242J HANOVER PARK 8/19/2008 17031C0168J 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0169J	GOLF	170098	8/19/2008	17031C0241J
8/19/2008 17031C0168J HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0169J			8/19/2008	17031C0242J
HANOVER PARK 170099 8/19/2008 17031C0169J	HANOVER PARK		8/19/2008	17031C0168J
		170099	8/19/2008	17031C0169J
8/19/2008 17031C0307J	1		8/19/2008	17031C0307J
8/19/2008 17031C0643J			8/19/2008	17031C0643J
8/19/2008 17031C0644J			8/19/2008	17031C0644J
8/19/2008 17031C0731J			8/19/2008	17031C0731J
HARVEY 1/0100 8/19/2008 17031C0732J	HARVEY	1/0100	8/19/2008	17031C0732J
8/19/2008 17031C0734J	1		8/19/2008	17031C0734J
8/19/2008 17031C0751J	1		8/19/2008	17031C0751J
HARWOOD HEIGHTS 170101 8/19/2008 17031C03851	HARWOOD HEIGHTS	170101	8/19/2008	17031C0385J

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0729J
		8/19/2008	17031C0733J
HAZEL CREST	170102	8/19/2008	17031C0734J
		8/19/2008	17031C0737J
		8/19/2008	17031C0601J
		8/19/2008	17031C0602J
		8/19/2008	17031C0603J
HICKORY HILLS	170103	8/19/2008	17031C0604J
		8/19/2008	17031C0606J
		8/19/2008	17031C0608J
		8/19/2008	17031C0369J
HILLSIDE	170104	8/19/2008	17031C0456J
		8/19/2008	17031C0457J
		8/19/2008	17031C0458J
		8/19/2008	17031004661
HINSDALE	170105	8/19/2008	17031004671
		8/19/2008	17031004681
		8/19/2008	17031004691
		8/19/2008	17031004691
		8/19/2008	17031004861
		8/19/2008	17031004871
HODGKINS	170106	8/19/2008	17031004881
nobelaite	1/0100	8/19/2008	17031004891
		8/19/2008	17031005821
		8/19/2008	17031006011
		8/19/2008	17031001551
	170107	8/19/2008	17031001571
		8/19/2008	17031001581
		8/19/2008	17031001591
		8/19/2008	17031001611
		8/19/2008	17031001621
		8/19/2008	17031001661
		8/19/2008	17031001671
HOFFMAN ESTATES		8/19/2008	17031001761
		8/19/2008	17031001781
		8/19/2008	17031001791
		8/19/2008	17031001861
		8/19/2008	17031001871
		8/19/2008	17031001881
		8/19/2008	17031001891
		8/19/2008	17031001911
HOMETOWN	171040	8/19/2008	17031006301
Homerown	1/1040	8/19/2008	1703100300
		8/19/2008	17031007231
		8/19/2008	17031007341
HOMEWOOD	170109	8/19/2000	17031007371
		8/19/2008	17031007371
		8/19/2000	17031007413
		0/13/2000	1702100/423
INDIAN HEAD PARK	170110	0/13/2000	1702100400J
		0/13/2008	17031000201
		0/19/2008 8/10/2008	17031C00201
INVERNESS	170111	8/19/2008 8/10/2009	17021000201
	-	8/19/2008	1703100157
		0/19/2008	1/0310012/1

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0176J
	470444	8/19/2008	17031C0177J
INVERNESS	1/0111	8/19/2008	17031C0178J
		8/19/2008	17031C0179J
		8/19/2008	17031C0488J
	170112	8/19/2008	17031C0489J
JUSTICE	170112	8/19/2008	17031C0601J
		8/19/2008	17031C0602J
	470442	8/19/2008	17031C0253J
KENILWORTH	1/0113	8/19/2008	17031C0255J
		8/19/2008	17031C0459J
	170114	8/19/2008	17031C0467J
LA GRANGE	170114	8/19/2008	17031C0478J
		8/19/2008	17031C0486J
		8/19/2008	17031C0459J
LA GRANGE PARK	170115	8/19/2008	17031C0476J
		8/19/2008	17031C0478J
		8/19/2008	17031C0754J
		8/19/2008	17031C0756J
		8/19/2008	17031C0758J
LANSING	170116	8/19/2008	17031C0759J
		8/19/2008	17031C0762J
		8/19/2008	17031C0766J
		8/19/2008	17031C0767J
	170117	8/19/2008	17031C0567J
		8/19/2008	17031C0569J
		8/19/2008	17031C0579J
LEMONT		8/19/2008	17031C0583J
		8/19/2008	17031C0586J
LEMONT		8/19/2008	17031C0587J
		8/19/2008	17031C0588J
		8/19/2008	17031C0589J
		8/19/2008	17031C0591J
		8/19/2008	17031C0593J
		8/19/2008	17031C0244J
		8/19/2008	17031C0265J
LINCOLNWOOD	171001	8/19/2008	17031C0382J
		8/19/2008	17031C0401J
		8/19/2008	17031C0402J
		8/19/2008	17031C0762J
		8/19/2008	17031C0764J
		8/19/2008	17031C0766J
LYNWOOD	170119	8/19/2008	17031C0767J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0768J
		8/19/2008	17031C0769J
		8/19/2008	1/03100831J
		8/19/2008	1703100832J
		8/19/2008	1/031004/9J
LYONS	170120	8/19/2008	1/031C0483J
		8/19/2008	1/03100487J
		8/19/2008	1703100491J
NAADI//HANA	475460	8/19/2008	1/031C0/26J
ΜΑΚΚΗΑΙΜ	175169	8/19/2008	1/031C0/2/J
		8/19/2008	17031C0729J

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
COMMONITY NAME	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0731J
	475460	8/19/2008	17031C0732J
MARKHAM	175169	8/19/2008	17031C0733J
		8/19/2008	17031C0734J
		8/19/2008	17031C0718J
		8/19/2008	17031C0719J
		8/19/2008	17031C0738J
		8/19/2008	17031C0739J
MATTESON	170123	8/19/2008	17031C0781J
		8/19/2008	17031C0782J
		8/19/2008	17031C0801J
		8/19/2008	17031C0802J
		8/19/2008	17031C0388I
		8/19/2008	17031C03891
MAYWOOD	170124	8/19/2008	17031C0476
		8/19/2008	17031004771
		8/19/2008	1703100/861
МССООК	170121	8/19/2008	17031004805
MCCOOK	170121	8/19/2008	17031004971
		8/19/2008	17031003671
		8/19/2008	17031003601
		8/19/2008	17031003961
MELROSE PARK	170125	8/19/2008	17031003803
		8/19/2008	17031003873
		8/19/2008	1703100380
	170100	8/19/2008	17031006371
	170126	8/19/2008	17031006375
		8/19/2008	1703100619J
		8/19/2008	1703100538J
MIDLOTHIAN	170127	8/19/2008	1703100539J
		8/19/2008	17031007073
		8/19/2008	17031C0726J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0/2/J
	170128	8/19/2008	1/031C0237J
		8/19/2008	17031C0241J
MORION GROVE		8/19/2008	1/031C0242J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0243J
		8/19/2008	17031C0244J
		8/19/2008	17031C0202J
		8/19/2008	17031C0203J
		8/19/2008	17031C0204J
		8/19/2008	17031C0206J
		8/19/2008	17031C0207J
MOUNT PROSPECT	170129	8/19/2008	17031C0208J
		8/19/2008	17031C0209J
		8/19/2008	17031C0211J
		8/19/2008	17031C0212J
		8/19/2008	17031C0214J
	ļ	8/19/2008	17031C0216J
1		8/19/2008	17031C0236J
		8/19/2008	17031C0237J
NILES	170130	8/19/2008	17031C0238J
		8/19/2008	17031C0241J
		8/19/2008	17031C0243J
		8/19/2008	17031C0244J

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
COMMONITY NAME	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0376J
NORRIDGE	170131	8/19/2008	17031C0378J
		8/19/2008	17031C0385J
		8/19/2008	17031C0476J
	170105	8/19/2008	17031C0477J
NORTH RIVERSIDE	170135	8/19/2008	17031C0479J
		8/19/2008	17031C0483J
		8/19/2008	17031C0069J
		8/19/2008	17031C0088J
		8/19/2008	17031C0089J
		8/19/2008	17031C0093J
NORTHBROOK	170132	8/19/2008	17031C0207J
		8/19/2008	17031C0226J
		8/19/2008	17031C0227J
		8/19/2008	17031C0231J
		8/19/2008	17031C0232J
		8/19/2008	17031C0231J
	170133	8/19/2008	17031C0232J
NORTHIELD	170135	8/19/2008	17031C0233J
		8/19/2008	17031C0234J
		8/19/2008	17031C0366J
NORTHLAKE	170134	8/19/2008	17031C0367J
		8/19/2008	17031C0369J
		8/19/2008	17031C0618J
		8/19/2008	17031C0619J
	170136	8/19/2008	17031C0706J
		8/19/2008	17031C0707J
OAK FOREST		8/19/2008	17031C0709J
		8/19/2008	17031C0726J
		8/19/2008	17031C0727J
		8/19/2008	17031C0728J
		8/19/2008	17031C0729J
		8/19/2008	17031C0606J
		8/19/2008	17031C0607J
	170137	8/19/2008	17031C0608J
		8/19/2008	17031C0609J
		8/19/2008	17031C0617J
		8/19/2008	17031C0628J
ΟΔΚ ΡΔΒΚ	171037	8/19/2008	17031C0395J
	1/105/	8/19/2008	17031C0485J
	170130	8/19/2008	17031C0739J
OETWINA TIEEDS	170135	8/19/2008	17031C0743J
		8/19/2008	17031C0701J
ORLAND HILLS	170172	8/19/2008	17031C0702J
	1/01/2	8/19/2008	17031C0703J
		8/19/2008	17031C0704J
		8/19/2008	17031C0593J
1		8/19/2008	17031C0594J
		8/19/2008	17031C0613J
	170140	8/19/2008	17031C0614J
ORLAND PARK	1/0140	8/19/2008	17031C0618J
1		8/19/2008	17031C0682J
		8/19/2008	17031C0684J
		8/19/2008	17031C0692J

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
COMMONITY NAME	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0701J
		8/19/2008	17031C0702J
ORLAND PARK	170140	8/19/2008	17031C0703J
		8/19/2008	17031C0704J
		8/19/2008	17031C0706J
		8/19/2008	17031C0038J
		8/19/2008	17031C0039J
		8/19/2008	17031C0043J
		8/19/2008	17031C0044J
PALATINE	175170	8/19/2008	17031C0177J
		8/19/2008	17031C0179J
		8/19/2008	17031C0181J
		8/19/2008	17031C0182J
		8/19/2008	17031C0183J
		8/19/2008	17031C0612J
		8/19/2008	17031C0614J
DALOS HEIGHTS	170142	8/19/2008	17031C0616J
FALOS HEIGHTS	170142	8/19/2008	17031C0617J
		8/19/2008	17031C0618J
		8/19/2008	17031C0619J
		8/19/2008	17031C0603J
		8/19/2008	17031C0604J
	1701/13	8/19/2008	17031C0608J
r ALOS TILLS	170143	8/19/2008	17031C0611J
		8/19/2008	17031C0612J
		8/19/2008	17031C0616J
		8/19/2008	17031C0591J
PALOS PARK		8/19/2008	17031C0592J
		8/19/2008	17031C0594J
	170144	8/19/2008	17031C0611J
	170144	8/19/2008	17031C0612J
		8/19/2008	17031C0613J
		8/19/2008	17031C0614J
		8/19/2008	17031C0616J
		8/19/2008	17031C0739J
		8/19/2008	17031C0743J
PARK FOREST	170145	8/19/2008	17031C0802J
		8/19/2008	17031C0806J
		8/19/2008	17031C0807J
		8/19/2008	17031C0236J
PARK RIDGE	170146	8/19/2008	17031C0237J
		8/19/2008	17031C0238J
		8/19/2008	17031C0376J
PHOENIX	170147	8/19/2008	17031C0732J
		8/19/2008	17031C0751J
POSEN		8/19/2008	17031C0639J
	170148	8/19/2008	17031C0643J
	1,0140	8/19/2008	17031C0727J
		8/19/2008	17031C0731J
		8/19/2008	17031C0201J
		8/19/2008	17031C0202J
PROSPECT HEIGHTS	170919	8/19/2008	17031C0206J
		8/19/2008	17031C0207J
		8/19/2008	17031C0208J

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0781J
	170140	8/19/2008	17031C0782J
RICHTON PARK	170149	8/19/2008	17031C0801J
		8/19/2008	17031C0802J
	470454	8/19/2008	17031C0387J
RIVER FOREST	1/0151	8/19/2008	17031C0389J
	170152	8/19/2008	17031C0386J
RIVER GROVE	170152	8/19/2008	17031C0387J
		8/19/2008	17031C0643J
		8/19/2008	17031C0644J
RIVERDALE	170150	8/19/2008	17031C0645J
		8/19/2008	17031C0661J
		8/19/2008	17031C0663J
	170152	8/19/2008	17031C0479J
RIVERSIDE	170153	8/19/2008	17031C0483J
DODDING	170154	8/19/2008	17031C0638J
ROBBINS	170154	8/19/2008	17031C0638J
		8/19/2008	17031C0179J
		8/19/2008	17031C0181J
		8/19/2008	17031C0182J
	170155	8/19/2008	17031C0183J
ROLLING MEADOWS	1/0155	8/19/2008	17031C0184J
		8/19/2008	17031C0191J
		8/19/2008	17031C0192J
		8/19/2008	17031C0211J
POSELLE	170216	8/19/2008	17031C0193J
KOSELLE	170210	8/19/2008	17031C0331J
	170156	8/19/2008	17031C0219J
ROSEMONT		8/19/2008	17031C0357J
		8/19/2008	17031C0376J
		8/19/2008	17031C0764J
SAUK VILLAGE	170157	8/19/2008	17031C0768J
		8/19/2008	17031C0826J
		8/19/2008	17031C0827J
		8/19/2008	17031C0831J
		8/19/2008	17031C0167J
		8/19/2008	17031C0169J
		8/19/2008	17031C0179J
		8/19/2008	17031C0183J
		8/19/2008	17031C0184J
		8/19/2008	17031C0186J
SCHAUMBURG	170158	8/19/2008	17031C0187J
		8/19/2008	17031C0188J
		8/19/2008	17031C0189J
		8/19/2008	17031C0191J
		8/19/2008	17031C0192J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0193J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0194J
	ļ	8/19/2008	1/031C0307J
		8/19/2008	17031C0357J
SCHILLER PARK	170159	8/19/2008	17031C0359J
		8/19/2008	1/03100376J
		8/19/2008	1/031C03/8J
SKOKIE	171000	8/19/2008	17031C0234J

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0242J
		8/19/2008	17031C0244J
SKOKIE	171000	8/19/2008	17031C0253J
		8/19/2008	17031C0265J
		8/19/2008	17031C0155J
		8/19/2008	1703100156
		8/19/2008	17031001571
SOUTH BABRINGTON	170161	8/19/2008	17031C0158
	1/0101	8/19/2008	17031001591
		8/19/2008	1703100176
		8/19/2008	17031001781
		8/19/2008	17031008071
SOUTH CHICAGO HEIGHTS	170162	8/19/2008	17031008261
		8/19/2008	17031008203
		8/19/2008	17031007323
		8/19/2008	17031C 0734J
SOUTH HOLLAND	170163	8/19/2008	17031C0751J
		8/19/2008	17031007523
		8/19/2008	1/031C0/53J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0/54J
	1-0-10	8/19/2008	17031C0807J
STEGER	170713	8/19/2008	17031C0826J
		8/19/2008	17031C0827J
		8/19/2008	17031C0483J
STICKNEY	170164	8/19/2008	17031C0484J
SHORKET	1/0104	8/19/2008	17031C0491J
		8/19/2008	17031C0503J
STONE PARK	170165	8/19/2008	17031C0367J
		8/19/2008	17031C0369J
		8/19/2008	17031C0386J
		8/19/2008	17031C0388J
		8/19/2008	17031C0162J
STREAMWOOD	170166	8/19/2008	17031C0163J
		8/19/2008	17031C0164J
		8/19/2008	17031C0166J
		8/19/2008	17031C0167J
		8/19/2008	17031C0168J
		8/19/2008	17031C0169J
		8/19/2008	17031C0487J
SUMMIT	170167	8/19/2008	17031C0489J
		8/19/2008	17031C0491J
		8/19/2008	17031C0734J
THORNTON TINLEY PARK		8/19/2008	17031C0742J
	170168	8/19/2008	17031C0753J
		8/19/2008	17031C0761J
		8/19/2008	17031007021
		8/19/2008	17031007031
		8/19/2008	17031C07041
		8/19/2008	17031007061
		8/19/2008	17031007071
	170169	8/19/2008	17031007081
		8/19/2008	17031007091
		8/19/2008	17031007121
		8/19/2008	17031007161
		8/19/2008	17031007171
		0/ 10/ 2000	1/03100/1/3

COMMUNUT HAME MEP NUMBER FFECTIVE RIAM PAREL NUMBERS TINLEY PARK 170169 8/19/2008 170310901 UNIVERSITY PARK 170708 8/19/2008 170310401 WESTCHESTER 170170 8/19/2008 1703104530 WESTCHESTER 170170 8/19/2008 1703104530 WESTCHESTER 170171 8/19/2008 1703104530 WESTCHESTER 170171 8/19/2008 1703104530 WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 1703104661 8/19/2008 1703104661 8/19/2008 1703104661 8/19/2008 1703104661 8/19/2008 1703104661 8/19/2008 1703104671 8/19/2008 1703104671 8/19/2008 1703104671 8/19/2008 1703104671 8/19/2008 1703104671 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 17031000633 8/19/2008 17		COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
THULLY PARK 170169 1/9/12008 17031C0901 UNIVERSITY PARK 17076 8/9/12008 17031C0901 WESTCHESTER 170170 8/9/12008 17031C04561 WESTCHESTER 170170 8/9/12008 17031C04531 WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/9/12008 17031C04531 WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/9/12008 17031C04531 WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 17031C04531 WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031C04661 8/19/2008 17031C04661 8/19/2008 17031C04661 8/19/2008 17031C04681 8/19/2008 17031C04661 8/19/2008 17031C04661 8/19/2008 17031C04661 8/19/2008 17031C04661 8/19/2008	COMMONITY NAME	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
UNIVERSITY PARK 170708 8/19/2008 1703100861 WESTCHESTER 170170 8/19/2008 1703100450 WESTCHESTER 170170 8/19/2008 1703100450 8/19/2008 1703100451 8/19/2008 1703100451 8/19/	TINLEY PARK	170169	8/19/2008	17031C0719J
WESTCHESTER 170170 8/19/2008 1703100450 WESTCHESTER 170170 8/19/2008 1703100451 WESTCHESTER 170170 8/19/2008 1703100453 WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 1703100453 WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 1703100453 WHEELING 170171 8/19/2008 1703100463 WHEELING 170171 8/19/2008 1703100463 WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 1703100463 8/19/2008 1703100463 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 1703100643 8/19/2008 1703100643 WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 1703100643 WILLOW SPRINGS 170176 8/19/2008 1703100254 8/19/2008 1703100254 8/19/2008 1703100254 WILMETTE 170176 8/19/2008 1703100254	UNIVERSITY PARK	170708	8/19/2008	17031C0801J
WESTCHESTER 170170 8/19/2008 170310045/J WESTCHESTER 170170 8/19/2008 170310045/J WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 170310045/J WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 170310045/J WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 170310046/J WHEELING 170171 8/19/2008 170310046/J WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 170310046/J WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 170310046/J 8/19/2008 170310046/J 8/19/2008 17031006/J WILLOW SPRINGS 170173 8/19/2008 17031006/J WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 170310026/J WILLOW SPRINGS 170175 8/19/2008 170310026/J WILLOW SPRINGS 170175 8/19/2008 170310025/J WILLOW SPRINGS 170175 8/19/2008 170310025/J WILLOW SPRINGS 170175 8/19/2008 170310025/J WILLOW SPRINGS 170175 8/19/2008 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>8/19/2008</td><td>17031C0456J</td></t<>			8/19/2008	17031C0456J
WESTCHESTER 170170 8/19/2008 1703100459 WISTCHESTER 8/19/2008 1703100459 1703100459 WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 1703100459 WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 1703100459 WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 1703100459 WHEELING 170171 8/19/2008 1703100469 WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 1703100469 WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 170310069 8/19/2008 170310069 170310069 8/19/2008 WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 170310069 8/19/2008 170310069 1703100261 8/19/2008 WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 1703100261 8/19/2008 1703100489 1703100489 1703100489 WILLOW SPRINGS 170176 8/19/2008 1703100261 8/19/2008 17031002531 8/19/2008 17031002531 8/19/2008 17031002531 8/19/2008 17031002531 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0457J</td>			8/19/2008	17031C0457J
8/19/2008 17031C0459) 8/19/2008 17031C0458) 8/19/2008 17031C0458) 8/19/2008 17031C0459) 8/19/2008 17031C0459) 8/19/2008 17031C0459) 8/19/2008 17031C0466) 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C0202) 8/19/2008 17031C0202) 8/19/2008 17031C0202) 8/19/2008 17031C0202) 8/19/2008 17031C0202) 8/19/2008 17031C0581 8/19/2008 17031C0531 8/19/2008 17031C0531 8/19/200	WESTCHESTER	170170	8/19/2008	17031C0458J
8/19/2008 17031C0476J WESTERN SPRINGS 8/19/2008 17031C0458J 8/19/2008 17031C0463J 8/19/2008 17031C0463J 8/19/2008 17031C0463J 8/19/2008 17031C0463J 8/19/2008 17031C0463J 8/19/2008 17031C0463J 8/19/2008 17031C0463J 8/19/2008 17031C0464J 8/19/2008 17031C0464J 8/19/2008 17031C0464J 8/19/2008 17031C0464J 8/19/2008 17031C0464J 8/19/2008 17031C0464J 8/19/2008 17031C020J 8/19/2008 17031C020J 8/19/2008 17031C026J 8/19/2008 17031C0469J 8/19/2008 17031C0469J 8/19/2008 17031C048J 8/19/2008 17031C048J 8/19/2008 17031C048J 8/19/2008 17031C048J 8/19/2008 17031C048J 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031C0459J
WESTERN SPRINGS 8/19/2008 17031C04581 170171 8/19/2008 17031C04591 8/19/2008 17031C04651 8/19/2008 17031C04651 8/19/2008 17031C04691 8/19/2008 17031C04691 8/19/2008 17031C04691 8/19/2008 17031C04691 8/19/2008 17031C0691 8/19/2008 17031C0691 8/19/2008 17031C0691 8/19/2008 17031C0691 8/19/2008 17031C0691 8/19/2008 17031C06491 8/19/2008 17031C0641 8/19/2008 17031C06511 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031C0476J
WESTERN SPRINGS 8/19/2008 17031C0459) WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 17031C0460] 8/19/2008 17031C0461] 8/19/2008 17031C0469] WHEELING 8/19/2008 17031C0641 8/19/2008 17031C0641 WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031C0641 8/19/2008 17031C02021 WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031C02021 8/19/2008 17031C02021 WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 17031C02021 8/19/2008 17031C02021 WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 17031C0581 8/19/2008 17031C05821 WILLOW SPRINGS 170176 8/19/2008 17031C05821 8/19/2008 17031C05821 WILMETTE 170176 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531			8/19/2008	17031C0458J
WESTERN SPRINGS 170171 8/19/2008 17031C0466J WHEELING 8/19/2008 17031C0466J 8/19/2008 17031C0466J WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031C0469J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031C0206J 8/19/2008 17031C0206J WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 17031C0264BJ 8/19/2008 17031C0264J WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 17031C0284J 8/19/2008 17031C0284J WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19/2008 17031C025J WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19/2008 17031C025J WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19/2008 17031C025J WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19/2008 17031C025J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19			8/19/2008	17031C0459J
MEDILINISPAINUS 1701/1 8/19/2008 17031C0467) 8/19/2008 17031C0468) 8/19/2008 17031C0468) 8/19/2008 17031C0064) 8/19/2008 17031C0064) WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031C0069) WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031C0206) 8/19/2008 17031C0206) 8/19/2008 17031C0206) 8/19/2008 17031C0206) 8/19/2008 17031C0206) 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C0483 8/19/2008 17031C05810 8/19/2008 17031C05820 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02530 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008		170171	8/19/2008	17031C0466J
8/19/2008 17031C0468) 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C064) 8/19/2008 17031C0064) 8/19/2008 17031C0069) 8/19/2008 17031C0069) 8/19/2008 17031C0206) 8/19/2008 17031C0200) 8/19/2008 17031C0200) 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C0488) 8/19/2008 17031C0489) 8/19/2008 17031C0489) 8/19/2008 17031C0489) 8/19/2008 17031C0481 8/19/2008 17031C0341 8/19/2008 17031C0341 8/19/2008 17031C0341 8/19/2008 17031C0251 8/19/2008 </td <td>WESTERN SPRINGS</td> <td>1/01/1</td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0467J</td>	WESTERN SPRINGS	1/01/1	8/19/2008	17031C0467J
WHEELING 8/19/2008 17031C06491 WHEELING 8/19/2008 17031C00641 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/2008 17031C02021 8/19/2008 17031C02021 8/19/2008 17031C02021 8/19/2008 17031C02031 8/19/2008 17031C04691 8/19/2008 17031C04831 8/19/2008 17031C04831 8/19/2008 17031C05811 8/19/2008 17031C05821 8/19/2008 17031C05821 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031C0468J
WHEELING 8/19/2008 17031C0064j 170173 8/19/2008 17031C0066j 8/19/2008 17031C0202j 8/19/2008 17031C0202j 8/19/2008 17031C0202j 8/19/2008 17031C0202j 8/19/2008 17031C0207j 8/19/2008 17031C0207j 8/19/2008 17031C0469j 8/19/2008 17031C0469j 8/19/2008 17031C0483j 8/19/2008 17031C0483j 8/19/2008 17031C0582j 8/19/2008 17031C0582j 8/19/2008 17031C0582j 8/19/2008 17031C0234j 8/19/2008 17031C0235j 8/19/2008 17031C0253j 8/19/2008 17031C0253j 8/19/2008 17031C0232j 8/19/2008 17031C023j 8/19/2008 17031C023j 8/19/2008 17031C023j 8/19/2008 17031C023j 8/19/2008 17031C023j 8/19/2008 17031C023j 8/19/2008 17			8/19/2008	17031C0469J
WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031C00691 WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031C02021 8/19/2008 17031C02021 8/19/2008 17031C02021 8/19/2008 17031C02021 8/19/2008 17031C02021 8/19/2008 17031C02031 8/19/2008 17031C046991 8/19/2008 17031C046991 8/19/2008 17031C046991 8/19/2008 17031C04691 8/19/2008 17031C04691 8/19/2008 17031C05821 8/19/2008 17031C05821 8/19/2008 17031C02344 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C02341 8/19/2008 17031C0231 8/19/2008 17031C0251 8/19/2008 17031C0251 8/19/2008 17031C06081 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031C0064J
WHEELING 170173 8/19/2008 17031000691 8/19/2008 17031002061 8/19/2008 17031002061 8/19/2008 17031002071 8/19/2008 17031002061 8/19/2008 17031002071 8/19/2008 1703100481 WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 17031005811 8/19/2008 17031005821 8/19/2008 17031005821 WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 1703100241 WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 1703100241 WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 1703100241 WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 1703100241 WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 1703100241 WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031002511 8/19/2008 17031002511 8/19/2008 17031002511 8/19/2008 17031000511 8/19/2008 17031000511 8/19/2008 17031006081 8/19/2008 17031006171 8/19/2008 17031006171 8/19/2008 170310041 <td></td> <td></td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0068J</td>			8/19/2008	17031C0068J
MILLING 8/19/2008 1703102021 8/19/2008 170310206j 8/19/2008 170310207j 8/19/2008 1703100469j 8/19/2008 1703100469j 8/19/2008 1703100581j 8/19/2008 170310051j 8/19/2008 1703100234j 8/19/2008 1703100251j 8/19/2008 1703100251j 8/19/2008 1703100231j 8/19/2008 1703100251j 8/19/2008 1703100251j 8/19/2008 1703100251j 8/19/2008 170310051j 8/19/2008 170310051j 8/19/2008 170310051j 8/19/2008 170310061j 8/19/2008 170310061j	WHEELING	170173	8/19/2008	17031C0069J
8/19/2008 17031002061 8/19/2008 17031004691 8/19/2008 17031004691 8/19/2008 17031004691 8/19/2008 17031004831 8/19/2008 17031005811 8/19/2008 17031005811 8/19/2008 1703100581 8/19/2008 1703100581 8/19/2008 1703100581 8/19/2008 1703100581 8/19/2008 1703100581 8/19/2008 17031002341 8/19/2008 1703100251 8/19/2008 1703100251 8/19/2008 1703100251 8/19/2008 17031002321 8/19/2008 1703100231 8/19/2008 1703100251 8/19/2008 1703100251 8/19/2008 1703100251 8/19/2008 1703100251 8/19/2008 1703100251 8/19/2008 1703100261 8/19/2008 17031006161 8/19/2008 17031006161 8/19/2008 17031000611 8/19/2008 <td>WHELEING</td> <td>1/01/5</td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0202J</td>	WHELEING	1/01/5	8/19/2008	17031C0202J
WILLOW SPRINGS 8/19/2008 17031C0207) WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 17031C0483) 8/19/2008 17031C0581) 8/19/2008 17031C0582) 8/19/2008 17031C0582) 8/19/2008 17031C0582) 8/19/2008 17031C0584) 8/19/2008 17031C0584) WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 17031C0253) WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253) WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0234) WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0231) WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253) WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0253) WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0669) WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0669) WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0669) WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0669) WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0669) 8/19/2008 17031C0669)<			8/19/2008	17031C0206J
WILLOW SPRINGS 8/19/2008 17031C0469) 8/19/2008 17031C0581) 8/19/2008 17031C0581) 8/19/2008 17031C0581) 8/19/2008 17031C0582) 8/19/2008 17031C0584) 8/19/2008 17031C0584) 8/19/2008 17031C0584) 8/19/2008 17031C0253] WILMETTE 8/19/2008 17031C0253] 8/19/2008 17031C0253] WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0231 8/19/2008 17031C0253] WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0232] 8/19/2008 17031C0253] WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253] 8/19/2008 17031C0253] WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0610 8/19/2008 17031C0610 WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0610 8/19/2008 17031C0610 WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0610 8/19/2008 17031C0610 WORTH 170175 8/19/2008 17031C0610 8/19/2008 17031C0610			8/19/2008	17031C0207J
WILLOW SPRINGS 8/19/2008 17031C04881 8/19/2008 17031C05811 8/19/2008 17031C05811 8/19/2008 17031C05841 8/19/2008 17031C05841 8/19/2008 17031C05841 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02501 8/19/2008 17031C02501 8/19/2008 17031C02501 8/19/2008 17031C02511 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02601 8/19/2008 17031C066151 8/19/2008 17031C066171 8/19/2008 17031C066171 8/19/2008 17031C0631 8/19/2008 17031C0641 8/19/2008 17031C0641 8/19/2008 17031C0641 <td></td> <td></td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0469J</td>			8/19/2008	17031C0469J
WILLOW SPRINGS 170174 8/19/2008 17031C0581J WILMETTE 8/19/2008 17031C0584J 8/19/2008 17031C0584J WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 17031C0253J 8/19/2008 17031C0253J WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 17031C0253J 8/19/2008 17031C0253J WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253J 8/19/2008 17031C0253J WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253J 8/19/2008 17031C0253J WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253J 8/19/2008 17031C0253J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C025J 8/19/2008 17031C0608J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0616J 8/19/2008 17031C0616J WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0604J 8/19/2008 17031C0606J WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0606J 8/19/2008 17031C0606J WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0606J 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031C0488J
MILCON STAINES 1/101/4 8/19/2008 1/7031C05821 8/19/2008 1/7031C05841 8/19/2008 1/7031C05841 WILMETTE 1/01/5 8/19/2008 1/7031C02531 WILMETTE 1/01/5 8/19/2008 1/7031C02501 WILMETTE 1/01/6 8/19/2008 1/7031C02501 WILMETTE 1/01/6 8/19/2008 1/7031C02501 WILMETTE 1/01/6 8/19/2008 1/7031C02501 WINNETKA 1/01/6 8/19/2008 1/7031C02531 WORTH 1/01/7 8/19/2008 1/7031C02531 WORTH 1/01/7 8/19/2008 1/7031C02531 8/19/2008 1/7031C02531 8/19/2008 1/7031C06091 WORTH 1/01/7 8/19/2008 1/7031C06161 8/19/2008 1/7031C06161 8/19/2008 1/7031C06161 8/19/2008 1/7031C00613 8/19/2008 1/7031C00631 8/19/2008 1/7031C00631 8/19/2008 1/7031C00641 8/19/2008 1/7031C006631 8/19/2008 1/7031C00631 <td>WILLOW SPRINGS</td> <td>17017/</td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0581J</td>	WILLOW SPRINGS	17017/	8/19/2008	17031C0581J
8/19/2008 17031C05841 8/19/2008 17031C05941 WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02551 8/19/2008 17031C02551 8/19/2008 17031C0251 8/19/2008 17031C02531 8/19/2008 17031C02616 8/19/2008 17031C06161 8/19/2008 17031C0201 8/19/2008 17031C00381 8/19/2008 17031C0041 8/19/2008 17031C0041 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/200	WILLOW SHAINGS	1/01/4	8/19/2008	17031C0582J
WILMETTE 8/19/2008 17031C0601J WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 17031C0253J 8/19/2008 17031C0253J 8/19/2008 17031C0253J WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0232J WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C025J WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C025J WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C025J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C060J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C060J 8/19/2008 17031C060J 8/19/2008 17031C060J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C002J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C006J 8/19/2008 17031C006J 8/19/2008 17031C006J WORTH 170054 8/19/2008 17031C006J WORTH 170054 8/19/2008 17031C006J WINNCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C006J WINNCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 17			8/19/2008	17031C0584J
WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 17031C0234) WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 17031C0253) 8/19/2008 17031C0250] 8/19/2008 17031C0250] WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253] WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253] WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253] WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0250] 8/19/2008 17031C0608] 8/19/2008 17031C0608] WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0603] 8/19/2008 17031C0603] 8/19/2008 17031C0603] WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0043] WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0043] WORTH 170175 8/19/2008 17031C0043] WORTH 170175 8/19/2008 17031C0043] WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0043] WINNCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C0043] 8/19/2008 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>8/19/2008</td> <td>17031C0601J</td>			8/19/2008	17031C0601J
WILMETTE 170175 8/19/2008 17031C0253J 8/19/2008 17031C0255J 8/19/2008 17031C0250J WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253J WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253J WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0253J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0253J 8/19/2008 17031C0608J 8/19/2008 17031C0608J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0615J 8/19/2008 17031C0615J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J			8/19/2008	17031C0234J
MILLING MODIO 8/19/2008 17031C0255J 8/19/2008 17031C0260J 8/19/2008 17031C0260J WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0223J WORTH 170176 8/19/2008 17031C025JJ WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C025JJ 8/19/2008 17031C0608J 8/19/2008 17031C0608J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0608J 8/19/2008 17031C0617J 8/19/2008 17031C0617J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C003J 8/19/2008 17031C003J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J	WII METTE	170175	8/19/2008	17031C0253J
Big Second		1/01/5	8/19/2008	17031C0255J
WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0133 WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C0231 WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C02531 WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C02531 WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C06081 WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C06081 WORTH 8/19/2008 17031C06161 WORTH 8/19/2008 17031C06171 WORTH 8/19/2008 17031C006171 WORTH 8/19/2008 17031C00201 S/19/2008 17031C00201 8/19/2008 S/19/2008 17031C00381 S/19/2008 17031C00431 S/19/2008 17031C00631 S/19/2008 17031C00641 S/19/2008 17031C00631 S/19/2008 17031C00641 S/19/2008 17031C00641 S/19/2008 17031C00641 S/19/2008 17031C00641 S/19/2008 17031C00641 S/19/2008 17031C00641<			8/19/2008	17031C0260J
WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C02321 WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 1703100251 8/19/2008 1703100253 8/19/2008 1703100253 WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 1703100251 8/19/2008 1703100609J 8/19/2008 1703100609J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 1703100616J 8/19/2008 1703100617J 8/19/2008 170310017J 8/19/2008 1703100113J 8/19/2008 170310038J 8/19/2008 170310044J 8/19/2008 170310044J 8/19/2008 170310063J 8/19/2008 170310064J 8/19/2008 170310064J 8/19/2008 170310044J			8/19/2008	17031C0113J
WINNETKA 170176 8/19/2008 17031C02551 8/19/2008 17031C02553 8/19/2008 17031C02553 WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C06081 WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C06091 8/19/2008 17031C0616J 8/19/2008 17031C06091 WORTH 8/19/2008 17031C06171 8/19/2008 17031C00201 WORTH 8/19/2008 17031C00201 8/19/2008 17031C00201 WORTH 8/19/2008 17031C00201 8/19/2008 17031C00381 WORTH 170054 8/19/2008 17031C00431 8/19/2008 17031C00631 WINNCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/2008 17031C00631 WINNCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/2008 17031C00631 Wintervert 170054 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/2008 17031C00631 Wintervert 170054 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/2008 17031C00631 8/19/20			8/19/2008	17031C0232J
8/19/2008 17031C02533 8/19/2008 17031C0255J 8/19/2008 17031C0255J 8/19/2008 17031C0608J 8/19/2008 17031C0609J 8/19/2008 17031C0616J 8/19/2008 17031C0616J 8/19/2008 17031C0617J 8/19/2008 17031C0020J 8/19/2008 17031C0038J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/	WINNETKA	170176	8/19/2008	17031C0251J
WORTH 8/19/2008 17031C0255J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0608J 8/19/2008 17031C0610J 8/19/2008 17031C0610J 8/19/2008 17031C0617J 8/19/2008 17031C0020J 8/19/2008 17031C0020J 8/19/2008 17031C0038J 8/19/2008 17031C003BJ 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C004JJ 8/19/2008 17031C004JJ 8/19/2008 17031C014JJ			8/19/2008	17031C0253J
WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0608J WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0609J 8/19/2008 17031C0610J 8/19/2008 17031C0617J 8/19/2008 17031C0020J 8/19/2008 17031C0038J 8/19/2008 17031C0038J 8/19/2008 17031C0039J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031C0255J
WORTH 170177 8/19/2008 17031C0609J 8/19/2008 17031C0616J 8/19/2008 17031C0617J 8/19/2008 17031C0020J 8/19/2008 17031C0030J 8/19/2008 17031C0038J 8/19/2008 17031C0039J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008			8/19/2008	17031C0608J
8/19/2008 17031C0616J 8/19/2008 17031C0617J 8/19/2008 17031C002U 8/19/2008 17031C0038J 8/19/2008 17031C0039J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C006J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C006J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008	WORTH	170177	8/19/2008	17031C0609J
B 8/19/2008 17031C0617J 8/19/2008 17031C00617J 8/19/2008 17031C0020J 8/19/2008 17031C0038J 8/19/2008 17031C0039J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J			8/19/2008	17031C0616J
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C0020J 8/19/2008 17031C0038J 8/19/2008 17031C0039J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0069J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C006J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J			8/19/2008	17031C0617J
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C0038J 170054 8/19/2008 17031C004JJ 8/19/2008 17031C004JJ 170054 8/19/2008 17031C006JJ 8/19/2008 17031C006JJ 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C0044J 8/19/2008 17031C0140J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C01451			8/19/2008	17031C0020J
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C0039J 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0044J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C004JJ 8/19/2008 17031C004JJ 8/19/2008 17031C004JJ 8/19/2008 17031C004JJ 8/19/2008 17031C004JJ 8/19/2008 17031C004JJ 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J			8/19/2008	17031C0038J
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C0043J 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0069J 8/19/2008 17031C0069J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0094J 8/19/2008 17031C013J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C0145J			8/19/2008	17031C0039J
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0069J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C008J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C014J			8/19/2008	1/031C0043J
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C0063J 8/19/2008 17031C0068J 8/19/2008 17031C0069J 8/19/2008 17031C0088J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C004J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J			8/19/2008	17031C0044J
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C0064J 8/19/2008 17031C0069J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0094J 8/19/2008 17031C0194J 8/19/2008 17031C0113J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J			8/19/2008	1703100063J
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY 170054 8/19/2008 17031C0069J 8/19/2008 17031C0083J 8/19/2008 17031C0083J 8/19/2008 17031C0083J 8/19/2008 17031C0084J 8/19/2008 17031C0094J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C0145J			8/19/2008	1703100064J
8/19/2008 1/031C0069J 8/19/2008 17031C0088J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0094J 8/19/2008 17031C014J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C0145J	UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY	170054	δ/19/2008 8/10/2008	1703100060
8/19/2008 1/031C0088J 8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0094J 8/19/2008 17031C0113J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C0145J			0/19/2008 9/10/2009	1702100089
8/19/2008 17031C0089J 8/19/2008 17031C0094J 8/19/2008 17031C0113J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C0145J			0/13/2008 8/10/2009	1702100080
8/19/2008 1/031C0094J 8/19/2008 17031C0113J 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C0145J			0/13/2008	17021000041
8/19/2008 1/031C01133 8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C0145J			0/13/2008 8/10/2009	17021001121
8/19/2008 17031C0142J 8/19/2008 17031C0144J 8/19/2008 17031C0155J			8/10/2000	17031001133
8/19/2008 17031C0144J			8/19/2008	17031001423
			8/19/2008	17031001445

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
COMMUNITY NAME	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0156J
		8/19/2008	17031C0157J
		8/19/2008	17031C0158J
		8/19/2008	17031C0159J
		8/19/2008	17031001611
		8/19/2008	17031001621
		8/19/2008	17031001631
		8/19/2008	1703100164
		8/19/2008	17031C0166J
		8/19/2008	17031C0167J
		8/19/2008	17031C0168J
		8/19/2008	17031C0169J
		8/19/2008	17031C0176J
		8/19/2008	17031C0177J
		8/19/2008	17031C0178J
		8/19/2008	17031C0179J
		8/19/2008	17031C0181J
		8/19/2008	17031C0182J
		8/19/2008	17031C0183J
		8/19/2008	17031C0184J
		8/19/2008	17031C0186J
		8/19/2008	17031C0187J
		8/19/2008	17031C0188J
		8/19/2008	17031C0189J
		8/19/2008	17031C0191J
		8/19/2008	17031C0192J
		8/19/2008	17031C0193J
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY	170054	8/19/2008	17031C0194J
		8/19/2008	17031C0201J
		8/19/2008	17031C0202J
		8/19/2008	17031C0203J
		8/19/2008	17031C0204J
		8/19/2008	17031C0206J
		8/19/2008	17031C0207J
		8/19/2008	17031C0208J
		8/19/2008	17031C0209J
		8/19/2008	17031C0211J
		8/19/2008	17031C0212J
		8/19/2008	17031C0213J
		8/19/2008	17031C0214J
		8/19/2008	17031C0216J
		8/19/2008	17031C0217J
		8/19/2008	17031C0218J
		8/19/2008	17031C0219J
		8/19/2008	17031C0226J
		8/19/2008	17031C0227J
		8/19/2008	17031C0228J
		8/19/2008	17031C0229J
		8/19/2008	17031C0231J
		8/19/2008	17031C0232J
		8/19/2008	17031C0233J
		8/19/2008	17031C0234J
		8/19/2008	17031C0236J
		8/19/2008	17031C0237J
		8/19/2008	17031C0238J

COMMUNITY NAME	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0241J
		8/19/2008	17031C0242J
		8/19/2008	17031C0243J
		8/19/2008	17031C0244J
		8/19/2008	17031C0251J
		8/19/2008	17031C0253J
		8/19/2008	17031C0255J
		8/19/2008	17031C0260J
		8/19/2008	17031C0265J
		8/19/2008	17031C0270J
		8/19/2008	17031C0305J
		8/19/2008	17031C0307J
		8/19/2008	17031C0331J
		8/19/2008	17031C0332J
		8/19/2008	17031C0351J
		8/19/2008	17031C0356J
		8/19/2008	17031C0357J
		8/19/2008	17031C0358J
		8/19/2008	17031C0359J
		8/19/2008	17031C0366J
		8/19/2008	17031C0367J
		8/19/2008	17031C0369J
		8/19/2008	17031C0376J
		8/19/2008	17031C0378J
		8/19/2008	17031C0382J
		8/19/2008	17031C0385J
	170054	8/19/2008	17031C0386J
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY		8/19/2008	17031C0387J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0388J
		8/19/2008	17031C0389J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0401J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0402J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0404J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0410J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0415J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0416J
		8/19/2008	1/031C0417J
		8/19/2008	17031C0418J
		8/19/2008	17031C0419J
		8/19/2008	1703100438J
		8/19/2008	1703100440J
		8/19/2008	1703100456J
		8/19/2008	1703100457J
		o/19/2008	1703100458J
		o/19/2008	1703100459J
		δ/ 19/2008 8/10/2009	1702100460J
		0/13/2008 8/10/2009	17021004673
		8/10/2000	17031004000
		8/10/2000	17031004093
		8/10/2000	1703100470
		8/10/2000	170310047781
		8/19/2008	17031004791
		8/19/2008	17031004831
		8/19/2008	17031004841

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
COMMUNITY NAME	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0486J
		8/19/2008	17031C0487J
		8/19/2008	17031C0488J
		8/19/2008	17031C0489J
		8/19/2008	17031C04911
		8/19/2008	17031C04921
		8/19/2008	17031005031
		8/19/2008	17031005041
		8/19/2008	17031005061
		8/19/2008	17031005071
		8/19/2008	17031005081
		8/19/2008	17031005261
		8/19/2008	17031005281
		8/19/2008	17031005291
		8/19/2008	17031005200
		8/19/2008	17031005451
		8/19/2008	17031005671
		8/19/2008	17031005691
		8/19/2008	17031005791
		8/19/2008	17031005811
		8/19/2008	17031005821
		8/19/2008	17031005831
		8/19/2008	17031005841
		8/19/2008	17031005861
		8/19/2008	17031005871
		8/19/2008	17031005881
		8/19/2008	17031005891
UNINCORPORATED COOK COUNTY	170054	8/19/2008	17031005911
		8/19/2008	17031C0592J
		8/19/2008	17031C0593J
		8/19/2008	17031C0594J
		8/19/2008	17031C0601J
		8/19/2008	17031C0602J
		8/19/2008	17031C0603J
		8/19/2008	17031C0604J
		8/19/2008	17031C0606J
		8/19/2008	17031C0607J
		8/19/2008	17031C0608J
		8/19/2008	17031C0609J
		8/19/2008	17031C0611J
		8/19/2008	17031C0612J
		8/19/2008	17031C0613J
		8/19/2008	17031C0614J
		8/19/2008	17031C0616J
		8/19/2008	17031C0617J
		8/19/2008	17031C0618J
		8/19/2008	17031C0619J
		8/19/2008	17031C0628J
		8/19/2008	17031C0636J
		8/19/2008	17031C0637J
		8/19/2008	17031C0638J
		8/19/2008	17031C0639J
		8/19/2008	17031C0643J
		8/19/2008	17031C0644J
		8/19/2008	17031C0645J

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
COMMUNITY NAME	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0655J
		8/19/2008	17031C0658J
		8/19/2008	17031C0659J
		8/19/2008	17031C0660J
		8/19/2008	17031006611
		8/19/2008	17031006621
		8/19/2008	17031006631
		8/19/2008	17031006641
		8/19/2008	17031006681
		8/19/2008	17031006691
		8/19/2008	17031006701
		8/19/2008	17031006821
		8/19/2008	17031006841
		8/19/2008	17031006921
		8/19/2008	1703100525
		8/19/2008	17031007021
		8/19/2008	17031007031
		8/19/2008	17031007031
		8/19/2008	17031007041
		8/19/2008	1703100700
		8/19/2008	17031007091
		8/19/2008	1703100708
		8/19/2008	17031007131
		8/19/2008	17031007125
		8/19/2008	1703100710
		8/19/2008	17031007173
		8/19/2008	17031007101
	170054	8/19/2008	17031007193
UNINCORPORATED COOR COUNTY	170054	8/19/2008	17031007203
		8/19/2008	17031007273
		8/19/2008	17031007283
		8/19/2008	17031007233
		8/19/2008	17031007313
		8/19/2008	17031007321
		8/19/2008	1703100733
		8/19/2008	17031007345
		8/19/2008	1703100730
		8/19/2008	17031007381
		8/19/2008	17031007301
		8/19/2008	17031007411
		8/19/2008	1703100743
		8/19/2000	17031007421
		8/10/2000	17031007453
		8/19/2000	1703100744J
		8/19/2008	17031007521
		8/19/2008	17031007521
		8/19/2008	17031007541
		8/19/2000	17031007561
		8/19/2000	17031007571
		8/19/2008	17031007581
		8/10/2000	17021007501
		8/10/2000	17021007611
		8/10/2000	17031007631
		0/13/2000 8/10/2000	17021007621
		0/13/2000	17021007641
	1	0/13/2000	1/031C0/04J

	COMMUNITY	DATE OF	COOK COUNTY FIRM
COMMONITY NAME	NFIP NUMBER	EFFECTIVE FIRM	PANEL NUMBERS
		8/19/2008	17031C0766J
		8/19/2008	17031C0767J
		8/19/2008	17031C0768J
		8/19/2008	17031C0769J
		8/19/2008	17031C0781J
		8/19/2008	17031C0782J
	170054	8/19/2008	17031C0801J
UNINCORPORATED COOR COUNTY	170054	8/19/2008	17031C0802J
		8/19/2008	17031C0806J
		8/19/2008	17031C0807J
		8/19/2008	17031C0826J
		8/19/2008	17031C0827J
		8/19/2008	17031C0831J
		8/19/2008	17031C0832J

APPENDIX D

SAMPLE COMPLETED IICP REPORT FORMS

SHORT TERM REQUIREMENTS ANNUAL SUMMARY REPORT INFILTRATION & INFLOW CONTROL PROGRAM

Reporting Period: January 1st to December 31st, <u>2015</u>

Satellite Entity: <u>City of Highland Ridge</u>

No

Latest version of sanitary sewer atlas is dated: <u>November 2013</u>

- 1. Condition Assessment Investigation & Rehabilitation of High Risk Sewers: (reporting year only, unless otherwise noted)
 - A. (Complete for first full year of IICP only) To complete the Condition Assessment; is credit requested for prior documented work?

• Yes \rightarrow Submit documentation of previous work and summarize in 1.B.

B. Public Sector Investigation (attach map showing where investigation was performed):

Inspection Activity	Linear Feet or Number	% of System	% Cumulative ¹
CCTV	91,000	18.2	46.5
Smoke Testing	70,000	14.0	25.0
Dye Testing	3,200	0.6	0.6
Manholes	460	23.0	45.0
Lift Stations	8	100.0	100.0

C. Public Sector High Priority Deficiencies: (submit a Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form and CIP for those not corrected)

	Main Line	Manhole	Appurtenances	X-Connection
Identified	4	5	0	3
Corrected ²	3	3	0	1

D. Private Sector Investigation:

Number of Properties	% of Total System	Internal	External	Int. & Ext.
325	2.5	220	65	40

E. Private Sector I/I Sources:

	Identified	Corrected	Cumulative Total Remaining
Downspout ³	2	1	1
Cleanout with Defective/Missing Cover ³	3	2	1
Area Drain	3	0	3
Storm Sump w/divert valve	2	0	2
Storm Sump to Sanitary	7	3	4
Combination Sump	3	0	3
Unsealed Sanitary Sump	2	0	2
Window Well Drain	5	2	3
Foundation Drain	4	0	4
Lateral	32	0	32
Other:	0	0	0

¹Include prior years, dating back to first year for which condition assessment credit applies

² Submit a Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form and Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) for identified deficiencies not corrected during the reporting year.

³ Submit a Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form for identified deficiencies not corrected during the reporting year

2. Narrative Description of Progress Made Towards Private Sector Program Development:

Two pilot subdivisions - Meadow Ridge and Willow Glen - have been selected to start a building inspection program to identify illegally connected sump pumps. Approximately 325 properties in these two study areas have been inspected, as noted above. The city has implemented an incentive program to subsidize the cost to homeowners if they voluntarily disconnect their illegal sumps. The city council is currently considering a new sewer use ordinance that would enforce disconnection and provide financial assistance to property owners.

3. Narrative Description of Progress Made Towards Long Term Operation and Maintenance Program **Development:**

A plan and budgetary costs for citywide CCTV and mainline cleaning cycles has been developed. Acoustic testing has been performed in high priority areas to prioritize cleaning, and pipes subject to heavy sedimentation have been put on a shorter re-inspection cycle. A rate study is underway to determine whether sewer rates will need to be adjusted to pay for remediation of identified public sector sources and subsidies for private sector remediation. The city has also purchased six (6) flow meters and is currently flow monitoring the Meadow Ridge and Willow Glen subdivisions to prioritize future private sector investigations and measure progress toward I/I reduction.

Summary of Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs) and Basement Backups (BBs)^{1,2} 4.

¹Include only Reportable Events, which are wet weather SSOs, dry weather SSOs, and BBs caused by public sewer surcharging and blockages under either wet or dry conditions. Do not include BBs caused by collapse/blockage of the private service lateral. ²See Sanitary Sewer Overflow and/or Basement Backup Satellite Entity Internal Summary for definition of "Occurrences" as used in table below.

	# of	# of	# of Occurrences	# of Occurrences	# of Occurrences
	Occurrences in	Occurrences in	for which cause	outside of High Priority	for which cause has
	Dry Weather	Wet Weather	is known	Sewer service areas	been eliminated
SSOs	0	7	7	1	0
BBs	3	85	85	6	2

If the causes for any SSOs/BBs for have not been determined, please provide the reason(s): There A. is one dry-weather BB that is still being investigated by the city and homeowner. It is currently suspected that a temporary blockage in the lateral or mainline sewer caused the backup, but both have been televised and were found to be clear of obstructions.

If areas where any SSOs/BBs occurred are served by sewers that have not been classified or B. reclassified as High Priority Sewers, please provide the reason(s): During the May 3 storm event, there was one SSO and 6 reported backups that occurred outside of a previously identified high-priority area due to a power failure at a downstream lift station. A new backup generator has been installed.

C. If there are causes for any SSOs/BBs that have not been eliminated, please provide the reason(s): Remaining SSOs and BBs were caused by excessive I/I. Identification and remediation of I/I sources is underway, and these causes will have been considered eliminated upon completion.

Attachments:

- Condition Assessment Prioritization Form and Map (required with first submittal of this report only)
- Map showing locations of Condition Assessment activities in reporting year (required every year; if credit for pre-IICP condition assessments is sought, map should show locations of pre-IICP assessments)
- Status of High Priority Deficiencies Form (required for years any High Priority Deficiencies have not yet been corrected, and for years immediately succeeding)
- CIP (required for years any public sector High Priority Deficiencies have not yet been corrected)

Certification:

I hereby certify that the information provided in the Annual Report is true and correct

Signature:	Date: February 17, 2016
Printed Name:	Title:
Telephone:	Email:

CONDITION ASSESSMENT PRIORITIZATION FORM INFILTRATION & INFLOW CONTROL PROGRAM

Satellite entities must use this form to explain the criteria used to define which portions of their sanitary sewer system are "high risk". Once the MWRDGC has reviewed and approved a satellite entity's Condition Assessment Prioritization, this form does not need to be resubmitted, unless the satellite entity wishes to modify the criteria it uses to define "high risk" sewers.

Type of Area	Present In System (yes/no)	Prioritization Criteria	Linear Feet of High Priority Sanitary Sewer to be Assessed in Short Term ⁽¹⁾
Areas with SSOs and/or BBs	Yes	High risk areas have had SSOs and/or BBs reported during 1-year rain events and/or dry weather.	50,000
Areas upstream of SSO/BB areas	Yes	Not high risk. All have been lined in last 15 years. All manholes have been inspected and those allowing I/I have been rehabilitated in last 15 years.	0
Sub-basins known to surcharge	Yes	High risk areas have surcharged in 1-year rain event.	50,000 ⁽¹⁾
Areas with excessive wet weather flows, other than those listed above	No	Same as areas with SSOs and BBs. No flow metering has been performed to identify other areas with excessive wet weather flows.	0
Areas with excessive lift station pumpage	Yes	Not high risk. Public sewer in area tributary to pump station has been lined over past 10 years. Excessive lift station flows due to private sector I/I.	0
Areas with deficiencies that could result in system failures	Yes	H2S corrosion evident in 15" main along Cambridge Street between First Ave. and Eighth Ave. This is high priority.	4,400
Other (describe) ⁽²⁾	Yes	Odor complaints submitted every week in dry weather along Gardner Street	2,000
	Total le	ngth of public sanitary sewers (feet):	500,000
Total length of High Pri	ority sanitary sew	er to be assessed in short term (feet):	106,400
Percentage of pul	21.28%		

¹Include sewers inspected under pre-IICP condition assessment, if applicable.

²Attach additional sheets if necessary to describe other types of areas and prioritization criteria

Attachment:

- Map of High Risk Sewers
- Sanitary Sewer System Description and Inventory

Prepared by:

Signature:	Date: February 17, 2016
Printed Name:	Title:
Telephone:	Email:

STATUS OF HIGH PRIORITY DEFICIENCIES FORM INFILTRATION & INFLOW CONTROL PROGRAM

Satellite entities must use this form to track the status of high priority deficiencies that are not corrected during the reporting year in which they are identified. Deficiencies in the public sewer system as well as the private sewer system must be reported on this form. The CIP should correlate to projects listed under "Means of Correction". Satellite entities may attach additional pages, or may generate their own tables showing the status, though any such tables must have the same column headings indicated on this form. If high priority deficiencies identified during pre-IICP condition assessments (if applicable) have not been addressed, include them on this form.

ONE YEAR DEFICIENCIES (direct and indirect cross connections, downspout connections, open or defective cleanout caps)

Deficiency ID	High Priority	Date	Anticinated	Actual	Means of	MWRD
	Deficiency	Identified	Correction	Correction	Correction	Permit
	Туре	Tuchtineu	Date	Date ⁽¹⁾	Correction	Number ⁽²⁾
DS_935_ELM	Downspout	7/19/2015	5/1/2016	3/19/2016	Cut and plug w/	n/a
					concrete cap	
DS_826_MAPLE	Downspout	7/25/2016	5/1/2017	Pending	Cut and plug w/	n/a
					concrete cap	
CO_325_N_MAIN	Cleanout - missing	7/25/2016	5/1/2017	Pending	New cap	n/a
CO_941_ELM	Cleanout - broken	7/27/2015	5/1/2016	2/16/2016	New cap	n/a
DXC_SANMH_4-36	Direct X-connect.	8/17/2015	5/1/2016	4/19/2016	Plug and connect	NRI 16-6073
					inlet to storm	
IXC_266_S_LINCOLN	Indirect X-connect.	9/16/2015	7/1/2016	8/20/2016	Lined lateral	n/a
IXC_104_S_MAIN	Indirect X-connect.	9/16/2016	6/1/2017	Pending	Point repair on	n/a
					storm sewer	
THREE YEAR D	EFICIENCIES	(high priority n	nanhole and main	nline defects)		
Deficiency ID	High Priority	Date	Anticipated	Actual	Means of	MWRD
	Deficiency	Identified	Correction	Correction	Correction	Permit
	Туре		Date	Date ⁽¹⁾		Number ⁽²⁾
MH_9-22	MH – collapsing	8/15/2015	10/30/2016	9/16/2016	Replaced	NRI 16-6275
					manhole	
MH_10-55	MH – missing	8/21/2016	5/30/2017	Pending	Structural liner	n/a
	bricks					
MH_10-86	MH – detached	9/3/2015	5/30/2017	Pending	New frame and	n/a
	frame				chimney seal	
3-65:3-64_123FT	Mainline –	10/15/2015	10/30/2016	9/16/2016	Point repair	NRI 16-6276
	collapse (PACP5)					
9-06:9-05_27FT	Mainline – hinge	10/30/2016	5/30/2017	Pending	CIPP liner	n/a
	fracture (PACP5)					

(1) Entries in this column will all be "Not Applicable" in the first Annual Report, but will contain actual completion dates in subsequent reports as repair work is performed.

(2) Enter the permit number once it is issued, if a permit is required for the work.

Prepared by:

Signature:	Date: February 15, 2017
Printed Name:	Title:
Telephone:	Email:

Page 1 of 1

SANITARY SEWER OVERFLOW and/or BASEMENT BACKUP SATELLITE ENTITY INTERNAL SUMMARY

Instructions: Use this form to document all sanitary sewer overflows and/or basement backup discharge occurrences. The following definitions apply:

Sanitary Sewer Overflow: the discharge of untreated sewage from the sanitary sewer collection system to a surface water, storm sewer or ditch, or the ground, due to the circumstances identified below.

Basement Backup: the discharge of untreated sewage into the lower level of a building due to the circumstances identified below.

Use one form per occurrence. A single occurrence may be longer than one day if the circumstance(s) causing the overflow and/or basement backup results in a discharge duration longer than 24 hours. If there is a start and restart of the overflow and/or basement backup within 24 hours and it is caused by the same circumstance(s), report it as a single occurrence. If discharge occurrences are separated by more then 24 hours, they should be reported as separate occurrences. If multiple overflows and/or basement backups occur resulting from the same circumstance, report it as a single occurrence.

The satellite entity must maintain all documentation and/or supporting information pertaining to information provided in this form on record and provide it to the MWRD if/when requested.

Satellite Entity: <u>City of Highland Ridge</u>

Sanitary Sewer Overflow and/or Basement Backup Details:

■ Sanitary Sewer Overflow	\rightarrow Dry Weather	Veather • Wet Weather (provide information below)			
Basement Backup	\rightarrow Dry Weather	Wet Weather (provide information below)			
Start Date (mm/dd/yy): 7 05/03/15	Time: AM PM <u>9:45</u> ■	Duration (hours as $2:15$	nd minutes):		
Estimated Volume (gallons): 1,350	Location (manh	ole number, address/n MH 6-34, Lincol	najor intersection, attach spreadsheet f	or multiple locations):	
Pump Used: No • Yes	B Pump Capacit	ry: <u>n/a</u> GPM			
Circumstances Causing the S	anitary Sewer Over	flow and/or Basemen	t Backup (check all that apply):		
Rain P	ower Outage	Collapsed Sewer	Lift Station Failure		
Snow melt E	quipment failure	Blocked Sewer	Forcemain Break		
Widespread Flooding F	ats, Oils, Grease	Roots	Other (explain below)		
Explain why the sanitary sew caused the power outage, or w flooding caused by high river, s	er overflow and/or b hat caused the basen stream or lake water l	asement backup occu nent backup. Floodin evels, not just localize	rred. For example, describe what e g should only be indicated as a cause d high water in the street.	quipment failed, what e if there is significant	
Intense rainfall					
Wet Weather Event Informat	tion (if applicable):				
Start Date:Time :A $05/03/15$ $8:15$ \bullet	M PM End Da $05/03$	tte: Time : $\frac{15}{3:45}$	AM PM		
Amount of Rainfall (inches): 3.26	Amount of Snow 1	Melt (Inches): Cor	ntributing Soil Conditions (saturated, fi Damp; 1.5" of rain over previous	rozen, soil type): 3 days	
Peak 1-Hour Intensity (inches): <u>1.93</u>	Rain Gauge Locat Public wor	ion: ks garage			

Where Did the Discharge from the Overflow and/or Basement Backup Go? (check all that apply)

On the ground and absorbed into the soil

Ditch: Name of surface water it drains into:

Storm Sewer: Name of surface water it drains into: ______North Branch of Chicago River
 Surface water direct discharge: _______
 Basement Backup (number and use, i.e. residential, commercial, of buildings affected): ______
 Other (explain): ______

Actions to Correct This Occurrence and Prevent Future Overflows and/or Basement Backups:

1. Describe what actions were taken to minimize the volume of wastewater discharged from the overflow and/or basement backup reported on this form.

The Merrick Lane wet-weather storage facility was pumped down prior to the storm, and the gate valve at the facility remained fully open during the event to maximize utilization of storage volume.

2. Describe if the occurrence reported on this form is part of an area subject to frequent and/or patterns of occurrences and if investigations have been or are planned to be conducted to determine the cause of the frequent and/or patterns of occurrences.

Yes, this manhole is in one of the previously identified high-priority areas and is currently being investigated to locate sources of I/I. Smoke testing and dye tracing in this area is planned for summer 2015.

3. Describe what corrective actions are planned to prevent or minimize future sanitary sewer overflows and/or basement backups.

Money has been budgeted to rehabilitate manholes and mainline sewers in this area in 2016 and 2017. Following the I/I source investigations, notifications will be sent to private property owners to encourage the disconnection of private sector sources.

Final Determination for the Cause of the Overflow(s) and/or Basement Backup(s): (check one)

Private Property Sewer	\rightarrow	Explain:	
		-	

• Municipal Sewer \rightarrow Explain: During the peak of the rain event, flow exceeded the mainline sewer capacity, causing it to surcharge and overflow.

Report Completed By:

Name:		
Title:		
Street Address:		
City:	ZIP:	
Phone:		
Email:		

Authorized Satellite Entity Representative:

Name:		
Title:		
Street Address:		
City:	ZIP:	
Phone:		
Email:		

Authorized Satellite Entity Signature

May 6, 2015 Date

SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM DESCRIPTION AND INVENTORY INFILTRATION & INFLOW CONTROL PROGRAM

Submit this form upon completion of condition assessment and after completing any substantial sewer system improvement.

Date: <u>10/27/15</u> **Reason for Submitting:**

Completion of condition assessment
 Substantial sewer system improvement. Describe improvement: ______

A. Sanitary Sewer System Description

- 1. Is part of the Agency's service area Combined? (check one)
 - No
 - Yes, ____% Combined
- 2. Separate Sanitary Sewer Service Area: <u>6,200</u> acres
- 3. Separate Sanitary Sewer Service Area Population Equivalent (PE¹) Served: Residential: <u>46,000</u> Non-Residential: <u>2,700</u> Total: <u>48,700</u>
- 4. Description of Municipal Sewer System Ownership: (check one) Main line sewers only

B. Sanitary Sewer System Inventory (separate sewer area only)

A. Sanitary Sewer System Inventory:

Gravity Sewer (ft)	Manholes	Force main (ft)	Lift Stations	Siphons	Connections to MWRD
500,000	2,000	22,700	8	0	3

B. Age Distribution of the Collection System:

		2	
Age	Gravity (ft)	Force main (ft)	Lift Station
0-25 years	125,000	7,200	5
26 – 50 years	235,000	10,500	3
>51	140,000	5,000	0
Total	500,000	22,700	8

C. Size Distribution of the Collection System:

Diameter	Gravity (ft)	Force main (ft)
≤ 8 inches	335,000	16,800
9-18 inches	87,000	5,900
19 – 36 inches	35,000	0
>36 inches	43,000	0
Total	500,000	22,700

D. Distribution of Collection System by Material:

Material	Gravity (ft)	Force main (ft)
PVC	110,000	
RCP	62,000	
CP (Concrete Pipe)		
VCP (Vitrified Clay Pipe)	328,000	
CCCP (Prestressed Concrete Cylinder)		
Steel		
DIP		12,000
CIP		8,300
HDPE		2,400
FRP (Fiberglass Reinforced Plastic)		
RPMP (Techite)		
ACP (Asbestos Cement Pipe)		
Other:		
Other:		

E. Number of Service Connections:

Residential	Commercial	Industrial	Other	Total
18,750	83	3	4	18,840

¹PE = 100 gal/person/day

LONG TERM OPERATION & MAINTENANCE PROGRAM ANNUAL SUMMARY REPORT INFILTRATION & INFLOW CONTROL PROGRAM

Do not leave any blank spaces on this form, except where indicated. Use "X" for checking applicable information. Submit any supporting documentation when/where required. Submit a Sanitary Sewer System Description and Inventory Form upon completion of condition assessment and for any substantial sewer system improvement.

Reporting Period: January 1st to December 31st, <u>2021</u>

Latest version of the sanitary sewer atlas is dated: <u>November 2019</u> Format:
— Paper
— GIS
— CAD

Satellite Entity Information: (to be completed by Public Works Director, or similar)

Satellite Entity: _	City of Highland Ridge		
Address:		City:	Zip:
Representative:		Title:	Director of Public Works
Telephone:	Fax:	Email:	

Certification:

I hereby certify that the information provided in the Annual Report is true and correct.

Signature: Date:

I. Event Reporting

A. Basement Backups (BBs): (reportable events only)

	BBs for Current Year	BBs for Previous Year
Number of Occurrences	12	27

1. Were BBs addressed by installing overhead sewers (OHS), backflow prevention devices (BPD), local storage facilities (LSF), or other measures? (indicate number addressed)

No Yes # of OHS: <u>8</u> #of BPD: <u>2</u> # of LSF: <u>0</u> Other Explain:

2. Describe reason(s) if cause(s) could not be identified and/or addressed:

Several homes in the vicinity of the Brainerd Road Lift Station backed up during the April 13 storm. Phase I engineering for upgrades to the lift station and/or local storage are currently underway.

3. Describe how many of the BBs reported above are recurring (i.e. more than one occurrence during the reporting year) and action taken for investigation and their elimination:

Number of recurring events: <u>1</u> Action taken: <u>Overhead sewer connection was installed with assistance of city subsidy.</u>

B. Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs):

1. SSO Reporting:

	Dry Weather for	Dry Weather for	Wet Weather for	Wet Weather for
	Current Year	Previous Year	Current Year	Previous Year
Main Line	0	1	4	9
Lift Station	0	0	2	3

2. Describe how many of the SSOs were identified and/or eliminated or if the cause could not be identified and/or eliminated:

All SSOs occurred due to wet-weather flows in excess of system capacity. Capacity and storage options in these locations are currently under review.

3. Describe how many of the SSOs reported above are recurring (i.e. more than one occurrence during the reporting year) and action taken for investigation and their elimination:

Number of recurring events: <u>3</u> Action taken: Feasibility analysis for wet-weather pumping to local storage

II. Sanitary Sewer System Inspection & Maintenance:

Main Line Force main % of Manholes % of (Ft) (Ft) Total (Nos) Total CCTV 65,000 13.0 Smoke Testing 30,000 6.0 120 6.0 Dve Testing 10,000 2.0 36 1.8 Visual¹ 12.5 250 Acoustic Emissions Testing 1,450 6.5 Pole Camera Inspection 2 0.1 Other:

A. Inspection of Sanitary Sewer System

(1) Visual inspection of manholes includes surface inspections and full descent inspections of manholes. Such inspections shall be performed in accordance with NASSCO standards.

B. Lift Station Inspection

	Inspected and Serviced (Nos)	% of Total in System
Lift Stations	8	100.0

C. Maintenance of Sanitary Sewer System

	Sewer (ft)			Appurtenances (Nos)	
	Main Lina	Eoroo Main	% of	Manholes	% of
			Total		Total
Cleaning	8,200	0	1.6	35	1.7
Root Cutting	6,400	0	1.3	25	1.3
Chemical Root	21.000	0	4.2	<u>ه</u> ۲	11
Control	21,000	0	4.2	02	4.1
FOG treatment	40,000	2,300	8.4	153	7.6
Other:					
Other:					

D. High Priority Deficiencies: (submit a status of High Priority Deficiencies Form and CIP for deficiencies identified but not corrected during the reporting year)

Туре	Identified (length or number)	Corrected (length or number)
Main Line	5	2
Manholes	1	1
Lift Stations	0	0

E. Estimated Annual Expenditure

Budget for Reporting Year:\$650,000Expenditures for Reporting Year:\$587,000

III. Sanitary Sewer System Rehabilitation

A. Public Sector Rehabilitation:

1. Main Line Sewer:

	Length or Number	% of System
Replacement	260	0.1
CIPP Lining	11,000	2.2
Point Repairs	1	
Grouting	0	
Cross-Connections	3	
Other:		

2. Manholes:

Complete Rehabilitation	Partial Rehabilitation	Replacement	Grouting
3	23	2	37

3. Lift Stations:

Number	Type of Rehabilitation
1	Replaced comminutor; rehabbed dry well

B. Private Sector Rehabilitation:

1. I/I Sources Identified: (submit a list of property addresses for those not corrected and a schedule for correcting them)

	Number of Properties	Removed/Corrected
	Identified	
Downspout	2	2
Area Drains/Driveway Drains	1	0
Open Cleanout	7	7
Storm Sump to Sanitary	11	2
Storm Sump w/divert valve	9	4
Combination Sump	5	0
Unsealed Sanitary Sump	2	0
Window Well Drains	16	13
Foundation Drains	3	0
Lateral	57	3

IV. Sanitary Sewer System Flow Monitoring

Was flow monitoring of the sanitary sewer conducted during the reporting year?

- No (skip remaining questions in Section IV)
- Yes (provide information requested below)

A. Flow Monitoring Equipment:

 Number of Flow Meters:
 3

 Start Date of Flow Monitoring:
 3/4/2021

 End Date of Flow Monitoring:
 9/7/2021

Were rain gauges used? □ No ■ Yes If used, provide rain gauge location(s): ______public works garage_____

B. Flow Monitoring Service Area & Results:

i vice i neu m		Juito.			
Service	Service	Service	Average Dry	Peak Wet	Peak Wet :
Area	Area Size	Area PE ¹	Weather Flow	Weather Flow	Average Dry
Number	(acres)		(gpcpd)	(gpcpd)	Weather Raito
1	135	731	82	910	11.1
2	220	1,377	113	1,035	9.2
3	76	525	76	289	3.8
			1		1

1. Service Area Information & Results:

 $^{1}PE = 100 \text{ gal/person/day}$

2. For service areas with Peak Wet : Average Dry Weather ratios above 4:1, describe how areas will be prioritized for I/I investigation and removal/rehabilitation:

Manhole inspections and smoke testing in Service Areas 1 and 2 with follow-up dye testing has been budgeted for the coming year.

APPENDIX D

NASSCO CODES SUMMARY

NASSCO'S PIPELINE ASSESSMENT & CERTIFICATION PROGRAM (PACP)©

Section 4—Continuous Defect Coding

"TRULY" 4-1		
"TRULY" 4-1		
"TRULY" 4-		-
"TRULY" 4-		
"TRULY" 4		
"TRULY"		5
"TRULY"		1000
"TRULY"		
"TRULY"		
"TRULY		
"TRULY		2.22 m
"TRUL		-
"TRUL		
"TRUI		
"TRU		_
"TRI		
"TR		-
HT.,		~
1.,		-
5		1
3		
100		M
10000		
	12	000102

"Truly" continuous defects run along the sewer without any interruption for more than three feet (1 meter). Examples: - Longitudinal Fractures - Longitudinal Cracks

"REPEATED" 4-1 "Repeated" continuous defects occur at regular intervals along the sever: These occur at pipe joints and include: -Encrustation -Open Joints -Circumferential Fractures

Code Changes in Version 6.0.1

Buckling Wall (KW), Buckling Dimpling (KD), and Buckling Inverse Curvature (KI)

Added:

Section 5—Structural Defect Coding (Module 6A)

J JOINT 5-26	JO Joint Offset 5-26 (Displaced) JS Joint Separated 5-26 (Open) JA Joint Angular 5-26	S SURFACE DAMAGE 5-31 SRC Reinforcement Corroded 5-31 SRC - M - Mechanical SRC - C - Chemical Attack SRC - Z - Not Evident	LF LINING FAILURE 5-49 (continued) LFOC Overcut Service 5-49 LFUC Undercut Service 5-49 LFUC Undercut Service 5-49 LFW Wrinkled Lining 5-49 LFAX Annular Space 5-49	Updated November 2010
X COLLAPSE 5-23	XP Pipe Collapse 5-23 XB Brick Collapse 5-23	S SURFACE 5-31 DAMAGE 5-31 SRP Reinforcement Projecting 5-31 SRP - M - Mechanical SRP - C - Chemical Attack SRP - Z - Not Evident	LF LINING FAILURE 5-49 LFD Detached Lining 5-49 LFDE Defective End 5-49 LFDE Blistered Lining 5-49 LFCS Service Cut Shifted 5-49 LFAC Abandoned 5-49 LFAC Abandoned 5-49	BRICKWORK 5-77 MM Missing Mortar 5-75 S -Smalt 5-75 M -Medium 5-75 L -Large 5-75
D DEFORMED 5-19	DV Deformed 5-19 Vertically (brick) DH Deformed 5-19 Horizontally (brick)	S SURFACE DAMAGE 5-31 SRV Reinforcement Visible 5-31 SRV - M - Mechanical SRV - C - Chemical Attack SRV - Z - Not Evident	K BUCKLING 5-45 KW Wall 5-45 KO Dimpling 5-45 KI Inverse Curvature 5-45	BRICKWORK 5-77 DB Displaced 5-75 MB Missing 5-75 DI Dropped invert 5-75
H HOLE 5-17	HSV -Soil Visible 5-17 Beyond Defect HV V -Void Visible 5-17 Beyond Defect	S SURFACE 5-31 DAMAGE 5-31 SAM Aggregate 5-31 Missing 5-31 SAM - M - Mechanical SAM - C - Chemical Attack SAM - Z - Not Evident	S SURFACE DAMAGE 5-31 SCP Corrosion 5-32 (metal pipe) *no modifiers used	RP POINT REPAIR 5-71 RPL Localized Pipeliner 5-69 RPL - D -Defective 5-69 RPZ - D Other 5-69 RPZ - D Defective 5-69
B BROKEN 5-15	BSV -Soil Visible 5-15 Beyond Defect BV V -Void Visible 5-15 Beyond Defect	S SURFACE 5-31 DAMAGE 5-31 SAP Aggregate 5-31 SAP - Mechanical 5-31 SAP - C - Chemical SAP - Z - Not Evident	S SURFACE DAMAGE 5-31 SZ Other SZ -Mechanical SZ -Chemical Attack SZ - Not Evident	RP POINT REPAIR 5-71 RPR Pipe Feplaced 5-69 RPR D Defective 5-69 RPP D Defective 5-69 RPP D Defective 5-69
F FRACTURE 5-7	FL Longitudinal 5-7 FC Circumferential 5-7 FM Multiple 5-7 FS Spiral 5-7 FH Hinge 5-7	S SURFACE 5-31 DAMAGE 5-31 SAV Aggregate 5-31 SAV - C - Chemical SAV - Z - Not Evident	S SURFACE 5-31 DAMAGE 5-31 SSS Surface Spalling 5-32 SSS - C - Chemical Attack SSS - Z - Not Evident	WF WELD FAILURE 5-67 WFL Longitudinal 5-67 WFC Circumferential 5-67 WFS Spiral WFS Spiral 5-67 WFS Unidentified 5-67
C CRACK 5-1	CL Longitudinal 5-2 CC Circumferential 5-2 CM Multiple 5-2 CS Spiral 5-2 CH Hinge 5-2	S SURFACE DAMAGE 5-31 SRI Roughness Increased 5-31 SRI - Mechanical SRI - Z -Not Evident	S SURFACE 5-31 DAMAGE 5-31 SMW Missing Wall 5-32 SMW - Mechanical SMW - C - Chemical Attack SMW - Z - Not Evident	LF LINING FAILURE 5-50 FAILURE 5-50 LFBU Bulges 5-50 LFDC Discoloration 5-50 LFDL Delamination 5-50 LFRS Resin Slug 5-50 LFPH Pinholes 5-50 LFZ Other 5-50

NASSCO'S PIPELINE ASSESSMENT & CERTIFICATION PROGRAM (PACP)©

Section 6—Operational and Maintenance (Module 6B)

D DEPOSITS 6-1	D DEPOSITS 6-1	D DEPOSITS 6-1	R ROOTS 6-7	R ROOTS 6-7	R ROOTS 6-7	R ROOTS 6-7
DA Attached 6-1	DS Settled 6-1 DSF -Fine 6-2	(continued) DN Ingress 6-1 DNF -Fine 6-3	RF Fine 6-7 RFB -Barrel 6-7	RT Tap 6-7 RTB -Barrel 6-7	RM Medium 6-7 RMB -Barrel 6-7 RMI -Lateral 6-7	RB Ball 6-7 RBB -Barrel 6-7 RBL -Lateral 6-7
DAGS -Grease 6-2 DAR -Ragging 6-2 DAZ -Other 6-2	DSGV -Gravel 6-2 DSC -Hard/Compacted 6-2 DSZ -Other 6-2	(silt & sand) DNGV -Gravel 6-3 DNZ -Other 6-3	RFC -Lateral 0-7 RFC -Connection 6-8	HIL -Lateral 0-7 RTC -Connection 6-8	RMC -Connection 6-8	RBC -Connection 6-8
I INFILTRATION 6-13	OB OBSTACLES/ OBSTRUCTIONS 6-19	OB OBSTACLES/ OBSTRUCTIONS 6-19	OB OBSTACLES/ OBSTRUCTIONS 6-19	V VERMIN 6-31	G GROUT TEST & SEAL 6-33	G GROUT TEST & SEAL 6-33
IS Stain 6-13	OBB Brick or	OBJ Object wedged in joint 6-19	OBS Built into structure 6-20	VC Cockroach 6-31 VZ Other 6-31	GTP Grout Test Passed 6-33	GTU Grout Test Unable 6-33
IV weeper 0-13 ID Dripper 6-13 IB Bunner 6-13	OBM Pipe Material 6-19	OBC Object through connection/junction 6-19	OBN Construction Debris 6-20		GTP - J - Joint 6-33 GTP - L - Lateral 6-33	GTU - J - Joint 6-33 GTU - L - Lateral 6-33
IG Gusher 6-13	OBI Object protruding through wall 6-19	OBP External Pipe Cable 6-19	OBR Rocks 6-20 OBZ Other 6-20		Failed 6-33	GHI Grout rest Location 6-33
Section 7—C	Construction Fe	atures Coding	(Module 6C)			
						O INTERIORIO CE ALINIC

.ING 7-9 7-9	7-13 7-14 7-14
IS INTRUDING SEAI MATERIAL ISGT Grout ISZ Other	A ACCESS POINT ACB Catch Basin AEP End of Pipe
IS INTRUDING SEALING MATERIAL 7-9 ISSRH Hanging 7-9 ISSRB Broken 7-9 ISSRB Loose 7-9 ISSRL Loose 7-9 ISSRL Loose 7-9	A ACCESS POINT 7-13 ACO Clean Out 7-14 ACOM Mainline 7-14 ACOM Mainline 7-14 ACOM House 7-14
T TAP 7-1 TR Rehabilitated 7-2 TRI -Intruding 7-2 TRA -Active 7-2 TRA -Capted 7-2 TRA -Abandoned 7-2 TRD -Defective 7-2	A ACCESS POINT 7-13 AOC Other Special 7-13 AM Meter 7-13 AW Wet weil 7-13 AWW Wet weil 7-13 AUB Junction Box 7-14
T TAP 7-1 TS Saddle 7-2 TSI -Intruding 7-2 TSA -Active 7-2 TSA -Active 7-2 TSB -Abandoned 7-2 TSD -Defective 7-2	AACCESS POINT7-13AMHManhole7-13AWAWastewater7-13ADPDischarge Point7-13ADPDischarge Point7-13ATCTee Connection7-13
T TAP 7-1 TB Break In/Hammer 7-2 TBI -Intruding 7-2 TBC -Capped 7-2 TBD -Abandoned 7-2 TBD -Deflective 7-2	L LINE 7-11 (of sewer) 7-11 LRU Right Up LRD Right Down 7-11 LU Up 7-11 LU Down 7-11
T TAP 7-1 TF Factory Made 7-1 TFI -Intruding 7-2 TFA -Active 7-2 TFG -Capped 7-2 TFG -Capped 7-2 TFG -Defactive 7-2 TFG -Defactive 7-2	L LINE 7-11 (of sewer) 7-11 LL Left Up 7-11 LLU Left Up 7-11 LLD Left Down 7-11 LR Right 7-11

Section 8—Miscellaneous Features Coding (Module 6D)

M MISCELLANEOUS	MLC Lining Change MMC Material Change MSA Survey Abandoned MWL Water Level MWLS -Sag
8-1	8 8 1 1 8 8 9 1 1 8 8 9 1 1 8 8 9 1 1 8 8 9 1 1 8 8 9 1 1 8 9 1 1 8 9 1 1 1 1
MISCELLANEOUS FEATURES	Camera Underwater General Observation General Photograph Snape/Size Change (Sewer Dimension/Vertical/ Horizontal) Joint Length Change
4	ACU AGP ASC AJL

8-1	8 5 7 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 8 5 7 7 8 5 7 7 8 5 7 7 8 5 7 7 8 5 7 7 8 5 7 7 8 5 7 7 8 5 7 7 8 5 7 7 7 7
MISCELLANEOUS FEATURES	M Water Mark Dye Test V -Dye Visible /N -Not Visible
Σ	MW YM
8-1	8-2 8-2 8-2 8-2
MISCELLANEOUS FEATURES	-ining Change Material Change Survey Abandoned Mater Level -Sag
	NLS V

Updated November 2010

APPENDIX D

SAMPLE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN (CIP)

APPENDIX D: SAMPLE EXCERPT FROM CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN (CIP)

Satellite Entity: Village of Sunnybrook

Date of Revision to CIP: January 9, 2016

Capital Improvement Projects:

Project	2016012	Planned	FY2016	Project Name:	FY2016 Sewer Cleaning/CIPP		
Number:		Fiscal		-	lining		
		Year:					
Project Scope	Sanitary sewer cleaning and			Project Area	Surf Street betwee	n Park Ave.	
Description:	lining of problem areas			Description ⁽¹⁾ :	and 2 nd Ave.; Prosp	ect Blvd	
-	identified through CCTV		-	between Main Street and			
				Gardner Street; Ful	ler Street		
					between Blackston	e Pkwy and	
					Ottawa Ave.		
Cost:	\$800,000			Funding Source:	Water/sewer General fund		
Estimated	4/4/2016	Esti	mated	180 days	Estimated	10/1/2016	
Start Date:		Dur	ation:		Completion		
					Date:		
Project Ranking:			1				

(1) An exhibit showing project location may be attached.

Project Number:	2017023	Planned Fiscal Year:	FY2017	Project Name:	Wagner Road Sewe Main Replacement	er and Water	
Project	Replace de	eteriorated	section of	Project Area	Wagner Road between Division		
Scope	6" water n	nain with Cl	ass II	Description:	Street and Fairview Road		
Description:	ductile iro	n pipe; repla	ace				
-	service to b. boxes; replace 8"						
	and 10" co	oncrete sani	tary sewer				
	with same	size SDR 26	5 PVC;				
	replace lateral connections and						
	laterals to	property lir	ne.				
Cost:	\$1,200,000		Funding Source:	SRF loan			
Estimated	1/18/2017	' Esti	imated	270 days	Estimated	10/15/2017	
Start Date:		Dur	ration:		Completion		
					Date:		
Project Ranking:			2				
Project	2017025	Planned	FY2017	Project Name:	FY2017 Sewer Cleaning/CIPP		
------------------	-------------	--------------	--------	-----------------	----------------------------	-----------	
Number:		Fiscal			lining		
		Year:					
Project	Sanitary s	ewer cleanii	ng and	Project Area	See attachment for areas		
Scope	lining of p	roblem area	as	Description:			
Description:	identified	through CC	TV				
Cost:	\$810,000			Funding Source:	Water/sewer General fund		
Estimated	4/4/2017	Est	imated	180 days	Estimated	10/1/2017	
Start Date:		Dui	ation:		Completion		
					Date:		
Project Ranking:			3	•	•		

Project	2016064	Planned	FY2016	Project Name:	Smith Avenue Road	d Repair	
Number:		Vear:					
Project	Full depth	pavement		Project Area	Smith Avenue between First		
Scope	replaceme	ent; new cur	b and	Description:	Avenue and Eighth Avenue		
Description:	gutter; ad	d stormwate	er inlets;	-			
	replace de	eteriorated r	manholes				
	and catch	basins					
Cost:	\$150,000	(manholes d	only)	Funding Source:	Water/sewer General fund		
					(manholes only)		
Estimated	4/18/2016	6 Esti	imated	180 days	Estimated	10/15/2016	
Start Date:		Dur	ation:		Completion		
					Date:		
Project Ranking:			4				

Project	2016075	Planned	FY2016	Project Name:	Manhole Repairs, V	/arious
Number:		Fiscal		-	Locations	
		Year:				
Project Scope	Manhole r	eplacement	, frame/lid	Project Area	See attachment for	areas
Description:	replaceme	nt, frame/li	d	Description:		
-	adjustmen	t, manhole	lining,	-		
	chimney seal addition where					
	required					
Cost:	\$450,000			Funding Source:	Water/sewer Gene	ral fund
Estimated	5/15/2016	Esti	mated	120 days	Estimated	9/12/2016
Start Date:		Dur	ation:		Completion	
					Date:	
Project Ranking:			5			

APPENDIX D

SAMPLE PRIVATE SECTOR PROGRAM (PSP)

APPENDIX D: SAMPLE PRIVATE SECTOR PROGRAM

Satellite Entity: Village of Sunnybrook

In recognition of the fact that a large portion of excessive wet weather flow in sanitary sewer systems comes from the privately-owned sector of the sanitary sewer system, the Village of Sunnybrook has developed a Private Sector Program (PSP). This PSP is intended to prohibit new illegal clear water connections to the sanitary sewer system, compel property owners with illegal clear water connections or sources of excessive infiltration to eliminate them, establish a public information program to enhance awareness of the risks posed by illegal clear water connections, and establish a long term program under which illegal connections that are costly to correct may be removed over time.

The components of the Village of Sunnybrook PSP are described below:

1. Staffing

The PSP will be overseen by the Director of Public Works. Three Water/Sewer Technicians will be trained in how to conduct internal and external private property inspections for sources of infiltration and inflow. These technicians will receive training on how I/I sources can be identified using smoke testing and dyed water testing. The technicians will receive training on how to document findings from private property inspections. Smoke testing and dyed water testing of multiple private properties for I/I studies will be outsourced to consultants. The Director of Public Works has the authority to determine when a private property should be inspected. On average, the Director of Public Works will spend eight hours per month on the PSP, while each of the technicians will spend sixteen hours per month each on the PSP.

2. Local Authority

The Village has adopted the following ordinances (copies attached) allowing inspections of private property for illegal clear water connections to the sanitary sewer system:

- 15-007 authorizes inspections when the Village has determined that the property is located in an area subject to sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs) and basement backups (BBs), or that the property is in an area that contributes to sanitary sewer overflows and basement backups in another area
- 15-121 authorizes inspections in conjunction with complaints related to water service, sewers, flooding, and utilities
- 15-130 requires inspection and repair or replacement, if necessary, of service laterals in conjunction with tear-downs and substantial improvement of structures
- 3. Inspection Program

If more than three wet weather SSOs or BBs occur in a subbasin within a calendar year (either during the same event or different events), and if these events are not attributed to blockages of private laterals at the locations where the events took place (eg., laterals clogged by roots, crushed laterals, etc.), the Village shall investigate the cause of the SSOs or BBs. The investigation may include televising of the public sewer, inspection of lift station(s) (if present), and inspection of private properties in the subbasin and in the subbasin immediately upstream. The Village will inspect private properties if the cause of the SSOs/BBs seems to be private sector I/I, and the public sewer system appears to not be a significant contributor of I/I. Depending the age of the system, severity of the problem and other site-specific factors, the Village may decide to inspect the private sewer laterals as well.

The Village will inspect all properties for illegal connections to the sanitary sewer system when Public Works staff needs to enter a home to address complaints related to flooding, sewers, water service, or utilities.

A sample inspection checklist is attached.

A private property is determined to be non-compliant if it has any of the following:

- A directly connected downspout
- A poorly-disconnected downspout that allows substantial leakage of stormwater into the sanitary sewer
- A cleanout or sanitary manhole missing a cover
- A cleanout or sanitary manhole with a cover that allows water inside
- A stormwater sump pump that discharges to the sanitary sewer

If a private property has none of the above defects, but has any of the following, it shall be considered partially-compliant:

- A foundation drain that discharges directly or indirectly to the sanitary sewer
- An area drain
- Window well drains
- Driveway drains
- A sanitary sump that also serves as a sump for groundwater, when no other sump for groundwater is present
- A leaky sewer lateral

The Village's goal is to inspect all properties with basements once every 20 years through any of the aforementioned scenarios.

4. Non-Compliance Correction

When a property is found to be non-compliant, the inspectors will verbally inform the property owner, and show them the non-compliant conditions. A letter will be sent to the property owner within two

weeks of the inspection describing the non-compliant conditions and requiring correction of the noncomplaint conditions within 90 days. The Village will post on its website a list of licensed, bonded contractors who are capable of performing the corrective work.

Property owners are required to notify the Public Works Department when the non-compliant conditions are corrected. The Village will send inspectors to the private property within seven working days to inspect the correction.

When properties are found to be in partial compliance, the Village inspectors will show the property owners the illegal connection. The Village will send a letter and report to the property owner documenting the illegal condition. The letter will encourage the property owner to correct the condition and will provide information about the Village's cost-sharing programs for lateral rehabilitation, sump repair and installation, rain garden construction, and storm sewer extension. The letter will also inform the property owner that in the event of substantial improvement to the property, the illegal conditions must be corrected. Similarly, in the event of a teardown, the lateral must be replaced or lined.

5. Long Term Program to Address High Cost I/I Sources

The Village will maintain records of each property that is found to have high-cost I/I sources during inspections. This list will include all properties found to have high-cost I/I sources during the first five years of the IICP. The type of the I/I source or sources (footing drain, area drain, driveway drain, window well drain, sump pits collecting groundwater that discharge to the sanitary sewer, leaky lateral) will be recorded with the date of the inspection. The Village has cost sharing programs set up for lateral rehabilitation, sump repair and installation, rain garden construction, and storm sewer extension. Property owners may apply to participate in any of these programs to implement improvements to redirect groundwater and stormwater out of the sanitary sewer system. Depending upon availability of funds and severity of SSOs and BBs, the Village may increase funding of its cost-sharing programs and/or directly fund some private property improvements.

The Village's ordinances requiring correction of illegal I/I sources in conjunction with substantial improvements to properties will result in removal of such sources over time. Similarly, the Village's ordinance requiring replacement or lining of laterals in conjunction with tear downs will also reduce I/I in the system over time. When some or all of a property's high-cost I/I sources are corrected, the Village will update the list to include the dates of the correction work.

The list of properties with high-cost I/I sources will be provided to the Community Development Department. Updated versions will be provided quarterly. It will be responsibility of the Community Development Department to consult the list of properties with high-cost I/I sources any time a property transfer stamp is issued. If a property transfer stamp is issued to a property on the list, the Community Development Department will mail a letter to the new property owner within 30 days of the issuance of the transfer stamp. The letter will notify the owner of the presence of high-cost I/I sources and will provide information about the long term program to address high cost I/I sources.

6. Enforcement

If the non-compliant conditions are not addressed within 90 days, other than when a violation notice is issued after September 1, in which case the non-compliant condition must be addressed in 120 days, a violation notice will be issued to the property owner which requires the condition to be corrected in 14 days and requires payment of a penalty. The violation notice will state that water service may be shut off in the event of continued non-compliance. If the conditions are not addressed within 14 days, a second violation notice will be issued and water service will be shut off. The Village may elect to initiate a suit against non-compliant property owners.

When a non-compliant property submits a building permit application for substantial improvement, the submitted drawings must include disconnection of all illegal I/I sources. A building permit will not be issued unless the drawings include this work. If/when the Village begins a program of directly funding some private property improvements, enforcement measures for non-compliance will be determined at that time.

7. Funding

The Village will fund its PSP through Water/Sewer fees. Should grant or loan funding become available from regional, state or federal agencies, the Village will investigate those potential sources to supplement the PSP.

8. Public Information

The Village will develop brochures and post information on its website about on the following topics:

- Sources of Clear Water from Private Property, why property owners should be concerned, and actions they can take to correct the problems
- The Village's cost sharing program for lateral rehabilitation
- The Village's cost sharing program for sump repair and installation
- The Village's cost-sharing program for rain garden construction
- The Village's cost-sharing program for storm sewer extension

These brochures will be included with letters sent to property owners in areas experiencing SSOs and BBs, as well as letters notifying property owners that they have illegal connections to the sanitary sewer. The Village will include a brief article on the topic of private sector I/I in each issue of its quarterly newsletter. The brochures will be handed out at public meetings as appropriate.

APPENDIX D

SAMPLE PRIVATE PROPERTY INSPECTION CHECKLIST

PRIVATE PROPERTY INSPECTION CHECKLIST

Inspection #:Address:			Inspecti	Inspection Date: Inspected By:			
			Inspecte				
GEI	NERAL						
1.	Property Type:	□ Single Family	🗆 Multi Fam	ily 🗆 Commercial 🗆 Other			
2.	Sanitary Plumbing Type:	□ Gravity	□ Overhead				
3.	Foundation Type:	□ Basement	Crawl Space	ce 🗆 Slab			
4.	Has the property experien	ced a sewer backup?		\Box Yes			
5.	Has the property experience	ced stormwater floodi	ng? 🗌 No	\Box Yes			
FV	FFDNAI		-				
<u>Е</u> л.	Are there underground do	when outs with no visit	hla disaharga loor	ation? \Box No \Box Ves			
0. 7	Does the property have ou	utside drains?					
/.	7a If outside drains exist	record the number of	each type:	Area Driveway Patio			
	7 a. If outside drains exist,	record the number of	Stai	rwell Window Well			
INT	ERNAL						
8.	Basement Dimensions:	X					
9.	Basement Grade:						
EJF	ECTOR PUMP						
10.	Does the property have a	an ejector pump?	□ No	□ Yes			
11.	Is the ejector pit sealed?		□ No	□ Yes			
12.	Where does the ejector p	pump discharge?	□ To Ground	□ To Sanitary □ Unknown			
13.	Cover Type:						
14.	Check Valve:		□ No	\Box Yes			
CLI	EARWATER SUMP						
15.	Does the property have a	a clearwater sump?	□ No	□ Yes			
16.	Where does the clearwat	ter sump discharge?	□ Storm Sewer	□ Sanitary Sewer □ Over Ground □ Unknow			
17.	Are there any visible sar	nitary utilities entering	the clearwater su	$\lim_{n \to \infty} 1 $ i.e. is it a combination sump? \square No \square Yes			
18.	Identify the type of drain	ns entering the sump p	it: 🗌 Floor Di	rain \Box Footing Drain \Box Laundry Drain			
			□ Bathroom	m Shower			
19.	Is the bottom of the sum	p pit sealed?	□ No	□ Yes			
20.	Cover type: 🗆 Bolted	I □ Loose □ Non	e 🗆 Other				
21.	Check Valve:		□ No	□ Yes			

INSIDE PIPING AND FLOOR DRAINS

22.	Is there a direct connection between sanitary and clearwater piping?				\Box Yes	
23.	Are there observable diverters?				□ Yes	
24.	Are there floor drains?	□ No	□ Yes			
25.	Is there a suspected footing tile connection?			□ No	□ Yes	
DYE '	FEST					
26.	Were dye tests performed?	□ No		□ Yes		
26a.	List dye tests performed:					
		Positive?	□ No	\Box Yes		
		Positive?	□ No	\Box Yes		
		Positive?	□ No	\Box Yes		
СОМ	MENTS:					

NOTIFICATION CHECKLIST

Letter:	
1 st Pass:	
2 nd Pass:	
Final Notice:	

APPENDIX D

TEMPLATE LONG TERM O&M PROGRAM (LTOMP)

APPENDIX D: TEMPLATE LONG TERM O&M PROGRAM

Satellite Entity: Village of Sunnybrook

The Village of Sunnybrook's sanitary sewer system is designed to remove wastewater from homes and other buildings and convey it to the intercepting sewer system owned and operated by the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago (MWRD), which conveys flow to wastewater treatment plants. A sanitary sewer system that is not properly maintained, operated and repaired can pose risks to the environment and to public health. These risks arise from system failures or when excessive infiltration and inflow (I/I) enters the sanitary sewer system. I/I reduces the capacity of the sanitary sewer system and can result in sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs) and basement backups (BBs), which are illegal. This long term operation and maintenance program (LTOMP) will be continually implemented by the Village of Sunnybrook to maintain sewer system capacity and performance, thereby reducing SSOs and BBs.

The goals of this LTOMP are to:

- Establish standards and procedures by which the Village of Sunnybrook will maintain, operate, repair, and expand its sanitary sewer system
- Establish responsibility for the Village to maintain and operate the sanitary sewer system
- Maximize uptime of the entire sanitary sewer system while conducting maintenance, operation, repair and replacement work as economically as possible
- Reduce SSOs and BB

I. Sewer System Management

A. Staffing

The Village of Sunnybrook's Sewer Division is under the Department of Public Works and is responsible for cleaning, inspecting, and maintaining all of the sanitary sewers owned by the Village. This includes providing information of the Director of Public Works about the need for rehabilitation and replacement of portions of the sanitary sewer system. This information is conveyed to the Village Engineer, who is responsible for design and construction of sewer rehabilitation projects and inspection of new connections to the sanitary sewer system. The Sewer Division provides data to the Village GIS Coordinator to have information tracked in the Village's GIS updated accurately. The Sewer Division is responsible for implementation of the Private Sector Program for reducing I/I. The Sewer Division has a staff of ten full time and one part time operation and maintenance positions. Contractors are used for some maintenance activities, rehabilitation and replacement, televising of sewers, and for emergency support. Figure 1 shows the organizational structure of the Sewer Division.

Figure 1- Village of Sunnybrook Sewer Division Organizational Chart



<u>Director of Public Works</u> – Establishes policy, plans strategy, leads staff and delegates responsibility, allocates resources, authorizes outside contractors to perform services, and may serve as public information officer.

<u>Village Engineer</u> – Prepares wastewater collection system planning and design documents, manages capital improvement delivery system, documents new and rehabilitated assets, and coordinates development and implementation of CMOM Plan. The Village Engineer is required to have a Professional Engineer's License.

<u>Superintendent of Sewers</u> – Manages field operations and maintenance activities, provides relevant information to agency management, prepares and implements contingency plans, leads emergency response, investigates and reports SSOs, and trains field crews.

<u>Inspector</u> – Ensures that new and rehabilitated assets meet Village standards, works with field crews to handle emergencies when contractors are involved, and provides reports to Village Engineer and Superintendent of Sewers. Assists Superintendent with investigations of complaints.

Assistant Inspector - Helps Inspector with duties.

<u>Field Crew</u> – Conducts staff operations and preventive maintenance activities, mobilize and respond to notification of stoppages and SSOs (e.g., mobilize sewer cleaning equipment, by-pass pumping equipment, and portable generators).

<u>Administrative Assistant</u> – Support staff operations and preventive maintenance activities, assist with data entry and quality control, handle billing, dispatch, routing of phone calls, maintains inventory list, maintains log of training for Sewer Division staff, and other support functions as needed.

<u>Part Time Administrative Clerk</u> - Responsible for filing, archiving of drawings, records, and reports, processing payroll, and other tasks to help the Administrative Assistant.

B. Safety

Work in and around sewers introduces a wide range of safety hazards. Training on safe practices associated with sewer inspection, construction, and maintenance is an essential part of minimizing accidents on the job. The Superintendent of Sewers conducts safety training for staff on a monthly basis, and may hold additional training sessions as needed depending on the nature of work and staff familiarity with safety hazards. The Administrative Assistant maintains the log of training session attended by staff. Refresher training on safety topics is required on an annual basis for all staff. Topics for which training is given include:

- 1. Confined Space Entry procedures
- 2. Traffic control and hazards
- 3. CPR and First Aid
- 4. Lock out/tag out
- 5. Use of portable gas detectors
- 6. Hazardous environments
- 7. Use of SCBA
- 8. Slips, trips, falls
- 9. Safe lifting techniques
- 10. Biohazards
- 11. Chemical handling
- 12. Electrical and mechanical equipment safe practices
- 13. Pneumatic and hydraulic system safe practices
- 14. Excavation and trenching

Hard hats, safety shoes, gloves, eye protection, and vests are worn at all times by staff working in the field. The Sewer Division makes safety equipment available to staff for use, including tyvek suits, face shields, tripod, harness, cable, ladders, waterproof boots/waders, flashlights, SCBA, respirators, 5 minute escape packs, portable gas detectors, and blowers.

C. Training

Keeping staff informed on current trends and practices on sewer inspection, construction and maintenance is necessary to ensure the Village is maintaining the

sanitary sewer system in a manner that optimizes resources. Training is provided on the following topics:

- 1. Trenchless technology
- 2. Sewer rehabilitation methods
- 3. Sewer inspection methods
- 4. Customer service
- 5. SSO/BB emergency response
- D. Internal Communication

Routine matters are communicated verbally or via email. All Sewer Division staff except for the Part Time Administrative Clerk and Administrative Assistant have smart phones and two-way radios. Procedures and policies are communicated via memo. In emergency situations, immediate communication is handled by smart phones or radios.

E. Customer Service and Complaint Procedure

The Administrative Assistant receives complaints made via phone and by email sent to the general email address (sewerdivision@sunnybrook.il.us.org). The Administrative Assistant fills out a complaint form, shown in Figure 2, assigns a unique number to the complaint, and immediately forwards the form to the Superintendent of Sewers. Depending on the nature/severity of the problem, the Superintendent will either conduct an investigation or will delegate this task to the Inspector. Investigations typically involve a site visit, review of Village drawings and documents on the issue, and dispatching the field crew to rectify the problem, if the problem falls within the jurisdiction of the Village. Complaints are assigned a unique number based on the order in which they are received. The Superintendent maintains a log of complaints that includes the name of the person filing the complaint, date and time when the complaint was made, location of the problem, a brief description of the problem, the name of the employee assigned to handle the complaint and the date of resolution. A report of the investigation and actions taken to address the matter, or an explanation of why the problem is beyond the Village's jurisdiction, is prepared and kept on file. A record in the Village's GIS is created for this complaint. The Village's goal is to follow up with parties making complaints within two full business days of receiving the complaint.

The Village publishes and updates brochures on the following topics:

- Basic information about sanitary sewer systems for homeowners, including what to do if a sewer is overflowing or a basement is backing up
- Proper disposal of fats, oils and greases for homeowners
- The Village's cost sharing programs for I/I removal

As part of its commitment to customer service, the Village holds a Public Works Open House every April to give residents an opportunity to learn about the work of this department.

Residents are notified via Village newsletter and door hangers before any capital improvements to sewers take place on their block.

Brochures and public information notices are included in utility bill mailings from time to time. For example, every February a reminder to notify the Village about observed SSOs and BBs is included with the water bill.

Figure 2 - Complaint Form

		COMPLAINT NUMBER:
DATE:	TIME:	COMPLAINT RECEIVED BY:
COMPLA	NT REPORTED BY:	
ADDRESS	:	
TELEPHO	NE NUMBER:	
EMAIL A	DDRESS:	
COMPLA	INT LOCATION:	
DETAILS	OF COMPLAINT:	
CHECK A	PPROPRIATE BOXES: <u>YSTEM COMPLAINTS</u>	
	MANHOLE COVER MISSING	□ MANHOLE SURCHARGING
	MANHOLE COVER LOOSE OR NOISY	□ STREET FLOODED
	ODORS-GASES	□ YARD FLOODED
	MANHOLE CAVE-IN	□ BUILDING FLOODED ¹
	SEWER LINE CAVE-IN	□ OTHER
¹ Building LIFT STAT	flooding includes flooding of basement, c	rawl space or first floor
	ODORS	UNKEPT GROUNDS
	FLOODING	
	STOPPAGES	□ OTHER
ACTION 1	AKEN:	
	INITIATE INVESTIGATION BY	; INVESTIGATOR ASSIGNED:
	ASSIGN TO OTHER DEPARTMENT:	ON
	(DEPA OWNER TO REPAIR	RTMENT NAME) (DATE)
	HEALTH DEPARTMENT NOTIFIED	□ WATER DEPARTMENT NOTIFIED
ACTION 1	AKEN BY:	DATE:

F. Management Information Systems

The Village uses a computerized maintenance management system, {insert system name here}, to manage information on our collection system. This system is connected to the Village's Geographic Information System (GIS), which is described below. System information managed in the CMMS includes:

<u>General</u>

- Parts inventory
- Equipment and tools
- Purchase orders
- Revenue
- Safety incidents

Collection System

- Collection system mapping
- Collection system inventory
- FOG compliance
- SSO/Emergency response
- Industrial discharge monitoring results

Maintenance program

- Routine and Priority Planned maintenance (cleaning, etc.)
- Inspection scheduling and tracking
 - o Manhole
 - Pipeline (Closed Circuit Television (CCTV), camera)
 - Pump station
 - Force mains
- Work Orders
- Vehicle maintenance
- Equipment maintenance
- Service contract information

Repair, Rehabiltation, and Replacement program

- Locations of repairs
- Start/end stations of rehabilitation or replacement
- Method of repair/rehabilitation
- Date repair/rehabilitation/replacement was completed
- Contract number under which repair/rehabilitation/replacement was performed

Customer service program

- Complaints/BB reports
- Customer service response
- Billing information

Any activity performed by department personnel is generated and tracked through the CMMS. The CMMS produces weekly written work orders for the performance of routine maintenance as well as repairs and corrective actions in response to inspection

findings or customer complaints. Upon completion of the task(s), data related to the work order is entered into the CMMS for tracking performance and historical information on manholes, lift stations, gravity sewer lines, laterals, and force mains. The serves as the Village's information management system for the all of the collection systems operation and maintenance.

The CMMS is operated through the Village's Local Area Network (LAN). The system is backed up every night and access is restricted. All staff in the Department of Sewers have a user name and password that allows them access to use the CMMS, however, privileges are limited to the scope of each employee's position.

G. Sewer Mapping / GIS

Like many departments in the Village of Sunnybrook, the Sewer Division enters and tracks data in the Village's GIS. The Village receives support from Cook County for providing updated information on parcels, PINs, and aerial photography. The following information that is relevant to our collection system is included in our GIS:

Manholes Map Information

- Unique ID number
- GPS coordinates
- Invert elevation(s)
- Rim elevation
- Date built
- GPS coordinates
- Diameter
- Method of rehabilitation and date (if applicable)

Sewer Lines Map Information

- Unique ID number
- Location
- Diameter
- Direction of flow
- Length between manholes
- Material type
- Date built
- Slope
- Service lateral locations (where known)
- Method of rehabilitation and date (if applicable)

Pump Station Map Information

- ID number
- Location
- Capacity
- Date built

Force Main Map Information

- ID number
- Location
- Direction of flow and pump station associated
- Length
- Material type
- Location of air release valves
- Date built
- Capacity
- Slope
- Invert elevations

General Map Information

- Parcel boundaries
- Building footprints
- Overflow points
- MWRD interceptors serving the Village of Sunnybrook
- Boundaries of separate sewer areas tributary to MWRD connections
- Floodplains
- Rivers and creeks
- Roads
- Municipal boundaries
- Complaints
- Reported SSOs and BBs

The Village's GIS is maintained by the Village GIS Coordinator. If new information pertaining to sewers is to be added to the GIS, the Superintendent of Sewers submits a GIS work request to the GIS Coordinator describing the scope of the change. The GIS Coordinator works with the Superintendent to enter the revised data into GIS. Once the Superintendent approves a draft version of the change, the updated information is published on the Village GIS. Changes due to new repair information and new rehabilitation work are to be submitted to the GIS Coordinator within three business days of the completion of the repair or rehabilitation work. Changes to correct information due to findings made in the field are to be submitted to the GIS Coordinator within one business day. Location of lateral information is added to the GIS as this information is discovered during routine CCTV inspections. Location of lateral information is submitted to the GIS Coordinator has been found.

New employees attend a 2-hour training session on use of the Village's GIS with the GIS Coordinator. Additional training on how to use the Village's GIS is provided to all Department of Sewers staff as needed, when new functions are added to the GIS or when a major upgrade to the system is made, changing the way staff use the system.

H. SSO/BB Tracking and Notification

One of the goals of this LTOMP is to reduce SSOs and BBs. The Sewer Division is dedicated to maintaining and operating the sanitary sewer system to minimize public health risks and

environmental degradation attributed to sewage overflows. One essential part of achieving this goal is to know where, when and why SSOs and BBs occur.

Many reports of SSOs and all reports of BBs will be received from calls from members of the general public. Such calls are routed to the Sewer Division Administrative Assistant during normal business hours and after hours are routed to the Village system dispatcher. The person receiving the call fills out the complaint form shown in Figure 2 based upon information provided by the caller. The form is sent to the Superintendent of Sewers immediately upon conclusion of the call.

If an overflow occurs at a lift station, this is detected by the wet well level detector. The lift station telemetry system automatically sends a text message to the Superintendent's cellular phone when the depth of water in the wet well is 2' below the rim elevation of the manhole upstream of the lift station. Upon receiving such text messages, the Superintendent will investigate the site or direct the inspector to do so.

The Superintendent is responsible for responding to the complaints and for managing the response to SSOs and BBs, and making key decisions. His responsibility is to assess the situation and initiate a series of response actions based on the type and severity of the event.

The Superintendent of Sewers will confirm the overflow and implement measures to stop the overflow as noted in the procedures in the next section. Within 5 days of confirming that an SSO or BB has occurred, the Superintendent will complete the MWRD's Sanitary Sewer Overflow and/or Basement Backup Satellite Entity Internal Summary form. Copies of this form are placed in the complaint file and the SSO/BB file. A copy of this form will also be provided to the Village GIS Coordinator so that the repair can be added to the GIS. The MWRD may request to view these files or perform an audit on the Village's records, therefore, this file is maintained permanently.

If the overflow results in a fish kill, the Sewer Division will notify IEPA and the MWRD by phone within two hours of becoming aware of the results of the fish kill.

The Superintendent of Sewers reviews the file of Sanitary Sewer Overflow and/or Basement Backup Satellite Entity Internal Summary forms at least annually to monitor patterns in occurrences of SSOs/BBs and to determine where further inspection, operational changes, revisions to sewer cleaning schedules and/or rehabilitation are needed.

If more than three wet weather SSOs or BBs occur in a sanitary sewer sub-basin within a calendar year (either during the same event or different events), and if these events are not attributed to blockages of private laterals at the locations where the events took place (eg.,

laterals clogged by roots, crushed laterals, etc.), the Village will investigate the cause of the SSOs or BBs. The investigation may include televising of the public sewer, inspection of lift station(s) (if present), and inspection of private properties in the sub-basin and in the sub-basin immediately upstream. The Village will inspect private properties if the cause of the SSOs/BBs seems to be private sector I/I, and the public sewer system appears to not be a significant contributor of I/I. Depending the age of the system, severity of the problem and other site-specific factors, the Village may decide to inspect the private sewer laterals as well.

I. SSO Response

Once the Superintendent has confirmed that an SSO has occurred, he dispatches a Field Crew to contain the overflow and determine the cause. Contact with the Field Crew during normal working hours is made via radio. Contact during off hours is made via cellular phone.

The Field Crew follows in-house procedures for addressing sewer blockages or backups into a basement and overflowing manholes resulting from a surcharged public sewer. For a basement backup, the Field Crew determines whether the cause of the backup is a problem with the private lateral or with the public sewer. This is done by inspecting the quantity of flow in public manholes upstream and downstream of the lateral for the house experiencing the backup. If the public manhole is the cause of the problem, then the Field Crew initiates procedures to pump around the blockage. In the case of a surcharging manhole, the Field Crew initiates procedures to pump around the blockage, clean and disinfect the ground surface, and clear the obstruction. This may require emergency services for televising and/or rodding the line.

In all cases, response crews report their findings, including possible damage to private and public property, to the Superintendent immediately upon making their investigation. If the Superintendent has not received findings from the field crew within one (1) hour, the Superintendent contacts the response crew to determine the status of the investigation. After the SSO/BB is addressed and all required reporting has been completed, information on the location, date, duration and magnitude of the SSO/BB is provided to the GIS Coordinator for inclusion in the Village GIS.

If hazardous substances are suspected in the overflow, personnel are to contact the Fire Department via 911 immediately.

J. Emergency Preparedness and Response

To achieve the goal of maximizing sanitary sewer system uptime for the residents of the Village of Sunnybrook, the Department of Public Works and the Sewer Division have developed emergency procedures. The previous section addresses routine emergencies of SSOs and BBs. The Village has established in-house procedures for handling larger, though

routine, emergencies including sewer main breaks, force main breaks, air release and vacuum release valve failures, and pump station failures. In all cases, a Field Crew is dispatched to the area to assess the situation. Two crews may need to be dispatched in the case of a sewer main break so that one crew addresses the break itself and another performs troubleshooting at the lift station. Depending on the nature of the emergency and whether all Field Crews are occupied, the Superintendent may call upon outside contractors to assist with sewer televising, cleaning, and site cleanup. The Village maintains contracts for these services at all times. The contracts are advertised every two years.

Anytime sanitary sewage is released to the ground surface or inside of occupied space of a building, an MWRD Sanitary Sewer Overflow and/or Basement Backup Satellite Entity Internal Summary form is completed. The form is signed by the Superintendent. Copies of this form are placed in the repairs file and the SSO/BB file. A copy of this form is also provided to the Village GIS Coordinator so that the repair can be added to the GIS.

The Village's Emergency Management Department has developed a written Catastrophic Emergency Management Plan, which is attached. This plan was developed in conjunction with the Department of Public Works and the Sewer Division. Most elements of the plan are undertaken by the Emergency Management Department or the Fire Department. For example, for emergencies involving multiple departments, the Emergency Management Department determines when emergency procedures should begin and end. This is conveyed to the Department Heads, who then convey this information to staff. The Emergency Management Plan addresses road closures, flooding, tornados, confined space rescue operations, and power outages. The plan incorporates the following:

- Although both lift stations have a natural gas generator as a backup source of power, the Village has a mobile generator that can be connected to either pump station as a source of backup power.
- Sewer Division staff have two-way radios as well as cellular phones for communication, in case one system does not work.
- The Sewer Division owns several pumps and can rent additional pumps from a local equipment supplier on short notice if necessary to pump sewage around an obstruction or to supplement pumps at a lift station that are not working as required
- During certain emergencies (such as floods) additional staff are needed on a temporary basis to respond to calls from the public and to handle operational problems in the sewer system. Typically, part time and off duty staff are required to work mandatory overtime to cover these needs. Contractors may be hired on a temporary basis as well to cover these needs, although this is not the preferred option.

The Superintendent prepares a report following each emergency describing the cause of the emergency, how the Sewer Division responded, number and nature of calls received from the public, whether/how outside service contractors were used, what was handled well, what should be handled differently in the future, and an estimate of the amount of money spent on the emergency. This report is kept in the Emergencies file. Information from the report may be used to revise this document and other written procedures, determine the

scope of capital improvement projects, justify staffing level adjustments, and modify training programs.

K. FOG program

Fats, oils, and greases (FOG) that enter the sanitary sewer system in significant quantities will usually solidify downstream from the point of discharge into the sewer and form deposits on interior surfaces of the sewer. FOG can be a major factor in reducing sewer capacity which leads to SSOs in dry weather as well as wet weather. Food service establishments (FSE) and large apartment buildings are the largest generators of FOG. Due to the presence of both in the Village of Sunnybrook, the Department of Public Works and the Health Department administer a FOG control program.

The Sewer Use Ordinance grants the Village the authority to administer a FOG program. Permits from the Village are required when a restaurant begins operation in the Village. Similarly, if a property owner modifies a sanitary sewer or constructs a building to be used as an FSE, a permit from the Village and from the MWRD is required. In all cases, FSEs must demonstrate that a grease interceptor or a grease basin will be installed to intercept flow from food preparation areas. Sanitary waste from other parts of the building, particularly restrooms, must not be routed to the grease interceptor or basins. IN addition, wastewater discharged from dishwashing machines must bypass grease interceptors and basins otherwise the hot water would liquefy the collected FOG and convey it into the sanitary sewer system where it would solidify and obstruct flow.

FSEs are required to have their grease basins and interceptors serviced at least every 90 days. The Village of Sunnybrook Health Department conducts annual inspections of FSEs, as well as random inspections, to observe FOG handling practices, review the grease interceptor/basin maintenance log, and look for signs of improper FOG disposal. Citations are issued to FSEs that violate the requirements of the FOG program.

Public information is another component of the FOG program. The Village publishes a FOG fact sheet with recommended best practices for FSEs. This is available on the Village website and the Health Department inspectors also give it to FSEs during their inspections. A brochure for residents is available at the Public Works Building and during the annual Public Works Open House. The brochure explains the reasons homeowners need to be concerned about FOG in the sanitary sewer system and recommends best practices for minimizing FOG disposal down the drain.

II. Equipment and Collection System Maintenance

The Village of Sunnybrook recognizes the importance of regular maintenance activities to minimize emergencies and costly repairs. The CMMS generates a report each week

detailing preventive maintenance activities that are required for portions of the collection system and for lift station equipment. The report is based upon:

- Manufacturer's recommendations in equipment operation and maintenance manuals
- Records of portions of the sanitary sewer system where frequent (annual basis, or more frequent) maintenance work is required
- Age of sewers
- Criticality of facilities in area served by a sewer

The Superintendent reviews the weekly report and divides the tasks among the field crews, indicating which tasks have higher priority. In general, the higher priority tasks should be performed first. Each field crew leader is responsible for verifying that the sewer maintenance truck has the necessary equipment to complete the tasks before leaving the Public Works Yard each day. Each field crew leader submits a daily report of the crew's activities along with any relevant inspection or activity checklists completed during the day to the Superintendent.

The attached map identifies portions of the sanitary sewer system that require

- Cleaning on an annual basis
- Cleaning every 10 years
- Root control every 3 years
- Inspection via CCTV every 3 years (sewer main)
- Inspection via CCTV every 10 years (sewer main)
- Inspection via full descent every 3 years (manholes)
- Inspection via full descent every 10 years (manholes)
- Surface inspection every 3 years (manholes)
- Surface inspection every 10 years (manholes)

If complaints are received and the Superintendent determines that maintenance work is required to address a problem, the Superintendent will add the required tasks to the daily assignments for a field crew.

If an emergency occurs during the working day and the Superintendent determines that a field crew is required to assist with resolving the emergency, he will contact the field crew leader most likely to reach the site of the emergency most quickly. The field crew will conclude their maintenance tasks, document the extent of their work on the daily report, then will mobilize to the site of the emergency.

Field crew members and leaders alternate being on-call for off-hours emergencies. If an emergency occurs off-hours and the Superintendent determines that a field crew is needed to help resolve the emergency, the Superintendent will call the field crew leader on his cellular phone. The field crew leader will call his field technicians on his cellular phone.

The Superintendent forwards daily maintenance reports, emergency reports, and maintenance checklists to the Inspector to enter information into the CMMS.

A. Sewer Cleaning

The Village owns two vacuum/sewer cleaning (vactor) trucks, one of which is available for use by each Field Crew. The vactor trucks are capable of high-pressure jetting of sewers (up to 600 psi). The Village also owns power rodding machines that are capable of removing obstructions from municipal sewers. The Village has a biannual contracts for the following:

- 1. Septage hauling services, which is utilized when sewage and debris quantities exceeding the capacity of the Village vactor trucks are generated by a task
- 2. High pressure hydro-jetting services is used to clear obstructions in sewers when the Village's own equipment is unable to do so
- 3. Root control service using foam containing diquat dibromide

The root control service is used in areas where root growth has been a historical problem and where new areas of significant root growth are observed during CCTV inspection.

In general, routine sewer cleaning work is performed within one week preceding routine CCTV inspections. Most of the public sewer system is cleaned on a 10 year cycle however, certain areas with known issues (low velocity, high sedimentation, and FOG deposition) are cleaned on an annual basis. The quantity of debris is closely monitored when these segments of the sewer system are cleaned. Adjustments are made on a continual basis to the list of sewer reaches requiring frequent cleaning in order to optimize resources and clean only portions of the system that require it.

B. Lift Stations and Force Mains

The Village of Sunnybrook has two sanitary lift stations in its system, the George Street lift station and the Lake Avenue lift station. Both lift stations have mechanical and electrical equipment housed in a pump house. Both lift stations have backup natural gas generators as a secondary source of power. A telemetry system using cellular signal transmission allows for monitoring of the status of pumps, flow meters, wet well elevations, backup generators, and station entry alarms from the Public Works Building. The pump control system is programmed to generate text messages which are sent to the cellular phone of the Superintendent when high wet well elevation, pump motor failure, and station entry alarms are tripped. The Superintendent or his designee will visit the pump station to address any of these alarms. A record of such incidences and the actions taken to resolve them is entered into the CMMS.

Field crews perform cleaning and routine maintenance checks of the pump stations on a biweekly basis. During these visits, the field crews check on the pump station structures, lighting fixtures, unit heaters, and sweep the station. Any maintenance activities required in the operation and maintenance manuals for the pumps, motors, backup generators, telemetry equipment and force main magmeters are performed during these visits. Copies of the pump station equipment operation and maintenance manuals are stored at the Public Works Building. The pump operation and maintenance manuals include pump manufacturer's name, model number, size, capacity, spare parts list, schematic drawings of the piping system, wiring schematics, design float switch elevations, narrative description of operation, and contact information for the vendor's local representative for service. The Village CMMS produces reminders of required routine maintenance based upon the manufacturers' recommendations and these activities are listed in the weekly reports generated by the CMMS that form the basis of the field crews' assignments.

The Village of Sunnybrook currently has two force mains in the collection system with a combined length of 2.3 miles. The George Street force main has four air release valves located at the high points and the Lake Avenue force main has five air release valves. The Sewer Division inspects and maintains the air release valves semi-annually by back flushing the valves with clean water using a minimum of 30 psi. All air release valves and valve vaults are inspected for signs of corrosion, connection point leakage, or improper operating characteristics.

The pressure on the discharge side of the pumps at the lift stations is used to determine the need for force main cleaning. If the backpressure is more than 25% greater than the expected total operating head, the discharge pipe will be cleaned. Pressure gauges at lift stations are calibrated annually.

A record of all routine maintenance visits is entered into the CMMS each day a field crew visits a lift station. The record includes: star and end time of visit, personnel performing inspections, checks performed, observations, discharge flow rate and pressure observed during visit, weather conditions during visit, maintenance work performed, and spare parts used.

III. Material and Equipment

The Sewer Division provides operations and maintenance crews with the essential work related items they use on a day-to-day routine basis. Should new or replacement equipment or tools be needed, the crew leader notifies the Inspector. The Inspector will issue the crew leader stocked items. For non-stocked items, the Inspector advises the crew leader of a local vendor and requests a purchase order for the needed item(s). The crew

leader will then procure the requested items through the local vendor in an "in-stock" format.

The Village of Sunnybrook keeps a limited supply of spare equipment and tools for personnel. In lieu of maintaining a full supply of spare equipment and tools for personnel, the Village has an annual "supply bid" for essential common equipment and tools. This bid requires the vendor to maintain "in-stock" items listed in the annual bid, and the vendor must have a local storefront for item pick-up. Non-bid equipment and tools can be purchased in amounts up to two thousand dollars (\$2000.00).

The large equipment and tools needed for certain tasks such as sewer cleaning and inspection are purchased through the Purchasing Department for permanent acquisition of the item for the Village.

The Inspector is responsible for ensuring accurate inventories of material and equipment used by the Division is maintained. This involves adding new material and equipment to the inventories, deleting equipment that the Division no longer owns, updating quantities as material is used. The inventories are reviewed two times per year by the Inspector. The inventories are maintained in an Excel spreadsheet. Information tracked for equipment includes type, age, description/use, manufacturer, fuel type (where applicable), year of acquisition, estimated year for replacement, operating costs, and repair history. The estimated remaining life of the equipment inventory is calculated based on the date of manufacture, an estimate by the Sewer Division of the useful life expected, and factors that might be expected to extend or reduce the life of the equipment (e.g., repairs or hard use).

IV. Sewer System Capacity Evaluation

As a fully developed community, the Village of Sunnybrook does not anticipate the need to extend the sanitary sewer system by any significant amount for the foreseeable future. In general, the existing sanitary sewer system is sized to accommodate dry weather flow from the tributary areas as developed. However, the following circumstances could trigger the need to evaluate the capacity of the existing sanitary sewer system and determine if an increase in conveyance capacity is justified:

- An area experiences dry weather SSOs and/or BBs that cannot be attributed to maintenance issues or deteriorated sewers.
- An area is being redeveloped and the projected dry weather flow exceeds that of the current land use.

Should either of these situations occur, the Village Engineer will consider the current and proposed population within the service area, capacity of the existing sewer(s) serving the areas, elevations of existing sewers and of existing laterals. The capacity of the sanitary

sewer system should conform to the standards established in the MWRD's Watershed Management Ordinance (WMO) in effect at the time. Typically, sanitary sewers are to be sized for the anticipated population equivalent in the service area, multiplied by an expected wastewater flow rate of 100 gallons per capita per day, times a peaking factor that accounts for diurnal variation. If the existing capacity is less than the anticipated amount of wastewater, the Village Engineer will design a sanitary sewer replacement project that provides the necessary capacity. This project would require a WMO permit from the MWRD.

V. Sewer System Inspection/Condition Assessment

A major component of the Village of Sunnybrook's sanitary sewer maintenance program is inspection and condition assessment of gravity lines, manholes, force mains, lift stations, and service laterals. Such facilities are inspected during construction and must meet the design requirements before the Village allows them to be placed into use. However, with the exception of most service laterals, these facilities are also inspected on a routine basis throughout their useful life. Systematic inspection that identifies defects and codes them in a consistent manner according to severity allows for cost-effective planning of sewer rehabilitation, repair, and replacement activities. The Village of Sunnybrook inspects all components of the public sewer system on a ten year cycle, with more frequent inspections in high priority portions of the system. Inspections of the public sewer system are performed in accordance with NASSCO standards.

The Village of Sunnybrook has a contract for CCTV services that is re-advertised every two years. The contractor televises approximately 20% of the Village's sanitary sewer system every two years in addition to emergency televising of segments of the sanitary sewer system where problem areas requiring immediate action are suspected. The contractor provides a digital video of all inspections along with an inspection report and condition assessment in accordance with NASSCO reporting guidelines.

As stated above, portions of the sanitary sewer system are inspected on a 3 year cycle while most of the system is inspected on a 10 year cycle. The Sewer Division has designated the portions of the system on the 10-year cycle that are to be inspected in each year of the 10 year cycle. The Sewer Division reviews inspection reports received from the Contractor and updates the Status of High Priority Defects and CIP on an annual basis. In general, the Sewer Division's goal is to address the defects with NASSCO grades of 4 or 5 within the next two years. However, this cannot always be achieved efficiently using Village staff or by including work under a rehabilitation or replacement contract. When developing the CIP each year, high priority defects that have been known for the longest period of time are given top priority.

Projects involving new sanitary sewer construction, or modification of existing sanitary sewers, must comply with the Village's and the MWRD's design requirements. The Village's Sewer Use Ordinance gives the Village the authority to inspect new sewer construction and establish standards by which sewers tributary to its system must comply. New public sanitary sewer construction projects are either designed by the Village Engineer or are designed by an outside consultant but reviewed by the Village Engineer for compliance with the Village's standards. A permit from the Village and from the MWRD is required for public sanitary sewer work when the work is not performed by the Village's own contractor. When work is performed by the Village's Inspector.

Projects involving new private sector sanitary sewers require permits from the VIllage and from the MWRD. The Village Engineer reviews drawings of proposed conditions for compliance with Village standards. The Village Inspector observes construction work for compliance with approved permit drawings. An occupancy permit is not issued unless all Village requirements have been satisfied and after the Village receives an executed copy of the MWRD's Request for Final Inspection.

The procedure for inspection of new construction for which the Village issues a permit is as follows:

- 1. After reviewing the project drawings and receiving the permit fee, the Village issues a sewer construction permit. One term of the permit is to notify the Village Inspector a minimum of two days before sewer construction work begins.
- 2. Upon receipt of the notice that sewer construction work will begin, the Inspector visits the construction site on a daily basis to observe progress and quality of work. Revisions to the design are to be submitted to the Village by the Design Engineer for approval. If the Village Inspector observes deviations from the approved design in the field, he will notify the contractor and design engineer. If action is not take to correct the deviation, the Village may issue a violation notice to the contractor and project owner. Failure to properly address deviations from the approved design is justification for the Village to withhold an occupancy permit.
- 3. When the sewer construction work is complete, the project owner submits a Request for Testing to the Inspector. If requested by the Inspector, the Contractor must perform an air pressure test or an infiltration test to demonstrate that the required level of watertightness has been achieved. If the required level of water-tightness is not achieved, the Contractor must repair the defects in the installation to reach the required level of water-tightness, and demonstrate compliance through additional testing. Once the Inspector has verified that the sewer installation has adequate water-tightness and all other aspects of sewer construction meet Village standards, the Inspector signs the

Request for Testing and provides a copy to the Village Building Department, the Contractor, the property owner, and the Design Engineer.

- 4. The Contractor submits the As-Built drawings to the Inspector. The Inspector reviews the drawings and issue a letter acknowledging receipt of the As-Built drawings or identifying deviations from the approved design. The As-Builts must be corrected and acknowledged by the Inspector before the Village will allow the new installation to be placed into service.
- 5. When the Village receives the fully executed RFI from the MWRD as well as signed compliance forms from other Village departments, as applicable to the project, the Village Building Department issues an occupancy permit.
- 6. If sewers and manholes have been built by a private party that are to be owned by the Village as part of its public sanitary sewer system, a transfer agreement is prepared and executed. Upon execution of the transfer agreement, the Sewer Division assigns a unique identification number to any newly added manholes and provides information on the new facilities to the GIS coordinator for updating of the sanitary sewer atlas.

A checklist for inspection of new sanitary sewer facilities is attached as Appendix A.

VI. Sewer System Rehabilitation and Updating the CIP

Several factors are taken into consideration when the annual update to the CIP is made by the Sewer Division. These include:

- Location, quantity and nature of High Priority Deficiencies
- Location of street pavement improvement projects for the year
- Available funding
- Age of sewers with High Priority Deficiencies
- Expected impact of sewer failure

The Sewer Division reviews inspection reports received from the sewer televising contractor and updates the Status of High Priority Defects and CIP on an annual basis. In general, the Sewer Division's goal is to address the defects with NASSCO grades of 4 or 5 within the next two years. However, this cannot always be achieved efficiently using Village staff or by including work under a rehabilitation or replacement contract. When developing the CIP each year, high priority defects that have been known for the longest period of time are given top priority. To minimize disturbances to the public and to optimize resources, wherever possible, the Village tries to perform sanitary sewer rehabilitation work in conjunction with street pavement improvement projects. When this coordination is possible, the Village will line or replace service lateral connections to the public sanitary sewer (up to 6 feet from the connection). The Superintendent of Sewers, Village Engineer, and Director of Public Works meet once per year to review potential capital improvement projects based on the factors mentioned above. Small scope repairs can be accomplished with in-house staff (manhole cone section reconstruction, frame and grate replacement, plugging of leaks in manholes, joint sealing), but rehabilitation is performed under a competitively bid contract. Once the scope of the capital improvement projects are determined, the Village Engineer designs the projects or oversees the work of an outside consultant hired to design the project.

Once rehabilitation or sewer replacement projects have been completed, the Village Engineer provides information to the GIS coordinator to have the sewer atlas updated with relevant information.

VII. Funding plan

In July of 1992, the Village of Sunnybrook developed and implemented a Sewer Use Charge Fee. This fee has been, and will be, used to fund normal operations and maintenance, as well as most capital improvements to the sanitary sewer system. The fee establishes rates for residential, commercial and industrial users based on water usage. Industrial users are subject to additional surcharges if they discharge wastewater with high concentrations of BOD, TSS, or ammonia.

The Sewer Division budget is comprised of line items for personnel, contract services, supplies, equipment replacement and maintenance, training, rehabilitation contracts, replacement contracts, vehicle fuel and maintenance, and emergency repairs and service. The Superintendent maintains records of expenditures in each of these line items in past years, the projected expenditures in the current year, and a running total of expenditures in the current year. Projected expenditures for the next year are made based on a review of recent trends and on an assessment of short term needs, such as significant rehabilitation work. Every year, at least 4% of the annual revenue is set aside for capital improvement projects.

The Village will consider applying for assistance through the State Revolving Loan Fund for large capital improvement projects where the effort allocated towards preparing planning documents, filling out the application, and submitting all the required documentation of work performed is justified by the amount of the loan.

VIII. Private Sector Program (Submitted separately to the MWRD)

IX. Sewer Use Ordinance

A copy of the Village's Sewer Use Ordinance is attached. The Sewer Use Ordinance was last updated in January 2015. The Village Board may authorize amendments to the Sewer Use Ordinance at their regularly scheduled public meetings as long as public notice of the proposed changes have been made available at least one week before the scheduled public meeting. Changes to the ordinance are recommended by the Village Engineer, generally after discussion of the need for the change among the Village Engineer, Director of Public Works, and the Superintendent. As stated earlier, the Village Engineer and Inspector have responsibility for administering and enforcing the Sewer Use Ordinance for new sanitary sewer construction. The Superintendent has responsibility for administering and enforcing the Sewer Use Ordinance for existing public and private sanitary sewers.

Appendix A of LTOMP: Sanitary Sewer Inspection Checklist

Village of Sunnybrook Department of Public Works

Sewers Division

The following items are to be checked by the Village Inspector during sanitary sewer construction. A completed version of this form is to be submitted with the signed Request for Testing when sanitary sewer construction is completed and acceptable to the Village Inspector.

Project Name:

Permit Number:

Project Location:

Feature	Compliant	Non-	Comments
		Compliant	
Gravity Sewer Line			
Pipe size			
Pipe material			
Pipe joints			
Bedding material			
Bedding thickness			
Backfill material			
Backfill compaction			
Line and grade			
Grade of manhole			
frame(s) and cover(s)			
with respect to finished			
grade			
Booted connections			
between sewer pipe			
and manholes			
Location and crossings			
with respect to water			
mains			
Lift Stations	[
Control system			
Stand by power system			
System does not allow			
simultaneous pump			
operation			
Force Mains			
Pipe material			
Restrained joints or			
thrust blocks			
Air release valves at			
high points			
Residential Projects			
Separate sanitary and			

stormwater sumps,		
pumps, piping and		
discharge		
Discharge for sanitary		
sewage		
Discharge for		
stormwater		
Outlet for foundation		
drains		
Swimming pool		
discharge		

Test method: Visual Infiltration Exfiltration Air Pressure CCTV Other
Test information: Tested on same day Partial tests All tests passed Some tests failed
The undersigned hereby certifies that the project above has been tested as shown, and that the test results are as indicated herein.

Date of Test: _____

Inspector Name:_____